
 

 

1 

 
 

Cabinet 
 

 
 

Date & time Place Contact Chief Executive  
Tuesday, 27 
October 2020 at 
2.00 pm 

REMOTE 
 

Vicky Hibbert or Huma Younis 
Room 122, County Hall 
Tel 020 8541 9229 or 020 
8213 2725 
 
vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or 
huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk 

Joanna Killian 
 

 

 
Cabinet Members: Mrs Natalie Bramhall, Mr Mel Few, Mr Matt Furniss, Dr Zully Grant-Duff, Mrs 
Julie Iles, Mr Colin Kemp, Mrs Mary Lewis, Mrs Sinead Mooney, Mr Tim Oliver and Ms Denise 
Turner-Stewart 
  
Deputy Cabinet Members: Miss Alison Griffiths, Mr Edward Hawkins, Miss Marisa Heath, Mr 
Mark Nuti and Mrs Becky Rush  
 

 

Please note that due to the COVID-19 situation this meeting will take place 
remotely. 
 
Please be aware that a link to view a live recording of the meeting will be 
available on the Cabinet page on the Surrey County Council website. This 
page can be accessed by following the link below: 
 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=120&Year=0 

 
 

If you have any queries relating to accessing this agenda please email 
vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk 
 

 
Note: This meeting will be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the Council's internet 
site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed. The images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or 
huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We’re on Twitter: 
@SCCdemocracy 

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=120&Year=0


 

 
2 

 
 
 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

2  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
To approve the minutes of 29 September 2020 as a correct record of the 
meeting. 
 

(Pages 1 
- 16) 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter: 
 

(i) Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or  

(ii) Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any 

item(s) of business being considered at this meeting 

NOTES: 

 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item 

where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 

 As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of 

which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or 

civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a 

spouse or civil partner) 

 Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the 

discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be 

reasonably regarded as prejudicial. 

 

4  PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

 

a  Members' Questions 
 
The deadline for Member’s questions is 12pm four working days before 
the meeting (21 October 2020). 
 

 

b  Public Questions 
 
The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting (20 
October 2020). 
 

 

c  Petitions 
 
The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and no 
petitions have been received. 
 

 

d  Representations received on reports to be considered in private 
 
To consider any representations received in relation to why part of the 
meeting relating to a report circulated in Part 2 of the agenda should be 
open to the public. 

 



 

 
3 

 

5  REPORTS FROM SELECT COMMITTEES , TASK GROUPS, LOCAL 
COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL 
 
Cabinet to consider the following: 
 

A. Report of the No Wrong Door Task Group  
B. Report of the Mental Health Task Group 

 

(Pages 
17 - 248) 

6  LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER/ STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT BOARD DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST 
CABINET MEETING 
 
To note any delegated decisions taken by the Leader, Deputy Leader, 
Cabinet Members and Strategic Investment Board since the last meeting 
of the Cabinet. 
 

(Pages 
249 - 
254) 

7  CABINET MEMBER UPDATE 
 
To note the report from Mary Lewis, Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People and Families.  
 

(Pages 
255 - 
258) 

8  COVID- 19 DELEGATED AND URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN 
 
To ensure transparency of decisions taken in response to COVID-19, 
Cabinet are asked to note the decisions taken since the last meeting. 
 

(Pages 
259 - 
260) 

9  ORGANISATION STRATEGY REFRESH 
 
The Organisation Strategy sets out the council’s contribution to achieving 
the aims and ambitions set out in the Community Vision 2030. Our 
Organisation Strategy has been refreshed, using the lessons learned from 
our response to the crisis, to reflect how our priorities and strategic 
approach will need to change to ensure we can deliver the Vision and 
create better lives, a better place and a county where no-one is left behind.  
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee]  
 

(Pages 
261 - 
304) 

10  DELIVERY OF CARE LEAVERS ACCOMMODATION, A LIBRARY AND 
FAMILY CENTRE IN CATERHAM HILL 
 
This paper sets out the business case for the redevelopment of the current 
site of Caterham Hill library to provide a new purpose-built facility bringing 
services closer to residents. It proposes the delivery of a multi-functional 
building that will be owned freehold by Surrey County Council (SCC) and 
will include; a new library to replace the existing library onsite; a new 
Family Centre within the area of need as well as accommodation for care 
leavers’ in support of the Councils Looked After and Adopted Children 
(LAAC) strategy. The report seeks Cabinet approval for capital funds to 
deliver the scheme.  
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Children’s, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee and/or the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
305 - 
316) 



 

 
4 

 

11  ADULT SOCIAL CARE HOME BASED CARE RECOMMISSIONING 
OCTOBER 2021 
 
The provision of a Home Based Care (HBC) service to vulnerable adults in 
Surrey is a statutory requirement of the Council under the Care Act 2014. 
HBC services enable and support people to remain independent and living 
in their own homes for longer and involves a range of social support 
services for all user groups. HBC services also play an important role in 
providing reablement to people who have left hospital, improving their 
individual wellbeing and reducing long term care needs. Certain providers 
will provide specific healthcare activities and end of life care. The current 
contracting arrangements agreed by Cabinet in February 2017 end on 30 
September 2021. A new contract needs to be in place with selected 
providers effective from the 1 October 2021.  
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Adults and Health 
Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
317 - 
332) 

12  DECISION ON THE ROUTE TO MARKET FOR TWO EXTRA CARE 
HOUSING SCHEMES 
 
A paper was presented to Cabinet in July 2019 setting out Adult Social 
Care’s (ASC) Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy for 
delivering Extra Care Housing for older persons and Independent Living 
schemes for adults with a learning disability and/or autism. This paper sets 
out Surrey County Council’s proposed route to market for two sites 
proposed for Extra Care Housing. This will support our strategy to deliver 
accommodation with care and support by 2030 that will enable people to 
access the right health and social care at the right time in the right place, 
with appropriate housing for residents that helps them to remain 
independent, achieve their potential and ensures nobody is left behind. 
 
N.B There is a part 2 Annex at Item 23. 
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Adults and Health 
Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
333 - 
376) 

13  CATERHAM ON THE HILL AND OLD COULSDON FLOOD 
ALLEVIATION SCHEME 
 
Caterham on the Hill in Tandridge is at high risk of surface water flooding 
from intense summer storm events and prolonged periods of high rainfall. 
Surrey County Council and partners have been investigating potential 
measures to reduce the risk of flooding to this community and has 
identified Property Flood Resilience as the preferred approach in this 
mainly urban and relatively steep sided catchment. This will offer Property 
Flood Resilience Measures to 205 properties and will cost a maximum of 
£1.9m depending on uptake. An Outline Business Case has been 
submitted to the Environment Agency for approval. This report seeks 
approval for the delivery of the Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon 
Flood Alleviation Scheme, the procurement of the works and the wider 
sustainable drainage flood mitigation measures. 
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
377 - 
440) 



 

 
5 

 

14  SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL RESILIENCE PLANNING FOR WINTER 
2020/21 
 
This report updates Cabinet on the ongoing work that Surrey County 
Council and its services are doing to support the organisation in planning 
the resilience of its services for what is likely to be a challenging period 
with the resurgence of the threat from the COVID pandemic, the imminent 
end of the EU exit transition period, and the normal seasonal health and 
non-health related pressures. The report provides an overview of the 
current risks and threats to the Council’s business continuity, as well as an 
overview of the work that is being undertaken to test that business 
continuity and the model that will be used for the Council to respond to 
incidents arising.  
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee]  
 

(Pages 
441 - 
452) 

15  SURREY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 
 
The Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB) is a statutory multi-agency 
Board with responsibilities set out in the Care Act 2014. To support the 
transparency of the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board, the Annual 
Report 2019/2020 is presented to Cabinet. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Adults and Health 
Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
453 - 
486) 

16  SURREY WASTE LOCAL PLAN: ADOPTION 
 

The current Waste Local Plan, known as the Surrey Waste Plan (SWP), 
was adopted by the County Council in 2008 and is now out of date, with 
policies that now no longer reflect current planning and environmental 
policy, and is to be replaced by a new plan, known as the ‘Surrey Waste 
Local Plan’ (the Plan).During its preparation, the Plan has been subject to 
several stages of public consultation, sustainability appraisal, and 
assessment and independent examination by the Planning Inspectorate on 
behalf of the Secretary of State. The Plan can only be formally adopted by 
the Council if the examination finds it to be sound and prepared in 
accordance with relevant plan making legislation. The Planning 
Inspectorate have now issued the report of the Inspector who examined 
the Plan and this states that, subject to modifications agreed by Cabinet 
on 17 December 2019, the Plan is sound and legally compliant, so the 
Council is now able to adopt the Plan. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
487 - 
732) 

17  STREET LIGHTING PFI CONTRACT - REFINANCING 
 
Surrey County Council entered into a private finance initiative (PFI) 
contract in March 2010 for Street Lighting maintenance for 25 years with 
Surrey Lighting Services. The contract includes a mechanism to carry out 
a refinancing exercise at any point if there could be a financial gain either 
in the form of a one off payment to the Council, a reduction on the annual 
cost of services or a combination of the two. The Council has an obligation 
to ensure ongoing best value in its contracts.  The proposed estimated 

(Pages 
733 - 
742) 



 

 
6 

savings need to be considered against any changes to or additional risks 
for the Council created as a result of carrying out the proposed 
refinancing. 
 

N.B There is a part 2 Annex at Item 24. 

 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee] 
 

18  SURREY ECONOMIC STRATEGY 2030 UPDATE 
 
At the end of 2019, Surrey County Council and key stakeholders came 
together through the Surrey Economic Commission to consider evidence 
related to the Surrey economy with the intention to refocus attention on the 
Surrey geography and to understand what story the economic data told 
about the economic position of Surrey. The intention was for the 
Commission to present its findings and recommendations to support the 
production of a Surrey Economic Strategy early in 2020, however the 
impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the economy required that the 
original strategy was paused whilst a revised consideration of the 
economic position of Surrey relative to the UK economy was undertaken. 
The development of a new Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy has started 
and this report provides an update on progress of that work, the wider 
strategic context and alignment with other related activity with a view to 
bringing a final strategy for approval in December 2020.  
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
743 - 
750) 

19  BROADWATER SECONDARY SCHOOL, GODALMING, SURREY 
 

For Cabinet to approve the business case for the expansion of Broadwater 

School. The school will expand from 4 forms of entry and 120 Published 

Admission Number per year (600 places overall) to 5 forms of entry and 

150 Published Admission Number per year (750 places overall) to help 

meet the demand for 150 additional secondary places in Waverley from 

September 2021. 

N.B There is a part 2 Annex at Item 25. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Children’s, Families, 

Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee] 

 

(Pages 
751 - 
756) 

20  PRUDENTIAL RIDE LONDON-SURREY 
 
The Prudential Ride London Surrey (PRLS) cycling events were conceived 
as an Olympic Legacy and have taken place in Surrey annually since 
August 2013. The event requires one-day road closures to support a traffic 
free event through Elmbridge, Woking, Guildford and Mole Valley which 
can impact on businesses and the provision of services to local people. 
Cabinet now needs to decide whether Surrey should continue to host the 
main 100-mile closed road event within Surrey beyond 2021. This decision 
has been informed by a public consultation undertaken by the Council 
ending in February 2020. This report sets out an overview of the impacts 
of the event, the results of the consultation as well as a proposed way 
forward. 

(Pages 
757 - 
772) 



 

 
7 

 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee] 
 

21  2020/21 MONTH 5 (AUGUST) FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
This report provides details of the County Council’s 2020/21 financial 

position as at 31 August 2020 (M5) for revenue and capital budgets and 

the projected outlook for the financial year.   

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee]  
 

(Pages 
773 - 
780) 

22  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 

 

  

P A R T  T W O  -  I N  P R I V A T E 
 
 

 

23  DECISION ON THE ROUTE TO MARKET FOR TWO EXTRA CARE 
HOUSING SCHEMES 
 
This Part 2 annex contains information which is exempt from Access to 
Information requirements by virtue of paragraph 3 – Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
commercially sensitive information to the bidding companies). 
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Adults and Health 
Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
781 - 
794) 

24  STREET LIGHTING PFI CONTRACT - REFINANCING 
 
This Part 2 annex contains information which is exempt from Access to 
Information requirements by virtue of paragraph 3 – Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
commercially sensitive information to the bidding companies). 
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
795 - 
802) 

25  BROADWATER SECONDARY SCHOOL, GODALMING, SURREY 
 
This Part 2 annex contains information which is exempt from Access to 
Information requirements by virtue of paragraph 3 – Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
commercially sensitive information to the bidding companies). 
 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Children’s, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee] 
 

(Pages 
803 - 
810) 



 

 
8 

 

26  PUBLICITY FOR PART 2 ITEMS 
 
To consider whether the item considered under Part 2 of the agenda 
should be made available to the Press and public. 
 

 

Joanna Killian 
Chief Executive 

Published: Friday 16 October, 2020 
 
 

 

QUESTIONS, PETITIONS AND PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

The Cabinet will consider questions submitted by Members of the Council, members of 
the public who are electors of the Surrey County Council area and petitions containing 
100 or more signatures relating to a matter within its terms of reference, in line with the 
procedures set out in Surrey County Council’s Constitution. 
 
Please note: 
1. Members of the public can submit one written question to the meeting. Questions 

should relate to general policy and not to detail. Questions are asked and 
answered in public and so cannot relate to “confidential” or “exempt” matters (for 
example, personal or financial details of an individual – for further advice please 
contact the committee manager listed on the front page of this agenda).  

2. The number of public questions which can be asked at a meeting may not exceed 
six. Questions which are received after the first six will be held over to the following 
meeting or dealt with in writing at the Chairman’s discretion. 

3. Questions will be taken in the order in which they are received. 
4. Questions will be asked and answered without discussion. The Chairman or 

Cabinet Members may decline to answer a question, provide a written reply or 
nominate another Member to answer the question. 

5. Following the initial reply, one supplementary question may be asked by the 
questioner. The Chairman or Cabinet Members may decline to answer a 
supplementary question. 

 



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT 2.00 PM 

REMOTE MEETING. 
 
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Cabinet at its next meeting. 

 
Members: 
  
*Mr Tim Oliver (Chairman) *Mrs Natalie Bramhall 
 Mr Colin Kemp (Vice-Chairman) *Mrs Mary Lewis 
*Dr Zully Grant-Duff *Mrs Julie Iles 
*Mrs Sinead Mooney *Mr Matt Furniss 
*Mr Mel Few *Ms Denise Turner-Stewart 

 
Deputy Cabinet Members: 
 
*Mrs Becky Rush *Miss Alison Griffiths 
*Mr Mark Nuti *Miss Marisa Heath 

 
* = Present 
 
Members in attendance: 
Mr Jonathan Essex, Redhill East 
Mr Will Forster, Woking South 
Mr Edward Hawkins, Heatherside and Parkside 
Mr David Mansfield, Lightwater, West End and Bisley 
Mr Chris Botten, Vice-Chairman of the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning & 
Culture Select Committee 
 
 

PART ONE 
IN PUBLIC 

 
121/20 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  [Item 1] 

 
Apologies were received from Mr Colin Kemp. The Leader explained that Mr 
Kemp was undergoing hospital treatment and as a result his portfolio would 
be split and managed by other Members of the Cabinet team. Mr Edward 
Hawkins would be appointed as a Deputy Cabinet Member for Property. 
 

122/20 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: (21 JULY 2020)  [Item 2] 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July were approved as a correct 
record. 
 

123/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  [Item 3] 
 
There were none. 
 

124/20 PROCEDURAL MATTERS  [Item 4] 
 
The Leader made some opening comments stating that the nation and county 
was living through challenging times with the number of confirmed cases of 
Covid-19 increasing. In Surrey there had been high numbers of confirmed 
cases in Spelthorne with the overall number of cases in Surrey was 

Page 1

2

Item 2



 

increasing. The Leader reminded residents of the importance of socially 
distancing, washing hands and wearing face coverings. It would be more 
challenging moving into the winter. The council would work hard with partners 
to tackle the virus. Although plans are in place to tackle the virus, it is 
important not to become complacent. Locality teams had remained in touch 
with vulnerable carers, offering virtual support. In relation to children’s 
services and education, most services have been reopened with vulnerable 
children being seen face to face in line with government guidance. Support 
was being provided to victims of domestic abuse and refuge services were 
also being provided. The councils budget was being closely monitored and 
the majority of costs incurred by Covid-19 had been covered by government.  
 

125/20 MEMBERS' QUESTIONS  [Item 4a] 
 
There were five Member questions. The questions and responses were 
published as a supplement to the agenda. Mr Will Forster asked a 
supplementary question in relation to his second question to Cabinet which 
asked when would the council publish and share work undertaken by external 
consultants in relation to the unitary bid. The Leader responded, explaining 
that much of the work undertaken was not just in relation to the unitary 
conversation but helped get resident feedback on what they wanted. The 
information would be discussed at Council on 13 October and a workshop 
with members would be organised in due course. It was further added that 
work on proposals for a unitary had been paused on the basis that an invite 
from the Secretary of State to submit a business case had not yet been 
received. Work undertaken to date would be shared with members and the 
public to seek feedback on proposals.  
 
Mr Jonathan Essex thanked Cabinet for a comprehensive response to 
Question 4 and asked a supplementary question to Question 5 which was, if 
the daily data on which the average figures across Surrey are calculated 
could be shared publicly and to also provide information on the percentage 
availability of each frontline appliance in Surrey on each day shift from 
07:00am to 07:00pm and each night shift from 07:00pm to 07:00am from 1 
July to the present day. The Cabinet Member for Communities responded to 
the supplementary stating that the nature of the questions assumed that 
SFRS response was delivered from fixed positions but in fact county facilities 
and resources are deployed dynamically and appliances are responsible for 
the whole of the county. This was the way data was recorded and is in line 
with HMICFRS requirements. The granular data is not available. Mr Essex 
asked that the details of the percentage availability of each frontline appliance 
was provided to him in writing. The Cabinet Member for Communities stated 
that she would be happy to provide a response but as stated fire appliances 
are constantly moving around the county and therefore the data cannot be 
provided as requested.  
 

126/20 PUBLIC QUESTIONS  [Item 4b] 
 
There were no public questions. 
 

127/20 PETITIONS  [Item 4c] 
 
One petition with 6,089 signatures had been received. It requested that the 
Council ‘Reverse cuts to Surrey Fire and Rescue Service’. The response to 
the petition was published as part of the supplementary agenda and on the 

Page 2

2



petition’s website. Ms Emma Kennedy presented the petition stating that on 7 
August 2020 the fire on Chobham Common was designated as a major 
national incident with the cuts imposed by the council meaning that 
appliances were not available. Chobham common is a national nature reserve 
and the council has a duty to protect it but removing the nearest fire crew 
does not fulfil that duty. This year there had been a 388% increase in London 
Fire Brigade having to attend in Surrey. Surrey now has the lowest number of 
Fire and Rescue personnel per 1000 of the population and coverage is falling 
faster than all the 14 authorities with the exception of Cambridgeshire. 
Cabinet was asked to re-evaluate plans to cut further appliances and commit 
to maintaining Chobham as 24/7 fire station. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities thanked the petitioner and stated that 
local intelligence on risky places and vulnerable people helps the council keep 
residents safe and shapes what we do. Focus groups would be set up in 
coming months to engage with local communities.  The Surrey Safer Plan 
aligns resource to risk and rural affairs officers will ensure responsible Land 
Management and prevent wildfires in conjunction with our communities. 
Advanced technology enables the service to operate dynamically and deploy 
the nearest fire engine to an incident. The dynamic cover tool presentation will 
be available on the council website in the new few weeks. Assurance had 
been received from Brunel university with a number of recommendations 
which the service will take into account with regards to the Surrey Safer Plan 
which has been fully validated.  
 
Ms Emma Kennedy stated that she would like to take part in the focus groups 
and asked the Cabinet to think about the risk based cover the plan is based 
on which she believed is meaningless as fires are unforeseeable events. 
There were a number of areas that the council could commit to including 
making Chobham 24/7. The Cabinet Member for Communities stated that 
SFRS was equipped and resourced to manage a very broad range of fire and 
rescue incidents on a daily basis.  
 
Mr David Mansfield, County Councillor for Bisley, Lightwater and West End 
asked why Chobham fire station only continues on a retained crew basis. The 
Cabinet Member for Communities explained that the provision of the resource 
would be consistent with the risk profile which would take into account 
provision in neighbouring fire stations. As the risk adjusts any additional 
resource would be identified and provided for. It was agreed that a written 
reply would be organised.  
 

128/20 REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED ON REPORTS TO BE CONSIDERED IN 
PRIVATE  [Item 4d] 
 
There were none.  
 

129/20 REPORTS FROM SELECT COMMITTEES , TASK GROUPS, LOCAL 
COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL  [Item 5] 
 
Mr Chris Botten introduced the report and thanked the strategy team for 
support with the task groups work. Mr Botten stated that the strategy team 
had helpfully provided the group with a number of scenarios to stress test the 
future of the council including impacts of Covid-19 and Brexit. The report is an 
accurate summary of the deliberations the group had. Mr Chris Botten 

Page 3

2



 

thanked Cabinet for the response to the group’s recommendations and 
thanked Rachel Crossley and her staff for their support with this work.  
 
The Leader thanked the group for the timely worked carried out and the 
helpful input. It was explained that a more detailed report would be coming to 
October Cabinet and officers would liaise with the group for their input and 
support.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Strategic Reset Group report be noted and recommendations 
agreed. 
 

130/20 LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER/ STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT BOARD DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET 
MEETING  [Item 6] 
 
There were six decisions to note. The Cabinet Member for Communities 
explained that the requirement for an annual Statement of Assurance as set 
out in the revised Fire and Rescue National Framework for England had been 
approved. The Cabinet Member for Highways explained that investment for 
the A30 London Road, Camberley would continue with the Local Enterprise 
Partnership as a bus corridor. It was further added that Traffic Regulation 
Order’s for both Spelthorne and Woking had been put out for consultation 
which would in turn help support the climate change strategy. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the delegated decisions taken since the last meeting of the Cabinet be 
noted. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by Cabinet Members, Strategic 
Investment Board and the Committee in Common subcommittee under 
delegated authority. 
 

131/20 CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  [Item 7] 
 
The Deputy Cabinet Member to the Leader introduced the report explaining 
that 41 out of 42 libraries had reopened with the community partnered 
libraries starting to come online. Digital libraries had come to life and the 
libraries transformation process would be starting shortly. A Surrey team had 
been picked and would speak to residents and community groups to find out 
what people want from their libraries. The Deputy Cabinet Member thanked 
library staff for all their hard work over the last few months commenting that 
great things would be happening to the service over the coming months. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet Member update be noted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

2



132/20 COVID- 19 DELEGATED AND URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN  [Item 8] 
 
Five delegated decisions taken by officers were noted. The Cabinet Member 
for Communities explained that the final hardship payments had been made. 
The scheme had been a success, supporting 22 organisations whom had 
received £355k. These services had been essential for the community. The 
Cabinet Member for Communities thanked the committed team who help run 
the scheme.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the five decisions taken by officers since the last meeting be noted. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by officers under delegated 
authority. 
 
[This decision is subject to call-in by the relevant Select Committee Chairman 
dependent on the recommendation.] 
 

133/20 SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL STRATEGIC RESET  [Item 9] 
 
The Leader introduced the report explaining that the Strategic Reset Group 
had inputted to the report and recommendations from the group were 
welcomed. It was explained that a more detailed report would be considered 
by Cabinet in October. The pandemic had led the council to review the 2030 
strategy which was designed with partners. The vision for Surrey in 2030 still 
held true but the report reprioritised areas the council would be focusing on in 
the current climate. With regards to the budget requirements, 2021/22 would 
be difficult and challenging.  
 
The Leader stated that Surrey was vital in supporting the economy and was 
the single largest contributor to the GVA. The county would lobby government 
to ensure Surrey was supported and would work with the Local Enterprise 
Partnership and partners to ensure people can be re-skilled. The way in which 
residents had responded in the pandemic had been positive and admirable.  
 
Four key priorities- Tackling inequality and ensuring no one is left behind; 
Driving inclusive growth; Creating a greener future; and Enabling resilient and 
connected communities had been identified and would guide the council over 
the coming months. More work would be undertaken to specify how these 
priorities would be delivered.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the key themes emerging from the planning assumptions and 

evidence base that have informed the strategic reset be noted. 

2. That the input of the Member Reference Group in informing the 

Strategic Reset paper be noted. 

3. That the financial implications, impacts on the Transformation 

Programme, and the impacts on Directorate business plans be noted. 

Page 5

2



 

4. That the four emerging priority objectives (Tackling inequality and 

ensuring no one is left behind; Driving inclusive growth; Creating a 

greener future; and Enabling resilient and connected communities) 

that will form a new focus for the council and become the basis of a 

refreshed Organisation Strategy be approved. 

5. The process being undertaken by Directorates to understand the 

implications for future years following the impact of Covid-19 on 

residents, communities and the council be noted. 

Reason for Decision: 

Through the council’s response to Covid-19 a number of the council’s 

organisational priorities have come into sharper focus, including themes such 

as a strong and prosperous economy; happy, healthy, connected and resilient 

communities; a greener future; and being a leading council. There is 

consensus that the 2030 Vision remains the right focus, but how we get there 

might need to change without losing the strong foundations that have been 

established over the past two years.  

It is recommended that as part of the strategic reset a focus on these 

emerging priority areas will help the council to better prioritise its resources, 

refocus its transformation programme and ensure a stable provision of 

services going forward. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee] 
 

134/20 DEVELOPING LOCAL SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY 
(SEND) PROVISION IN SURREY TO MEET DEMAND IN 2021/2022  [Item 
10] 
 
The report was introduced by the Cabinet Member for All- Age Learning who 
explained that the report would help meet demand in 2021/22 for specialist 
provision, stressing that this was a positive approach which is part of the 
councils transformation plan and SEND Sufficiency Strategy 2020-2025 which 
was approved by Cabinet on 29 January 2019. In January 2019 a 
recommendation was made to increase the specialist provision in mainstream 
specialist centres, special academies and maintained special schools in 
Surrey in order to reduce the reliance on Non- Maintained and Independent 
Specialist provision and out of county Independent provision. The 
recommendations are aligned with the local area’s 2030 Community Vision 
which received Full Council unanimous approval to support the aspiration that 
everyone achieves their full potential, contributes to their community and no 
one is left behind so that children and young people who have SEND and 
Education Health and Care Plans are educated in their nearest most 
appropriate setting and closer to home. The report speaks to the four key 
priorities identified in the Strategic Reset paper and will develop Surreys 
special educational needs strategy. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families stated that 
both her and the Cabinet Member for All- Age Learning received a lot of 
contact from families with children who have special educational needs and 
disabilities. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families 
expressed gratitude in having Cabinets support through the capital 

Page 6

2



programme with making better provision for children in the county. This report 
demonstrates the councils support to families. Attention was drawn to Annex 
2 with over £5m having been spent on providing additional places and 119 
places having already been delivered. The phased approach is necessary 
and will take the council forward into the future.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance added that he supported the paper and that 
it met all the financial hurdles. The Deputy Cabinet Member for People added 
that this vital piece of work supported other important work in the service 
including transition services which she is responsible for.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the use of SEND Capital Funding against the projects identified 
through the Expression of Interest (EOI) process with Surrey Schools 
for Phase 2 of the SEND Capital Programme to create 213 additional 
Specialist Planned Places in Surrey for academic year 2021-2022 be 
approved. 
 

2. That the use of additional SEND Capital Funding of £6.4m required to 
complete the Freemantle’s expansion, in addition to Phase 1 be 
approved. 
 

3. That the transfer of £36m of Capital Budget to the SEND Capital 
Phase 1 and 2 Programmes be approved. 

 
Reason for Decision: 
 
Under Part 3 Section 21 of the Children & Families Act, 2014 the Local 

Authority and its partners have a statutory duty to keep special educational 

provision under review, including planning, commissioning and monitoring. In 

carrying out the duties in the Children & Families Act 2014, local authorities 

and others with responsibilities under that Act, are also covered by the 

Equality Act, 2010.   

Developing and maintaining high quality specialist provision in Surrey is vital 

to ensure appropriate placements for the county’s most vulnerable children 

and young people who have complex SEND and require specialist 

educational provision.  

The proposed schemes (See Annex 1) ensure enough special school places 

are provided for secondary and Post 16 age children and young people who 

have Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs, Communication & 

Interaction needs and Cognition & Learning needs. These are the 3 need-

types where long-term deficits in planned places have already been identified. 

Increasing local specialist provision assures high quality teaching (through 

robust monitoring protocols) in Surrey’s Good and Outstanding provision as 

graded by Ofsted, value for money at a more equitable cost per learner, the 

development of social value opportunities as well as employment in local 

communities.   

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Children’s, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee] 
 

Page 7

2



 

135/20 PROCUREMENT OF HIGHWAYS CONTRACTS  [Item 11] 
 
The report was introduced by the Cabinet Member for Highways who 
explained that this report was for the procurement of the highways contract to 
start in 2021. Surrey has over 3000 miles of road and pavement and delivers 
a number of statutory functions contributing to the strategic ambitions of the 
council for economic development. The council recognises the changing 
needs of the users and are looking to improve cycling and walking and hence 
the importance of having a forward thinking contractor to help deliver 
highways services for the future. It was explained that the scale and scope of 
the services would take a 6 month mobilisation with officers having 
undertaken extensive research. There was great interest from the industry 
and a set of clear objectives had been developed. The contract would be a 
collaboration and partnership with support from Association of Directors of 
Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport and Cranfield University to 
analyse all the different contract models available to the council. 
 
The Cabinet were informed that the Select Committee Members Reference 
Group had been updated on the development of the contract and would be 
provided with regular updates regarding the contract. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the highways service’s market research conducted to inform the 

procurement strategy be noted and the procurement strategy for 

highway services contracts be approved. 

 

Reason for Decision: 

 

The Highways Service has successfully engaged contractors to deliver 

elements of its services on its behalf for many years, bringing together the 

strengths of both the public and private sector. The exact scope of services 

needs to be balanced against the cost of delivering these services, the 

management of a wide variety of associated risks and the need to employ the 

required skills when needed. 

Officers have undertaken extensive research into what other authorities are 

doing in this area, the market’s capabilities to deliver the required services 

and the industry’s desire to enter into such contracts.  This research has been 

overlaid with the Council’s objectives to not only continue to deliver highway 

maintenance activities, but also to transform delivery of highway and transport 

activities over the next 10 to 20 years. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, Environment 
and Highways Select Committee] 
 

136/20 A31 AND BLACKWATER VALLEY RELIEF ROAD (BVR) BALANCING 
POND RESTORATION PROCUREMENT  [Item 12] 
 
The Cabinet Member for Highways stated the A31 and A331, also known as 
the Blackwater Valley Relief Road (BVR) have several balancing ponds along 
their length that form an integral part of the highway drainage system. Water 
from the highway drains into these ponds where it is stored before it 
discharges into nearby watercourses. The ponds act to ensure water can 
effectively drain from the road in order to improve safety to users of the high-

Page 8

2



speed road whilst also protecting the local area from contamination. Recent 
surveys and reports had confirmed that works are required to ensure the 
assets are performing as designed. The report requested permission to go out 
to contract award and appoint someone to undertake this work. It is proposed 
that the Council appoint a specialist contractor to refurbish and maintain these 
assets through a “Term Contract” for up to a 10-year duration. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change stated that it was 
positive to see this work coming forward as it would be increasing the county’s 
flood resilience. The Cabinet Member queried if there were any timescales as 
to when this work would start. The Cabinet Member for Highways stated that 
with procurement dates the completion of the tender evaluation should be 
completed by 13 October 2020 with a standstill period of 10 days. This would 
be followed by the formality of signing the contract. It was confirmed that the 
Blackwater Valley Countryside Partnership would be consulted as work is 
undertaken. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the commissioning and procurement strategy developed by 
Strategic Network Resilience and Procurement teams so that a 
suitable contractor can be appointed to maintain and refurbish 
balancing ponds along the A31 and Blackwater Valley Relief Road 
(A331) be approved.  
 

2. That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director for 
Environment, Transport & Infrastructure in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Transport to approve the contract award decision. 

 
Reason for Decision: 
 
We are requesting Approval to Procure for the Balancing Pond Term Contract 

to enable the refurbishment of essential highway drainage assets to ensure 

that they are performing as designed.  

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, Environment 
and Highways Select Committee] 
 
 

137/20 HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND FORWARD FUNDING - FUNDING 
ALLOCATION OF £41.8 MILLION TO THE A320 NORTH OF WOKING  
[Item 13] 
 
The Cabinet Member for Highways introduced the report explaining that the 
Housing Infrastructure Fund Forward Funding is a £5.5 billion government 
capital grant programme launched in summer 2017 to help to deliver up to 
300,000 new homes in England. Surrey had been successful in three bids in 
Guildford, Woking and Runnymede. The council is proposing that there is a 
flow down the side agreement that will ensure both Surrey and Runnymede 
are in partnership on all elements of the project. It was explained that there 
were a few risks with the scheme namely that Runnymede Borough Council 
would be responsible for delivering housing and hence the proposal of a side 
agreement so the risk rested with Runnymede. Improvements would be put 
into Junction 11 to fit around the Smart Motorway works that highways 
England are proposing from Junction 10-16 which starts next year.   

Page 9

2



 

 
The following changes were proposed by the Cabinet Member for Highways 
to Recommendations 1 and 2 in the report which were agreed by Cabinet: 
 
1. Subject to the signing of a flow down agreement with Runnymede 
Borough Council as detailed in recommendation 2, Surrey County Council 
(SCC) confirms acceptance of the funding award of £41.8 million for the A320 
North of Woking Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) Forward Funding scheme 
allocated by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG), by agreeing to proceed to sign the relevant Homes England Grant 
Determination Agreement (GDA); 
 
2. Either prior to or concurrently with signing the GDA agreement, SCC enters 
into a side agreement / Flow Down contract with Runnymede Borough 
Council (RBC) regarding any GDA conditions which relate not to the delivery 
of the infrastructure but instead to those elements particularly associated with 
housing, alongside a cost sharing arrangement. The signing of the GDA be 
delegated to the Executive Director Environment, Transport and 
Infrastructure and the Executive Director of Resources in consultation 
with the relevant Cabinet Member and the Leader; 
 
The Deputy Cabinet Member to the Leader welcomed the improvements to 
the changes to the road network and the need to supply housing in the area. 
The Cabinet Member for Finance welcomed the changes to 
Recommendations 1 and 2 in the report stating that Ottershaw residents were 
concerned around the loss of the Murray car park which supports the village 
hall and activity taking place there. The Cabinet Member asked that going 
forward any schemes take account of the proximity of the Murray car park to 
the village hall. It was confirmed that the original design submitted as part of 
the bid would be adapted to meet the needs of residents. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That subject to the signing of a flow down agreement with Runnymede 
Borough Council as detailed in recommendation 2, it be approved that 
Surrey County Council (SCC) confirms acceptance of the funding 
award of £41.8 million for the A320 North of Woking Housing 
Infrastructure Fund (HIF) Forward Funding scheme allocated by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG), by 
agreeing to proceed to sign the relevant Homes England Grant 
Determination Agreement (GDA); 
 

2. That either prior to or concurrently with signing the GDA agreement, it 
be approved that SCC enters into a side agreement / Flow Down 
contract with Runnymede Borough Council (RBC) regarding any GDA 
conditions which relate not to the delivery of the infrastructure but 
instead to those elements particularly associated with housing, 
alongside a cost sharing arrangement. The signing of the GDA be 
delegated to the Executive Director Environment, Transport and 
Infrastructure and the Executive Director of Resources in consultation 
with the relevant Cabinet Member and the Leader. 
 

3. That the scheme be moved from capital pipeline to capital budget 

immediately post-GDA signature but prior to the targeted receipt date 

Page 10

2



for the HIF allocation of October 2020 in order to allow for the project 

to progress in line with the target timescale for completion be 

approved.  

 

4. That provision for a contingency of £2m from the Council’s capital 

programme to support any project cost overruns should they arise be 

approved. 

 

5. That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director 

Environment, Transport and Infrastructure and the Executive Director 

of Resources in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member to 

approve any further decisions relating to the forward funding 

conditions. 

 

6. That the necessary authority and permission be given to officers to 

proceed to facilitate land purchase through Compulsory Purchase be 

approved in the event that any initial attempts through direct 

negotiation prove to be unsuccessful, subject to the signing of the 

GDA by SCC. 

 

Reason for Decision: 

 

 SCC’s acceptance of the grant funding will facilitate the delivery of the 

road infrastructure to support the additional housing identified in RBC’s 

Local Plan.   

 

 The proposed flow-down/side agreement will ensure that SCC and 

RBC are held to account for those elements of the project and related 

outcomes for which they are responsible.   

 

 Moving the scheme funding from pipeline to capital budget will release 

funds for further scheme development and thereby enable SCC to 

commence work on the scheme as early as possible considering the 

limited time now available within which to deliver the full 

improvements. The cost of expenditure incurred pre-signature will be 

fully rechargeable to the Scheme once funding is released.  

 

 The additional contingency provided by SCC will ensure that should 

any cost overruns are able to be met, and that these are met in a way 

that is shared with RBC in accordance with the methodology set out in 

this report. 

 

 Delegation on decisions relating to the forward funding conditions is 

sought to enable timely decisions to be taken on the operational 

aspects of delivering the scheme.  

 

Page 11

2



 

 Beyond Cabinet’s previous resolution that authority be given to officers 

to commence early discussions with landowners with respect to 

acquisition by negotiation, Cabinet is also now asked to provide 

authority to commence land acquisition with through compulsory 

purchase where such negotiations are clearly failing. The provision of 

such authority will allow the CPO process to progress in a timely 

manner should the need arise particularly where the designed future 

alignment requires land that cannot be acquired by negotiation. 

 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee] 

 
138/20 COMMUNITY PROJECTS FUND  [Item 14] 

 
The Deputy Cabinet Member to the Leader explained that £100m had been 
put aside for the people of Surrey to help deliver place-making and place-
changing projects led by residents and communities on a significant scale. 
Co-design work was undertaken and feedback taken on board to ensure the 
fund is accessible and inclusive to all residents. It was evident from the co-
design work that communication was key and as a result members will be a 
key instrument in guiding communities through the process. Workshops would 
be set up in October to support members in becoming conversant with the 
fund. An advertising campaign for ‘Your Fund Surrey’ would be starting soon 
with the website for the fund being live from September. Funding should start 
in Spring 2021. 
 
There was a great amount of support for the fund from Cabinet Members. The 
Cabinet Member for Adults and Public Health stated that she looked forward 
to the scheme being rolled out and that it was clear a great amount of work 
had gone into the project. Members commented that local residents were 
excited for the Fund. Thanks was paid to the Leader who had the vision for 
the Community Project Fund 12 months ago. Thanks was paid to the Deputy 
Cabinet Member and officers for progressing work with the Fund which will be 
a lifetime opportunity for Surrey residents.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the key findings from the community co-design work be noted. 

  

2. That the proposed updates to the process, criteria and framework for 

delivery of the Fund be approved. 

 

3. The recruitment of the officer roles to manage the CPF process be 

noted. 

 

4. The communications and engagement approach for the launch and 

delivery of the Fund be noted and the suggested timescales for the 

launch of the Fund and the opening of the first funding window be 

approved. 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

2



Reason for Decision: 

 

The development of the Community Project Fund (CPF) represents a 

significant and exciting opportunity for Surrey County Council (SCC) to invest 

in a meaningful and lasting way in communities, and for communities to drive 

projects that will make a real difference to where they live. Crucially the Fund 

fills a unique gap in the market for investment in truly resident and community-

led projects to have a positive impact on the places in which they live.   

The recommendations in this report will enable the Fund to be launched and 

to be delivered in a way that ensures the Fund is accessible to all, supports 

successful projects and that communities’ benefit.  

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, Environment 
and Highways Select Committee] 
 

139/20 HYPERCONVERGED SYSTEM PHASE 2 PROCUREMENT  [Item 15] 
 
The Cabinet Member for Corporate Support explained that the report set out 
recommendations arising from a requirement to add a procurement to the 
2020/21 Annual Procurement Forward Plan for the provision of 
Hyperconverged Systems. The Hyperconverged System phase 2 
procurement, part of the Core Infrastructure Architecture project, is to procure 
the final required hardware to reduce the complexity of the council’s data 
centres server infrastructure, increasing scalability and improving 
performance and stability. The architecture in question is current industry 
standard and will enable the council to benefit from cloud based services. The 
overall estimated value of the contract is £2m. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the procurement for Hyperconverged System Phase 2 be added 
to the 2020/21 Annual Procurement Forward Plan (APFP) in 
accordance with the Council’s Procurement and Contract Standing 
Orders be approved. 
 

2. That where the first ranked tender for this project is within the +/-5% 
budgetary tolerance level, the relevant Executive Director, Director or 
Head of Service (as appropriate) be delegated authority to award 
such contracts.  

 
Reason for Decision: 
 

 To comply with the Procurement and Contract Standing Orders agreed 
by the Council in May 2019. 
 

 To provide Cabinet with strategic oversight of planned procurement 
projects for 2020/21. 

 

 New hardware is required to address current issues with the data 
centres server infrastructure, including: 

 
o Increasing hardware faults, in particular hard disk failures, 

caused by the current infrastructure reaching end of life;  

Page 13

2



 

o Capacity issues with the current infrastructure; 

o Ability to make critical systems (e.g. Children’s, Finance, ERP) 
highly available. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee] 

 
140/20 2020/21 MONTH 4 (JULY) FINANCIAL REPORT  [Item 16] 

 
The Cabinet Member for Finance explained that as at July 2020 (M4) the 
Council is forecasting a deficit of £9.1m, against a budget of £1,019.7m.The 
main drivers of the unfavourable variance are children’s services and relate to 
demand in corporate parenting, SEND placements and a higher cost of 
staffing. Waste is also reflecting an additional cost of £2.9m. All other services 
at this point are forecasting at the end of the financial year to be within a 
narrow margin of their respective spending targets. Funding received from 
Government of £53.3m together with year date incurred costs have been 
allocated across services impacted by Covid-19 and as a result the annual 
budget has been adjusted. £20.4m had been transferred to the budget 
equalisation reserve at M4, the capital budget has been restated to £230.1m 
to reflect the purchase of and other costs relating to the Woodhatch site in 
Reigate. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Council’s forecast revenue and capital budget positions for 

the year be noted.  

2. That the transfer of the balance of the CV-19 funding (£1.9m) and 

amended revenue budget baseline as £1,019.7m be noted. 

3. That the addition of the 20/21 contingency (£20.4m) to the Budget 

Equalisation Reserve be approved. 

Reason for Decision: 

This report is to comply with the agreed policy of providing a monthly 

budget monitoring report to Cabinet for approval of any necessary 

actions. 

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee] 
 
 

141/20 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  [Item 17] 
 
RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
of the Act. 
 
 

Page 14

2



142/20 HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND FORWARD FUNDING - FUNDING 
ALLOCATION OF £41.8 MILLION TO THE A320 NORTH OF WOKING  
[Item 18] 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

See Minute 136/20 

 

Reason for Decision: 

 

See Minute 136/20 

 
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Communities, Environment 

and Highways Select Committee] 

 
143/20 PUBLICITY FOR PART 2 ITEMS  [Item 19] 

 
It was agreed that non-exempt information may be made available to the 
press and public, where appropriate. 
 
 
Meeting closed at 15:40 
 _________________________ 
 Chairman 

Page 15

2



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020  

SUBJECT: REPORT OF THE NO WRONG DOOR TASK GROUP  

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

Children who enter care as teenagers often spend considerable periods of time in care and 

experience worse outcomes than younger entrants, including in terms of accommodation 

stability and education, employment and training. 

The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning Culture Directorate’s Corporate Parenting service 

has begun to develop a local ‘No Wrong Door’1 service using a model created by North 

Yorkshire County Council in 2015. The local service may be accredited by North Yorkshire 

County Council, subject to the outcome of ongoing discussions.  

Between July and September 2020, a Task Group established by the Children, Families, 

Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee assessed the suitability of the No Wrong 

Door model with regard to its potential introduction in Surrey.  

The Task Group’s Report contains nine recommendations (listed below), which are informed 

by written submissions received from, and the oral evidence of, council officers and a range 

of partners, stakeholders, and local authorities with experience of the No Wrong Door model. 

Some independent research was also undertaken by the Task Group. 

The Report of the Task Group was presented to the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning 

and Culture on 21 September 2020. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended: 

1. that Corporate Parenting not agree to terms of accreditation which will prevent the 

further development of Surrey County Council’s No Wrong Door service. 

 

2. that Corporate Parenting not agree to an accreditation fee which it considers to be 

disproportionate to the benefits of accreditation.  

 

3. that the development and introduction of a No Wrong Door service in Surrey 

continue. 

 

4. that Corporate Parenting undertake targeted work to foster a shared culture between 

No Wrong Door staff at an early stage of the implementation of the model; and 

develop clear lines of accountability for staff.  

 

5. that Corporate Parenting have regard to the importance of the consistency of No 

Wrong Door key workers when developing those roles and the job descriptions 

                                                           
1 Trade mark: North Yorkshire County Council, 2019 

Page 17

5

Item 5



 
 

therefore; and explore ways to promote the retention of key workers and other NWD 

staff.  

 

6. that consistent support from the No Wrong Door team be emphasised, rather than 

consistent support from individual No Wrong Door staff members.  

 

7. that designs for No Wrong Door hubs not be finalised until after the service has been 

operational for at least six months, including operating in shadow form.  

 

8. that Corporate Parenting work with User Voice and Participation to agree a name for 

Surrey’s No Wrong Door service other than ‘No Wrong Door’, if doing so is 

compatible with any terms of accreditation agreed with North Yorkshire County 

Council and will not significantly impair the recruitment of No Wrong Door staff. 

 

9. that the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families report on the 

development, implementation and impact of the No Wrong Door, with reference to 

the recommendations of this report and agreed performance measures for the No 

Wrong Door, to the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select 

Committee in October 2021, subject to the implementation of the No Wrong Door by 

April 2021. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Accreditation (recommendations 1 and 2) 

The Task Group is concerned that the (yet unknown) terms offered by North Yorkshire 

County Council for the accreditation for Surrey County Council’s No Wrong Door may 

prevent the future, further development of the service to meet changing local need.  

The Task Group is also concerned that the (yet unknown) fee for accreditation will be 

disproportionate to the benefits of accreditation: primarily, the use of North Yorkshire County 

Council’s intellectual property (the trademark ‘No Wrong Door’ and the use of the model’s 

ten distinguishing features in their copyright form).  

Why the introduction of a No Wrong Door should continue in Surrey (recommendation 

3) 

The No Wrong Door model is consistent with other Surrey County Council policies and 

strategies and is proven to be effective at reducing care episodes in both number and 

duration, improving service user outcomes, and generating cost savings. The Task Group 

concluded that the standard of children’s social care in Surrey, whilst not perfect, is such that 

the No Wrong Door will likely be efficacious if introduced. 

How Surrey’s No Wrong Door should be developed, implemented and evaluated 

(recommendations 4 - 9)  

Recommendation 4:  

Evidence from local authorities with experience of the No Wrong Door model or similar 

models of service delivery alerted the Task Group to the fact that developing a shared 

culture between staff from different professions and organisations is a challenge, the 

surmounting of which requires targeted work. Furthermore, lines of accountability for 

seconded staff, such as police officers, may be unclear.  

Page 18

5



 
 

Recommendation 5:  

Consistent No Wrong Door key workers is central to the efficacy of the model and efforts 

must be made to recruit skilled key workers who will remain in post for as long as possible.  

Recommendation 6: 

It is apparent that the No Wrong Door model’s emphasis on consistent support from a No 

Wrong Door key worker, if replicated in Surrey, may give service users unrealistic 

expectations, as such staff may leave the service for a number of reasons. This 

recommendation is not to detract from the importance of consistent key workers, it is merely 

to shift emphasis onto consistent support from a team of workers, the membership of which 

may change from time to time.  

Recommendation 7: 

Local authorities delivering services from hubs under the No Wrong Door model or similar 

identified that the commencement of their services prior to the completion of the construction 

of their hubs had created challenging environments in which to support vulnerable young 

people with complex needs. 

Recommendation 8: 

Looked-after children and care leavers described the name ‘No Wrong Door’ as ‘misleading, 

overpromising and unrealistic’.  

Recommendation 9:  

It is expected that the impact of Surrey’s No Wrong Door will begin to become apparent 

within six months of its operation, notwithstanding that it will take several years for the 

service to become fully embedded. This recommendation also enables the Select 

Committee to follow-up on the implementation of its other recommendations.    

DETAILS: 

Details of the Task Group’s methodology and findings may be found in its Report, Annex 1 to 

this Report.  

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Directorate implements the 

recommendations of the Task Group’s Report and reports back to the Children, Families, 

Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee in line with the timescale contained in 

recommendation 9. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Lesley Steeds, Chairman of the No Wrong Door Task Group 

Contact Officer: 

Benjamin Awkal, Scrutiny Officer, benjamin.awkal@surreycc.gov.uk 

Consulted: 

See Annex 1, paragraphs 10 - 15 

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – Report of the No Wrong Door Task Group 

Page 19

5



 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Page 20

5



Annex 1 – Report of the No Wrong Door Task Group 

 

CHILDREN, FAMILIES, LIFELONG LEARNING AND CULTURE 

SELECT COMMITTEE  

MONDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2020  

THE REPORT OF THE NO WRONG DOOR TASK GROUP 

Purpose of report: to apprise the Select Committee of the work, findings and 

recommendations of the No Wrong Door Task Group. 

Executive summary 

1. Between July and September 2020, the No Wrong Door Task Group assessed 

the suitability of the No Wrong Door model with regard to its potential 

introduction in Surrey. The model was first developed by North Yorkshire 

County Council in 2015 and offers an integrated approach to supporting 

children and young people aged 12 to 25 who are either in care, on the edge of 

care or edging to care, or have recently moved to supported or independent 

accommodation whilst being supported under the No Wrong Door.  

 

2. The Task Group found that the model has been effective at reducing care 

episodes, improving outcomes for service users and creating cost savings 

elsewhere. It is also consistent with the priorities and policies of Surrey County 

Council. The introduction of the model has strong support at member and 

senior officer level within the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture 

Directorate. Fundamental issues persist with Surrey’s children’s services; 

however, despite the presence of some barriers, the conditions in Surrey are 

such that the model will likely be efficacious if adopted.  

3. The Task Group recommends: 

 that the development and introduction of a No Wrong Door service in Surrey 

continue;  

 that the Corporate Parenting service not agree to terms of accreditation for 

Surrey’s No Wrong Door which are disproportionate to the benefits of the 

accreditation offered by North Yorkshire County Council or which will 

prevent the further development of Surrey’s No Wrong Door to meet the 

needs of Surrey’s children and young people;  

Page 21

5



 that when developing and implementing the local service, Corporate 

Parenting undertake targeted work to develop a shared culture between 

staff, have regard to the importance of consistent No Wrong Door key 

workers when developing those roles, wait until the service has become 

operational before finalising designs for No Wrong Door hubs, consider 

naming the service something other than ‘No Wrong Door’, and work with 

relevant children and young people to agree a name for the service other 

than ‘No Wrong Door’; and  

 that the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families report on 

the development, implementation and impact of the No Wrong Door in 

Surrey, to the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select 

Committee in October 2021, subject to the timely implementation of the 

model.  

Introduction 

4. In May 2020, the Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning, Councillor Mary Lewis, 
informed the Chairman of the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture 
Select Committee that the council’s Corporate Parenting service (‘Corporate 
Parenting’) intended to introduce a new service delivery model to support 
children in, or at risk of entering, care and suggested that the Select Committee 
form a task group to assess the suitability of the model. Lesley Steeds, Vice-
Chairman of the Select Committee, agreed to chair the task group if formed.  
 

5. The Chairman of the prospective task group subsequently met with the Director 
of Corporate Parenting and the No Wrong Door Project Manager to discuss 
Corporate Parenting’s proposals. 

 

6. On 10 July 2020, the Select Committee agreed terms of reference formally 
establishing a task group to investigate and report on the proposed introduction 
of a No Wrong Door service in Surrey. It was agreed that the Task Group would 
report in early September 2020.1 The Task Group comprised:  

 Councillor Lesley Steeds, Chairman 

 Councillor Kay Hammond (ex officio) 

 Councillor Chris Botten 

 Councillor Robert Evans 

 Councillor Liz Bowes 

 Councillor Barbara Thomson 

 Councillor Chris Townsend 
 
7. The Task Group thanks those who contributed evidence to its inquiry. 

 

                                            
1 Annex 1 

Page 22

5



8. Any errors, factual inaccuracies or inconsistencies contained within the report 
are the responsibility of the Task Group alone and not of those who contributed 
their knowledge, insight and experiences to the formation of this report. 
 

The objectives of the Task Group 
 
9. The Task Group’s agreed objectives were:  

a) To map the relevant services provided by the Children, Families, Lifelong 
Learning and Culture Directorate and partners. 

 
b) To identify stakeholders and capture and amplify their views at an early 

stage of the model’s development, particularly the views of looked-after 
children and care leavers. 

 
c) To assess the suitability of the No Wrong Door model both in principle 

and with regard to the Surrey context. 
 

d) To make recommendations on the development and implementation of 
the new model.  

 
e) To establish how the success of the No Wrong Door model will be 

measured. 
 

Evidence gathering 

10. All of the evidence that was received in the course of this enquiry with 
permission for publication can be found in the annexes of this report. 

 
Written evidence 
 
11. The Task Group’s first step was to request written evidence from Corporate 

Parenting, Surrey Police, and nine local authorities with experience of the No 
Wrong Door, including North Yorkshire County Council, which created the 
model in 2015. The Task Group periodically wrote to Corporate Parenting to 
request specific information throughout the course of this inquiry.  
 

12. To understand the needs and views of those who would use a No Wrong Door 
service, the Task Group collaborated with colleagues in the council’s User 
Voice and Participation service to put questions to the Care Council, a forum for 
looked-after children aged over 13 years, and the Care Leavers Forum, a forum 
for care leavers aged 18 to 25.  
 

13. From 20 July 2020 to 4 August 2020, the Task Group ran a public call for 
evidence in the form of an online survey. The survey contained two sets of 
questions,2 each applicable to one of two groups: 1) looked-after children and 
care leavers; 2) people and organisations with experience of supporting looked-
after children and care leavers. The survey was promoted by Surrey County 
Council’s communications service and Task Group Members. 

                                            
2 Questions available in Annex 2 

Page 23

5



 
14. To capture the views of Surrey’s clinical commissioning groups and the other 

public services which are involved in supporting vulnerable children, the Task 
Group invited the organisations represented on the Surrey Health and 
Wellbeing Board to complete the survey from their organisational perspectives. 
The membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board may be viewed here: 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=328.  

 
Table 1: responses to public survey 

Respondent type Number received 

Care leaver 0 

Looked-after children (LAC) 0 

Individual with experience of 
supporting LAC and care leavers 

4 

Representative of an organisation 
with experience of supporting LAC 
and care leavers 

6 

Other with experience of supporting 
LAC and care leavers 

2 

 
Oral evidence 
 
15. The Task Group met with the following people to discuss the No Wrong Door 

model and related matters on the dates stated:  
 

 5 August 2020: Lou Williams, Service Director for Children and 
Safeguarding, Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

 7 August 2020: User Voice and Participation officers, Surrey County Council 
 

 20 August 2020: Anne Tully, No Wrong Door – Project Manager, Rochdale 
Borough Council 
 

 21 August 2020: Tina Benjamin, Director – Corporate Parenting, Surrey 
County Council. 
 

Limitations 
 
16. Most organisations from which the Task Group requested evidence were 

unable to support the enquiry and those which replied to requests for 
information cited a lack of capacity. Similarly, the commencement and progress 
of this inquiry was hindered by capacity issues caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic and the timing of the inquiry during the August period when Members 
and officers commonly take annual leave.  

Page 24

5

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=328


 

Factual and legal context 

Key legal provisions 
 
17. Under the Children Act 2004, Surrey County Council is subject to a number of 

legal obligations relating to the safeguarding and promotion of child welfare, 
including to ensure that the council, and those who exercise the council’s 
functions on its behalf, discharges its functions with regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.3 
 

18. Under the Children Act 1989, the council is required to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children in Surrey and, so far as is consistent with that duty, to 
promote the upbringing of such children by their families by providing a range 
and level of services appropriate to those children’s needs.4  
 

19. A child shall be taken to be ‘in need’ if they are unlikely to, or unlikely to have 
the opportunity to, achieve or maintain a reasonable standard of health or 
development without the provision of services by the council; or their health or 
development is likely to be significantly impaired, or further impaired, without 
the provision of such services; or they are disabled.5  
 

20. Under the Children Act 1989, a child is ‘looked after’ if they are provided with 
accommodation for a continuous period of more than 24 hours or is subject to a 
Care Order or Placement Order. This can include disabled children in receipt of 
a series of ‘respite care’ placements. Children cease to be looked after when 
they return home and a care order is discharged, are adopted, are made 
subject to a Special Guardianship Order or Child Arrangement Order or reach 
18 years of age.  

 
21. The council’s key duty towards looked-after children is to ‘safeguard and 

promote’ their welfare and to ‘make such use of services available for children 
cared for by their own parents as appears to the Authority reasonable’.6 

 

The Surrey context 
 
22. Following Ofsted’s 2018 judgement of Surrey’s children’s services as 

‘Inadequate’, the council, as part of a wider transformation programme, 
embarked on an improvement programme to transform children’s services. In 
2018, the introduction of the No Wrong Door model was first suggested by the 
then Executive Director of Children, Families and Learning, Dave Hill; however, 
it was not immediately progressed.7  

 

                                            
3 Children Act 2004, section 11 
4 Children Act 1989, section 17 
5 Children Act 1989, section 17(10) 
6 Children Act 1989, section 22(3) 
7 Annex 7 

Page 25

5



23. At 4 August 2020, there were 996 children and young people in the care of 
Surrey County Council and 708 care leavers (former looked-after children aged 
18-21). Fifty-seven per cent of looked-after children and 66% of care leavers 
are male.8  

 

The needs of looked-after children and care leavers 

24. The Task Group asked Corporate Parenting to describe the needs and 

aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers. The Service identified that 

children and young people want to stay with their birth families where possible 

and, if this is not possible, they want to understand why they are in care and to 

be able to live in a safe and caring environment. They don’t want to be moved 

around and want a consistent social worker, and to have staff and carers who 

understand them and their story. As they get older, they want to feel supported 

as they move to independence and want to live in good accommodation and 

receive support to learn independence skills.9 

 

25. As regards the care system, service users have told Corporate Parenting that 

they need more/better/more readily available staff, foster carers and 

placements, better communication with young people and between 

professionals, and for young people and their carers to be listened to. They 

want better support with mental health, for staff and carers to be better trained, 

and for improved support in managing familial contact.10 

 

26. The view of Corporate Parenting is supported by the evidence the Task Group 

received via the online survey (Appendix 1), the findings of the draft Big Survey 

2020 (Annex 15), and the evidence of User Voice and Participation (Annexes 

14 and 16).  

 

Adolescent entrants 

27. Young people who enter care as adolescents (‘adolescent entrants’) can 

traditionally spend considerable periods of time in residential care, often without 

sufficient planning and support to re-engage in family relationships or form 

strong relationships with carers. Adolescent entrants often have a wide range of 

complex social and emotional needs.11  

 

28. Research shows that adolescent entrants experience greater placement 

breakdown, instability and a greater likelihood of being placed in residential 

                                            
8 Annex 5 
9 Annex 4 
10 Annex 4 
11 Turner, ‘No Wrong Door: services for young adolescents in care in North Yorkshire’ (Local Government 
Association, 2018) https://www.local.gov.uk/no-wrong-door-services-young-adolescents-care-north-yorkshire  

Page 26

5

https://www.local.gov.uk/no-wrong-door-services-young-adolescents-care-north-yorkshire


care following a foster care breakdown than younger children. Looked-after 

children who enter care aged 14 and above perform worse than younger 

entrants in terms of educational outcomes and preparation for independence. 

They are also more likely to leave care at 16 or 17 and to experience poor 

outcomes in terms of post-care accommodation stability and participation in 

post-16 education, employment and training.12 Children in care and care 

leavers are significantly over-represented in the criminal justice system and in 

custody.13  

 

The No Wrong Door innovation 

29. The No Wrong Door (NWD) was first developed by North Yorkshire County 

Council to provide an integrated service for young people aged 12 to 25 who 

are either in care, on the edge of care or edging to care, or have recently 

moved to supported or independent accommodation whilst being supported 

under the No Wrong Door.  

 

 Edging to care: without an intervention package being put in place, there is 

a strong likelihood of the case progressing to edge of care. 

 

 Edge of care: those children and young people who are at imminent risk of 

becoming looked after due to significant child-protection concerns; or to 

prevent a long-term placement; or because they have ceased to be looked 

after and their needs are escalating.  

 

30. No Wrong Door services are multidisciplinary and operate from hubs offering 

both residential placements and outreach support. All NWD staff are trained in 

Signs of Safety and restorative- and solutions-focused approaches. The 

integrated team supports each service user throughout their journey to ensure 

that they are not passed from service to service and, instead, have a dedicated 

team around them. Each service user maintains a consistent relationship with 

one NWD key worker. The integrated team and continuity of key worker are 

considered key to supporting young people with complex needs. Unlike many 

other evidence-based programmes, young people are not required to enter a 

formal agreement to receive NWD support.  

 

                                            
12 Dixon et al., ‘Supporting Adolescents on the Edge of Care. The role of short term stays in residential care.’ 
(Action for Children, 2015) https://www.actionforchildren.org.uk/media/5222/edge-of-care-final-report-with-
annexes.pdf  
13 Lord Laming, ‘In Care, Out of Trouble’ (Prison Reform Trust, 2016) 
www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/In%20care%20out%20of%20trouble%20summary.pdf; 
Police W1; and HM Prison and Probation Service, ‘Care leavers in prison and probation’ (HM Gov, 2019) 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-leavers-in-prison-and-probation  

Page 27

5

https://www.actionforchildren.org.uk/media/5222/edge-of-care-final-report-with-annexes.pdf
https://www.actionforchildren.org.uk/media/5222/edge-of-care-final-report-with-annexes.pdf
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/In%20care%20out%20of%20trouble%20summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-leavers-in-prison-and-probation


31. Each NWD hub in North Yorkshire is staffed by a manger; two deputy 

managers (one with responsibility for the residential element, the other for 

outreach); key workers who undertake shifts at the hubs as residential carers 

and complete outreach work with young people on the edge of care; portfolio 

leads;14 a life coach, who is a clinical psychologist; a communications support 

worker, who is a speech and language therapist; and a police liaison officer. 

 

32. North Yorkshire County Council has identified ten distinguishing features of 

NWD, which constitute the core components of the innovation:  

 always progressing to permanence within a family or community  

 high ‘stickability’ of the key worker 

 fewer referrals, less stigma 

 robust training strategy same/or similar to restorative practice or 

therapeutic support 

 no heads on beds culture 

 no appointment assessments 

 a core offer to all young people 

 multi-agency, intelligence-led approach to reduce risk 

 close partnership working 

 young people’s aspirations drive practice. 
© North Yorkshire County Council 2016 

 

The aims of the NWD innovation 

 

33. Improve:  

 accommodation stability;  

 engagement and achievements in education, employment and training 

(EET); 

 relationships with others; 

 planning of transitions from care to independent living; 

 resilience, self-esteem and well-being; and 

 access to support in crisis.  

 

34. Reduce high-risk behaviours, including: 

 criminal activity; 

 self-harm; 

 child sexual exploitation; 

 missing-from-home incidents; and 

 drug and alcohol substance misuse. 

                                            
14 Portfolio leads work shifts in hubs as team shift leaders alongside NWD key workers. Each portfolio lead has 
a focus on improving outcomes for service users: education, employment and training; risk management; 
activities; building relationships; transitions to independence/adulthood; and self-esteem, well-being and 
resilience.  

Page 28

5



 

35. Reduce costs to society, including to a range of agencies which includes the 

National Health Service and the police.  

 

Evaluating the impact of No Wrong Door 

 

36. At the outset of this inquiry, the Task Group wrote to North Yorkshire County 

Council requesting, amongst other things, evidence of NWD’s impact. The 

council declined the request; therefore, this report relies upon pre-existing 

academic evaluation of the impact of NWD. 

 

37. With Department for Education funding, Loughborough University used 

quantitative and qualitative approaches to complete an evaluation of North 

Yorkshire County Council’s No Wrong Door service for the period April 2015 to 

September 2016.15  

 

38. The review found that the No Wrong Door improved outcomes for service 

users, including improved accommodation stability and decreased placement 

moves, increased engagement with education, employment and training, and 

decreased high-risk behaviours such as criminal activity, missing incidents and 

substance misuse. Furthermore, the No Wrong Door demonstrated a reduction 

in costs to a range of agencies.  

 

Reducing care  

 

39. The evaluation found NWD to be effective at preventing, and reducing time 

spent in, care. Eighty-six per cent of NWD service users who were edging to, or 

on the edge of, care remained outside of the care system during the evaluation 

period – this was higher than for non-NWD looked-after children. Forty per cent 

of service users who were already looked after at the beginning of the 

evaluation period ceased to be looked after. Twenty-five service users (15%) 

re-entered care during the evaluation period, seven of which experienced more 

than one return to care.  

 

Accommodation stability 

 

40. There was found to be a decrease in placements moves during the review 

period: two moves per year was modal (most common) in the year prior to NWD 

and one move per year was modal in the final year of the review period.  

                                            
15 Lushey et al., ‘Research Report: Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme’ (Department for 
Education, 2017) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/
Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf  

Page 29

5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf


 

41. The length of care placements decreased for NWD service users during the 

review period. Prior to NWD and in its first year, the modal care duration was 

over 180 days; in the second year of NWD, it reduced to between 32 and 180 

days.  

 

42. Only one NWD service user was placed out of area during the review period. It 

is notable that out-of-area/-county placements are rarer in North Yorkshire than 

most other local authorities: at 31 March 2016, 61% of looked-after children 

were placed out of county nationally, compared to 21% in North Yorkshire.  

 

43. Data from interviews with service users provided further evidence of better 

accommodation stability under NWD. There was evidence of NWD promoting 

accommodation stability in respect of 32% of service users (19 individuals) at 

baseline interview and for a further 13 service users at follow-up interview. 

 

Education, employment and training 

 

44. Seventy-six per cent of service users were in education, employment or training 

(EET) and remained so. Twenty-five per cent of service users who were not in 

EET when they entered the NWD went on to become engaged in EET. Service 

users described instances of NWD staff helping them find employment by 

providing encouragement or details of specific vacancies.  

 

Criminal activity 

 

45. In March 2015, immediately prior to NWD commencing, there were 63 arrests 

of young people who would go on to be supported by NWD during the 

evaluation period. By September 2016, this had reduced to 39 arrests, a 

reduction of 38%. Conversely, there had been a concurrent increase in the 

number of arrests of all young people aged 12 to 15 in North Yorkshire. 

 

High-risk behaviours 

 

46. Thirty-two per cent of NWD service users either ceased or reduced their 

substance use during the evaluation period; 53% reported that their substance 

use had not changed; and 16% reported that their substance use had 

increased.  

 

47. In the year prior to the introduction of NWD, there was a total of 503 missing 

incidents for the young people who were subsequently referred to NWD. For the 

same cohort, this figure reduced to 253 following their receipt of NWD support, 

a reduction of approximately 50%. For a matched cohort of young people not in 

Page 30

5



receipt of NWD support, there was a reduction in missing from home incidents 

of 9%. A moderate-to-strong negative correlation was found between missing 

incidents and the number of interventions from the life coach and 

communications support worker: service users with higher levels of support 

from the life coach and communications support worker went missing less 

frequently. A higher negative correlation was identified for involvement by the 

police liaison officer. 

 

48. The evaluation found that there was evidence of Accident and Emergency 

(A&E) attendances decreasing during the evaluation period. In the year prior to 

the evaluation, there were 21 presentations at A&E; whereas, in the first year of 

NWD, there were nine presentations.  

 

49. It was not possible for the evaluation to determine whether NWD was effective 

at preventing child sexual exploitation. 

 

Planning transitions from care to independent living and adulthood 

 

50. Findings in terms of transitions to independence were mixed. Some service 

users reported being prepared and supported during their transition to 

independent living and adulthood, whilst others described more abrupt moves.  

 

Improving self-esteem, resilience and well-being 

 

51. During the evaluation period, mean Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire 

(SDQ)16 scores of NWD service users reduced from 19.5 to 16.8 – a high score 

means a child is displaying more problems – whereas the scores of a 

comparator cohort remained static (11.7 to 11.5). A strong negative correlation 

was found between SDQ scores and intervention from life coaches and 

communications support workers: as interventions from specialist staff 

increased, SDQ scores decreased.  

 

52. Of the 32 service users for whom data on mental health were available at both 

baseline and follow-up interview, 13 (65%) reported mental health issues or that 

they were attending therapy at baseline; at follow-up, the number reporting 

mental health issues or therapy had reduced to 11 (55%). NWD key workers 

referred to implementing a range of different strategies with young people, 

                                            
16 SDQ is a behavioural screening questionnaire which queries 25 attributes, some positive and others 
negative: emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, peer-relationship problems and 
pro-social behaviour.  

Page 31

5



depending upon the nature of the problem, including arranging referral to Child 

and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) or the NWD life coach.  

 

Relationships with key workers 

 

53. Evidence obtained through interviews suggests positive relationships between 

young people and their NWD key worker.  

 

54. Young people valued their key workers being available to meet their needs, 

rather than only being available by appointment, and sensed that they 

genuinely cared for them. Examples were given of workers supporting service 

users in their own time and continuing to respond to young people in need after 

a new key worker had been appointed. 

 

55. NWD key workers emphasised how relationships had to develop gradually with 

workers needing to earn the trust of, and prove their reliability to, service users 

who initially refused to engage with support. There were also examples of 

young people wanting to receive support from NWD key workers after formal 

engagement with the service had ended, and of young people refusing to 

engage with anyone else when a decision was made to change key worker. 

This demonstrates the importance of the consistency of key worker under 

NWD. 

 

Value for money 

 

56. Part of the rationale for the development of the NWD was to create a cost-

effective approach to supporting young people with complex needs at the edge 

of care – achieving cost savings by improving the outcomes for service users.  

 

57. There is evidence of costs avoided to North Yorkshire Police of approximately 

£200,000 in the first year of NWD. This was a result of a reduction in arrests 

and missing from home incidents. 

 

58. Since the model was evaluated by Loughborough University, the Innovation 

Unit has identified NWD as generating annual cost savings of approximately 

£600,000.17 North Yorkshire County Council has identified NWD as generating 

year-on-year cost savings of £2 million due to an 18% reduction in the county’s 

looked-after children population.18  

 

                                            
17 Dillon, ‘Delivering asset-based services for young people’ (Innovation Unit) 
https://www.innovationunit.org/thoughts/why-asset-based-services-are-important-for-young-people/  
18 North Yorkshire County Council, ‘North Yorkshire leads on £84m Government roll-out for young people at 
risk in UK’ (2019) https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/news/article/north-yorkshire-leads-ps84m-government-roll-
out-young-people-risk-uk 

Page 32

5

https://www.innovationunit.org/thoughts/why-asset-based-services-are-important-for-young-people/
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/news/article/north-yorkshire-leads-ps84m-government-roll-out-young-people-risk-uk
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/news/article/north-yorkshire-leads-ps84m-government-roll-out-young-people-risk-uk


59. When the Task Group met with Anne Tully, Project Manager – No Wrong Door, 

Rochdale Borough Council, she gave the following examples of the cost-saving 

impact of Rochdale’s NWD since it became operational on 1 April 2020. The 

service had: 

 led to a reduction of eight out-of-area placements in the previous twelve 

months, saving £3 million;  

 supported three young people with histories of placement breakdown to 

move into fostering placements where they were doing well; and  

 enabled a high-risk service user to return to her family home from a Tier 

4 CAMHS placement.19  

Conclusion: the No Wrong Door model is effective at improving outcomes for 
service users and generating cost savings. 
 

Suitability of the No Wrong Door model for introduction in Surrey 

60. This section evaluates the suitability of the No Wrong Door model for 

introduction in Surrey; that is, considers whether the conditions in Surrey will 

facilitate the introduction of an NWD which is effective at achieving its intended 

outcomes: reducing care episodes, improving service user outcomes and 

generating cost savings. 

Surrey County Council’s proposals 

61. Surrey County Council’s Corporate Parenting service has begun to develop a 

local No Wrong Door service, which it intends to run in shadow form from early 

2021 until the service becomes fully operational in April 2021. In March 2020, 

the council hired a part-time project manager to coordinate the development 

and implementation of the model in Surrey.  

 

62. The proposed NWD will initially operate from two pre-existing children’s homes 

before two purpose-built hubs are completed in 2022 under the capital 

development programme for Surrey’s children’s home estate.20  

 

63. The development, introduction and operation of the service will primarily be 

funded from within existing budgets. Negotiations with partners are at an early 

stage and joint funding has not yet been agreed. Indicative costs to Surrey 

County Council for each NWD hub are detailed below. 

Table 2: indicative NWD costs per hub per annum, including overhead costs for 

staffing posts21 

Registered manager  £60,420 

                                            
19 Annex 13 
20 Annex 6 
21 Annex 19 

Page 33

5



2 x deputy manager £90,900 

6 x portfolio leads 
(assumed PS8 grade) 

£237,696 

8.5 x residential and 
outreach workers 
(assumed PS7 grade) 

£298,792 

Sessional staff budget £25,000 

Current non-staff costs 
for a children’s home 

£85,000 

Flexible accommodation 
offer 

£25,000 

2 x hub foster carers £90,000 

2 x supported lodgings 
carers 

£20,000 

Speech and Language 
Therapist (potentially 
clinical commissioning 
group funded) 

£45,450 

Life coach (clinical 
psychologist or family 
therapist) 

£45,450 

0.5 data analyst  £17,576 

Training budget  £15,000 

Total £1,056,284 

Embedded police officer  £45,000, funded by Surrey Police 

 

64. To illustrate the cost-saving potential of a No Wrong Door in Surrey, Corporate 

Parenting provided the Task Group with the average costs of a range of 

residential placements and estimates of how the NWD may reduce demand for 

those placements. 

 Each NWD hub will contain two emergency-placement beds, the 

occupants of which would otherwise be placed in an external residential 

bed. Assuming 60% capacity of the emergency placement beds, this will 

avoid costs of approximately £138,000 per annum.  

 

 Each NWD hub will contain six medium-term beds (four residential and 

two fostering). A conservative assumed occupancy of three children 

returning from external residential placements would generate savings of 

approximately £692,000 per annum. An assumed occupancy rate of one 

fostering bed, for children returning from Independent Fostering Agency 

placements, would generate savings of approximately £50,000 per 

annum. 

 

 At any one time, each NWD hub will be able to work with up to 40 

children at risk of becoming looked after. Assuming that each child 

Page 34

5



receives NWD support for four months (a total of 120 children per year 

per hub) and that, without NWD support, 20% of those service users 

would have become looked after for six months before returning home, 

and that 75% of those service users would otherwise be placed in 

Independent Fostering Association placements, with the remaining 25% 

placed in residential placements, this would lead to cost avoidance of 

approximately £1,149,000.  

Whilst the figures above are estimates and not forecasts of NWD usage and 

impact, they clearly demonstrate the potential of an NWD to reduce costs to 

the council by reducing demand for costly placements, in addition to the 

model’s potential to improve its service users’ outcomes and generate 

efficiencies for partner agencies, such as the police and health. Moreover, if 

all the above savings were, in fact, achieved by the NWD (approximately 

£2,029,000 per hub per annum), they would substantially exceed the cost to 

the council of operating the hubs (approximately £1,056,284 per hub per 

annum).  

65. When the Task Group requested written evidence from Yorkshire County 

Council, the council informed the Task Group that it holds a trademark and 

copyright for the name ‘No Wrong Door’ and the ten distinguishing features of 

NWD, respectively, and that Surrey County Council had not consulted North 

Yorkshire County Council regarding the proposed introduction of the model in 

Surrey. North Yorkshire County Council, through the Strengthening Families 

Protecting Children programme, is supporting six local authorities to adopt the 

No Wrong Door model and this Task Group would have preferred Surrey 

County Council to have sought North Yorkshire County Council’s input before 

beginning to progress its plans. However, it is commendable that the two 

councils are now in discussions over the potential accreditation of Surrey’s No 

Wrong Door. This is a pragmatic approach which will enable Surrey County 

Council to progress its plans whilst providing North Yorkshire County Council 

with assurance that the local service is faithful to the No Wrong Door model.  

 

66. The requirements of accreditation are so far unknown. However, it has been 

indicated that fidelity to North Yorkshire County Council’s model, a programme 

of quality assurance, and a service level agreement will be required along with 

the payment of a fee.   

 

67. The Task Group has two concerns regarding accreditation: 1) that the 

requirements of accreditation may prevent Surrey County Council from further 

developing its No Wrong Door service to better meet local need; and 2) that the 

still unknown cost of accreditation may be disproportionate to the benefits 

received.  

 

Page 35

5



68. Wiltshire County Council’s Stronger Families Team incorporates some 

elements of NWD in an outreach-focused service aimed at preventing young 

people from entering care, through direct, intensive intervention. The service 

adopts a multi-agency approach with police and CAMHS input (with health input 

still being developed) and has worked with children’s social care, youth 

offending and child exploitation teams to develop interventions which 

prevent/reduce the probability of family breakdown. The Stronger Families 

Team’s residential service is expected to open for approximately 50 to 60 nights 

per year on an ad hoc basis to support families and young people at risk of 

family breakdown.22  

 

69. The Stronger Families Team comprises a team manager, assistant team 

manager, seconded police officer, senior residential outreach workers, 

residential outreach workers, and outreach workers. The staff skillset includes 

social workers, drug and alcohol specialists, special educational needs and 

disabilities, youth workers, teaching and residential experience, including 

registered residential experience. 

Conclusion: Surrey County Council need not adopt the No Wrong Door model to 

introduce a multi-disciplinary service aimed at preventing, and reducing the duration 

of, care episodes. 

Recommendation 1: that Corporate Parenting not agree to terms of accreditation 

which will prevent the further development of Surrey County Council’s No Wrong 

Door service. 

Recommendation 2: that Corporate Parenting not agree to an accreditation fee 

which it considers to be disproportionate to the benefits of accreditation.  

Consistency with other council policy 

70. The principles and aims of the No Wrong Door are consistent with the council’s 

strategic priorities of supporting independence, increasing partnership working 

and supporting the local economy;23 embody strategic principles guiding the 

council’s work – focusing on ensuring no one is left behind, taking a fresh 

approach to working in partnership, supporting people to help themselves and 

each other, and responding to challenges;24 are consistent with the current 

priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board, Surrey Children’s Safeguarding 

Partnership, and the Police and Crime Panel;25 and are consistent with the 

                                            
22 Annex 12 
23 Surrey County Council, ‘Our Focus for the Next 5 Years: 2020 – 2025’ 
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/213289/Annex-C-Organisation-Strategy-one-
pager.pdf  
24 Ibid 
25 Annex 7 

Page 36

5

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/213289/Annex-C-Organisation-Strategy-one-pager.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/213289/Annex-C-Organisation-Strategy-one-pager.pdf


general duty, found in section 17 of the Children Act 1989, that local authorities 

shall safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are in 

need and, so far as is consistent with that duty, promote the upbringing of such 

children by their families.  

 

71. The introduction of the NWD model in Surrey has been described as a 

cornerstone of the council’s children’s improvement programme which follows 

the rating of the council’s children’s services as ‘Inadequate’ by Ofsted in 

2018;26 and was cited as ‘an appropriate initiative’ by the then Non-Executive 

Commissioner for Children’s Services, Trevor Doughty, who was appointed to 

review the council’s children’s services following the Ofsted inspection.27  

 

72. The NWD model is consistent with Surrey County Council’s Family Resilience 

Model, which similarly adopts a relationship-based approach to preventing 

escalations of service user need which require more intensive and costly 

intervention.28  

Conclusion: that the principles of the No Wrong Door model are consistent with 

Surrey County Council’s existing strategies, priorities, and policies.  

Children’s social care in Surrey in 2020 

73. From the outset of this inquiry, the Task Group was concerned that the 

standard of children’s social care in Surrey may be a barrier to the success of 

the No Wrong Door and that improving the general standard of children’s social 

care should be prioritised, rather than the introduction of new service delivery 

models.  

 

74. The detailed analysis of the quality of children’s social care was agreed as 

being outside of the scope of this inquiry;29 however, the Children, Families, 

Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee continually monitors the 

progress of the children’s service improvement programme and this knowledge 

has been used along with up-to-date data on Surrey’s children’s services to 

reach conclusions on the standard of children’s social care in Surrey. In this 

section, the number of looked-after children in out-of-area/county placements, 

children’s social worker caseloads, audits of social care cases, and the 

frequency of contact with looked-after children, which the Task Group considers 

to be key performance indicators, are examined. 

                                            
26 Annex 3 
27 Trevor Doughty, ‘Report of the Children’s Services Commissioner for Surrey County Council’ (Department for 
Education, September 2018) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/752455/
2018-09-independent-report-Trevor-Doughty-Surrey.pdf  
28 Annex 7 
29 Annex 1 

Page 37

5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/752455/2018-09-independent-report-Trevor-Doughty-Surrey.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/752455/2018-09-independent-report-Trevor-Doughty-Surrey.pdf


 

75. At 18 August 2020, 44.5% of Surrey’s looked-after children live outside of 

Surrey and 28% of all looked-after children are classed as living out of area: 

outside of Surrey and over 20 miles from home.30 In some cases, out-of-

county/area placements will be the best option for the individual; however, 

whilst steadily reducing since the beginning of 2019,31 the number of such 

placements remains too high. When the Task Group met with Tina Benjamin, 

Director – Corporate Parenting, she submitted that the introduction of the No 

Wrong Door will assist the council’s efforts to reduce the number of out-of-

county/area placements by reducing the overall demand for care placements, 

as it as has done in North Yorkshire and Rochdale. 

 

76. Approximately 15 cases per full-time-equivalent children’s social worker is 

optimal.32 At 9 September 2020, the mean and modal caseloads per full-time-

equivalent children’s social worker were 16.1 and 15, respectively, in Surrey.33  

 

77. Case audits have found that the quality of children’s social work has been 

steadily improving in Surrey since the 2018 Ofsted inspection of the council’s 

children’s services. However, the majority of cases continue to be found to 

require improvement.  

Chart 1: Case Audit Judgements November 2018 - February 202034 

 

                                            
30 Annex 6 
31 Annex 18 
32 Annex 10 
33 Annex 17 
34 Chart prepared using data from Item 5, Annex 1, Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select 
Committee (28 July 2020) 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7743&Ver=4  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

P
er

 c
en

t 
o

f 
re

tu
rn

ed
 a

u
d

it
s

Good Requires Improvement

Inadequate 3 month mov. avg. (Good)

3 month mov. avg. (RI) 3 month mov. avg. (Inad.)

Page 38

5

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7743&Ver=4


78. Under regulation 28 of The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review 

(England) Regulations 2010, local authorities were required to visit most 

looked-after children at least every six weeks. At 10 March 2020, Surrey County 

Council was meeting the visiting requirements for 93% of looked-after children. 

Despite the subsequent COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting relaxing of 

visiting requirements,35 at 18 August 2020, Surrey County Council had made 

contact with 95% of looked-after children within the six-week timescale, 77% of 

contacts were in person. 

Conclusion: fundamental issues with Surrey’s children’s services continue to 

persist; however, the continuing improvement of those services is noted and 

commended.  

Support from Directorate leadership 

79. For the No Wrong Door model to be successfully implemented, an authorising 

environment of consistent and committed leadership is required throughout the 

implementation of the model.36  

 

80. The introduction of the No Wrong Door was first proposed by Dave Hill, then 

Executive Director for Children, Families and Learning. The project is being 

driven and overseen by the Director – Corporate Parenting and Assistant 

Director – Children’s Resources and is supported by the Cabinet Member for 

Children, Young People and Families, who, as aforementioned, invited the 

formation of this Task Group. 

 

81. Noting that a new Director of Children’s Services has recently been 

appointed,37 there is a risk that the new post-holder may not support the 

introduction of NWD once they assume the role in December 2020. However, 

the Task Group does not consider this possibility as militating against the 

continuation of the project at this time. 

 

82. Support for the project from NWD partner organisations is another element of 

the requisite authorising environment. Corporate Parenting, understandably, 

has not yet obtained formal support for an NWD from all of those organisations; 

however, it is engaged in relevant discussions with them.38  

                                            
35 Adoption and Children (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 
36 Rochdale OE; and Lushey et al., ‘Research Report: Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme’ 
(Department for Education, 2017) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/
Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf 
37 Surrey County Council, ‘Surrey County Council appoints new Executive Director of Children, Families and 
Lifelong Learning’ (Surrey News, 2 September 2020) https://news.surreycc.gov.uk/2020/09/02/surrey-county-
council-appoints-new-executive-director-of-children-families-and-lifelong-learning/  
38 Annex 7 

Page 39

5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf
https://news.surreycc.gov.uk/2020/09/02/surrey-county-council-appoints-new-executive-director-of-children-families-and-lifelong-learning/
https://news.surreycc.gov.uk/2020/09/02/surrey-county-council-appoints-new-executive-director-of-children-families-and-lifelong-learning/


Conclusion: there is strong support for the introduction of the No Wrong Door model 

at both Member and senior officer level within the Children, Families, Lifelong 

Learning and Culture Directorate.  

Staffing the No Wrong Door  

83. The recruitment and retention of social workers is a local and national challenge 

and the Task Group has been concerned that the recruitment and retention of 

NWD staff may be similarly difficult.  

 

84. When Cambridgeshire County Council was exploring the introduction of a No 

Wrong Door, part of the rationale for the council’s decision not to adopt the 

model was a lack of confidence that it would be able to recruit NWD staff 

possessing the characteristics which were, in the view of the council, required 

to successfully implement the model.39 

 

85. Rochdale Borough Council, the NWD of which became operational on 1 April 

2020, reported that the council had initially struggled to recruit a hub manager 

(deputy managers were required to act up in the interim) but had been 

successful in recruiting a speech and language therapist and a life coach. The 

COVID-19 pandemic had stalled the recruitment of portfolio leads. Sixty-three 

applications had been received in response to the most recent advertisement 

for a key worker. Residential staff had not yet been recruited. The main 

challenge was the retention, rather than recruitment, of staff.  

 

86. When the Task Group met with the Director – Corporate Parenting, Tina 

Benjamin, she acknowledged the ongoing challenges of recruiting and retaining 

social workers but believed that the innovative nature of the model and the 

relationship-based support delivered thereunder would attract motivated 

applicants for NWD roles, adding that the council would utilise the expertise of 

existing staff. Challenges were foreseen in the recruitment of team managers. 

Conclusion: the recruitment and retention of appropriately skilled staff poses a risk 

to the success of the No Wrong Door in Surrey.  

Foster carers 

87. It is intended that NWD service users would be supported by specialist foster 

carers on a one-to-one basis. Such foster carers may be salaried and required 

to work as part of the NWD when not caring for a foster child. However, there 

are national and local shortages of foster carers.40  

                                            
39 Annex 10 
40 Annex 7 

Page 40

5



Conclusion: the availability of appropriately skilled foster carers poses a risk to the 

success of the No Wrong Door in Surrey. 

88. Challenges concerning the standard of children’s social care, the availability of 

foster carers and the recruitment and retention of staff may limit the efficacy of 

the No Wrong Door if it is introduced in Surrey. However, the Task Group 

considers that that the conditions will rarely be optimal for the introduction of 

any policy and that Surrey County Council’s children’s services have 

demonstrated continued improvement following their rating as ‘Inadequate’ by 

Ofsted in 2018. Noting the significant impact of the No Wrong Door in short 

periods of time in North Yorkshire and Rochdale, the Task Group believes that 

the model will likely be effective at reducing care episodes, improving service 

user outcomes, and generating cost savings if introduced in Surrey, and will 

help to remediate some of the aforementioned issues experienced by Surrey’s 

children’s services.  

Conclusion: the continued improvement of Surrey’s children’s services has created 

conditions which, whilst not optimal, will permit the introduction and operation of an 

efficacious No Wrong Door service. This will not be without risk, but the Task Group 

encourages the introduction of ambitious policies which will further the ongoing 

improvement of children’s services.   

Recommendation 3: that the development and introduction of a No Wrong Door 

service in Surrey continue. 

Developing and implementing the No Wrong Door locally  

89. This section addresses key elements of the development and implementation 

processes for the No Wrong Door and makes related recommendations. 

Workforce culture and organisation 

90. Creating a shared culture between workers from different disciplines and 

organisations was repeatedly highlighted as a challenge when implementing the 

No Wrong Door model.41 For example, police officers may not be familiar with 

the residential care environment and may take time to align with the shared 

focus of NWD roles – reducing care episodes and improving outcomes for 

service users.  

 

91. Clear lines of accountability are required for partnership roles so that staff 

understand which issues should be raised with their employer and which issues 

should be raised with their NWD manager.42 

                                            
41 Annex 12; Annex 13; and Annex 7 
42 Annex 13 

Page 41

5



 

92. The operation of the NWD in shadow form prior to full implementation will 

create the opportunity for a shared culture to develop. However, on the basis of 

comments made by the No Wrong Door – Project Manager, Rochdale Borough 

Council,43 the Task Group believes a proactive approach is required.  

Recommendation 4: that Corporate Parenting undertake targeted work to foster a 

shared culture between No Wrong Door staff at an early stage of the implementation 

of the model; and develop clear lines of accountability for staff.  

Promising consistency of key worker 

93. Changes in social worker can negatively impact service users.44 Frequent 

changes have been found to reduce looked-after children’s trust in services and 

staff, as they are reluctant to form trusting relationships with social workers 

when they cannot be sure for how long that person will support them.45 The 

consequence of those weak relationships can be less-effective support leading 

to sub-optimal outcomes. The relationships between social workers and service 

users and the relationships between key workers and service users are similar. 

 

94. The consistency of the key workers supporting service users under NWD is 

emphasised as key distinguisher of the model and this inquiry has found 

consistent support from key workers to be critical to the efficacy of the model. 

However, the Task Group is concerned that promising consistent support from 

an individual may give service users expectations which, in fact, cannot always 

be met as staff, for a range of reasons, will unavoidably leave the service; and 

that the failure to deliver on this promise may detrimentally affect service user 

engagement with support. North Yorkshire County Council, where possible, 

utilised bank contracts when NWD staff left to enable those staff to deliver a 

degree of continuity to service users as sessional staff.  

 

95. Those concerns are supported by the comments of User Voice and 

Participation officers who believed that consistent support from a key worker 

would not always be deliverable.46  

Recommendation 5: that Corporate Parenting have regard to the importance of the 

consistency of No Wrong Door key workers when developing those roles and the job 

                                            
43 Annex 
44 Annex 16 
45 Carson, ‘Looked-after children ‘unanimously unhappy’ about changes of social workers at ‘inadequate’ 
council (Community Care, 2018) https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2018/01/26/looked-children-
unanimously-unhappy-changes-social-workers-inadequate-council/; and Selwyn et al., ‘Our Lives Our Care’ 
(Coram, 2018) https://coramvoice.org.uk/sites/default/files/1053-CV-Our-Lives-Our-Care-report5.pdf  
46 Annex 16 

Page 42

5

https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2018/01/26/looked-children-unanimously-unhappy-changes-social-workers-inadequate-council/
https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2018/01/26/looked-children-unanimously-unhappy-changes-social-workers-inadequate-council/
https://coramvoice.org.uk/sites/default/files/1053-CV-Our-Lives-Our-Care-report5.pdf


descriptions therefore; and explore ways to promote the retention of key workers and 

other NWD staff.  

96. One member of the Care Council drew the following analogy regarding the No 

Wrong Door model: 

 

‘It’s a bit like make up brushes. You have your make up brush pot, you take out 

the pow[d]er brush and you have other brushes that all make you look nice. 

One brush does one thing, another brush does another, but all the brushes 

have the same goal. To make you look pretty / make your life better. Brushes 

last long and don’t need replacing, just like workers should.’47 

97. To manage service user expectations, the emphasis on consistent support from 

NWD key workers should be shifted onto consistent support from the NWD 

team, the members of which may change from time to time.  

Recommendation 6: that consistent support from the No Wrong Door team be 

emphasised, rather than consistent support from individual No Wrong Door staff 

members.  

The development of NWD hubs 

98. Corporate Parenting intends to initially deliver NWD from two pre-existing 

children’s homes before developing two bespoke NWD hubs using capital 

which has already been allocated for this purpose.48  

 

99. When the Task Group met with the No Wrong Door – Project Manager, 

Rochdale Borough Council, it heard that the council had underestimated the 

outreach requirements of its NWD hub, leading to an overspend on its 

development. However, the council had since recouped the additional spend 

through cost savings achieved by the No Wrong Door.  

 

100. When North Yorkshire County Council first implemented NWD, it located its hub 

within an existing children’s home whilst it was being renovated and the model’s 

implementation was disrupted as a result. Similarly, Wiltshire’s Stronger 

Families Team became operational before its building had been equipped with 

adequate internet access. 

Conclusion: the decision to develop Surrey’s NWD hubs after the service has 

become operational is a prudent one.  

                                            
47 Annex 14 
48 Surrey County Council, Cabinet, Item 13 (21 July 2020) 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68519/Cabinet%20Report%20-
%20LAAC%20Childrens%20Homes%20and%20Shaw%20Centre%20Final.pdf  

Page 43

5

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68519/Cabinet%20Report%20-%20LAAC%20Childrens%20Homes%20and%20Shaw%20Centre%20Final.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68519/Cabinet%20Report%20-%20LAAC%20Childrens%20Homes%20and%20Shaw%20Centre%20Final.pdf


Recommendation 7: that designs for No Wrong Door hubs not be finalised until 

after the service has been operational for at least six months, including operating in 

shadow form.  

Case management 

101. Written evidence from Wiltshire County Council identified the need for a 

dedicated workspace for the NWD team to use within the children’s social care 

case management programme, Liquidlogic, to be prepared in advance of the 

service becoming operational.49 

 

102. Corporate Parenting has included the development of processes within 

Liquidlogic in its project milestones document.50  

Naming the service 

103. At the beginning of this inquiry, the Task Group became immediately concerned 

that the name ‘No Wrong Door’ carries negative connotations and therefore 

asked the Care Council and Care Leavers Forum for their views on the name. 

The members of those groups described the name as ‘misleading, 

overpromising and unrealistic’, and said that they would prefer it to contain the 

term ‘one’ to reflect the integrated nature of NWD support.51  

 

104. The Task Group would like the proposed service to have a name which is not 

off-putting to potential service users. However, on the other hand, naming the 

service something other than ‘No Wrong Door’ may impair the recruitment of 

staff as the service may not fully benefit from the No Wrong Door’s reputation 

for innovative and relationship-based practice when advertising roles.  

Recommendation 8: that Corporate Parenting work with User Voice and 

Participation to agree a name for Surrey’s No Wrong Door service other than ‘No 

Wrong Door’, if doing so is compatible with any terms of accreditation agreed with 

North Yorkshire County Council and will not significantly impair the recruitment of No 

Wrong Door staff. 

Measuring the impact of the No Wrong Door 

105. Corporate Parenting expects to use the following measures to assess the 

impact of the No Wrong Door, although these are not yet agreed:  

 Numbers of young people in the cohort becoming looked after (reduction 

expected) 

 Length of time spent in care (reduction expected) 

                                            
49 Annex 12 
50 Annex 3 
51 Annex 14 

Page 44

5



 Repeat admission to care (reduction expected) 

 Placement stability (fewer placements expected) 

 Number and length of missing episodes (reduction expected) 

 Involvement with the criminal justice system - arrests, charges, repeat 

offending (reduction expected) 

 Involvement with drug/alcohol services (increase in positive engagement 

with services/reduction in substance misuse) 

 Reduction in out of county placements 

 Reduction in use of children’s homes beds 

 Increase in EET for 16+ (education, employment and training) 

 Engagement with education/learning for under 16s. 

 

106. It will take several years for the NWD to become fully implemented and 

embedded52 but it is expected that the service’s impact will become evident 

within the first year of operation.   

Recommendation 9: that the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 

Families report on the development, implementation and impact of the No Wrong 

Door, with reference to the recommendations of this report and agreed performance 

measures for the No Wrong Door, to the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and 

Culture Select Committee in October 2021, subject to the implementation of the No 

Wrong Door by April 2021.  

Consolidated list of conclusions: 

Conclusion: the No Wrong Door model is effective at improving outcomes for 

service users and generating cost savings.  

Conclusion: Surrey County Council need not adopt the No Wrong Door model to 

introduce a multi-disciplinary service aimed at preventing, and reducing the duration 

of, care episodes.   

Conclusion: the principles of the No Wrong Door model are consistent with Surrey 

County Council’s existing strategies, priorities, and policies.  

Conclusion: fundamental issues with Surrey’s children’s services continue to 

persist; however, the continuing improvement of those services is noted and 

commended.  

                                            
52 Lushey et al., ‘Research Report: Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme’ (Department for 
Education, 2017) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/
Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf, page 21 

Page 45

5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation_Programme.pdf


Conclusion: there is strong support for the introduction of the No Wrong Door model 

at both Member and senior officer level within the Children, Families, Lifelong 

Learning and Culture Directorate.  

Conclusion: the recruitment and retention of appropriately skilled staff poses a risk 

to the success of the No Wrong Door in Surrey.  

Conclusion: the availability of appropriately skilled foster carers poses a risk to the 

success of the No Wrong Door in Surrey. 

Conclusion: the continued improvement of Surrey’s children’s services has created 

conditions which, whilst not optimal, will permit the introduction and operation of an 

efficacious No Wrong Door service. This will not be without risk, but the Task Group 

encourages the introduction of ambitious policies which will further the ongoing 

improvement of children’s services.   

Conclusion: the decision to develop Surrey’s NWD hubs after the service has 

become operational is a prudent one.  

Consolidated list of recommendations: 

Recommendation 1: that Corporate Parenting not agree to terms of accreditation 

which will prevent the further development of Surrey County Council’s No Wrong 

Door service. 

Recommendation 2: that Corporate Parenting not agree to an accreditation fee 

which it considers to be disproportionate to the benefits of accreditation.  

Recommendation 3: that the development and introduction of a No Wrong Door 

service in Surrey continue. 

Recommendation 4: that Corporate Parenting undertake targeted work to foster a 

shared culture between No Wrong Door staff at an early stage of the implementation 

of the model; and develop clear lines of accountability for staff.  

Recommendation 5: that Corporate Parenting have regard to the importance of the 

consistency of No Wrong Door key workers when developing those roles and the job 

descriptions therefore; and explore ways to promote the retention of key workers and 

other NWD staff.  

Recommendation 6: that consistent support from the No Wrong Door team be 

emphasised, rather than consistent support from individual No Wrong Door staff 

members.  

Page 46

5



Recommendation 7: that designs for No Wrong Door hubs not be finalised until 

after the service has been operational for at least six months, including operating in 

shadow form.  

Recommendation 8: that Corporate Parenting work with User Voice and 

Participation to agree a name for Surrey’s No Wrong Door service other than ‘No 

Wrong Door’, if doing so is compatible with any terms of accreditation agreed with 

North Yorkshire County Council and will not significantly impair the recruitment of No 

Wrong Door staff. 

Recommendation 9: that the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 

Families report on the development, implementation and impact of the No Wrong 

Door, with reference to the recommendations of this report and agreed performance 

measures for the No Wrong Door, to the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and 

Culture Select Committee in October 2021, subject to the implementation of the No 

Wrong Door by April 2021. 

 

Councillor Lesley Steeds, Chairman of the No Wrong Door Task Group 

Report contact 

Benjamin Awkal, Scrutiny Officer, Democratic Services 

Contact details 

benjamin.awkal@surreycc.gov.uk 

Sources/background papers 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Collated responses to the public survey conducted between 20 July 

2020 and 4 August 2020 by the No Wrong Door Task Group 

 

Annexes 

Annex 1 – Terms of Reference 

Annex 2 – Public Survey  

Annex 3 – NWD model proposed for Surrey 

Annex 4 – Written submission from Director – Corporate Parenting dated 5 August 

2020 

Annex 5 – Supplementary written submission from Director – Corporate Parenting 

dated 5 August 2020 

Annex 6 – Written submission from Director – Corporate Parenting dated 19 August 

2020 

Annex 7 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with Director – Corporate Parenting 

on 21 August 2020 

Page 47

5



Annex 8 – Written submission from Detective Chief Superintendent Carwyn Hughes, 

Head of Public Protection, Surrey Police, dated 26 July 2020 

Annex 9 – Written submission from Lou Williams, Service Director for Children and 

Safeguarding, Cambridgeshire County Council, dated 13 July 2020 

Annex 10 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with Lou Williams, Service Director 

for Children and Safeguarding, Cambridgeshire County Council, on 5 

August 2020 

Annex 11 – Written submission from Mary Lewis, Cabinet Member for Children, 

Young People and Families, dated 19 August 2020 

Annex 12 – Written submission from Andrea Brazier, Service Manager – Young 

People, Wiltshire Council 

Annex 13 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with Anne Tully, No Wrong Door – 

Project Manager, Rochdale Borough Council, on 20 August 2020 

Annex 14 – Written submission from Jamie-Leigh Clark, Assistant Manager, User 

Voice and Participation, dated 27 July 2020 

Annex 15 – Draft Big Survey 2020 

Annex 16 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with User Voice and Participation 

officers on 7 August 2020 

Annex 17 – Mean and modal Surrey County Council children’s social worker 

caseloads at 10 September 2020 

Annex 18 – Out-of-area and out-of-county placements 1 September 2018 to 1 

September 2020 

Annex 19 – Written submission from Lindsey Ellis, Management Coordinator to 

Director – Corporate Parenting, dated 17 September 2020 

  

Page 48

5



 

Page 49

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – collated responses to the public survey 
conducted between 20 July 2020 and 4 August 2020 by the No 

Wrong Door Task Group  
 

 
Please note that only the responses of respondents who confirmed they are content for their 
responses to be published have been included in this document. Responses to introductory 
questions for the purposes of directing a respondent to the set of questions relevant to their identity 
have been omitted, as have unanswered questions, personal information (other than that of the 
respondent) and contact details.   

  

Page 51

5



A response dated 21 July 2020 
 
As you answered 'other' to the previous question, please briefly explain why you are completing 
this survey. You may wish to identify yourself.  
 
Surrey County Councillor 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
A home 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
Love 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
Families 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Support for the family 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 

No 

 

  

Page 52

5



Response dated 23 July 2020 
 
If you wish for your response to this survey to be identifiable, please provide your name (optional)  
 
Ruth Godden, Specialist nurse working with children and young people who are 'Looked after' 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
I am a specialist nurse working within a team of nurses who provide health assessments and support 
and advice for looked after children, young people, their carers and other professionals. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
For all children and young people 
To be looked after by their families; To feel wanted and cared about; To feel they matter; to have an 
allocated worker who stays in their post; not to be moved away physically from their friends and 
school; not to keep changing placements; for health care to be efficient and uninterrupted 
 
For care leavers 
To have somewhere to live; to feel free of bureaucratic and statutory oversight; to have a reason to 
get out of bed in the morning; to make decisions for themselves 
 
For unaccompanied asylum seekers 
To be in touch with their families at home; To live somewhere where they can have easy contact 
with other people from their home community; To be helped to stay in this country; To access 
education and work 
 
For children with disabilities 
For their parents to be allowed to continue to advocate for them once they are over 18;  
To live as independent life as possible; To have stability in their living arrangements and for choice of 
facility not to be based on cost or location; to have a stable carer who knows and understands their 
complex needs 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
Negative view in the wider community of care leavers - labelling, low expectations 
Frequent changes of placement 
Changes of worker 
Changes of carer 
Changes of school 
Health needs overlooked due to frequent transitions from one service to another when placement 
moves take place; loss of continuity in health care 
Poor support for emotional wellbeing - frequent placement moves makes CAMHS support patchy; 
diagnoses are written in records through "word of mouth" but the initial evidence of the diagnosis is 
lost. Thinking about ASD & ADHD here. I've seen children labelled from no firm diagnosis. 
Poor educational outcomes 
Disruption of friendship groups 
No community or social network which can support - children being removed from their background 
culture makes this worse 
System which means children could be expected (or allowed!) to live independent lives from 18+ 

Page 53

5



while most non care experienced 18 year olds continue to have support from their families for many 
years after 18. 
Giving too much agency to the young person's rejection of follow up services instead of sticking with 
them. We wouldn't give up on our own 18 year olds even if they consistently told us they didn't need 
us and didn't want us 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Setting up a system which creates trust in the young person. Having high expectations for every 
child. Making educational achievement and access to health care as important as a child's safety.  
 
The suggested No Wrong Door model sounds ideal but in reality we know Surrey struggle to retain 
staff; there are frequent placement breakdowns/changes; communication between agencies can be 
poor; children's background health needs are consistently overlooked and health information is lost 
and care is interrupted when children move placements. 
 
I have no idea how you can address these issues! 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
Yes 
 

  

Page 54

5



Response dated 23 July 2020 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
I'm an adoptive parent. 
I'm a sessional support worker in a residential home for children. 
I run a local adopters' support group. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
To have a trusted adult who they can attach to and who will do everything that they can to support 
them. 
To feel safe. 
To have a safe, stable home. 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
When their trusted adults leave or move on to different roles. 
Lack of ongoing reliable support from a trusted adult/adults. 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Every child should have a key group of trusted adults who know and understand them and who will 
do all that they can to support that child. 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
No 
 
 
 

  

Page 55

5



Response dated 27 July 2020 
 
If you wish for your response to this survey to be identifiable, please provide your name (optional)  
 
Foster Carer and Adopter Parent 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
We work with the children as a family, helping them settle into a family routine with routine and 
boundaries.  This involves exploring new activities, sharing achievements, raising self esteem and 
ensuring they feel valued.  Additionally working in a very therapeutic way bearing in mind separation 
and past trauma. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
The need to build self esteem and feel valued 
The need to belong and feel wanted, safe and secure 
Regular meals and bedtime, routine as in to know what to expect 
To arrive at school and not feel different, to have everything they need, have someone who values 
them go to parents evening, attend school trips 
To feel they have a future, aspirations 
Not to feel they are always 'different' 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
Uncertain future 
Emotional upset, past trauma  
irregular social workers, trusting relationships are often difficult to establish and change in social 
workers reinforces separation, lack of trust 
Change in schools due to change in home settings, too much change to handle, too many new 
relationships 
lack of choice,  
when contact, cancelled too many times, inability to communicate their true wishes, often confusion 
around their feelings regarding contact 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Trusted and lasting relationships 
Ability to settle in a community even when this is not possible in the same family, i.e. same school, 
clubs etc 
Early intervention to prevent children on/off plans from birth and then finally removed in teen years, 
up to the age of 11 we have seen you can change a childs future, after enter into secondary school 
this is a lot harder and more placement breakdowns 
Transparency with children 
long term social workers, if a social worker does leave a planned and therapeutic goodbye 
 
If you would like to make any further comment about these matters, please do so here.  
 
We have had experiences of all the above good and bad so speak from the heart 

Page 56

5



 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
Yes 
 

  

Page 57

5



Response dated 28 July 2020 
 
As you answered 'other' to the previous question, please briefly explain why you are completing 
this survey. You may wish to identify yourself.  
 
I am a Community Influencer Volunteer with HealthwatchSurrey 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
Healthwatch Surrey is an independent organisation that gives people a voice to improve and shape 
services and helps then get the best our of the health and social care services. We support looked-
after-children and care leavers by amplifying their voices to service providers and commissioners to 
ensure accessibility to service that meet their needs. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
Looked after children and care leavers need to feel valued individuals and have strong relationship(s) 
with community(s) and group(s) who are important to them. With the strength of being valued and 
support, children-in-care and care leavers can reach their full potential 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
Children in care need more than transactional support. By transactional support I mean being taken 
for health checks, being given a school placement, working through a checklist. We need to invest 
time with people children-in-care and care leavers can form strong relationships with to give them 
the opportunity and space to understand themselves and take steps to fulfil their potential as valued 
member(s) of society. 
Investment in supporting children from birth to develop nurturing relationships ie prevention is 
important. 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Reopen sure-start centres to support families and prevent children going into care. 
Once in care, children in care and care leavers are children being looked after by the State.  
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
Yes 
  

Page 58

5



 

Response dated 28 July 2020 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
Preparing LAC young people for leaving care. A children's home. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
Good aspirations for looked after children and then as they turn 18 people step back and say they 
care for young people but don't. 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
Lack of commitment and responsibility of post 18 workers 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Actually care about them and don't use the excuse of they are 18 and I can't force them to engage as 
an excuse. See them as often as they need not according to your timescales 
 
If you would like to make any further comment about these matters, please do so here.  
 
I feel that care leavers get a poor service and that we set them up by giving a good service before 
they are cart leavers and then we forget about them. 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
  

Page 59

5



Response dated 29 July 2020 
 
What is the name of the organisation you represent?  
 
Woodlands Children's Home 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
I am a Care Leaver myself so I have first-hand experience of the system. 
We support Looked After Children directly as residential support workers.  At Woodlands Children's 
home we support young people with individual tasks in a caring role to maximise their potential and 
opportunities. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
- Patience  
- Empathy 
- Nurture 
I'd say to be supported, cared for, and guided. Without the right level of support their 
aspirations/hoped outcomes can be impacted massively. 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
The lack of support and consistency from services due to timeliness and over run services that 
support our young people and care leavers. I know from experience how much services can impact 
your journey so it is paramount for services to meet their needs for them to achieve their 
aspirations. 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Services to improve to ensure every child and young person receives the right level of support at the 
right time. It is crucial for services to be delivered in a way that is suitable for children and young 
people. 
 
I have reviewed the proposed changes to the way services are delivered and these changes set out 
in the NWD look effective and driven by what is right for children in care and Care Leavers. 
Integrative services would not only save time it would also save money and reduce cross overs 
between services and improve timeliness. But most importantly improve outcomes by offering 
consistent support for service users. 
 
If you would like to make any further comment about these matters, please do so here.  
 
It is important to mention that being a former service user, my journey was impacted massively by 
the efficiency and timeliness of services supporting me. I always say that I am lucky to have had the 
right support to get me where I am today. However, for other Care Leavers their hoped outcomes 
are not always achieved and it is our duty as professionals to give every Looked After Child and Care 
leaver the best chance to maximise their opportunities and potential. It is our duty to improve 
services and outcomes and this can happen by services working together and offer them 
consistency. Quite often their lives in care are filled with different professionals leaving, moving 

Page 60

5



placements, not knowing who will be the next to leave.  Therefore integrating services to me is a 
positive thing and should very much be something that should be implemented. 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
Yes 
 

 

  

Page 61

5



Response dated 29 July 2020 
 
As you answered 'other' to the previous question, please briefly explain why you are completing 
this survey. You may wish to identify yourself.  
 
East Surrey Domestic Abuse Service (ESDAS) 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
we have supported CYP entering the care system  and advocated for them at meetings. 
We have supported Foster Carers in understanding the impact of DA on CYP and presented 
behaviours. 
We have supported other professionals involved in the process in understanding the impact of DA 
on CYP and presented behaviours. 
We have worked in partnership with other organisations (Camhs, Hope Service, NYAS) to support 
CYP through the looked after process. 
We have provided DA training to multi agency professionals 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
To be understood - this is a significant factor in the context of DA as often CYP will feel that 'others' 
do not understand  
To have  a regular, consistent worker - significant to build a trusting working relationship 
To not be judged - a significant factor given the powerful emotional feelings around shame and guilt 
that are experienced 
To be listened to - this is described as 'being heard' rather than a worker assuming they understand 
and misinterpreting the narrative being used. Often a CYP will not challenge this and internalise the 
miscommunication, reaffirming an already existing belief system of  not worthy of speaking out or 
not being believed, which comes from living with the power and control elements of domestic 
abuse. 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
In relation to domestic abuse - 
Often CYP carry labels and hold destructive belief systems embedded by their experiences of 
neglectful parenting and disorganised attachments. For CYP living with domestic abuse,  the 
distorted messages and unhealthy modelling of both victim and perpetrator behaviours can have 
significantly detrimental effects on abilities to relate to others.  
 
The fear and coping mechanisms adopted of hyper vigilance, lack of trust, labels (angry, worthless, 
unlovable, ADHD/ASD, being to blame) can perpetuate barriers to engagement. 
 
For some the struggles of feeling a sense of belonging and having a purpose and meaning in life can 
hinder the motivation to want to move forward if they struggle with the identity of being a 'looked 
after child'.  In addition, feelings of rejection and abandonment, commonly experienced in domestic 
abuse cases, can foster resistance to change to protect from further hurt. 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 

Page 62

5



In relation to those who have experience domestic abuse -  
It is important to understand the context and roles which may have been imposed on the CYP when 
living in domestically abusive households and the identity they may have adopted to survive. 
For some this will be parenting siblings, taking on adult roles to get through the abuse alongside 
their non-abusive parent. When entering the care system there can be an expectation that these 
'mini adults' become children and relinquish the identity they have been used to, leaving a feeling of 
uncertainty about where they belong in the world. 
 
As the domestic abuse happens behind closed doors and over time, the psychological and emotional 
impact on CYP is often underestimated especially when incidents go undisclosed. For these CYP they 
experience adult situations and try to make sense of it from a child's perspective and the cognitive 
ability/capacity available to them, which can be impaired as a result of the trauma. 
 
It is important for those caring for these CYP that awareness and training around DA is offered to 
better understand the learnt behaviours and distorted views of relating with others. Often CYP from 
DA backgrounds can be triggered by associated body language, words, tone of voice, sounds etc., 
which may not be known and can bring about problematic behaviours. 
 
It is important to include CYP in the decision making process and for this to be transparent and 
communicated using language they understand. It is important to consider when systems and 
processes can mirror a familiar feeling of control for these CYP, particularly around authoritarian 
statuses. 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
Yes 
 

  

Page 63

5



Response dated 29 July 2020 
 
What is the name of the organisation you represent?  
 
Surreyheartlands CCG 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
We support the health needs of looked after children. Consulting with care leavers and looked after 
children to work with health providers to commission services for them. We support the coporate 
parenting board to ensure apporitiate health care and access to health care is available for looked 
after children and care leavers. We ensure providers are completing their statuotory duties and their 
statutory health  functions are quality assured. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
Lack of conitinuity of care so that they need to repeat thier story to multiple professionals. Lack of 
continuity of care is not conducive to building trusting relationships which in turn impacts on looked 
after children receiving trauma informed approached to their care as trust is an essential 
component. Long waiting lists or complicated systems to access services. Complicated services that 
they do not understand and cannot see why they benefit them directly. Services that are far away 
from thier community. Children placed out of county are disadvantaged when it comes to accessing 
specialist services such as mental health provision. Not enough support is offered when children 
transition from childhood to adult services, their is a lack of planning to ensure that the transition is 
made smoothly and with support from professionals they trust. 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
Lack of conitinuity of care so that they need to repeat thier story to multiple professionals. Lack of 
continuity of care is not conducive to building trusting relationships which in turn impacts on looked 
after children receiving trauma informed approached to their care as trust is an essential 
component. Long waiting lists or complicated systems to access services. Complicated services that 
they do not understand and cannot see why they benefit them directly. Services that are far away 
from thier community. Children placed out of county are disadvantaged when it comes to accessing 
specialist services such as mental health provision. Not enough support is offered when children 
transition from childhood to adult services, their is a lack of planning to ensure that the transition is 
made smoothly and with support from professionals they trust. 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Consistent support from a key worker who contacts them regularly and builds up a relationship, 
enabling trauma informed approaches to care. But has support themselves from other agencies to 
access support for the child / care leaver for mental helath, SEND or physical helath issues. 
Better support for UASC to access services, ensure interpreters are available. 
Key worker to plan ahead and support transition between services and from childrens to adult 
services. 
Early access to mental health support and sexual health advice. 
Services that follow the child and are available wherever they are placed in the country. 
Support until age 25 for all care leavers. 

Page 64

5



 
If you would like to make any further comment about these matters, please do so here.  
 
The following Designated Nurses would be happy to be approached by the task and finish group in 
addition to Dr Sharon KEFFORD Designated Dr for Looked After Children 
 
[redacted personal information] 
[redacted personal information] 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes 
 
Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
Yes 

  

Page 65

5



Response dated 4 August 2020 
 
What is the name of the organisation you represent?  
 
Young epilepsy 
 
How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
Young Epilepsy provides education and residential care to children and young adults with epilepsy 
and a range of other neurological conditions. Some of the children within our school and the 
Children's Homes are looked after children. Some of the young people attending our college are Care 
Leavers and may also reside in the onsite accommodation. 
 
Young Epilepsy staff contribute to review meetings for Children who are Looked After and liaise 
closely with social workers and personal advisers for CLA and Care Leavers. 
 
What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers? 
 
To develop their independence skills in all aspects of their life. 
To have positive social interactions and relationships with family, friends and others. 
To have improved health management 
To develop communication skills 
To develop life skills 
To access their local community and have a good quality of life 
 
What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations 
and having their needs met?  
 
- Their changing or declining health needs 
- Requiring more bespoke living environments with fewer peers 
- Lack of services in their local communities 
 
What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and 
care leavers? 
 
Strong coordination between health, social care and education colleagues to provide person 
centered plans and placements, rather than those based on how budgets and teams are coordinated 
in the local authorities. 
 
Better understanding and support for disabled children and young people across services, especially 
those who have epilepsy, so that they can be included in and choose to access a range of services. 
 
Less changes in personnel supporting the child e.g. Social Workers.  
 
Social Workers with capacity to really focus on the individual child. 
 
Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's 
report? Please be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions 
will be published. 
 
Yes  

Page 66

5



Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the 
Task Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted 
remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic.  
 
No 
 

 

Page 67

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 – Terms of Reference  
 
 

Select Committee Task and Finish Group Scoping Document  

  

The process for establishing a task and finish group is:   

  

1. The Select Committee identifies a potential topic for a task and finish group  

2. The Select Committee Chairman and the Scrutiny Officer complete the scoping template.  

3. The Select Committee agrees membership of the task and finish group.   

  

Review Topic: The introduction of the No Wrong Door model  

Select Committee(s)  
Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture   

Relevant background  

Under the Children Act 1989, a child is ‘looked after’ if they are provided with 

accommodation for a continuous period of more than 24 hours or is subject to a Care Order 

or Placement Order. This can include disabled children in receipt of a series of ‘respite care’ 

placements. Children cease to be looked after when they return home, are adopted or made 

subject to a Special Guardianship, or reach 18 years of age.   
  

The council’s key duty towards looked after children is to ‘safeguard and promote’ their 

welfare and to ‘make such use of services available for children cared for by their own 

parents as appears to the Authority reasonable.  
  

Following Ofsted’s 2018 judgement of Surrey’s children’s services as ‘inadequate’, the 

council, as part of a wider transformation programme, embarked on an  
improvement programme to transform children’s services. The introduction of the No Wrong 

Door model was identified by the Commissioner for Surrey Children’s Services as a critical 

element of the children’s improvement programme.   
  

The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Directorate intends to introduce a 

service delivery model based on the evidence-based No Wrong Door first developed by 

North Yorkshire County Council and has invited the Select Committee to form a task group 

to contribute to the development of that model. The Directorate aims to begin running the 

model in shadow form from January 2021 and formally implement the model by May 2021.  
  
Under the No Wrong Door, young people who are in or at the edge of care are supported by a 

single team of trusted and skilled workers which stays with the service user. This approach 

aims to reduce referrals and the associated issues and for young people to be supported by a 

dedicated, highly trained team. Services are delivered from hubs.   
  
Independent evaluation by Loughborough University, two years after the No Wrong Door 

was implemented in North Yorkshire, found that the model was effective at improving 

outcomes for service users and generating efficiencies across the services they use, 

particularly by preventing service users from entering care.   
  

 

Page 69

5



Why this is a scrutiny item  

1) The improvement of children’s services is a strategic objective for the council.  
2) The proposals concern a substantial transformation of key children’s services and the 

way in which partner organisations support service users.  
3) Children’s services’ users are an inherently vulnerable group which may be 

significantly affected by changes in practice.  

What question is the task group aiming to answer?    

1) What are the needs and aspirations of children in and at the edge of care in Surrey?  
2) Should the No Wrong Door model be adopted in Surrey in principle?  
3) How should the local model be developed and implemented?   
4) How will the success of the No Wrong Door model be measured?  

Aims  
• To map relevant services and the needs and views of service users and stakeholders.  

• To assess the suitability of the No Wrong Door model and make recommendations 

regarding how the local model is to be developed, implemented and evaluated.  

• To contribute to the development of a model which generates better outcomes for 

service users and, consequently, Surrey.   

Objectives   

1) To map the relevant services provided by the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning 

and Culture Directorate and partners.  
2) To identify stakeholders and capture and amplify their views at an early stage of the 

model’s development, particularly the views of looked-after children and care leavers.  
3) To assess the suitability of the No Wrong Door model both in principle and with 

regard to the Surrey context.  
4) To make recommendations on the development and implementation of the new 

model.   
5) To establish how the success of the No Wrong Door model will be measured.   

Scope (within / out of)  In 

scope:   

• the current policies and practice of Surrey County Council and other organisations 

through which the council discharges its relevant functions or which support relevant 

service users;  

• the No Wrong Door model;  
• Surrey County Council’s proposals and plans for development and implementation of 

the No Wrong Door model in the county; and  

• the needs and views of stakeholders, particularly service users.  
  

Out of scope:  

• the detailed consideration of the services that support relevant service users (as 

opposed to the model under which they are delivered);  

• the detailed consideration of placements and post-

detailed analysis of the quality of frontline practice.  

Page 70

5



Outcomes for Surrey / Benefits  

The work of this task group will contribute to the transformation of the model under which 

key children’s services are delivered which will better support vulnerable young people, 
improving outcomes and creating efficiencies. This:  

i)  supports the council’s strategic priorities of supporting independence, increasing 

partnership working and supporting the local economy;  ii)  embodies the strategic 

principles guiding the council’s work: focusing on  

ensuring no one is left behind; taking a fresh approach to working in partnership; 

supporting people to help themselves and each other; and involving and engaging 

residents earlier and more often in designing and delivering services, and responding to 

challenges;  iii)  satisfies the general duty in section 17 of the Children Act 1989 that 

local authorities shall safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area 

who are in need; and, so far is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of 

such children by their families; and iv)  improve the performance indicators detailed in 

Annex 1 of this document.  

  

Proposed work plan  

  

It is important to clearly allocate who is responsible for the work, to ensure that Members and 

officers can plan the resources needed to support the task group.   

  

Timescale  Task  Responsible  

  
  

July 2020  

Research, identification of witnesses and development of 

key lines of enquiry.   
  

Written evidence gathering, including public call for 

evidence.  

  

Task Group and 

Scrutiny  
Officer  

  

August  
2020  

Refinement of key lines of enquiry to reflect written 

evidence, before gathering oral evidence.   
  

Proposed oral evidence sessions:  
  

1) Topic: the current service, demand and the proposed 

model.  
  

Witnesses: Cabinet Member for Children, Families 

and Lifelong Learning and Chairman of the Corporate 

Parenting board; Director of Corporate Parenting; 

Director of Family Resilience and Safeguarding; and 

Project Manager.  
  

Objectives:  

i) understand current services, demand and 

unmet need; and  

ii) understand the proposed model and how it is 

to be developed and implemented.   
  

2) Topic: the needs and views of service users.  
  

Witnesses: User Voice and Participation and 

respondents to public call for evidence.  

  

Task Group  
  

 

Page 71

5



   

Objectives:  

i) understand the needs of LAC and care leavers 

and their experiences of care; and  

ii) learn how LAC and care leavers feel they 

could be/could have been better supported.   
  

3) Topic: the views of key external partners  
  

Witnesses: Surrey Police, District and Borough 

Councils (in their capacity as housing authorities) and 

healthcare commissioners and providers.   
  

Objectives:  
i) understand what works well currently and 

what could be improved; and  

ii) listen to views on the proposed model.   
  

4) Topic: the No Wrong Door model and experiences of 

introducing it and service delivery thereunder.    
  

Witnesses: officers and Cabinet Members from LAs 

which have adopted or considered adopting the No 

Wrong Door model.  
  

Objectives:   

i) understand the prerequisites to successful 

adoption of the model (e.g. consultation 

process and support from cabinet members, 

senior officers and partner organisations);   

ii) understand why local authorities which 

explored introducing No Wrong Door but 

decided against doing so chose not to adopt 

the model; and iii)  understand the 

realities of service delivery under the model 

and the model’s impact on service users.  
  

NOTE:  

• This schedule is intended to function as a guide 

and may be subject to change.  

• It is expected that oral evidence will be gathered 

remotely via Microsoft Teams.  

 

  

August –  
September  

2020  

   

Evidential analysis and draft report skeleton  
  
  

Draft report   

  

Task Group  
  

Chairman and  
Scrutiny  
Officer  
  

Page 72

5



  

September  

2020  

  

Report to Cabinet and Select Committee by Friday,  

11th September  

  

Chairman and  

Scrutiny  
Officer  

  

Witnesses  

• Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families and Chairman of the 

Corporate Parenting Board.  

• Officers from the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Directorate. In 

particular, the Executive Director, Director of Corporate Parenting, Director of 

Family Resilience and Safeguarding, and Project Manager.  
• Cabinet Members and Officers from other LAs which have introduced or considered 

introducing the No Wrong Door model, particularly North  
Yorkshire County Council.  

• Representatives of partner organisations which support service users, particularly 

Surrey Police, District and Borough Councils (in their capacity as housing 

authorities) and healthcare commissioners and service providers.  Looked-after 

children and care leavers (primarily through User Voice and Participation).  

• Wider stakeholders, including residents.   

Useful Documents  
• No Wrong Door: services for young adolescents in care in North Yorkshire, Local 

Government Association (2018) https://www.local.gov.uk/no-wrongdoor-services-

young-adolescents-care-north-yorkshire   

• Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme, Department for Education 

(2017) https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 

attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innovation 

_Programme.pdf   

• The No Wrong Door: Rethinking Care for Adolescents, North Yorkshire County 

Council (2014) http://icha.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/NorthYorkshire-No-

Wrong-Door-model.pdf   

Member and Officer availability.  

• The Covid-19 pandemic preventing site visits and face-to-face meetings and its 

exigencies causing officer redeployment or limiting the capacity of external 

witnesses to give evidence.  

• Limited stakeholder engagement, particularly vulnerable young people.  

Equalities implications  

There have not been any direct equalities implications identified for this work. However, the 

Task Group will proactively enquire as to potential equality implications during its enquiry.   

  

Task Group Members  Cllr. Lesley Steeds  
Cllr. Kay Hammond (ex officio)  

 Cllr. Chris Botten  
Cllr. Barbara Thomson  

Cllr. Chris Townsend  
Cllr. Robert Evans  

Cllr. Liz Bowes  

Co-opted Members  None  

Page 73

5



Spokesman for the Group  Cllr. Lesley Steeds  

Scrutiny Officer/s  Benjamin Awkal  

  

     

Page 74

5



Annex 1: Associated Performance Indicators  

Statutory Department for Education measures  

• Rate of Looked after children per 10000 population.  

• Numbers of admissions to care – (over 12 years old only for the No Wrong Door eligibility).  

• Proportion of looked after children with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months.  

• Looked after children placed over 20 miles from home and outside Surrey.  

• Proportion of 16-19 year olds in Education Employment and Training (EET).  

  

Partner/Surrey County Council Corporate Parenting measures 

 Looked after children affected by child exploitation.  

• Looked after children with missing from home episodes.  

• Strengths  Children’s Global Assessment Scale 

(CGAS) score.  

Page 75

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Annex 2 – Public survey  

 

 
The Needs of and Support for Young People Who are in Care or Have 
Been in Care 
 
Overview 
 
Surrey County Council intends to introduce a new service delivery model to support children and young people who are in care or 

at risk of transitioning into care without intervention. 

 
The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee has established a Task Group to assess the suitability of the model 

and make recommendations on how it should be developed and implemented if its introduction is found to be desirable. To do this, the Task 

Group would like to better understand the journey through care and is seeking the views of looked-after children and care leavers and the 

people and organisations who support them, but also welcomes submissions from anyone else who wishes to comment on these matters. The 

Task Group will draw out common themes from responses and use them, along with other evidence, to assess the suitability of the model in 

principle and recommend which factors should be given special consideration during its development and implementation to achieve the best 

outcomes for Surrey residents. The Task Group will ultimately publish a report containing those recommendations, which will be considered 

by both Surrey County Council's Cabinet and Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee. 

 
The report of a recent task group can be viewed here: 

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s67033/item%2005%20-%20SEND%20TG%20Report%20-%20Final.pdf 

<https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s67033/item%2005%20-%20SEND%20TG%20Report%20-%20Final.pdf> 

 
The Task Group will not take a view on individual cases but will use them to inform its understanding of how current the current service 

delivery model impacts service users. 

 
Submissions by care leavers and looked-after children will be anonymous and will not be published. Their content may be paraphrased in the 

Task Group's report. 

 
Submissions by individuals and organisations with experience of supporting care leavers and looked-after children will only be published 

with the express consent of the respondent and at the discretion of the Task Group. Individuals have the option to remain anonymous. 

 
The privacy notice for this survey is available at https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/your-privacy/our-privacy-notices/no-

wrong-door-taskgroup-privacy-notice <https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/your-privacy/our-privacy-notices/no-wrong-door-

taskgroup-privacy-notice> 

 
The proposals  
Young people who enter care during their teenage years traditionally spend considerable periods in residential care often without sufficient planning and 

support to re-engage in family relationships or form strong relationships with carers. They are more likely to have placement breakdowns as a result of 

poor experiences in their formative years and lack of effective engagement with services. They can follow a path of multiple placements, with hand offs 

between services and changing relationships following each placement breakdown. Some develop multiple vulnerabilities through offending behaviour, 

substance misuse, disengagement from education and high risk taking behaviours such as repeatedly going missing. Over time, young people can 

become distrusting of positive relationships and develop a self-preservation mechanism of distrust.[1] <#_ftn1> 

 
Surrey County Council is proposing to introduce a local version of the No Wrong Door

RTM
 (NWD) model first developed by North Yorkshire County 

Council. Under the model, children and young people who are in or at the edge of care are supported by a single team of workers who stay with the 

service user. By integrating services, the model aims to reduce referrals between services, reduce the number of assessments and plans to which 

service users are subject and ensure consistency of key worker even after a child ceases to be looked after, to ultimately generate better outcomes for 

service users – primarily by preventing young people (particularly 16-17 year olds) from entering care and reducing the time young people spend in care. 

Under the model, services would eventually be delivered from hubs containing a range of residential placements. It is important to note that, if 

introduced, the model would not significantly change the services which are provided by the council, but rather how they are delivered and accessed; 

therefore, the Task Group’s focus will be on delivery model rather than the quality or range of services available. The proposed introduction of this model 

of service delivery forms part of the council’s wider transformation of children’s services which is continually subject to scrutiny and oversight by the 

Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee. 

 
Importantly, young people are not required to enter a formal agreement to access support delivered under the model. 

 
If the model is adopted, the following assessments and support are expected to be available from hubs in Surrey without need for referral: Life Coach, 

Communication Support Worker, Data Analyst, Police Case Workers, liaison with allocated social worker, maths and English tuition delivered when and 

where necessary, Restorative Practice, Motivational Interview, and collaborative work with social workers and care-leaving services. 

 
The integrated service will ensure young people have access to a range of accommodation options (including residential care home beds, 

emergency residential beds, foster family placements, supported accommodation, supported lodgings and bespoke placements). Young 

people will be placed in a hub, not a type of residential home or care placement. 

 
There are 10 distinguishing factors of North Yorkshire's NWD: 

 
• always progressing to permanence with a family or to community independence; 

Page 77

5



 
 

 

 

• high-stickability of the keyworker; 
 

• fewer referrals to other services; 
 

• the workforce training offer, with strong roots in restorative approaches; 
 

• no ‘heads on beds’ culture – success is an empty children’s home; 
 

• no assessment appointments; 
 

• a core offer to all young people; 
 

• multi-agency intelligence-based approach to risk; 
 

• effective governance and close partnership; and 
 

• young people’s aspirations drive practice.[2] <#_ftn1> 

 

 
The anticipated impact of the proposed model is: 

 
• no matter how diverse or complex, young people’s needs are met within one team of skilled and trusted workers; 

 
• trusted relationships and stickability are the foundations of building resilience and self-worth; 

 
• strengths-based and positive risk management improve safety and stability; 

 
• reduce vulnerabilities; 

 
• increase engagement in education, training and work readiness; 

 
• improve physical and emotional well-being; 

 
• reduce criminal activity and involvement with the police, e.g. periods of being missing; and 

 
• reduce costs to the council, police, NHS, etc. 

 
The NWD in North Yorkshire was independently evaluated by Loughborough University just under two years after it was introduced. The 

evaluation found that: 

 
• there was a reduction in Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire scores over time; the more involvement from specialist roles, the 

better the outcome; 
 

• more involvement from specialist roles led to less missing incidents, indicating participants are happier at home or in their placement; 
 

• evidence of improvements in mental wellbeing from an interview sample, including in a reporting of mental health issues; 
 

• staff were able to use a range of strategies with the young people; 
 

• resilience and self-esteem increased, including the use of bespoke activities which were viewed positively by the young people and 

raised their self-esteem; and 
 

• No Wrong Door workers were a key support to the young people in time of a crisis.[3] <#_ftn1> 

 

[1] <#_ftnref1> North Yorkshire County Council, ‘No Wrong Door: Rethinking Care for Adolescents’ (2014) http://icha.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2017/11/North-Yorkshire-No-Wrong-Door-model.pdf <http://icha.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/North-Yorkshire-No-

Wrong-Door-model.pdf> 

 
[2] <#_ftnref1> © North Yorkshire County Council 2016 

 
[3] <#_ftnref1> Lushey et al., ‘Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme’ (2017) 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Do 

<https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innova 
 
 
 

 

About you 

 

1 Are you - 
 
(Required) 
 
Please select only one item  

a child or young person in the care of Surrey County Council; or  a care leaver; or 

a person with experience of supporting looked-after children or care leavers; or  

a representative of an organisation with experience of supporting looked-after children or care leavers; or  other. 

 

Dates in care 

 

i In which year did you first enter care? 
 
The year in which you first entered care  

Page 78

5



 
 

 

 

ii In which year were you last in care? 
 
The year in which you left care for the last time  
 

 

Individuals 

 

i If you wish for your response to this survey to be identifiable, please provide your name (optional)  
 

 

Organisations 

 

i What is the name of the organisation you represent? 
 
Please enter the name of your organisation  
 

 

'Others' 

 

i As you answered 'other' to the previous question, please briefly explain why you are completing this 

survey. You may wish to identify yourself.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Questions for care leavers and looked-after children 

Page 79

5



 
 

 

 

Related Information 
 

Surrey County Council is proposing to introduce a local version of the No Wrong Door
RTM

 (NWD) model first developed by North Yorkshire County 

Council. Under the model, children and young people who are in or at the edge of care are supported by a single team of workers who stay with the 

service user. By integrating services, the model aims to reduce referrals between services, reduce the number of assessments and plans to which 

service users are subject and ensure consistency of key worker even after a child ceases to be looked after, to ultimately generate better outcomes for 

service users – primarily by preventing young people (particularly 16-17 year olds) from entering care and reducing the time young people spend in care. 

Under the model, services would eventually be delivered from hubs containing a range of residential placements. It is important to note that, if 

introduced, the model would not significantly change the services which are provided by the council, but rather how they are delivered and accessed; 

therefore, the Task Group’s focus will be on delivery model rather than the quality or range of services available. The proposed introduction of this model 

of service delivery forms part of the council’s wider transformation of children’s services which is continually subject to scrutiny and oversight by the 

Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee. 

 
Importantly, young people are not required to enter a formal agreement to access support delivered under the model. 

 
If the model is adopted, the following assessments and support are expected to be available from hubs in Surrey without need for referral: Life Coach, 

Communication Support Worker, Data Analyst, Police Case Workers, liaison with allocated social worker, maths and English tuition delivered when and 

where necessary, Restorative Practice, Motivational Interview, and collaborative work with social workers and care-leaving services. 

 
The integrated service will ensure young people have access to a range of accommodation options (including residential care home beds, 

emergency residential beds, foster family placements, supported accommodation, supported lodgings and bespoke placements). Young 

people will be placed in a hub, not a type of residential home or care placement. 

 
There are 10 distinguishing factors of North Yorkshire's NWD: 

 
• always progressing to permanence with a family or to community independence; 

 
• high-stickability of the keyworker; 

 
• fewer referrals to other services; 

 
• the workforce training offer, with strong roots in restorative approaches; 

 
• no ‘heads on beds’ culture – success is an empty children’s home; 

 
• no assessment appointments; 

 
• a core offer to all young people; 

 
• multi-agency intelligence-based approach to risk; 

 
• effective governance and close partnership; and 

 
• young people’s aspirations drive practice.[1] <#_ftn1> 

 

 
The anticipated impact of the proposed model is: 

 
• no matter how diverse or complex, young people’s needs are met within one team of skilled and trusted workers; 

 
• trusted relationships and stickability are the foundations of building resilience and self-worth; 

 
• strengths-based and positive risk management improve safety and stability; 

 
• reduce vulnerabilities; 

 
• increase engagement in education, training and work readiness; 

 
• improve physical and emotional well-being; 

 
• reduce criminal activity and involvement with the police, e.g. periods of being missing; and 

 
• reduce costs to the council, police, NHS, etc. 

 
The NWD in North Yorkshire was independently evaluated by Loughborough University just under two years after it was introduced. The 

evaluation found that: 

 
• there was a reduction in Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire scores over time; the more involvement from specialist roles, the 

better the outcome; 
 

• more involvement from specialist roles led to less missing incidents, indicating participants are happier at home or in their placement; 
 

• evidence of improvements in mental wellbeing from an interview sample, including in a reporting of mental health issues; 
 

• staff were able to use a range of strategies with the young people; 
 

• resilience and self-esteem increased, including the use of bespoke activities which were viewed positively by the young people and 

raised their self-esteem; and 
 

• No Wrong Door workers were a key support to the young people in time of a crisis.[2] <#_ftn1> 

 

 

 

[1] <#_ftnref1> © North Yorkshire County Council 2016 

 
[2] <#_ftnref1> Lushey et al., ‘Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme’ (2017) 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Do 

<https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innova 
 

Page 80

5



 
 

 

 

 

2 What are/were your needs and goals as a looked-after child or care leaver? 
 
Please explain what you need/needed help with as looked-after child and what your personal goals are/were as a looked-after child.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 As a care leaver or looked-after child, what stopped you from having your needs met/achieving your goals? 
 
Explain what makes/made it difficult for you to achieve your goals and the things which stop/stopped your needs from being.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 If you were responsible for the services supporting young people who are at risk of entering care, are 

looked after or who have left care, what would you do differently? 
 
Explain the changes that would make it, or would have made it, easier for you to meet your needs and achieve your goals.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5 If you would like to make any further comment about these matters, please do so here.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 Would you would be willing to meet with the Task Group to discuss this submission further? Please note 

that any meeting would be conducted remotely using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic. 
 
Please select only one item  

Yes  No 
 
If you would be willing to meet with the Task Group, please provide an email address at which you may be contacted  
 
 
 
Questions for those who support care leavers and looked-after children 

Page 81

5



 
 

 

 

Related Information 
 

Surrey County Council is proposing to introduce a local version of the No Wrong Door
RTM

 (NWD) model first developed by North Yorkshire County 

Council. Under the model, children and young people who are in or at the edge of care are supported by a single team of workers who stay with the 

service user. By integrating services, the model aims to reduce referrals between services, reduce the number of assessments and plans to which 

service users are subject and ensure consistency of key worker even after a child ceases to be looked after, to ultimately generate better outcomes for 

service users – primarily by preventing young people (particularly 16-17 year olds) from entering care and reducing the time young people spend in care. 

Under the model, services would eventually be delivered from hubs containing a range of residential placements. It is important to note that, if 

introduced, the model would not significantly change the services which are provided by the council, but rather how they are delivered and accessed; 

therefore, the Task Group’s focus will be on delivery model rather than the quality or range of services available. The proposed introduction of this model 

of service delivery forms part of the council’s wider transformation of children’s services which is continually subject to scrutiny and oversight by the 

Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee. 

 
Importantly, young people are not required to enter a formal agreement to access support delivered under the model. 

 
If the model is adopted, the following assessments and support are expected to be available from hubs in Surrey without need for referral: Life Coach, 

Communication Support Worker, Data Analyst, Police Case Workers, liaison with allocated social worker, maths and English tuition delivered when and 

where necessary, Restorative Practice, Motivational Interview, and collaborative work with social workers and care-leaving services. 

 
The integrated service will ensure young people have access to a range of accommodation options (including residential care home beds, 

emergency residential beds, foster family placements, supported accommodation, supported lodgings and bespoke placements). Young 

people will be placed in a hub, not a type of residential home or care placement. 

 
There are 10 distinguishing factors of North Yorkshire's NWD: 

 
• always progressing to permanence with a family or to community independence; 

 
• high-stickability of the keyworker; 

 
• fewer referrals to other services; 

 
• the workforce training offer, with strong roots in restorative approaches; 

 
• no ‘heads on beds’ culture – success is an empty children’s home; 

 
• no assessment appointments; 

 
• a core offer to all young people; 

 
• multi-agency intelligence-based approach to risk; 

 
• effective governance and close partnership; and 

 
• young people’s aspirations drive practice.[1] <#_ftn1> 

 

 
The anticipated impact of the proposed model is: 

 
• no matter how diverse or complex, young people’s needs are met within one team of skilled and trusted workers; 

 
• trusted relationships and stickability are the foundations of building resilience and self-worth; 

 
• strengths-based and positive risk management improve safety and stability; 

 
• reduce vulnerabilities; 

 
• increase engagement in education, training and work readiness; 

 
• improve physical and emotional well-being; 

 
• reduce criminal activity and involvement with the police, e.g. periods of being missing; and 

 
• reduce costs to the council, police, NHS, etc. 

 
The NWD in North Yorkshire was independently evaluated by Loughborough University just under two years after it was introduced. The 

evaluation found that: 

 
• there was a reduction in Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire scores over time; the more involvement from specialist roles, the 

better the outcome; 
 

• more involvement from specialist roles led to less missing incidents, indicating participants are happier at home or in their placement; 
 

• evidence of improvements in mental wellbeing from an interview sample, including in a reporting of mental health issues; 
 

• staff were able to use a range of strategies with the young people; 
 

• resilience and self-esteem increased, including the use of bespoke activities which were viewed positively by the young people and 

raised their self-esteem; and 
 

• No Wrong Door workers were a key support to the young people in time of a crisis.[2] <#_ftn1> 

 

 

 

[1] <#_ftnref1> © North Yorkshire County Council 2016 

 
[2] <#_ftnref1> Lushey et al., ‘Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme’ (2017) 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Do 

<https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625366/Evaluation_of_the_No_Wrong_Door_Innova 
 

Page 82

5



 
 

 

 

 
2 How do you/does your organisation support looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 What are the common needs and aspirations of looked-after children and care leavers?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 What commonly prevents looked-after children and care leavers from achieving their aspirations and 

having their needs met?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5 What could be done to better support looked-after children, children at risk of entering care and care leavers? 
 
When answering this, please consider the way that services are delivered and the proposed changes to the way in which some children’s 

services are delivered - see 'Relevant Information' at the top of this page 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6 If you would like to make any further comment about these matters, please do so here.  

Page 83

5



 
 

 

 

7 Are you content for your response to this survey to be published as part of the Task Group's report? Please 

be aware that publication is at the Task Group's discretion and not all submissions will be published. 
 
Please select only one item  

Yes  No 

 
 
8 Please indicate if you or a representative of your organisation would be willing to meet with the Task 

Group to discuss this submission further. Please note that any meeting would be conducted remotely 

using Microsoft Teams due to the coronavirus pandemic. 
 
Please select only one item  

Yes  No 
 
If you or a representative of your organisation would be prepared to meet with the Task Group, please also provide an email address at 

which you may be contacted. 
 

Page 84

5



 
 
Annex 3 – No Wrong Door Model proposed for Surrey   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

No Wrong Door™ 
 

Model 
 

P
age 85

5



 
 
 

The Model 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• A Trademarked model developed by North Yorkshire 

County Council in 2015  
• For young people who are experiencing family pressures and 

on edge of becoming looked after, those looked after, and 

those leaving care  
• Provides support and, if necessary, flexible accommodation 

from a single multi-agency, multi-disciplinary team.  
• The key driver is improving outcomes for young people  
• A whole system approach which has ten Distinguishers ©North 

Yorkshire  
County Council 2016  

• Looks to the long term, not just the short term 

P
age 86

5



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

D
is

ti
n

g
u

is
h

e
rs

©
 

 
 

 
 

Young people’s aspirations High stickability of the 
Always progressing to 

permanence within a family 
drive practice 

 

service and keyworker  or community     

Core offer to all young No-appointment’ No ‘heads on beds’ culture Close partnership working 

people assessments    

Fewer referrals 

 Multi-disciplinary service, 
Multi agency intelligence-  

common approaches and  
led approach to reduce risk    

training       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C
o

re
 O

ff
e

r 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Reduce high risk Build and restore Maximise planned 

 behaviour relationships transitions 

Develop self esteem, self Well organised support for 
Support achievement 

worth and resilience those in crisis 
 

   

P
age 87

5



 
 
 

Ten Distinguishers© 
 

 

• Always progressing to permanence with a family or to 

community independence  
• High stickability of the keyworker  
• Fewer referrals to other services  
• The workforce training offer, with strong roots in restorative 

approaches  
• No ‘heads on beds’ – success is an empty children’s home 

 
• No assessment appointments  
• A core offer to all young people  
• Multi agency intelligence-based approach to risk  
• Effective governance and close partnership  
• Young people’s aspirations drive practice 

 
© North Yorkshire County Council 2016 

P
age 88

5



 
 
 

No Wrong Door Hub 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Residential 

  Beds 

Edge of  Social 
care 

 

Foster 
care 

outreach staff Care 
to prevent 

 

 
 entry to  

  
care 

 

 
SALT   

  Portfolio 

  Leads 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28-day 
 

pathway 
 
 
 
 
 

Police  

roles 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Clinicians 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supported 
 

Lodgings 

 

Supported  

Accommodation 

 
 

 

Flexible provision 

P
age 89

5



 
 
 

The Core Offer 
 
 
 
 

 

• Reducing high risk behaviour  
• Empowering young people to build and restore 

relationships  
• Maximising opportunities for planned transitions  
• Supporting achievement  
• Developing self-esteem, self-worth and resilience  
• Ensure organised and appropriate support in times of crisis 

P
age 90

5



 
 
 

Partnership Roles 
 

Assessment and support from within the Hub  
• Life Coach  
• Communication Support Worker  
• Data Analyst  
• Police Case Workers  
• Liaison with allocated social worker 

 
 

Core educational offer (Maths & English)  
• Flexible teaching commissioned to deliver where and when 

necessary 
 
 

Shared training and support  
• Restorative Practice  
• Motivational Interviewing  
• Collaborative work with social workers and leaving care services 

P
age 91

5



 
 
 

Impact for young people 
 
 
 
 

• No matter how diverse or complex, young people’s needs are 

met within one team of skilled and trusted workers 
 

• Trusted relationships and stickability are the foundations of building 

resilience and self-worth,  
• Strengths-based and positive risk management improve safety 

and stability  
• Reduce vulnerabilities  
• Increase engagement in education, training and work 

readiness  
• Improve physical and emotional well-being  
• Reduce criminal activity and involvement with the police, e.g periods 

of being missing  
• Reduce costs to the council, police, NHS 

P
age 92

5



Annex 4 – Written submission from Director – Corporate Parenting, dated August 
                 2020  
 

1 

Benjamin Awkal 

 

From: Tina Benjamin 
Sent: 04 August 2020 18:55 

To: Benjamin Awkal 

Subject: FW: Questions re No Wrong Door 

Attachments: Milestones.xlsx; Project Plan high level.xlsx 

Benjamin  

  

Thank you for the agreed extension   

  

The NWD project manager has responded to your questions below and added two attachments.   

  

If you would like this in a different format for members,  please can you advise and Toran who has copied in will 

format for you?  

  

There is some additional data which will eb sent over tomorrow but I hope the attachments will provide sufficient 

detail at the current time?  

  

  

Regards  

  

Tina Benjamin  

Director Corporate Parenting  

County Hall  

Penrhyn road   

Kingston upon Thames  

KT1 2 BN  

0797 6205282  

  

Dear Tina  

  

On Friday, the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee formally established the Task 

Group which will be looking at the No Wrong Door. The first step in the Task Group’s inquiry is to request written 

evidence from a range of stakeholders, which will then be used to refine lines of enquiry and inform verbal 

discussions with witnesses in August.   

  

The Task Group would be grateful for a response to the following points by midday on Monday, 27 July 2020:  

1. How many children are currently in care in Surrey? What are their characteristics?  

  

Please see below  

  

2. What are the outcomes for care leavers in Surrey?  

  

Further detail on this area will be provided tomorrow – we are just collating the data into some meaningful 

headlines to assist the Task group  

  

3. What are the needs and aspirations of Surrey’s looked-after children? How will these influence the 

development of the local model?  

Page 93

5



2 

Our Big Survey results for 2020 are to be published shortly.  We know that children want to stay within their 

birth family wherever possible, and if this is not possible they want to understand why they are in care, and 

be able to live in a safe and caring environment. They want to keep in touch with those who are important to 

them, particularly siblings if they are not able to live with them.  They don’t want to be moved around, and 

want consistency of social worker, and to have staff and carers who understand them and their story.    As 

they get older they want to feel supported as they move to independence and to live in good quality 

accommodation and receive support to learn independence skills.  

  

In regard to the care system, they tell us there is a need for more/better/more available staff/foster 

carers/placements, for better communication with young people and between professionals, and for young 

people and their carers to be listened to.  They want better support with mental health and for staff and carers 

to be better trained, and for improved support in managing family contact.  

4. How does this project link in with the Directorate and council’s strategies?  

  

Implementation of the No Wrong Door ™ model has been a cornerstone of the Directorate’s Improvement 

Plan following the Ofsted Inspection in 2018. It fits with the Family Resilience model, being based on similar 

principles and values, and uses a similar skill base for staff.  

  

The model fits with the current priorities of both the Health and Wellbeing Board, and the Children’s 

Safeguarding Partnership, and also the Police and Crime Plan.  

  

  

5. Please outline your proposals, including what work has been undertaken to date and what work is still to be 

undertaken and how it is to be conducted. (If there is an existing document containing this information, please 

provide that along with a brief summary)  

  

Please see attached key milestones document and overview project plan.    

  

It is proposed that the model is run in shadow from early 2021 in two of the existing Surrey council 

children’s homes.  Eventually the NWD hubs will relocate in 2022 to the purpose built homes which are part 

of the current capital development programme for the children’s home estate.  

  

Project support has been secured and recruitment is starting for  a Service Manager role which will progress 

the model to business as usual.  Work with the User Voice and Participation service has started to ensure 

young people are involved and that the young people’s voice is central to the implementation of the model.  

  

  

6. What are the barriers/facilitators to the successful adoption of the model?  

Facilitators  

• This model fits with priorities and the underpinning values for Surrey’s improvement journey, and 

speaks to priorities for the Police in preventing and addressing exploitation and involvement in 

criminality for vulnerable adolescents  

• It is a tried and tested model which has been evaluated as having positive impact on outcomes for 

young people  

• Surrey is ‘resource rich’ and there are existing children’s homes, and social care services/resources 

that can be mobilised to provide the NWD hubs/offer  

• Surrey has a good track record of developing and running multi-agency wraparound services for 

children with high vulnerability/high risks – Hope/Extended Hope service  

Barriers  

• Work with partners is at a relatively early stage  

Page 94

5



3 

• Recruitment to some specialist posts (psychologist and Speech and Language Therapist) may be 

impacted by the national shortage of applicants for these roles  

• North Yorkshire County Council will have to accredit the implementation, given that they have 

trademarked the model.  They are at an early stage of developing an accreditation model but expect to 

complete this within the next 6-8 weeks.  

  

  

  

7. What are the benefits/disadvantages of the model?  

Benefits:    

• The model improves outcomes for young people  

• The model brings together professionals from a range of disciplines and agencies to wrap around and 

stick with the young person  

• There is a coordinated approach to managing and sharing risk presented to and from those young 

people  

• The model has been evaluated by Loughborough University and is promoted by the DfE and the 

Innovation Unit as a best practice model   

• The model has been shown in other councils to improve value for money to agencies, by reducing the 

incidence of (and therefore resources required) high risk events or crises such as missing episodes, 

presentation at hospital, and expensive out of county placements  

Disadvantages  

• The model is aimed at a particular cohort of looked after children and those on the edge of care, and 

for capacity reasons will have to be relatively strict about which young people it works with.  This 

could exclude some young people who could potentially benefit from the model (e.g. those younger 

than the target cohort)  

• The model is a ‘whole-system’ approach, and is reliant on partner agencies, senior leaders, other parts 

of the social care system, all working together.  If there is pressure or weakness in one part of the 

system, this has potential to impact on the effectiveness of the model, and mitigation for this risk has 

to be built in.  

  

8. How will you evaluate the effectiveness of the model if it is adopted?  

Implementation of the model includes a specific workstream on performance management.  It is important 

that outcome measures for the project are agreed with partners and young people/families as part of this 

workstream, along with tracking systems to measure impact for individual children.  Young people will be 

involved at all stages of design, implementation and moving to business as usual. It is anticipated that the key 

measures for the whole cohort will be:  

o Numbers of young people in the cohort becoming looked after (reduction expected) o Length 

of time spent in care (reduction expected) o Repeat admission to care (reduction expected) o 

Placement stability (fewer placements expected) o Number and length of missing episodes 

(reduction expected)  

o Involvement with the criminal justice system - arrests, charges, repeat offending (reduction 

expected)  

o Involvement with drug/alcohol services (increase in positive engagement with 

services/reduction in substance misuse)  

o Reduction in out of county placements o Reduction in use of children’s homes beds o Increase 

in EET for 16+ (education, employment and training) o Engagement with education/learning 

for under 16s.  

                  

Page 95

5



4 

For individual children/families we expect the measures are likely to include:  

o Self-reported well-being, self-esteem and resilience o Scores for scaling/scoring tools (likely 

to be CGAS, SDQ) o Family’s reported resilience and capacity/confidence to manage crises o 

Multi-agency coordination/support around the child/family o Identification and management 

of risks of criminal exploitation from the partnership network o Positive relationship for young 

person from NWD network o Transition to independent living o Access to support in a crisis  

                  

9. Have any equalities implications been identified for the No Wrong Door?  

A formal equalities impact assessment has not yet been completed, but the model is aimed to provide services 

for looked after children and those on the edge of care who meet the eligibility criteria for the model.  

  

The Task Group will likely publish your response as an annex to its report. If there’s information which you would 

like to submit but which is not suitable for publication, this could be submitted separately or included in the main 

submission and redacted prior to publication.   

  

Let me know if you have any questions.  

  

Kind regards  

  

Benjamin  

  

Benjamin Awkal  

Scrutiny Officer – Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee 

Legal & Democratic Services  

  

Democratic Services (Room 122) | Surrey County Council | County Hall | Penrhyn Road | Kingston upon Thames |  

Surrey | KT1 2DN  

Email: benjamin.awkal@surreycc.gov.uk  

  

Follow Democratic Services: @SCCdemocracy  

  

Page 96

5



re
at
e 
a P
h
as
e 
h
e
a

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4

Titles for each phase are listed in this row from cells C 

June - Sept 2020
Initiation of the Model

Oct - Dec 2020
Design

Jan - Mar 2021
Shadow implementation

April - June 2021
Review and Development

Activity
Start stakeholder engagement including 
young people and staff Governance boards meet Governance becomes operational Governance is reviewed

Activity
Seek in-principle agreement for posts and 
information sharing from partners

Work up partner roles and start 
recruitment Embedded roles work in shadow model Review and development of roles

Activity Develop comms plan and materials
Refine the plan taking account of what 
stakeholders tell us

Implement ongoing stakeholder 
feedback mechanisms

Conduct formal evaluation/progress audit 
with stakeholders

Activity
Identify locations and resources that will 
be available to the model

Secure resources for the hubs, alternative 
provision and supported accommodation

Bring the complementary resources on 
line, start the NWD model in shadow in 2 
existing children's homes Work towards deliver of purpose built hubs

Activity Start recruitment of Service Manager 
Induction of Service Manager and joint 
work between SM and project officer

Service Manager takes over operation 
lead BAU

Plan service structures, roles and 
resources

Consult on roles (if necessary) and recruit 
into posts/roles New roles develop through practice Review and development of roles

Develop foster care and supported 
lodgings roles description and 
remuneration Recruit to roles FC and SL roles start working in hubs Review and development of roles

Develop embedded specialist multi- 
agency roles Recruit to roles Postholder start working in hubs Review and development of roles

Complete L&D needs analysis and training 
needed Commission training and start delivery Continued delivery of training Training moves to BAU

Identify pathways for young people and 
procedures needed

Write and consult on processes and 
pathways and develop in LCS Implement procedures and pathways

Evaluation and review of pathways and 
procedures

Identify how we want to measure and 
track outcomes Design tracking and reporting systems

start gathering data and measurement 
tools Evaluate outcomes being shown

Identify funding sources and build 
budgets Align budgets Show cost savings/avoidanceTit

le
s 
fo  

June-Sept 2020
Model designed in outline

Oct-Dec 2020
Operation designed in detail

Jan-Mar 2021
Implementation starts

April-June 2021 
Practice is embedded

Outcome

External stakeholders and politicians are 
committed to the implementation of the 
model

We have good oversight of how the 
implementation and operation of the 
model is progressing

We have regular strategic and 
operational meetings that make a 
difference to how the model is working

Partner are confident in what the model 
achieves and any amendments we need 
to make based on operation so far

Outcome
Information sharing agreements are in 
place

Partners have committed resource and 
expertise to the embedded roles and 
recruitment is underway

Young people have access to the multi-
agency team to support them

Young people receive a core offer and 
are able to give us feedback on what is 
working well and  not so well

Internal stakeholders and young people 
understand the model and its key 
features and principles

We have a programme of stakeholder 
events and we can show how young 
people are involved in implementing the 
model through the young people's 
reference group

Operational colleagues, police and EDT 
know how to refer young people to the 
new shadow model

Partners are confident in making referrals 
and we begin to see impact of the model 
on admissions to care, out of county 
placements and young peoples outcome 
measures

Potential resources and budget has been 
identified 

Work is underway to acquire and build our 
new hubs.  We have a plan for shadow 
implementing in 2 existing children's 
homes

We start operating the model in shadow 
in two existing children's homes

Work is continuing on development of the 
purpose-built hubs and we have an 
identified handover date

Work has started to recruit a Service 
Manager and to agree other staff roles

We have identified other flexible 
resources, and are recruiting foster carers 
and supported lodgings

We have clear and strong leadership in 
the service

We have moved to business as usual and  
staff and partners have confidence in 
delivery of the model

We have clear referral criteria for the 
model and an identified cohort

We have recruited a dedicated Service 
Manager who will lead the operation of 
NWD

Young people can be referred for the 
service

We are receiving referrals in our target 
cohort

We understand how the various processes 
and pathways in the model and between 
other services fit together

We have agreed JDs and role 
descriptions and recruitment is underway

We have a dedicated staff team who 
understand their roles and are able to 
offer a range of support to young people 
and their families

Staff report confidence and satisfaction in 
their roles and feel supported in the 
proposed move to purpose-built premises

We know what we want to measure and 
why

We have agreed processes and 
procedures that are being signed off by 
partners and stakeholders

We have clear pathways and processes 
that help staff in understanding and 
applying the model

There isn't duplication or gap between 
NWD and other services

We know what staff training is needed Staff and partner training has started

Staff feel confident in the skills and 
knowledge they need and principles are 
applied consistently

We have a way of measuring outcomes 
and reporting on performance

We have started tracking and reporting 
on outcomes

This row marks the end of the sample table "Outcomes."

No Wrong Door

To add more Outcomes, insert new rows above this line

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4

A
c

tiv
iti

e
s

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

Page 97

5



ea
te No Wrong Door

Enter the name of the Project Lead in cell B3. Enter the Project Start date in cell E3. Pooject Start: label is in cell C3.Th
e 
Di

1
Ce
lls 
I5 

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Th
is 
ro

TASK ASSIGNED
TO

PROGRESS START END M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W

Do not delete this row. This row is hidden to preserve a formula that is used to highlight the curren day within the project schedule. Ce
ll 
B

Governance and information sharing
Ce
ll 
B

Project Delivery Fiona Mackirdy 22/6/20 30/11/20
R
o
w

External Stakeholder Involvement FM/Tina Benjamin/Jo Rabbitte 6/7/20 30/9/20

Governance mechanisms established FM/TB/JR 22/7/20 21/8/20

Information sharing agreements FM 31/8/20 30/10/20

Elected Member oversight TB/FM/JR 22/6/20 6/11/20
Th
e 
ce

Risk management FM 22/6/20 6/11/20

Communications

information materials  and ongoing comms plan Fiona Mackirdy 22/6/20 26/6/20

Young people's engagement FM/Jo Lang 6/7/20 30/10/20

Stakeholder events FM/TB/JR 29/6/20 30/10/20

Staff engagement FM/Lisa Wade 6/7/20 6/11/20

Sample phase title block
Accommodation & Resources 

Capital investment John Vigar 22/6/20 31/7/20

Hub Site identification and design JV 1/8/20 31/1/21

Building phase JV 1/2/21 30/5/22

Handover and move-in phase JV 1/6/22 30/6/22

Delivery in current accommodation JV/LW/JR 1/1/21 30/6/22

Sample phase title block
Identification of supported and flexible accomodation options FM 1/11/20 31/12/20

Project Start:
22/06/2020

Display Week:
Jun 22, 2020 Jun 29, 2020 Jul 6, 2020 Jul 13, 2020 Jul 20, 2020 Jul 27, 2020 Aug 3, 2020 Aug 10, 2020

P
age 98

5



 

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W

Aug 17, 2020Aug 10, 2020 Oct 5, 2020 Oct 12, 2020 Oct 19, 2020 Oct 26, 2020 Nov 2, 2020 Nov 9, 2020Aug 24, 2020 Aug 31, 2020 Sep 7, 2020 Sep 14, 2020 Sep 21, 2020 Sep 28, 2020

Page 2 of 3

P
age 99

5



12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6

T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S

Nov 16, 2020 Nov 23, 2020 Nov 30, 2020Nov 9, 2020

Page 3 of 3

P
age 100

5



1

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

TASK ASSIGNED
TO

PROGRESS START END M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W

Display Week:
Jun 22, 2020 Jun 29, 2020 Jul 6, 2020 Jul 13, 2020 Jul 20, 2020 Jul 27, 2020 Aug 3, 2020 Aug 10, 2020

HR & Staffing

Service Manager recruitment TB/JR 22/6/20 31/10/20

JDs and role descriptions FM 22/6/20 31/7/20

Residential and outreach staffing structure FM/LW/Lisa Bursill 22/6/20 31/7/20

Develop Embedded police officer role FM/TB/Carl Bussey 1/10/20 15/11/20

Develop SALT roles FM 1/10/20 15/11/20

Develop Life-coach roles FM 1/10/20 15/11/20

Recruitment to social care roles JR/LW 1/11/20 31/1/21

Development of specialist foster care and SL  roles FM/Carol Norrington/Clark M 1/9/20 30/9/20

Devcelopment of Supprted accommodation provision FM/Gordon Murray 1/9/20 30/9/20

Embedded Host service provision FM/Debbie Searle 1/8/20 31/8/20

Finance

Identification of project costs and operating budget FM/Marius/JR 1/7/20 31/7/20

Development of establishment budget FM/Marius/JR 1/8/20 31/8/20

Revenue budgets FM/Marius/JR 31/8/20 4/9/20

Aligning budgets with cost centre Marius/JR 4/9/20 9/9/20

Pathways and business processes

S 17 offer FM 1/9/20 15/9/20

Housing offer FM/Asst Directors 3/9/20 8/9/20

28-day pathway FM/Asst Directors 1/9/20 15/9/20

RAISE FM/Gabi Schaper/Mike Hall 1/9/20 15/9/20

Alignment with LCS FM 1/11/20 31/1/21

Referral Criteria and pathway FM 29/6/20 31/7/20

Completion of policies FM 1/11/20 30/11/20

Development of Core offer to young people FM 1/9/20 4/9/20

P
age 101

5



13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W

Aug 17, 2020Aug 10, 2020 Oct 5, 2020 Oct 12, 2020 Oct 19, 2020 Oct 26, 2020 Nov 2, 2020 Nov 9, 2020Aug 24, 2020 Aug 31, 2020 Sep 7, 2020 Sep 14, 2020 Sep 21, 2020 Sep 28, 2020

Page 2 of 3

P
age 102

5



12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6

T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S

Nov 16, 2020 Nov 23, 2020 Nov 30, 2020Nov 9, 2020

Page 3 of 3

P
age 103

5



1

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

TASK ASSIGNED
TO

PROGRESS START END M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W

Display Week:
Jun 22, 2020 Jun 29, 2020 Jul 6, 2020 Jul 13, 2020 Jul 20, 2020 Jul 27, 2020 Aug 3, 2020 Aug 10, 2020

Performance Management

Outcome measures agreed FM/JR/TB 1/8/20 31/8/20

Scoring and scaling tools agreed FM/JR/LW 1/8/20 31/8/20

Development of tracking system FM 1/9/20 30/9/20

Data analysis protocols FM 1/10/20 31/10/20

Dashboard and reporting system developed FM/Jo Watkins 1/10/20 31/10/20

Learning &  Development

Learning and develooment needs analysis FM/LW/Sharon Davidson 1/8/20 31/8/20

Training plan commission SD 1/9/20 31/10/20

Delivery phase SD 1/12/20 31/1/21

BAU SD 31/1/21 30/2/21

Insert new rows ABOVE this one

P
age 104

5



13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W

Aug 17, 2020Aug 10, 2020 Oct 5, 2020 Oct 12, 2020 Oct 19, 2020 Oct 26, 2020 Nov 2, 2020 Nov 9, 2020Aug 24, 2020 Aug 31, 2020 Sep 7, 2020 Sep 14, 2020 Sep 21, 2020 Sep 28, 2020

Page 2 of 3

P
age 105

5



12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6

T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S

Nov 16, 2020 Nov 23, 2020 Nov 30, 2020Nov 9, 2020

Page 3 of 3

P
age 106

5



Annex 5 – Supplementary written submission from Director – Corporate Parenting dated 5 August 2020 
 

 

  

P
age 107

5



 

P
age 108

5



Annex 6 – Written submission from Director – Corporate Parenting dated 
19 August 2020  

 
  

 

1. How many social work students have committed to working for Surrey County Council after 

they graduate, under a scheme run by the Surrey Children’s Service Academy?  
  

Although the Academy does support student social workers who are offered placements within 

the council, their recruitment to Surrey is based on successful application and selection onto 

Surrey’s ASYE programme (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment) for Newly Qualified 

Social Workers which is run by the Academy.  

  

Of the NQSWs who completed their ASYE year in Oct 2019 24 are still in post from the original 

30. In terms of the current position, we have a cohort of approx. 20 NQSWs who are due to 

complete their ASYE year in Oct 2020/21. Additionally, we will be starting a new cohort at the 

end of September 2020 which will be made up of 42 NQSWs.  

  

2. How many looked-after children are placed out of county?  
  

As of today (18/8/20), 443 children (44.52%) placed out of county of which:  

  

- 58 placed with family and friends foster carers (in-house provision)  

- 46 placed with Surrey foster carers (in-house provision)  

- 11 placed with parents but living outside Surrey border  

- 7 placed with Surrey supported lodgings carers (in-house provision)  

  

- 172 placed with foster carers (IFA)  

- 54 placed in external residential providers (including welfare secure accommodation)  

- 14 at external residential schools  

- 56 placed with external supported lodgings providers  

- 5 placed for adoption but living outside Surrey border  

The group highlighted are the children, we would want to bring back to Surrey at an appropriate 

time. For example, if the 172 placed with foster carers are long term matched and the placement is  

meeting their needs, we would not choose to change this until the child reaches 18 or staying put 

ceases. This would not be in the best interests of the individual children with stability and positive 

relationships.  

  

(552 children (55.48%) living inside Surrey border of which 119 were in externally commissioned 

placements)  

  

  

3. What proportion of looked-after children are seen by a social worker within six weeks of their 

previous contact? (It may be useful to provide both up-to-date and pre-Covid figures, as I 

understand this requirement has been relaxed at least until next month)   

Page 109

5



Tableau reporting as of 18/08/20 showed 95% of looked after children have been seen within 

statutory timescales, of which 77% of visits were face to face.  

  

Pre Covid-19 data up to 10/03/20 showed 93% of children had been seen within statutory 

timescales.  

  

Page 110

5



Annex 7 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with Director – Corporate  

Parenting on 21 August 2020  

 

No Wrong Door Task Group  
Meeting with Director – Corporate Parenting to discuss Surrey County Council’s  

proposed introduction of the No Wrong Door Model   
Microsoft Teams  

2 pm on 21 August 2020  

In attendance:  

Councillor Lesley Steeds (Chairman)  

Councillor Barbara Thomson  

Councillor Chris Townsend   

  

Benjamin Awkal, Scrutiny Officer  

Bryony Crossland Davies, Democratic Services Assistant   

  

Tina Benjamin, Director – Corporate Parenting   

  

Key points from the discussion:  

1. The Chairman invited the Director to give opening statement outlining the progression of the 

project.   

  

2. The Director stated that the two main challenges for the Service were the high numbers of 

children entering care after reaching 16 years of age and looked-after children (LAC) living 

outside of Surrey. There had been a recent improvement in the latter with 44.5% of children 

now living outside of Surrey. The Director explained that some of these children were placed 

out of county for good reasons and stated that this statistic would always be in the region of 

15%. Nationally, the Department of Education monitors this statistic by looking at children 

outside of Surrey and over 20 miles from their home; 28% of Surrey County Council’s (SCC) 

placements meet these criteria (Surrey’s statistical neighbours are at 26%). Placement 

sufficiency and ensuring the right children entered care and returned home at the 

appropriate time would be key in addressing this issue  

  

3. No Wrong Door (NWD) model aligned with the Family Resilience Model due the shared 

relationship-based approach and objective of preventing children from progressing to Level 

4 need.   

  

4. All of Surrey’s six community children homes were rated ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted.   

  

5. The existing cohort of highly skilled staff could be utilised in adopting the NWD model. The 

partnership approach of the model makes police involvement key to the success of the 

initiative.   

  

6. The Director concluded that SCC Children’s Services were much improved and better 

equipped to implement the NWD model than in 2018 when the introduction of the model 

was first proposed by the former Executive Director of Children, Families and Learning.  

  

Page 111

5



7. The Director stated that external-stakeholder involvement was at around 38-40%. 

Stakeholder events had not yet commenced; however, there was 30% progress in 

engagement with young people. The governance mechanisms had been decided and the 

communications team was preparing to support the project. The recruitment process for a 

Service Manager underway.   

  

8. The Chairman asked which key partners were confirmed. The Director stated that there had 

been a great deal of communication with the police and there was lots of resource within 

SCC. The engagement process was still underway.    

  

9. A Member asked how the Service would work with NHS and Education in partnership. The 

Director informed the group that Trudy Mills, Director of Children’s Mental Health, was part 

of leadership team and had proven very beneficial. The Director acknowledged that 

recruitment of a speech and language therapist could be challenging. The Director said that 

sign up from partners could be problematic.  

  

10. The Director stated that a shadow model would run from two existing children’s homes to 

help staff to understand the culture and changes needed before full implementation. Subject 

to planning, there would be two hubs attached to two of the new children’s homes. The 

Director explained that managing the model was related to capital development and the 

rebuild of children’s homes.   

  

11. A Member referred to the underestimation of capital spend for the NWD implementation by 

Rochdale Borough Council. The Director stated that the capital spend agreed at Cabinet was 

currently sufficient and on target to meet budget.   

  

12. The Scrutiny Officer asked whether there were any areas of risk in the project plan. The 

Director stated that the commitment from partners to use staff differently would be 

challenging and could present an area of risk; however, SCC’s relationships with partners 

were greatly improved relative to two years previously.  

  

13. A Member asked how recruitment of senior staff would be approached. The Director stated 

that people would be attracted by the opportunity to work for an improving authority. The 

NWD facilitates innovate and creative work which is attractive to social/youth workers and 

can be more professionally rewarding.   

  

14. A Member asked how young people’s views on this approach had been considered. The 

Director replied that work with User Voice and Participation team was underway. The whole 

model was based on things already known about what young people desire e.g. consistency 

of social worker/staff. Children would be consulted again when more tangible plans were in 

place and a reference group would be established with young people to help plan for the 

future.   

  

15. A Member emphasised the importance of not making promises to children and young 

people that cannot be kept, e.g. having the same social worker for an extended period of 

time. The Director acknowledged that it was crucial to ensure good management of change 

and a seamless handover of staff.    

Page 112

5



  

16. A Member queried what the eligibility criteria would be to receive support from NWD. The 

Director stated that focus should be centred on children on the edge of care and thus would 

be unlikely to support children under 12 years of age. Working with adolescents requires 

expertise and the NWD would be a labour-intensive model, thus the right support had to be 

given to right children and this would be ensured by establishing clearly defined service user 

eligibility criteria.   

  

17. A Member asked what the capacity of the NWD service would be. The Director explained 

that, with two hubs running, there is capacity to work with 35 young people at any one time 

on an outreach basis from each hub, including flexible support offer, and care leavers could 

potentially be supported; however, the main aim would be to keep children out of care. 

Professional judgement would be required in determining which children the model could 

support.    

  

18. The Chairman asked how families would be included in the model. The Director stated that 

the model was about building resilience of children and the family network around them. For 

older young people or those with parents unable to make the changes required, NWD is 

about developing their resilience and helping young people to use the services they have 

access to compensate for the deficit in parenting. Nevertheless, there would be provision for 

staff to directly work with adults who want to make changes, to fulfil the wraparound 

approach of the model.   

  

19. Member expressed concern that sometime children will be irreversibly impacted by their 

experiences before the age of 12. The Director stated that if the model had positive 

outcomes then it could be expanded to early care in the future.   

  

20. The Scrutiny Officer asked how a shared culture and ethos between NWD workers from 

different organisations and those from SCC would be developed and sustained. The Director 

stated that the nature of model should attract the right people as it requires the adoption of 

certain ways of working that staff need to be willing to sign up to.   

  

21. The Chairman referred to the challenge other local authorities experienced with recruitment 

and retention of staff. Director recognised that there was challenge with social workers; 

however, there were already very motivated people within the system whose expertise 

would be drawn upon.   

  

22. The Scrutiny Officer asked what background a NWD key worker would come from. The 

Director stated that it would be desirable to recruit experienced residential/youth work staff 

who had a strong ability to engage with young people within a creative face-to face role.   

  

23. The Chairman asked what the implementation timescale was. The Director stated that the 

interview for a Service Manager would take place in September. Some form of the model 

would be implemented the following year following a period of testing and providing partner 

arrangements were in place.   

  

Page 113

5



24. The Scrutiny Officer asked whether the Director was satisfied that the general quality of 

social work practice was such that the model would be successful. The Director stated that  

the quality of social work had improved but acknowledged that some areas of inconsistency 

still existed in Surrey. Permanence was present at a level which would enable the delivery of 

the model – only 2 of 57 service managers were locums, a key indicator of the ability to 

deliver consistency. There could be a challenge around recruiting permanent team 

managers.  

  

25. The Scrutiny Officer asked whether there were enough foster carers for the model to be 

successful and if there would be a specific pool of foster carers for NWD servicer users. The 

Director explained that there were never enough foster carers; however, this was a national 

problem and not unique to Surrey. There had been success in recruiting general foster carers 

and there were some existing specialist foster carers, but the Director emphasised that NWD 

service users would require 1:1 foster care placement. There were methods for attracting 

foster carers with incentives such as a core and additional allowances. Salaried foster carers 

may be the solution and, when there is not a child in their household, they could work as 

part of the NWD team.   

  

26. The Scrutiny Officer asked whether cost benefit analysis had been undertaken. The Director 

stated that cost analysis in relation to COVID-19 was being undertaken and the cost of LAC 

placements could easily be obtained. Members requested this data.   

  

27. The Director concluded that the family safeguarding model and NWD aligned well and the 

resources were in place.  

  

Actions  

i.  Tina to give cost analysis of care placements to Task Group.  ii.  Share minutes 

from Task Group meeting with Rochdale BC with Tina Benjamin.   

  

The meeting closed at 15:40  

  

  

  

  

Page 114

5



Annex 8 – Written submission from Detective Chief Superintendent 
Carwyn Hughes, Head of Public Protection, Surrey Police, dated 26 July 
2020 
 

 

Page 115

5



 

Page 116

5



 

Page 117

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 9 – Written submission from Lou Williams, Service Director for  

Children and Safeguarding, Cambridgeshire County Council, 

dated 13 July 2020  

 

1) What consideration did Cambridgeshire County Council give to adopting the No 

Wrong Door model?   

Officers conducted a fact-finding visit to the demonstrator site in North Yorkshire and met 

with representatives of the authority   

2) Why did Cambridgeshire County Council decide against introducing the No Wrong 

Door model?  

The model was to be based around the then operating in-house residential home for young 

people operated by Cambridgeshire County Council. However it proved difficult to recruit 

members of staff for the home who had sufficient experience to deliver the outcomes, which 

also meant that the links with fostering proved difficult to establish.   

In my view, the model worked in North Yorks because of the unique skills et and experience 

people leading it, which proved difficult to replicate in the area of Cambridgeshire where the 

model was intended to be established.    

The actual costs are also high and while this represents a good investment where the model 

is able to work, it also means significant risk where staffing and other issues mean it 

struggles to become established.  

3) Were any equalities implications identified for the No Wrong Door model?   

N/A  

4) Would you or a representative of your organisation be prepared to meet remotely 

with the Task Group in August 2020 to discuss your responses?   

Yes, although I took over in my role at the point of it becoming clear that the model was not 

going to be successful; I do not have direct knowledge about how it was set up initially.   

5) Are you content for this submission to be published as an annex to the Task Group’s 

report?   

Yes.   

  

Lou Williams  

Service Director for Children and Safeguarding  

Cambridgeshire County Council   

July 2020  

Page 119

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 10 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with Lou Williams, 

Service Director for Children and Safeguarding, Cambridgeshire County  

Council, on 5 August 2020  

 

No Wrong Door Task Group  
Minutes of a meeting with the Service Director for Children and Safeguarding,  

Peterborough City and Cambridgeshire County Councils  
Microsoft Teams  

3 pm on 5 August 2020  

In attendance:  

Councillor Chris Botten (Acting Chairman)  

Councillor Robert Evans  

Councillor Liz Bowes  

Councillor Barbara Thomson  

Benjamin Awkal, Scrutiny Officer  

Lou Williams, Service Director for Children and Safeguarding, Peterborough City and 

Cambridgeshire County Councils (witness)  

Key points from the discussion:  

1. The Chairman relayed apologies from Councillor Kay Hammond, Chairman of the Children, 

Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee, and Councillor Lesley Steeds, 

Chairman of the No Wrong Door Task Group and Vice-Chairman of the Children, Families, 

Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee.  

  

2. The Acting Chairman explained that Surrey County Council intended to introduce the No 

Wrong Door model with support from North Yorkshire County Council. This followed the 

rating of the council’s children’s services as inadequate by Ofsted in 2018.   

  

3. The witness explained that he assumed his current post after the decision to adopt the No 

Wrong Door had been made and was responsible for its reversal. He commented that the 

model is attractive and is one about which North Yorkshire County Council is passionate. At 

the time, in Cambridgeshire, there were a significant number of young people that were in 

and out of placements and escalating up the hierarchy of placements to costly residential 

care; the No Wrong Door looked like a good model to follow.   

  

4. The witness had visited North Yorkshire County Council and found that there were unique, 

charismatic and visionary officers running the model at the time and believed that, if a local 

authority did not have those people, it would struggle to implement the model successfully. 

He added that, whilst the most recent grading of children's services in Cambridgeshire by 

Ofsted was 'good' at this time, there were a significant number of issues that needed to 

addressed by children's services in the county and so adopting a new model at the same 

time felt like trying to tackle too many priorities at once. Furthermore, the area in which the 

residential unit for the model (a pre-existing council-run residential home) was to be located, 

was one where there were already a lot of independent residential homes and  

Page 121

5



where recruiting sufficiently skilled staff, particularly management, was not possible. It was 

also difficult to recruit foster carers.   

  

5. The Acting Chairman queried whether there were similar recruitment issues with children’s 

social workers. The witness responded that children’s social workers need to understand the 

model and adopt its culture, and that fundamental practice issues in Cambridgeshire needed 

to be addressed before it would have been appropriate to change how services were 

delivered.   

  

6. The Acting Chairman asked whether the staff for a No Wrong Door model required a 

particular skillset which may be hard to find. The witness responded that the location of the 

children’s home in question in Cambridgeshire was one where there were a high number of 

residential homes due to low property prices and where there was a small pool of talent 

from which to recruit staff; adding that, wherever the model is to be introduced, 

consideration will need to be given to the local context.   

  

7. Councillor Thomson asked whether Cambridgeshire County Council had since adopted any 

elements of the No Wrong Door model. They had not done so but had sought to develop a  

multi-disciplinary approach to supporting the most at-risk young people – this was not wrapped 

around a specific residential building and did not utilise a specific pool of foster carers.   

  

8. The Acting Chairman asked whether this was because of the aforementioned issues with 

implementing the model or issues inherent to the model. The witness replied that there was 

a particular skillset required of the people responsible for engaging challenging young people 

and turning their lives around, and the people capable of doing so were not that common 

but had been present in North Yorkshire when he visited the local authority. The witness 

added that in North Yorkshire there was little difficulty in recruiting skilled foster carers, 

unlike in Cambridgeshire.     

  

9. Councillor Evans asked if the witness had set out with the intention of implementing the 

model but could not recruit the requisite staff or if he had been dissuaded after witnessing 

the quality of practice in North Yorkshire. The witness replied that he had fully intended to 

implement the model and the decision not to implement it was primarily due to the issues of 

recruiting the appropriately skilled staff for the residential home and recruiting sufficient 

numbers of foster carers. Ultimately, the residential home was closed due to the staffing 

issues, despite being the only council-run children’s home in Cambridgeshire.   

  

10. The Acting Chairman commented that Surrey County Council has consistently experienced 

problems when recruiting children’s social workers; the council is competition with East and 

West Sussex; and Surrey is adjacent to London, but the council does not pay London 

allowances to staff. He commented that the council had placed significant hopes on the No 

Wrong Door being a route out of special measures.   

  

11. The Acting Chairman asked if there was alternative delivery model which could reduce the 

number of hand-offs between services. The witness reiterated that No Wrong Door works 

when staffed by the right people and it was this issue, in conjunction with the fundamental 

issues within children’s services, which lead to Cambridgeshire County Council deciding  

Page 122

5



against the model’s introduction. He added that the recent passing of Surrey County 

Council’s Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and Culture, Dave Hill CBE, whom 

he knew well, and the necessary resulting change in leadership was an issue to which Surrey  

County Council should have regard. When it intended to introduce the No Wrong Door, 

Cambridgeshire was happily considering itself to be a good authority, but beneath the 

surface it was not and there were a lot of issues to be fixed which made the introduction of 

the No Wrong Door impractical. The Acting Chairman commented that Dave Hill was exactly 

the sort of charismatic, visionary leader for whom the model would have been absolutely 

perfect.   

  

12. Councillor Bowes commented that her expectation would be that all of the council’s social 

workers were of a certain calibre and asked how Cambridgeshire County Council’s approach 

to delivering children’s services was able to succeed despite lacking some commitment and 

expertise. The witness responded that the version of the No Wrong Door proposed in 

Cambridgeshire had been challenging in terms of recruiting staff to work with challenging 

young people in residential homes and recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers to do 

the same; but, if a council has a complement of social workers who are relatively stable and 

have manageable caseloads, then to some extent the model and framework around them 

matters less. It was the staffing and foster carer issues which Cambridgeshire County Council 

chose to priorities.   

  

13. The Acting Chairman asked whether Cambridgeshire County Council had reached a point 

where the witness was satisfied with the caseloads for social workers. The witness believed 

the council was getting there. The council was aiming for an average of 15 cases per fulltime-

equivalent social worker in its adult safeguarding teams; average caseloads remained at 

approximately 20 per full-time-equivalent children’s social worker and he intended to bring 

that figure down to 15, which he believed to be a good, safe level – the Acting Chairman 

noted that Dave Hill had shared that objective. Cambridgeshire County Council had been 

experiencing vacancies in children-in-care teams and increasing numbers of children in care, 

which were driving higher caseloads. The witness commented that there is a correlation 

between social worker caseloads and Ofsted ratings.   

  

14. The Acting Chairman asked if care leavers in Cambridgeshire were reporting positively on 

their experiences of the care system and if they felt that they didn’t needed to explain their 

story too many times. The witness replied that this was increasingly the case and that a big 

challenge was a lack of in-house fostering, adding that his role covers two local authorities, 

Peterborough City and Cambridgeshire County Councils, and that there was a remarkable 

difference in culture and challenges between the two; a significant number of children in the 

care of Cambridgeshire County Council were placed out of area, making it harder to support 

them as care leavers. In Cambridgeshire, care leavers were increasingly saying that they are 

better supported than previously and looked-after children were experiencing fewer 

changes in social worker.   

  

15. Councillor Bowes asked if it was true to say ‘don’t rearrange the chairs on the Titanic’, 

concentrate on the fundamental issues instead and that the Task Group should recommend 

those issues be prioritised and, until then, the No Wrong Door would not solve the issues 

within Surrey County Council’s children’s services. The witness agreed but added that, if  

Page 123

5



Surrey County Council possesses or can attract the right staff, the model could help to 

improve children’s services.   

  

16. The witness agreed that the minutes of the meeting could be published in the Task Group’s 

report.    

  

The meeting concluded at 3.25 pm.  

Page 124

5



Annex 11 – Written submission from Mary Lewis, Cabinet Member for Children, 
Young People and Families, dated 19 August 2020 
 

1 

Benjamin Awkal 

 

From: Mary Lewis 
Sent: 19 August 2020 15:32 

To: Benjamin Awkal; Tina Benjamin 

Cc: Lesley Steeds; Lesley Steeds; Christopher Botten; Fiona Mackirdy 

Subject: RE: Minutes of meeting with Cambridgeshire DCS  

Follow Up Flag: Follow up 
Flag Status: Completed 

Dear Benjamin  

  

Thank you for sending me these minutes of what sounds like an interesting session. I really do appreciate the work the 

MRG is doing in exploring the pros and cons of the No Wrong Door policy.  

I apologise once again for not being able to attend the session on Friday due to a caring commitment.  

  

You suggested that I might make written points, so here are a few, all from a laymen’s perspective, to complement the 

professional view you will get on Friday:  

  

One of the Improvements to previous SCC practice encouraged by Dave was to look at best practice elsewhere 

(wellevaluated models) and to use it here. No Wrong Door in North Yorkshire is one such model and could help us 

with our ‘teenager’ issue.  

  

We know that outcomes for teenagers who come into care are poor. It is too late to make big changes for them, it is 

hard to find suitable placements for them and they can end up far from Surrey and from meaningful levels of contact 

with Social Workers etc. We need to have different options for keeping teenagers safe at home. No Wrong Door gives 

a breathing space in which high quality direct work can happen and families/teenagers can be brought into a workable 

relationship. It seems therefore to fit well with our Family Resilience Model. The multi-disciplinary Family 

Safeguarding teams and TYS and Adolescent Safeguarding services should all support this model, with expertise 

from each feeding into the other. These teams have been long-awaited but many professionals arrived in April time 

and are now settling into the teams as people get back into offices.  

  

Closer to Home is a County Council agreed priority and making fewer teenage placements away from Surrey by using 

our own residential estate will help with this. Many Members, including those on your committee, write to complain 

about young people from their areas being placed in Supported Accommodation out of county: this should reduce 

this.  

  

Unlike Norfolk, we do have a range of Good and Outstanding Residential Homes for Children which we can utilise 

for NWD. We have experienced management in residential with a proven track record. We currently have capital to 

spend on upgrading the homes and the opportunity of including some NWD spaces in two of them – I don’t want us 

to miss this opportunity.  

  

During Lockdown, the St Faith’s Centre in Leatherhead was quickly adapted by some of our very keen residential 

social workers to be an emergency placement centre. This was not the same as, but along the lines of, what is 

envisaged in No Wrong Door. I was very impressed by the enthusiastic way our officers embraced the 

challenge/opportunity to set this up. I visited the centre and found the work they were doing to be inspiring and 

making a difference for young people. I don’t think all the charisma has to be at the very top of an organisation! We 

have some charismatic, hard-working and enthusiastic people at different levels and I am confident that they will rise 

to the challenge of No Wrong Door, having seen what they did during lockdown.  

  

Page 125

5



2 

Like all Local Authorities, Surrey faces challenges in Recruitment and Retention of staff. However, being innovative 

and introducing things like No Wrong Door is a way to attract staff and to retain good people by giving them a new 

challenge.  

  

So overall I feel that we need to try something new with teenagers and if you come to the conclusion that trying a No 

Wrong Door approach is not for us, I’d be grateful for your ideas on what we should do, as I don’t think more of the 

same is an option. Perhaps you might also have a view on timing of No Wrong Door or any other new initiative and 

that too would be useful.  

  

I look forward to hearing what conclusions you come to after your session on Friday. Apologies again for not being 

there and thank you for your work- in August!  

  

Kind regards,  

Mary  

  

  

Mary Lewis  

Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families  

Surrey County Councillor, Cobham  

  

Rosy Beer  

Cabinet Support Officer.  Leadership 

Office  

Room 121 I Surrey County Council I County Hall I Penrhyn Road I Kingston upon Thames I Surrey I KT1 2DN  

Email: rosy.beer@surreycc.gov.uk   

  

#stayathomesavelives  

  

  
  

  

  

  

 

From: Benjamin Awkal <Benjamin.Awkal@surreycc.gov.uk>   

Sent: 06 August 2020 09:31  

To: Tina Benjamin <Tina.Benjamin@surreycc.gov.uk>; Mary Lewis <mary.lewis@surreycc.gov.uk>  

Cc: Lesley Steeds <lesley_steeds@yahoo.com>; Lesley Steeds <lesley.steeds@surreycc.gov.uk>; Christopher Botten  

<chris.botten@surreycc.gov.uk>; Fiona Mackirdy <Fiona.Mackirdy@surreycc.gov.uk>  

Subject: Minutes of meeting with Cambridgeshire DCS   

  

Dear Tina and Mary  

  

Yesterday afternoon, the No Wrong Door Task Group met with the Director for Children and Safeguarding at 

Cambridgeshire CC, which previously considered introducing the NWD but decided against doing so. At the meeting, 

concerns were raised about recruiting and retaining the right calibre of staff to enable a NWD to be successful.   

  

Page 126

5



3 

I have attached the minutes of the meeting to this email. If the Directorate would like to respond to any of the points 

raised, the Task Group would welcome that comment.   

  

Kind regards  

  

Benjamin  

  

Benjamin Awkal  

Scrutiny Officer – Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee 

Legal & Democratic Services  

  

Democratic Services (Room 122) | Surrey County Council | County Hall | Penrhyn Road | Kingston upon Thames |  

Surrey | KT1 2DN  

Email: benjamin.awkal@surreycc.gov.uk  

  

Follow Democratic Services: @SCCdemocracy  

  

Page 127

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 129

5



Page 130

5



Page 131

5



Page 132

5



Page 133

5



Page 134

5



Page 135

5



Page 136

5



Page 137

5



Page 138

5



Page 139

5



Page 140

5



Page 141

5



Page 142

5



Page 143

5



Page 144

5



Page 145

5



Page 146

5



Page 147

5



Page 148

5



Page 149

5



Page 150

5



Page 151

5



Page 152

5



Page 153

5



Page 154

5



Page 155

5



Page 156

5



Page 157

5



Page 158

5



Page 159

5



Page 160

5



Page 161

5



Page 162

5



Page 163

5



Page 164

5



Page 165

5



Page 166

5



Page 167

5



Page 168

5



Page 169

5



Page 170

5



Page 171

5



Page 172

5



Page 173

5



Page 174

5



Page 175

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 13 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with Anne Tully, No 

Wrong Door – Project Manager, Rochdale Borough Council, 

on 20 August 2020  
 

No Wrong Door Task Group  
Minutes of a meeting with Anne Tully, Project Manager – No Wrong Door at 

Rochdale  

Borough Council  
Microsoft Teams  

3 pm on 20 August 2020  

In attendance:  

Councillor Lesley Steeds (Chairman)  

Councillor Chris Botten   

Councillor Liz Bowes  

Councillor Barbara Thomson  

Councillor Kay Hammond (ex officio)   

Councillor Chris Townsend    

Benjamin Awkal, Scrutiny Officer  

Bryony Crossland Davies, Democratic Services Assistant   

  

Anne Tully, No Wrong Door Project Manager at Rochdale Borough Council   

  

Key points from the discussion:  

1. The attendees agreed that the minutes of the meeting could be published by the Task 

Group.   

  

2. The Chairman welcomed Anne Tully to the meeting and invited her to give an overview of 

the process by which Rochdale Borough Council (BC) adopted the No Wrong Door (NWD) 

model and any insight relating to the model’s impact.   

  

3. The Project Manager stated Rochdale BC children’s services had been on a journey of 

innovation over the previous two years and NWD had been part of this systemic change. 

Rochdale BC worked closely with North Yorkshire County Council on the development and 

implementation of the model locally, which went live on 1 April 2020.   

  

4. There was an authorising environment from senior management and partners and the Chief 

Executive was the accountable officer for the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) in 

Rochdale. The NWD Project Manager stated that both partner buy-in from the beginning and 

shared common values had been crucial.  

  

5. NWD worked with the premise that no young person is unable to be fostered. Out-of-county 

placements were not used, and it was acknowledged that some young people may require a 

residential placement at some point in their lives. NWD enabled flexible and imaginative 

working within a multidisciplinary team to create bespoke packages.  

  

Page 177

5



6. The Project Manager stated that this shared vision did not happen overnight. Workshops on 

the theory of change were held with all partners to help foster the shared vision 

underpinning the NWD model.   

  

7. The Project Manager summarised that implementation of the project required an 

authorising environment from partners, elected members, senior officers, corporate 

parenting, and those delivering it on an operational basis. The strategic triangle proved 

helpful for Rochdale in galvanizing an authorising environment. Grant money from the 

Department for Education (DfE) helped establish NWD from 1 April 2020. Cost-benefit 

analysis was also important and should be undertaken by local authorities endeavouring to 

adopt the NWD model.   

  

8. A Member asked about the relationship with North Yorkshire County Council during the 

project in Rochdale. The Project Manager informed the group that North Yorkshire had 

supported and challenged Rochdale BC and ensured the ethos of the model was reflected in 

the local service; during development, North Yorkshire also helped Rochdale BC to anticipate 

likely challenges that may have arisen.   

  

9. A Member questioned how Rochdale BC had dealt with staffing and recruitment issues. The 

Project Manager stated that the council had performed better than other local authorities in 

some areas of recruitment but had performed worse in other areas. They struggled to recruit 

a hub manager – a registered manager had since been recruited and deputy managers had 

acted up in the interim. A speech and language coach and a life coach had been recruited 

successfully. The COVID-19 pandemic had stalled recruitment of portfolio leads and it had 

been a difficult period generally, due to some staff being required to shield. Regarding key 

workers, 63 applications were received for the most recently advertised vacancy. No NWD 

hub carers had been recruited yet but there had been a big increase in foster carer interest 

and conversion from interest into applications. Discussions with the police regarding the 

police analyst role had been held. Overall, staff retention had been a more pressing issue 

than staff recruitment (apart from the hub manager).   

  

10. A Member asked whether there were any noteworthy challenges that SCC should keep 

under careful observation. The Project Manager stated that it was important to recognise 

that bringing partner organisations together could be challenging. Training around culture at 

the beginning of the project and understanding lines of accountability and risk management 

was also key, particularly for staff from partner organisations who did not have prior 

experience of residential work. A culture of trust and honesty from the start has a large 

impact on the quality of care for service users.    

  

11. A Member asked, if Rochdale BC was to introduce the model again, whether anything would 

be done differently. The Project Manager explained that the capital spend on building the 

hub in Rochester had been underestimated and thus it was important to acknowledge that 

additional finance may be required. Despite this, savings had already been made at Rochdale 

BC. Work with NWD staff on culture, expectations, and the role of specialists was also key.  

Rochdale BC had five days of training planned before COVID-19, which was subsequently  

Page 178

5



delivered virtually but needed to be delivered in person; intense face-to-face team working 

is important at the beginning.   

  

12. A Member asked to what extent with out-of-county placements had been a problem and 

how the NWD had improved this issue. The Project Manager stated that there had been a 

reduction of 45 external placements from 2019-2020, including residential, fostering and 

semi-independent provision as NWD became operational. This had reduced by eight in the 

previous year, resulting in estimated savings of £3m.   

  

13. The Project Manager highlighted some outcomes since 1 April 2020: three young people 

who entered into care quickly moved into fostering placements supported by a life coach 

and were doing very well despite their record of placement breakdowns; a high risk service 

user who had been placed in a Tier 4 hospital bed was given wrap around support from  a life 

coach who negotiated and worked closely with the community team, enabling them to 

support the service user, who eventually returned to her family home with short breaks 

offered when needed. Overall and given the COVID-19 pandemic and the challenges of 

lockdown, good achievements had been made  

  

Meeting closed at 3:30 pm   

Page 179

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 14 – Written submission from Jamie-Leigh Clark, Assistant Manager, User 
Voice and Participation, dated 27 July 2020 

 

1 

Benjamin Awkal 

 

From: Jamie-Leigh Clark 

Sent: 27 July 2020 14:00 

To: Benjamin Awkal 

Subject: CYP feedback  

Follow Up Flag: Follow up 

Flag Status: Flagged 

Hi Benjamin,   

  

I hope you’re well.   

  

As promised, please see below feedback from our CYP groups which we can discuss in more detail when we meet 

next week.   

  

Feedback from the Care Leavers Forum – 18-25 year olds.   

   

Page 181

5



2 

No Wrong Door’ consultation - one off agenda item  

1. What are/were your needs and goals as a looked-after child or care leaver?   

2. As a care leaver or looked-after child, what stopped you from having your needs met/achieving your goals?   

3. If you were responsible for the services supporting young people who are at risk of entering care, are looked after or who 

have left care, what would you do differently?    

4. What do you think of when you hear the name no ‘No Wrong Door’?  

  

Question 1:  

- My needs where met by my local authority at the time because they “found me a family that is very caring, I felt needed 

a caring family and this need was met”. (23)  

- “My goals and needs, where around personal support. I wasn’t in the right place and needed help going independence.  

Surrey done everything they can with my housing …. we had to push but support has been good.” (18)  

- “I wanted to go to Uni after college, but I thought of giving up due to lack of consistent support from social services. I 

am currently studying business studies and marketing. I feel that care leavers are disadvantaged in terms of future 

opportunity. I am in the process of starting a business and looking for support around, financing, mentoring has been 

difficult - don’t know where to look.”  (E)  

- “I’ve still stayed put in the same home for past 11 years – I needed support from Virtual school in the past and they 

provided this”. (19)  They were able to identify my dyslexia through thorough reports that explained the support then 

available.   

Question 2:  

- “I would have appreciated support on mentoring, financial. I study business and marketing, advice and guidance on 

business models and how to set them up is very useful” (E) – Team to look into opportunities to support/connect to 

industry expertise    

- “Social services in Scotland weren’t good and misjudged a situation where I was lied to and torn from my family” (23) – 

there were a lack of honesty from the Scottish local authorities    

- “In foster placement I got referred and walked out of sessions – intervention at the right time that is my pace” (18) Social 

services need to adopt better practices so that they can provide support at the right time and in the right way.  

- “It took a very long time to gain my SEND report – the longer this takes the less support I was able to access”. For an 

important report (S.E.N.D) the process is too lengthy and often confusing. This is view is widespread   

Question 3:   

- “I would change how closely you work with young people – together you should work closely to figure out what’s 

wrong, in order to work on it together. I feel despite their efforts, as a SW/PA you can be there but not always way – 

work with us!” (18) – (19) also felt the same as this young person   

- “I would get supportive towards my parents and get my mum help” – support for me that would have allowed me to 

support my mum. (23)  

- “For those involved in the care of all young people to be empathetic towards they young people” (19)   

Question 4:  

Young people prefer these terms:  

- “it sounds quite misleading, overpromising and unrealistic (18)  

- “I am not q big fun of the name, a bit misleading “I think it is making it sound like a negative situation” (19)  

  

Feedback from Care Council – 13+.   

  
Question 1:  

- “Meet all of my needs, even just basic needs like food, water and shelter”. Care leaver, 18  

- “Keeping my basic needs and support as best as you can. E.g. A CYP with SEND will need additional support”. Care 

leaver, 19  

- “I never had any goals as I never thought I would be in this situation. Again, I would just like my basic needs met”.  Care 

leaver, 18  

- “Referrals to CAMHS as soon as possible, we need to act sooner. Care leaver  

- All CYP agree that MH needs should be identified and addressed much sooner.   

Question 2:  

Page 182

5



3 

- “All of my needs have been met apart form a few miscellaneous”. Care leaver, 18  

- “I have been lucky, I have nothing to add” Care leaver, 19  

- “Foster carers can hold you back. I had one FC who treated me like a child because she never had children and this held 

me back. She tried to keep me away from my birth family”. Care leaver, 18  

Question 3:   

- “Unannounced visits are so important. They should always do this throughout care, including before and during care.  

Foster carers blitz the house before the SW arrives. Then the SW can see the reality”. Care leaver, 18  

- “I agree that they should have more unannounced visits too and more support for foster carers as they do not get as much 

support. Especially when the YP turns 18, the FC has no support after that”. Care leaver, 19  

- “More visits from social workers and further digging into making sure a FC is actually good as it could be an act”. Care 

leaver, 18  

- “More monitoring of parents, carers and the voice of the child to be most important”. Care leaver, 18  

Question 4:  

Young people prefer these terms:  

- “I think it should be something like ‘Only One Door’ or ‘Only One Stop’. It’s a bit like make up brushes. You have your 

make up brush pot, you take out the power brush and you have other brushes that all make you look nice. One brush does 

one thing, another brush does another, but all the brushes have the same goal. To make you look pretty / make your life 

better. Brushes last long and don’t need replacing, just like workers should”. Care leaver, 18  

- “There are sometimes wrong doors, you could open a door, and something bad could happen” Care Leaver, 19  

- “for me I’d say it’s a new chapter not a new door as you are starting a new chapter as you don’t need to go back to the 

past” Care leaver, 19  

- The young people agreed that whatever the name is, it should have ‘one’ in as this seems to be the point of the new 

model.  

   

Kind Regards  

Jamie-Leigh Clark  

  

Assistant Manager  

User Voice & Participation  

Quality Relationships  

Surrey County Council  

  

Working days Monday - Thursday (plus every other Friday)  

  

Mobile: 07989 356320  

User Voice Line: 01483 519464  

UVP Email - user.voice@surreycc.gov.uk  

Twitter: @ourvoicesurrey Instagram: @ourvoicesurrey  

  

  
  
                

  

            

Page 183

5



4 

   
  
  

Page 184

5



Annex 15 – Draft Big Survey 2020 
 

Big Survey 2020  
  

https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/big-survey-2020  

1: Do you know the reasons why you came into care ? (Please tick the most 

appropriate box)  

  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  39  88.64%  93.0%  

No  1  2.27%  2.3%  

Not Sure  4  9.09%  4.7%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0%  

  

No significant change in this question from 2019; most respondents are aware of the reason why they came 

into care. Interestingly, a greater percentage than in 2019 declared they were unsure about this question. 

While this is not statistically significant, it will be important to monitor future responses from this cohort.  

2: Did you get support when you moved into the Care Leavers Service?  
  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  13  29.55%  69.8%  

2  13  29.55%  

3  10  22.73%  16.3%  

4  5  11.36%  11.6%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  3  6.82%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  
81.8% of respondents were neutral or agreed/strongly agreed with the statement about getting support to move 

into the Care Leavers Service. Greater granularity of available responses highlights a small percentage of 

highly unsatisfied care leavers (6.8%) and a greater proportion of young adults being neutral about the 

statement compared to the previous year. All care leavers answered this statement (this trend is repeated 

throughout the findings), pointing to greater granularity potentially providing young adults with better 

opportunities to express their feelings in this questionnaire. Of the respondents who gave more detail:   

- 3 pointed at issues in the transition (“When I first moved to the care service it felt as though there 

was a 'tick box' agenda. I was not fully told what I would be entitles too and this would have been 

helpful. I now feel fully supported.", “Smoother transition”, “MORE VISITS AS I WAS NEW TO 

THIS ALL AND VERY ATTACHED TO MY FAMILY. MORE CALLS AND TEXTS FOR 

SUPPORT WHEN I NEEDED IT. DIDNT SEE MY FIRST PA FOR 3 MONTHS”)   

- 3 pointed at issues with their social worker/PA (“I felt bullied my social worker which has left me 

with permanent emotional and psychological damage. I felt unsupported and scared”, “I had different 

social workers and not all understood who I work”, “A PA that had knowledge that could support 

Page 185

5



 

me, and who was available when needed. Hand over from fostering team was done very last 

minute”)   

- 3 felt they would have liked to access different services/training (“I would like them to help with 

Education and help myself”, “I would have liked to speak to a therapist but as I was still going 

through the family court proceedings I wasn’t allowed to go to CAMHS”, “I feel the care leavers 

service could be better by helping us work to independence more before we move in to our own flats; 

many of us come in not prepared to bleed a radiator or set up direct debits properly, after a change in 

personal advisors I feel I am much better supported now in whatever I may need; from booking an 

appointment to paying debts off and anything else I may find hard. We also work together so I know 

how to do this on my own in the future when I feel more comfortable”)  

- 1 pointed to not being aware of the care leavers service (“Not aware of the Care Leavers Service. No 

communication at all regarding this service”)  

3: Did you get support when you moved from a social worker to a personal adviser?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  9  20.45%  72.1%  

2  16  36.36%  

3  11  25.00%  9.3%  

4  5  11.36%  14.0%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  3  6.82%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.6%  

  
The move from a social worker to a personal adviser was supported according to a smaller proportion of 

young adults in 2020 than in 2019. Greater uncertainty about this question is reflected in a greater proportion 

of young adults being neutral about this statement than in 2019. This result will need to be closely monitored 

to investigate potential changes in practice that might have made support less available to young adults 

transitioning out of care. Of care leavers who elaborated on their answer, 3 reported issues in the transition 

that were then overcome (“Not to begin with, it was very confusing”, “I was without a PA or Social worker 

for a few months. I would of liked this process to be a lot smoother”, “I don’t remember the process to much 

but I wasn’t very happy with how when I was finally assigned a personal advisor it took a long time for us to 

have our first meet. It would be good for the social worker to introduce the personal advisor and do a whole 

visit together before the switch”), 2 reported lack of knowledge on part of the PA (“A PA who had full 

knowledge and understanding about the system”, “BARELY SPOKE TO HER THE FIRST FEW VISITS AS 

DIDNT KNOW AND MADE NO EFFORT. BOTH OF US DIDN’T”) and 1 reported lack of communication 

(“None. No communication or attempts from social services at all.”).  

4: How often do you have contact with your personal adviser?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Once a month or more often  16  36.36%  51.2%  

Once every other month  13  29.55%  16.3%  

Other  15  34.09%  30.2%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  
A smaller proportion of young adults than in 2019 has contact with their personal adviser once a month of 

more often. As no remarkable change can be observed in the “Other” category, it can be concluded that a 

Page 186

5



 

greater proportion of young adults is now having less frequent contact with their personal adviser (once every 

other month) than in 2019. Of care leavers who selected “Other”, 6 reported having contact on a needs basis, 

2 reported having contact more often than once a month, 2 reported having contact every 6-8 weeks, 2 

reported never having met/no longer having a PA, and 2 reported having had contact once, or once “in a very 

long time”.  

5: Do you find it easy to get hold of your personal adviser?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  18  40.91%  72.1%  

2  10  22.73%  

3  14  31.82%  9.3%  

4  1  2.27%  16.3%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  1  2.27%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

A greater proportion of care leavers found it difficult to get hold of their personal adviser in 2019 than in 

2020, which points to greater availability of personal advisers on request. The reduction in care leavers 

finding difficulties in accessing their personal adviser has meant a greater proportion of young adults are 

neutral or positive about ease of contact (95.5% of respondents). However, the proportion of care leavers who 

agree or strongly agree that it is easy for them to access their personal adviser has not seen a remarkable 

change.  

6: Please complete the following sentence: My ideal personal adviser would be…  

  

Of the care leavers who elaborated on this question, 7 believe their ideal personal adviser is the one they 

currently have.  

Adjectives that were frequently mentioned to describe the ideal personal adviser are:   

- supportive/helpful (27)  

- hard working/reliable/responsive/available/passionate (13)  

- understanding/open minded/non-judgmental (11)  

- Patient / happy to explain (9)  

- Kind/thoughtful (8)  

- Easy going/approachable (6)  

- Honest/straightforward (6)  

- Respectful/not overbearing (2)  

- Develops good connection / knows me (2)  

7: Have you completed your Pathway Plan? - this may be on your own, with your 

housing worker, social worker or personal adviser, or someone else supporting 

you?  

  

Page 187

5



 

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  25  56.82%  60.5%  

No  5  11.36%  9.3%  

Not Sure  14  31.82%  30.2%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0%  

  

No remarkable change in any category can be observed in the answers to this question from 2019.  

  

If you answered “yes”, did you receive the final copy of your pathway plan?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  12  27.27%  46.2%  

No  8  18.18%  42.3%  

Not Sure  12  27.27%  0%  

Not Applicable  12  27.27%  3.8%  

Not Answered  0  0%  7.7%  

  

Greater uncertainty is expressed by care leavers in this sub-question compared to 2019, as a quarter of 

respondents were not sure about whether they had received their pathway plan. Both the “yes” and “no” 

category show a remarkable change from 2019.  

8: Do you feel you have had enough support given to you about living 

independently?  

  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  14  31.82%  74.4%  

2  15  34.09%  

3  11  25.00%  9.3%  

4  3  6.82%  14.0%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  1  2.27%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  
The proportion of care leavers who are neutral about this statement is greater than in 2019; the neutral 

category has absorbed a proportion of both the positive and the negative responses observed in 2019, pointing 

to care leavers being more neutral about the support received about living independently than they were in the 

previous year. Of the care leavers who elaborated on this response, 2 pointed at wanting more support around 

their education (“No support, just an EHCP meeting when a new social worker attended and no contact 

since”, “I would like support with my education) and 2 pointed at more practical aspects of living 

independently they would require support with (“MORE INFORMATION ABOUT MOVING ON BILLS”, 

Page 188

5



 

“I feel there could have been more; there are still simple household things I’m unaware of how to do; like 

bleed the radiator but I know if I contact my personal advisor, she would help me. When moving from 

supported accommodation to counsel housing; it would be nice if the personal advisor or some professional 

could help move. I was given a van but in regards to packing and unpacking/ moving to an entire new flat I 

found very stressful and didn’t know how to cope with all the new changes at first. It could have been a 

smoother transition with a professional available”).  

9: How much do you agree with the following sentence?   

'I know how to live independently'.  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  14  31.82%  44.2%  

2  20  45.45%  37.2%  

3  5  11.36%  7.0%  

4  1  2.27%  9.3%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  4  9.09%  0.0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

An important decrease can be observed in the proportion of care leavers who strongly agree that they know 

how to live independently; on the other hand, the proportion of respondents who strongly disagree with this 

statement has increased. Coupled with the results from question 8, this finding should be given consideration 

in terms of the support for independent living offered to care leavers.  

'I feel able to manage my money'.  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  13  29.55%  27.9%  

2  18  40.91%  44.2%  

3  4  9.09%  2.3%  

4  7  15.91%  20.9%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  2  4.55%  4.7%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019.  

11: Did you get the setting up home allowance when you first moved into 

independent living?  

  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  20  45.45%  30.2%  

No  5  11.36%  30.2%  

Page 189

5



 

Not Sure  10  22.73%  32.6%  

Not Applicable  9  20.45%  0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  7.0%  

  
Compared to 2019, a greater proportion of care leavers got their set up home allowance. The proportion of 

care leavers who were uncertain about this question also decreased considerably. Of the care leavers who 

elaborated on this answer, 2 said that they have not received their allowance yet (1 specified they have not 

moved out yet), 2 said they are currently studying at university and 1 that they are in supported living.   

12: Do you know what bills you need to pay and how?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  24  54.55%  67.5%  

2  6  13.64%  

3  6  13.64%  11.6%  

4  4  9.09%  20.9%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  4  9.09%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0%  

  

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019.  

13: Do you think you get all the money which you need?  
  

The below questions were rephrased from 2019, when they revolved around the money young adults were 

entitled to, rather than the money they needed. On this basis, the questions are not truly comparable. 

However, it is still important to observe and reflect on changes.  

  

 Do you think you get all the money which you need? - For Education  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  26  59.09%  51.2%  

No  6  13.64%  20.9%  

Don't Know  12  27.27%  18.6%  

Not Answered  0  0%  9.3%  

  
All care leavers answered this question – this was not the case in 2019. The “don’t know” category shows the 

greatest increase, showing that while young adults answered the question, over a quarter of them is unsure. A 

moderate increase can be observed in the “Yes” category, but the change in the phrasing of the question 

prevents a real comparison with 2019.  

  

Page 190

5



 

 Do you think you get all the money which you need? - For Housing  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  28  63.64%  58.1%  

No  3  6.82%  11.6%  

Don't Know  13  29.55%  23.3%  

Not Answered  0  0%  7.0%  

  
No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019 in spite of the 

different phrasing.  

Do you think you get all the money which you need? - For Travel  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  22  50.00%  46.5%  

No  11  25.00%  23.3%  

Don't Know  11  25.00%  23.3%  

Not Answered  0  0%  6.9%  

  

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019 in spite of the 

different phrasing.  

  

 Do you think you get all the money which you need? - For Food  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  30  68.18%  69.8%  

No  6  13.64%  11.6%  

Don't Know  8  18.18%  14.0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.6%  

  
No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019 in spite of the 

different phrasing.  

   

Do you think you get all the money which you need? - For Getting a Job  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  14  31.82%  32.6%  

No  8  18.18%  23.3%  

Don't Know  22  50.00%  30.2%  

Not Answered  0  0%  13.9%  

Page 191

5



 

  

All care leavers answered this question – this was not the case in 2019. However, the “don’t know” category 

is the only one to show an increase, showing that while young adults answered the question, half of them is 

unsure.  

14: Do you get the money that is due to you on time?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  22  50.00%  62.8%  

2  15  34.09%  

3  4  9.09%  11.6%  

4  0  0%  14.0%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  3  6.82%  

Not Answered  0  0%  11.6%  

  

A greater proportion of care leavers is positive about getting the money that is due to them on time than in 

2019. The increase is largely driven by all respondents answering the question, but also by a reduction in 

respondents who disagreed/strongly disagreed with the question. On the whole, 93.2% of respondents were 

neutral or positive about this question.  

15: Do you feel able to trust Doctors, Nurses and other health professionals who 

provide your health services?  

Option  Total  Percent  

Yes  36  81.82%  

No  8  18.18%  

Not Answered  0  0%  

  
Largely, care leavers trust professionals providing health services; however, nearly one in five reports a lack 

of trust. Greater granularity of responses for this question in the future would enable a better understanding of 

the strength of care leavers’ feelings for this area of the questionnaire. Of the care leavers who elaborated on 

this question, 2 expressed a generic lack of trust or recent issues (“dont trust anyone”, "Most of the times - 

Yes. But due to recent issue my trust for doctors has declined."), 1 mentioned issues with reliability (“They 

don't do what they say they are going to do”), 1 mentioned issues with access to health professionals (“Only 

reason I said no is because it takes a while to see them. Sometimes I feel they just don't care”), 1 expressed 

the need to have things explained taking their circumstances into account (“Explain it differently as people 

have different needs”), and 1 expressed a variety of concerns (“I do feel let down by nhs and other health 

services quite a lot for different reasons. I feel mental health issues are not taken seriously or handled the 

wrong way; I have also had physical issues that have taken years to diagnose, been overdosed by anaesthetists 

and don’t feel listened to. overall don’t feel comfortable handling services on my own”).  

16: Do you think you have received enough information and advice about your 

health (including sexual health and mental health)?  

  

Page 192

5



 

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  23  52.27%  67.4%  

2  14  31.82%  

3  6  13.64%  14.0%  

4  1  2.27%  14.0%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  0  0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.6%  

  

A greater proportion of care leavers believe they have had enough information and advice about their health 

than in 2019, with 84.1% of respondents agreeing/strongly agreeing with the statement, and another 13.7% 

being neutral about it. This represents an important reduction in the cohort of young adults who believed the 

information they received was not sufficient in 2019.  

17: Do you know who to contact to if you are worried or need more information 

about your health?  

  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  41  93.18%  95.4%  

No  1  2.27%  2.3%  

Not Sure  2  4.55%  0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019.  

18: If you have been placed out of the county (outside of Surrey) what impact do 

you think this has had?  

Of the care leavers who responded to this question:  

- 5 mentioned loss/reduced contact with family  

- 3 mentioned it was hard to maintain friendship  

- 3 mentioned little or no negative impact  

- 2 mentioned having to leave their home community, including their foster carer and the local 

organisations, or having to adapt to a new community  

- 2 mentioned the positive impact of experiencing a new place of residence, including the distance it 

gave them from the family issues they previously had  

- 2 mentioned psychological/emotional negative repercussions   

- 1 mentioned issues with access to their education provider  

  

19: Have you ever felt like someone is putting pressure on you to text, chat or act in 

a way that makes you uncomfortable?  

Page 193

5



 

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  11  25.00%  14.0%  

No  33  75.00%  74.4%  

Not Sure  0  0%  11.6%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0%  

  

Responses to this question highlight a greater proportion of care leavers (one in four) who have felt that 

someone was putting pressure on them to text, chat or act in ways that made them feel uncomfortable than in 

2019. Equally notable is that no respondent was unsure about this question in 2020, potentially indicating that 

care leavers feel more confident in identifying this type of pressure.  

20: Do you know what to do if someone’s behaviour makes you uncomfortable or 

feel threatened?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  38  86.36%  93.1%  

No  2  4.55%  2.3%  

Not Sure  4  9.09%  2.3%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019.  

21: Do you know how to complain about the services you receive or a worker?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  38  86.36%  72.1%  

No  3  6.82%  16.3%  

Not Sure  3  6.82%  9.3%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

A greater proportion of care leavers feel able to complain about the services they receive or a worker, with 

86.4% claiming they would know how to do so. A smaller proportion of respondents has declared they would 

not know how to complain than in 2019, pointing to care leavers feeling more informed about complaint 

procedures.  

22: Would you feel able to complain about the services you receive or a worker, if 

you needed to?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  39  88.64%  83.7%  

Page 194

5



 

No  4  9.09%  4.7%  

Not Sure  1  2.27%  4.7%  

Not Answered  0  0%  6.9%  

  
No statistically significant change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019. 

Only one care leaver elaborated on this question, mentioning that they would not feel able to complain as they 

previously made a complaint, but this was not kept anonymous. The care leaver felt “threatened and unsafe” 

after the social worker found out and informed the foster carer. The care leaver felt “forced to stay in an 

environment where I felt unhappy and unsafe”.  

23: Do you know who to speak to or where to go about your interests in careers and 

jobs?  

Option  Total  Percent  

Yes  33  75.00%  

No  5  11.36%  

Not Sure  6  13.64%  

Not Answered  0  0%  

  

One in four care leavers know who to speak to about their interest in careers and jobs. This result cannot be 

compared with 2019, as the question is new.  

24: Do you feel like you have enough information on career and education 

opportunities?  

  

Option  Total  Percent  

1 - Strongly Agree  19  43.18%  

2  14  31.82%  

3  8  18.18%  

4  2  4.55%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  1  2.27%  

Not Answered  0  0%  

  

Three in four care leavers agree or strongly agree that they have enough information on career and education 

opportunities. This result cannot be compared with 2019, as the question is new.  

25: What may stop you from being able to find work or volunteering opportunities? 

What could you do about this?  

When talking about barriers, of the care leavers who responded to this question:  

- 10 said their mental/physical health/disability   

Page 195

5



 

- 7 mentioned grades/qualifications/education   

- 3 mentioned relationships with people  

- 2 said nothing would stop them  

- 1 mentioned travelling and lack of experience  

- 1 mentioned caring responsibilities  

- 1 mentioned the current public health emergency  

In terms of what care leavers could do to overcome those obstacles:  

- 4 mentioned speaking to their social worker/carer/other professional  

- 3 mentioned circulating their CV/applying for jobs  

- 2 mentioned determination/resilience  

- 1 mentioned reading and writing  

- 1 mentioned driving lessons  

- 1 mentioned confidence  

For analytical purposes, the question should be split in two in upcoming iterations of the survey.  

  

26: Would you like to have any support to help you achieve your goals? If so, what 

would this be?  

  

Of the care leavers who mentioned requiring support:  

- 5 mentioned support with getting a job or apprenticeship / determining their career pathway   

- 2 mentioned support with working with vulnerable categories (children, the elderly)   

- 2 mentioned support with getting a driving license and traveling  

- 2 mentioned support with alcohol/mental health issues  

- 2 want to stay with their current support worker/carer   

- 2 mentioned financial support (esp. with IT expenses for their education)   

- 1 mentioned they would like to be listened to when it comes to things they would like done  

- 1 mentioned more collaborative working between education, health and care 27: Have you 

heard of Finding your Feet?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  10  22.73%  20.9%  

No  29  65.91%  65.91%  

Not Sure  5  11.36%  7.0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.7%  

  

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019.  

28: Do you receive the Care Council Magazine?  

Page 196

5



 

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  22  50.00%  72.1%  

No  18  40.91%  20.9%  

Not Sure  4  9.09%  2.3%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.7%  

  

A smaller proportion of care leavers declare that they are in receipt of the Care Council magazine in 2020 than 

in 2019. In absence of soft intelligence around whether care leavers were asked whether they wanted to 

receive it, an assumption has been made that a reduction in number of recipients of the magazine represents a 

negative change from last year, when nearly three out of four care leavers were receiving the magazine.  

  

If yes, please tell us what you think of it.  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Very Good  7  31.82%  38.7%  

Good  8  36.36%  16.3%  

Ok  5  22.73%  35.4%  

Poor  1  4.55%  3.2%  

Very Poor  1  4.55%  3.2%  

Not Answered  0  0%  3.2%  

  

A remarkable change in proportions has occurred in terms of respondents who answered that the Care Council 

Magazine is “good”. The change is deemed overall positive, as it is largely fed by a change in the proportion 

of respondents who answered “OK” to this question, although some of this increase is also due to a smaller 

proportion of respondents who deemed the magazine “Very good”.   

29: Would you like the Care Council Magazine sent to you electronically?  

Option  Total  Percent  

Yes  17  38.64%  

No  22  50.00%  

Not Sure  5  11.36%  

Not Answered  0  0%  

  

Half of respondents would not like the magazine to be sent to them electronically; this result cannot be 

compared with 2019 as the question is new.  

30: Do you feel that Surrey Police listens to young people and meets their needs?  

  

Page 197

5



 

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

1 - Strongly Agree  9  20.45%  32.6%  

2  7  15.91%  

3  20  45.45%  34.9%  

4  4  9.09%  27.9%  

5 - Strongly Disagree  4  9.09%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.6%  

  
A smaller proportion of care leavers disagree or strongly disagree that Surrey Police listens to young people 

and meets their needs than in 2019. Importantly, the change in this category is reflected in an increase in the 

neutral response, pointing to respondent attitudes having potentially somewhat shifted from negative to 

neutral, but not to positive.  

Of the care leavers who elaborated on this question, 5 mentioned the police should be better trained in 

working with young people (talk to them more, understand mental health issues, listen more), 1 mentioned 

issues of racism (“The police in Surrey are racist towards black people and people from different 

backgrounds”), 1 said they found it hard to speak to the police based on past experience, and 1 said that the 

police should get things resolved.  

  

31: If you ever felt you had no option but to run away, what do you think the police 

could do to help keep you safe?  

  

Of the care leavers who responded to this question:  

- 10 mentioned listening to/talking through the reasons behind the behaviour   

- 6 mentioned keep the person who ran away safe/find them safe accommodation   

- 3 mentioned keeping the person calm/making them feel at ease  

- 2 mentioned locating the person/taking them back  

- 1 mentioned checking in to establish whether the person who ran away is OK  

- 1 mentioned contacting the next of kin   

32: Would you contact the police if you needed to?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  35  79.55%  74.4%  

No  5  11.36%  14.0%  

Not Sure  4  9.09%  7.0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  4.6%  

  

Page 198

5



 

No remarkable change was observed in any category, reflecting largely the results from 2019. About four in 

five care leavers would contact the police if they needed to, but this highlights that one in five would not seek 

the police’s help or is not sure about whether they would even if they needed to.  

33: Have you seen any Surrey Police social media videos or posts?  
  

Option  Total  Percent  

Yes seen the Targeted. Tested. Trapped. 

#SeeTheBiggerPicture’  

6  13.64%  

Yes but not the one mentioned  3  6.82%  

No  30  68.18%  

I don’t use social media / not applicable to me  4  9.09%  

Other  1  2.27%  

Not Answered  0  0%  

  

Largely, care leavers report not having seen social media videos or posts from Surrey Police. Of those who 

had seen social media material, about three quarters reported seeing the “Targeted. Tested. Trapped. 

#SeeTheBiggerPicture” campaign. No care leavers elaborated on this answer.  

  

34: Please give us any suggestions you have on how the care system could improve.  

  

Of the care leavers who responded to this question:  

- 8 mentioned the need for more/better/more available staff/foster carers/placements   

- 6 mentioned communication/quality of information   

- 6 mentioned listening to young people/their carers and supporting them as much as possible   

- 3 mentioned the need for better staff/foster carer training, specifically around mental health   

- 3 mentioned the need for a better/more regular allowance and a full understanding of entitlement  

- 2 mentioned better support in handling contact with family  

- 2 mentioned more socializing/activities and better support with integrating in the local community  

- 1 mentioned more support with quitting smoking/drinking  

- 1 mentioned serious risks with their housing (presence of drugs, alcohol and weapons)  

- 1 mentioned the need for a better culture of learning in the care system  

- 1 mentioned earlier intervention   

- 1 mentioned better internal communication between departments  

- 1 mentioned the need for complaints to be handled externally  

Three care leavers explicitly commended the care system.  

1: Do you live in Surrey?  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Page 199

5



 

Yes  31  70.45%  65.1%  

No  13  29.55%  30.2%  

Not Sure  0  0%  4.7%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0%  

  

Compared to 2019, in the 2020 survey all respondents answered the question and none of them was unsure as 

to their location. Slightly over 70% of respondents live in Surrey, and while this is a greater proportion than 

2019 the cohort of respondents is very small. Certainty about the respondents’ location being within/outside 

of Surrey is anyway a welcome change from the previous year.  

  

If you answered yes, please tell us what area of Surrey do you live in?  

Option  Total  Percent  

Woking  8  18.18%  

Guildford  3  6.82%  

Waverley  0  0%  

Surrey Heath  1  2.27%  

Mole Valley  1  2.27%  

Runnymede  0  0%  

Spelthorne  4  9.09%  

Elmbridge  1  2.27%  

Epsom and Ewell  2  4.55%  

Reigate and Banstead  5  11.36%  

Tandridge  3  6.82%  

Not Answered  16  36.36%  

  

No comparison from previous years is available on this question.  

2: Are you?  
  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Male  24  54.55%  51.2%  

Female  18  40.91%  48.8%  

Other  2  4.55%  0.0%  

Prefer not to say  0  0%  0.0%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0.0%  

  

Page 200

5



 

The proportion of care leavers across genders has not changed remarkably from 2019; it is however important 

to highlight the presence of two respondents who identify in the “other” category, which was not observed in 

2019.  

3: Which of this age group do you belong to?  
  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

18-19  18  40.91%  62.8%  

20-21  21  47.73%  25.6%  

22-23  5  11.36%  7.0%  

24-25  0  0%  4.6%  

Not Answered  0  0%  0%  

  

A remarkable change has occurred in the composition of the cohort of respondents, with no 24-25 year olds 

completing the questionnaire and a difference observed mainly in the categories 18-19 (lower than 2019) and 

20-21 (higher than 2019). The change has been marked amber, as data on the age of the current cohort of care 

leavers would be required to understand which cohort of respondents better approximates the composition of 

the overall cohort of care leavers.  

4: Which of these best reflects your sexual orientation?  
  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Heterosexual  31  70.45%  79.1%  

Gay or lesbian  1  2.27%  2.3%  

Bisexual  6  13.64%  2.3%  

Other  0  0%  2.3%  

Prefer not to say  6  13.64%  11.7%  

Not Answered  0  0%  2.3%  

  

The 2020 survey has seen a jump in the proportion of care leavers who identify as bisexual. Data on the 

declared sexual orientation of Surrey care leavers is not available, and on this basis it is impossible to 

establish whether the cohort is now more or less representative of the wider care leaver population of Surrey.  

5: Do you consider yourself to have a disability?  
  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

Yes  11  25.00%  32.6%  

No  30  68.18%  53.5%  

Prefer Not to Say  3  6.82%  9.3%  

Page 201

5



 

Not Answered  0  0%  4.6%  

  

Options for answering this question have changed from 2019 to 2020; specifically, “prefer not to say” used to 

be “don’t know” in the previous iteration of the survey. On this basis, results are not entirely comparable. 

Nevertheless, a greater proportion of care leavers declares considering themselves not disabled than in 2020. 

Data from the care leaver cohort on disability would be required to understand whether the cohort is now 

more or less representative; on this basis, the change has provisionally been marked as amber.  

6: Please specify your ethnicity (origin).  

Option  Total  % 2020  % 2019  

British  27  61.36%  65.1%  

Other  3  6.82%  4.7%  

White and Black African  3  6.82%  2.3%  

Pakistani      2.3%  

Any other Asian background; please specify  2  4.55%  7.0%  

African  8  18.18%  16.3%  

Not Answered      2.3%  

No remarkable change in proportion in the ethnicity declared by respondents is observable year on year. Data 

on the ethnicity composition of the overall Surrey care leaver population would be required to understand 

whether the composition of the sample is reflective of the overall population. Care leavers who specified their 

ethnicity were Sri Lankan, Scottish and Afghan (x2).  

  

Page 202

5



Annex 16 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with User Voice and 

Participation officers on 7 August 2020  

 

No Wrong Door Task Group  
Minutes of a meeting with Officers from Surrey County Council’s User Voice and  

Participation Service  
Microsoft Teams  

12 pm on 7 August 2020  

In attendance:  

Councillor Lesley Steeds (Task Group Chairman)  

Councillor Chris Botten   

Councillor Liz Bowes  

Councillor Chris Townsend  

Councillor Barbara Thomson  

Benjamin Awkal, Scrutiny Officer  

Witnesses:  

Jamie-Leigh Clark – Assistant Manager   

Daniel Lee-Grabowski – Officer   

Amy Caddy – Apprentice   

Verritty Omonuwa – Bank worker    

Peter Kiberu – Bank worker   

  

Key points raised during the discussion:  

  

1. The witnesses agreed that the minutes of the meeting could be published.   

  

2. The Assistant Manager explained that the Service was responsible for representing the voice 

of all children and young people in Surrey and influencing service changes. It ran a number of 

participation groups for service users and their parents and carers to ensure their voices 

were heard at board level.   

  

3. A Member asked for the witnesses’ views on the idea to bring together the different people 

who support service users into one team. The Officer liked the idea of having one team 

around a young person; in his experience, children and young people were passed from pillar 

to post by the professionals and teams which supported them. Children and young people 

liked the idea of a solid team which remains with a young person throughout their journey 

into and out of care.   

  

4. A Member commented on the importance of building relationships of trust between workers 

and service users and asked how the council can ensure a consistent and committed work 

force. The Assistant Manager supported the Member’s view but felt that the question would 

be better directed to Human Resources. Citing service users who had had 22 workers in 10 

years, she described changes in worker as hugely impacting service users. The Service 

supported Human Resources by including young people on recruitment panels but was 

unsure of how staff turnover could be reduced. Through the Surrey Children’s Service 

Academy, Surrey County Council was funding some social work students’ studies in exchange  

Page 203

5



for their commitment to working for the council for a fixed period post-qualification. The 

Member requested that the Scrutiny Officer ascertain how many students were participating 

in the scheme.  

  

5. A Member queried the impact of out-of-county residential placements on looked-after 

children. The Assistant Manager said that the Service struggled to engage with children 

placed out of county; however, remote working during the COVID-19 pandemic had enabled 

the Service to better engage looked-after children who were placed out of county. The 

Assistant Manager highlighted the case of care leaver who was attending university outside 

of Surrey and had been unable to access to specialist CAMHS support due to her being 

registered with a non-Surrey GP.   

  

6. A Member stated that bringing more out-of-county service users back into Surrey needed to 

be a priority. The Assistant Manager explained that the Service was to introduce a 

younginspector programme under which young people were to inspect residential 

placements and provide feedback. She added that it was important to remember that each 

service user is an individual and, whilst out-of-county placements are generally undesirable, 

they would be appropriate for some individuals. A related issue was that care leavers could 

only be housed in Surrey and sometimes this created an undesirable transition. The Officer 

supported the Assistant Manager’s comments.  

  

7. A Member requested that the Scrutiny Officer ascertain how many looked-after children 

were placed out of county.  

  

8. A Member referred to information from the Big Survey 2020 indicating that service users 

expected contact from their social workers every six weeks. The Assistant Manager 

explained that the six-week figure was a statutory requirement for two-way contact 

between looked-after children and their social workers; personal advisors were required to 

make two-way contact with care leavers at least every two months. The Assistant Manager 

stated that the six-week figure could put pressure on young people and reiterated that each 

service user is an individual and some would want more or less frequent contact than that 

prescribed by the Regulations.  

  

9. A Member asked the Scrutiny Officer to ascertain what proportion of looked-after children 

are seen by a social worker within six weeks of their previous contact.   

  

10. A Member asked how education and career support was delivered at present and how it 

should be delivered in the future. The Officer believed that a single person or team providing 

such support would not be optimal, a joint effort between the professionals, carers and 

educational settings supporting young people was preferable. The Officer did not believe 

that No Wrong Door model was the most appropriate way of delivering education and 

careers support and believed it would be better to utilise the skills and experience of the 

people who know each service user best; however, signposting from the No Wrong Door to 

specific career and educational support would be appropriate. The Assistant Manager added 

that each looked-after child was assigned a teacher to support their educational 

development and queried how the Virtual School would interact with the No Wrong Door 

model if the latter was introduced.   

  

Page 204

5



11. A Member highlighted that the Big Survey 2020 found that 48% of service users did not 

know what the Virtual School was. The Assistant Manager explained that User Voice and 

Participation was working with the Virtual School to relaunch the service.   

  

12. The Chairman invited the Bank Workers to share their views on the Virtual School. Peter did 

not possess a comprehensive understanding of the Virtual School but believed that it was 

committed to improving its outreach. Verritty agreed that the Virtual School’s outreach 

required improvement, explaining that her only interaction with it as a service user was 

when receiving books and stationery, which it had since stopped providing to looked-after 

children. She commended the commitment and drive of the virtual school’s new Head 

Teacher.   

  

13. The Chairman invited the Bank Workers to share their views on the No Wrong Door model. 

Peter had spoken about the model with several groups of service users. He reported that it 

was important to avoid giving service users unrealistic expectations of the same worker 

supporting them throughout their interaction with services. Peter suggested that under the 

No Wrong Door, if introduced, workers might hold one another to account for the quality of 

the services they provide.  Amy cautioned against describing the No Wrong Door model in a 

way which would lead service users to believe that their No Wrong Door workers would 

remain with them throughout their time in care, as this was not possible to guarantee. The 

Officer believed that the emphasis should be on the team of workers supporting service 

users continuously, rather than the individual professionals. A Member agreed.  

  

14. A Member asked how well the mental and physical health needs of looked-after children 

were met. The Officer commented that mental health support was often not available to 

service users quickly enough to prevent the deterioration of conditions. Looked-after 

children received annual health assessments. The Assistant Manager highlighted that young 

people generally knew who to contact about their health needs and well supported in that 

respect and, in fact, could access more services than young people who are not looked after.  

  

Actions:  

i. For the Scrutiny Officer to ascertain the number of social work students who had 

committed to working for Surrey County Council after they graduate under a scheme run 

by the Surrey Children’s Service Academy.  

  

ii. For the Scrutiny Officer to ascertain how many looked-after children are placed out of 

county.  

  

iii. For the Scrutiny Officer to ascertain what proportion of looked-after children are seen by 

a social worker within six weeks of their previous contact.   

  

Page 205

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 17 – Mean and modal Surrey County Council children’s social 
worker caseloads at 10 September 2020 
 

 

 

Page 207

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 18 – Out-of-area and out-of- county placements 1 September 
                   2018 to 1 September 2020 

 

 

 

 

Page 209

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 19 – Written submission from Lindsey Ellis, Management 
                   Coordinator to Director – Corporate Parenting, dated 17 
                   September 2020 
 

 

 

  

  

  

 
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 211

5



 

 

Page 212

5



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

SUBJECT: REPORT OF THE MENTAL HEALTH TASK GROUP  

 

 SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

1. In November 2018, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee (the 

predecessor to the Adults and Health Select Committee) considered the outcomes of 

an Enter and View Report by Healthwatch Surrey on the Abraham Cowley Unit, an 

inpatient mental health ward operated by Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS 

Foundation Trust. This report highlighted specific challenges around the delivery of 

inpatient mental health services in Surrey. As part of these discussions, Members of 

the Select Committee reflected on how national challenges relating to the treatment 

of mental health were manifesting themselves in Surrey and on the provision of 

services locally. Members recognised that more in-depth consideration was needed 

into how the public sector across Surrey supports people through mental illness to 

ensure the best outcomes for residents in response to the growing burden of mental 

illness. As a result, the Select Committee agreed to form a task group to investigate 

patient experience of adult mental health services in Surrey. 

2. On 8 March 2019, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee 

formally established the cross-party Mental Health Task Group, which would aim to 

map the individual and carer’s journey through adult mental health services in Surrey. 

3. However, due to a combination of Select Committee restructuring and the Covid-19 

pandemic, the Task Group’s work was delayed until the spring of 2020. The Task 

Group members agreed on 20 February 2020 to report back to the new Adults and 

Health Select Committee with its findings and recommendations at the public Select 

Committee meeting on 15 October 2020. At this meeting the Members also agreed 

an outline of the work programme, proposed key lines of enquiry, the methodology to 

be used for interacting with witnesses, and the format of witness sessions. 

4. The Mental Health Task Group scoping document is attached as Annex 1 of the full 

Task Group report (attached to this report as Annex 1) and provides a detailed 

outline of the scope and remit of the Task Group. 

5. The Task Group was initially scheduled to start hearing from witnesses in April 2020 

but these sessions were rescheduled for June 2020 due to the pandemic and took 

place remotely using video conferencing software. 

6. The members of the Task Group were as follows: 

 Nick Darby (Chair) 

 Bernie Muir 

Page 213

5



 Angela Goodwin 

 Chris Botten (Co-opted from the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and 

Culture Select Committee) 

7. The objectives of the Task Group were as follows: 

 Review the journey of adults with mental health conditions in Surrey through 
support services and interventions to assess how their interactions with 
different public sector organisations aid their recovery 

 Assess whether there is integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and 
mental health 

 Identify any potential gaps in the provision of services 

8. Between 8 June 2020 and 1 September 2020, the Task Group conducted 13 
separate evidence-gathering sessions with 41 witnesses from a wide variety of 
organisations. 

9. The Task Group decided to undertake a “bottom up” approach to evidence gathering, 
which would involve speaking to service users and charities in order to identify 
potential gaps in mental health services and areas requiring improvement before 
testing these findings with service providers and commissioners. 

10. A list of the witness sessions conducted by the Task Group is attached as Annex 2 to 
the full Task Group report. 

11. Key lines of enquiry (attached as Annex 3 to the full Task Group report) were 

formulated and agreed by the Task Group before the first witness session took place. 

These were shared with all witnesses in advance of meetings and updated 

throughout the evidence-gathering process in response to findings from each witness 

session. 

 

12. Members were pleased with the number of witnesses they were able to speak to. 

From the outset, a key aim was to ensure representation from a wide range of 

witnesses so that as many views and experiences as possible were represented in 

the Task Group’s findings and recommendations. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that: 

1. Surrey County Council conducts a review of the nature and length of contracts 

currently offered to third sector providers, and that all future contracts are for a 

minimum of five years 

2. Surrey County Council lobbies central government for more funding for mental health 

to enable further initiatives to achieve early intervention, and that a review is 

undertaken of third sector funding 

3. A solution is found to the problems surrounding the sharing of data and IT 

infrastructure between the NHS, Surrey County Council and external providers to 

enable third sector organisations to fully and safely support those in their care, and 

that Surrey County Council and Surrey Heartlands liaise as a matter of urgency 

Page 214

5



4. Public Health undertakes an employer-focused mental health campaign in 2021 to 

help improve employer knowledge about mental health and ensure that Surrey 

employers are aware of how to access courses and training 

5. From 2021, induction-level training in mental health awareness and suicide 

prevention is provided for all Surrey County Council members of staff and councillors, 

as well as all affiliated organisations 

6. From 2021, frontline members of staff and decision makers from all public and health 

organisations in Surrey receive training so they use instructions and terminology with 

service users that are appropriate for those with mental health issues, learning 

disabilities and autism to ensure that those whose conditions are not immediately 

obvious are better served 

7. From 2021, GPs receive regular training to ensure they understand how to use 

resources such as Surrey Information Point and Healthy Surrey, so that primary care 

partners are aware of what mental health services and third sector organisations are 

available in Surrey, and for these resources to be updated by Surrey County Council 

on a regular basis so that health partners can access all of the necessary information 

as easily and quickly as possible 

8. Surrey County Council and Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

explore how they can work more closely together to ensure Surrey County Council 

social workers are involved as early as possible (including at the diagnosis stage) so 

that those with autism, Asperger’s and/or learning disabilities – especially those with 

complex needs – are fully supported and potential mental health issues are identified 

(Please note that details of further recommendations for NHS commissioners and providers 

can be found in the full Task Group report.) 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The recommendations agreed by the Task Group are based on the key themes raised by 

witnesses and the frequency with which these were reported. These themes are outlined in 

detail in the full Task Group report. 

The recommendations are also those that meet the SMART (specific, measurable, 

achievable, realistic and timebound) criteria. 

The Task Group is confident that the recommendations will help improve adult mental health 

services and partnership working across the healthcare system in Surrey. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary:  

Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve the 

Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The public health 

crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the current year. With 

uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the extent to which both 

central and local funding sources might be affected from next year onward, our working 

assumption is that financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for 

Page 215

5



the majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to consider 

issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in 

the medium term. 

The Section 151 Officer recognises that supporting people to maintain good mental health is 

important now more than ever, and supports the proposals set out in this paper to improve 

the provision of Mental Health services across Surrey’s health and social care system.  

Increased funding from government would clearly help Surrey to manage growing demand 

for mental health services and increasing acuity of needs more effectively, and in doing so 

generate whole system efficiencies. However, as set out above, the economic outlook 

means that increased funding is not considered likely and so the Council must plan on the 

basis that the continued delivery of Mental Health services is within the Council’s existing 

financial resources. 

It will therefore be important to clearly identify any investment required from the 

recommendations set out in this report and ensure that there is agreement about how to 

fund these costs within existing resources before this investment is committed. This would 

include initiatives such as the enhanced training offer. 

Effective joint planning with key partners in the NHS and third sector will clearly be essential, 

both to the successful implementation of the proposals set out in the paper (for instance the 

length of contracts for third sector providers) and so that the funding of any investment 

required can be appropriately shared across all partners. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer: 

The recommendations that Cabinet is being asked to consider do not in the main have any 

specific legal implications. However, the suggested review of the nature and length of 

contracts with third sector providers will need to include a consideration of the possible 

application of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the Surrey County Council 

Procurement and Contract Standing Orders. In addition, the review will need to consider the 

extent to which extended contracts are subject to more robust reporting mechanisms or of 

milestone delivery mechanisms. 

What Happens Next: 

The Task Group’s report and recommendations will also be submitted to all relevant NHS 

commissioners and providers. 

Progress made on the Task Group’s recommendations will be reviewed on a six-monthly 

basis, starting in April 2021. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Report author: Nick Darby, Chair of the Mental Health Task Group 

Report contact: Ben Cullimore, Scrutiny Officer 

Contact details: 020 8213 2782, ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk  

Consulted: 

See Annex 2 of the full Task Group report 

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – Report of the Mental Health Task Group 

Page 216

5

mailto:ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk


ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE 

15 OCTOBER 2020 

MENTAL HEALTH TASK GROUP REPORT 

Purpose of report: To provide the Adults and Health Select Committee with a 

detailed report on the findings and recommendations of the Mental Health Task 

Group, which was set up to map the individual and carer’s journey through adult 

mental health services in Surrey 

Acknowledgements: 

1. Members would like to take the opportunity to thank all of those who kindly took the 
time to share their experiences with the Task Group. These invaluable and eye-
opening witness sessions and written submissions helped to shape the findings and 
recommendations of this review. 

2. Any errors, factual inaccuracies or inconsistencies contained within the report are the 
responsibility of the Task Group alone and not those who contributed their knowledge, 
insight and experiences to the formation of this report. 

Introduction: 

Context 

3. In November 2018, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee (the 

predecessor to the Adults and Health Select Committee) considered the outcomes of 

an Enter and View Report by Healthwatch Surrey on the Abraham Cowley Unit, an 

inpatient mental health ward operated by Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS 

Foundation Trust. This report highlighted specific challenges around the delivery of 

inpatient mental health services in Surrey. As part of these discussions, Members of 

the Select Committee reflected on how national challenges relating to the treatment of 

mental health were manifesting themselves in Surrey and on the provision of services 

locally. Members recognised that more in-depth consideration was needed into how 

the public sector across Surrey supports people through mental illness to ensure the 

best outcomes for residents in response to the growing burden of mental illness. As a 

result, the Select Committee agreed to form a task group to investigate patient 

experience of adult mental health services in Surrey. 

4. On 8 March 2019, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee 

formally established the cross-party Mental Health Task Group, which would aim to 

map the individual and carer’s journey through adult mental health services in Surrey. 

5. However, due to a combination of Select Committee restructuring and the Covid-19 

pandemic, the Task Group’s work was delayed until the spring of 2020. The Task 

Group members agreed on 20 February 2020 to report back to the new Adults and 

Page 217

5



Health Select Committee with its findings and recommendations at the public Select 

Committee meeting on 15 October 2020. At this meeting the Members also agreed an 

outline of the work programme, proposed key lines of enquiry, the methodology to be 

used for interacting with witnesses, and the format of witness sessions. 

6. The Mental Health Task Group scoping document is attached to this report as Annex 1 

and provides a detailed outline of the scope and remit of the Task Group. 

7. The Task Group was initially scheduled to start hearing from witnesses in April 2020 

but these sessions were rescheduled for June 2020 due to the pandemic and took 

place remotely using video conferencing software. 

8. The members of the Task Group were as follows: 

 Nick Darby (Chair) 

 Bernie Muir 

 Angela Goodwin 

 Chris Botten (Co-opted from the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and 

Culture Select Committee) 

Task Group Methodology 

Objectives 

9. The objectives of the Task Group were as follows: 

 Review the journey of adults with mental health conditions in Surrey through 
support services and interventions to assess how their interactions with different 
public sector organisations aid their recovery 

 Assess whether there is integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and 
mental health 

 Identify any potential gaps in the provision of services 

Witness Sessions 

10. Between 8 June 2020 and 1 September 2020, the Task Group conducted 13 separate 
evidence-gathering sessions with 40 witnesses from a wide variety of organisations. 

11. The Task Group decided to undertake a “bottom up” approach to evidence gathering, 
which would involve speaking to service users and charities in order to identify 
potential gaps in mental health services and areas requiring improvement before 
testing these findings with service providers and commissioners. 

12. A list of the witness sessions conducted by the Task Group is attached as Annex 2. 

13. Key lines of enquiry (attached as Annex 3) were formulated and agreed by the Task 
Group before the first witness session took place. These were shared with all 
witnesses in advance of meetings and updated throughout the evidence-gathering 
process in response to findings from each witness session. 

Page 218

5



14. Members were pleased with the number of witnesses they were able to speak to. From 
the outset, a key aim was to ensure representation from a wide range of witnesses so 
that as many views and experiences as possible were represented in the Task Group’s 
findings and recommendations. 

Written Evidence 

15. Due to the sensitive nature of the areas examined by the Task Group, some witnesses, 
particularly mental health service users, understandably did not feel comfortable 
speaking with Members directly but still wanted to explain their experiences of using 
services in Surrey. To help facilitate this, a questionnaire was formulated (attached as 
Annex 4), which was circulated to mental health service users and carers through a 
range of organisations and charities. 

16. In total the Task Group received 17 responses to its call for evidence, and the findings 
from these completed questionnaires are examined in more detail in the following 
section of the report. 

Key Themes Emerging from the Witness Sessions 

17. Mental health is a complex issue with a wide range of contributing factors, and, in order 

to understand these as fully as possible, this meant that the remit of the Task Group’s 

work was necessarily broad. Members were keen to ensure that the Task Group’s 

findings were grouped together in themes to help the Council and partner 

organisations better understand its findings and the experiences put forward by mental 

health service users. 

18. The following section takes each of the themes in turn, outlining its role in relation to 

the delivery of mental health services, the evidence the Task Group has gathered, and 

thoughts on potential solutions. 

Service Users 

19. The Task Group decided to undertake a “bottom up” approach to evidence gathering, 

which would involve speaking to service users and patients to hear their vital first-hand 

experience of mental health services. 

20. On 8 June 2020, the Task Group conducted a two-part evidence-gathering session 

with the Oakleaf Enterprise, a Guildford-based charity that works to foster confidence 

and reduce social isolation by actively training, engaging and supporting individuals 

with mental ill-health to empower them to participate as active members of society. The 

first hour of the session was spent speaking with members of staff. The second 

concentrated on hearing from a group of Oakleaf Enterprise users who had experience 

of using mental health services in Surrey. 

21. As outlined in Paragraphs 15 and 16, the Task Group also received 17 questionnaire 

responses from service users and carers. Many of the experiences detailed in these 

responses echoed what Members heard when speaking with Oakleaf Enterprise users, 

and examples of the key themes identified are outlined below. 

Page 219

5



Mental health service users being “caught between two stools” 

22. One of the key themes identified when speaking with mental health service users was 

a feeling that many had experienced being “caught between two stools” in terms of 

qualifying for treatment. The Task Group heard that users might be referred by a GP to 

a specific service provider but not qualify for the treatments on offer, leaving them 

stuck in limbo and unsure where to turn. 

23. During the Oakleaf Enterprise witness session, the Task Group spoke to a service user 

who felt forced, out of desperation as a result of her negative experiences with mental 

health services in Surrey, to use her disability and employment benefit allowance to 

pay £80 for half-an-hour private counselling sessions. The user explained that they had 

struggled with obsessive compulsive disorder, agoraphobia, anxiety and depression 

but had been unable to access what they felt were adequate treatment services, 

leaving them reliant on a combination of medication, private counselling and third 

sector organisations. 

24. Similarly, another service user described how they had been referred to Community 

Mental Health Recovery Services (CMHRS) on several occasions but each time had 

been told that they did not reach the threshold needed to qualify for the treatments on 

offer. Like many others the Task Group heard from, this left them reliant on the 

services offered by third sector organisations, as well as Safe Havens when 

experiencing mental health crises out of hours. 

25. Evidence gathered by the Task Group from mental health service users highlighted a 

widespread feeling that third sector organisations were being asked to “pick up the 

pieces” when those struggling with mental health issues were caught between two 

stools and unable to qualify for treatment. The Task Group heard countless examples 

of the important work being done by third sector organisations and the issues facing 

them regarding funding. This will be examined in more detail later in the report. 

Lack of communication between different services 

26. Another key theme identified when speaking with mental health service users was the 

feeling there was a lack of communication between different services. A common issue 

raised by users related to the need to repeat their stories multiple times as they moved 

between services. This, combined with a lack of communication and partnership 

working, prevented any sort of continuity being developed. Similarly, several users 

explained that they rarely saw the same GP twice, denying them the opportunity to 

form a positive and helpful relationship with a GP that understood their background 

and needs. 

27. It is important to emphasise that not all experiences described to the Task Group were 

negative. Some users also spoke about how helpful their GPs had been in referring 

them to the appropriate mental health services. However, the impression gained by 

Members was that it was largely down to luck whether a patient saw a GP who 

understood mental health issues and had the knowledge required to ensure they 

received the best advice and treatment. 

Page 220

5



28. All the individuals the Task Group spoke to noted the difficulties in sharing patient 

records, which represented one of the main barriers to better communication between 

the different pathways in Surrey. Members heard that General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR) rules prevented GPs from sharing records with third sector 

organisations, making it harder for important information to be passed to those trying to 

support those in their care. 

29. Furthermore, many users seemed unaware that they could ask for their medical 

records to be released to mental health services and third sector organisations, 

highlighting a potential solution to one of the most frustrating and time-consuming 

issues facing someone attempting to navigate a myriad of different services. This was 

particularly the case when users were asked to self-refer to a specific mental health 

service or third sector organisation after visiting a GP. Unless they specifically asked 

for their medical records to be released and passed on to these services, they would 

not be made available. 

30. Related to this was a lack of continuity because there was no central place for records 

and information relating to the services accessed by users. Users explained to the 

Task Group that they had to specifically ask for services to report back to their GP, 

forcing users to spend time repeating their stories in an attempt to ensure all services 

were aware of their treatment history. 

31. The Task Group heard that a significant barrier to the sharing of information related to 

problems with a lack of uniformity in the IT infrastructure used by Surrey County 

Council, NHS partners and third sector organisations. This made it difficult to transfer 

data between organisations and was a further cause of users having to repeat their 

stories multiple times as they journeyed through mental health services. 

32. Related to issues surrounding the sharing of information and users having to repeat 

their stories multiple times was the problem with staff retention in mental health 

services. The Task Group heard this was one of the biggest challenges facing the 

health sector and one that put significant pressure on current staff, leading to higher 

turnover. This difficulty in retaining staff could also lead to patients having to tell the 

same story multiple times, exacerbating an already serious problem for mental health 

service users. 

33. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that GPs, when referring 

patients, ensure that all relevant information is passed on so that patients avoid 

repeating their stories multiple times, and that GPs ensure they explain to 

patients, both those they are referring and those who are self-referring, how they 

can release their medical records to mental health services. 

34. Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that a solution is found to the problems 

surrounding the sharing of data and IT infrastructure between the NHS, Surrey 

County Council and external providers to enable third sector organisations to 

fully and safely support those in their care, and that Surrey County Council and 

Surrey Heartlands liaise as a matter of urgency. 

Lack of patient involvement in care planning 

Page 221

5



35. While the mental health service users the Task Group met with spoke positively about 

the treatment offered by third sector organisations, many said they had experienced a 

lack of involvement in their care planning when engaging with NHS organisations. 

36. Further to this, several spoke about feeling as if they had been “put in a box” by the 

clinical approach, whereas treatments and services offered by third sector 

organisations were more tailored to their needs. 

37. Members were concerned to hear that some of the service users they spoke to had 

either given up on the NHS route to treatment or were in the process of doing so as a 

result of negative experiences. As previously mentioned, the result of this was the Task 

Group gaining the perception that third sector organisations were being asked to pick 

up the pieces because of issues service users had with the clinical approach to mental 

health treatment. This put further strain on their resources and forced them to stretch 

their budgets even further. 

38. As the Task Group’s evidence-gathering sessions took place during the Covid-19 

pandemic, Members heard about the many ways care was being delivered to mental 

health service users. Witnesses explained that most meetings, appointments and 

therapy sessions (particularly those that took place during the early stages of the 

pandemic and subsequent lockdown restrictions) had been taking place online using 

remote meeting software, and many of the mental health service users spoken to by 

the Task Group spoke about how impressed they were with what was on offer. 

39. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that all health providers 

and commissioners ensure that the use of remote meeting software remains an 

option for future meetings, appointments and therapy sessions to ensure that 

location and access issues are not a barrier to participation. 

Difficulties relating to the transition between children’s and adult mental health services 

40. While the Task Group’s focus was on adult mental health services in Surrey, several 

witnesses spoke about the difficulties relating to the transition between children’s and 

adult mental health services, and how this period often left users at serious risk of 

falling between two stools in terms of qualifying for treatment. 

41. There was a feeling among many of the witnesses spoken to by the Task Group that it 

sometimes took too long for engagement to take place with those transitioning, and 

that, when it did, what was being offered was often not suitable. 

42. The Task Group also heard that the transition from children’s to adult mental health 

services was a system-wide issue that health partners were working to improve. It was 

explained to Members that there was a recommendation in the NHS Long Term Plan 

that provision should cover the ages 0-25, but this piece of work was in its infancy in 

Surrey. 

43. Further to this, Members heard that, under the current transition arrangements, when 

people reached the ages of 17-19 they were moved into a “waiting room” for adult 

mental health services, which could be a challenging change from children’s services. 

Page 222

5



The aim was to create a seamless service that bridged the gap between children’s and 

adult services. 

44. The difficulties relating to the transition period were also raised during discussions 

around the new General Practice Integrated Mental Health Service (GPIMHS), with 

part of this looking at how to best support those mental health service users between 

the ages of 18 and 25. 

45. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that the Children, 

Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee conducts a similarly 

broad and wide-ranging mental health journey task group concentrating on both 

children and those transitioning to adult mental health services. 

Third Sector and Charity Organisations 

46. In total, the Task Group spoke with 13 representatives from six different third sector 

and charity organisations over the course of four separate evidence-gathering 

sessions. Members of staff and volunteers from the Oakleaf Enterprise, Independent 

Mental Health Network, Action for Carers, Catalyst, Mary Frances Trust, Richmond 

Fellowship and National Autistic Society all kindly took the time to share their 

experiences with the Task Group, and the key themes from their witness sessions are 

outlined below. 

Lack of primary care understanding of what services third sector organisations offer 

47. One of the key findings from the Task Group’s evidence-gathering sessions was a 

feeling among third sector organisations that primary care professionals were not 

aware of the services they offered. Several witnesses spoke about the difficulty they 

faced in getting their names in front of GPs and issues relating to the speed at which 

these referrals were sometimes made. 

48. A representative from one of the third sector organisations explained how, in their 

experience, referrals from GPs were usually fairly quick when the GP was aware of the 

third sector organisation and what services it offered. However, a lack of understanding 

of where patients could be signposted and the most appropriate services available to 

them had a detrimental impact on this process. 

49. It was explained to the Task Group that this had always been a difficulty for third sector 

organisations and was something they were constantly trying to improve. Similarly, 

Members heard from GPs during separate evidence-gathering sessions that third 

sector organisations were often unknown to them, and this was particularly the case for 

locum GPs or those without a personal interest in mental health. 

50. The Task Group heard about resources such as Surrey Information Point and Healthy 

Surrey, which can be used to identify appropriate health, care and wellbeing services. 

However, Members were concerned that these were not widely used by GPs when 

referring patients to mental health services. This ran the risk of patients not being 

referred to the right services, resulting in them being unsure where to turn. 

Page 223

5



51. Furthermore, the Task Group also heard that, while Surrey Information Point was seen 

as being a useful resource for GPs, some found it difficult to use and were unable to 

find what they were looking for. This further complicated matters when attempting to 

refer patients to the right services. 

52. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, GPs 

receive regular training to ensure they understand how to use resources such as 

Surrey Information Point and Healthy Surrey, so that primary care partners are 

aware of what mental health services and third sector organisations are available 

in Surrey, and for these resources to be updated by Surrey County Council on a 

regular basis so that health partners can access all of the necessary information 

as easily and quickly as possible. 

53. Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, meetings involving CCG 

leads and third sector organisations take place on at least an annual basis to 

help facilitate stronger partnership working and understanding, and that all 

stakeholders, including third sector organisations, are represented at all 

meetings and committees that impact the work of the third sector and external 

providers. 

Difficulties relating to lack of funding and length of contracts 

54. Another key issue raised during witness sessions with representatives from third sector 

organisations concerned funding difficulties and problems relating to the length of 

contracts offered to them when services are commissioned. 

55. During the evidence-gathering session with representatives from the Oakleaf 

Enterprise, the Task Group heard that, as a result of a significant rise in the number of 

referrals being made to them, the client to staff ratio at the organisation was increasing 

but the funding they receive was not matching the increase in demand. There was a 

feeling among many of the third sector organisation representatives that they were 

being asked to do more with the same amount of funding as before, and that, as 

outlined earlier in the report, they were having to pick up the pieces when mental 

health service users “fell between two stools”. 

56. It was also explained to the Task Group that third sector organisations often found 

themselves restricted by short-term contracts, and that this made it difficult to plan for 

the future. Limited contracts meant more of their efforts were spent bidding for these, 

which was time consuming and a barrier to them dedicating more of their resources to 

clients. 

57. Further to this, a representative of one third sector organisation explained that 

Community Connections had been contracted for approximately eight years without 

any uplift during that time, despite the fact that the number of clients they were dealing 

with had increased by over 100%. 

58. There was a feeling among the third sector organisation representatives that 

procurement law had not kept up to date with the system, and that this had resulted in 

Page 224

5



voluntary sector organisations being seen as having to go to tender for contracts rather 

than being treated as statutory partners. 

59. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that Surrey County 

Council conducts a review of the nature and length of contracts currently offered 

to third sector providers, and that all future contracts are for a minimum of five 

years. 

60. Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that Surrey County Council lobbies 

central government for more funding for mental health to enable further 

initiatives to achieve early intervention, and that a review is undertaken of third 

sector funding. 

Inability to refer to Community Mental Health Recovery Services and Community Mental 

Health Teams 

61. During conversations with third sector organisation representatives, the Task Group 

also discussed difficulties regarding not only patients being referred to the third sector 

but the third sector’s inability to refer to Community Mental Health Recovery Services 

and Community Mental Health Teams. 

62. This one-way approach to referring patients, coupled with issues relating to funding 

and the length of contracts, has resulted in there being a perception among third sector 

organisations that they are not seen by NHS and Council colleagues as being equal 

partners. As one witness said, some see third sector organisations as being purely 

“well-intentioned amateurs”, and this perception risks having a detrimental impact on 

residents who rely on the services and support offered by third sector organisations. 

63. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that third sector 

organisations are given the ability to refer to Community Mental Health Recovery 

Services and Community Mental Health Teams to ensure that those with mental 

health issues are signposted to the services that are right for them and their 

needs. 

Lack of employer knowledge about mental health 

64. Members heard about the work third sector organisations did with employers but were 

concerned to hear that, historically, there had been a lack of knowledge among 

employers in Surrey about mental health issues. 

65. However, it was explained to Members that one positive to come out of the Covid-19 

pandemic would hopefully be a greater awareness and understanding of mental health 

issues from employers. Third sector organisations such as the Oakleaf Enterprise had 

seen an increase in both engagement and referrals since the start of the pandemic as 

employers became more aware of both their own and their employees’ mental health 

and emotional wellbeing, and steps were in place to ensure that this important work 

could continue into the future. 

Page 225

5



66. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that Public Health 

undertakes an employer-focused mental health campaign in 2021 to help 

improve employer knowledge about mental health and ensure that Surrey 

employers are aware of how to access courses and training. 

GPs 

67. The Task Group held two separate witness sessions in order to hear evidence from 

GPs, all of whom were Mental Health Clinical Leads representing different parts of the 

county. The key themes from these witness sessions, and related points raised during 

evidence-gathering sessions with other witnesses, are outlined below. 

Training 

68. One of the key issues identified by the Task Group during its conversations with 

primary care representatives related to the level of mental health-specific training 

received by GPs. Members heard that while some mental health training was available, 

it was largely left to individual GPs to decide if they wanted to put themselves forward 

for it. Furthermore, it was explained to the Task Group that many aspects of GP 

training were compulsory, such as data protection and fire safety, but not mental 

health. 

69. Members also heard that it was often down to luck whether a GP practice had a 

partner that specialised in, or had any significant knowledge of, mental health issues. 

This could often cause problems for patients presenting with suspected mental health 

issues, as a lack of training and knowledge on the part of the GP could result in them 

receiving inadequate care and advice. 

70. Related to this was the issue of integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and 

mental health. The Task Group discussed the important role mental health training 

could play in ensuring that GPs were able to identify mental health issues when 

patients presented with physical health complaints. This would help to improve the 

parity of esteem between the treatment of physical and mental health and would 

ensure that the latter was always a key focus of every GP appointment. 

71. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, GPs 

receive additional mental health top-up training on an annual basis, and that at 

least one GP per practice has undertaken more specialist mental health training. 

As GPs are often the first healthcare professionals spoken to by those with mental 

health issues, and because they are then relied on to signpost patients to appropriate 

services, the Task Group believes it is imperative for as much mental health-specific 

training as possible to be made available to GPs, and for their initial training to be as 

comprehensive as possible, to ensure that residents receive the best possible care and 

advice. 

72. Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that each primary care network in Surrey 

nominates a mental health champion to help strengthen partnership working 

across the primary care system. 

Page 226

5



73. One of the Mental Health Clinical Leads also spoke about a voluntary mental health 

diploma that was previously offered by Surrey Heartlands, which was run one day per 

month for a year, with GPs writing a final report with case studies at its conclusion. 

74. The Mental Health Clinical Lead spoke highly of the scheme. Therefore, the Task 

Group recommends that the Surrey Heartlands mental health diploma is re-

established and offered to all GPs in Surrey. 

Lack of understanding of what services third sector organisations offer and problems with 

patient referrals 

75. Another key issue identified by the Task Group was related to a lack of understanding 

among GPs of what services were offered by third sector organisations, and, as a 

result, the negative impact this could have on patient referrals. 

76. The Task Group heard that GPs were often unaware of what services were offered by 

third sector organisations and where the most appropriate place was to signpost their 

patients. Despite good communication by Community Connections and other third 

sector organisations, GPs often felt that, due to the sheer number of different services 

in Surrey, it was a case of “information overload”. GPs spoke about finding it hard to 

keep track of changes to services and contact details, with this being a particular 

concern for locum GPs who might not be well informed on what services were 

available locally. 

77. Related to this were issues with patient referrals, both to third sector organisations and 

other mental health services. Members heard that GPs were often left frustrated when 

referring a patient to a specific organisation only to be told that they did not meet the 

criteria needed for treatment. Difficulties with referring to alternative organisations 

could result in patients falling between two stools, leaving them unsure where to go for 

treatment. 

78. The Task Group was told that some consultants had criticised the quality of referrals 

and that there were GPs who were overly reliant on the referring of patients to other 

services and organisations. A potential solution to this problem was the GP-consultant 

text system, which can be used when GPs would like a consultant to answer a small 

query but do not require a detailed answer. Members heard that the system worked 

well and resulted in information being quickly passed on to GPs, but it was not yet 

available for mental health-related questions.  

79. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that the GP-consultant 

text system is expanded to include questions relating to mental health concerns. 

Use of appropriate language when dealing with service users 

80. A further issue identified by the Task Group concerned the appropriate use of 

language when dealing with service users. During a witness session with a 

representative from Action for Carers, Members heard about a patient with autism and 

mental health issues who was misdiagnosed by a GP due to their misunderstanding of 

the questions being asked. 

Page 227

5



81. The Task Group heard from carers of people with autism and mental health issues that 

they had experienced problems with members of staff from healthcare organisations 

due to the language being used. Some felt that there was too much reliance on 

“jargon”. Others spoke about a lack of understanding of the best ways to communicate 

with someone who might have learning disabilities and/or autism. 

82. Further to this, the carers spoken to by the Task Group explained that sometimes 

clinicians did not involve carers during the whole process due to confidentiality issues. 

Members heard about the importance of engaging with carers as early as possible and 

the issues that could arise when carers were not fully involved in the process treating 

someone with mental ill health. 

83. As a result of the conversations had with carers of people with autism and mental 

health issues, the Task Group recommends that Surrey County Council and Surrey 

and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust explore how they can work more 

closely together to ensure Surrey County Council social workers are involved as 

early as possible (including at the diagnosis stage) so that those with autism, 

Asperger’s and/or learning disabilities – especially those with complex needs – 

are fully supported and potential mental health issues are identified. 

84. The Task Group also recommends that, from 2021, frontline members of staff and 

decision makers from all public and health organisations in Surrey receive 

training so they use instructions and terminology with service users that are 

appropriate for those with mental health issues, learning disabilities and autism 

to ensure that those whose conditions are not immediately obvious are better 

served. 

85. Further to this, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, induction-level training 

in mental health awareness and suicide prevention is provided for all Surrey 

County Council members of staff and councillors, as well as all affiliated 

organisations. 

Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

86. The Task Group held two separate witness sessions in order to hear evidence from 

representatives from Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SABP), 

the provider of mental health services in Surrey. The first was attended by Professor 

Helen Rostill, Chief Innovation Officer & Director of Therapies, while the Task Group 

used the second to speak to Heather Caudle, Chief Nursing Officer, and Lorna Payne, 

Chief Operating Officer. 

General Practice Integrated Mental Health Service (GPIMHS) 

87. Several of the witnesses spoken to by the Task Group mentioned GPIMHS, which 

SABP and Frimley Health and Care Partnership, in partnership with primary care 

networks, were piloting across 13 different locations in Surrey. Members were 

encouraged by the positive feedback that had been received so far. 

Page 228

5



88. Witnesses explained that the GPIMHS initiative would offer to patients extended 

appointments with mental health experts from the NHS, social care and specialist third 

sector organisations, as well as access to therapies, physical health checks and 

pharmacists, in their local GP practices and communities. The aim of GPIMHS was to 

intervene at an early stage and bridge the gap between primary and secondary care. 

This would ensure that patients, particularly those who did not meet the criteria for local 

mental health services, could receive a greater level of support than could be offered in 

a normal GP appointment. 

89. The Task Group heard that, based on their initial experiences of the service, the leads 

of the primary care networks in Surrey Heartlands were keen to extend the model once 

the piloting stage had been concluded. Members were encouraged by the feedback 

they received from GPs and third sector organisations who had been involved in the 

rollout of the service. 

90. It was explained to Members that one of the main strengths of GPIMHS was its focus 

on bringing together partners from a multitude of different services and organisations – 

something that the Task Group had identified as being a significant barrier to mental 

health service users receiving care that was right for their individual needs. 

91. Members were also encouraged to hear from third sector organisations that they were 

confident GPIMHS would help improve what had historically been low levels of 

referrals from GPs, and that, by being based in GP surgeries, the primary care 

professionals would gain a greater understanding of the services offered by third sector 

organisations, making the process of referring patients easier and quicker. 

92. As a result of these findings, the Task Group welcomes the progress made to date. It 

recommends GPIMHS continues to be rolled out across Surrey and receives the 

funding needed to ensure its continued operation, and that a report on the 

progress made and future plans is presented to the Adults and Health Select 

Committee no later than October 2021. 

Abraham Cowley Unit, St Peter’s Hospital 

93. One of the Task Group’s main concerns at the beginning of its evidence-gathering 

process (and an issue which played a key role in its formation) was the suitability of, 

and future plans for, the Abraham Cowley Unit (ACU) at St Peter’s Hospital. Members 

spent a significant amount of time discussing this issue during the two witness 

sessions held with representatives from SABP. 

94. The Task Group heard that, in April and May 2020, two patients took their lives at the 

ACU, resulting in both an independent SABP investigation and Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) inspection taking place in an attempt to understand how these 

deaths had happened and what could be done to avoid similar incidents happening in 

the future. The CQC’s report on its inspection was published on 8 September 2020 and 

was considered by the Task Group as part of its evidence-gathering process. 

95. It was explained to Members that, as a result of the internal investigation and CQC 

inspection, SABP had formulated an action plan, which outlined how the organisation 

Page 229

5



would respond to the concerns raised and the improvements they were planning to 

make. 

96. SABP representatives explained that they were planning to replace the ACU with a 

more fit-for-purpose, modern facility. This would result in the removal of all dormitories 

and their replacement with individual rooms for patients with en-suite facilities. A two-

phase approach would be undertaken, and this would involve demolishing the groups 

and therapies section of the building to build new wards, into which patients would be 

moved while the remainder of the new facility was completed. 

97. The Task Group also heard that SABP had considered a one-phase approach to the 

rebuilding of the ACU, but as this would involve relocating all patients away from the 

facility, and most likely outside of Surrey, while construction was taking place, it had 

been decided that the two-phase approach was the most suitable and least intrusive 

option. However, SABP representatives confirmed that some patients would still have 

to be moved away from the ACU under the two-phase approach. 

98. While acknowledging that there was now a plan in place to make much-needed 

improvements to the ACU, Members expressed disappointment at the time it had taken 

to reach that point. It was highlighted that the Health Integration and Commissioning 

Select Committee had been informed about plans to improve the ACU in November 

2018 but that little or no progress seemed to have been made since then. Further to 

this, Members were disappointed that delays meant the new facilities would not be fully 

operational until the third quarter of 2024. 

99. The Task Group notes the plans in place to improve facilities at the ACU and 

recommends that the production of the final business case is progressed urgently 

and implemented with the utmost speed and no further delays. It also requests 

that a report on the progress made and future plans is presented to the Adults 

and Health Select Committee no later than October 2021. 

Safe Havens and access to services out of hours 

100. A further issue identified by the Task Group concerned the five Safe Havens in Surrey. 

These offer out of hours help and support to people and their carers who are 

experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional distress. 

101. The Task Group heard from several witnesses about the important role played by Safe 

Havens in ensuring adults had a safe alternative to A&E when in crisis, but Members 

were concerned that, due to Safe Havens only being available until 11pm, there were 

few options available to people experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional 

distress during the night. 

102. During its witness session with representatives from Surrey Police and the British 

Transport Police, the Task Group heard that it was often difficult for these 

organisations to signpost people to services if they were experiencing a mental health 

crisis either late at night or in the early hours of the morning. This left the police alone 

to handle mental health-related crises and emergencies during the night, with their only 

option often being to take people to A&E to receive medical treatment. Several 

Page 230

5



witnesses spoke about how unsuitable an environment A&E was for somebody 

experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional distress. The Task Group was 

concerned to hear that there was often no choice but to refer people to A&E due to the 

lack of alternative out of hours services. 

103. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that health commissioners 

obtain funding to undertake a modelling exercise and, if funding permits, a pilot 

study focusing on what patient outcomes could be achieved by extending 

opening hours for Safe Havens in Surrey and operating them throughout the 

night, to ensure that people experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional 

distress, and the police officers who are often relied on to support them, are no 

longer left without any option but to attend A&E to receive help. 

Conclusions: 

104. Throughout the course of its work, the Task Group received an invaluable amount of 

evidence from witnesses covering a broad range of areas and issues. Members of the 

Task Group would like to thank all who took the time to engage with the group and 

share their experiences. 

105. Details of these experiences have been summarised in the report, and the evidence 

gathered at witness sessions has helped the group formulate a series of 

recommendations for consideration by the Adults and Health Select Committee, Surrey 

County Council’s Cabinet and health partners. 

106. The recommendations agreed by the Task Group are based on the key themes raised 

by witnesses and the frequency with which these were reported. The recommendations 

are also those that meet the SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and 

timebound) criteria. 

107. The Task Group is confident that the recommendations contained within this report will 

help improve adult mental health services and partnership working across the 

healthcare system in Surrey. 

Recommendations: 

The Mental Health Task Group recommends that: 

i. GPs, when referring patients, ensure that all relevant information is passed on so that 

patients avoid repeating their stories multiple times, and that GPs ensure they 

explain to patients, both those they are referring and those who are self-referring, 

how they can release their medical records to mental health services 

ii. From 2021, GPs receive additional mental health top-up training on an annual basis, 

and that at least one GP per practice has undertaken more specialist mental health 

training 

Page 231

5



iii. From 2021, GPs receive regular training to ensure they understand how to use 

resources such as Surrey Information Point and Healthy Surrey, so that primary care 

partners are aware of what mental health services and third sector organisations are 

available in Surrey, and for these resources to be updated by Surrey County Council 

on a regular basis so that health partners can access all of the necessary information 

as easily and quickly as possible 

iv. Each primary care network in Surrey nominates a mental health champion to help 

strengthen partnership working across the primary care system 

v. A solution is found to the problems surrounding the sharing of data and IT 

infrastructure between the NHS, Surrey County Council and external providers to 

enable third sector organisations to fully and safely support those in their care, and 

that Surrey County Council and Surrey Heartlands liaise as a matter of urgency 

vi. The GP-consultant text system is expanded to include questions relating to mental 

health concerns 

vii. Third sector organisations are given the ability to refer to Community Mental Health 

Recovery Services and Community Mental Health Teams to ensure that those with 

mental health issues are signposted to the services that are right for them and their 

needs 

viii. From 2021, meetings involving CCG leads and third sector organisations take place 

on at least an annual basis to help facilitate stronger partnership working and 

understanding, and that all stakeholders, including third sector organisations, are 

represented at all meetings and committees that impact the work of the third sector 

and external providers 

ix. All health providers and commissioners ensure that the use of remote meeting 

software remains an option for future meetings, appointments and therapy sessions 

to ensure that location and access issues are not a barrier to participation 

x. Surrey County Council conducts a review of the nature and length of contracts 

currently offered to third sector providers, and that all future contracts are for a 

minimum of five years 

xi. Surrey County Council lobbies central government for more funding for mental health 

to enable further initiatives to achieve early intervention, and that a review is 

undertaken of third sector funding 

xii. Public Health undertakes an employer-focused mental health campaign in 2021 to 

help improve employer knowledge about mental health and ensure that Surrey 

employers are aware of how to access courses and training 

xiii. From 2021, induction-level training in mental health awareness and suicide 

prevention is provided for all Surrey County Council members of staff and councillors, 

as well as all affiliated organisations 

Page 232

5



xiv. From 2021, frontline members of staff and decision makers from all public and health 

organisations in Surrey receive training so they use instructions and terminology with 

service users that are appropriate for those with mental health issues, learning 

disabilities and autism to ensure that those whose conditions are not immediately 

obvious are better served 

xv. Surrey County Council and Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

explore how they can work more closely together to ensure Surrey County Council 

social workers are involved as early as possible (including at the diagnosis stage) so 

that those with autism, Asperger’s and/or learning disabilities – especially those with 

complex needs – are fully supported and potential mental health issues are identified 

xvi. The Surrey Heartlands mental health diploma is re-established and offered to all GPs 

in Surrey 

xvii. Health commissioners obtain funding to undertake a modelling exercise and, if 

funding permits, a pilot study focusing on what patient outcomes could be achieved 

by extending opening hours for Safe Havens in Surrey and operating them 

throughout the night, to ensure that people experiencing a mental health crisis or 

emotional distress, and the police officers who are often relied on to support them, 

are no longer left without any option but to attend A&E to receive help 

xviii. The General Practice Integrated Mental Health Service continues to be rolled out 

across Surrey and receives the funding needed to ensure its continued operation, 

and that a report on the progress made and future plans is presented to the Adults 

and Health Select Committee no later than October 2021 

xix. The production of the final business case for the improvements to the Abraham 

Cowley Unit is progressed urgently and implemented with the utmost speed and no 

further delays. It also requests that a report on the progress made and future plans is 

presented to the Adults and Health Select Committee no later than October 2021 

xx. The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee conducts a 

similarly broad and wide-ranging mental health journey task group concentrating on 

both children and those transitioning to adult mental health services 

Next steps: 

108. The Task Group’s report will be considered by the Adults and Health Select Committee 

on Thursday 15 October, and relevant recommendations will be submitted to Cabinet 

on Tuesday 27 October. 

109. The Task Group’s report and recommendations will also be submitted to all relevant 

NHS commissioners and providers. 

110. Progress made on the Task Group’s recommendations will be reviewed on a six-

monthly basis, starting in April 2021. 

 

Page 233

5



Report author: Nick Darby, Chair of the Mental Health Task Group 

Report contact: Ben Cullimore, Scrutiny Officer 

Contact details: 020 8213 2782, ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk 

Sources/background papers: 

Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee meeting minutes – 7 November 

2018 

Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee meeting minutes – 8 March 2019 

Community Vision for Surrey in 2030 

Surrey Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: Wellbeing and Adult Mental Health 

How to Help: Exploring How Mental Health Services Can Support Emotional Wellbeing 

Healthwatch Surrey Enter and View: Abraham Cowley Unit 

Five Year Forward View for Mental Health 

NHS Long Term Plan 

CQC Abraham Cowley Unit Inspection Report – 8 September 2020 

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – Mental Health Task Group scoping document 

Annex 2 – Mental Health Task Group witness sessions  

Annex 3 – Mental Health Task Group key lines of enquiry 

Annex 4 – Mental Health Task Group questionnaire 

Page 234

5

mailto:ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/g6542/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2007-Nov-2018%2010.00%20Health%20Integration%20and%20Commissioning%20Select%20Committee.pdf?T=11
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/g6542/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2007-Nov-2018%2010.00%20Health%20Integration%20and%20Commissioning%20Select%20Committee.pdf?T=11
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/g6543/Printed%20minutes%20Friday%2008-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Health%20Integration%20and%20Commissioning%20Select%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/finance-and-performance/our-performance/our-organisation-strategy/community-vision-for-surrey-in-2030
https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/jsna/wellbeing-and-adult-mental-health/
https://www.healthwatchsurrey.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/How-to-Help-Healthwatch-Surrey-June-2018-5-WEB.pdf
https://www.healthwatchsurrey.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/ACU-Report-Oct-18-Final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://api.cqc.org.uk/public/v1/reports/7ddb8ad5-5d34-4d0e-9d5b-4729982c4ba3


 

Annex 1 – Select Committee Task and Finish Group Scoping Document 
 

The process for establishing a task and finish group is:  
 

1. The Select Committee identifies a potential topic for a task and finish group 
2. The Select Committee Chairman and the Scrutiny Officer complete the scoping template. 
3. The Select Committee reviews the scoping document 
4. The Select Committee agrees the membership of the task and finish group.  

 

Review Topic 
 
Mapping the individual and carer’s journey through Adult Mental Health services in Surrey 
 

Select Committee(s) 
 
Adults and Health Select Committee 
 

Relevant background 
 
The increase in people experiencing mental health problems represents a growing 
challenge for the UK, with research suggesting that approximately a quarter of the 
population will experience a mental health condition each year. The length of time that 
many people are required to wait for treatment for a mental health condition suggests that 
services across the country are under immense strain. Indeed, the Health Integration and 
Commissioning Select Committee heard first-hand about the pressure on mental health 
services in Surrey from Surrey and Borders NHS Foundation Trust (SaBP), who stated that 
their inpatient services were operating at over 100% capacity. As a result, the impact of 
mental health conditions ripple across the wider public sector, putting additional pressure on 
services that are already struggling to keep pace with demand. Ambulance trusts, acute 
trusts, GPs, and the police and prison services are all experiencing significant challenges 
arising from growing prevalence and awareness of mental health and the damage it causes. 
 
Further evidence of the difficulties facing users of mental health services in Surrey can be 
found in Healthwatch Surrey’s ‘How to Help’ report, which explored how these services can 
support emotional wellbeing. Its findings highlighted the fact that the gap between users’ 
expectations of mental health services and what is actually delivered is extremely wide, and 
that there exist significant hurdles that people with mental ill health and their carers face – 
even once referred to specialist teams. Further to this, the Surrey Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment recommends that improvements can be made in the following areas: mental 
health promotion, prevention and anti-stigma; wider determinants of mental health, lifestyle 
behaviours and physical health; higher risk/priority groups; detection/under reporting and 
under diagnosis; services; and self-harm and suicide. 
 
Through the publication of its Mental Health Five Year Forward View, NHS England 
committed to embedding parity of esteem between mental and physical health, which it has 
supported with additional resource and funding to improve the accessibility and quality of 
mental health provision. Increased recognition of mental health and the challenges it 
presents is to be welcomed but there must also be recognition of a patient’s journey from 
development and diagnosis of a mental illness to treatment for that condition which takes 
account of the many other services that they must come into contact with before, during and 
after treatment. Introducing a holistic approach to supporting people with mental health 
conditions and understanding how to interact with the public sector at different times is the 
most effective means of improving outcomes for patients and supporting them in having full 
and fulfilling lives. 
 
At its meeting on 7 November 2018, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select 
Committee considered the outcomes of an Enter and View Report by Healthwatch Surrey 

Page 235

5



 
on the Abraham Cowley Unit, an inpatient mental health ward operated by Surrey and 
Borders Partnership, which highlighted specific challenges around the delivery of inpatient 
mental health services in Surrey. As part of these discussions, Members of the Select 
Committee reflected on how national challenges relating to the treatment of mental health 
were manifesting themselves in Surrey and on the provision of services locally. It was 
recognised that more in-depth consideration was required into how the public sector across 
Surrey supports people through mental illness to reduce demand on services and ensure 
the best outcomes for residents in response to the growing burden of mental illness in the 
county. As a result, it was agreed that a task group would be formed to investigate patient 
experience of mental health services in Surrey. 
 

Why this is a scrutiny item 
 
Scrutiny can take an elevated view of mental health services and support in Surrey by 
considering individual experiences of those who develop a mental health condition and their 
interactions with different agencies as they journey through the system. Looking holistically 
at the many services and sectors that support recovery from a mental health condition from 
the standpoint of patients is a perspective that only the Select Committee can offer. 
Considering these many interconnecting services collectively from the patient perspective 
will foster improved understanding of how public sector organisations in Surrey can work 
together more effectively to improve outcomes for residents. Scrutiny can also support the 
health and social care system to identify any gaps in support as well as highlighting those 
interventions or services that work well. 
 
Provision of mental health services has been identified as a key priority for residents by 
Healthwatch Surrey. This accords with growing recognition of the burden of mental illness in 
the UK and the strain that it places on individuals, families and communities. The Select 
Committee has a duty to listen to residents on the issues that it considers and to ensure that 
the provision of healthcare services in Surrey reflect the voice of residents. Given the 
importance of mental health to residents, the Select Committee wishes to ensure that their 
concerns about the quality and accessibility of mental health services are being listened to 
and understood in the delivery of mental health services.  
 
Surrey County Council’s ‘Community Vision for Surrey in 2030’ highlights the importance of 
having public sector services that support people to live full and fulfilling lives. Reducing the 
burden of mental illness will be a critical component of delivering against this vision given 
that it affects a quarter of Surrey residents each year and will require a unified approach 
across all organisations that deliver services across the county. Prevention and early 
intervention will play an important role in reducing the burden of disease arising from mental 
health conditions. Scrutiny can support the health and social care system in Surrey to 
understand how it can promote emotional wellbeing among its residents. 
 

Page 236

5



 
What question is the task group aiming to answer?   
 
Commissioners/providers 
 

1. How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at promoting and enabling 
mental health and wellbeing in the general population? 

o Prompts: Promotion of self-help literature, addressing the wider determinants 
of health, and knowing services that can help and how to access services 

2. How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at identifying and intervening 
at an early stage? 

o Prompts: Do organisations recognise signs of mental distress, and do 
organisations know where to signpost people? 

3. In your experience, how do services try and involve people in their journey through 
the service? 

o Prompts: Are there mechanisms to engage and involve people in their own 
recovery, and are there established ways for people to give service 
feedback? 

4. In your experience, to what extent do public sector organisations in Surrey take an 
integrated approach to the treatment of mental and physical health? 

o Prompts: Are physical health services skilled and aware of mental health 
conditions? Are there mental health services which specifically address 
mental health needs arising from physical health conditions? Are mental 
health services up to speed on different physical health conditions which may 
impact mental health? 

5. What progress do you think has been made on parity of esteem between the 
treatment of physical and mental health? 

o Prompts: Has there been extra investment in mental health services? What 
are the system views on mental health? 

6. How do patients’ stories align with local data and national best practice on treatment 
for those with different types of mental health conditions, and what conclusions can 
be drawn about whether public sector organisations in Surrey support people with 
mental health conditions to live full and fulfilling lives, in accordance with the 
Community Vision for Surrey in 2030? 

 
People with lived experience of mental health needs and their carers 
 

1. Can you describe your experiences of mental health services in Surrey? 
o Prompts: What services have you used? How recent have your interactions 

been? How easy was it to access those services? Have you been supported 
to access self-help materials? Have you experienced any stigma or 
discrimination? 

2. To what extent do the different organisations or services you are in touch with work 
together to help meet your needs? 

o Do you tell your story once or multiple times? Is information shared as you 
would like? 

3. In your experience, to what extent has any treatment, care and support been 
focused on your needs and desired outcomes? 

o Have you felt involved in your care planning? Are there opportunities for you 
to influence what services there are available and how the services you 
access are delivered? 

4. In your experience, is mental health seen by the health and social care system as 
being as important as physical health? 

o Please describe any experiences or thoughts that have led you to this 
conclusion, and has this changed over the years? 

5. What services are those with mental health conditions most likely to come into 
contact with and how are these services equipped to provide effective support? Do 
they have access to key people when needed (in particular during periods of crisis)? 

6. How do those with mental health conditions feel about the information provided by 
services? Do they feel these cover the full range and scope of mental health 
treatments available? Page 237

5



 
7. Do residents feel GPs properly understand mental health problems and are they 

willing/able to refer? 
 

Aim  
 
For Members of the Task Group to understand the individual and carer’s journey through 
the adult mental health system in Surrey in order to consider how organisations across the 
public sector are working together to support those with mental health conditions to live full 
and fulfilling lives. 
 

Objectives  
 

 Review the journey of adults with mental health conditions in Surrey through support 
services and interventions to assess how their interactions with different public 
sector organisations aid their recovery 

 Assess whether there is integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and mental 
health 

 Identify any potential gaps in the provision of services 
 

Scope (within/out of)  
  
In scope 
 

 Adult mental health inpatient, community and outreach services in Surrey 

 GP referral process and waiting times for treatment 

 Mental health crisis support 

 Parity of esteem between physical and mental health 

 Suicide prevention 

 Agencies in frequent contact with those with mental health conditions, including 
acute trusts, ambulance trusts and the police 

 
Out of scope 
 

 Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

 Schools 
 

Outcomes for Surrey/Benefits 
  

 Contribute to the reduction of health inequalities for those with severe and prolonged 
mental health conditions 

 Help to embed a patient-centred approach to mental health support in Surrey that 
incorporates and understands the role of the whole system 

 Support the health and social care system in embedding parity of esteem between 
mental and physical health 

 Create a shared understanding of patients’ journey through the mental health 
system in Surrey 

 Reduce the stigma around mental health in Surrey and raise the profile of support 
services available 

 Take an elevated view of mental health services and support in Surrey by 
considering individual experiences of those who develop a mental health condition 
and their interactions with different agencies as they journey through the system 
 

 
 
Proposed work plan 
 

Page 238

5



 
It is important to clearly allocate who is responsible for the work, to ensure that Members and 
officers can plan the resources needed to support the task group. 
 

Timescale Tasks Responsible 

June 2020 Workshop with task group Members to agree the scope, 
work plan and desired outcomes 

 

Scrutiny Officer 

June-July 
2020 

Witness sessions with independent mental health 
networks and community connectors in order to identify 

gaps in mental health services and areas requiring 
improvement 

 

Scrutiny Officer, 
Task Group 

July-August 
2020 

Witness sessions with commissioners to test potential 
gaps and areas requiring improvement 

 

Scrutiny Officer, 
Task Group 

August 2020 Workshop with task group Members to identify potential 
recommendations 

 

Scrutiny Officer, 
Task Group 

 

August-
September 

2020 

Compile report 
Test recommendations 

Report sign-off 

Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Officer 

Task Group 
 

October 2020 
 

Report back to the Select Committee/Cabinet Task Group 
Spokesman 

 

 

Potential witnesses 
 

 Mental Health Service Users 

 Mental Health Service Users’ families/carers 
o Spelthorne Family Carers 
o Carers of Epsom 
o Forum of Carers and People Who Use Our Services 

 GPs 

 Hospitals 
o Farnham Road Hospital 

 Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

 Surrey County Council Public Health Team 

 Surrey County Council Adult Social Care Managers for Mental Health 

 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Practitioners 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups  

 Mental health charities and community/voluntary sector organisations 
o Mind Matters 
o Catalyst 
o Mary Frances Trust 
o Richmond Fellowship 
o Mid Surrey Advocacy for Mental Health 
o Parkview Centre for the Community 
o Oakleaf Enterprise 
o Samaritans 

 South East Coast Ambulance Service (SECAmb) 

 Acute trusts 

 Surrey Police 

 Independent Mental Health Networks (East and West) 

 Housing providers 

 District and Borough Councils 
 

Page 239

5



 
Useful documents 
 

 Mental Health Five Year Forward View: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf 

 Independent Review of the Mental Health Act: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/762206/MHA_reviewFINAL.pdf 

 NHS Long Term Plan: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf 

 Surrey Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – Wellbeing and Adult Mental Health: 
https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/jsna/wellbeing-and-adult-mental-health/ 

 Healthwatch Surrey – How to Help: https://www.healthwatchsurrey.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/06/How-to-Help-Healthwatch-Surrey-June-2018-5-WEB.pdf 
 

Potential barriers to success (Risks/Dependencies)  
  

 Lack of willingness to engage by past or present users of mental health services 

 Lack of willingness to engage from agencies that are not statutorily required to 
provide evidence to the Select Committee 

 Criticism arising from focusing on qualitative research based on the experience of a 
few service users rather than using quantitative research 

 

Equalities implications 
 
The task group recognises that there are a number considerations around equalities when 
conducting its work, and there are a number of people with various needs that will be 
contributing to this process. It will be mindful of how it conducts its work in order to ensure 
people are provided the opportunity to contribute, and that any barriers to doing so are 
mitigated. 
 
The task group will monitor the equalities implications emerging from its recommendations 
with officers and will work to identify mitigation measures for those with a potentially 
negative impact. 
 

 

Task Group Members 
 

Nick Darby 
Bernie Muir 
Angela Goodwin 
 

 

Co-opted Members Chris Botten  

Spokesman for the Task 
Group 
 

Nick Darby 

Scrutiny Officer 
 

Ben Cullimore 

 

Page 240

5

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/762206/MHA_reviewFINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/762206/MHA_reviewFINAL.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/jsna/wellbeing-and-adult-mental-health/
https://www.healthwatchsurrey.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/How-to-Help-Healthwatch-Surrey-June-2018-5-WEB.pdf
https://www.healthwatchsurrey.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/How-to-Help-Healthwatch-Surrey-June-2018-5-WEB.pdf


Annex 2 – List of witness sessions conducted by the Mental Health Task Group 

 

Date of meeting Organisation Witnesses 

8 June 2020 Oakleaf Enterprise (both 
staff and service users) 

Clive Stone – Chief 
Executive 

Annalise Baker – Client 
Services Manager 

Kelvin Bossman – Outreach 
Engagement Project Lead 

Jen Clay – Partnerships 
Manager 

Arbreen Hussain – IT 
Trainer 

Five Oakleaf Enterprise 
service users 

15 June 2020 Surrey Police and British 
Transport Police 

Lee Sawkins – Mental 
Health Portfolio Lead, 
Surrey Police 

Pippa Smith – Inspector 
(Public Protection and 
Vulnerability), British 
Transport Police 

23 June 2020 GPs (Session 1) Paul Hamilton – East Surrey 
CCG Mental Health Clinical 
Lead 

Ruth Cureton – Surrey 
Heath CCG Mental Health 
Clinical Lead 

24 June 2020 Independent Mental Health 
Network 

Guy Hill – Coordinator, 
Independent Mental Health 
Network 

Rachel Brennan – Adult 
Carers Support Manager, 
Action for Carers 

26 June 2020 GPs (Session 2) Sophie Norris – Guildford 
and Waverley CCG Mental 
Health Clinical Lead 

29 June 2020 Surrey County Council 
Public Health 

Negin Sarafraz-Shekary – 
Public Health Principal 

Page 241

5



Maya Twardzicki – Public 
Health Lead 

Helen Raison – Public 
Health Consultant 

Nanu Chumber Stanley – 
Public Health Development 
Worker 

3 July 2020 Community Connections Sue Murphy – Chief 
Executive Officer, Catalyst 

Anthony Aralepo – Mental 
Health and Wellbeing 
Manager (North West 
Surrey), Catalyst 

Clem Parker – Mental 
Health and Wellbeing 
Manager (South West 
Surrey), Catalyst 

Patrick Wolter – Chief 
Executive Officer, Mary 
Frances Trust 

Olive Aherne – Area 
Manager (Surrey, Sussex 
and Kent), Richmond 
Fellowship 

15 July 2020 Surrey County Council Adult 
Social Care 

Liz Uliasz – Assistant 
Director for Mental Health 

Gus Blankson – Senior 
Manager for Mental Health 
(Mid/East Surrey) 

Chrissie Caines – Senior 
Manager for Mental Health 
(West Surrey) 

20 July 2020 Surrey County Council and 
Surrey Heartlands 
(Commissioners) 

Jane Bremner – Head of 
Commissioning (Mental 
Health), Surrey County 
Council 

Stephen Murphy – Head of 
Mental Health 
Commissioning (Adult 
Services), Surrey 
Heartlands 

Page 242

5



31 July 2020 Surrey and Borders 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust and 
Surrey Heartlands 

Professor Helen Rostill – 
Chief Innovation Officer & 
Director of Therapies, 
Surrey and Borders 
Partnership / Director of 
Mental Health, Surrey 
Heartlands 

11 August 2020 National Autistic Society 
(Surrey Branch) 

Sara Truman – Chair, 
National Autistic Society 
(Surrey Branch) 

Howard Childs – Autism 
Spectrum Disorders 
Practitioner, Surrey and 
Borders Partnership 

Three carers of people with 
autism and mental health 
issues 

14 August 2020 Healthwatch Surrey Michael Frean – Mental 
Health Citizen Ambassador 

1 September 2020 Surrey and Borders 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Heather Caudle – Chief 
Nursing Officer 

Lorna Payne – Chief 
Operating Officer 

 

Page 243

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3 – Mental Health Task Group key lines of enquiry 

 

Commissioners/providers 

 How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at promoting and enabling 
mental health and wellbeing in the general population? 

 How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at identifying and 
intervening at an early stage? Do organisations recognise signs of mental 
distress, and do organisations know where to signpost people? 

 In your experience, how do services try to involve people in their journey through 
the service? Are there mechanisms to engage and involve people in their own 
recovery, and are there established ways for people to give service feedback? 

 In your experience, to what extent do public sector organisations in Surrey take 
an integrated approach to the treatment of mental and physical health? Are 
physical health services skilled and aware of mental health conditions? Are there 
mental health services which specifically address mental health needs arising 
from physical health conditions? Are mental health services up to speed on 
different physical health conditions which may impact mental health? 

 What progress do you think has been made on parity of esteem between the 
treatment of physical and mental health? Has there been extra investment in 
mental health services? What are the system views on mental health? 

 How do patients’ stories align with local data and national best practice on 
treatment for those with different types of mental health conditions, and what 
conclusions can be drawn about whether public sector organisations in Surrey 
support people with mental health conditions to live full and fulfilling lives, in 
accordance with the Community Vision for Surrey in 2030? 

People with lived experience of mental health needs and their carers 

 Can you describe your experiences of mental health services in Surrey? What 
services have you used? How recent have your interactions been? How easy 
was it to access those services? Have you been supported to access self-help 
materials? Have you experienced any stigma or discrimination? 

 To what extent do the different organisations or services you are in touch with 
work together to help meet your needs? Do you tell your story once or multiple 
times? Is information shared as you would like? 

 In your experience, to what extent has any treatment, care and support been 
focused on your needs and desired outcomes? Have you felt involved in your 
care planning? Are there opportunities for you to influence what services there 
are available and how the services you access are delivered? 

 In your experience, is mental health seen by the health and social care system 
as being as important as physical health? Please describe any experiences or 
thoughts that have led you to this conclusion, and has this changed over the 
years? 

Page 245

5



 What services are those with mental health conditions most likely to come into 
contact with and how are these services equipped to provide effective support? 
Do they have access to key people when needed (in particular during periods of 
crisis)? 

 How do those with mental health conditions feel about the information provided 
by services? Do they feel these cover the full range and scope of mental health 
treatments available? 

 Do residents feel GPs properly understand mental health problems and are they 
willing/able to refer? 

Page 246

5



Annex 4 – Mental Health Task Group questionnaire 

 

What are your experiences of mental health services in Surrey? What services have you 
used, and how recent have your interactions been? 
 
 
 
 
 
How easy was it to access those services? 
 
 
 
 
 
Have you experienced any stigma or discrimination? 
 
 
 
 
 
To what extent do the different organisations or services you are in touch with work together 
to help meet your needs? 
 
 
 
 
 
Do you feel you need to tell your story multiple times to different organisations and/or 
services? Is information shared as you would like? 
 
 
 
 
 
Do you feel as if GPs properly understand mental health problems, and are they willing/able 
to refer? 
 
 
 
 
 
In your experience, to what extent has any treatment, care and support been focused on 
your needs and desired outcomes? 
 
 
 
 
 
Have you felt involved in your care planning? 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247

5



Are there opportunities for you to influence what services there are available and how the 
services you access are delivered? 
 
 
 
 
 
In your experience, is mental health seen by the health and social care system as being as 
important as physical health? Please describe any experiences or thoughts that have led 
you to this conclusion. Has this changed over the years? 
 
 
 
 
 
Do you feel you have access to key people when needed (particularly during periods of 
crisis)? 
 
 
 
 
 
How do you feel about the information provided by services? Do you feel these cover the full 
range and scope of mental health treatments available? 

Page 248

5



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: N/A 

LEAD OFFICER: JOANNA KILLIAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

SUBJECT: LEADER/DEPUTY LEADER/CABINET MEMBER/ STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT BOARD AND COMMITTEE-IN-COMMON 
DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
To note the delegated decisions taken since the last meeting of the Cabinet. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet note the decisions taken by Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting as set out in Annex 1. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by Cabinet Members, Strategic Investment 
Board and the Committee in Common subcommittee under delegated authority. 
 

DETAILS: 

1. The Leader has delegated responsibility for certain executive functions to the 
Deputy Leader and individual Cabinet Members, and reserved some functions 
to himself. These are set out in Table 2 in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  

2. The Leader has also delegated authority to the Strategic Investment Board to 
approve property investment acquisitions, property investment management 
expenditure, property investment disposals and the provision of finance to its 
wholly owned property company, Halsey Garton Property Ltd.  

3. Delegated decisions are scheduled to be taken on a monthly basis and will be 
reported to the next available Cabinet meeting for information. 

4. Annex 1 lists the details of decisions taken since the last Cabinet meeting. 

 
Contact Officer: 
Huma Younis, Committee Manager, huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk 
 
Annexes: 
Annex 1 – Delegated Decisions taken 
 
Sources/background papers:  
None 
  

Page 249

6

Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                                                   
Annex 1 
 
CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS  
OCTOBER 2020 
 
CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & FAMILIES 
 
1. Fostering Report & Statement of Purpose 2019/20  
 
Details of decision 

 
That the content of the Annual Report and associated Statement of Purpose was noted and 

approved for publication. 

Reason for decision 
 

The Fostering Service Regulations 2011 and the National Minimum Standards 2011 and 

associated statutory guidance requires that Local Authority Fostering Services present 

regular reports of activity to elected Members. This report captures activity of the Surrey 

Fostering Service for the period April 1 2019 to March 31 2020.  

 
(Decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People & Families – 13 October 
2020)  
 

 
CABINET MEMBER FOR ALL AGE LEARNING 
 
2. Consultation on Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary 

Controlled Schools for September 2022 
 
Details of decision 

 
That authority be given to the Service Manager for Admissions and Transport to go out to 

statutory consultation on the proposed changes to admission arrangements for community 

and voluntary controlled schools for September 2022 and also to consult on its proposed 

Relevant Area.     

 
Reason for decision 

 
There is a statutory requirement to consult on admission arrangements every seven years, 
or sooner if there is a proposal to change any part of a school’s admission arrangements. 
The local authority is proposing some changes to the admission arrangements for 
community and voluntary controlled schools and, as such, there is a statutory duty to consult 
on these changes. The consultation will also seek views on the admission arrangements for 
which there is no proposal for change.  
 
There is also a statutory requirement for the local authority to consult on its Relevant Area 
every two years and as two years has passed since the last consultation, a further 
consultation is now due. 
 
(Decision taken by the Cabinet Member for All Age Learning – 13 October 2020)  
 
  

Page 251

6



                                                                                                                                                                   
 
CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT 
 
3. Guildford Quality Bus Corridor and Bus Lane Enhancement  

 
Details of decision 

 
It was agreed that: 
 

1) Following a statutory consultation process, approval was given to proceed with the 
Woodbridge Road Quality Bus Corridor Scheme for Woodbridge Road and Onslow 
Street in Guildford as described in the report, Specifically to: 

a. extend the bus lane under the railway bridge (with consequent amendments 
to parking and waiting restrictions) 

b. change the operational times to all day, every day (with consequent 
amendments to parking and waiting restrictions, and 

c. prohibit HGV’s from using the bus lane. 
 
Reasons for decision 

 
The Quality Bus Corridor Project which had funding granted by EM3 LEP in 2018 has three 
main objectives: 
 
1) Improved bus journey time reliability and punctuality  
2) Increased levels of bus patronage  
3) Reduced bus journey times 
 
This will help us achieve our 2030 Community Vision objectives 

 Residents live in clean, safe and green communities where people and organisations 
embrace their environmental responsibilities. 

 Journeys across the county are easier, more predictable and safer 
 
In July 2019 Surrey County Council declared a climate emergency and in April 2020 Surrey’s 
Climate Change Strategy was approved. The strategy was developed by Surrey’s 12 local 
authorities and is the result of a shared ambition across the county council and the districts 
and boroughs, for Surrey’s Greener Future – one where residents can live in clean, safe and 
green communities and embrace their environmental responsibilities.  
 
To deliver on Surrey’s ambitions, the county’s current rate of carbon consumption would 
have to decrease significantly. Buses are a vital mode of transport for Guildford, used by 
15,000 people per day. Surrey County Council has committed to achieving net zero carbon 
emissions across Surrey by 2050 as 46% of the county's carbon emissions are produced by 
transport. Making buses more practical and attractive for journeys has an important part to 
play. Additionally, with new homes proposed in Guildford Borough over the next 20 years, a 
reliable bus network will be vital in ensuring that an already congested road network is not 
overwhelmed. 
 
(Decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Transport – 13 October 2020)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 252

6



                                                                                                                                                                   
 
COMMITTEES-IN-COMMON SUB-COMMITTEE DECISIONS 
30 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 

I. TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
Details of decision 
 

1. APPROVED the Terms of Reference and the minor amendments made. 
2. AGREED for further review within each organisation, e.g. on areas in scope of the 

committee, for further review at the December meeting. 
 
(Decision taken by the Committees-in-Common Sub-Committee – 30 September 2020) 
 
 

II. COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT OF SURREY CHILDREN’S EMOTIONAL 

WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH SERVICE 

Details of decision 
 

1. AGREED to all recommendations as per the report: 
a) Note the outcome of the procurement process; 
b) Approve the use of a Negotiated Procedure under Regulation 32(2)a of the 

Public Contract Regulations 2015 as the option most likely to lead to a signed 
contract for delivery of the new service model; 

c) Note the governance structure for this transformation project and delegate 
authority to the Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Implementation Board 
to oversee the Negotiated Procedure; 

d) Request that commissioners return to Committees in Common in late 
November to provide an update on progress; 

e) Request that commissioners return to Committees in Common when the 
Negotiated Procedure is completed for final approval of contract signature. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
These recommendations will allow commissioners to proceed with the launch of an 
exercise to negotiate with a potential provider of EWMH services, who is able to work 
effectively within our evolving health and social care landscape and deliver strong 
outcomes for our child and young person population. 
 
(Decision taken by the Committees-in-Common Sub-Committee – 30 September 2020) 
 

Page 253

6



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Member Update 

Councillor Mary Lewis 

Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families 

 

Despite a challenging 6 months where our work to support children and families has been 

impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic, I’m pleased to be able to provide an update to 

colleagues today on a number of recent achievements:   

 

Our work to improve and transform our services has not stopped and the challenges of the 

last few months have led to some innovative approaches to reaching people most in need of 

support;  our extended out-of-hours and safeguarding services – particularly for teenagers 

and their families – have been a critical part of the support offer and led to some major 

changes that will be kept in place permanently. We know that measures introduced to 

control the virus are having a serious impact on the lives of people experiencing domestic 

abuse and making accessing services more difficult. Surrey’s outreach services, provided by 

the Surrey Domestic Abuse Partnership (SDAP), continue to operate during this crisis and 

the need for them reflects  the national picture with an increase in contacts to the helpline. 

Supporting young people in emergency situations became even more important during 

lockdown and the speed at which we opened a new emergency placement centre was 

impressive; over the last 6 months this provided a safe and secure place for young people 

unable to return home.  

 
The new Corporate Parenting Strategy, setting out our vision and aspirations, has been 
published this year, following agreement in Full Council. I invite colleagues to take a look at it 
every now and then to remind ourselves of our promise to looked after children and care 
leavers in Surrey and the values and vision we as a Council have committed to. Many of the 
projects I will mention today will be key to meeting these commitments.  
Providing comfortable and safe homes for our children is a priority of all parents, no less of 
SCC as corporate parents, and various projects have continued apace linked to this aspect 
of our Strategy. Providing more, and more stable, homes with foster families is what our 
Mockingbird Family Model is all about. The third Mockingbird Hub was launched as planned 
in August and feedback from those foster carers involved indicates that it provides a truly 
supportive network to the benefit of both children in care and their carers. 
 
Further work to provide good homes for children in care has been made possible by the 
£5.5m capital development programme agreed at the July Cabinet for the Surrey CC 
children’s residential home estate. This will enable us to develop two new community 
children’s homes (with a third coming to Cabinet in 2021) and to rebuild the Shaw Contact 
Centre, in which children in care will be able to meet and keep in touch with their family and 
friends in a suitable environment. 
 
With the support of the Members’ Reference Group which is reporting at this meeting, our 
Corporate Parenting teams are developing a local ‘No Wrong Door’ service, a well-evaluated 
short term residential model that was first developed in North Yorkshire in 2015 and offers 
an integrated approach to supporting some of the most vulnerable teenagers who are either 
in care, or at risk of coming into care. The service will be up and running by April 2021 and 
will initially operate from two of our current children’s homes before two purpose-built hubs 
are completed in 2022 under the capital development programme. 
 

I am pleased to report that Children’s Services has been selected for one of two digital 
innovation projects in Surrey County Council and we are working with an excellent provider 
to develop a product to enable residents to identify their children’s needs early and to have 
them met quickly through an entirely self-service process. The aim is to develop a single 

Page 255

7

Item 7

https://surreycountycouncil.newsweaver.co.uk/csfnewsletter/1khbo5rhlxij054vbiuvw1/external?a=6&p=57189681&t=30270085
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/children-in-care/surreys-corporate-parenting-strategy


website bringing together all the information and advice in Surrey into one place. It is aimed 
at anyone seeking support for a child or family – the child, a professional, a volunteer, a 
parent. The most important thing is that parents and children will be intrinsically involved in 
the design. It's exciting and it could really empower Surrey families to get the help they need 
as soon as the problem is noticed, be it SEND, CAMHS, 0-19 health, Children's Social Care, 
Early or Targeted support. That’s what our practice model, Family Resilience, is all about 
and this digital solution has the potential to move things forward. 
 
Further join up between services has been achieved through the development of a Learners’ 
Single Point of Access (L-SPA) which will gradually integrate over the next year with the 
Children’s Single Point of Access (C-SPA), which launched successfully in 2019 and has 
been praised by our regulators. The C-SPA moved to a newly prepared office space in 
Quadrant Court Woking this summer, ready to accommodate L-SPA colleagues. 
  
Another critical area of transformation for us this year is the development of the new 
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service that we have been working to transform for 
some time. In May the Committees in Common agreed a new service model and 
specifications and to go to open tender; one bid was received from an Alliance of local and 
national partners, encompassing statutory and third sector providers. There are many 
positives in the proposed service model, but also some issues requiring further work and we 
hope to conclude discussions with the Alliance by December. The new contract will take 
effect from April 2021 with a strong focus on transformation in the first year and it will be 
great to see the culmination of years of hard work to get these services right for children, 
young people and their families.  
 
This week is National Care Leavers’ week and I know many of my colleagues are taking part 
in the ‘Reality Cheque’ challenge. Our Members and staff are being challenged to live on the 
average weekly budget that some young people who have recently left care have to spend 
on food, drink, fun and non-essential travel. Our Care Leavers Service Personal Advisors 
are skilled at offering financial and practical assistance for our Care Leavers in setting up 
their home, entering employment, education or training and being prepared for adult life. 
However, this can be difficult for some young people who may also have to navigate the 
benefits system. I would like to offer my thanks to colleagues for taking part in this challenge 
and also to Members of the Corporate Parenting Board who have continued to keep in touch 
with children and young people throughout the lockdown, albeit mostly through Zoom, 
Teams and the good old fashioned postal service.  
 

We are fortunate that, with agreement from the Department for Education (DfE), Essex 

County Council has been appointed as a Partner in Practice (PiP) for Surrey's children's 
services. Essex CC is rated as ‘Outstanding’ for Children’s Services and specialises in 
working alongside other authorities to improve social work practice, and outcomes for 
children and their families. In September they carried out a full stocktake of our services and 
their initial feedback shows how far we’ve come since 2018. We welcome their support on 
our journey to delivering Good and Outstanding services for our residents.  
 
In June, our Universal Youth Work consultation concluded after running for over 6 months 
and as a result we have agreed that:  

We enable the community, voluntary and faith sector (CVFS) to use the youth 
centres for the benefit of young people at little or no cost. We act as an enabler and 
facilitator of open access universal youth work rather than providing the service 
directly. The SCC expertise that is valued by residents - and in particular young 
people - can then be remodelled to continue to support specific vulnerable groups.  

 

Page 256

7

https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/universal-youth-work-proposal/


Our priority is to make sure the centres are first and foremost benefiting young people in the 
community but there will also be opportunities in some centres for wider community use as 
the plans for each of the centres are progressed. It is a difficult time to be offering youth 
activities at the moment as children and young people over the age of 11 are required to 
wear face coverings, as are youth workers and the groups are limited in size. While this is 
slowing things down, it will not dampen the enthusiasm of our voluntary sector partners in 
the medium term. 
 
Our staff have worked tirelessly throughout the lockdown and subsequent restrictions to 
ensure children and families in Surrey have continued to receive vital support; we know that 
personal contact with young people and their families is crucial to our service users, and 
they rely on us now more than ever. I would like to personally thank our frontline staff and all 
those supporting our services behind-the-scenes for their relentless focus on putting children 
and families first  through such a difficult time. 

Page 257

7



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: N/A 

LEAD OFFICER: JOANNA KILLIAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

SUBJECT: 
SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL RESPONSE TO COVID 19 – 
URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY OFFICERS UNDER 
STANDING ORDER 54 AND COVID RELATED DELEGATED 
DECISIONS 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
To note the officer delegated decisions taken in response to COVID-19. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that Cabinet note the decisions taken by officers. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by officers under delegated authority. 
 

DETAILS: 

1. The Council is responding to the COVID-19 major incident and therefore needs to 
make urgent decisions to ensure that residents are protected. Urgent decisions 
taken under Standing Order 54 are attached.  

2. Delegated decisions will be reported to the next available Cabinet meeting for 
information. 

3. The Audit and Governance Committee will monitor the use of the new meetings 
protocol and make recommendations on any required amendments to the 
protocol to ensure that Members remain informed in relation to council decision 
making.  

 
Contact Officer: 
Huma Younis, Committee Manager, huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk 
 
Sources/background papers:  
None 
  

Page 259

8

Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

CABINET 

DATE:  27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MR TIM OLIVER, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

LEAD OFFICER:  RACHEL CROSSLEY, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR STRATEGY 

AND COMMISSIONING 

SUBJECT:  ORGANISATION STRATEGY REFRESH 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

Surrey, along with the rest of the UK faces an unprecedented future as a result of the Covid-

19 pandemic, bringing with it both significant challenges, as well as opportunities. The 

pandemic has fundamentally shifted the strategic context in which we are operating. In 

September 2020 Cabinet agreed to a strategic reset for the council, with four priority 

objectives that have emerged through the council’s response forming a new focus for our 

work. 

The Organisation Strategy sets out the council’s contribution to achieving the aims and 

ambitions set out in the Community Vision 2030 (the 2030 Vision). Building on the strong 

foundations put in place over the last two years, the Organisation Strategy has been 

refreshed, using the lessons learned from our response to the crisis, to reflect how our 

priorities and strategic approach will need to change to ensure we can deliver the Vision and 

create better lives, a better place and a county where no-one is left behind.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Cabinet is asked to agree the content of the refreshed Surrey County Council Organisation 

Strategy and recommend it onto the County Council for approval at its meeting on 8 

December 2020. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Through our experience in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic, our interaction with 

residents and partners, and analysis of the latest data, we are confident that the 2030 Vision 

remains the right destination for the county. While the broad ambitions outlined remain valid, 

the way we get there needs to change; a sharper focus on a smaller group of priorities will 

enable us to more effectively prioritise our resources and activity without losing the strong 

foundations we’ve established over the past two years.   

We want to use the refreshed Organisation Strategy to reaffirm our commitment to ‘no one 

left behind’ in the county and make this the guiding principle underpinning all of our work. 

The strategy also sets out more clearly our commitments around equality, diversity and 

inclusion, including setting four new equality objectives.    

Alongside the new priority objectives and guiding principle of ‘no one left behind’, we will 

continue to deliver the activities and services that contribute towards the ten outcomes set 

out in the 2030 Vision. The impact of Covid-19 continues to be felt by our communities and 

Page 261

9

Item 9



 
 

this is likely to continue into the future. The activities outlined in the ‘We Will’ statements in 

the strategy reflect not only our contribution to the 2030 Vision, but also how we will support 

the county in its recovery from the effects of the pandemic.    

DETAILS: 

 Background  

1. This report outlines the changes that have been made to the council’s Organisation 

Strategy in line with the reset of the council’s budget and strategic priorities agreed 

by Cabinet in September 2020. 

 

2. The Organisation Strategy sets out a clear strategic direction for the council and 

brings together a number of interrelated workstreams including response and 

recovery to the Covid-19 pandemic, transformation and our Medium Term Financial 

Strategy alongside day to day activity of our services. 

  

3. The Community Vision for Surrey in 2030 (the 2030 Vision) sets out a shared set of 

outcomes for the county council, district and borough councils, other public services, 

businesses and residents to work together towards in order to improve the lives of 

people who live, work and study in Surrey. 

 

4. The 2030 Vision states that by 2030 we want Surrey to be a uniquely special place 

where everyone has a great start to life, people live healthy and fulfilling lives, are 

enabled to achieve their full potential and contribute to their community, and no one 

is left behind. We want our county’s economy to be strong, vibrant and successful 

and Surrey to be a great place to live, work and learn. A place that capitalises on its 

location and natural assets, and where communities feel supported and people are 

able to support each other. Despite the significant impact of Covid-19, the broad 

ambitions outlined in the 2030 Vision remain valid and should continue to guide our 

work. 

Organisation Strategy 

5. The Organisation Strategy has been refreshed to take into account the new context 

and environment that we are operating in, although a number of the core elements 

are consistent with the version agreed in October 2019. It continues to outline how 

our activity will contribute to the 2030 Vision for Surrey, and remains focused on 

creating better lives, a better place and a county where no-one is left behind. 

6. The refreshed Organisation Strategy builds on the work and successes of the past 

two years that have enabled us to continue to provide high quality services and make 

efficiencies while at the same time responding to, and leading recovery from, the 

Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

7. We continue to face financial challenges alongside rising demand for services, a 

situation that has worsened as a result of Covid-19. Although we have received 

additional funding from Government, this falls short of what we require to meet the 

lost income and increased demand that has been brought about by the pandemic. 

Going forward we will focus on carrying out a smaller number of activities, but in a 

more effective way.  

 

Page 262

9



 
 

8. To help us to continue to deliver on the long-term aims for the county, the refreshed 

strategy emphasises four priority objectives as our new focus. These will help us to 

meet the more immediate challenges and take advantage of opportunities that have 

emerged through the response to Covid-19.   

9. The four priorities for the refreshed Organisation Strategy are: 

i. Growing a sustainable economy so everyone can benefit 

Support people and businesses across Surrey to grow during the economic 

recovery and re-prioritise infrastructure plans to adapt to the changing needs 

and demands of residents at a time of financial challenges. 

 

ii. Tackling health inequality 

Drive work across the system to reduce widening health inequalities, 

increasing our focus on addressing mental health and accelerating health and 

social care integration to reduce demand on services while improving health 

outcomes for residents. 

 

iii. Enabling a greener future 

Build on behaviour changes and lessons learnt during lockdown to further 

progress work to tackle environmental challenges, improve air quality and 

focus on green energy to make sure we achieve our 2030 net zero target. 

 

iv. Empowering communities 

Reinvigorate our relationship with residents, empowering communities to 

tackle local issues and support one another, while making it easier for 

everyone to play an active role in the decisions that will shape Surrey’s future. 

 

10. Underpinning these priorities are key enablers through which we will continue to 

transform the council: 

a. Customer experience 

We will get better at seeing things from a resident’s perspective, giving 

customers a simpler and more consistent experience. 

 

b. Stronger partnerships 

We will focus on building stronger and more effective partnerships with 

residents, other public services and businesses to collectively meet 

challenges and take opportunities. 

 

c. Transformation and reform 

We will continue our comprehensive transformation programme to improve 

outcomes for residents, deliver efficiencies and make sure financial 

sustainability underpins our approach. 

 

d. Financial management 

We will spend our money in the most efficient and effective ways, so we can 

have the greatest impact on improving people’s quality of life and ensure we 

provide the best value for money to our residents. 

 

e. Agile, diverse and motivated workforce  

We will embed new agile ways of working and provide staff with the tools and 

Page 263

9



 
 

support to be high performing and outcomes-focussed. We will put equality, 

diversity and inclusivity at the heart of everything we do, valuing the strength 

of a diverse workforce. 

 

f. Digital and Data 

We will embrace digital solutions and take a data-driven approach to 

transforming our organisation and services we deliver for residents. 

 

Our guiding principle - tackle inequality in Surrey by focussing on no-one left behind 

11. Evidence tells us that while many residents and businesses thrive in Surrey, not 

everyone has the same opportunities to flourish so our focus for the next five years 

will be guided by the principle of tackling inequality and ensuring no-one is left 

behind. Surrey is an affluent county and this image can often mask the problems that 

some residents face, such as domestic abuse, homelessness and mental health 

issues. The impacts of Covid-19 and lockdown measures have widened existing 

social, economic and health inequalities, with different impacts by age, race, poverty 

and wealth. We must take action on these inequalities, so that we can stimulate 

economic recovery and jobs growth and provide support early for some of Surrey’s 

most vulnerable residents. 

 

12. Running through all four of the new priority outcomes in the strategy is a theme of 

addressing inequality; inequality between places, such as the economic disparity 

between the east and west of the county, and inequality between and amongst 

communities, with people’s life chances and quality of life affected by a number of 

factors that drive these disparities. 

 

13. We have reaffirmed our commitment to ‘no one left behind’ through this refreshed 

Organisation Strategy, and more clearly emphasised our commitments around 

equality, diversity and inclusion. 

 

14. For residents this means engaging with them in different ways to ensure all voices 

are heard, which will help us better understand the drivers of inequality so we can 

take more effective action. For staff this means creating an environment where 

people feel comfortable to bring their whole self to work and a place that values 

difference by embracing people’s different perspectives to help tackle the challenges 

we face.   

 

15. To enhance the prominence of this agenda in our work and demonstrate our 

compliance with the public sector equality duty, we have identified core actions in the 

strategy which will form our equality objectives and support us to achieve our 

ambitions.   

CONSULTATION: 

16. The refresh of the Organisation Strategy has been informed by recent engagement 

and research that has been carried out with residents and partners over the past 

several months to understand the impact of Covid-19 and focus our strategy on the 

areas that are important to residents.  

17. This includes a Covid-19 temperature check postal survey carried out in the summer 

with approximately 2,200 Surrey residents looking at behaviours, attitudes and 

Page 264

9



 
 

opinions during the period of the pandemic. This has given us a statistically 

representative set of results to help us understand what has happened to our 

population and how we might plan for future impacts from similar events. 

18. We have also undertaken a comprehensive Community Impact Assessment to fully 

understand the initial impact of Covid-19 on Surrey’s communities, particularly for 

vulnerable populations and places.   

19. The refresh of the strategy has also been shaped by the work of the Select 

Committee Chairmen & Vice-Chairmen’s Group with representatives from each of the 

Select Committees plus the Audit & Governance Committee forming a Task and 

Finish Group to oversee development of the strategic reset. A report of the findings of 

this task group went to Cabinet as part of the Strategic Reset item on 29 September 

2020. In addition the Select Committee Chairmen & Vice-Chairmen’s Group reviewed 

the updated ‘we will’ statements to be included in the Organisation Strategy on 2 

October 2020. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

20. Although significant progress has been made over the last 12 months to improve the 
council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The Public 
Health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the current 
year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the extent to 
which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next year 
onwards, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 
constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 
onus on the council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 
priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. As such, 
the Section 151 Officer supports this refresh of the Organisation Strategy and a focus 
on the four specific priority areas, which will be referenced as part of the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

21. The Organisation Strategy contributes to the council’ overall governance framework, 

setting the vision, aims and priorities the council is working towards. There are no 

further specific legal implications at this stage. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

22. The council’s Equality, Fairness and Respect Strategy 2015 – 2020 was our previous 
commitment to deliver fair and inclusive services to meet the needs of all Surrey’s 
residents. The strategy focused on supporting independence among vulnerable 
adults and children; helping all young people to succeed in education, employment 
and training; reducing health inequalities; and being a local employer of first choice 
for people from all our diverse communities.  

23. As the context we are working in has changed, and issues like the Covid-19 crisis are 
worsening existing health inequalities and economic insecurity, we need to ensure 
tackling inequality and leaving no-one behind are at the forefront of everything we do.  

24. The refreshed Organisation Strategy strengthens the council’s commitment to 
equality, diversity and inclusion by making this our central guiding principle and 
setting four new equality objectives around the economy, health, communities and 
workforce.  

Page 265

9



 
 

25. Agreeing these objectives will enable us to prioritise activity to tackle inequality as 
well as ensuring the council remains compliant with its legal obligations under the 
Public Sector Equality Duty as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. The 
Act requires the council to publish objectives it thinks it needs to achieve to further 
the aims of the general equality duty, namely to have due regard to the need to: 

 “eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under the Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.” 

26. Progress against these objectives will be tracked and reported annually through the 

outcomes-based performance framework the council will use to assess and manage 

its performance. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

27. If the recommendation is agreed, the next steps are: 

 The Organisation Strategy will be presented to the meeting of the County 

Council on 8 December 2020 for approval 

 A draft budget will be presented to Cabinet outlining how the Strategy will be 

resourced at their meeting on 24 November 2020 

 

Contact officer 

Sarah Richardson, Head of Strategy 

Contact: 07971091475 

Consulted 

 Corporate Leadership Team 

 Directorate Leadership Teams 

 Strategic and Integrated Planning Group (cross council representation) 

 Select Committee Chairman 

Annexes 

 Annex A – Surrey County Council Refreshed Organisation Strategy 

 Annex B – Surrey County Council Refreshed Organisation Strategy- one page 
summary 

 
 

Page 266

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

 

 

ORGANISATION STRATEGY  

2021 – 2026 
Version 1.1 - October 2020 

P
age 267

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

  

FOREWORD 
 

I am pleased to introduce this refreshed strategy which sets out our contribution to the Community Vision for Surrey in 

2030.  

 

The 2030 Vision is a collective ambition to make Surrey a uniquely special place for people to live, work and learn, and 

where no one is left behind.  

 

Since I became Leader in 2018, we have made tremendous progress in transforming the council and ensuring financial 

stability and sustainability. However, along with the rest of the UK, Surrey faces an unprecedented and uncertain future 

as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The pandemic has presented us with challenges which we will continue to feel the 

effects of for years to come, but it has also revealed opportunities to improve how the council operates and delivers 

services to our residents, communities and businesses. With such a fundamental shift in the context in which the council 

is operating, it is essential that we update our Organisation Strategy to reflect how our ambitions and priorities have 

evolved to take this into account.  

The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted the strength and resolve of our relationships with partners, particularly the 

voluntary, community and faith sector who have worked tirelessly to provide vital support to some of our most vulnerable 

residents. In addition, the work we have done collectively to start delivering Surrey’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy has 

seen better outcomes delivered for our residents and we have laid the foundations to tackle the health inequalities that 

exist in the county. We have also established a One Surrey Growth Board to oversee and accelerate work to deliver a 

long term plan for inclusive growth in the county. 

However, there is much more to be done and we need to learn lessons from this pandemic and continue to do more to 

achieve our collective aspirations for Surrey. Too many residents are prevented from reaching their full potential and we 

P
age 268

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

need to empower and connect our communities to drive down inequality and deliver our ambition for no one to be left 

behind. 

Along with other local authorities across the UK, we faced unprecedented challenges before the Covid-19 pandemic, 

including dwindling resources and growing demand for our services, that impacted on our ability to secure the best 

outcomes for residents. These challenges remain, despite the progress we have made to stabilise our financial position 

and we need to go even further to ensure local government in Surrey is fit for the future. 

We have identified four priority objectives which have been brought into sharper focus: 

 Growing a sustainable economy so everyone can benefit 

 Tackling health inequality 

 Enabling a greener future  

 Empowering communities 

A consistent theme that I have championed since becoming Leader is to tackle inequality and each of the four priority 

objectives above addresses a different aspect of inequality. I am making clear my commitment to tackling inequality by there 

being one driving principle behind this strategy, which is to ensure that no one is left behind. It should run through all of our 

work, whether that is supporting businesses in Surrey to thrive, improving health outcomes for our most vulnerable 

residents, tackling the challenges climate change presents, or helping to create the conditions for residents and 

communities to better support themselves.  

Our commitment to tackle inequality also extends to our equality, diversity, and inclusion ambitions, and I am determined 

that this refreshed strategy incorporates our equality objectives and sets out the actions we are taking to support our 

ambitions and the 2030 Community Vision outcomes.   

I want Surrey County Council to be recognised as the leading county council in England, driving innovation in local 

government, fit for the future and raising the bar in terms of the quality of outcomes we can secure with residents. How we 

meet the challenges facing us, and take advantage of the opportunities available, will be key to us achieving that goal.  

 

P
age 269

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

I look forward to working with you – residents, partners, Members and staff – to support the 2030 Vision and the people 

of this county to maximise their potential, achieving a better quality of life for all.  

  

Tim Oliver 

Leader of the Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 270

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

A COMMUNITY VISION FOR SURREY IN 2030 

Many people have provided their views about what they want Surrey to be like as a place to live in 2030. We have engaged 

with residents, council staff, businesses, universities and organisations from the public, voluntary, community and faith 

sectors to listen to what they value and their hopes for the future to develop a shared Community Vision for Surrey in 2030 

(the 2030 Vision).  

By 2030 we want Surrey to be a uniquely special place where everyone has a great start to life, people live healthy and fulfilling 

lives, are enabled to achieve their full potential and contribute to their community, and no one is left behind. 

We want our county’s economy to be strong, vibrant and successful and Surrey to be a great place to live, work and learn. A place 

that capitalises on its location and natural assets, and where communities feel supported and people are able to support each 

other. 

Our ambitions for people are: 

• Children and young people are safe and feel safe and confident 

• Everyone benefits from education, skills and employment opportunities that help them succeed in life 

• Everyone lives healthy, active and fulfilling lives, and makes good choices about their wellbeing 

• Everyone gets the health and social care support and information they need at the right time and place 

• Communities are welcoming and supportive, especially of those most in need, and people feel able to contribute to 

community life 

Our ambitions for our place are: 

• Residents live in clean, safe and green communities, where people and organisations embrace their environmental 

responsibilities 

• Journeys across the county are easier, more predictable and safer 

• Everyone has a place they can call home, with appropriate housing for all  

• Businesses in Surrey thrive 

• Well connected communities, with effective infrastructure, that grow sustainably 

P
age 271

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

OUR ORGANISATION STRATEGY IS OUR RESPONSE TO AND 

CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS THE COMMUNITY VISION FOR SURREY IN 

2030 

 

We share in a long term vision for Surrey and we will work alongside residents and partners to realise it. This is our plan 

for how, over the next five years, we will work towards achieving the outcomes in the 2030 Vision and focus on making a 

real difference to residents’ lives. 
 

OUR PURPOSE AND ROLES 
 

Everyone has a role in delivering the 2030 Vision. Collectively as partners we need to work better together and each of 

us has an individual responsibility to contribute to achieving the outcomes that Surrey’s residents deserve – this includes 

us at Surrey County Council. This is demonstrated within the Surrey Health & Wellbeing Strategy which represents 

collaborative working to address the root causes of poor health and wellbeing, address inequality of life expectancy and 

improve quality of life. It is also shown by the establishment of the One Surrey Growth Board, an alliance which brings 

together partners who have a vital role in safeguarding and supporting improvements to Surrey’s economy, homes, 

infrastructure and quality of life. 

 

We have a democratic mandate to represent and be a champion for all residents, and to deliver the best possible 

outcomes we can. We will focus on supporting the most vulnerable people in our communities and those who do not 

have the means or resources to help themselves. This will involve truly understanding residents’ needs, involving them as 

early as possible in service design and decision making, and using our resources in the most effective and efficient way. 

But as the resources available to us become more and more stretched, the way we deliver will need to take multiple 

forms.  

P
age 272

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 Sometimes we will be the organisation delivering a service 

 Sometimes we will do this alongside other agencies 

 Sometimes we will pay another organisation or business to deliver services 

 Sometimes we will act as a convenor, bringing people together to collectively solve challenges and grasp 

opportunities   

 And sometimes we will make resources and support available for communities to help themselves.  

Our contribution to delivering the 2030 Vision does not mean we will simply deliver services - our democratic mandate and 

place leadership role for the county puts us in a unique position. We can use this to support communities to help themselves 

and increase their responsibility for making their own lives better, or to work with Government and local partners to develop 

solutions together to improve life in the county. Given the limits on our resources, we also need to work smarter and put 

ourselves on a sustainable footing. We will organise our money, people and other resources in ways which improve 

outcomes for residents and focus on where it makes sense for us to do so. We will also make our decisions based on the 

best evidence available, so we are able to maximise the benefits for residents from every single pound we have to spend.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 273

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

STRATEGIC CONTEXT  

As a place, Surrey has a range of unique features and qualities that can create different challenges and opportunities. The statistics below set these in 

context. 

Population 
Surrey has a population of 1.19 million residents, made up of approximately 473,000 households 
which is expected to grow to 1.21 million by 2030  

More urban than England as a whole but some areas of Surrey have large numbers of residents living 
rurally 

Ageing population by 2030 the proportion of working age residents (16-64) and of younger people is 

expected to decrease and there are expected to be more residents aged over 65, and a 29% increase the 

number of over 85s 

 

Education and skills  
Nearly 262,000 children and young people live in Surrey. More than half of pupils achieve a strong 
pass (9-5) grade in English and Maths, compared to 43.4% nationally and 46.5% in the South East 

Highly qualified workforce over 50% of working age population hold a degree-level qualification 

Growing demand for services for children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities 

Generally low levels of deprivation in Surrey but in some areas over 20% of children are impacted 
by poverty. Pupils experiencing deprivation and those with additional needs are far less likely to do as 
well at school as their peers 

Health and wellbeing  
High life expectancy in most areas average life expectancy for men and women is approximately 2 
years higher than the national average. But there are significant disparities in healthy life expectancy, of 
up to 14 years between wards in the county 

Adults are generally healthy compared to the national average around 5% more adults are physically 
active, there are lower rates of obesity (c.5% less) and less people who are smokers (c.4% less) 

Ageing population likely to lead to increasing demand for services for vulnerable adults and those 
with long term and age-related medical conditions 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a negative impact on residents’ mental health and wellbeing, with 
over a quarter surveyed reporting they feel more anxious or stressed. The self-reported impact is 
significantly high amongst residents aged 16-34, with 37% responding they have felt greater levels of 
stress and anxiety during lockdown. 

Housing 
Expensive housing average house prices were £430,000 in 2018, an increase of 35% over the last 4 
years. Relative to average salaries, housing is four times less affordable than the national average 

Need for affordable housing especially for residents on low incomes 

Rising demand for homelessness services the number of households in temporary accommodation 

has risen by 181% since 2010 

Rough sleeping has significantly increased from 20 individuals in 2010 to 81 in 2019 – a 305% 

increase, suggesting that this is a growing problem for Surrey 

Communities 
About 70% of residents believe there is a strong sense of community in their local area. This is 
reflected in the county’s vibrant voluntary, community and faith sector, with approximately 6,000 
organisations and thousands of residents volunteering each year 

Over 93.5% of people in Surrey recorded that they were satisfied with their neighbourhood as a 
place to live  

Surrey is one of the safest places in England and Wales, with the 6th lowest recorded crime rate of 
the 43 police forces, and lower than average rates of victim based crime 

Reported knife crime among young people has increased in the previous two years by 50% 

Domestic violence has increased during the Covid-19 pandemic with incidents being 16.7% higher in 
May 2020 than the same period the previous year  

Environment and Infrastructure  
Surrey has one of the busiest road networks in the country, which carry double the national average 

traffic flow and make it the slowest county to drive around in the country 

More than 40% of residents work outside the county with nearly a quarter working in London prior 

to the Covid-19 pandemic additional capacity was needed on the train network to address overcrowding 

on commuter services 

Recycling rates in Surrey are better than the national average but landfill use has increased by 6.7% 

between 2017/18 and 2018/19 

Carbon emissions are falling, but not quickly enough to meet the council’s zero emissions target 

by 2050 for the county and need to fall by 46% against 2019 levels by 2025 to be on track for the target 

P
age 274

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Road transport is the main cause of air pollution in Surrey, and transport emissions remain high and 

in the top 6 of all UK Counties 

Residents have good access to woodland spaces with an estimated 24% woodland cover and a 

recent commitment by Surrey County Council to plant 1.2m trees 

Economy 
A strong economy (prior to Covid-19) worth £43 billion, which grew by 24% between 2010 and 2018 

Disparities in economic performance within Surrey, East Surrey’s GVA grew by just 7% between 2010 and 2018, compared to 32% in West Surrey 

Low unemployment rate of 2.3% in 2019, compared to 3.1% in the South East. However, as a result of Covid-19 the overall take up rate of the government Job Retention Scheme in Surrey was 28%. The Claimant 
Count for the period April to June 2020 increased by 277.8% in Surrey compared to the same period in 2019. This was a higher than the South East (170.4%) and national (120.9%) increases. 

High average earnings of £37,723pa above the regional and national averages 

Attractive to business with a 25% higher business density than the national average, but the rate of business births and growth in active businesses are falling in comparison to regional and national levels 

Middle workforce (aged 25-44) is expected to decline by 8% by 2030, who make up a large proportion of the skilled workforce and are a key driver of economic growth 

P
age 275

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

Our progress since 2018 

Since launching our Organisation Strategy in 2018 we have made significant 
progress towards achieving our ambitions for the county, and as a council. We 
faced significant financial challenges, but we have implemented a transformation 
programme to deliver better outcomes to improve residents’ lives, while also 
achieving £200m of efficiency savings. In stabilising the council’s finances, this has 
enabled us to set an ambitious capital programme to invest in the county’s 
infrastructure, alongside establishing a new community project fund which will 
provide £100million in capital funding for our residents to put towards projects to 
enhance their communities. 
 
We have delivered major reforms to children’s services, adult social care and the 

fire service to embed a preventative approach and support our residents’ 

independence. Through building stronger partnerships, we have been able to lead 

the way and innovate in health and social care integration, set bold shared 

commitments and plans on climate change, and strengthen local education and 

learning. Alongside this, we have improved our communication and engagement 

with residents to co-design services and deliver the best for them.  

As with all other parts of the country, the Covid-19 pandemic has been a 

significant shock for the county. There also remains ongoing uncertainty 

surrounding the UK’s future relationship with the EU following the end of the 

transition period, and the impact this could have for residents and on a range of 

services the council provides. The delivery of these transformative changes over 

the past couple of years, underpinned by our Organisation Strategy, has put us in 

the best position to manage effectively the potential outcomes for the county 

following the culmination of UK-EU negotiations, and deliver an effective response to the pandemic, driving forward Surrey’s 

recovery and future transformation.  

Our role during Covid-19 

We played, and continue to play, a vitally 

important role in leading the local response to 

Covid-19, to save lives, protect the NHS, 

ensure our residents are protected wherever 

possible and crucial council services continue 

to operate in these unprecedented times.  

In partnership with local health partners we 

helped establish NHS Headley Court, the first 

Seacole hospital in the UK dedicated to 

helping Covid-19 patients to recover from the 

long-term effects. We developed support for 

our most vulnerable residents through a 

Community Helpline which helped to deliver an 

offer of support in partnership with other local 

organisations and communities. We mobilised 

our communities to support with the donation 

of essential Personal Protective Equipment 

(PPE). This campaign led to voluntary groups 

producing PPE for frontline workers with over 

100,000 high specification PPE items donated 

in total. 

We must now use the lessons from Covid-19 

to build on, and embed, the positive ways of 

working that have emerged.  

P
age 276

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

The ambitious 2030 Vision for the county requires us to work closely with residents, businesses and our wider partners to 

prioritise our activity and resources on the outcomes that matter most to residents and will have the biggest impact on 

improving people’s quality of life. We continue to face financial challenges alongside rising demand for services. This 

situation has worsened as a result of Covid-19 and although we have received additional funding from Government, this falls 

short of what we require to meet the lost income and increased demand that has been brought about by the pandemic. It is 

clear that we will be unable to continue doing all the things we have done to this point.  

Through our experience in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic, our interaction with residents and partners, and analysis of 

the latest data, we are confident that the 2030 Vision remains the right destination. While the broad ambitions outlined 

remain valid, the way we get there needs to change. A sharper focus on a smaller group of priorities, based on themes 

emerging from evidence on the impact of Covid-19, will enable the organisation to prioritise activity. The data and insight we 

have (the strategic context section of this strategy presents a high-level summary) has highlighted four areas where we will 

increase our focus: 

4 

OUR FOCUS FOR THE NEXT FIVE YEARS: OUR FOUR PRIORITY 

OBJECTIVES  

P
age 277

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

Growing a sustainable economy so everyone 
can benefit 
We want to support people and businesses across 
Surrey to grow and recover following the Covid-19 
pandemic, maintaining Surrey as the strongest 
economy outside of London. Economic growth has a 
vital role to play in improving the health and wellbeing 
of residents and general living standards. 
 
Surrey has a strong economy with highly skilled 
residents, however its affluence masks inequalities, 
pockets of deprivation and growing disparity between 
east and west. We will proactively tackle economic 
inequality across the county to make sure economic 
growth is inclusive and something that everyone can 
benefit from. 
 
We will take on a proactive role in growing the local 
economy, working with partners and the business 
community to tackle unemployment, support key 
sectors most affected by the economic decline and 
assist businesses to re-build and re-establish 
themselves. 

Tackling health inequality 
Helping residents to stay healthy and well is key to improving 
residents’ quality of life and tackling inequality of life 
expectancy. Most of Surrey’s population lead happy and 
healthy lives, however this isn’t the case for all residents. 
Surrey has a growing and ageing population with more people 
likely to be living in worse health in their later years. The 
impacts of Covid-19 have widened existing inequalities across 
physical, mental and social health (for example issues of 
loneliness). Physical and mental health are often viewed in 
isolation, however each can directly impact upon the other. 
Preventing poor physical and mental wellbeing is key to 
maintaining good outcomes in Surrey whilst helping to close the 
gap and reduce inequalities. 
 
We will drive work across the system to reduce these widening 
health inequalities, ensuring the safety and wellbeing of our 
residents is at the forefront of our strategies and accelerating 
health and social care integration to respond to new demands. 
We will build on the strengths that residents have in their 
families and networks, supporting them to be independent and 
live safely at home so they stay connected to their communities 
and feel safe. 
 

 

P
age 278

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

Enabling a greener future 
We want to ensure that Surrey remains an attractive 
place full of opportunities, offering clean, safe and 
green communities. To do this we must tackle the 
causes of climate change and accelerate reductions in 
carbon emissions enough to meet our net zero carbon 
target by 2050. If current consumption continues, 
Surrey will use up its share of the global carbon 
budget – the total carbon emissions the world can 
‘afford’ if it is to avoid dangerous climate change – 
within eight yearsi. We need to do better as a county. 
 
We will build on behaviour changes and lessons learnt 
during Covid-19 lockdown to address environmental 
challenges, improve air quality and focus on green 
energy. Working with residents and our business 
community, we will encourage more decisive steps to 
reduce journeys, shift to an increased use of public 
and active transport modes, and accelerate the uptake 
of zero emission vehicle options. 
 
Through Surrey’s Climate Change Strategy we will 
work with people, organisations and businesses in the 
county to help them fulfil their responsibilities and be 
mindful of their impact on their local environment.  
 
 

Empowering communities 
We want to reinvigorate our relationship with residents, 

characterised by more people participating, engaging and 

having a role and say in how things are done on matters that 

impact them and where they live.  

We will focus on three key principles: 

 Empower - we will hand more powers and resources 

directly to communities to do things themselves 

 Enable - we will create the conditions for communities to 

achieve their priorities, and design the services we 

provide with those who use them, so they enable 

independence 

 Engage - we will make it easier for everyone to play an 

active role in the decisions that will shape Surrey’s 

future, using a mix of traditional and new engagement 

tools to enhance local democracy and extend our reach 

into communities 

 

To achieve this, we will develop a new model of local 

engagement that brings residents together with local 

government, other public services and broader partners to 

decide priorities, tackle local issues and grasp opportunities 

within communities across Surrey. 

 

P
age 279

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

OUR FOCUS FOR THE NEXT FIVE YEARS – OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLE 

The context within which we are all operating has significantly changed over the last decade and the current context of 
Covid-19 brings with it additional challenges. Some of the main challenges we faced before Covid-19 are still present or 
have been exacerbated, including population changes, rising demand for services and support, government policy changes, 
funding reductions and the impact of continued financial constraints.   

Evidence tells us that while many residents and businesses thrive in Surrey, not everyone has the same opportunities to 
flourish. Surrey is an affluent county and this image often disguises the problems that some residents face, such as 
domestic abuse, homelessness and mental health issues. While the uncertainty brought about by the ongoing pandemic 
makes it difficult to plan, we do know that the impacts of Covid-19 and lockdown measures have widened social, economic 
and health inequalities, with different impacts by age, race, poverty and wealth. We must take action on these inequalities, 
so that we can provide support early for some of Surrey’s most vulnerable residents and stimulate economic recovery and 
jobs growth.  
 
Tackle inequality in Surrey by focusing on ensuring no one is left behind 
 
We are proud of our county’s history and the diversity of our communities. Many people who choose to call Surrey home are 
thriving in our towns and villages, but sadly that is not the case for everyone. Inequality is a strong theme that runs through 
our evidence and insight about the experiences of our residents and communities. Inequality exists between places, such as 
the economic disparity between the east and west of the county, and inequality between and amongst communities, with 
people’s life chances and quality of life affected by a number of factors that drive these disparities. Our 2030 Vision sets out 
an aspiration to ensure that no one is left behind, and as a council we think it’s important to embody this as our guiding 
principle so that people can live happy and healthy lives, no matter where they live in the county.   
 
We believe that people should be supported to look after themselves and those they care for, so we want to work alongside 
them and their communities to help break down the barriers they face and support them to access opportunities so they can 
start life well, live well and age well.  
 

P
age 280

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

We believe an important measure of the difference we make is through residents’ life expectancy and we will work to 
improve this through intervening earlier, as well as creating the conditions for more opportunities for communities to 
participate in Surrey, and ensuring that benefits of economic growth are felt more widely.
 

 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) 
‘No one left behind’ is our guiding principle for everything we do and this underpins our commitments around EDI. We will be 

delivering a radical agenda for EDI to enable the council to become a more diverse and inclusive organisation bringing 

strength through difference.  

For residents this means engaging with them in different ways to ensure all voices are heard, which will help us better 

understand the drivers of inequality so we can take more effective action. For staff this means creating an environment 

where people feel comfortable to bring their whole self to work and a place that values difference by embracing people’s 

different perspectives to help tackle the challenges we face.  

A greater focus on EDI will have a transformative effect for residents and staff. Our ambition is to remove barriers and level 

the playing field to make it easier for people to engage with the council and access the services they might need. This will 

require us to target our resources effectively to support the most disadvantaged, redesign services in a smarter way to 

ensure they are inclusive and accessible to all, and develop a workforce that is more empathetic to the diverse needs of 

residents.  

To enhance the prominence of this agenda in our work and support us to achieve our ambitions, we have identified four 

equality objectives.  

Our equality objectives 

• Tackle economic inequality and disparity through ensuring that everyone has the education and skills they need and 

that the infrastructure of the county is accessible, so that all residents are able to access the jobs, homes and 

transport needed to share in the benefits of growth 

P
age 281

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

• Work to close the county's healthy life expectancy gap by focusing our resources on children and adults who need our 

services most so they can be healthy, independent, and thrive 

 

• Work with communities, through our new local engagement model, to make it easier for all residents to participate in 

local democracy, service design and decision-making 

 

• Deliver a radical work programme to strengthen the diversity of our workforce and move to a culture that values 

difference, where all staff feel they belong and have opportunities to succeed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 282

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

OUR CONTRIBUTION TO THE COMMUNITY VISION FOR SURREY IN 2030  

We will continue to deliver activities and services that contribute towards the ten outcomes set out in the 2030 Vision – with 

our emphasis being around four priority objectives and guiding principle of ‘no one left behind’.   

The impact of Covid-19 continues to be felt by our communities and this is likely to continue into the future. The activities 

outlined reflect not only our contribution to the 2030 Vision, but also how we will support the county in its recovery from the 

effects of the pandemic.  

To highlight some of the specific activities we will focus on to support our equality objectives, we have identified a number of 

statements in bold.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 283

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We have a key role in supporting children, young people and 
families to get the best outcomes in life. In Surrey, we believe 
that every child should have the opportunity to reach their 
potential and that children are best supported to grow and 
achieve within their own families. We recognise and value the 
different needs of children and families and the diversity within 
our communities.  
 

By collaborating in a more joined up way across our different 

services, working together with our partners and through closer 

integration with health colleagues, we will develop flexible 

services that are responsive to children’s and families’ needs 

and provide the right level of help at the right time. Alongside 

health partners we will continue to commission services which 

can identify families requiring additional support. This will shift 

focus away from managing short-term crises, towards effective 

help and support for children, young people and their families 

at an earlier stage. The key to success is to make sure the 

voices of our children, young people and families are heard so 

they can shape how we work with them to get the best results. 

 

We have taken some important steps to improve our practice 

and will continue our improvement as we work towards 

establishing outstanding services.  

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE ARE SAFE AND 
FEEL SAFE AND 
CONFIDENT 

We will: 

• Focus on offering help and meeting needs at the earliest opportunity, including 
embedding our helping family’s early strategy, which will promote the wellbeing 
and welfare of children and young people and reduce the demand on high cost, 
high need interventions 

• Adapt to the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic, working together to support 
families in collaboration with health services and partner agencies to ensure we 
can support acute needs resulting from domestic abuse, family breakdown and 
the impacts on mental health. 

• Take the best from national initiatives and develop our safeguarding adolescents 
service to provide wrap-around support to young people to reduce the risk of 
significant harm and where possible to prevent them coming into care.  

• We will prioritise our recruitment and retention efforts to ensure we have a stable 
and high performing workforce to deliver the best outcomes for children and 
families across Surrey, recognising the importance of good career development. 

• Continue to work in partnership to embed Effective Family Resilience in 
Surrey, strengthening protection and safeguarding, and using the full range 
of services to intervene as early as possible 

• Provide practical advice that builds resilience for children, young people, 
families and carers, which will enable them to make positive choices and 
resolve their own difficulties before accessing services 

• Improve the quality and diversity of foster care and its availability to ensure 
looked after children and young people are able to remain in Surrey and 
receive the support and stability they need 

• Ensure we have a diverse workforce, and that all practitioners have the 
capacity, skills and experience including ‘Motivational Interviewing’ to 
support and meet the diverse needs of children, young people and families 
using evidence-based interventions.  

• Develop a commissioning community, including closer integration with health and 
the voluntary sector that acknowledges the important role provider partners have 
in supporting our residents and driving better outcomes by ensuring the right 
services are available locally to meet the needs of our communities. 

• Work in partnership to focus on children’s first 1000 days to ensure they 
have the best possible start to life, enabling them to develop, thrive and be 

happy. 

P
age 284

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

EVERYONE BENEFITS 
FROM EDUCATION, 
SKILLS AND 
EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES THAT 
HELP THEM SUCCEED IN 
LIFE 

Surrey has a well-educated working age population – over 
half are qualified to degree level – and there is a good rate of 
employment. There are a wide range of high performing early 
years settings, schools and colleges. These good news 
stories can mask the experiences of some people in Surrey 
who have fewer opportunities, and are less likely to be 
employed, have good levels of skills or qualifications or doing 
well at school. The Covid-19 pandemic has adversely 
impacted employment for a significant number of residents. 
We are committed to supporting all residents to maximise 
their education and employment opportunities, so no one is 
left behind. 
 
There is a strong correlation between educational attainment, 
life expectancy, and self-reported health. We will prioritise to 
work with our partners to ensure our most vulnerable children 
and young people have the opportunity to reach their 
potential and are supported to achieve.  

We will: 

• Work with schools and other educational settings to support all 
children and young people to achieve their full potential 

• Support improvement of outcomes for children and young 
people with additional needs and vulnerabilities including those 
with special educational needs and disabilities and those who 
are disadvantaged 
 

• Improve the support to prepare children and young people for 
adulthood with the skills and qualifications to progress to 
employment  

 
• Develop of a strategic skills framework which clearly articulates how 

the skills system can support inclusion objectives linked to the 

economic development and growth plans for Surrey.  

• Help people of all ages to return to employment by working with 
partners to offer opportunities to improve skills through 
volunteering, work experience or apprenticeship opportunities. 
This also includes improving access to careers and training 
information, mentoring opportunities, advice and guidance 
 

• Develop a targeted recruitment approach for apprenticeships for 
looked after children, care leavers and young people not in 
education, employment or training to include work experience 
and pre-apprenticeship style programmes to ensure they have 
the same opportunities as their peers 
 

• Promote and inspire science, technology, engineering and maths 
(STEM) training and career opportunities to fill future gaps in key 
sectors of Surrey’s economy 
 

• Promote our libraries, heritage, arts services and outdoor learning as 
places to learn and gain knowledge and skills for children, young 
people and adults 

 

P
age 285

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

 

EVERYONE LIVES 
HEALTHY, ACTIVE AND 
FULFILLING LIVES AND 
MAKES GOOD CHOICES 
ABOUT THEIR 
WELLBEING 

Surrey has a generally healthy population, with life expectancy 
high in most parts of the county, but with significant disparities in 
life expectancy felt between wards. Helping residents to stay 
healthy and well is key to improving residents’ quality of life and 
tackling inequality of life expectancy. The Covid-19 pandemic will 
require us to have a greater focus on this ambition and work 
collaboratively to support residents through the current challenges 
and the future impacts on health and mental wellbeing.  
 
The Surrey Health & Wellbeing Strategy describes our collective 
ambition with partners to improve health outcomes in the county 
through an approach centred around prevention and creating a 
healthy and proactive environment where people feel able to take 
ownership of their health. Whilst all services will be essential in 
achieving this, we lead programmes and commission preventative 
services that are likely to be well recognised by residents, such as 
stopping smoking services, programmes to promote physical 
activity, responsible drinking and our sexual health and substance 
misuse treatment services. Through the use of local evidence, they 
aim to address the greatest needs in the population to support 
better physical and mental health outcomes. 
 

We will: 
• Work with partners to address the wider determinants of 

health such as education, housing, the built environment, 
air quality and healthy workplaces that impact on the 
physical and mental wellbeing outcomes of residents 
 

• Provide public health information to enable people to make 
decisions about their physical and mental wellbeing that are 
based on what is effective and what is available locally to 
support them 
 

• Improve the life chances of our residents with a key focus 
on the most vulnerable by supporting them to make 
healthier lifestyle choices, reduce loneliness and help 
them actively contribute to their communities 

 

• Work with residents and partners to develop shared 
projects that prevent poorer health and encourage lifelong, 
healthier lifestyle choices 
 

• Work in partnership to support the mental health and 
emotional wellbeing of those living and working in Surrey 
with a focus on enabling access to the right help and 
resources and reducing the level of social isolation people 
experience. 
 

• Work with partners to provide opportunities for people to 

improve their physical and mental wellbeing through 

creative and active programmes 

 

• Continue to review, understand and respond to the ongoing 

and lasting impact of Covid-19 on the physical and mental 

health of those living and working in Surrey to inform local 

service provision and how the needs of those most impacted.  

can be met effectively  

 

P
age 286

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

EVERYONE GETS THE 
HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE SUPPORT AND 
INFORMATION THEY NEED 
AT THE RIGHT TIME AND 
PLACE 

Surrey’s population is growing rapidly, with more 

people living longer and consistently high birth 

rates. We have a responsibility to respond to the 

growing shared health and social care needs that 

come with these population changes, while 

taking into account increasing complexity in 

resident needs. We will accelerate the integration 

of health and social care to deliver services that 

secure the best possible outcomes. We will use 

a strengths-based approach to focus on what is 

most important to people, recognise their 

strengths and networks, help them to stay 

connected to their communities and feel safe.   

We will: 
 

• Build upon the strengths and resources people have in 
their family, friends and community to help themselves 
and each other 

 
• Work with our health and community partners to support 

people to live independently, prevent admission to hospital 
and help people to return home 

 
• Focus on short term help that promotes independence and 

then assess for the long term when people are at their best 
through being in a familiar environment 
 

• Work with partners to accelerate the integration of health and 
social care so residents are served by an efficient, effective 
system that improves their outcomes 
 

• Implement new service models in our learning disability, 
mental health and reablement services to support people 
to live independently 
 

• Make the best use of technology, work with communities to 
grow preventative services and look for innovative solutions 
to secure better outcomes for people  
 

• Ensure peoples’ needs are met by skilled staff who offer a 
consistent and good quality service 
 

• Work with providers to ensure a range of flexible and 
financially sustainable care and support services are 
available in local communities to meet need 

 

P
age 287

9



Surrey County Council Organisation Strategy 
 

 
 

COMMUNITIES ARE 
WELCOMING AND 
SUPPORTIVE, 
ESPECIALLY OF THOSE 
MOST IN NEED, AND 
PEOPLE FEEL ABLE TO 
CONTRIBUTE TO 
COMMUNITY LIFE 

Our residents feel a strong sense of community in 
their local area, with people from different 
backgrounds enjoying and contributing to their 
communities together. We will deliver a fundamental 
shift in how we work in partnership, supporting, 
facilitating and empowering our communities to help 
themselves. We will focus our support on the most 
vulnerable people in communities, and those who 
do not have the means or resources to help 
themselves, to ensure no one is left behind. 
Together with partners and residents we all share a 
responsibility to maintain community spirit by 
fostering an inclusive and secure place for everyone 
living and working in Surrey.  
 

We will: 
 

• Build stronger and more effective relationships 
with our partners, including with the voluntary, 
community and faith sector, to better support local 
communities and the well-being of residents 
 

• Change the way we engage with communities, 
including better use of digital tools, to make it 
easier for everyone to have an active role in 
the decisions that will shape Surrey’s future 
 

• Work with partners and residents to establish 
conditions in the county that better empower 
and enable communities to develop inclusive 
projects and initiatives that respond to local 
needs and issues, particularly for the most 
vulnerable to prevent problems from growing 
to crises 

 
• Explore new ways of working with 

communities to take a place-based approach 
to tackling persistent issues such as the 
inequality in physical and mental health 
outcomes in different parts of the county 

 

P
age 288

9



 

 

RESIDENTS LIVE IN 
CLEAN, SAFE AND GREEN 
COMMUNITIES WHERE 
PEOPLE AND 
ORGANISATIONS 
EMBRACE THEIR 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

Residents say they value living in Surrey as it is clean, has a 
number of open, green spaces (including some Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty) and feels safe. They are clear that 
they want these aspects of Surrey to be preserved for future 
generations, pollution to be minimised and for Surrey to continue 
being a county with a low crime rate.  
 
The safety of our residents is a critical part of their wellbeing. 
Whilst Surrey remains a relatively low crime county, too many 
people continue to be affected by crime and antisocial behaviour. 
Through the Covid-19 pandemic instances of domestic abuse have 
increased significantly and we will work collectively to tackle the 
causes and help residents to feel safe from harm. 
 
We declared a climate emergency in July 2019 and have started to 
work towards Surrey becoming a carbon-neutral county. We will 
work with people and organisations in Surrey to help them fulfil 
their responsibilities for being mindful of their impact on their local 
environment. 
 

 We will: 

• Work with partners to make Surrey a safer place to live, 

work, travel and do business. We will protect residents 

from harm both physically and financially through our 

prevention and protection work by effectively preparing 

for and responding to emergencies. We will do this by 

further enhancing road safety, tackling rogue traders, and 

other deceptive, unsafe, and illegal practices 

 

• Work with partners to tackle serious and organised 

crime, domestic abuse, modern slavery, human 

trafficking, radicalisation and terrorism 

 

• Work with partners and residents to continue minimising 

the amount of waste sent to landfill 

 

• Improve access to the countryside, conserve and 

protect its biodiversity and work towards making it 

financially sustainable, while encouraging residents 

to use green spaces, increase physical activity and 

improve their mental health and emotional well-being 

 

• Reduce our carbon footprint through rationalisation of our 

operational and non-operational estates, and supporting 

new, agile, ways of working across our workforce 

P
age 289

9



 

 
 

 

  

JOURNEYS ACROSS THE 
COUNTY ARE EASIER, 
MORE PREDICTABLE 
AND SAFER 
 
Surrey has some of the busiest transport infrastructure in 
the country. We are responsible for 3,300 miles of roads, 
which are well used with a rising trend of vehicles 
registered within the county, rising volumes of traffic and 
higher than average daily traffic flow. While 62% of 
residents commute by car, Surrey is served by a busy rail 
network, with main and branch lines connecting London 
to the South East and South West running through 
Surrey. The Covid-19 pandemic has seen travel patterns 
radically change as residents have been required to work 
from home or not been able to do the same leisure 
activities. As a result, we have an opportunity to 
capitalise on these changing transport patterns to support 
our longer term ambitions to improve how residents make 
journeys in the county.  

We have a role in maintaining Surrey’s transport 
infrastructure to enable residents to travel as freely and 
easily as possible. This includes working within 
partnerships, such as Transport for the South East, to 
influence and support investments in greener transport 
infrastructure, such as electric vehicle charging and LED 
street lighting, as well as building reciprocal relationships 
with local people to help influence behaviour and help 
them make considered choices about the way they 
choose to travel. 

We will:  
 

• Encourage our workforce, partners and residents to use 
low-carbon and environmentally sympathetic means of 
transport across the county wherever possible 

 

• Maintain Surrey’s highway network, and work with third 
party utility companies who work on Surrey’s roads, to 
minimise their disruption to residents 
 

• Engage with key stakeholders to help people travel within 
the county quickly, easily, safely and efficiently 
 

• Collaborate with partners, including public transport 
providers, district and borough councils and the 
voluntary, community and faith sector, to help support 
those who are physically and financially unable to 

provide their own transport 

P
age 290

9



 

 
 

 

  

BUSINESSES IN SURREY 
THRIVE 
 Surrey has a strong economy with highly skilled residents 
contributing significantly to the national economy. 
However, the Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant 
impact on businesses in the county with a 14.3% 
reduction in GVA projected for Surrey.  Through the 
restrictions imposed to slow the spread of the virus, 
some firms have been able to adapt and are innovating 
and thriving, but many other businesses have been 
forced to stop trading entirely. 
 
The council has a key leadership role to ensure the local 
economy can adapt and benefit all. We will work closely 
with our partners and the business community as 
economic growth has a vital role in improving the health 
and wellbeing of residents and general living standards.  
 
With partners, we will play our part in ensuring that 
businesses can operate safely, assist businesses to re-
build and re-establish themselves or support businesses 
that have grown due to the pandemic.  
 

We will:  
 Co-ordinate and agree joint strategic priorities for economic growth 

in the interest of Surrey to ensure a clarity of purpose for all 
partners.  

 Ensure we are Covid Secure & Resilient – bringing together the 
council’s services, regulatory and public health functions to provide 
effective and practical advice, guidance and support to businesses 
to help them operate in line with Government guidance  

 Design and deliver a new Surrey Trade and Investment Programme 
with including activity to support business retention, investment and 
growth within Surrey  

 Develop a strong inward investment proposition and support 
package which promotes Surrey as a place to invest   

 Implement measures that can help high streets to adapt as hyper-
local centres that can provide a high quality of life, education 
opportunities, and leisure activities for residents 

 Continue to work with Local Enterprise Partnerships, districts and 
boroughs, universities, businesses and other partners to promote 
economic growth. In particular, drive towards achieving the strategic 
principles of Surrey’s 2050 Place Ambition and making the case for 
additional investment in the county 

 Embed a low carbon focus across our economic interventions. For 

example, taking a sectoral focus on how we will support Surrey’s 

business base in the green economy sector 

 Encourage businesses to use their resources to create social 

value in the communities where they are based. 

P
age 291

9



 

 
 

  

EVERYONE HAS A PLACE 
THEY CAN CALL HOME, 
WITH APPROPRIATE 
HOUSING FOR ALL 

Surrey is a growing county and people value the 
opportunity to live here. Everyone deserves to have 
a place to call home and residents are clear that the 
county needs more affordable and social housing, 
while maintaining its green spaces and natural 
assets.  Alongside partners we have a role in the 
provision of housing for vulnerable residents, such 
as supported accommodation.  
 
By working with partners, our role is to help 
facilitate the county’s housing needs – which 
means enabling housing growth, developing the 
infrastructure to support this and maintaining 
spaces that residents cherish. 
 
 

We will: 
 

 

 Work with Surrey’s one public estate team 
and other partners to deliver new 
affordable and social housing for residents, 
contributing to Surrey’s growing 
communities 
 

 Work with industry leaders and partners to 
ensure communities have the available 
opportunities to contribute and benefit 
from the changes that economic growth 
brings 

P
age 292

9



 

 
 

 

  WELL CONNECTED 
COMMUNITIES WITH 
EFFECTIVE 
INFRASTRUCTURE, THAT 
GROW SUSTAINABLY 

Surrey has an array of different communities, some of 
which are more connected – physically and digitally – 
and possess more available infrastructure than others. 
As our economy grows, we have a responsibility to 
develop Surrey’s communities, ensuring they all 
experience modern connectivity and accessible 
infrastructure that supports them. This includes 5G 
connectivity, schools, transport, retail and health 
services. This will ensure communities can continue to 
prosper and have the support to enable them to 
develop. Where communities are being regenerated, 
we will work with everybody in the area to create 
opportunities for people to both contribute and benefit 
from the changes in a way that makes the growth 
sustainable. At the same time, we will work to preserve 
the distinctiveness of individual communities. 
 

We will:  
 

• Work with industry leaders and partners to 
transition to a ‘green economy’ for Surrey and to 
ensure communities have the available 
opportunities to contribute and benefit from the 
changes that growth brings 
 

• Ensure better digital connectivity and facilitate 
accessible infrastructure across rural areas 
 

• Improve resilience of critical transport infrastructure 
against current and future threats. Plan future 
infrastructure to be adaptable and protect against 
potential impacts associated with climate change 
aligned to economic ambitions 
 

• Work more effectively with partners to develop 
existing infrastructure such as community facilities, 
libraries, schools, retail, transport, health services 
and other public sector services 
 

• Work with developers, partners and funding bodies to 
improve and grow Surrey’s transport and digital 
infrastructure so that it meets the needs of growing 
communities 

P
age 293

9



 

 
 

HOW WE WILL TRANSFORM AS A COUNCIL 

Transforming our organisation and its culture is key to delivering our contribution to the 2030 Vision.  We have 

made significant progress towards achieving the ambitions of our transformation programme, which is designed 

to fundamentally reform the function, form and focus of the council. Transforming the organisation will enable us 

to add more value, make greater impact and improve services so they deliver the best possible long-term 

outcomes for residents while balancing our budget and better managing demand. 

This programme has established the foundations for change including stronger leadership, governance, project 

discipline, assurance and change management, and has enabled us to accelerate our ambitions.  

We are continuing to purposefully redesign the council and how things are done so there is the capacity and 

capability to succeed now and in the future. 

Our focus areas are... 

Customer experience 

Every time a customer interacts with us, it shapes their experience. We want to improve this experience by 

creating a different type of relationship; one where customers feel empowered and engaged. By being more 

efficient, proactive and connected in our approach, we will reduce costs and focus on making sure the most 

vulnerable people in our communities receive the support they need. 

Customers currently transact, interact and get information from us in different ways. We will improve their 
experience by streamlining our internal processes and expanding our single point of access arrangements to 
make contacting the council simpler and to reduce duplication and hand-offs. This will help us get things right 
first time more often, provide more consistency and help shape demand for our services by providing advice and 
information at an early stage. 
  

P
age 294

9



 

 
 

We will also continue to make better use of digital technology to improve online self-serve options, as well as 
explore opportunities to deliver services differently. By working with others to enable those people that can to be 
self-sufficient and access our services online at times and places that suit them, we will free up capacity to 
support those who need us the most.  
  
We will actively engage with our customers and use data to better understand and predict their current and 
future needs, so we can be proactive and deliver our services in a way that puts our customers first and 
enhances their experience of dealing with us. 
 

Stronger partnerships 

We cannot deliver the 2030 Vision on our own. We need to work effectively in partnership with residents, 

businesses, partners and communities to develop a shared view of the issues we face, and solutions we can 

deliver together. We will revisit the principles outlined in the partnership commitment developed with partners in 

2018 (Annex A) to ensure it is being used to guide our partnership activity. We will embed a partnership mindset 

across the council, involving residents and our partners earlier in decisions, finding new ways to work 

collaboratively together. We will also build on the unique opportunity we have through our democratic mandate 

to be the voice of Surrey and drive place based leadership – bringing partners together to collectively solve the 

challenges we face and grasping the opportunities for our people and places that will enable us to deliver on our 

shared vision.  

The significant value of partnerships in Surrey has most recently been demonstrated throughout the Covid-19 

crisis with communities coming together to support each other in many remarkable ways, alongside local 

government, the voluntary, community and faith sector, and other partner organisations. We want to build on the 

learning from these new ways of working and overcome organisational barriers to enter a new era of partnership 

working in Surrey, with communities at the centre.  

 

P
age 295

9



 

 
 

 

Transformation and reform 

Since 2018 our transformation programme has delivered significant service improvements and £86m of 

efficiencies to stabilise the council’s finances. Although we had to adjust our planned programmes in response to 

the Covid-19 pandemic, we were still able to achieve further efficiencies and improvements. 

This has included enhancing customer experience by creating new, easier ways to contact the council, changing 

the way we work by enabling staff to work flexibly and remotely, modernising the response model of our fire 

service, and improving our offers to those who use children’s and adult social care services. 

Key to the successful delivery of these programmes has been working closely with residents and partners. We 

have actively sought their views in areas including climate change, libraries and countryside management. This 

approach to co-design has enabled the provision of services that aim to meet both the needs and expectations 

of residents. 

Transformation is an ongoing process and we are regularly reviewing and refreshing the work that we do, 

prioritising activities that deliver efficiencies, support our strategic objectives, and deliver the outcomes that 

residents want.     

We will work with our partners to further broaden our approach to transformation supporting wider public service 

reform, that ensures public services are working together for the benefit of residents. This will build on the 

advanced partnership already in place between health and local government to deliver the Surrey Heartlands 

devolution deal and explore further opportunities for devolution and reform. 

Financial management  

Our objective is to be a financially sustainable council with a strong culture of financial management, 

accountability and evidence-based decision-making across the organisation.  We will spend our money in the 

P
age 296

9



 

 
 

most efficient and effective ways, so we can have the greatest impact on improving people’s quality of life and 

ensure we provide the best value for money to our residents. 

Over recent years the council has continued to achieve significant savings, moving away from the planned use 

of reserves to balance the budget.  In 2020/21 we increased our general fund reserve and provided further 

resilience through a significantly increased contingency.  The impact of Covid-19 in the latter part of 2019/20 and 

into 2020/21 has tested our financial resilience.  We could not have weathered the pandemic without the 

significant financial improvements we have undertaken over the last 2 years. 

Looking forward, significant changes are proposed to the way in which local government will be funded which 

presents risks and uncertainties over the medium-term. We are also likely to see more of a whole system 

approach to funding, such as the approach taken to integrated care systems with the NHS. We are well placed 

to proactively react as a result of the dedication by the organisation to address financial challenges however, we 

must continue to do all that we can continue to ensure we are resilient over the coming years. 

We have undertaken a significant amount of work to ensure that budget managers have greater financial 

awareness, accountability and confidence to better understand the financial implications of their decisions. We 

will continue to support our managers to build their knowledge and financial management capabilities. We have 

firmly embedded a business partnering approach to support, advise and guide the business on all financial 

matters. 

Agile, diverse and motivated workforce 

Our people are crucial to the successful delivery of our residents’ priorities.   

We will ensure everyone has a thorough understanding of our role and ambitions for our communities and will be 

driven by a strong collective purpose. We are already carrying out ground-breaking work with health and other 

partners and will continue focusing on working together, building and strengthening relationships between 

P
age 297

9



 

 
 

residents, communities and partner organisations and developing a shared sense of responsibility in delivering 

great outcomes. 

Our People Workforce Strategy sets out how we will develop the capacity and capability of our workforce to 

enable us to achieve our priorities. We will transform and modernise our ways of working and be more agile to 

meet our future challenges. We will use the findings from ‘Our Conversation’ (an organisation wide engagement 

activity for staff to share their experiences of remote working through the Covid-19 pandemic) to move towards 

an inclusive agile working culture. We will have a highly productive and motivated workforce which is outcomes 

focussed and high performing as well as collaborative, flexible and mobile.  

We want to be an organisation recognised for putting equality, diversity and inclusivity at the heart of everything 

we do and where every single member of staff has the opportunity to reach their full potential, recognising the 

most talented and diverse workforce brings strength through difference. This extends to diversity of thinking; we 

know it is the difference in experience, background and perspectives people bring that are crucial to innovation, 

for the benefit of our residents. 

We will develop our leaders to inspire, motivate and enthuse people and will identify the skills needed to deliver 

the best for our residents and provide clear career progression routes, enabling us to develop a pipeline of future 

leaders. We will be recognised as a truly great place to work; an organisation that attracts and retains the very 

best people. 

Our culture  

Our organisational culture directly affects our performance and ability to deliver the best possible outcomes and 

value for residents.  

As the council’s role and impact changes, how we think and behave as an organisation also needs to adapt and 

develop. We are shifting our culture towards one that is agile, outward-looking, collaborative, open and focused. 

P
age 298

9



 

 
 

We want to develop a culture of inclusion, nurturing talent, promoting diversity and creating connected employee 

communities. 

We will develop new patterns of thinking and working that reflect the modern society in which we operate and 

enable the organisation to effectively adapt, change and perform sustainably, in line with the 2030 Vision. 

Digital and data 

Innovations in digital technology and the use of data are reshaping our society, economy, culture and lifestyles. 

Digital innovation is central to the continued transformation of how our organisation operates, interacts with 

residents and partners, and delivers enhanced outcomes for the people and place of Surrey.  

The Digital Strategy sets out the council’s digital ambition. We will adopt a digital approach in order to achieve 

the vision to be ‘Living’ as a Digital Council by 2025. This approach includes using digital technologies, data and 

insights that inform designs and decision making and redesigned business models that address key challenges. 

In order to successfully deliver transformed services our staff will need the ability to work almost anywhere, 

whenever, wherever, to collaborate and contribute without constraints. We will support culture change within 

services, provision of equipment for smarter working, maximising use of the property portfolio and reducing 

unproductive time for staff. 

Data is a vital asset that can help us to transform the way we design, deliver and transform our services to 

improve outcomes for residents, drive efficiencies, and achieve greater collaboration. Through our adoption of 

digital technologies, we will generate a greater volume and variety of new data and at much greater speeds. This 

has the potential to unlock new insights and enable better and faster decision making. Being more data-driven 

will further develop our understanding of the people and places in Surrey, where needs are located and how we 

are collectively responding to those needs. 

We will improve the way we use our data and our analytical capabilities to better manage our performance and 

develop greater intelligence about demand and the needs of the residents, communities and places. With 

P
age 299

9



 

 
 

partners, we will use data to help predict future demand for services and design and deliver preventative 

solutions.  

P
age 300

9



 

 
 

MEASURING SUCCESS 

Success is determined by the collective ability of public sector organisations, the voluntary, community and faith 

sector, businesses and residents to achieve the outcomes set out in the 2030 Vision. Each individual 

organisation has a responsibility to contribute towards achieving the outcomes, but success will be a result of 

our combined efforts. Knowing if we are making the progress we all want to see will rely upon transparent and 

accountable performance monitoring. 

Beyond measuring Key Performance Indicators, we must embed a performance culture across the organisation, 

so that every individual in the council can link their daily work back to the deliverables set out in this strategy and 

the 2030 Vision for Surrey. 

We will publish success measures annually which clearly track our performance and delivery towards the 2030 

Vision outcomes. We will develop an outcomes-based performance framework with indicators that will track and 

monitor our progress.  Scrutiny will be an important part of the process to ensure we remain on track. This will be 

internal through the council’s scrutiny processes but also through the inclusion of partners and residents in our 

performance monitoring process to ensure a comprehensive evaluation of progress.  

P
age 301

9



 

 
 

ANNEX A – PARTNERSHIP COMMITMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           

We are here for the people of Surrey. Together we’re unlocking the county’s strengths in communities, 
businesses, public organisations and the voluntary, community and faith sector. Through sharing ideas, skills 
and resources we will create the future we all want to see, and deliver the 2030 Vision.  

We will be… 

Ambitious 

We’re creative and innovative in 
our thinking and approach, and 
we adopt a future and forward 
thinking attitude.  
We take pride in what we all do, 
and inspire each other. Every 
partner is respected and has an 
equal right to be heard and 
involved in decisions affecting 
them.  
We’re flexible with each other, 
residents and communities, to 
think creatively about tackling 
issues in new ways. 

Empowering 

We’ll seek to involve everyone in 
the design of solutions and we 
actively encourage people and 
organisations to participate in 
community activity.   
We work together to grow active 
and participatory communities that 
feel a genuine sense of ownership 
and responsibility for the people 
and environment around them.  
We’ll engage with residents and 
communities earlier, giving voice 
to new and underrepresented 
ideas.  

Open 

We put trust at the foundation of 
every partnership – openness, 
transparency and honesty are 
important to us.  
We champion openness and 
sharing quality and consistent 
data and insights in order to 
secure better outcomes for 
residents. 
We’re open to new ideas and 
doing things differently, and we’ll 
support each other to work in 
new ways.  

P
age 302

9



Community Vision 2030
We want Surrey to be a uniquely special place where everyone has a great start in life, people live healthy and fulfilling lives, are enabled to achieve their full 

potential and contribute to their community and where no one is left behind. Where our economy thrives and grows, in balance with our beautiful natural 
environment. While many residents and businesses thrive in Surrey, not everyone has the same opportunities to flourish so our focus for the next five years will 

be guided by the principle of tackling inequality and ensuring no-one is left behind

Growing a sustainable economy 
so everyone can benefit

Support people and businesses across 
Surrey to grow during the economic 
recovery and re-prioritise 
infrastructure plans to adapt to the 
changing needs and demands of 
residents at a time of financial 
challenges

Tackling health inequality 
Drive work across the system to reduce 
widening health inequalities, increasing 
our focus on addressing mental health 
and accelerating health and social 
care integration to reduce demand on 
services while improving health 
outcomes for residents

Enabling a greener future
Build on behaviour changes and 
lessons learnt during lockdown to 
further progress work to tackle 
environmental challenges, improve air 
quality and focus on green energy to 
make sure we achieve our 2030 net 
zero target

Empowering communities
Reinvigorate our relationship with 
residents, empowering communities to 
tackle local issues and support one 
another, while making it easier for 
everyone to play an active role in the 
decisions that will shape Surrey’s 
future

Four priority objectives (‘dial up’ areas)

Transforming the council

Digital and Data
We will embrace digital solutions and take 

a data-driven approach to transforming 
our organisation and services we deliver 

for residents

Stronger Partnerships
We will focus on building stronger and more 

effective partnerships with residents, other public 
services and businesses to collectively meet 

challenges and take opportunities

Agile, diverse and motivated workforce
We will embed new agile ways of working and provide 
staff with the tools and support to be high performing 
and outcomes-focussed. We will put equality, diversity 
and inclusivity at the heart of everything we do, valuing 

the strength of a diverse workforce

Transformation and reform
We will continue our comprehensive 

transformation programme to improve outcomes 
for residents, deliver efficiencies and make sure 
financial sustainability underpins our approach

Customer experience
We will get better at seeing things from a 
resident’s perspective, giving customers a 
simpler and more consistent experience

Financial Management
We will spend our money in the most efficient and 
effective ways, so we can have the greatest impact 
on improving people’s quality of life and ensure we 
provide the best value for money to our residents

Our Focus for the Next 5 Years: 2021 – 26 (design tbc)

P
age 303

9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MR MEL FEW, CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES 

 

 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

MRS JULIE ILES, CABINET MEMBER FOR ALL-AGE LEARNING 

MRS MARY LEWIS, CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN, YOUNG 
PEOPLE AND FAMILIES 

PATRICIA BARRY- DIRECTOR FOR LAND AND PROPERTY 

SUBJECT: DELIVERY OF CARE LEAVERS ACCOMMODATION, A LIBRARY 
AND FAMILY CENTRE IN CATERHAM HILL  

  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

This paper sets out the business case for the redevelopment of the current site of Caterham 
Hill library to provide a new purpose-built facility bringing services closer to residents. It 
proposes the delivery of a multi-functional building that will be owned freehold by Surrey 
County Council (SCC) and will include; a new library to replace the existing library onsite; a 
new Family Centre within the area of need as well as accommodation for care leavers’ in 
support of the Councils Looked After and Adopted Children (LAAC) strategy.  

By 2030 we want Surrey to be a uniquely special place where everyone has a great start to 
life, people live healthy and fulfilling lives, are enabled to achieve their full potential and 
contribute to their community, and no one is left behind. Delivery of this scheme will 
contribute to this vision by focussing on vulnerable individuals who without support from 
those services would be left behind and experience poor outcomes. 
 
There is growing demand for, and a shortage of, accommodation for care leavers within 
Surrey.  Consequently, each year the Council places young adults in out of county 
accommodation at high cost and away from their families and support networks. The 
redevelopment of an existing SCC asset not only provides this much needed 
accommodation but also delivers a fit for purpose community facility for the delivery of a 
library and Family Centre.  

The business case aligns with the Council’s Forward Plan and Community Vision for 2030 
and improving the outcomes for children and families whilst also building on the ‘place’ 
agenda.   

This paper seeks Cabinet approval for capital funds to deliver the scheme.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Agrees to transfer £5.6m (excluding VAT) from the pipeline budget for the proposed 
scheme; redevelopment of the existing library site to provide accommodation for care 
leavers, a library and Family Centre.  

Page 305

10

Item 10



 
 

2. Delegates’ authority to the Director of Land and Property and the Cabinet Member for 

Resources for awarding the contract to redevelop the site which includes 

construction works.  

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 The proposal will provide a new community facility with excellent facilities which will 
make a positive difference to the lives of local residents and help to regenerate this 
area of Caterham. When completed, this scheme will provide a well-designed, 
sustainable building for a range of users.  

 The proposed scheme offers an opportunity to build on an existing SCC freehold 
asset.   

 The proposals would distinctly enhance the quality of accommodation for care 
leavers.  

 This will provide for the delivery of a fit for purpose accommodation for community 
provisions, namely, a library and Family Centre.  

DETAILS: 

Overview 

1. Caterham Hill library is a single use, freehold, asset which requires c£440,000 (excluding 

VAT) planned maintenance works over the course of the next five years, whilst also 

requiring additional investment to provide a ‘modern library’ due to its deteriorated and 

out of date condition.  

 

2. By utilising the Council’s existing estate portfolio we can optimise the site for service use 

whilst also reducing ongoing service costs. The redeveloped site will be a shared service 

facility which is being developed in conjunction with representatives across the Children, 

Families & Learning directorate.   

 

3. The proposals are to redevelop the existing site to provide fit for purpose, flexible 

community space on the ground floor for both the library and a Family Centre whilst also 

delivering residential accommodation on the above floors. The delivery of this scheme 

will support:  

 Looked After and Adopted Children (LAAC) strategy - The delivery of residential units 
for care leavers will reduce the service’s ongoing revenue costs and provide in-
house, in-county fit for purpose accommodation improving outcomes for young 
people; 

 Library and Cultural Services strategy - delivery of fit for purpose, co-located 
accommodation which reduces their ongoing service costs will deliver the outcomes 
of the services 2020-2025 service strategy which was approved at Cabinet in 
November 2019;  

 Family Resilience programme – based on the outcomes of the Children’s (Family) 
Centre consultation and the delivery of an appropriate Family Centre within an area 
of need will support the outcomes of the Family Resilience programme.  

 
4. It is proposed that additional services, for example health, will be able to access the 

space to deliver targeted and/or universal services. Other SCC services for example 
social care teams, will have access to use the facilities if needed to meet families and 
touch down to use hot desk facilities.  

 
5. By 2030 we want Surrey to be a uniquely special place where everyone has a great start 

to life, people live healthy and fulfilling lives, are enabled to achieve their full potential 

Page 306

10



 
 

and contribute to their community, and no one is left behind. Delivery of this scheme will 

contribute to this vision by focussing on vulnerable individuals who without support from 

those services would be left behind and experience poor outcomes.  

6. This is in line with the Asset and Place strategy; co-locating services together, supporting 
service improvement whilst optimising and improving the Councils estate.  

 
Looked After and Adopted Children (LAAC) Strategy – Care Leavers Service 

7. A significant issue for the Care Leavers’ Service is the lack of suitable good quality 

accommodation within Surrey. This means a number of young people are placed outside 

of the county. This has been raised as a concern by Ofsted as it makes it more difficult 

for Surrey-based staff to support these young people. More importantly it makes it more 

difficult for young people to have continued links with their family, community and 

education. Finally, the costs of placing young people in private accommodation are 

significant and not covered by the level of housing benefit received. 

 

8. At the current time there is no care leavers accommodation provided by the Council. All 

provision is currently externally commissioned and of 50 providers, only 8 are based 

within Surrey. This accommodation tends to be provided in larger hostel-type 

environments which is not always conducive to meeting the needs of vulnerable care 

leavers who have experienced trauma.  

 

9. Currently the majority of Surrey care leavers needing support are placed in externally 
commissioned supported accommodation. The majority of these are placed out of 
county. It is projected that as the current population of looked after children become 
older and eligible for support as care leavers, additional accommodation places for 16 to 
17year olds will be required between 2020 and 2025, and further additional places for 
those over 18 during the same period. 

 
10. Benchmarking against comparative local authority areas, where an in-county, internally 

provided model is in operation, shows delivery of projects such as this will enable 
revenue savings  

 

11. With the delivery of in-house, in-county accommodation there are also staff savings to be 
made from decreased travel (i.e. expense claims) as well as reducing travel times 
enabling staff more time to spend with care leavers. 

 
12. This scheme provides an opportunity to include a number of residential units suitable for 

care leavers and will be designed to provide accommodation that is flexible and includes 
a mix of accommodation types to support young people with a range of needs and levels 
of independence. This would be the first scheme in a wider programme to meet the 
known need across the county. The full programme to deliver the anticipated scale and 
range of accommodation across the county will be developed over the next few months 
and presented for consideration early in the New Year.  
 

Library and Cultural Services Strategy  

13. The strategy for library and cultural services sets out SCC’s vision and approach to 

libraries and cultural services over the next five years.  It seeks to deliver Surrey’s 

priorities for the county as set out in Surrey 2030 and our Organisation Strategy.   

 

Page 307

10



 
 

14. Within the strategy there are five strategic objectives which underpin the development of 

the service:  

 

i. We will increase opportunities for children, young people and adults to 

improve literacy levels and acquire skills and knowledge; 

ii. We will deliver resources and activities in partnership with communities and 

other organisations to improve health and well-being of individuals and 

communities;  

iii. We will strengthen our partnership work with the public, voluntary, community 

and private sectors, including through the creation of shared spaces within a 

financially sustainable network of hubs; 

iv. We will develop and promote new technologies to increase access and 

engagement with libraries and cultural services; 

v. We will increase opportunities for community-led services and enable local 

people to increasingly influence and deliver. 

 

15. The strategy seeks to: 

 

 Co-locate with other services where we can to make a positive difference for 

residents  

 Develop libraries’ role as anchor institutions in communities   

 Deliver Libraries & Cultural Services Strategy to reduce cost and increase 

impact of libraries 

 Develop the modern library centred around Wellbeing, with libraries as social 

hubs, cultural centre, Learning Hub, and economic enabler 

 

16. Surrey Libraries hold a unique place in communities providing universal access to all 

with the potential to reach a wider audience through its programme of activities including 

reading, digital, learning, health and wellbeing and culture.  People have a sense of civic 

pride and ownership in their local library.  With the current Caterham Hill library having 

not seen a refurbishment for over 20 years, this redevelopment will help anchor the 

library as the heart of the community. 

 

17. A re-developed Library integrated with the Family Centre as part of a modern community 

facility will enable a fit for purpose, flexible, co-located space, that will deliver the best 

future outcomes for residents.  The scheme also allows a closer working relationship 

with the Family Centre and other providers allowing for opportunities to programme 

activities across partner organisations, delivering reading, digital, learning, health and 

wellbeing and cultural activities. 

 

18. The library service is undertaking a process of co-design to support the delivery of this 

project and will ensure the community is closely involved in the design, delivery and 

evaluation of what goes on in their local library provision. This process has been 

designed to encompass the whole Caterham area and therefore also includes 

community engagement about the library at Caterham Valley. There is no intention to 

reduce or cease services at either of these locations, and we are committed to ensuring 

access for all. The specific service requirements for this scheme will be informed by this 

process, and the outcomes of it will be known towards the end of this calendar year. 

 

19. A temporary library facility will be put in place in Caterham Hill to ensure there is no 

disruption to services during the construction period. 

Page 308

10



 
 

Family Resilience – Family Centres 

20. SCC believes that every child in Surrey should have the opportunity to reach their 
potential and that the best place for children to achieve this is within their own families. 
Whilst many children will do that without support, some will need help. That might be 
because of additional needs they have, their family circumstances or problems they are 
dealing with. We want to help these children, and their families, as soon as we can. 

21. Family Centres offer targeted services for children aged 0 to 11, who are most in need, 

and their families. They also act as hubs for partner agencies and community 

organisations to offer universal services such as health visiting, breast feeding advice 

and support for new parents. This approach builds on the Family Resilience model, 

based on early intervention and support.  
 

22. There is at least one Family Centre in every district and borough, 21 in total, with 9 

satellite centres. Caterham has been identified as a key area to provide a Family Centre, 

due to its close proximity to one of the highest areas of need within Godstone and also 

being an area where more children are overall affected by deprivation or living in 

households that have low incomes or unemployment and therefore Caterham is more 

accessible to a wider range of families. 

 

23. Alternative options were sort to provide a Family Centre in Caterham however other 

site’s needed additional work to bring it up to the standard required for a permanent 

Family Centre venue.  
 

24. The Family Centre is currently operating out of Hurst Green Infant School and Nursery in 

Oxted. Following the delivery of this scheme the modular building onsite will be released 

for alternative educational use.  

 
Indicative layout and possible external appearance 
 

 

Page 309

10



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CONSULTATION: 

25. Relevant teams within Children’s, Families and Learning directorate have been 

consulted and had input into the design of the scheme.  

 

26. The standard of the accommodation for care leavers will be in line with service and 

industry standards.  

 

27. Staff will be consulted on scheme and design implications as the project develops. 

 

28. Barnardos, who deliver the Family Centre provision in Tandridge, have been consulted 

and had input into the design of the space/layout and will continue to do so.   

 

29. Representatives from NHS Surrey Heartlands Clinical Commissioning Group have been 

consulted on the opportunity to use space within the new multi-functional building to 

deliver outreach work within the community.  

 

30. Cllr Mel Few, Cllr Mary Lewis & Cllr Chris Botten have been consulted on the scheme. 

 

31. Formal consultation has not yet been undertaken, but will be completed in the next stage 

of the scheme’s development as necessary, following approval to proceed.  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

32. Risk that planning permission will be refused – mitigating actions being taken: 

 Design team to take account of likely issues e.g. transport, access, draining 
etc. as part of pre-application discussions; 

 Engage with the local community to listen to local concerns and to shape 
plans e.g. closer working with the Parish Council and community groups; 

 Consider the close proximity of the neighbouring building and design a 
scheme which is complementary to its surroundings. 

 
33. Risk of the development costs escalating - mitigating actions being taken: 

Page 310

10



 
 

 A detailed cost estimate has been undertaken with the Cost Consultants to 
enable the Council to predict the construction cost; 

 The building cost estimate has a design and construction risk allowance of 
approximately 15% to allow for the early stage of the design process and the 
unknown impact Covid-19 may have on construction costs;  

 A detailed Development Cost appraisal has been undertaken including the 
above noted construction cost, professional fees, surveys and investigations, 
fixed furniture and equipment, temporary library facilities, SCC resource 
capitalisation costs and a 5% SCC contingency for unforeseen issues; 

 Consideration will be given to building contract procurement methods which 
allow for early involvement of the building contractor and/or specialist 
suppliers.  This will include input pre-construction where project cost, 
programme and design quality can be reviewed to provide a higher level of 
cost and programme predictability. 

34. Additional risks such as site constraints, tree surveys/Tree Presentation Orders (TPO’s) 

etc. will be taken into account and mitigating actions developed and actioned 

accordingly.  

35. Risks will be varied and not only associated with land and asset management but also 

the impact this has on the various service provisions and changes in requirements. The 

scheme will be designed flexibility in mind to meet changing service and corporate 

needs. In terms of construction related risks and mitigation measures, a full risk register 

is under review with the professional consultants and a robust risk transfer strategy will 

be agreed with the contractor   

36. With a community building in close proximity to the proposed site close working 

relationships need to be built to ensure both buildings are used to the benefit of the local 

residents, rather than dividing the local community.   

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

37. The cost of the proposed scheme is £5.6m (excl. VAT) to be funded from a combination 

of programmes with the Pipeline allocation within the MTFS: 

 Looked After and Adopted Children - £3.2m;  

 Children’s and Family Centres - £1m; 

 Corporate Asset Capital Programme - £1.4m.  

 

38. The current running costs of the Library building is £19,563 on average, per annum as a 

single use building. It is not anticipated that the running costs to the Library Service will 

increase. The increased floor area will generate a revised running cost of £82,500 on 

average per annum across the three services.  The revised forecast includes an 

assumed reduction in cost through better building material and operational cost 

efficiencies.  

 

39. The current library building also requires c£440,000 (excluding VAT) planned 

maintenance works over the course of the next five years which won’t be incurred given 

the proposals to demolish the existing building. The savings made here can be 

concentrated on other Council assets but will not result in a reduction to the overall 

planned maintenance budget. 

40. Costs for supported accommodation can vary significantly from c£700 per week when 
arranged by the incumbent Direct Purchasing System at pre-agreed rates to over £2,000 

Page 311

10



 
 

per week for uncontracted provision.  Creation of in-county provision for Care Leavers 
could reduce the need to utilise this provision. Based on the lower estimate of £700 per 
week, each of the new Care Leavers units would represent an annual saving of £36,000.  
Assuming the 12 new units were able to be operated within existing staff levels and 
without additional running costs to those already identified with the new building, the 
maximum saving for SCC would be in the region of £430,000 per year.  This would be 
realised from 2023/24 based on current completion estimates.  
 

41. The scheme will be designed to take in to account environmental impacts, sustainability 

and ongoing life cycle costs which will support the Greener Futures agenda.  

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

42. Although significant progress has been made over the last 12 months to improve the 

Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The Public 

Health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the current 

year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the extent to 

which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next year onwards, 

our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be constrained, as 

they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council 

to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure 

stable provision of services in the medium term. As such, the Section 151 Officer 

supports the proposal to develop the joint use Caterham Hill site. 

 

43. There are currently no direct efficiencies built into the MTFS relating to this scheme, but 

the capital budget is included within the existing pipeline.  The revenue benefits set out in 

para 39 will be built into the medium term financial strategy. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

44. The Council as the owner of the Caterham Hill library site, which it is seeking to 

redevelop to provide a new purpose-built facility, may dispose of, or develop, any land it 

owns.  

 

45. Under Section 2(1) of the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963, a local authority has 

extensive powers and may, for the benefit or improvement of its area, erect, extend, alter 

or re-erect any building and construct or carry out works on land. 

 

46. When awarding the contract to redevelop the site which includes construction works, the 

public procurement regime may be evoked, if the party the Council wishes to contract 

with is undertaking some element of works or services which requires contracts in 

excess of the threshold to be tendered. There are some exceptions such as entering into 

a contract for the acquisition or rental of land, where the public procurement rules do not 

apply. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

47. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been completed for the following reasons: 

 The current library provision will remain on the existing site and therefore no impact 

of staff or residents; although noted a temporary library will be provided offsite;  

 Any changes to staffing will be dependent on service strategies/changes rather than 

this individual scheme; 

 Family Centres have already consulted on the future locations of the service. 

Page 312

10



 
 

48. The proposed scheme provides support for some of Surrey’s most vulnerable young 

people. 

49. These improvements aim to ensure some of Surrey’s most vulnerable young people are 

cared for within safe environments that provide for their material needs and provide 

support as they move into adulthood and will provide improved facilities.  

CORPORATE PARENTING/LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN IMPLICATIONS 

50. As Corporate Parents for all the children looked after by Surrey, it is important we ensure 

the Care Leavers Accommodation is an example of best practice and quality. In order to 

achieve this capital investment into the scheme is required. 

SAFEGUARDING RESPONSIBILITIES FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS 

IMPLICATIONS 

51. The council has a duty to provide good quality placements for all children looked after 

and care leavers. This is known as the Sufficiency Duty. In order to deliver the best 

possible service to our children, we would want as many as possible to live within 

Surrey. This property development proposal will significantly enhance the quality of 

accommodation we can provide and contribute to a wider programme to expand and 

enhance the scale and range of care leaver accommodation provided by SCC. 

Appropriate, safe accommodation within Surrey will support our children’s personal, 

social and academic progress. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

52. An initial Environmental Sustainability Assessment (ESA) has been undertaken (Annex 

1) as this matter requires a Cabinet decision.  

53. The key points from the ESA are:  

 

a. Energy use would be a component of the operational phase costs of the new 

buildings. Design philosophy that has been adopted to create new buildings 

will support low energy consumption, reduce solar gain and promote natural 

ventilation. Any proposals will be in line with this policy and any new building 

will be to the expected standards in the local planning authority’s adopted 

core planning strategy. 

b. Delivery of new builds will involve the usual amounts of travelling for materials 

and workers.  Through the design and procurement phase an updated ESA 

will be undertaken. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

54. Should Cabinet approve the business case for the redevelopment of Caterham Hill 
library to support the proposed service uses, the next steps will be: 

 Detailed design and specification (November 20) 

 Planning application (December 20 to March 21) 

 Building contractor tender to market and award; subject to delegated decision 

(February 21 – May 21) 

Page 313

10



 
 

 Commence Demolition/Construction; pending planning approval (Jun 21 – 

Feb 23)  

 Specialist/Operational fit out (Mar 23 – Apr 23) 

 Operational building and residents can move in (April 23) 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact Officer: 

Mick Marran, Senior Development Manager 

Contact Number: 07929 825484 

Consulted: 

 Corporate Parenting Team, Surrey County Council 

 Libraries & Cultural Services Team, Surrey County Council 

 Family Resilience & Safeguarding Team, Surrey County Council 

 Tandridge District Council 

 NHS Surrey Heartlands Clinical Commissioning Group 

Annexes: 

Annex 1: Environmental Sustainability Assessment 

Sources/background papers: 

 Children’s Centres Consultation Report (Tuesday 29th January 2019) 

 Library and Cultural Services Strategy 2020-2025 

 Surrey County Council Asset & Place Strategy 2019-2030 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Page 314

10



Annex 1 – Environmental Sustainability Assessment (ESA)  
 

Area 
Relevant  

Topic  
Y/N 

Issue Possible Action 
Taken 

forward? 

Designated sites,  
protected 
species and 
biodiversity 

Resilience to risks 

posed by the 

environment to 

service delivery 

Y 

N 

Further environmental 

investigation of the site 

will be undertaken to 

confirm that there are 

no issues. No species 

protection issues have 

been currently 

identified. 

Further environmental 

assessments will be 

carried out as part of 

the development and 

planning processes. 

 

Materials and water 

Energy 

Waste 

Y 

Y 

Y 

Energy use and 

waste will be 

components identified 

as the scheme 

progresses.  

SCC’s design 
philosophy is to create 
buildings that will 
support low energy 
consumption, reduce 
solar gain and promote  
natural ventilation. Any  
new infrastructure on 

the site will be built to 

the local planning 

authority’s adopted core 

planning strategy. 

 

Transport Y Delivery of 
construction projects 
does involve an 
amount of travel for 
labour, and delivery of 
materials. 

Air Quality 

Management 
Area not yet identified 

This will be 
considered as part of 
the procurement 
process for the 
project. 

 

Landscape and trees 

 

 

Heritage 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N 

 

N 

The design is being 
worked up to retain as 
many existing trees on 
site as possible. This 
will be subject to final 
agreement at planning 
stage. 

Arboricultural surveys 
will been carried out 
on the site to identify 
the potential issues 
and discussions are 
ongoing with the 
Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer 
to identify the least 
impactful solution and 
potential remediation 
measures. 

 

 

Page 315

10



Annex 1 – Environmental Sustainability Assessment (ESA)  
 

 

Education / raising 

awareness 

Page 316

10



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MRS SINEAD MOONEY, CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULTS AND 
HEALTH 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

SIMON WHITE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

SUBJECT: ADULT SOCIAL CARE HOME BASED CARE RECOMMISSIONING 
OCTOBER 2021  

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

The provision of a Home Based Care (HBC) service to vulnerable adults in Surrey is a 
statutory requirement of the Council under the Care Act 2014.  
 
HBC services enable and support people to remain independent and living in their own 
homes for longer and involves a range of social support services for all user groups. HBC 
includes personal care which involves supporting people with things like washing, bathing or 
cleaning themselves, getting dressed or going to the toilet.  
 
HBC services also play an important role in providing reablement to people who have left 
hospital, improving their individual wellbeing and reducing long term care needs. Certain 
providers will provide specific healthcare activities and end of life care. 
 
The current contracting arrangements agreed by Cabinet in February 2017 end on 30th of 

September 2021. A new contract needs to be in place with selected providers effective from 

the 1st of October 2021.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Agree the commissioning and procurement strategy set out in this paper; 

 

2. Give approval to procure the proposed tender and service specification for Home 

Based Care services which will be issued in January 2021. Contracts will be awarded 

in June 2021 with a start date of the 1st of October 2021 to allow for a period of 

contract mobilisation; 
 

3. Agree to the continuation of joint arrangements to purchase services with the NHS in 

Surrey; 
 

4. Agree that there should be limited service interruption to residents receiving a home 

based care service package. If a provider does not form part of the new contract 

arrangements from October 2021, they can continue to support any existing 

residents with home based care until the package ends or there is a suitable change 

point for the provision of care. 

Page 317

11

Item 11



 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The current contract is set to end in September 2021. It is necessary to release the tender 

opportunity to the care provider market in January 2021, in order to allow for a thorough 

review and evaluation of the responses received and for an appropriate mobilisation period 

of up to 3 months between June and September 2021. This provides an adequate timeframe 

to facilitate robust procurement and implementation.  

Providers will be bidding to join the new Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS). 

Cabinet approval is being sought alongside approval from Surrey Heartlands Clinical 

Commissioning Group (who hosts Continuing Healthcare on behalf of the three Surrey 

CCGs) to continue the joint arrangements for the operation of the approved provider DPS 

with the NHS. 

The existing procurement and framework have proved successful and the options appraisal 

for the re-commissioning of the service in 2021 indicates that this remains the preferred 

approach. The re-commissioning will see changes to the contracting terms and business 

rules driving further improvement and enhancement to the current arrangement. 

It is envisaged that there will be no interruption of services for residents receiving home 

based care provision at the point where new contracting arrangements commence. There 

will be no requirement for a provider to cease providing support to existing residents if they 

are not continuing to provide further support under the new contracting arrangements. 

DETAILS: 

Current situation 

1. The current contract (Awarded Provider Status (APS)) for the purchase of Home 

Based Care (HBC) ends on 30th of September 2021. In order to ensure adequate 

provision is in place from the 1st of October 2021, HBC providers will be asked to 

submit their bids to provide HBC to eligible Surrey residents in January 2021 to 

commence services from the 1st of October 2021. 

 

2. Eligible Surrey residents are individuals assessed as requiring adult social care 

support with personal care at home and those residents eligible to receive NHS 

Continuing Healthcare (CHC) requiring specialist health support or end of life care at 

home. 

 

3. As of the 1st of July 2020, there were 173 HBC providers registered on the APS 

framework to provide HBC with active packages of care purchased from 138 of 

these. SCC was purchasing 3,823 HBC care packages mostly for older adults 

(2,730), with 705 packages supporting people with physical disabilities, 272 

packages supporting older adults with a learning disability, 45 packages supporting 

younger adults with a learning disability (ages 18-25) and 71 packages supporting 

people with mental health conditions. Providers are required to be registered with the 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) to provide the regulated activity of personal care.  

 

4. In recent months there has been a slight decline in HBC numbers due mainly to 

Covid 19 and NHS funding arrangements in place to facilitate hospital discharges. 

We envisage that the need for HBC will only increase as SCC continue to develop 

reablement and discharge to assess pathways which should keep people in their own 

homes for longer and reduce the requirement for some bed based care placements. 

Page 318

11



 

 

5. Social Care locality teams and the NHS Continuing Healthcare placement team use 

the online system called ‘E-brokerage’ to issue requests to framework APS providers 

for expressions of interest to provide support in line with assessed needs as detailed 

on individual referrals. Providers who respond positively are chosen by the social 

care team or NHS placement team based on level of skill of provider, availability of 

staff and price of service being provided. Providers have agreed prices on the 

framework and costs are therefore known before the package is agreed to 

commence. 

 

6. Providers who are on the framework are allocated packages of care on a postcode 

area basis. This means that only providers who have said that they are able to 

deliver services in a specific postcode area are able to respond to individual service 

requests for those residents. Service requests are generated by social care teams 

and the NHS placement team. 

 

7. The current framework is closed to new providers and we therefore have some ‘spot 

purchase’ arrangements with providers not on the APS in order to manage demand 

in more challenging areas. 

New arrangements proposed from 1 October 2021  

8. It is proposed that a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) under the light touch regime 

will be established. HBC providers who wish to be on the new DPS from the 1st of 

October 2021 will be invited to submit a bid via the SE Shared Services Procurement 

Portal and be subject to evaluation for quality and price as part of the tender process. 

Providers will have to submit a bid to access new work even if they are providing 

services under the current contract arrangements ending in September 2021. 
 

9. Providers who are successful will be invited to join the DPS which will run for up to 6 

years, with the contract open to new providers to join throughout the term. This will 

enable SCC to work with the market to address outliers in pricing and tackle areas 

where demand is high, or care and support is harder to source. There will be review 

periods within the contract to ensure that recommissioning can take place within the 

6 years if required. 
 

10. The new contract will include inflationary clauses that give providers certainty about a 

minimum level of uplift in framework rates each year, while at the same time enabling 

annual price discussions about the level of increase to take account of emerging 

market factors.  Providers’ quality of care and performance will be considered during 

these annual price discussions and this process will be separate to inflationary 

clauses relating to annual uplifts.  
 

11. Commissioners and the Adult Social Care Quality Assurance team (QA), with support 

from Social Care Development Coordinators, will review all new applications and 

make a personal visit to the premises of any provider who bids that has been 

established for less than a year, i.e. their CQC registration commenced between 1 

January 2020 and the bid close date in January 2021. Providers who are rated 

‘Inadequate’ by CQC will not be accepted onto the DPS until their rating has 

improved, subject to evaluation. We have taken on board feedback from Select 

Committee regarding providers who are rated ‘Requires Improvement’ by CQC. 

When such providers apply to join the DPS they will need to submit evidence to 

Page 319

11



 

commissioners and QA of the action plan they have put in place to address the 

concerns raised by CQC. Evidence will need to be verified by QA that the 

improvements that have been detailed on the action plan are underway or completed 

before the provider is invited to join the DPS. Providers rated ‘Requires Improvement 

will also be visited in person by a QA Manager as part of the evaluation process.  

 

12. The rationale to use providers who are rated ‘Requires Improvement by CQC is as 

follows. The SCC provider market currently has approximately 30% of HBC providers 

rated as ‘Requires Improvement’ meaning that were we to apply a blanket exclusion 

it would limit our ability to purchase the levels of care required for residents. There 

are differing measures used to rate providers and SCC will only work with providers 

requiring improvement if care delivery is not a factor in the overall service rating. 

Working with these providers is also a statutory function for Local Authorities in 

respect of supporting and nurturing a diverse and robust market from which to 

purchase care.  
 

13. SCC recognise that CQC ratings reflect a ‘moment in time’ for a provider and 

understand that occasionally issues will emerge that need to be rectified. Through 

the Provider Support and Intervention Process SCC will work with providers who 

receive a poor rating during the term of the contract to support improvements to be 

made and a good quality of support to be provided to residents. Providers who do not 

show improvements towards agreed plans or where concerns raised are of a 

significant nature will be removed from the framework and not accepted back on until 

improvements to services are clearly evidenced. 

 

14. Given the Covid-19 pandemic it is also pertinent for Cabinet to note that the CQC will 

be focusing much more attention on providers rated as inadequate and those with 

multiple outbreaks demonstrating potential issues with staffing and infection control 

during this period. It is therefore likely that normal CQC re-inspection of providers 

rated RI will not take place as soon as they would normally where there are not 

ongoing concerns. As such home care agencies will be waiting longer than normal 

for a new rating to confirm improvement has been made or conversely standards 

may have slipped. It is therefore recommended that we draw on our own and more 

robust Quality Assurance processes to determine whether it is appropriate to permit 

providers rated RI onto the DPS for them to remain active on the DPS if their rating 

changes. 
 

15. Providers who are accepted on to the new DPS from October 2021 that are rated 

‘Requires Improvement’ will be required to participate in the SCC Provider Support 

and Intervention process overseen by a senior SCC Commissioning manager. This 

will enable oversight to be maintained on the standard of services being provided for 

an agreed period, up to six months. Similarly, providers who are accepted on to the 

DPS that have not had a rating from CQC because they are a new provider or 

because there has been a change to their registration status for any reason will also 

be required to participate in a managed process under the Provider Support and 

Intervention protocol for up to six months to give support and guidance to the 

provider as they develop their business in Surrey. 

 

16. Visits to providers will serve to educate them on the terms of the contract and 

process for awarding, accepting and delivering HBC in Surrey. This will also allow us 

Page 320

11



 

to better understand their business model and any potential risks relating to growth 

and also provide further assurances that services are of good enough quality. 

 

17. If a provider that delivers HBC services under the current contract is not successful 

and not chosen to join the new contract, or they choose not to bid for the new 

contract, they will be able to continue to deliver support to residents so long as there 

are no issues regarding service delivery. They will not be able to pick up any new 

packages of care from October 2021. Providers will not be required to hand back 

packages if they are not chosen for the new contract, however if a provider chooses 

to give notice on packages, arrangements will be made under the SCC Care Provider 

Support and Intervention Protocol to source suitable HBC support arrangements from 

an alternative supplier. We will work with these providers to understand why they 

have chosen not to continue to work with Surrey under the new arrangements. 

 

18. A new service specification will be issued for the new contract, with clarity about the 

size of the market, demand areas by postcode and requirements for providers who 

wish to deliver specialist services. For example, there will be detailed specifications 

for end of life care, live in care, homecare for people with challenging behaviours and 

homecare for people with mental health needs and people with learning disabilities 

and autism. 

 

19. There will be a new referral process for sourcing packages of care, as it is envisaged 

that the Joint Central Placements Team (JCPT) will start to source and purchase 

packages of homecare using E-brokerage on behalf of the SCC locality teams and 

NHS. The JCPT will focus on working with providers and commissioners to develop 

services in ‘hard to reach’ postcode areas and ensure effective management and 

oversight of pricing at the allocation stage which is integral along with the quality of 

care offered to residents. The JCPT will also review operating efficiencies for 

example where there are multiple providers delivering services in a postcode area 

and staff could be used more effectively by helping develop ‘runs’ to maximise use of 

scarce workforce.  

 

20. The new contract will offer providers the ability to become a ‘trusted reviewer’ for 

homecare packages. Providers will be encouraged to share the results of reviews for 

people that they support and consult with SCC and NHS placing teams regarding any 

adjustments to care packages that are required, especially where it is felt that a 

person needs less support and is able to live independently according to their 

strengths. This is part of developing ‘strength based’ practices with the provider 

market. 

 

21. The new contract will continue to be a joint arrangement with NHS Continuing 

Healthcare in Surrey and providers who are successful will be able to respond to 

referrals from the CHC Placements team seeking general homecare for those with 

primary health needs, specialist healthcare and end of life care at home as well as 

social workers seeking support for people needing social care at home. 

 

22. The new contract will continue to work on postcode areas, with providers asked to 

identify which of the 94 Surrey postcode areas they are able to provide services in. 

Providers will be asked to consider carefully which areas they have capacity in and 

encouraged to take on new services in hard to reach areas. 

 

Page 321

11



 

23. Rates for services will be agreed during the evaluation of bids, with rates applicable 

to individual postcode areas. SCC and the NHS will not commission calls less than 

15 minutes and following feedback from providers will not stipulate that providers are 

required to submit ‘minute by minute’ billing. Outcomes for individuals from the home 

based care services provided will be reviewed using submissions from electronic 

contract monitoring, and e-invoices submitted. We want to move away from a focus 

on time and task towards a more person centred outcomes based model of HBC 

delivery. 

 

24. There is no intention to harmonise rates at the beginning of the contract. Packages of 
home based care purchased pre-October 2021, referred to as ‘legacy business’, will 
remain at previous prices. This decision has been proposed in order to minimise 
disruption to the start of the new contract. There will be opportunities, following ‘go 
live’ for legacy business to be moved onto the new contract either through natural 
change points (hospital admission) or through targeted conversations with providers. 
These targeted conversations will take place where legacy business constitutes high 
cost in relation to new contractual arrangements and where providers have not been 
accepted onto the DPS we will look to re-broker these packages where this will not 
adversely affect the quality of care for individuals in receipt of care.   

 
25. Providers will be required to submit invoices electronically for adult social care 

funded packages, and new providers will be helped to set this system up during the 

evaluation period. As previously stated, the new contract will give clarity on annual 

uplifts and how rates can change during the life of the contract. 

Reablement 

26. A key element of service delivery to help people live independently at home when 

they leave hospital is reablement. This service, which is free to residents for up to six 

weeks, helps people regain skills and confidence to live back at home following an 

admission to hospital. 

 

27. Reablement is provided in Surrey by the SCC service delivery team who are 

registered with CQC as homecare providers. To help the SCC service delivery team 

meet the increasing demand for reablement, collaborative reablement schemes have 

been established in Surrey, whereby private HBC agencies have been commissioned 

to provide reablement support to residents in addition to the services provided by the 

SCC teams. 

 

28.  We will be looking to offer a separate opportunity to the market for a Collaborative 

Reablement Framework, we are looking for this contract to also begin in October 

2021. Providers who are interested in providing reablement will be offered the 

chance to bid for the opportunity to provide this type of support across the County. 

Alternative purchasing methods reviewed 

29. An options appraisal (available at Annex 1) was completed to look at all options for 

the purchase of homecare. The continuation of the current APS framework and DPS 

model across postcode areas was chosen as this option has worked well over the 

last three years. This approach allows SCC to purchase from a wide range of 

providers utilising the best available price in each postcode area agreed with 

providers in advance. This ensures that a wide range of providers are consistently 

available across the whole of the county for social workers and healthcare placement 

officers to use. 

Page 322

11



 

 

30. High level overview of alternative options considered but not taken forward for 

consideration were: 

 

a. Strategic Partners – this is where a small group of selected providers are 

used to provide care and support.  

b. Two-tier system – where a small group of strategic partners pick up the bulk 

of referrals, with a range of other providers picking up remaining referrals. 

This was the purchasing method used by SCC for HBC between 2014 and 

2017.  

c. Block purchase – purchase a regular number of hours in specific areas to 

guarantee provision.  

d. Spot purchase – purchase care and support hours on an ‘as needed’ basis. 

These options were discounted as they have either not worked effectively in the past 

(strategic partners) or are not considered to offer the best opportunity to source 

sufficient capacity of care services at the best available price. 

CONSULTATION: 

31. Consultation plans have been affected by the Covid-19 outbreak. An initial series of 

face-to-face workshops were held with providers in January and February 2020. 

Further work was delayed due to the pandemic until June 2020 when a webinar was 

delivered with virtual attendance from around 60 providers. A series of provider 

workshops covering key elements of the HBC tender were held in July and August 

2020 and were well attended. Feedback from these is being used to help draw up the 

new service specification. 

 

32. In June, several local third sector groups were invited to feedback on the current 

provision of homecare and to advise on views for the areas to be addressed in the 

new specification. Healthwatch Surrey, Action for Carers and Surrey Disabled 

People’s Partnership have all been in contact with the project team and their views 

and feedback will be used to update the service specification. 

 

33. In October, the project team will seek feedback from residents who receive HBC 

services through a Surrey Says questionnaire. Current providers on the framework 

will also be asked to share their customer surveys they regularly complete with the 

project team. 

 

34. The Adults and Health Select Committee were updated on the proposals via a 

briefing on 21 September 2020. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

35. The main risk is that not enough HBC providers submit a bid to join the DPS and that 

that there are service shortages in some areas. This risk is mitigated by the high 

number of homecare branches that are currently operational in Surrey and 

surrounding areas. We are also proactively working with the market to ensure, where 

possible, we can stimulate interest in areas of greatest need. 
 

36. A further risk is the impact a second wave of Covid 19 will have on the homecare 

workforce in Surrey. This risk is mitigated by the support SCC has given local HBC 

providers including goodwill grant payments, infection control funding, payments on 

Page 323

11



 

account to help cashflow, premium payments for hospital discharges and provision of 

PPE. 

 

37. Providers may also submit bids which are not affordable for SCC. This risk is 

mitigated by giving providers clarity on the expected rate levels and the development 

of a wide range of providers to provide support in key areas, avoiding the over 

reliance on a small number of providers for the bulk of homecare packages. 

 

38. Financial risk and capacity will be managed throughout the life of the contract as we 

will proactively work with providers to shape markets, support business growth where 

appropriate, review legacy or high cost placements and take appropriate action and 

centralise the placement process to ensure consistency in practice when selecting 

providers through E-brokerage. 

 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

39. Commissioning of this new DPS will be essential to maintain a sufficient capacity of 

home based care provision at affordable prices. 
 

40. Home based care services commissioned through existing arrangements are 

currently in the region of £59m, with a significant 95% successfully awarded within 

the framework. 

 

41. This expenditure is within the overall Adult Social Care budget for delivery of care 

services.  It is expected that the prices that providers bid at in the new framework will 

be higher than the current framework rates.  This inflationary pressure combined with 

the potential cost of annual uplifts will be built into the Council's Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS), along with the opportunities that the new framework will 

provide in helping to source packages at the most effective rates and efficiencies 

derived from the use of home care providers to expand reablement service across 

the county. 

 

42. Moving to a clear annual approach to forward rate negotiations, clarity on the variable 

pricing available across the 94 geographical area segments, and development of a 

wide range of providers to support key areas will mitigate the risk of it being 

necessary to commission services at rates that are higher than the Council can 

afford.  ASC’s management of the subsequent sourcing of packages against the new 

rates, commissioning at the most favourable cost whilst meeting individual’s needs 

will also complement this. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

43. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 

the Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The 

public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 

current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 

extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 

year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. 
 

Page 324

11



 

44. In this context, the Section 151 Officer recognises the importance of tendering a new 

Home Based Care framework from October 2021 in order to secure sufficient 

capacity and quality of provision at the most affordable prices.  The new framework 

will also be essential to enable the effective management of services within available 

resources in the medium term and to maximise opportunities to deliver efficiencies 

such as through the expansion of the provision of reablement services. 
 

45. The outcome of the tender and the financial implications of managing the delivering 

services within the framework will be factored into the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

46. The Council has a legal obligation to provide home based care under the Care Act 

2014. The proposed new contracting arrangements will enable the Council to 

continue to perform its legal obligations under the Act. The new contracting 

arrangements are more flexible in that they will use a Dynamic Purchasing System 

Agreement which can remain open to potential new suppliers joining the DPSA.  

during its lifetime. This is in contrast to a Framework Agreement which cannot accept 

new suppliers during its lifetime 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

47. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed as part of the retender 

process. This assessment has been reviewed by the internal Department Equalities 

Group. Impacts have been identified in the areas of ‘Age’, ‘Disability’, ‘Gender 

Reassignment’, ‘Race’, ‘Religion or Belief’, ‘Sex’, ‘Sexual Orientation’ and ‘Carers’. 

 

48. Actions have been identified where relevant to mitigate any significant negative 

impacts and to maximise any positive impacts. Overall, no major change to the plans 

to retender the HBC contract are required. The EIA has not identified any potential 

for discrimination or negative impact, and all opportunities to promote equality have 

been undertaken 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS:  

49. The potential implications for the following council priorities and policy areas have 

been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of the issues 

is set out in detail below. 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

No significant implications arising 
from this report 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

Set out below. 
- HBC providers will need to be 

aware of and adhere to 
safeguarding policies. They will 
need to demonstrate an 
understanding of safeguarding in 
the evaluation process and they 
will be monitored by CQC and 
the SCC Quality Assurance 
Team. 

Environmental sustainability Set out below 

Page 325

11



 

- HBC visits to the homes of 
individuals are often by car, and 
therefore work with providers will 
focus on the efficient planning of 
delivery routes so that journeys 
are limited and efficiently 
planned, and where possible 
multiple visits by different 
providers to a single postcode 
area are avoided. 

Public Health   
 

Set out below.  
- HBC providers will need to 

ensure care staff follow Covid 19 
infection control guidance when 
making visits and ensure that 
suitable and adequate PPE is 
available to care workers. 

 

SAFEGUARDING RESPONSIBILITIES FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS 

IMPLICATIONS 

50. HBC Providers will need to be aware of and adhere to safeguarding policies. They 

will need to demonstrate an understanding of safeguarding in the evaluation process 

and they will be monitored by CQC and the SCC Quality Assurance Team on an 

ongoing basis. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

51. An Environmental Sustainability Assessment (ESA) has not been completed for this 

item. However, as Surrey County Council has declared a ‘climate emergency’, 

providers of home based care will be asked to consider environmental issues in the 

delivery of their services, through organising care calls to limit unnecessary journeys 

by car and travelling sustainably where possible. 

 

52. Purchasing teams at SCC and the NHS who use the DPS will analyse levels of 

existing usage of HBC in individual postcode areas to determine where there are 

opportunities when sourcing new packages to consider providers who already 

operate in that geographical area and could take on new work without additional care 

journeys contributing to road congestion and pollution.   

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

53. HBC providers will need to follow Covid 19 infection control procedures and guidance 

when making visits and ensure that care workers have sufficient PPE available to 

them when making visits. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

54. If Cabinet approve the recommendations in this paper the final stages of the tender 

documentation will be prepared in November and December. The evaluation criteria 

for providers to meet when applying to join the DPS will be set, the service 

specifications will be completed, and the procurement documentation submitted.  

 

55. The tender documentation will be issued in January 2021, HBC providers will have 

six weeks to respond. Responses from HBC providers to the tender will be evaluated 

Page 326

11



 

by the SCC Older Person’s Commissioning Team, the SCC ASC Quality Assurance 

Team and the NHS Continuing Healthcare (Surrey) between March and May 2021. 
 

56. Providers who meet the evaluation criteria will be sent an offer letter to join the DPS 

in June 2021; there will then be three months of preparation and implementation 

work with HBC providers so that they are ready to commence providing services 

under the new DPS from 1 October 2021. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact Officer: 

Andrew Price, Senior Commissioning Manager, Adult Social Care, 0208 541 9558 

Consulted: 

Adults Leadership Team 

Surrey Care Association 

Surrey Heartlands CCG (Surrey Heartlands Clinical Commissioning Group hosts Continuing 

Healthcare on behalf of the three Surrey CCGs) 

Social Work Teams 

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – Options Appraisal 

Sources/background papers: 

• None 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Page 327

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Home Based Care 
Option Appraisal
May 2020

Annex 1

P
age 329

11



Options Analysis

Strategic 
Partner(s)

Perceived Benefits:

- Minimises the number of conversations with the market in 
order to meet SCC business requirements

- Provider compliance can be managed more easily through 
fewer numbers to engage with

- Clear line of sight for operations, SCDC’s, commissioners and 
QA to manage market relationships and provider quality

- Attractive to large providers operating at scale

Risks:

- Market dependency on small pool of providers and therefore risk of impact from 
provider breakdown high

- Providers may pick POC’s from areas of easier delivery increasing risk of going ‘off 
framework’ and paying higher prices 

- Provider workforce growth is not assured and therefore increasing volumes of delivery 
can not be guaranteed to meet SCC needs

- Limits market and will exclude many providers – negative impact on relationship 
between SCC and providers (SCA) – has been detrimental in the past for many LA’s

- Limits ability for market to dictate pricing through competition and opens SCC up for 
more difficult conversations relating to pricing and uplifts for life of contracts

2 tier system Perceived Benefits:

- Where a strategic partner is unable to take a POC through e-
brokerage it is then offered to a second tier of providers

- Grows the pool and capacity of the market working to our 
contracts

- The agreed strategic partner rates would be in keeping with 
budget requirements and volume of business would go 
through these providers

- The second tier allow for providers to pick up in niche areas 
where strategic partners can not – gives SCC greater ability to 
shape the market and hold strategic partners to account

Risks:

- Strategic partners, as above, may struggle to meet any volume thresholds set out in 
the contract causing greater need for contract monitoring / management and would 
not realise the benefits of volume at agreed prices for this model

- Second tier of providers would be able to identify areas SCC struggle to find capacity 
and market prices would reflect this

- Risk of strategic partner breakdown and need to re-tender through life of the contract 
high

- Reputational risk if strategic partners don’t deliver (pressure is off as second tier will 
pick up attitude) undermines approach

- 2 tier system could take longer from package entered onto system to award if going 
through strategic first and then second tier.

P
age 330

11



Options Analysis

Block Perceived Benefits:

- Block with providers who can pick up in strategic areas
- Limit exposure to market where pricing is variable
- In principle ensures capacity is available when required
- Contract management is easier

Risks:

- Providers struggle with block hours because they can not have staff simply 
waiting to be ‘available when needed’ and general staff turnover in the industry. 

- We will be paying for unused hours
- Often models would be based on zero hours contracts or higher paid retention 

rates for staff but this is still not viable according to most providers. 
- How many providers do we need to block with to ensure capacity across the 

whole of Surrey – some areas are difficult to service and have limited volumes –
would these be seen as loss leaders?

- If providers have block, latent staff, and deliver private hours providers could be 
getting paid twice for staff time.

Post Codes and 
Open Framework

Perceived Benefits:

- By splitting SCC into smaller areas providers can make informed 
decisions about where to tender for work

- SCC can shape markets in areas where competition is low and 
therefore market rates potentially higher and availability of hours is 
harder to obtain

- SCC can break down market intelligence in order to promote 
positive provider growth in areas of need

- An open framework generates competition and allows markets to 
regulate costs in line with SCC ambition to shape pricing activity

- New entrants to the market should be more competitive based on 
market intelligence, benefitting SCC

Risks:

- Time taken to go through multiple bids for work (should be negated through JCPT 
and awarding on price)

- Providers not wishing to join framework in areas where need is high and capacity 
is low therefore knowing they will still get business.

P
age 331

11



Options Analysis

Spot Perceived Benefits:

- No need for lengthy contract and tender
- Purchase care as needed
- Flexibility to approach providers individually
- New providers can be used immediately without waiting to join a 

framework

Risks:

- Providers would be able to dictate price to teams on a daily basis
- Risk that purchasing teams would buy from providers with poor quality ratings
- No control of market oversight
- Providers able to ‘play-off’ purchasing teams

P
age 332

11



 
 

 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 
 

REPORT OF: MRS SINEAD MOONEY, CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULTS 
AND PUBLIC HEALTH 

 
 
 
LEAD OFFICER: 
 

 
MR MEL FEW, CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES 
 
SIMON WHITE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ADULT 
SOCIAL CARE 
 
LEIGH WHITEHOUSE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
RESOURCES 

 
SUBJECT: 

 
DECISION ON THE ROUTE TO MARKET FOR TWO EXTRA 
CARE HOUSING SCHEMES 

  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

A paper was presented to Cabinet in July 2019 setting out Adult Social Care’s (ASC) 

Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy for delivering Extra Care Housing for older 

persons and Independent Living schemes for adults with a learning disability and/or autism1. 

This paper sets out Surrey County Council’s (“the Council”) proposed route to market for two 

sites proposed for Extra Care Housing. This will support our strategy to deliver 

accommodation with care and support by 2030 that will enable people to access the right 

health and social care at the right time in the right place, with appropriate housing for 

residents that helps them to remain independent, achieve their potential and ensures nobody 

is left behind. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approve the development of Extra Care Housing on the Lakeside and Salisbury 
Road sites owned by the Council set out in the paper; 
 

                                                           
1 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s57815/16.%20Accommodation%20with%20Care%20support%
20Cabinet%20report%20July%202019.pdf 

Page 333

12

Item 12



2. Approve that Extra Care Housing schemes are developed on these sites on the basis 
that the Council has 100% nomination rights for all of the units. This will mean that all 
of the units will be available to support people with Adult Social Care needs for whom 
the Council has a responsibility to commission care and support services to meet 
their eligible needs; 
 

3. Approve the following delivery models for the development of Extra Care Housing on  
Lakeside, Frimley, Surrey Heath and Salisbury Road, Epsom, Epsom and Ewell 
sites: 
 

a. External delivery through the tender for strategic development and housing 
management partner(s) as the preferred option. 

b. In-house delivery whereby the Council would manage and fully fund the costs 
of the developments if the tender for strategic development and housing 
management partner(s) is not successful. 

 
4. Grants approval to procure in order to enable a full tender process to identify an 

Extra Care Housing development and housing management strategic partner(s) for 
the Lakeside, and Salisbury Road sites set out in this paper;  
 

5. In the event of in-house delivery, delegate decisions for: 
 

a. the award of contract to a building contractor, 
b. final agreement on tenure and lease arrangements, 
c. agreements with the housing management partner, 

 
Collectively to: 

 
d. Executive Director for Resources in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 

Resources, 
e. Executive Director for Adult Social Care in consultation with Cabinet Member 

for Adult Social Care. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The development of Extra Care Housing on the two sites set out in this paper will represent 
a substantial contribution towards the Council’s strategic objective to expand affordable 
Extra Care Housing provision by 2030. 

 
Tendering for strategic development and housing management partner(s) to take forwards 
the development of Extra Care Housing on the Lakeside and Salisbury Road sites is 
consistent with previous decisions made by Cabinet. In October 2019 and July 2020 Cabinet 
agreed to identify a strategic partner(s) for the development and housing management of 
Extra Care Housing at the former Pond Meadow School, the former Brockhurst Care Home 
and the former Pinehurst Resource Centre sites through a tender process. 
 
This is consistent with our ASC vision for development of Extra Care Housing, which has 
been clearly communicated through market and stakeholder engagement. 
 
A tender was published in the Summer 2020 for an Extra Care Housing development and 
housing management strategic partner at the former Pond Meadow School site. This 
process provides the Council with learning and a template to inform any future tenders for 
further Extra Care Housing schemes. 
 

Page 334

12



By approving both delivery models for Extra Care Housing on the Lakeside, and Salisbury  
Road sites, in the event that the tender is not successful, the in-house delivery option can be 
employed. This will minimise delay in delivering Extra Care Housing at these sites. 
 
Financial modelling for both options is set out in the Part 2 paper. 

 

DETAILS: 

Background  

1. The two sites owned by the Council and identified for Extra Care Housing schemes 

are: 

i. Field at Salisbury Road, Epsom, Epsom and Ewell 
ii. Field near Lakeside, Frimley, Surrey Heath 

 
2. ASC’s Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy agreed by Cabinet in July 

2019 set out the ambition to develop an additional 725 affordable units of extra care 
housing in Surrey by 2028.   
 

Key assumptions for Extra Care Housing developments 
 

3. Extra Care Housing must be an enabling and accessible environment which makes 
independent living possible for older people with a spectrum of care needs, including 
those with dementia and other cognitive impairments.  Its design and nature should 
mean that it is a ‘Home for Life’ - in most cases, people should be able to maintain 
their tenancies and live comfortably and with dignity without needing to go into 
residential and nursing care homes when their care needs increase. The key 
principles of Extra Care Housing can be found in Annex 1. 

 
4. Initial feasibility sketches based on planning feedback and a review of the local area 

shows that these sites could provide circa 136 affordable extra care units. In total this 
means, if Cabinet were to approve plans to develop Extra Care Housing at the 
Lakeside and Salisbury Roadsites, then when combined with the planned 
developments already approved on the Pond Meadow, Brockhurst and Pinehurst 
sites, that there are plans to deliver circa 43% of the council’s strategic ambition. 
 

5. To meet the Council’s definition of affordability, rents and service charges must be 
set at levels within Local Housing Allowance for Extra Care Housing agreed with the 
Strategic Housing Authority. Extra Care Housing attracts a higher Local Housing 
Allowance, due to the communal areas, than would be provided for general needs 
housing. 
 

6. National evidence and learning from Extra Care Housing schemes already used by 
the Council demonstrate the importance of maintaining an appropriate level of needs. 
The Council intend to operate a waiting list system to ensure appropriate nominations 
and care mix can be achieved and maintained through the life of the schemes. This 
will be essential to mitigate the risk of voids. 

 
7. The Council’s focus is on developing Extra Care Housing schemes that deliver 

affordable units for individuals with eligible ASC needs that the Council is required to 
support.  As such, the default approach is to develop 100% affordable schemes 
whereby the Council has nomination rights for all of the units. 
 

8. The Council’s focus is on developing Extra Care Housing schemes that deliver 
affordable units for individuals with eligible ASC needs that the Council is required to 

Page 335

12



support.  As such, the Council’s default approach is to develop 100% affordable 
schemes whereby the Council has nomination rights for all of the units.  An 
alternative tenure model would only be considered for a site if development of a 
100% affordable scheme on the site was not a realistic option. 
 

9. A separate procurement process will be conducted for the onsite care provider. The 
intention will be to seek Cabinet approval for the tender of the care and support 
provider via the relevant year’s Annual Procurement Forward Plan. 

 

CONSULTATION: 

10. The consultation for this report builds on the previous discussions that have occurred 

during the lifespan of this programme, as outlined in previous Cabinet reports.  

 

11. Pre-application meetings have been carried out with the planning departments of the 

relevant district and borough councils based on initial concept designs for the sites. 

These were well received, and ongoing discussions are underway. 

 

12. In advance of publishing this report a briefing note has been circulated to senior 

planning and housing officers in the district and borough councils. Briefing meetings 

will be arranged with the relevant district and borough ward councillors and senior 

officers. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

13. There is a risk that there may not be sufficient interest from the market to develop the 

schemes on the basis that the Council proposes.  The Council has however 

undertaken extensive market engagement and learning will be available from the 

Pond Meadow tender to inform the procurement approach for these two sites. 

 

14. If the tender is not successful, then the Council will be able to employ the in-house 

delivery model. This will limit the delay in delivering Extra Care Housing at these 

sites. 

 

15. There is a risk that once these sites have been launched the Council is unable to 

identify ASC funded residents for all of the affordable units.  Void units would 

diminish the savings realised for ASC in Extra Care Housing compared to alternative 

forms of care, which would mean the Council would not be making best use of the 

land.  To mitigate against this risk, ASC will seek to identify individuals suitable for 

Extra Care Housing a year in advance of each sites completion. This will provide 

adequate time to work with our own ASC operational teams, the future residents, 

their families, friends and carers to prepare them for occupying the flats once they 

are available. 

 

16. A full marketing strategy will be implemented to promote interest in the schemes and 

provide a waiting list of suitable residents. This marketing requirement is included in 

the budget for the Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy 

 

17. Once the schemes are operational, ASC will continue to operate a nominations panel 

with district and borough colleagues to ensure any vacancies that occur are utilised 

Page 336

12



as quickly as possible and that an appropriate mix of care needs is maintained 

across the sites. 

 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

18. As set out in the Accommodation with Care & Support Strategy presented to Cabinet 

in July 2019, the development of Extra Care Housing is expected to deliver financial 

savings compared to alternative forms of care for two main reasons: 

 

i. The design and nature of Extra Care Housing settings means that in the vast 
majority of cases people should be able to live there throughout their remaining 
elderly life and avoid the need to go into residential and nursing care homes 
when their care needs increase.  Some admissions into more expensive 
residential and nursing homes will therefore be avoided.   
 

ii. The provision of care to people’s own homes in Extra Care Housing settings is 
generally less expensive when compared to normal residences.  This is due to a 
concentration of need within a bespoke housing setting, which allows care 
providers to minimise travel costs for care workers and more efficiently deploy 
staff to support extra care residents. the average number of hours of care 
typically being lower for people in extra care settings. 

 
19. Modelling based on the planned usage of the Council’s new affordable Extra Care 

Housing units indicates that the Council should achieve savings of £4,600 per unit 
per year, depending on the mix of affordable vs shared or private ownership units in 
a scheme, compared to traditional alternative forms of care.  The development of the 
two sites proposed in this paper is expected to generate total care package 
efficiencies of between £563k and £595k per year.   
 

20. Beyond the direct savings to the Council it is also important to recognise the wider 
financial benefits to the health and social care system. Evidence indicates that well 
managed Extra Care Housing schemes will typically result in fewer people requiring 
admission to hospital.  While this is, of course, very positive for people’s wellbeing 
and independence, it reduces pressure on the health care system and avoids the 
higher levels of social care expenditure typically required following hospital 
discharge. 

 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

21. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 
the Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The 
public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 
current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 
extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 
year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 
constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 
onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 
priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. 

 
22. In this context, the Section 151 Officer recognises the development of extra care 

housing will be important in helping to expand accommodation provision in the 
community to help older people maintain their independence that is more cost 
effective than traditional alternative forms of care.  Plans to develop Extra Care 

Page 337

12



Housing and the associated care package efficiencies have been factored into the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 
23. If Cabinet approves the recommendation to proceed with development of extra care 

housing schemes on the two sites, it will be important to ensure the Council works 
closely and swiftly with the relevant district and borough councils to finalise 
nomination agreements for the affordable units.  As work progresses towards 
completion it will then be essential that individuals are identified who are suitable to 
move into the affordable units as close to the sites becoming operational as possible.  
Once the new schemes are operational, it will be important to track the costs of care 
provision across the affordable units and compare this to the modelled expenditure 
for affordable extra care so that this learning can be built into the proposed 
development of any further extra care schemes. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

24. The Council as the owner of the Lakeside and Salisbury Road sites, which it is 

seeking to develop for Extra Care Housing may dispose of, or develop, any land it 

owns.  

 

25. If the preferred option of using an external delivery model involving engagement of 

strategic development and housing management partner(s) is adopted, the Council 

proposes to grant a lease to the partner to facilitate development. The Council is 

empowered to grant a lease; however, it would be necessary to show that best value 

has been obtained. This is a legal requirement under Section 123 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. To show best value has been obtained, the Council may need 

to show that it had taken specialist advice (external) confirming that this represented 

best value. Under Section 123(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 the Secretary of 

State’s consent would be required before the Council could dispose of land at less 

than best value. The grant of a lease falls into the definition of a disposal under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 

 

26. Existing rights and interests of the Council in land it owns are not affected by the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Regulation 10 (1) (a) exempts such transactions 

from the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. When the Council is attempting to enter 

into contracts for acquisition or rental of land, the public procurement rules do not 

apply, however there are exceptions. If the party the Council are wishing to contract 

with is also undertaking some element of works or services, the public procurement 

regime may be evoked, which requires contracts in excess of the threshold to be 

tendered. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

27. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is included as Annex 2, examining areas of 

consideration for any implementation of the Accommodation with Care and Support 

Strategy. Identified impacts at this stage centre on improved resident experience and 

outcomes, more people remaining independent within their own homes for longer 

and further consideration needed of people's natural communities, recognising that 

communities do not necessarily fit with statutory boundaries. 

Page 338

12



SAFEGUARDING RESPONSIBILITIES FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS 

IMPLICATIONS 

28. Improving the accommodation options available for people with care and support 

needs could have a positive impact in terms of safeguarding, ensuring that 

vulnerable adults can live within safe, secure environments with appropriate care and 

support services designed around them. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

29. In line with the Council’s Climate Change Strategy and Government’ Future Homes 
Standard, the Council will work with the development and housing management 
strategic partner(s) to ensure that design principles and build provide, at minimum, a 
31% CO2 reduction when compared to current building regulations.  
 

30. Providers will be asked to take the following approach when producing methodology 
on how they will reduce CO2: 

a. Be Lean – Fabric first 
b. Be Clean – Efficient energy supply 
c. Be Green – Low Zero Carbon/Renewables 

 

31. Any potential development and housing management strategic partner(s) will have to 

outline within in their bid submission on how they will achieve a reduction in CO2 
emissions through design and building operations. This will be built into the method 
statement questions and weighting criteria in the tender evaluation.  

 

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

32. Accommodation with Care and Support can positively impact on public health 

outcomes, including reductions in social isolation and/or loneliness; improved 

nutrition and hydration; increased wellbeing for residents participating in activities, 

such as exercise classes, and minimising the ill effects of fuel poverty and/or 

seasonal health risks. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

33. If Cabinet approve the recommendations in this paper, we will: 

 

i. Begin preparations to go out to market for a development and housing 

management strategic partner(s) for these sites including market and 

stakeholder engagement and publication of an Official Journal of the 

European Union compliant tender. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact Officer: 

Simon Montgomery, Programme Manager, 020 8213 2745  

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – Principles of Extra Care Housing 

Annex 2 – Extra Care Housing Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 339

12



Part 2 Report 

Sources/background papers: 

Adult Social Care Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy for Extra Care Housing 

for Older People and Independent Living Schemes for adults with a learning disability and/or 

autism https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Page 340

12

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4


PART 1 ANNEX 1 – THE KEY PRINCIPLES OF EXTRA CARE HOUSING

Extra Care Housing should:

• Enable people to remain in place

• Help people to self–care and promote independent living

• Be a base for day time activities and community based therapy

• Be domestic in nature and not resemble institutional environments like residential care homes, while being sympathetic to the
architectural vernacular of its local area

• Provide a level of on-site support and care by staff which can scale to changing needs.

The following features are common to any Extra Care Housing setting:

• Independently accessed (and metered) apartments or other dwellings

• A range of on-site communal facilities typically paid for by an additional service charge, which can be accommodated within locally 
agreed housing benefit levels

• Care and support required by the residents is provided by a separately registered domiciliary care agency registered by the Care Quality 
Commission (often based on site) and bought in by residents on an ‘as needed’ basis.

• A focus on accessibility and design quality principles 

• Located in a sustainable location, close to the community and local amenities, e.g. shops, doctors, transport links.

• Technological infrastructure which helps people to maintain their independence, and which can be linked to assistive technology where 
needed

P
age 341

12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  
 
Annex 2  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

What policy, function or 
service change are you 
assessing? 

Now and in the coming years, Surrey County Council (SCC) 
faces unprecedented financial challenges in meeting care and 
support needs in Surrey.  This is compounded by the 
demographic challenges and fragile provider market. The 
accommodation with care and support programme has been set 
up to respond to some of these challenges.  

The overall aim of the extra care element of the Accommodation 
with Care and Support Strategy (as set out in the SCC Cabinet 
report of 16 July 2019) is to address the current limited 
availability of extra care units in the county. 

Extra care (also known as “assisted living” when focused on the 
private market) is a particular housing model which focuses 
mainly on older people, and offers accessible and adaptable 
housing (under rental, shared ownership or leasehold 
arrangements) alongside formalised care services which can 
meet a range of needs on site and respond to care emergencies 
24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  Through a range of delivery 
approaches, ranging from SCC controlled delivery, tender 
processes and indirect support to appropriate private planning 
proposals, SCC aims to achieve the equivalent of 25 extra care 
units per 1,000 of Surrey’s 75+ population by the end of the 
decade. 

Why does this EIA need to 
be completed? 

The development and operation of new extra care capacity 
through the Accommodation with Care Strategy will involve 
changes to policies and functions amongst operational staff, and 
present new services to people living in Surrey, their carers and 
relatives.   

This EIA helps us to build up a profile of the existing users of 
extra care in Surrey, and from this profile consider how both 
current and future users of extra care may be affected by the 
extra care element of the Accommodation with Care Strategy.  

The anticipated impacts will be assessed with regard to those 
with protected characteristics, as identified under the Equality 
Act 2010. This is to identify actions to, where possible, mitigate 
any potential negative impacts, maximise positive impacts 

EIA Title Accommodation with Care Strategy – Extra Care 

Did you use the EIA 
Screening Tool?  
(Please tick or specify) 

Yes 
(Please attach 

upon submission) 
 No X 

1.  Explaining the matter being assessed 

Page 343

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

associated with the extra care programme and break down 
barriers to accessing these services.   

Who is affected by the 
proposals outlined 
above? 

The proposals will affect: 

 Future users of publicly funded housing and support at extra 
care settings in Surrey, their relatives and carers 

How does your service 
proposal support the 
outcomes in the 
Community Vision for 
Surrey 2030? 

The delivery of high quality, sustainable care and support to 
vulnerable adults is vital for SCC to deliver the Community 
Vision for 2030.    

The overarching Accommodation with Care and Support 
Strategy, of which extra care housing delivery is a part, is 
focused on enabling people to access the right health and social 
care at the right time in the right place through the delivery of the 
most suitable accommodation with care and support for Surrey 
residents. 

Extra care will support the Community Vision for Surrey 2030 by 
addressing a gap in specialist accommodation provision for 
older people, which will offer appropriately designed, accessible 
and adaptable housing together with communal facilities and 
formalised care services on site.  In so doing it will support the 
help to make Surrey a place where older people can “live 
healthy and fulfilling lives, are enabled to achieve their full 
potential and contribute to their community, and no one is left 
behind.” 

Are there any specific 
geographies in Surrey 
where this will make an 
impact? 

(Please tick or specify) 

 
 
 

County Wide X Runnymede   

Elmbridge  Spelthorne  

Epsom and Ewell  Surrey Heath  

Guildford  Tandridge  

Mole Valley  Waverley  

Reigate and Banstead  Woking  

Not Applicable    

County Divisions (please specify if appropriate):  

Page 344

12

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf


 
 
 
 

 
 

Briefly list what evidence 
you have gathered on the 
impact of your proposals?  

In order to identify the impacts of the proposals, a snapshot has 
been taken of residents of extra care known to Surrey County 
Council as at 4 September 2020. 

As extra care as a housing with care model is primarily focused 
on older people (i.e. people aged 65 or over) wider indicators of 
need associated with older people in general will be examined 
alongside the snapshot data. 

It is clear from national studies (primarily led by the Housing LIN) 
that extra care settings can offer a long-term solution with regard 
to housing and care for older people where, due to disability or 
frailty, maintaining independence in mainstream housing 
settings is proving difficult.  Studies have demonstrated that 
individuals living in extra care accommodation have better health 
and wellbeing outcomes when compared with others with similar 
needs in more restrictive care settings like residential and 
nursing care homes.  Analysis conducted by Surrey County 
Council of care journeys experienced people living in extra care 
settings bears this out, and it is recognised that people are more 
likely to remain independently at their home for longer in these 
settings, with fewer admissions to hospital and at a reduced risk 
of care home admission, to equivalent populations living in 
mainstream accommodation.  

Other evidence gathered to inform this Equality Impact 
Assessment included: 

 Projecting Older People Population Information System 
(POPPI)  

 NHS website on conditions, stress, anxiety, depression and 
loneliness in older people 

 Data retrieved from LAS, as at 4 September 2020 

 2011 census 

 Office for National Statistics Annual Population Survey 

 Surrey-i 

 Surrey’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Page 345

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

There are 10 protected characteristics to consider in your proposal. These are: 

 
1. Age including younger and older people 
2. Disability 
3. Gender reassignment 
4. Pregnancy and maternity (no impacts) 
5. Race including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality 
6. Religion or belief including lack of belief 
7. Sex 
8. Sexual orientation 
9. Marriage/civil partnerships 
10. Carers protected by association 
 
Though not included in the Equality Act 2010, Surrey County Council recognises that socio-economic disadvantage is a significant 
contributor to inequality across the County and therefore regards this as an additional factor.  
 
Therefore, if relevant, you will need to include information on this. Please refer to the EIA guidance if you are unclear as to what this is. 

 
  

2.  Service Users / Residents 

P
age 346

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

AGE 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

According to Projecting Older People Population Information System (POPPI), while Surrey’s population aged 65 and over is set to 
increase in the coming years, the population aged 85 and over is expected to increase the most as a proportion:   

 2020 2025 2030 2035 
 No. % of 65+ No. % of 65+ No. % of 65+ No. % of 65+ 

People aged 65-69 57,300 24.7% 63,700 25.3% 74,400 26.5% 75,500 24.5% 

People aged 70-74 59,900 25.8% 53,800 21.3% 60,000 21.4% 70,300 22.9% 

People aged 75-79 44,300 19.1% 54,900 21.8% 49,800 17.7% 55,900 18.2% 

People aged 80-84 33,500 14.5% 38,200 15.2% 47,800 17.0% 44,100 14.3% 

People aged 85-89 22,500 9.7% 25,000 9.9% 29,300 10.4% 37,400 12.2% 

People aged 90 and over 14,300 6.2% 16,500 6.5% 19,700 7.0% 24,400 7.9% 

Total population 65 and over 231,800 100.0% 252,100 100.0% 281,000 100.0% 307,600 100.0% 

Source: www.poppi.gov.uk, as retrieved on 8 September 2020 

In comparison, of the extra care residents known to Surrey County Council as at 4 September 2020, the largest proportion by age group 
at the settings is in the 85+ category, where acuity of care need and risk of emergency care is highest.  Please see below: 

Extra care setting Average age Up to 54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85+ Total 

Aldwyn Place 75.6 2 2 3 6 5 18 

Anvil Court 78.2 0 4 9 7 11 31 

Beechwood Court 81.1 0 2 2 4 7 15 

Brockhill 79.2 2 1 2 4 10 19 

Chestnut Court 70.4 4 4 14 5 6 33 

Dray Court 79.6 1 1 7 8 10 27 

Falkner Court 80.9 0 0 2 4 2 8 

P
age 347

12

http://www.poppi.gov.uk/


 
 
 
 

 
 

Huntley House 89.9 0 0 1 3 15 19 

Japonica Court 78.1 0 1 5 3 7 16 

Mitchison Court 70.9 3 10 4 6 7 30 

Riverside Court 85.6 0 2 0 2 9 13 

Grand Total 77.8 12 27 49 52 89 229 

  5.2% 11.8% 21.4% 22.7% 38.9% 100% 

 

From the above it is clear that extra care’s key client group is the “oldest old”, with people aged 85 and over accounting for almost 40% of 
the snapshot in comparison to 16% of Surrey’s current population, and with an average age of 78.  That said, as 38.4% of the 4 
September snapshot are aged under 75, it is also evident that extra care can operate both as an appropriate setting to meet current 
needs, and as a proactive choice of long term living arrangement in anticipation of care needs developing with age. 

Impacts 
(Please tick or specify) 

Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise 
negative impacts? 

When will this 
be implemented 
by? 

Owner 

- Age restrictions may 
prevent some people, 
whose needs may best 
be met at an extra care 
setting, from being 
considered for referral  

An age ‘cut off’ is used as a general 
guide for applications to extra care 
settings, as they are generally 
regarded as communities for people 
aged over 55 years of age or more.  

The age of individuals is a 
key factor for nominations 
processes, where decisions 
are made on who may be 
offered an extra care 
tenancy. However, 
individuals under 55 years 
of age may be considered 
exceptionally on the basis of 
need and urgency, 
particularly where 
alternative settings are not 
regarded as suitable 

Consideration 
will be made for 
people under the 
age restriction in 
partnership with 
local housing 
authorities and 
providers as part 
of an exceptions 
process in 
nominations 
decisions.  
Agreed 
approaches will 
therefore be 
factored into 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team and 
(once nominations 
processes are 
operational) social 
care Locality Team 
staff, in partnership 
with local housing 
authorities and 
extra care 
providers 

P
age 348

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

nominations 
policies 

+ Older residents will 
have increased choice 
with more 
accommodation options 
available to meet their 
care needs. 

The Council’s ambition through the 
Accommodation with Care Strategy 
is to develop a range of housing 
options across the county.  Extra 
care is an additional housing option 
primarily aimed at older people. 

Ensure that an appropriate 
mix of accommodation is 
developed in local areas to 
cater for the range of needs 
experienced by older 
people. 

This will be 
implemented as 
new extra care 
settings are 
developed 
across the 
county. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team will 
lead on ensuring 
greater diversity of 
options is available 

+ Flexible care that can 
adapt to individual needs, 
enabling older people to 
live in extra care settings 
for the rest of their lives 
with a lower risk of 
transfers elsewhere (e.g. 
residential care) due to 
care emergencies  

Care packages can be better tailored 
to individual needs within extra care 
settings with the provision of shared 
emergency care and flexible 
personalised care. This will prevent 
the necessity for many individuals to 
move as their needs change, and 
minimise the risks of transfers 
elsewhere in response to a crisis. 

The establishment of a 
flexible care and support 
commissioning offer to go 
alongside the provision of 
accommodation. 

This will be 
implemented as 
new extra care 
settings are 
developed 
across the 
county. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 

+ Accommodation that 
offers longevity with 
purpose-built buildings 
for older people that are 
fit for the future 

SCC developments will be newly 
built to a design standard that meets 
the needs of an ageing population 
and enables future modification. 
SCC will work to ensure that any 
accommodation they develop is in 
the right location and will meet 
people’s changing needs.  

Clear design briefs for SCC 
developments, incorporating 
requirements for 
accessibility and 
adaptability, will be key to 
the tender documentation 
for SCC owned sites.  Clear 
best practice expectations 
will also be developed and 
published for the 
independent sector and 
local authority planners, to 
assist with design 
documentation for planning 
applications. 

This will be on-
going as new 
housing options 
are delivered. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team and 
Property Services. 

P
age 349

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

+ Older people will 
benefit from access to 
communal facilities on 
site and nearby facilities, 
which will help to reduce 
social isolation and 
loneliness 

Older people are more likely than 
their younger counterparts to suffer 
from loneliness or social isolation, 
particularly if they live alone and 
reside in locations set away from 
communities.  While this is widely 
researched as an issue, the NHS 
website states the following: 
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stress-
anxiety-depression/loneliness-in-
older-people/  

Future extra care settings 
will feature an array of 
communal facilities, which 
will allow residents to 
regularly engage with each 
other and visitors, they will 
be set clearly in the heart of 
local communities with 
nearby transport routes. 

This will be 
implemented as 
new extra care 
settings are 
developed 
across the 
county. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team and 
Property Services. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

The Older People’s Commissioning programme – including the following areas of work: 

- Review of the sourcing function for older people’s care and support, including eligibility and referral processes for extra care 

- The recommissioning of home based care, upon which planned care delivery on extra care sites will be monitored  

- Technology Enabled Care (TEC) programme, including telecare and other assistive technology that may be required by people living 
in extra care settings 

- Engagement with local authority planners on future care developments, linked to a wider market shaping strategy 

Wider commissioning arrangements with regard to aids and adaptations to property is also a dependency over the course of the 
Accommodation with Care Strategy’s lifetime. 

Surrey County Council operational practice amongst social care teams with regard to the promotion of extra care, as opposed to care 
homes and other more restrictive settings, will be crucial in ensuring that appropriate people are referred to become tenants.  This will be 
linked to the wider cultural shift of engaging with people through a strength-based approach to support them in their community. 

Surrey County Council is currently reviewing its asset and property portfolio as part of its Asset and Place Strategy. As part of this 
strategy a pipeline of SCC-owned sites will be identified that can be developed for extra care schemes.  In addition, over the course of the 
Accommodation with Care Strategy life cycle, other opportunities may be explored with strategic partners and the extra care market in 
order to maximise the development of appropriate new extra care sites across the county. 

P
age 350

12

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stress-anxiety-depression/loneliness-in-older-people/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stress-anxiety-depression/loneliness-in-older-people/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stress-anxiety-depression/loneliness-in-older-people/


 
 
 
 

 
 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why. 

None known 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  P
age 351

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

DISABILITY 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

In order to be defined as eligible for extra care housing, potential occupants will need to recognised as requiring a minimum level of care 
and support alongside requiring suitably configured accommodation.  The needs warranting this requirement may be due to physical 
disabilities, frailty, sensory impairments or loss, or mental health problems (including cognitive impairments due to dementia or other 
conditions). 

As stated in the “Age” section above, extra care can operate both as an appropriate setting to meet current needs, and as a proactive 
choice of long-term living arrangement.  As a result the extra care population is diverse with regard to disability, with the following 
“primary support reasons” amongst residents known to Surrey County Council as at 4 September 2020 (source: LAS): 

 

Primary support reason No. % 

Learning disability 14 6.11% 

Mental health support 21 9.17% 

Physical support 175 76.42% 

Sensory disabilities and 
impairment 

6 2.62% 

Social isolation/other 11 4.80% 

Unknown 2 0.87% 

In response to these needs the majority receive a home based care service (80%), while a small minority pay for care and support 
through a direct payment (4%).  Although just over 16% do not receive a service funded by Surrey County Council, this is likely due to 
their status as self-funders of care and support or their status as cohabiting carers of residents.  

P
age 352

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

It is important to note that 30% of the extra care residents known to Surrey County Council have been recognised as having a 
communication need, whether relating to hearing loss or dual sensory loss, learning disability or visual impairment. 

Impacts 
(Please tick or specify) 

Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise 
negative impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ Extra care settings 
provide an environment 
that is built fundamentally 
with accessibility and 
adaptability in mind to 
support people with 
physical and sensory 
disabilities and cognitive 
impairments 

Extra care settings will be built to 
best practice principles with regard 
to accessibility and design.  

Clear design briefs for SCC 
developments, incorporating 
requirements for 
accessibility and 
adaptability, will be key to 
the tender documentation 
for SCC owned sites.  Clear 
best practice expectations 
will also be developed and 
published for the 
independent sector and 
local authority planners, to 
assist with design 
documentation for planning 
applications. 

This will be on-going 
as new housing 
options are delivered. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 
and Property 
Services. 

+ Flexible care will be 
delivered in extra care 
settings that can adapt to 
individual needs, 
enabling people with 
disabilities to live in extra 
care settings for the rest 
of their lives with a lower 
risk of transfers 
elsewhere (e.g. 

Care packages can be better 
tailored to individual needs within 
extra care settings with the provision 
of shared emergency care and 
flexible personalised care. This will 
prevent the necessity for many 
individuals to move as their needs 
change, and minimise the risks of 

The establishment of a 
flexible care and support 
commissioning offer to go 
alongside the provision of 
accommodation. 

This will be 
implemented as new 
extra care settings 
are developed across 
the county. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 

P
age 353

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

residential care) due to 
care emergencies  

transfers elsewhere in response to a 
crisis. 

+ Extra care settings not 
only support the efficient 
delivery of a care service 
on-site but also positive 
relationships with health 
partners to support 
people with complex care 
needs associated with a 
disability 

While extra care settings will include 
flexible facilities that could be used 
by visiting health services, providers 
will be expected to actively support 
people with their access to universal 
and specialist health care. 

Primary and secondary care 
providers (GPs, dentists, 
community health providers 
etc) will be engaged with 
during the development of 
new extra care settings. 
Future operators of the 
settings will be expected to 
engage with them routinely, 
in direct response to 
residents’ needs. 

This will be delivered 
throughout the 
lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 
and (once 
settings are 
operational) 
social care 
Locality Team 
staff 

- People with 
communication needs 
may not be made aware 
of the opportunities 
presented by extra care 
settings, or may not apply 
to be referred, because 
the communication 
method used is 
inappropriate, and extra 
care settings may not be 
responsive to their needs 
once they become 
residents 

Information on the communication 
needs of current extra care 
residents provides an indication of 
the communication needs of people 
who may benefit from extra care in 
the future 

The tender documentation 
and contractual 
expectations for new extra 
care settings will be clear on 
the need for housing 
managers and care 
providers to engage with 
people through a variety of 
communication approaches 

This will be delivered 
throughout the 
lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 
and (once 
settings are 
operational) 
social care 
Locality Team 
staff 

- While efforts will be 
made to maximise the 
number of fully-
wheelchair accessible 
accommodation units on 

Extra care developments, due to 
site size limitations and 
management of costs, very rarely 
offer 100% of their units as fully 

The Extra Care Strategy 
Team and Property Team 
will work to ensure that the 
number of fully wheelchair 
accessible units available is 
proportionate to the needs 

This will be delivered 
throughout the 
lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 
and Property 
Services. 

P
age 354

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

individual extra care sites 
(as defined in building 
regulations under M4(3)), 
due to the need to ensure 
that sites are viable there 
will be a limit to the 
number of these types of 
units. 

wheelchair accessible dwellings as 
per building regulations M4(3).  

of future residents, both on 
an individual setting basis 
but also as an offer across 
the county as sites are 
developed. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

As per those identified in the “Age” section. 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why. 

None known 

 

  

P
age 355

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

GENDER REASSIGNMENT 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

 
Population statistics on gender reassignment are very limited, particularly because the 2011 census (from which population projections 
are usually produced) did not collect appropriate information – the only question on gender was in relation to sex being male or female 
(source: https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/censustransformationprogramme/questiondevelopment/genderidentity). 

It is expected that this will change with the inclusion of a question on gender identity in the 2021 census, which will collect information on 
those whose gender is different from their sex assigned at birth.  Of course, any information from this census will be factored into future 
iterations of the Extra Care Equality Impact Assessment. 

SCC Adult Social Care does not specifically record whether individuals are undergoing gender reassignment as a reportable aspect of 
their care records.  There is therefore no current way to reliably calculate the number of people, with this protected characteristic, who 
may be impacted by the changes of the extra care element of the Accommodation with Care Strategy. 

Impacts 
(Please tick or specify) 

Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise 
negative impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ People in extra care 
settings will live in self-
contained apartments 
including dedicated 
toileting and bathroom 
facilities, allowing for 
privacy and dignity for 
any residents undergoing 
gender reassignment  

Self-contained accommodation will 
allow for privacy, while the overall 
design ethos of extra care facilities is 
to flexibly suit changing needs, 
including the needs of people 
undergoing gender reassignment.  

Ensure that the design and 
construction of extra care 
settings accommodates the 
needs of people undergoing 
gender reassignment 
alongside others who have 
protected characteristics  

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Accommodation with 
Care Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are 
leading on the 
tenders for new 
extra care 
developments, 
and 
engagement 
with providers 
of extra care 
settings while 
they are in the 

P
age 356

12

https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/censustransformationprogramme/questiondevelopment/genderidentity


 
 
 
 

 
 

process of 
being built 

- Risk of discrimination 
due to lack of awareness 
and training of people 
working at new extra 
care settings, reflecting 
what could be 
experienced elsewhere in 
society 

Ongoing stigma related to gender 
reassignment within society 

Extra care operators and 
support providers will be 
expected to be responsive 
to the needs of people 
undergoing gender 
reassignment, and support 
them without discrimination 
and ensure staff are 
appropriately trained. 

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Accommodation with 
Care Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are 
leading on the 
tenders for new 
extra care 
developments 
(including 
housing 
management) 
and associated 
care contracts, 
and staff 
training delivery 
will be 
monitored over 
the life of these 
contracts. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

None known 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why  

Residents in extra care settings may behave in a discriminatory manner to others, and efforts to change long held perceptions of people 
different to themselves may prove highly problematic or (particularly in the case of cognitive impairment) fruitless. 

While abuse will of course be challenged and investigated, less direct examples of discrimination would be very difficult to police through 
existing policies and procedures. 

 

P
age 357

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

RACE 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

Breakdowns on race in Surrey’s population are drawn from the 2011 census, and statisticians, according to Projecting Older People 
Population Information System (POPPI), have not made projections further forward than from this date as the figures would not be seen to 
be reliable. Bearing this in mind, the census gives the following racial breakdown of Surrey’s population aged 65 and over:  

Age White 
Mixed/ multiple 

ethnic group 
Asian/ Asian 

British 

Black/ African/ 
Caribbean/ Black 

British 
Other Ethnic 

Group 

65-74 96.53% 0.39% 2.38% 0.30% 0.40% 

75-84 97.72% 0.34% 1.54% 0.18% 0.21% 

85+ 99.00% 0.24% 0.58% 0.07% 0.11% 

Total 65+ 97.32% 0.35% 1.82% 0.22% 0.29% 

 
This can be compared with the statistics drawn from the snapshot of extra care residents (below).  While this reveals a more diverse 
population, it is notable that none of the residents identified as Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
 

 White 
Mixed/ multiple 

ethnic group 
Asian/ Asian 

British 

Black/ African/ 
Caribbean/ Black 

British 
Other Ethnic 

Group 

Extra care residents - 
declared race 

93.52% 0.93% 3.70% 0.00% 1.85% 

 

It should also be noted that this is not an absolutely complete picture, as 13 residents have not identified their race.  The above is 
therefore indicative rather than an absolute reflection of the racial characteristics in the snapshot. 

  

P
age 358

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

Impacts 
(Please tick or specify) 

Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise 
negative impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ Extra care settings will 
allow for the flexible use 
of facilities (including 
food provision) to 
accommodate a range of 
cultural activities related 
to race 

The design requirements 
documentation used in extra care 
tenders require flexible spaces to be 
an integral part of any extra care 
development, while clear 
expectations are set in tender 
processes regarding anti-
discriminatory practice 

As part of contract 
management, extra care 
settings will need to 
demonstrate that they are 
responsive to the diverse 
needs of residents in the 
use of communal facilities, 
and provide a range of 
activities and (through 
kitchen facilities) appropriate 
food options.  

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Accommodation with 
Care Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are 
leading on the 
tenders for new 
extra care 
developments, 
and 
engagement 
with providers of 
extra care 
settings while 
they are in the 
process of being 
built 

- Risk of discrimination 
due to lack of awareness 
and training of people 
working at new extra 
care settings, reflecting 
what could be 
experienced elsewhere in 
society 

Ongoing challenge in combating 
racism and discrimination within 
society, including in the delivery of 
care and support 

Extra care operators and 
support providers will be 
expected to be responsive 
to the needs of people 
regardless of race, and 
support them without 
discrimination and ensure 
staff are appropriately 
trained. 

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Accommodation with 
Care Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are 
leading on the 
tenders for new 
extra care 
developments 
(including 
housing 
management) 
and associated 
care contracts, 
and staff 

P
age 359

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

training delivery 
will be 
monitored over 
the life of these 
contracts. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

None Known 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why 

Residents in extra care settings may behave in a discriminatory manner to others, and efforts to change long held perceptions of people 
different to themselves may prove highly problematic or (particularly in the case of cognitive impairment) fruitless. 

While abuse will of course be challenged and investigated, less direct examples of discrimination would be very difficult to police through 
existing policies and procedures. 

 

  

P
age 360

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

RELIGION OR BELIEF (INCLUDING LACK OF BELIEF) 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

As with the “Race” section above, while the Office for National Statistics Annual Population Survey has produced national statistics more 
recently, for a picture of religion or belief in Surrey the census figures for 2011 are regarded the only reliable source of information.  

The 2011 census gives the following breakdown of Surrey’s population aged 65 and over: 

Religion 
Christian (all 

denominations) 
Muslim Hindu 

Any Other 
Religion 

No religion 
Religion not 

stated 

Surrey 65+ 80.0% 0.6% 0.5% 0.9% 10.0% 8.0% 

Source: Surrey-i 

This can be compared with the statistics drawn from the snapshot of extra care residents (below).  It should be noted that almost a fifth of 
the residents either did not respond to questions on religion or belief. 

Religion 
Christian (all 

denominations) 
Muslim Hindu 

Any Other 
Religion 

No religion 
Religion not 

stated 

Extra care 65.5% 1.7% 0.9% 2.6% 10.9% 18.3% 
 

Impacts 
(Please tick or specify) 

Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise 
negative impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ Extra care settings will 
allow for the flexible use 
of facilities (including 
food provision) to 

The design requirements 
documentation used in extra care 
tenders require flexible spaces to be 
an integral part of any extra care 
development, while clear 

As part of contract 
management, extra care 
settings will need to 
demonstrate that they are 
responsive to the diverse 

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Accommodation with 
Care Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are 
leading on the 
tenders for new 

P
age 361

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

accommodate a range of 
religions and beliefs 

expectations are set in tender 
processes regarding anti-
discriminatory practice 

needs of residents in the 
use of communal facilities, 
and provide a range of 
activities and (through 
kitchen facilities) appropriate 
food options.  

extra care 
developments, 
and 
engagement 
with providers of 
extra care 
settings while 
they are in the 
process of being 
built 

- Risk of discrimination 
due to lack of awareness 
and training of people 
working at new extra 
care settings, reflecting 
what could be 
experienced elsewhere 

Ongoing challenge in combating 
racism and discrimination within 
society, including in the delivery of 
care and support 

Extra care operators and 
support providers will be 
expected to be responsive 
to the needs of people 
regardless of religion or 
belief (including lack of 
belief), and support them 
without discrimination and 
ensure staff are 
appropriately trained. 

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Accommodation with 
Care Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are 
leading on the 
tenders for new 
extra care 
developments 
(including 
housing 
management) 
and associated 
care contracts, 
and staff 
training delivery 
will be 
monitored over 
the life of these 
contracts. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

None Known 

P
age 362

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why 

Residents in extra care settings may behave in a discriminatory manner to others, and efforts to change long held perceptions of people 
different to themselves may prove highly problematic, particularly in the case of cognitive impairment.While abuse will of course be 
challenged and investigated, less direct examples of discrimination would be very difficult to police through existing policies and 
procedures. 

 

  

P
age 363

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

SEX 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

The Office for National Statistics subnational population projections, as published in May 2018, present the following information 
regarding the sex of people aged 65 and over in Surrey: 

 

 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Age 
Female 

% 
Male  

% 
Female 

% 
Male  

% 
Female 

% 
Male  

% 
Female 

% 
Male  

% 

65-69 51.7% 48.3% 51.5% 48.5% 51.1% 48.9% 51.4% 48.6% 

70-74 52.8% 47.2% 52.8% 47.2% 52.3% 47.7% 52.1% 47.9% 

75-79 53.8% 46.2% 53.7% 46.3% 53.6% 46.4% 53.2% 46.8% 

80-84 55.8% 44.2% 55.5% 44.5% 55.2% 44.8% 55.0% 45.0% 

85-89 59.6% 40.4% 58.4% 41.6% 57.7% 42.3% 57.4% 42.6% 

90 and over 65.0% 35.0% 62.4% 37.6% 60.4% 39.6% 59.4% 40.6% 

Total 65+ 54.6% 45.4% 54.3% 45.7% 53.9% 46.1% 53.8% 46.2% 

 
The female/male breakdown in the extra care snapshot is variable, but in general the number of female residents is almost twice that of 
male residents:  
 

Extra care setting 
Female  

% 
Male  

% 

Aldwyn Place 60.0% 40.0% 

Anvil Court 73.7% 26.3% 

Beechwood Court 42.4% 57.6% 

Brockhill 74.1% 25.9% 

Chestnut Court 62.5% 37.5% 

Dray Court 78.9% 21.1% 

P
age 364

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

Falkner Court 62.5% 37.5% 

Huntley House 63.3% 36.7% 

Japonica Court 84.6% 15.4% 

Mitchison Court 64.5% 35.5% 

Riverside Court 63.3% 36.7% 

% overall 63.3% 36.7% 

While there are potential reasons for this – Surrey’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment notes that women have double the risk of 
developing frailty (9.6%) compared to men (5.2%), and are statistically likely to experience a 40% loss of mobility between the ages of 75 
and 85 – further investigation is needed to understand why the population living in extra care contains more females than in the 
population in general, particularly as the proportion of men in the older age groups is projected to increase in the coming decades. 

The average age of residents also varies according to sex – female residents in the snapshot have an average age of almost 81, while 
the equivalent for male residents is 73. 

 

Impacts 

(Please tick or specify) 
Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts Identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ People in extra care 
settings will live in self-
contained apartments 
including dedicated 
toileting and bathroom 
facilities, allowing for 
privacy and dignity for 
residents regardless of sex  

The design requirements 
documentation used in extra care 
tenders are clear on the 
requirements for individual units of 
extra care accommodation 

Ensure that no 
discriminatory practice 
exists with regard to the 
provision of 
accommodation and 
associated facilities, 
including equipment and 
adaptations 

On-going during 
the lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team are leading 
on the tenders for 
new extra care 
developments, and 
engagement with 
providers of extra 
care settings while 
they are in the 

P
age 365

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

process of being 
built and during 
their operational 
lifetime. 

- Risk (based on existing 
data) of inequitable 
referral outcomes for extra 
care on the basis of sex 

Current data indicates an extra 
care population where females 
make up a higher percentage than 
in other housing settings in Surrey 

Ensure that no 
discriminatory practice 
exists with nomination 
processes and decision 
making, and that extra 
care settings are promoted 
in a way that is appealing 
to both men and women 

On-going during 
the lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The 
commissioning 
team will engage 
regularly with 
providers of extra 
care settings while 
they are in the 
process of being 
built and during 
their operational 
lifetime.  In 
partnership with 
operational 
colleagues, they 
will also liaise with 
housing authorities 
and extra care 
providers 
regarding 
nominations and 
referral processes. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

None known 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why 

None known 

P
age 366

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

SEXUAL ORIENTATION 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

The Office for National Statistics Annual Population Survey presents the following estimates for sexual orientation amongst people aged 
65+ in the South East of England, as at 2018: 

Sexual orientation – 65+ 
South East England 2018 

% 

Heterosexual or straight 96.4 

Gay or lesbian 0.4 

Bisexual 0.3 

Other 0.5 

Don't know or refuse 2.4 

Source: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2018 

The equivalent information is almost non-existent for extra care residents, as for the vast majority of cases, sexual orientation was not 
recorded by Surrey County Council.  As per the snapshot: 
 

Sexual orientation – extra care % 

Heterosexual 3.9% 

Not Disclosed 1.3% 

Not Recorded 94.8% 

 
 
 

P
age 367

12

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2018


 
 
 
 

 
 

Impacts 

(Please tick or specify) 
Positive  Negative  Both X 

Impacts Identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+Extra care 
accommodation will be 
managed in line with all 
equalities legislation 
ensuring that all residents 
receive services and 
support appropriately and 
regardless of sexual 
orientation. 

As extra care housing will be 
tenancy based, individuals’ rights in 
relation to housing are protected 
under the Equality Act 2010 

Extra care housing 
managers and care 
providers will be expected 
to deliver services in 
compliance with equalities 
legislation, including equal 
access to quality services 
for all, regardless of sexual 
orientation. Contracts will 
be regularly monitored to 
ensure compliance over 
the operational lifetime of 
the extra care settings. 

On-going during 
the lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team will 
be responsible for 
ensuring 
compliance by 
housing and care 
providers 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

None known 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why 

Residents in extra care settings may behave in a discriminatory manner to others, and efforts to change long held perceptions of people 
different to themselves may prove highly problematic, particularly in the case of cognitive impairment. 

While abuse will of course be challenged and investigated, less direct examples of discrimination would be very difficult to police through 
existing policies and procedures. 

  

P
age 368

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

MARRIAGE / CIVIL PARTNERSHIPS 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 
 

The Office for National Statistics has observed that, while the proportion of people married in the population as a whole has been in 
decline over the last decade, while the single population has been increasing, the picture amongst people aged 70s shows a different 
trend.  Instead, despite a modest rise in the divorced population, the proportion of people aged 70 years and over who are married has 
been increasing at a greater rate. 
 
A simple breakdown of the ONS data for England and Wales in 2018 is presented below:  
 

Marital status Single % Married % Divorced % 

65-69 7.8 67.4 15.0 

70-74 5.7 66.7 12.2 

75-79 4 58 11.2 

80-84 3.4 51.1 6.3 

85+ 3.6 35.9 6.5 

 
Information on the marital status of extra care residents known to Surrey County Council is as follows: 
 

Marital status 
extra care 

Single % Married* % Widowed % Divorced % Not recorded % 

Extra care 19.2 20.5 17.0 9.6 33.6 

* “Married” includes people who have identified themselves as married (19.2%) or separated (1.3%) 
 
While the percentage of known residents without a recorded marital status is high, it is not particularly clear how these figures, which 
include “Widowed” as a status, should be compared to the ONS statistics, given the different recording practices involved. 
 

P
age 369

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

Impacts 

(Please tick or specify) 
Positive X Negative  Both  

Impacts Identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise 
negative impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ Extra care settings will 
include a mix of 1 and 2 
bedroom units, which will 
enable cohabiting people (of 
whatever marital status) to 
continue to live together in 
self-contained 
accommodation if this is 
their choice 

Design requirements documents 
stipulate the need for a mix of 1 
and 2 bedroom units in extra care 
settings 

Nominations agreements 
and referral processes 
have been designed with 
flexibility to allow people 
to cohabit in extra care 
accommodation.  No 
discrimination will be 
made on the basis of 
marital status. 

On-going during the 
lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team and 
(once nominations 
processes are 
operational) social 
care Locality Team 
staff, in partnership 
with local housing 
authorities and 
extra care 
providers 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

None known 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why 

None known 

  

P
age 370

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

CARERS 

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic? 

 
Surrey County Council’s Joint Strategic Needs assessment on Adult Carers provides significant amounts of information on Adult Carers: 
https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/jsna/adult-carers/ 
 
It states that the number of carers aged 65 and over living in Surrey is expected to increase by 17.6% from 2016 to 2025, while the 
number of carers aged 85 and over is expected to increase by 31.2% over the same period.  
 
Of the extra care residents currently known to Surrey County Council, 7.7% have identified themselves as either being carers or as 
having caring responsibilities. While this could be due in some cases to current residents’ personal circumstances (e.g. they have been 
socially isolated, or no longer have caring responsibilities following the death of a person they cared for), it may also point to 
underreporting in statistics, or because many residents simply haven’t regarded themselves as a carer, even though they deliver care 
and support to others.  
 

Impacts 

(Please tick or specify) 
Positive X Negative  Both  

Impacts Identified Supporting evidence 
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts? 

When will this be 
implemented by? 

Owner 

+ New extra care settings 
will include a mix of 1 and 
2 bedroom units, which 
may enable people to 
continue to care for the 
person in need of care and 
support in self-contained 
accommodation if this is 
their choice 

Design requirements documents 
stipulate the need for a mix of 1 
and 2 bedroom units in extra care 
settings 

Nominations agreements 
and referral processes 
have been designed with 
flexibility to allow people to 
cohabit in extra care 
accommodation, where 
either one or both of the 
residents has eligible 
needs.  No discrimination 
will be made on the basis 
of marital status. 

On-going during 
the lifespan of the 
Strategy. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team and 
(once nominations 
processes are 
operational) social 
care Locality Team 
staff, in partnership 
with local housing 
authorities and 
extra care 
providers 

P
age 371

12

https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/jsna/adult-carers/


 
 
 
 

 
 

+ People will benefit from 
access to communal 
facilities on site and nearby 
facilities, which will help to 
reduce social isolation and 
loneliness amongst people 
with caring responsibilities 

People with caring responsibilities 
are risk of suffering from loneliness 
or social isolation, and the 
availability of communal facilities 
and activities on site will help to 
mitigate this.  The facilities will also 
be outward facing, and welcome 
visitors in a caring role as well as 
cater for people and their carers 
who live at the setting. 

Future extra care settings 
will feature an array of 
communal facilities, which 
will allow residents to 
regularly engage with each 
other and visitors, and they 
will be set clearly in the 
heart of local communities 
with nearby transport 
routes.  Housing managers 
and care providers will also 
be expected to be carer 
aware through training and 
work to support people in 
their caring roles. 

This will be 
implemented as 
new extra care 
settings are 
developed across 
the county. 

The Extra Care 
Strategy Team 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents?  

Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of? 

The Adult Social Care Strategy for Carers, in particular the development of carer friendly communities and the encouragement of carer 
aware health and social care provider services that are able to identify carers and refer them to sources of preventative support, 
including support for their psychological and social wellbeing. 

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why 

None known 

 

P
age 372

12



 
  
 
Annex 2  
 

 
 

CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

No changes to the proposals have been 
identified as a result of undertaking the EIA 

- 

  
 

 

  
Based your assessment, please indicate which course of action you are recommending to 
decision makers. You should explain your recommendation in the in the blank box below. 
 

Outcome Number Description  Tick 

Outcome One 

No major change to the policy/service/function required. 
This EIA has not identified any potential for discrimination or 
negative impact, and all opportunities to promote equality 
have been undertaken 
 

 

Outcome Two 

Adjust the policy/service/function to remove barriers 
identified by the EIA or better advance equality.  Are you 
satisfied that the proposed adjustments will remove the 
barriers you identified? 
 

X 

Outcome Three 

Continue the policy/service/function despite potential for 
negative impact or missed opportunities to advance equality 
identified.  You will need to make sure the EIA clearly sets out 
the justifications for continuing with it.  You need to consider 
whether there are: 

 Sufficient plans to stop or minimise the negative impact 

 Mitigating actions for any remaining negative impacts 
plans to monitor the actual impact.  
 

 

Outcome Four 

Stop and rethink the policy when the EIA shows actual or 
potential unlawful discrimination 
 
(For guidance on what is unlawful discrimination, refer to the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission’s guidance and 
Codes of Practice on the Equality Act concerning 
employment, goods and services and equal pay, available 
here). 
 

 

3.  Amendments to the proposals 

4. Recommendation 

Page 373

12

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice


 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Please use the box 
on the right to explain 
the rationale for your 
recommendation 
 

Engagement will be needed with potential future residents of extra 
care, regarding: 

 Cultural and faith needs  

 Communication needs  

 Maintaining dignity and respect  

 Dietary requirements  

 Accessibility requirements (e.g. the number of wheelchair 
accessible units required in various locations) 

 How best to maintain an inclusive environment that maximises 
independence 

 Referral routes for people interested in becoming an extra care 
resident 

While this engagement will help to identify actions to respond to 
impacts identified in this EIA, it will allow the Extra Care Strategy 
Team to: 

 Better understand current expectations for extra care in general 

 Set clear guidance and objectives for housing managers and care 
providers delivering services at newly opened sites, and  

 Inform future approaches to promoting extra care settings to 
people with care and support needs living in Surrey.   

 

     
 

Version Number Purpose/Change Author Date 

V0.1 Initial draft John Woodroffe 11/9/20 

V0.2 
Amended from 
initial feedback 

John Woodroffe & 
Kathryn Pyper   

1/10/20 

 
The above provides historical data about each update made to the Equality Impact Assessment. 
Please do include the name of the author, date and notes about changes made – so that you 
are able to refer back to what changes have been made throughout this iterative process.  
For further information, please see the EIA Guidance document on version control. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

5a. Version Control 

Page 374

12



 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 Name Date approved 

Approved by* 

Head of Service  

Executive Director  

Cabinet Member  

Directorate Equality Group  

 

EIA Author John Woodroffe, Senior Commissioning Manager 

 
*Secure approval from the appropriate level of management based on nature of issue and scale 

of change being assessed. 
 

 

 
 

Name Job Title Organisation Team Role 

Kathryn Pyper 
Senior Programme 
Manager 

Adult Social Care, 
Surrey County 
Council 

Directorate Equalities 
Group chair 

    

 
If you would like this information in large print, Braille, on CD or in another language please 
contact us on: 
 
Tel: 03456 009 009 
Textphone (via Text Relay): 18001 03456 009 009 
SMS: 07860 053 465 
Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk 

 
 

5b. Approval 

5c. EIA Team 

Page 375

12

mailto:contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MRS NATALIE BRAMHALL, CABINET MEMBER FOR 

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 

LEAD OFFICER: KATIE STEWART- EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ENVIRONMENT, 

TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

SUBJECT: CATERHAM ON THE HILL AND OLD COULSDON FLOOD 

ALLEVIATION SCHEME 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

Caterham on the Hill in Tandridge is at high risk of surface water flooding from intense 

summer storm events and prolonged periods of high rainfall. On 7th June 2016, over 80 

properties suffered internal flooding with an additional 60 suffering external flooding following 

heavy rain in the catchment.  

Surrey County Council and our partners have been investigating potential measures to 

reduce the risk of flooding to this community and has identified Property Flood Resilience as 

the preferred approach in this mainly urban and relatively steep sided catchment.  This will 

offer Property Flood Resilience Measures to 205 properties and will cost a maximum of 

£1.9m depending on uptake. This will be largely paid for by Environment Agency Flood 

Defence Grant in Aid and Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Levy with possible small 

contributions from Surrey County Council, Tandridge District Council and London Borough of 

Croydon. An Outline Business Case has been submitted to the Environment Agency for 

approval. 

In parallel, a multi-agency project board is managing a phased wider programme of 

sustainable flood intervention measures in order to slow the flow of surface water throughout 

this drainage catchment. 

This report seeks approval for the delivery of the Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon 

Flood Alleviation Scheme, the procurement of the works and the wider sustainable drainage 

flood mitigation measures. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves the addition of the Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon Flood Alleviation 

Scheme to the Capital Programme through external funding subject to the approval 

of the Outline Business Case by the Environment Agency;  

2. Delegates the approval of any changes to the Outline Business Case to the Director 

for Highways and Transport and Strategic Finance Business Partner in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change; 

3. Approves the procurement of the works through the Environment Agency Property 

Flood Resilience Framework as the scheme was not included in the 2020/21 Annual 

Procurement Forward Plan approved by Cabinet in January 2020; and 

Page 377

13

Item 13



 
 

4. Support the development of the wider flood mitigation measures in the catchment 

and delegate decisions on individual schemes as they come forward to the Director 

for Highways and Transport and Strategic Finance Business Partner in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon Flood Alleviation Scheme will reduce the 

impacts of flooding to 205 properties within the catchment currently at risk. 

Recent flooding in the area has caused significant disruption to the area and damage to 

infrastructure and properties. The long term impacts on residents’ lives cannot be 

underestimated, and these proposals will offer protection and some comfort to those living 

with the threat of flooding to their homes. 

DETAILS: 

Description of Project 

1. The Caterham on the Hill catchment in Tandridge has a long history of flooding. In 
this mainly urban area, medium rainfall events often result in minor flooding 
commonly located in low points where the road network focuses the surface water 
run-off.  However, on 7 June 2016, a localised intense storm event resulted in much 
more severe impacts, with 82 properties with reported internal flooding and 64 
properties with reported external flooding. Much of the highway network infrastructure 
in the area was affected 

 
2. The Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon flood alleviation scheme (FAS) aims to 

reduce the flood risk to properties, infrastructure and the community through a 
programme of interventions throughout the catchment over the medium to long term. 
As the scheme is primarily related to surface water flooding and 85% of properties 
affected are in Surrey, Surrey County Council (SCC) as Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) is leading on the scheme. 

 
3. The Scheme is being managed as a partnership project, with a Project Board 

comprising of officers from the following organisations: SCC, Environment Agency 
(EA), London Borough of Croydon (LBC), Tandridge District Council (TDC), and 
Thames Water Utilities Limited (TWUL). Residents have also been consulted through 
quarterly meetings with the resident-led flood action group. 

 
4. The Outline Business Case was submitted by SCC to the EA on 7 August 2020, in 

order to seek approval of the preferred option for the Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS and 
recommendation for the project to progress. The Outline Business Case is attached 
as an annex to this report. 

 
5. The scheme looks to reduce flood risk to 205 properties through Property Flood 

Resilience (PFR) measures.  The total scheme cost is £1.95M with a SCC 

contribution of up to £14K. It is proposed to make this contribution from the Surrey 

Flood Alleviation Programme, which has been developed by SCC to deliver the 

objectives of the Surrey Local Flood Risk Management Strategy across the county.  

Although SCC is only contributing circa £14K, the total scheme value is over £1M 

and as such requires Cabinet approval  

6. The Outline Business Case has been submitted to the EA for approval by the 

National Project Assurance Service (NPAS) and sets out the strategic, economic, 

Page 378

13



 
 

financial, commercial and management cases for the scheme.  Approval of the 

Business Case is expected in October 2020 along with confirmation of the funding.  

Scheme and Economic Case 

7. The Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon FAS preferred option of PFR will reduce 

the risk of flooding from surface water and surcharging from sewers to 205 properties 

to a 1 in 20 year standard of protection. 

8. The scheme will involve fitting PFR measures to individual properties to reduce the 

impact of flooding to households during a flood incident.  These measures include 

fitting products to buildings such as flood-proof doors, non-return valves and airbrick 

covers to prevent flood water entering the home.  Improvements can also be made 

internally to reduce the damage should flood water get in to a property. 

9. As part of the development of the Outline Business Case, residents have been asked 

to submit expressions of interest to indicate whether they would want the measures 

fitted.  To date, 82 properties have confirmed their interest (which amounts to 40% of 

properties at risk within the catchment).  Residents will be given further opportunity to 

express an interest during the next stage and this number is expected to increase as 

the Council continues to work with the community. 

10. Each individual property will require a survey, design, legal agreement and 

installation. The PFR scheme is estimated to take 2 years to deliver. The scheme 

costs will vary depending on the type of property and complexities but will become 

clearer following the survey and design stages. The project delivery contingency has 

been determined using an optimism bias of 30% which is appropriate for PFR 

schemes.   

11. Procurement of the surveys and installation will be through Lot 3 of the Environment 

Agency’s Property Flood Resilience Framework.  As this programme was not 

included in the Council’s 2020/21 Annual Procurement Forward Plan, Cabinet 

approval for the procurement of this work will be required.  Through the Framework, 

the Environment Agency has identified suitable contractors with experience of similar 

schemes across the country. 

12. The cost and funding available also depend on the uptake of the measures.  If fewer 

residents take up the measures, then the scheme would cost less but the proportion 

of funding available from Environment Agency Flood Defence Grant in Aid would also 

reduce.  Where this means the funding does not cover the total cost of the scheme, 

financial contributions would be required from the partner authorities in addition to the 

Flood Defence Grant in Aid.  This is explained in more detail in the next section.  

Experience of a similar scheme in Leatherhead and Fetcham has seen an uptake of 

70%. 

13. The Outline Business Case for the scheme goes into more detail regarding the 

economic appraisal of the scheme.  In summary, the Present Value (PV) cost of the 

scheme, assuming 100% uptake, is £1.95m, and the PV benefits are £11.4m, giving 

a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of 6 over a 25-year appraisal period.  The business case 

for taking this option forward has been demonstrated to be robust regardless of the 

uptake rate, as well as to any changes to assumptions on property threshold levels.   

Page 379

13



 
 

14. Table 1 shows how the total cost of the scheme and the BCR vary against different 

levels of uptake, from 100% to the current uptake level (40%). 

 

Funding and Contributions 

15. Government funding for flood defence schemes is allocated using Department for 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) Partnership Funding Principles.  

Funding is allocated based on a set of outcome measures, including numbers of 

properties protected and environmental enhancements.  This means that only a 

proportion of the total cost will come from Flood Defence Grant in Aid (known as the 

Partnership Funding or PF score), with the remainder from local contributions.  These 

contributions will ordinarily come from local authorities but also from Thames 

Regional Flood & Coastal Committee (Thames RFCC) Local Levy. If the PF score is 

greater than 50%, then Thames RFCC will contribute the remaining funding up to 

£500K.  If less than 50%, it would contribute half the remaining costs with partners 

contributing the rest. 

16. Where the cost of the scheme is not covered by Flood Defence Grant in Aid and 

Thames RFCC Local Levy due to a lower uptake then the constituent authorities of 

the Project Board have agreed to contribute the remaining amount.  This would be on 

a proportionate basis against the proportion of properties affected in each 

administration. This equates to 15% for LBC and 85% split equally between SCC and 

TDC.  Table 2 below shows the contributions required for both a 100% uptake and 

that for the current uptake of 40%. 

Table 2: Funding sources and contributions 

 
Item 

Cost (100% uptake) 
£000 

Cost (40% uptake) 
£000 

PF Score 71% 48% 

FDGiA £85 £85 

TRFCC Levy £0 £0 

SCC (Revenue) £138 £138 

Tandridge DC £10 £10 

LB Croydon £10 £10 

Appraisal costs (sunk) £243 £243 

FDGiA £1,689 £641 

TRFCC Levy £13 £32 

SCC (Surrey Flood 
Programme) 

£0 £13.6 

Tandridge TDC £0 £13.6 

LB Croydon £0 £4.8 

Sub total £1,702 £705 

Total Scheme Cost (nPV) £1,945 £948 

 

Table 1: Scheme CostsItem Cost (100% uptake) 
£000 

Cost (40% uptake) 
£000 

Appraisal Cost (sunk) £243 £243 

Design & Construction £1,309 £542 

Risk £393 £163 

Sub total £1,702 £705 

Total Scheme Cost (nPV) £1,945 £948 

BCR 6 5.4 

Page 380

13



 
 

Wider Catchment Interventions 

17. In parallel to progressing PFR, a range of additional interventions have been 

identified that would further reduce flood risk across the catchment in line with 

Surreys Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.  Detail on these wider measures 

are being investigated and will be finalised in the next six months. These will be 

funded through the Surrey Flood Alleviation Programme and the Capital Drainage 

Budget separate to the PFR scheme outlined above. In addition, by encouraging the 

use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) in the catchment through the Council’s 

LLFA role as a statutory consultee on SuDS, the pressure on the drainage systems 

will be reduced.  

18. These wider approaches have multiple benefits of reduction in flood risk, increased 

biodiversity, improved mental health for residents benefiting from these measures, a 

reduction in heat islands and improvements to air and water quality. 

19. Measures being considered include: 

a. The use of raingardens, swales and water butts in Hillcroft Primary School, 

Queens Park Road and Townend Car Park.    We have partnered with the 

Imagine Project from Surrey County Council’s Youth Offer team to offer 

planters that disconnect downpipes from community buildings (Westway 

Community Centre, Hillcroft Primary School, Caterham Library) from the 

surface water sewer system;   

b. Flood storage to be included in any future redevelopment of Queens Park;  

c. Natural flood management measures, such as “leaky dams” and landscaping, 

being incorporated in Coulsdon Common by London Borough of Croydon; 

and 

20. In addition, TDC has submitted a draft aspirational planning policy to improve 

drainage requirements and reduce the flood risk impacts of both minor and major 

developments. 

21. As these interventions are developed, we will seek approval through the appropriate 

channel depending on the value of the works and will consult with the Cabinet 

Member for Environment and Climate Change where required. 

CONSULTATION: 

22. Following the 2016 flood event, a community-led flood action group was setup, 

facilitated by the National Flood Forum, in order to coordinate resident concerns and 

actions to mitigate flooding. The flood action group organises quarterly meetings 

which provide the mechanism for the community to communicate with the relevant 

authorities directly in a coordinated fashion.  We have been engaging with this group 

throughout the development of the scheme. 

23. As part of the development of the PFR Outline Business Case, residents have been 

asked to submit expressions of interest to indicate that they would want the 

measures fitted. A letter was sent to 205 properties on 19 June 2020 asking for 

residents to express their interest in the scheme. 82 properties have so far confirmed 

their interest (40%).  On 14 July, an online meeting (which replaced a planned 

Page 381

13



 
 

community meeting due to the Covid 19 restrictions) was held to inform residents on 

the project. Residents will be given further opportunity to express an interest during 

the next stage in the Autumn. 

24. The agencies together with the flood action group are working together to extend the 

reach of the project and flood risk awareness to the wider community. This flood 

scheme was selected as a national DEFRA / EA pilot project entitled “Working 

together to adapt to a changing climate: flood and coast.” This project aims to review 

and learn how to effectively engage with community areas where there are 

increasing flood mitigation challenges due to climate change. This is being facilitated 

with resources from ICARUS, an organisation specialising in community 

engagement, who are contracted by DEFRA and the EA. Results from this pilot 

project, including developing a collaborative community engagement and decision 

making framework, will be shared with other community groups at risk of flooding 

across the UK. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

25. To reduce the risk of installing sub-standard flood products, we propose to use the 

EA’s PFR framework to procure a suitable contractor. This ensures that contractors 

used for the project use industry standards for carrying out surveys and installing 

PFR products. 

26. The cost of the scheme is dependent on individual house-owners signing up to the 

scheme. The property level survey will assess which resilience measures are viable. 

It is possible that the survey will indicate that no viable measures are suitable at the 

property; however, in such cases, the EA and relevant LLFA would identify whether 

any alternative options or remedies are available to the property owner in question. 

27. There will be monthly meetings between the successful contractor and Surrey 

County Council to review the operation of and all matters affecting the contract, and 

where necessary, to agree corrective action when problems have been identified by 

either party. All contractors will have to adhere to robust performance targets.  

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

28. The expected PV cost over the maximum 2-year period is £1.95 million.  This will 

deliver a combined benefit of £11.4 million benefit over 25 years through reducing the 

damage to homes caused by flooding. Expenditure will be controlled and scrutinised 

by the Project Manager, and costs are expected to be met at least in part from Flood 

Defence Grant in Aid and Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Levy funds. 

Depending on the take-up of the property flood resilience scheme by the community, 

some contribution may be required by SCC, TDC and the LBC. The cost estimate 

includes an appropriate risk allowance, recognising that costs my change as the 

scheme is developed and implemented. Any additional cost would be met from the 

Surrey Flood Alleviation Programme. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY 

29. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 

the Council’s financial position, the medium term financial outlook is uncertain. The 

public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 

current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 

Page 382

13



 
 

extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 

year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. 

30. Construction of the Caterham Hill and Old Coulsdon Flood Alleviation Scheme will be 

funded primarily through Flood Defence Grant in Aid and Regional Flood and Coastal 

Committee Levy funds, although SCC may need to contribute depending on the take-

up of the scheme, and the final costs.  Any such costs falling on SCC would be met 

from the existing highways capital budget, and as such the Section 151 Officer 

supports the recommendations. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

31. Surrey County Council has a duty under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a strategy for managing flood risk from 

surface water, ground water and ordinary watercourses.  This strategy was approved 

by the Council in April 2017.  Objective 7 of this strategy sets out how the authorities 

will invest capital to make the residents of Surrey more resilient to flooding. The 

management of surface water flood risk specifically lies with Surrey County Council 

as the Lead Local Flood Authority (SCC). 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

32. The scheme includes all properties that have been identified are at high risk of 

flooding in the Caterham Hill and Old Coulsdon catchment.  The measures being 

selected will be passive and require no action from the resident to deploy.  To ensure 

that the measures being installed will not be impede residents or require residents to 

actively fit themselves ahead of flooding, the programme will be installing passive 

measures. 

33. To ensure that we have reached all residents within the project area, SCC has sent 

letters to all properties, put information on our website and through the relevant 

parish council.  Officers have also followed up with telephone calls to discuss details 

with residents. 

34. There will be opportunities for residents yet to sign up to the scheme to do so up until 

project completion. The Council will follow up with those residents as the scheme 

progresses. 

35. All future works carried out will be compliant with the Equalities Act 2010 with an 

Equalities Impact Assessment carried out prior to construction if required. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

36. Property flood resilience outline business case process: 

a. Approval of outline business case: October 2020 

b. Property flood resilience contractor appointment: December 2020 

c. Property surveys: January to April 2021 

Page 383

13



 
 

d. Installation of property flood resilience measures: May 2021 to September 

2022. 

37. Wider sustainable drainage programme 

e. Project plan development: October 2020 

 

Contact officer 

Doug Hill, Strategic Network Resilience Manager 

Contact: 020 8213 2711  

Consulted 

The residents at high risk of flooding have been consulted. The Caterham on the Hill and Old 

Coulsdon Flood Action Group meet quarterly. Update and progress on the scheme is 

communicated at these meetings. Engagement with the wider community is through local 

Parish Councils. Surrey County Council has setup a website to inform the public on project 

progress (https://ourroads.today/flooding. In June, Surrey County Councillors and District 

Councillors attended on online meeting which outlined the current phase of the project and 

the next steps 

The project boards consisting of officers from Surrey County Council, Tandridge District 

Council, London Borough of Croydon, Thames Water Utilities Limited and the Environment 

Agency meet regularly to progress the flood scheme. 

Annexes: 

Annex 1: Caterham on the Hill and Old Coulsdon Flood alleviation Scheme Outline Business 

Case 2020 

 

Page 384

13

https://ourroads.today/flooding


RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 1 of 56 

  

Business Case for Caterham-on-the-Hill flood alleviation scheme 

Lead Authority: Surrey County Council 

Project Title: Caterham-on-the-Hill Flood 
Alleviation Scheme 
Short Form Business Case 
Version Number: 1 
Date: August 2020 

 
  

Page 385

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 2 of 56 

BUSINESS CASE APPROVAL SHEET 

1 Review & Technical Approval 

Project title Caterham-on-the-Hill Flood Alleviation Scheme 

Authority project reference ENV-12FDRENA/009 EA reference THC500E/000A/
212A 

Lead authority Surrey County Council Date of 

submission 

7th August 2020  

Consultant Atkins Limited        

‘I confirm that this project meets our quality assurance requirements, environmental 
obligations and Defra investment appraisal conditions, that all internal approvals, including 
member approval, have been completed and recommend we apply to the Environment 
Agency for capital grant and local levy in the sum of £1,945,297. 

Job title Name  Signature  Date 

Authority Project 
Executive 

Doug Hill 

Strategic Network 
Resilience Manager 

 

Xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx   

      

7/08/2020 

‘I have reviewed this document and confirm that it meets the current business case 
guidelines for local authority and Internal Drainage Board applications.’ 

OBC reviewer                   

 

‘I confirm that the project is ready for assurance and that I have consulted with the Director 
of Business Finance’ 

Area Flood & Coastal Risk 
Manager 

                  

 

Assurance sign off - (Tick the appropriate box)   

AFCRM Assurance Projects < £500k NPAS Assurance Projects £500k - 
£2m 

 

Recommendation for approval  Date 

AFCRM or NPAS Chair                   

Project total as approved 
(£k) 

      Version Number       

Project total made up of: Capital Grant (£k)        

 Levy (£k)        

 Other Contributions (£k)        

2 Project Financial approval 

Financial scheme of 
approval  

Project 
total 

Name Signature Date 

Area Flood & Coastal 
Risk Manager 

 

<£100k or 
<£1m (if 
GiA & Levy 
<£100k) 

             

Page 386

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 3 of 56 

Director of Business 
Finance 

All projects 
>£100k 

             

Plus:     

Area Director £100k- 
£1m 

             

Director of Operations £1m -£10m              

     

3 Further approvals (if applicable) 

Date sent (or N/A) 
 

      Version number 
(if different) 

      

Date approved (or N/A)       

Final Comments 

 

      

 
  

Page 387

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 4 of 56 

 
 

For FSoD Coordinator use only: 

 

 
  

Page 388

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 5 of 56 

Business Case 
 

Executive Summary 
 

This business case has been produced to seek £1,900,000 to install property flood 
resilience (PFR) measures to 205 properties effected by flooding in Caterham Hill and 
Old Coulsdon, located in an upstream sub-drainage area of the Wandle catchment. 

 

On 7th June 2016 over 80 internal and over 60 external property floods occurred in the 
catchment. Following this event, a multi-agency project board was setup following the 
flood event to manage flood risk activities in the area. Also, the community setup a 
flood action group, facilitated by the National Flood Forum. There is a high expectation 
within the community for actions to reduce this high flood risk.  

 

An SOC published in March 2018 outlined the flooding mechanisms in the catchment 
through modelling and local evidence. The catchment is at high risk of surface water 
flooding particularly in high intensity rainfall storm events. A short-list of five options 
mainly based on flood storage were identified to reduce flooding. The analysis also 
concluded that there is limited space to intercept overland flow in this predominantly 
steep urban area.  

 

The OBC appraisal process further explored these options for mitigating flood risk. PFR 
was identified as the most economically viable option for FDGiA funding.  The scheme 
comprises of Property Flood Resilience (PFR) measures offered to 205 properties, as 
part of a suite of measures that the Project Board plan to undertake within the 
Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  This option delivers a maximum of 169 Outcome 
Measure 2As (OM2As) over the 25-year duration of benefits.  

 

This PFR business case is seeking FDGiA and levy to maximise outcome measures. 
Surrey County Council, Tandridge District Council and London Borough of Croydon are 
working on a parallel suite of intervention measures to reduce flood risk throughout the 
catchment including highway SuDS and community SuDS. 

  

Page 389

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 6 of 56 

 

Approval Requested 

This Outline Business Case (OBC) is being submitted by Surrey County Council (SCC) 
to seek Environment Agency approval of the preferred option for the Caterham-on-the-
Hill Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) and recommendation for the project to progress. 

 

The Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS is being managed as a partnership project, with a 
Project Board comprising of the following agencies: 

• Environment Agency; 

• Surrey County Council (SCC) (Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)); 

• London Borough of Croydon (LBC) (LLFA); 

• Tandridge District Council (TDC); and 

• Thames Water Utilities Limited (TWUL). 

 

The scheme comprises of Property Flood Resilience (PFR) measures offered to 205 
properties, as part of a suite of measures that the Project Board plan to undertake 
within the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  The Present Value (PV) cost of the 
scheme, assuming 100% uptake, is £1.9m and the PV benefits are £11.4m, giving a 
Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of 6 over a 25-year appraisal period.  The business case for 
taking this option forward has been demonstrated to be robust in light of any reductions 
to the uptake rate, as well as to changes to assumptions on property threshold levels. 

 

This option delivers a maximum of 169 Outcome Measure 2As (OM2As) over the 25-
year duration of benefits and has a Partnership Funding (PF) score of 71%, calculated 
using the 2020 PF calculator and based on a PV cost for approval of £1.9m, with future 
costs included is £2.5m.  Funding has already been received from the Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid (FCERM GiA) to cover asset surveys, 
integrated catchment modelling and appraisal work.  Funding has also been agreed 
from the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee (local levy). The PF calculator states 
that the maximum present value costs eligible FCERM GiA are £1.8m.  This leaves 
external contributions of approximately £0.7m required to take the scheme forward, 
£0.2m towards the PV costs for approval and the current ongoing catchment 
maintenance costs of £0.5m over the next 25 years (future costs).  This funding 
requirement assumes full uptake by all 205 properties. 

 

Residents have been invited to return Expression of Interest (EoI) forms, with 83 
positive responses received by the Project Board to date, equivalent to a 40% uptake.  
This uptake has a PV cost of £0.9m, and PV benefits of £4.9m, giving a BCR of 5.4.  
This uptake rate delivers 61 OM2As and has a PF score of 48% calculated using the 
2020 PF calculator and based on a PV cost for approval of £0.9m, with future costs 
included is £1.5m.   FCERM GiA eligibility (£0.7m) exceeds the £85k already claimed 
for this project, to cover the asset survey, integrated catchment modelling and 
appraisal work, therefore additional FCERM GiA funding can be requested for the next 
stage of the project.  This leaves external contributions of approximately £0.7m 
required to take the scheme forward with this lower uptake rate, £0.2m towards the PV 
costs for approval and the current ongoing catchment maintenance costs of £0.5m over 
the next 25 years (future costs). 

 

Page 390

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 7 of 56 

In parallel to progressing PFR, the Project Board have identified a range of additional 
interventions that would further reduce flood risk across the catchment.  This includes 
implementing Sustainable Drainage on the highway, community raingardens and water 
butts. There are also community sustainable drainage projects being scoped for 
Hillcroft Primary School and for Queens Park Recreational Ground. These additional 
interventions identified both in the long and short listed options in Section 2, will be 
phased over the next 6 year cycle through a programme of targeted projects. Priority 
flood areas have been identified for these projects located in and adjacent to the low 
points throughout the catchment as indicated in the strategy section of this OBC. There 
is a longer term initiative where the evolving Local Planning policy will effect change in 
flood risk mitigation through local development. These works fall outside this Outline 
Business Case. 

 

The agencies together with the flood action group are working together to extend the 
reach of the project and flood risk awareness to the wider community. This flood 
scheme was selected as a national DEFRA / EA pilot project entitled “Working together 
to adapt to a changing climate: flood and coast”. This project aims to review and learn 
how to effectively engage with community areas where there are increasing flood 
mitigation challenges due to climate change. This is being facilitated with resources 
from ICARUS who are contracted by DEFRA / EA as community engagement 
specialists. Results from this pilot project, including developing a collaborative 
community engagement and decision making framework, will be shared with other 
community groups at risk of flooding across the UK. 

 

  

Page 391

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 8 of 56 

Strategic case 

 

Site location 

Caterham-on-the-Hill is in eastern Surrey, to the south of Old Coulsdon which is within 
the London Borough of Croydon.  Both areas form part of the study area, with the 
county boundary located along the southern extent of Coulsdon Common.  Caterham-
on-the-Hill and Old Coulsdon are predominantly residential areas, with some shops 
and businesses in Caterham-on-the-Hill along the High Street and Chaldon Road. 

 

The southern (upstream) part of the study area is within Tandridge District Council 
(TDC) part of SCC and the northern (downstream) part of the study area is within the 
London Borough of Croydon (LBC).  Coulsdon Common, the common between 
Caterham-on-the-Hill and Caterham Drive is owned by the City of London.  From here 
on, the study area will be referred to as the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  Key 
locations within the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment as well as the county boundary are 
shown in Figure 1. 

 

The Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS is being managed as a partnership project, with a 
Project Board comprising of the following agencies: 

• Environment Agency; 

• Surrey County Council (SCC) (Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)); 

• London Borough of Croydon (LBC) (LLFA); 

• Tandridge District Council (TDC); and 

• Thames Water Utilities Limited (TWUL). 

 

Historic Flooding 

Caterham-on-the-Hill has a history of flooding, most recently in June 2016. 

 

Between 12:30-15:00 on 7th June 2016 an intense rainstorm occurred in the Caterham-
on-the-Hill catchment.  The recorded 72.6 mm of rainfall over a 2.5-hour storm duration 
(Surrey County Council, 2016) is greater than the entire monthly June average rainfall 
in this area.  The Caterham Drive Section 19 report (London Borough of Croydon, 
2017) details the rainfall records in Caterham Drive, Caterham-on-the-Hill and the 
surrounding area.  This was a highly localised storm with the nearby Kenley rain gauge 
only recording 40mm in a 1-hour storm (London Borough of Croydon, 2017). 

 

SCC, LBC and the City of London maintain historical records of flood incidents.  These 
are summarised in Table 1 and shown on a map in the Options report (Appendix C).  
LBC do not maintain geographic information system (GIS) records of flood incidents, 
therefore LBC historic flood records are not displayed on the map.  For full information 
on these records, please refer to the Options report (Appendix C). 

 

 

 

 

Page 392

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 9 of 56 

Table 1 – Property flood history in Caterham-on-the-Hill. 

Date Comments 

1966 - 2007 8 incidents of external property flooding and 7 incidents of internal 
property flooding reported in LBC. 

Winter 2013/14 11 incidents of internal property flooding reported in SCC. 

June 2016 51 incidents of external property flooding and 75 incidents of internal 
property flooding reported in SCC. 

13 incidents of external property flooding and 7 incidents of internal 
property flooding reported in LBC. 

2017 2 incidents of external property flooding reported in LBC. 

2020 3 incidents of external property flooding. 

 

It is recognised that not all incidents of property flooding may have been reported to the 
local authority following each event. 

 

Between December 2013 and November 2014, the City of London also reported 10 
incidents of flooding on Coulsdon Common.  The pressure of the water in the surface 
water system lifts the manhole cover of Stites Hill Soakaway, allowing water to flow 
onto the Common.  It should be noted that these incidents do not directly result in 
property flooding, however, they demonstrate the frequency at which the capacity of 
the surface water network is exceeded. 

 

Problem to address 

Flooding within the catchment is dominated by surface water runoff, with one main 
surface water flow path and several minor flow paths.  The main surface water flow 
path as shown in Figure 2, flows in a northerly direction from just upstream of the 
Queens Park recreation ground.  The flow route then follows the path of the surface 
water sewer, along the bottom of the valley.  This surface water sewer runs north from 
the northern boundary of Queens Park recreation ground, through the “Money Pit” 
(underground storage area) adjacent to St. Michaels Road and ends in Stites Hill Road 
soakaway.  This soakaway has no controlled overflow mechanism.  During historic 
flood events, the soakaway capacity has been exceeded, lifting the manhole cover and 
water has flooded onto Stites Hill Road and across Coulsdon Common. 

 

A drainage ditch conveys surface water across Coulsdon Common from Stites Hill 
Road.  It ends in a dug-out storage area with no apparent onward connection.  Once 
the capacity of this storage area is exceeded, excess surface water runoff flows along 
Caterham Drive.  There is also a second overland flow route onto Caterham Drive 
which crosses the eastern part of Coulsdon Common from Ninehams Close.  There is 
a surface water drain conveying water north under Caterham Drive. 

  

Page 393

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 10 of 56 

 

Figure 1 - Key locations within the catchment. 

 

Foxon Lane 

Page 394

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 11 of 56 

 

Figure 2 - Surface water flow routes within the catchment. 

  

Page 395

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 12 of 56 

As part of the Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS Strategic Outline Case (SOC) (Atkins Limited, 
2018), an Integrated Catchment Model (ICM) was built.  This has been further 
developed throughout the OBC and has been used to assess the surface water flow 
routes and flood mechanisms in the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  The ICM 
includes representation of surface water and foul water flooding and the ways in which 
these flood sources interact.  Further details about the development of the model can 
be found in the model build report (Appendix D). 

 

The main flooding mechanisms in the catchment, as identified from data review and the 
ICM, and verified from anecdotal reports from historic flood events are: 

• Urban drainage exceedance; 

• Overland flow; 

• Sheet runoff; and 

• The soakaway function in the catchment is being exceeded. They should be 
maintained for their cumulative storage capacity.  For more information on this, 
please see Options Report, Section 1.1.3. 

 

At present SCC and LBC undertake maintenance work throughout the catchment to 
maintain a free-flowing surface water system as far as possible.  These works are 
described further in Section 2.  If these works were to cease, over time pipes, road 
gullies and soakaways block, siltation levels build in the “Money Pit” and the ditch 
across Coulsdon Common will become more vegetated.  This scenario is referred to as 
‘Do Nothing’ and assumes that no maintenance or repair activities are undertaken on 
any drainage assets within the catchment.  This is a worst-case scenario and 
represents the economic baseline of this OBC. 

 

The number of properties estimated to be at risk in a Do Nothing scenario, for a range 
of present day Annual Probability (AP) events are presented in Table 2.  The property 
counts presented are cumulative, i.e. the 132 residential properties flooded internally in 
a 5% (1 in 20) AP event are included in the 188 flooded in a 2% (1 in 50) AP event.  
Properties at risk of internal flooding are also included in the counts of those at risk of 
external flooding.  Thresholds of non-residential properties are typically low so no 
differentiation between internal and external flooding is made.  Further details about the 
methodology used to derive property counts can be found in the Options report in 
Appendix C.  The flood events presented in Table 2 correspond to the boundaries of 
the risk bands used to define Outcome Measure 2 (OM2) counts for the 2020 
Partnership Funding (PF) calculator. 

 

Table 2 - Number of properties estimated to be at risk in the Do Nothing. 

Annual Probability (%) 
5% 

(1 in 20) 
2% 

(1 in 50) 
1% 

(1 in 100) 
0.5% 

(1 in 200) 

Residential: external flooding 312 430 489 571 

Residential: internal flooding 132 188 225 280 

Non-residential: internal flooding 15 26 34 50 

 

Flood risk in the catchment is expected to increase in the future because of climate 
change.  A 20% increase in rainfall intensity (taken from the current 2016 Environment 
Agency climate change guidance) increases the total number of residential properties 
at risk of internal flooding in the Do Nothing 0.5% (1 in 200) AP from 280 to 309 

Page 396

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 13 of 56 

properties.  The effects of predicted climate change has been simulated in the ICM and 
is fully incorporated in the economic appraisal in line with current guidance 
(Environment Agency, 2016). 

 

Business strategies 

 

The need for investment in addressing flood risk in the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment 
is supported by various plans and strategies. 

 

Local Plans 

Tandridge District Council’s Local Plan (2013-2033) (Tandridge District Council, 2017) 
will replace the existing Core Strategy (Tandridge District Coucil, 2008) and some 
detailed policies (Tandridge District Council, 2014).  TDC’s Local Plan is currently 
being examined by the Planning Inspectorate.  Once adopted it will set out the 
development strategy of the district up until 2033.  LBC’s Local Plan (London Borough 
of Croydon, 2016) sets out the development strategy of the district up until 2036. 

The Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS will help TDC and LBC to meet their local plan 
objectives by managing flood risk in a way which benefits communities, businesses 
and the environment. 

 

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) 

SCC’s LFRMS (Surrey County Council, 2017) outlines the steps SCC are taking to 
manage flood risk.  With the support of residents and businesses, SCC aim to increase 
the resilience of communities in several ways including influencing policy, empowering 
local people and investing in both natural and engineered flood alleviation schemes.  
The Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS aligns with the aspirations of SCC and will help them to 
achieve the objectives set out in the LFRMS. 

 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessments (SFRA) 

Caterham-on-the-Hill is located within the study area of the TDC Level 1 (JBA, 2017) 
and Level 2 (JBA, 2018) SFRA reports, while Caterham Drive is located within the 
study area of the LBC Level 1 (AECOM, 2015) and Level 2 (AECOM, 2016) SFRA 
reports.  Any flood risk management options taken forward as part of the Caterham-on-
the-Hill FAS will need to be designed in line with the guidance in all SFRA reports and 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Tandridge District Council also requested a more detailed flood risk assessment of 
Caterham-on-the-Hill through the Level 2 SFRA.  The LBC Level 2 SFRA provides 
information on the suitability of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS).  Consideration 
of SuDS across the catchment has been undertaken as part of the Caterham-on-the-
Hill FAS. 

 

Section 19 reports 

Both SCC and LBC wrote Section 19 reports following the flood event that occurred in 
the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment on 7th June 2016.  The SCC Section 19 report 
(Surrey County Council, 2016) is focused on Caterham-on-the-Hill, while the LBC 
Section 19 report (London Borough of Croydon, 2017) is focused on Caterham Drive.  
Both Section 19 reports detail the actions of SCC (Lead RMA for Caterham-on-the-

Page 397

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 14 of 56 

Hill), LBC (Lead RMA for Caterham Drive), TDC, TWUL and the emergency services 
during and following the flood event.  After the flooding, the National Flood Forum 
facilitated the setup of a Flood Action Group in Caterham-on-the-Hill to provide a 
mechanism for residents to improve communication with RMAs. 

Several key recommendations of both Section 19 reports have been undertaken as 
part of this work, including: 

• Collaborative working between LBC, SCC and TWUL should be further built 
upon through the newly created Multi-Agency Project Board; 

• Investigate the ownership of the piped watercourse/surface water sewer network 
connections in-order to clarify maintenance responsibilities; 

• Consider the use of SuDS in urban areas and upstream open parkland; 

• Continue the options appraisal to mitigate flooding; 

• Identify funding opportunities to contribute to future feasible schemes; and 

• Residents should ensure their properties are protected for example using 
property flood resistance measures. 

The reader is referred to each report for the full list of recommendations.  The 
information gathered and reported in the Section 19 reports has been used alongside 
further information provided by residents to better understand the 2016 flood event and 
to validate the results of the ICM. 

 

Surface Water Management Study (SWMS) 

In 2013 Atkins were commissioned by SCC to undertake a SWMS (Atkins Limited, 
2016) in the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  The SWMS reviewed existing drainage 
asset data and commissioned survey to fill information gaps.  A high-level review of 
modelled and historic flooding and a high-level economic appraisal of baseline flood 
damages and conceptual option development were also included.  The SWMS 
concluded that there are around 100 properties thought to be at risk of flooding from 
surface water in a 3.3% (1 in 30) AP flood event.  A long list of conceptual options was 
developed to address this flood risk.  The SWMS recommended that further work was 
carried out on the proposed options to determine which are most suitable and/or 
achievable.  This recommendation has been followed with the commissioning of first 
the SOC and now this OBC. 

 

Environmental considerations 

 

As part of the SOC, a high-level desk study was undertaken to review the 
environmental risks, challenges and opportunities.  This made use of the publicly 
available material from the MAGIC (Multi-agency Geographic Information for the 
Countryside) website (Natural England, 2017).  The top environmental issues which 
may impact future schemes have been summarised in Table 3. 

 

Table 3 - Key environmental challenges. 

Key environmental issue Opportunities and approach to mitigation 

The deciduous woodland on Coulsdon 
Common has been identified on Natural 
England’s priority habitats inventory.  The 
project must ensure that the quality of this 
landscape is not compromised. 

Avoid impacts through option selection and 
design where possible.  If not, mitigate impacts 
through measures such as tree planting. 

Opportunities to include habitat improvements 
as part of any scheme in this area, which could 

Page 398

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 15 of 56 

provide biodiversity and amenity benefits as 
well as additional funding opportunities. 

Queen’s Park recreation ground and 
Coulsdon Common are important open 
spaces for the local community.  The 
project needs to ensure that the recreation 
and common land uses are not 
compromised. 

Avoid impacts through option selection and 
design where possible.  If not, mitigate impacts 
through measures such as sensitive 
landscaping and planting. 

Opportunities to include habitat and 
recreational improvements as part of any 
scheme in this area, which could provide 
biodiversity and amenity benefits as well as 
additional funding opportunities. 

There are several listed buildings within 
the study area.  The coal tax post on Stites 
Hill Road is a Grade II listed structure.  
These buildings / structures must not be 
negatively impacted. 

No adverse impacts on listed buildings are 
anticipated and some may benefit from the 
reduction in flood risk.  Any work along Stites 
Hill Road should be designed to avoid impacts 
on the coal tax post. 

Caterham-on-the-Hill is a predominantly 
urban area with many impermeable 
surfaces.  This must be considered in the 
development of any options. 

Green infrastructure and SuDS options offer 
opportunities for environmental enhancements 
including habitat creation, water quality 
improvements and amenity benefits. 

 

Investment objectives 

 

The objectives for the Caterham-on-the-Hill FAS, taken from the SOC are to: 

• Promote a jointly funded scheme to reduce surface water flood risk to people 
and property.  This should be achieved through RMA partnership working and 
involvement of the local community, for example through the local Flood Action 
Group; 

• Promote a scheme which provides the best possible economic standard of 
protection and where possible is resilient and adaptive to climate change; 

• Identify options which help create a better place and work with the community to 
maximise environmental outcomes for people and wildlife; and 

• Minimise and mitigate for both adverse impacts and any safety or environmental 
risks that may result from the scheme. 

 

Main benefits 

 

The proposed investment will reduce flood risk to properties in Caterham-on-the-Hill 
and Old Coulsdon, specifically those residential properties currently at very significant 
risk throughout the catchment.  Investment could result in up to 205 properties in 
Caterham-on-the-Hill having reduced flood risk.  Investment would ensure these 
properties are protected under a changing climate. 

  

Page 399

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 16 of 56 

Main risks 

 

At this stage, strategic project risks are considered at a high level as set out in Table 4. 

 

Table 4 - Strategic project risks. 

Strategic risks Mitigation 

Inability to secure the required funding could 
lead to the implementation of an alternative 
option, which has less benefit than the 
preferred option or no option at all.  This may 
also result in raising expectations which then 
cannot be met. 

The scheme will not proceed without 
contributions being identified, secured and 
confirmed.  The Project Board have already 
held initial funding discussions with SCC, 
LBC and TDC and are confident 
contributions can be sourced.  

Inability to identify an option or combination 
of options which sufficiently manages the 
risk from all sources of flooding which affect 
Caterham-on-the-Hill.  Properties left 
vulnerable to a residual risk of flooding and 
therefore cannot be counted towards 
government OM2 targets. Low uptake of 
PFR will leave properties vulnerable. 

The project has used an ICM which explicitly 
simulates the combined risk of multiple flood 
sources providing a good understanding of 
combined flood risk and identification of 
potential option benefits. 

Property Flood Resilience (PFR) measures 
can manage flood risk from all sources. 
Ongoing engagement with the community to 
encourage uptake of PFR. 

Reputational damage resulting from a failure 
to engage and/or meet the demands of any 
stakeholders.  This could lead to bad 
publicity for the organisation promoting the 
scheme and its partners.  It also could lead 
to a loss of public confidence. 

Development of the project has been shared 
with the Project Board at each stage.  
Furthermore, the residents are engaged with 
the project through the Flood Action Group 
meetings. 

Feedback from both the project board and 
the flood action group has been considered 
in the project development. 

 

Dependencies and assumptions 

 

The key project dependencies are: 

• Agreement of all partners on the Project Board is required for the project to 
progress. 

• Funding viability – Partnership funding contributions will be required for the FAS 
to be progressed because the scheme cannot be fully funded by Grant in Aid 
(GiA). 

• Technical viability – The options developed must be technically viable and 
reduce flood risk in the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  Furthermore, options 
cannot increase flood risk to any neighbouring areas. 

• Planning permission and consents – Depending on option selection, the 
preferred option may require planning permission from the Local Authority, 
which would require consultation from an early stage. 

• Landowner / stakeholder agreements – Stakeholders and landowners will need 
to be engaged at an early stage.  The main known landowners are TDC, Hillcroft 
Primary School, the City of London Corporation.  Other interested stakeholders 
would include members of the Project Board and users of the recreation ground. 

Page 400

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 17 of 56 

• Landowner permissions - If PFR is taken forward as the preferred option, 
individual landowner / property owner permission will be required.  

Page 401

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 18 of 56 

Economic case 

 

The economic case has been calculated following the principals of the Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management Appraisal Guidance (FCERM-AG) (Environment 
Agency, 2010) and the Multi-Coloured Manual (MCM) (Flood Hazard Research Centre, 
2020).  Please refer to Appendix B in the Options report (Appendix C of this OBC) for 
the methodology used to calculate the economic case. 

 

As described in Section 1, a Do Nothing scenario is the economic baseline for this 
OBC.  This assumes that no maintenance or repair activities are undertaken on any of 
the drainage assets within the catchment.  Over time pipes, road gullies and 
soakaways block, siltation levels build in the “Money Pit” and the ditch across Coulsdon 
Common will become more vegetated. 

 

Maintain scenario 

 

The Maintain scenario represents the existing situation.  Normal regular maintenance is 
expected to continue and if an asset fails then it is assessed in accordance with the 
Local Highway authority policy and Highway legislation.  The RMAs have provided 
information about the current maintenance activities in the catchment and this is 
summarised below: 

• SCC undertake gully cleansing within the catchment. The frequency of the 
maintenance varies across the catchment from 6-monthly to biennial.  Additional 
gully maintenance and surveying of assets has been carried out in the last two 
years. SCC have also de-silted the Money Pit and the structure is on an 
inspection schedule.  SCC have also undertaken survey of their drainage 
assets; 

• LBC undertake quarterly gully cleansing and five-yearly soakaway cleansing 
within the catchment; 

• TWUL have an annual foul water asset cleaning programme; and 

• The Environment Agency undertake no planned, regular maintenance within the 
catchment. 

 

The number of properties estimated to be at risk for a range of present day AP events 
for the Maintain scenario are presented in Table 5. 

 

Table 5 - Number of properties estimated to be at risk in the Maintain. 

Annual Probability (%) 
5% 

(1 in 20) 
2% 

(1 in 50) 
1% 

(1 in 100) 
0.5% 

(1 in 200) 

Residential: external flooding 296 420 486 563 

Residential: internal flooding 129 185 222 268 

Non-residential: internal flooding 14 26 33 49 

 

Table 6 provides the difference between the Maintain and the Do Nothing property 
counts, with negative numbers indicating properties which benefit from maintenance in 
each modelled event.  Throughout the catchment there are reductions in flood depths, 
however there is a small difference in the number of properties at risk between the two 

Page 402

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 19 of 56 

scenarios.  The small difference in the number of properties at risk of flooding between 
the Maintain and Do Nothing scenarios indicates that flood risk in the Caterham-on-the-
Hill catchment is not just related to maintenance of assets, but that there is insufficient 
capacity in the drainage system even when this system is well maintained. 

 

Table 6 – Difference in properties estimated to be at risk in the Maintain 
compared to the Do Nothing. 

Annual Probability (%) 
5% 

(1 in 20) 
2% 

(1 in 50) 
1% 

(1 in 100) 
0.5% 

(1 in 200) 

Residential: external flooding -16 -10 -3 -8 

Residential: internal flooding -3 -3 -3 -12 

Non-residential: internal flooding -1 0 -1 -1 

 

All option property counts for options appraised will be compared to the Maintain 
scenario property counts.  As the Maintain scenario represents the existing situation, 
this is considered to represent properties at risk today. 

 

Long list options 

 

A long-list of possible flood risk management options was developed, discussed and 
evaluated with the Project Board.  A brief description of the long list of options and 
identification of the initial option short list is provided in Table 7.  Locations are shown 
on Figure 3.  The full descriptions and details of the option appraisal can be found in 
the Options report (Appendix C). 

 

Table 7 - Option long list summary. 

Option Option name / description Shortlisted for OBC appraisal? 

DN Do Nothing Yes; economic baseline 

M Maintain Yes; existing situation 

1 

Queen’s Park flood storage area (FSA). 

Construction of a bund / embankment or wall to 
retain flood waters upstream of Queens Park Road 
with a control structure to throttle water 
downstream to drain the FSA, prior to discharge 
into the existing drainage system. 

Yes. 

Potential to reduce flood risk in the 
upstream part of the catchment. 

2 

Hillcroft Primary School FSA. 

Construction of an underground FSA to retain flood 
waters upstream of Chaldon Road with control 
structures to throttle water downstream to drain the 
FSA, prior to discharge into the existing drainage 
system. 

Yes. 

Potential to reduce flood risk in the 
middle part of the catchment. 

3 

FSA on Westway Common. 

Construction of a bund / embankment or wall to 
retain flood waters on Westway Common, with a 
control structure to throttle water downstream to 
drain the FSA. 

No. 

Limited potential to reduce flood risk 
to the study area. 

4 Western Coulsdon Common FSAs. Yes. 

Page 403

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 20 of 56 

Construction of a series of three bunds / 
embankments or walls to retain flood waters 
upstream of Caterham Drive with control structures 
to throttle water downstream to drain the FSAs, 
prior to discharge. 

Potential to reduce flood risk to 
Caterham Drive. 

5 

Eastern Coulsdon Common FSAs. 

Construction of a series of nine bunds / 
embankments or walls to retain flood waters 
upstream of Caterham Drive with control structures 
to throttle water downstream to drain the FSAs, 
prior to discharge. 

Yes. 

Potential to reduce flood risk to 
Caterham Drive. 

6 

Removal of the Money Pit. 

Removal of the Money Pit and replace with a pipe 
to maintain flow conveyance along the main 
surface water drain.  Could replace with an above-
ground storage area if levels permit. Reduces the 
ongoing maintenance costs associated with 
underground storage. 

No. 

Removal of the Money Pit increases 
flood risk in the catchment. 

7 

Offline FSA at xxxxxxxxxxxxxx. 

Construction of a FSA at xxxxxxxxxxxx to reduce 
the risk of flooding to the properties North of 
Coulsdon Common. 

No. 

Limited potential to reduce flood risk 
to the study area. 

8 

Caterham Drive FSA. 

Construction of a FSA downstream of Caterham 
Drive. 

No. 

Limited potential to reduce flood risk 
to the study area. 

9 

Divert water from Money Pit to golf course. 

Divert water out of the catchment from the piped 
watercourse (at the Money Pit) to Surrey National 
Golf Club.  Storage would need to be provided to 
prevent any increase in flood risk downstream. 

No. 

A very deep, and therefore 
prohibitively expensive, diversion 
pipe would be required because of 
the catchment topography. 

10 

Divert water along Foxon Lane. 

Divert water from the piped watercourse in a new 
drain under Money Road and north along Foxon 
Lane, discharging onto Coulsdon Common.  In 
order to accommodate the increased flow across 
Coulsdon Common without increasing downstream 
flood risk, this option would need to be combined 
with Option 5. 

No. 

A very deep, and therefore 
prohibitively expensive, diversion 
pipe would be required because of 
the catchment topography. 

11 

Divert water from Ninehams Road to the 
Whyteleafe catchment. 

Divert water from the piped watercourse in a new 
drain under Ninehams Road and Salmons Lane 
West, discharging into the Whyteleafe catchment.  
This option would need to be combined with a 
storage option. 

No. 

Flood risk would increase in the 
Whyteleafe catchment. 

12 

Upsize the existing sewer network. 

Upsize the existing pipe network or installation of 
additional pipes, creating a “super sewer” for the 
urban area. 

No. 

Risk of increasing downstream flood 
risk and likely to be prohibitively 
expensive. 

13 

Rebuild Stites Hill Road soakaway. 

Excavate and re-build Stites Hill Road soakaway to 
increase the discharge capacity. 

No. 

Short term solution, unlikely to 
provide any meaningful increase in 
the standard of protection to existing 
residential properties. 

14 Stites Hill Road soakaway overflow. No. 

Page 404

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 21 of 56 

Install overflow on Stites Hill Road soakaway. General recommendation that this 
option is delivered by partners 
outside of the OBC as option would 
not reduce flood risk but would help 
to manage the risk of the manhole 
cover lifting. 

15 

Installation of Silt traps at key location within 
the catchment. 

Installation of silt trap in manhole chambers 
downstream of Queen’s Park, upstream of the 
Money Pit and the Stites Hill Road soakaway. 

No. 

General recommendation that silt 
traps are delivered by partners 
outside of the OBC. 

16 

Secure the Stites Hill Road soakaway 
manhole cover. 

Bolt down the manhole cover of Stites Hill Road 
soakaway to prevent the cover lifting when the 
soakaway surcharges. 

No. 

Pressure would increase in the pipe 
system, increasing the health and 
safety risk. 

17 

Raise the level of Stites Hill Road. 

Raise the level of Stites Hill Road adjacent to the 
soakaway and construct a culvert under the road 
to convey flows, reducing the risk of road flooding. 

No. 

Likely to be prohibitively expensive 
and will only benefit the road. 

18 

Kerb raising. 

Raise the kerbs in key locations within the 
catchment, to confine more water to the roads and 
reduce the inundation of properties at low depths. 

No. 

Properties are not just at risk of 
flooding from the roads. Flood water 
also comes through back gardens. 

19 

Litter campaign. 

Reduce blockages in the surface water drainage 
system caused by litter. 

No. 

General recommendation that a litter 
campaign is delivered by partners 
outside of the OBC. 

20 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS). 

SuDS installed both in new developments and 
retrofitted to existing buildings for example water 
butts.  Other green infrastructure installed in 
streets, for example rain gardens. 

Yes. 

Potential to attenuate surface water 
runoff across the catchment. 

21 

Natural Flood Management (NFM). 

Small scale land management measures on open 
land through the catchment to increase storage 
within the catchment and slow downstream flow.  
Potential limited in urban area. 

Yes. 

Could be considered in conjunction 
with other options and / or 
progressed outside of the OBC. 
Limited flood risk benefits but 
provides wider natural capital 
benefits. 

22 

Property Flood Resilience (PFR) measures 

Installation of flood resistance measures to help 
stop water getting into a property and / or flood 
resilience measures to help minimise the damage 
flood water can cause.  Residential properties 
would be eligible if they are modelled to be at risk 
of flooding in the 5% (1 in 20) AP event and / or 
those with recent reported flood history. 

Yes. 

Effective at managing flood risk from 
multiple sources / flow routes. Fall-
back option where other options do 
not reduce flooding and where there 
is flood history. 

23 

Flood warning systems 

Install telemetry within the Caterham-on-the-Hill 
catchment to create a flood warning system.  
Educate the residents to make them aware of the 
new flood warning system. 

No. 

There is no obvious place to install 
telemetry within the catchment and 
warning times would be very limited. 

Page 405

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 22 of 56 

 

Figure 3 - Option long list. 

  

Page 406

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 23 of 56 

Short list options 

 

Where there was uncertainty over the technical performance of some of the long list 
options (Option 2, and Option 21), high level appraisal of technical viability and 
deliverability was undertaken, as follows. 

 

• Option 2: Hillcroft Primary School FSA 

o This option was conceptualised as part of the SOC.  It has been identified 
as an area for future development, therefore, there is uncertainty relating 
to future land use and how storage on this site could be achieved. 

o This option has not been discounted from assessment in the future, 
however, until more is known about the re-development plans in the area, 
this option has not been considered any further as part of this OBC. 

 

• Option 21: NFM 

o The catchment is heavily urbanised and so there are limited areas with 
potential for in-channel NFM measures as the surface water drainage is 
mostly in a piped underground system under roads, gardens and 
between properties; 

o The main source of flood water is surface water runoff from roads, roofs 
and gardens, therefore there is a limited scope to introduce land 
management changes; 

o NFM measures on Coulsdon Common could however still usefully slow-
the-flow through this area.  Although the volume of water reaching this 
downstream part of the catchment means that NFM measures are 
expected to have limited flood risk benefits, they could provide wider 
biodiversity and amenity benefits.  It is therefore recommended that these 
are taken forward by partners outside of this OBC. 

 

For the reasons listed above, both options were discounted from further, more detailed 
assessment within this OBC. 

 

The following options were taken forward for detailed appraisal including; modelling, 
costing and economic calculations: 

• Do Nothing; 

• Maintain; 

• Option 1: Queens Park FSA; 

• Option 4: Western Coulsdon Common FSA; 

• Option 5: Eastern Coulsdon Common FSA; 

• Option 20: SuDS; and 

• Option 22: PFR measures. 

 

Options 4 and 5 were also considered in combination.  Option 20 and 22 were further 
broken down into sub-options.  For more information on how Option 20 (SuDS) was 
broken down and then appraised, please see the Options report (Appendix C).  
Following the outcomes from this SuDS appraisal work, the Project Board decided to 
progress SuDS separately as part of a wider suite of measures within the catchment.  
Whilst the options were assessed as being economically viable, more than half of the 

Page 407

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 24 of 56 

option benefits were generated from wider multiple benefits rather than flood risk 
benefits.  As a result, this limits the amount of FCERM GIA funding that can be 
requested.  The Project Board decided to continue these options with their Project 
Partners, including Thames Water, LBC and TDC.  Therefore, they are not reported on 
further within this OBC report. 

Option 22 (PFR) was broken down as follows: 

• Initial PFR Option (129 properties): 

o Residential properties modelled to be at risk of flooding in the Maintain 
scenario 5% (1 in 20) AP event. 

• PFR (129 properties as above) + Option 1 (Queens Park FSA) 

• PFR Option 1 (80 properties): 

o Based on historic property flood records only (June 2016). This includes 
two non-residential properties. 

• PFR Option 2 (183 properties): 

o 129 properties included in the initial PFR option;  

o An additional two non-residential properties modelled to be at risk of 
flooding in the 5% (1 in 20) AP event have been selected by the Project 
Board to be included; 

o Any adjacent semi-detached and terraced properties to those eligible; 
and 

o 20 properties located on the main flow route which were recorded to have 
flooded internally in June 2016 but are not modelled to be at risk in the 
5% (1 in 20) AP event. 

• PFR Option 3 (205 properties): 

o 129 properties included in the initial PFR option; 

o An additional three non-residential properties modelled to be at risk of 
flooding in the 5% (1 in 20) AP event have been selected by the Project 
Board to be included in this option; 

o Any adjacent semi-detached and terraced properties to those eligible; 
and 

o All properties which were recorded to have flooded internally in June 
2016 regardless of modelled flood risk. 

 

 

There are technical, environmental and social matters that relate to each of the short-
listed options that must be considered.  These are summarised in Table 8.  More 
information on each option is given in Appendix A in the Options report (Appendix C). 

 

Table 8 - Technical, environmental and social matters pertinent to each option. 

Do Nothing 

• Under the Do Nothing scenario, both properties and roads are at risk of flooding in 
frequent rainfall events.  This flood risk is expected to increase in the future with 
climate change; 

• No change to existing environmental and social matters.  No carbon cost; and 

• Reduction in operation and maintenance costs. 

Maintain 

Page 408

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 25 of 56 

• Under the existing scenario, both properties and roads are at risk of flooding in 
frequent rainfall events.  This flood risk is expected to increase in the future with 
climate change; 

• Maintenance could result in short term road closures.  Gully and manhole access is 
not possible to guarantee; and 

• No change to existing environmental or social matters.  Low carbon cost option with 
the exception of maintenance of the “Money Pit” which requires transportation of the 
sediment removed from the structure. 

Option 1 - Queens Park FSA 

Technical 

• There is a soakaway and gullies located at the site of the proposed bund; further 
information about these assets would be needed to inform the outline design if the 
option is taken forward; 

• Spillway required to direct exceedance flow.  This would be towards residential 
properties, along the existing flow route; 

• A local source of earth would be preferable to minimise construction costs and traffic; 

• Ongoing maintenance will be required along with a duty of care associated with 
storage of flood water upstream of a residential area; 

• Potential Health and Safety (H&S) implications for park users when the flood storage 
area is in use; and 

• Located in the upstream catchment therefore other sources of surface water runoff 
downstream of the park which contribute to property flood risk which will not be 
addressed by this option. 

Environmental and carbon 

• Potential loss of trees, hedges and / or shrubs to make space for the bund, 
particularly along the northern boundary of the park; 

• Carbon cost associated with transport and use of materials, especially if material 
cannot be sourced locally; and 

• Opportunities for landscaping enhancements as part of the scheme. 

Social 

• The bund may affect access to the recreation ground, particularly for wheelchair 
users and pushchairs / buggies; 

• Disruption to the public use of the park when operational; 

• Visual impacts for those living on Queen’s Park Road; and 

• Traffic disruption for local residents during construction. 

Option 4, 5 and combination 4 + 5 - Western and Eastern Coulsdon Common FSAs 

Technical 

• Multiple bunds required due to steep topography.  Risk of a cascade breach failure.  
New control structures through each bund to throttle downstream flow and drain 
areas after the flood event would be required; 

• A local source of earth would be preferable to minimise construction costs and traffic; 

• There is a high-pressure gas pipeline and a foul water main located in proximity to the 
proposed options, therefore consultation with the utility companies required.  
Diverting these utilities expected to be prohibitively costly; 

• Ongoing maintenance will be required along with a duty of care associated with 
storage of flood water upstream of a residential area; and 

• Potential H&S implications for common users when the flood storage areas are in 
use. 

Environmental and carbon 

• The proposed bunds are in a wooded area, therefore there would be the potential for 
tree and habitat loss.  The deciduous woodland on Coulsdon Common has been 
identified on Natural England’s priority habitats inventory; 

• Carbon cost associated with transport and use of materials, especially if material 
cannot be sourced locally; and 

Page 409

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 26 of 56 

• Opportunities for landscaping enhancements as part of the scheme. 

Social 

• The bunds may affect access to the Common, particularly for wheelchair users and 
pushchairs / buggies; and 

• Disruption to the public use of the Common when operational. 

Option 22 - PFR measures 

Technical 

• Low-cost option for where other community-wide options are not suitable; 

• Provides protection to properties at an individual level; 

• Temporary measures e.g. flood barriers for doors require enough warning time for 
residents to act; very limited warning time in the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment 
therefore there would not be much time to implement these measures, making 
permanent measures such as flood doors more appropriate; and 

• Residual risk of flooding should any temporary measures not be deployed in time or 
correctly, if residents have not maintained their measures or if adjacent terraced or 
semi-detached properties do not have measures in place. 

Environment 

• No significant adverse environmental impacts, but also no environmental 
opportunities. 

Social 

• Must be owned, operated and maintained by individual property owners; 

• Temporary measures will require resident action during a flood event to implement; 
and 

• Current Environment Agency guidance for PFR is focused on residential properties 
only; this does not however preclude commercial properties from being included in a 
SCC-led scheme. 

 

 Economic appraisal 

 

The results from the ICM were used to undertake a depth damage economic 
assessment.  The economic appraisal followed the principles of the FCERM-AG 
(Environment Agency, 2010), as updated by supplementary guidance on the Defra 
website and the new appraisal guidance published by the Environment Agency in April 
2020.  Depth damage data was taken from the MCM (Flood Hazard Research Centre, 
2020).  All options were modelled in the ICM other than PFR. The PFR option damages 
/ benefits were calculated using the Maintain model results and the PFR methodology 
from the MCM.  The impact of climate change was included in accordance with 
guidance available at the time of this appraisal (Environment Agency, 2016).  A 
detailed explanation of how the economic appraisal was undertaken is included in 
Appendix B of the option report (Appendix C to this OBC). 

 

Option benefits 

The economic flood benefit assessment included calculation of the following: 

• Direct benefits to residential and non-residential properties as a result of 
reduction in flood depths and flood risk probability and therefore reduced 
Annual Average Damages (AADs); 

• In-direct benefits from reductions in evacuation costs, emergency services 
costs, vehicle damages and mental health flood losses; and 

• The benefits of a reduced risk of flooding on the human intangible effects of 
health and stress. 

Page 410

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 27 of 56 

 

In accordance with Treasury guidance, AADs were discounted over a 100-year 
appraisal period using the Treasury variable discount rate to generate a Present Value 
damage (PVd) for each option.  Health related damages were discounted using an 
updated Treasury Green Book (2018) discount rate in line with the updated economic 
appraisal guidance (Environment Agency, 2020).  The PV benefit (PVb) of each short-
listed option was then calculated as the difference between the short-listed option PVd 
against the Do Nothing PVd. Damages and benefits are provided in Table 13 below. 

 

Option benefits can also be quantified and better understood through property count 
information.  Table 9 provides the cumulative counts of properties modelled to be at 
risk of internal flooding (above floor level flooding) in the present day Maintain scenario.  
This is repeated from Table 5 for ease of reference.  To understand the benefit of each 
option, the counts of properties modelled to be at risk of internal flooding for each 
option is compared to those modelled in the Maintain scenario.  Although the Do 
Nothing is the economic baseline, the Maintain scenario represents the existing 
situation and so best represents the number of properties at risk today.  This 
cumulative difference is shown in Table 10 with negative numbers indicating properties 
which benefit from each option. 

 

Table 9 - Number of properties estimated to be at risk in the Maintain. 

Annual Probability (%) 
5% 

(1 in 20) 
2% 

(1 in 50) 
1% 

(1 in 100) 
0.5% 

(1 in 200) 

Residential: internal flooding 129 185 222 268 

Non-residential: internal flooding 14 26 33 49 

 
  

Page 411

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 28 of 56 

Table 10 – Difference in the number of properties at risk compared to Maintain 
(Present day without climate change). 

Annual Probability (%) 
5% 

(1 in 20) 
2% 

(1 in 50) 
1% 

(1 in 100) 
0.5% 

(1 in 200) 

Option 1: Queens Park FSA 

Residential: internal flooding -10 -13 -11 -10 

Non-residential: internal flooding -2 -2 -2 -2 

Option 4: Western Coulsdon Common FSA 

Residential: internal flooding -1 -1 -2 0 

Non-residential: internal flooding 0 0 0 0 

Option 5: Eastern Coulsdon Common FSA 

Residential: internal flooding -2 -6 -5 -2 

Non-residential: internal flooding 0 -1 -1 0 

Combination of Option 4 + Option 5 

Residential: internal flooding -2 -6 -5 -2 

Non-residential: internal flooding 0 -1 -2 0 

Option 22: PFR (129 properties) 

Residential: internal flooding -129 -128 -126 -122 

Non-residential: internal flooding 0 0 0 0 

Option 22: PFR (129 properties) + Option 1: Queen’s Park FSA 

Residential: internal flooding -129 -139 -137 -132 

Non-residential: internal flooding -2 -2 -2 -2 

Option 22: PFR Option 1 (80 properties) 

Residential: internal flooding -38 -46 -48 -48 

Non-residential: internal flooding -2 -2 -2 -2 

Option 22: PFR Option 2 (183 properties) 

Residential: internal flooding -129 -150 -159 -162 

Non-residential: internal flooding -2 -2 -2 -2 

Option 22: PFR Option 3 (205 properties) 

Residential: internal flooding -129 -150 -159 -162 

Non-residential: internal flooding -3 -3 -3 -3 

 

Option costs  

The Maintain option includes an annual maintenance cost of £27.2k and an additional 
cost of £152k every 20 years.  This has been derived based upon the following known 
maintenance activities and costs provided by SCC and LBC: 

 

SCC Highway drainage cleanse (yearly): £15k; 

LBC Gully cleanse (yearly):   £12.2k; and 

De-silting of the Money Pit (20-yearly): £152k. 

 

Page 412

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 29 of 56 

The costs of maintaining the existing drainage system are included in the PV costs in 
Table 13, but are not shown in the cash costs in Table 11 and Table 12. 

 

Design and construction costs for the short-listed capital options were calculated by 
Atkins using the Environment Agency’s Pricing Workbook, Environment Agency ‘Cost 
estimation for culverts’ document (2014) and previous project experience.  Allowances 
for annual maintenance and periodic repair / replacement were included.  A summary 
is provided in Table 11.  The costs for the combined Option 4 + Option 5 are not equal 
to the sum of the individual costs for these options because of efficiencies associated 
with designing and constructing both options at the same time. 

 

Survey, installation and maintenance costs for PFR were taken from the Middle 
Medway Flood Resilience Scheme and verified with reference to other PFR projects 
and a conversation with a PFR contractor.  A summary is shown in Table 12.  More 
information on PFR scheme costs will be available once the property surveys have 
been completed.  The maintenance costs for PFR include an annual maintenance of 
£250 per property and replacement every 25 years.  It is the expectation that this 
annual maintenance cost is met by the homeowner and so is included in the economic 
appraisal, but not in any funding calculations. 

 

Further details about the option costing methodology for all short-listed options is given 
in Appendix B of the Options report (Appendix C in this OBC). 

 

Table 11 - Cash costs for the FSA options. 

Cost type 

Cash costs (£k) 

Option 1 

Queens Park 
FSA 

Option 4 

Western 
Coulsdon 
Common FSA 

(3 bunds) 

Option 5 

Eastern 
Coulsdon 
Common FSA 

(9 bunds) 

Options 4 + 5 

Design costs 79 88 95 163 

Construction 
costs 

251 207 440 529 

Maintenance 
costs 

2 (annually) 2 (annually) 4 (annually) 6 (annually) 

20 (10-yearly) 20 (10-yearly) 40 (10-yearly) 60 (10-yearly) 

 

Table 12 - Cash costs for the PFR options. 

Cost type 

Cash costs (£k) 

PFR 

129 properties 

PFR Option 1 

80 properties 

PFR Option 2 

183 properties 

PFR Option 3 

205 properties 

Design / survey 
costs 

49 34 65 72 

Installation costs 810 506 1,145 1,281 

 

 

Page 413

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 30 of 56 

The whole-life costs for each option have been discounted to a PV over a 100-year 
appraisal period.  No Optimism Bias (OB) was applied to the costs of maintaining the 
existing drainage system as these are known costs provided by the current asset 
maintainers.  A 60% OB has been applied to all FSA option costs.  A reduced level of 
OB (30%) has been applied to the PFR costs to reflect the lower level of risk 
associated with this option.  The OB applied is considered appropriate to the stage of 
design and the information available when costing these options, as well as the risks 
currently identified. 

 

Option economic summary 

 

The costs, damages, benefits and benefit cost ratio (BCR) of each of the short-listed 
options are displayed in Table 13.  All options in Table 13 return BCR values which are 
greater than 1 indicating that the option benefits outweigh the costs and hence the 
options are economically viable.  Table 14 provides further economic summary 
information for the various PFR options. 

 

Table 13 – Costs, benefits and benefit cost ratios of the shortlisted options. 

Option PV Costs (£k) PV damages (£k) PV benefits (£k) BCR 

Do Nothing 0 38,591   

Maintain 975 35,514 3,180 3.3 

Option 1 Queens 
Park FSA 

1,650 33,087 5,744 3.5 

Option 4 Western 
Coulsdon Common 
FSA 

1,596 34,977 3,724 2.3 

Option 5 Eastern 
Coulsdon Common 
FSA 

2,129 33,863 4,879 2.3 

Options 4 + 5 2,536 33,693 5,050 2.0 

PFR  

(129 properties) 
3,918 13,710 24,983 6.4 

 

Although Options 1, 4, 5 and the combination of Options 4 and 5 are economically 
viable (BCR greater than one), Table 13 shows that each of these options have large 
residual damages, all above £30m, and provide relatively low benefits, all below £6m.  
This is because the location of these options and the steep nature of the catchment, 
means that each of these options provides benefit to a relatively small area, as follows:  

• Option 1 provides flood risk benefit to properties located on Queens Park Road, 
Court Road and Park Road in the very upstream of the catchment; and 

• Option 4, Option 5 and the combination of Options 4 and 5 provide flood risk 
benefit to properties located on Caterham Drive in the very downstream of the 
catchment. 

In addition to the localised nature of the benefits, Options 4 and 5 are technically very 
difficult as they require numerous high bunds, in locations where there are 
underground utilities (including a high-pressure gas main) and they would not be in 
keeping with the existing landscape of Coulsdon Common. 

Page 414

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 31 of 56 

In contrast, PFR, has a much higher benefit (£25m) and a much lower residual damage 
(£14m).  This is because PFR offers individual resilience to properties at the highest 
flood risk throughout the catchment.  It was therefore agreed with the Project Board to 
explore options for delivering PFR, and to economically appraise these options.  The 
results of this are shown in Table 14.  The first row in this table (PFR 129 properties) 
has been copied from Table 13 for reference. 

 

Table 14 – PFR Option costs, benefits and benefit cost ratios over 100 year 
appraisal period. 

Option PV Costs (£k) PV damages (£k) PV benefits (£k) BCR 

PFR  

(129 properties) 
3,918 13,710 24,983 6.4 

PFR  

(129 properties)  

+ Option 1 

4,467 13,286 25,408 5.7 

PFR Option 1  

(80 properties) 
2,813 26,843 11,851 4.2 

PFR Option 2  

(183 properties) 
5,136 12,442 26,272 5.1 

PFR Option 3  

(205 properties) 
5,632 12,247 26,447 4.7 

 

All PFR scenarios have BCRs above one, this demonstrates that they are economically 
viable options.  The economically preferred option can be determined by applying the 
FCERM-AG decision rule as discussed in Section 2.7 below. 

 

 Non-financial benefits appraisal 

 

This project has the potential to achieve benefits beyond the direct flood risk reductions 
achieved by the options.  Examples include improving community awareness and 
preparedness of flood risk and strengthening the reputation of the RMAs. 

 

The PFR measures are also expected to increase homeowner peace of mind, reducing 
the emotional and mental health impacts associated with repeated flooding.  Research 
into the mental health impacts of flooding has found that flooded residents are six times 
more likely to suffer mental health issues and with flooded homes sometimes 
uninhabitable for over one year, it is an underlying cause of homelessness. This OBC 
appraisal has included the mental health impacts of flooding and benefits of the options 
using the recently defined methodology (Environment Agency, 2020). 

 

The short-listed options provide limited opportunities for providing environmental 
enhancement or habitat creation.  The FSAs could provide opportunities for 
landscaping enhancements as part of the scheme; however, they also have the 
potential for loss of trees, hedges and / or shrubs to make space for the bunds.  By 
taking forward PFR instead of the FSA options, these potential environmental and 
recreational impacts are avoided.  It is recommended that RMAs and the community 

Page 415

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 32 of 56 

work together within this catchment to find and deliver environmental opportunities 
outside of this OBC. 

 

Preferred way forward 

 

Choice of preferred option 

 

Table 13 and Table 14 show that there are cost-beneficial options to alleviate flooding 
in Caterham-on-the-Hill.  The option with the highest BCR (6.4) is PFR (129 
properties).  This becomes the initial economic leading option.  The options with the 
next highest BCRs are listed in Table 15.  The economically preferred option can be 
determined by applying the FCERM-AG decision rule.  The option with the highest 
BCR becomes the initial leading economic option and Incremental Benefit Cost Ratios 
(iBCR) are then used to determine whether ‘stepping up’ to another option with greater 
flood risk benefits (but greater costs) can be justified.  The final column in Table 15 
steps through the rest of the economic decision making following the FCERM-AG 
decision rule. 

 

Table 15 – Economic decision making to select the preferred option. 

Option BCR iBCR 
Option for 

iBCR 
calculation  

FCERM-AG decision rule comments 

PFR  

(129 
properties) 

6.4 7.4 Maintain This option has the highest BCR, therefore 
becomes the initial economic leading option. 

PFR  

(129 
properties)  

+ Option 1 

5.7 0.8 PFR 

(129 
properties) 

PFR (129 properties) + Option 1 has the next 
highest BCR (5.7).  However, the iBCR, when 
compared to the PFR (129 properties) option is 
0.8.  This indicates that the additional costs of 
this combined option exceed the additional 
benefits achieved and it is therefore not 
economically justified. 

There are no wider community or wider 
environmental reasons for including Option 1 
with PFR. 

This option is discounted from this appraisal. 

PFR Option 2  

(183 
properties) 

5.1 1.1 PFR 

(129 
properties) 

PFR Option 2 (183 properties) has the next 
highest BCR (5.1).  The iBCR when compared 
to the PFR (129 properties) option is 1.1, 
therefore it is economically justifiable to step up 
to PFR Option 2 (183 properties) as the 
preferred economic option. 

There are many additional benefits of including 
extra properties in this option.  The additional 
properties are those that were reported to have 
historically flooded on the main flow path.  This 
also includes any connected properties to those 
listed, such as semi-detached or terraced 
properties.  Including these properties better 
manages the residual risk of flooding as well as 
addressing the uncertainty in the ICM but 

Page 416

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 33 of 56 

Option BCR iBCR 
Option for 

iBCR 
calculation  

FCERM-AG decision rule comments 

including historical flooding as part of the criteria 
for selection. 

This becomes the economic leading option. 

PFR Option 3  

(205 
properties) 

4.7 0.4 PFR Option 
2  

(183 
properties) 

PFR Option 3 (205 properties) has the next 
highest BCR (4.7).  This option includes 
properties that reported internal flooding in 
historic flood events, which are within the study 
area but are not located on the main flow path.  
Some of these are not modelled to be at risk of 
flooding in the present day Maintain scenario. 

The iBCR when compared to PFR Option 2 (183 
properties and the new economic leading 
option) is below 1 (0.4).  The increase in cost 
from PFR Option 2 to PFR Option 3 exceeds the 
increase in the benefit.  Furthermore, there is no 
difference in in OM2 counts between PFR 
Option 2 and Option 3.  This would indicate that 
there is no economic justification to step up from 
PFR Option 2, to PFR Option 3. 

There are however political and community 
reasons to include the additional 22 properties.  
By including all properties that were reported to 
have historically flooded internally in the study 
area, this is a more holistic scheme, more 
acceptable to the community and less reliant on 
the information from the ICM.  This option does 
have higher costs and so sufficient funding does 
have to be available for it to be taken forward. 

 

At the Project Board meeting (28/05/2020) PFR Option 3 (205 properties) was selected 
as the preferred PFR option to be taken forward in this OBC.  This is because it 
encompasses all properties modelled to flood in the 5% (1 in 20) AP flood event; all 
those with reported internal flooding in the June 2016 and winter 2013/14 historic flood 
events; and additional attached properties to reduce the residual risk of flooding 
through property walls. This meets the strategic objectives of the Project Board to 
reduce flood risk throughout the catchment. 

 

Sensitivity analysis  

Sensitivity testing has been undertaken on the preferred option of PFR Option 3 (205 
properties) as documented in Table 16. 

 

Table 16 - Preferred option sensitivity analysis. 

Test Description 
Results for PFR Option 3 (205 
properties) 

Uptake  
rates 

The results presented in the 
economic case above are based 
on a 100% uptake rate i.e. all 205 
properties.  However, not all 
eligible properties are suitable for 

The total PV benefits reduced 
from ~£26.4m to ~£11.9m, 
however, the PV costs also 
reduced from ~£5.6m to ~£2.9m 

Page 417

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 34 of 56 

PFR measures because of the 
building type and design.  This 
would be identified as part of 
individual property surveys not 
yet undertaken as part of this 
OBC.  Furthermore, not all 
residents are willing to engage in 
such a scheme. 

Eligible properties were written to 
and invited to complete an EoI 
form.  At the time of completing 
this OBC, 83 properties (40%) 
had returned the EoI form.  The 
economic appraisal was re-run to 
calculate the costs and benefits 
of a scheme based on this 
uptake. 

and therefore the BCR reduced 
from 4.7 to 4.1. 

This analysis has shown that 
even with reduced uptake 
rates, this option is still 
economically viable. 

Property 
threshold 
levels 

Residential threshold levels have 
been assumed to be 0.15m 
above ground level.  This has 
been validated as part of visual 
observations on a site visit, but 
no detailed property threshold 
survey has been undertaken. 

Test A 

Reduction of assumed threshold 
levels to 0.1m. 

Test B 

Increase of assumed threshold 
levels to 0.2m. 

Test A 

Increased the number of 
properties modelled to be at risk 
in a 5% (1 in 20) AP event from 
129 to 175.  This test has been 
undertaken with the same 205 
properties included in the PFR 
Option.  The reduction in 
assumed property threshold 
increases the benefits from 
~£26.4m to ~£33.4m.  This 
strengthens the business case 
for this option. 

Test B 

Reduced the number of 
properties modelled to be at risk 
in a 5% (1 in 20) AP event from 
129 to 98.  This test has been 
undertaken with the same 205 
properties included in the PFR 
Option.  The increase in 
assumed property threshold 
reduces the benefits from 
~£26.4m to ~£19.3m and 
reduces the BCR from 4.7 to 3.4.  
This shows that the scheme’s 
economic viability is unaffected if 
property thresholds are slightly 
higher than assumed in the 
appraisal. 

PFR 
effectiveness 

PFR effectiveness has been 
assumed to be 75% (Flood 
Hazard Research Centre, 2013). 

Test A 

Test A 

The increase in assumed PFR 
effectiveness increases the 
benefits from ~£26.4m to 

Page 418

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 35 of 56 

Increase of PFR effectiveness to 
100%. 

Test B 

Reduction of PFR effectiveness 
to 50%. 

~£34.1m.  This strengthens the 
business case for this option. 

Test B 

The reduction in assumed PFR 
effectiveness reduces the 
benefits from ~£26.4m to 
~£18.8m and reduces the BCR 
from 4.7 to 3.3.  This shows that 
the scheme’s economic viability 
remains unaffected if the 
assumption of PFR effectiveness 
is reduced to 50%. 

 

Outcome Measures 

The OM1 (option benefits) for PFR Option 3 (205 properties) and the OM1 benefits for 
these property counts based on those 83 properties which had returned an Expression 
of Interest (EoI) form at the time of preparing this OBC over a 25-year Duration of 
Benefits (DofB) are set out in Table 17.  This includes the split between the people 
benefits (OM1B), and the non-people related benefits OM1s.  This OM1 value does not 
include quantification of any wider non-flood damages avoided benefits.  The DofB is 
defined as the period of time until there are future costs (for example for asset upgrade 
or in the case of PFR measures, full replacement) greater than 20% of the initial capital 
costs. For PFR options, this is 25 years. 

 

Table 17 - Outcome measure 1. 

Outcome measure PFR Option 3  
(205 properties) 

PFR EOI uptake  
(83 / 205 (40%) 

properties)  

PV benefits (100-year 
appraisal period) 

£26,447k £11,859k 

DofB (years) 25 25 

Total OM1 over DofB £11,360k £4,883k 

People related impacts 
(OM1B) over DofB 

£3,795k £1,665k 

Non-people related OM1 £7,565k £3,218k 

 

Table 18 provides OM2A property counts assuming 100% uptake of PFR by the 205 
properties.  Table 19 provides these property counts based on those 83 properties 
which had returned an Expression of Interest (EoI) form at the time of preparing this 
OBC.  The PF calculator requires counts of properties for the “before” and “after” 
scenarios.  The “before” counts are based on the present day Maintain scenario.  The 
“after” counts include a 10% increase in rainfall intensity which is the current projected 
impact of climate change at the end of the 25-year DofB.  All properties in the 
Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment are located in areas classified as 60% least deprived.  
In accordance with the PF calculator guidance, only those properties which move flood 
risk band are included in the OM2 counts.  This is why they do not match property 
counts provided elsewhere in this business case. 

  

Page 419

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 36 of 56 

Table 18 - PF calculator OM2A property counts (non-cumulative, PFR Option 3 
(205 properties) 100% uptake). 

“Before” 

Maintain present day 

“After” 

Option with 10% increase in rainfall intensity 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

 7 11 22 129 162 4 2 1 0 

Table 19 - PF calculator OM2A property counts (non-cumulative, PFR EoI uptake 
(83 properties) 40% uptake). 

“Before” 

Maintain present day 

“After” 

Option with 10% increase in rainfall intensity 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

 3 3 11 44 58 2 1 0 0 

 

Of the 83 properties which initially returned an EoI form, 44 are at very significant risk, 
11 are at significant risk, 3 are at intermediate risk, 3 are at moderate risk and 25 are 
not at risk based on modelled results.  Properties not at risk based on modelled results 
are included in the options as they represented adjoining semi-detached and terraced 
properties or properties which reported internal flooding in June 2016 but are not 
modelled to be at risk of flooding. 

 

The new 2020 PF calculator additionally includes OM2B property counts.  These are 
residential properties which are not at risk today but are modelled to become at risk if 
there was no investment (Do Nothing scenario) by 2040 (middle-epoch climate 
change).  “To qualify they would cross to a higher risk band before 2040 without the 
project and therefore benefit from the reduction in flood risk by moving to a lower risk 
band due to the investment planned today” (Environment Agency, 2020).  Additional 
modelling of the 2040 Do Nothing scenario was undertaken to derive the OM2B counts 
for the Caterham-on-the-Hill catchment.  Table 20 and Table 21 provide the OM2B 
counts depending on uptake rate.  The location of these properties has been checked 
and they are all properties which benefit as a result of maintenance of the existing 
drainage system and not properties which directly benefit from PFR. 

  

Page 420

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 37 of 56 

Table 20 - PF calculator OM2B property counts (non-cumulative, PFR Option 3 
(205 properties) 100% uptake). 

“Before” 2040 

Do Nothing, 10% increase in rainfall intensity 

“After” 

Option with 10% increase in rainfall intensity 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

 35 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 0 

 

Table 21 - PF calculator OM2B property counts (non-cumulative, PFR EoI uptake 
(83 properties) 40% uptake). 

“Before” 2040 

Do Nothing, 10% increase in rainfall intensity 

“After” 

Option with 10% increase in rainfall intensity 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

Low risk Moderate 
risk 

Intermediate 
risk 

Significant 
risk 

Very 
significant 
risk 

 35 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 0 

 

Table 22 sets out the total OM2A and OM2B property counts for both the 100% and 
lower uptake scenario. 

 

Table 22 – OM2 property count totals. 

Count Definition 
PFR Option 3 

(205 properties) 

PFR Option 3 

(83 properties) 

OM2A 

Number of residential properties 
(households) at risk today that are 
better protected against flood risk by 
the preferred option, defined as 
having moved to a lower flood risk 
band at the end of the duration of 
benefits. 

169 61 

OM2B 

Number of residential properties 
(households) not at risk today but 
would become at risk under Do 
Nothing by 2040 that are better 
protected against flood risk by the 
preferred option, defined as having 
moved to a lower flood risk band 
over the remaining duration of 
benefits period. 

35 35 

 

The OM2A and OM2B counts do not add up to the total number of properties offered 
PFR in each option.  The OM2A counts are all properties which benefit directly from 
PFR.  The additional properties offered PFR but not in the OM2A counts include non-
residential properties or residential properties not modelled to be at risk.  They either 
have historic flooding or are attached to a property at risk.  The OM2B counts are 
achieved through the maintenance of the current system, compared against the Do 
Nothing baseline, they are not properties which are included in the PFR option.  Please 
refer to Section 6.5.1.4 of the Options report (Appendix C) for more information.  

Page 421

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 38 of 56 

Commercial case 
 

Procurement strategy 
 
The Environment Agency’s National PFR framework has been used to identify lot 3 
(survey and fit) PFR contractors.  A competitive tender will be made using the EA 
framework.  SCC will apply for “approval to procure” through the SCC Cabinet.  The 
SCC procurement team will work with the LBC procurement team to define how to take 
forward this multi-agency business case. 
 
The contractor will be required to provide passive PFR measures.  The contractor will 
be used to undertake the property surveys and to supply and install the PFR measures.  
Ongoing engagement with the property owners will either be undertaken by the Project 
Board or by a consultant on the Environment Agency PFR framework commissioned to 
do this work on behalf of the Project Board. 
 

Key contractual terms and risk allocation 
 
Construction is relatively low risk and use of the specialist and experienced contractor 
will reduce the risk of construction related issues.  The PFR contractor will take the 
responsibility of the detailed survey of the properties as well as their subsequent 
design, supply and installation.  Where appropriate it is recommended that PFR 
products installed are KiteMarked, achieving or exceeding the British standard PAS 
1188:2014.  Furthermore, a post installation survey is recommended to ensure that all 
measures have been provided and that property owners are aware of the function of 
the measures and how to maintain them.  In combination, this will help to ensure that, 
as long as they are well installed, maintained and in a good condition, the products will 
perform to the best standard possible. 
 
A contractual arrangement would be created to ensure that the installations have an 
adequate period of warranty.  SCC’s legal and procurement team will advise the project 
team if required. 
 
A key contractual term would be to specify that the measures would either be 
automatic or fixed, without the need for installation by the resident prior to a flood 
event.  The PFR contractor will be required to submit a detailed list of the proposed 
measures for each property for project board approval. 
 

Efficiencies and commercial arrangements 
 
Efficiencies will be identified at all stages of the project. SCC intend to deliver this 
Caterham-on-the-Hill scheme working with the LBC as part of the Project Board.  The 
scheme includes properties in both SCC and the LBC.  Working together as part of one 
scheme is expected to provide efficiencies in relation to management time, PFR 
contractor time and expenses (during both the survey and installation phases) and 
enabling the sharing of and actions on lessons learnt. 

  

Page 422

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 39 of 56 

Financial case 

 

Financial Summary 

 

This PFR business case is seeking FDGiA and levy to maximise outcome measures. 
Surrey County Council, Tandridge District Council and London Borough of Croydon are 
working on funding a parallel suite of intervention measures to reduce flood risk 
throughout the catchment including highway SuDS and a range of community SuDS. 

 

The methodology for calculation of project costs is outlined in Section 2.5 of the 
Economic case with future details provided in the Options report (Appendix C).  The 
risk contingency is currently based on a 30% optimism bias (OB), which is considered 
appropriate for PFR measures. 

 

The financial summary for the preferred option of PFR (205 properties) is provided in 
Table 23.  The whole-life cash costs cover the 25-year duration of benefits, all future 
costs relate to the future costs of maintaining the existing drainage system and do not 
have OB applied.  The whole-life cash cost column also includes all study costs 
associated with the model build and development of the SOC and OBC.  The SOC and 
OBC study costs and the future existing drainage system maintenance costs are 
excluded from the total project costs for approval column as they have been separately 
funded.  Both columns in Table 23 exclude maintenance of the PFR measures as 
these costs would be incurred by property owners and funding is not being sought for 
this. 

 

Table 23 – Preferred option financial summary. 

 1Whole-life  

cash cost (£k) 

2Total Project cost 

(approval) (£k) 

Cost up to OBC3  
243 

Exc previous 
applications 

Costs after OBC   

Salary costs 0 0 

Cost of Professional Advice 20 20 

Site investigation and survey 62 62 

Construction 1,271 1,271 

Supervision Included in construction cost Included in construction cost 

Environmental mitigation4 0 0 

Land purchase & compensation 0 0 

Other5  0 0 

Risk Contingency (See s.12 of 
the Grant Memorandum) 

  

Risk or Optimism Bias6 (30%) 406 406 

(Cash) N/a 

Page 423

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 40 of 56 

 1Whole-life  

cash cost (£k) 

2Total Project cost 

(approval) (£k) 

Future cost 
(construction + maintenance) 

886 

Optimism Bias on future cost7 0 

Project total cost 2,888 1,7598 

 
 
Notes 

1. This column shows the cash, i.e., undiscounted, values and includes all future 
costs over the design life including any study costs approved under an 
FCERM7. 

2. The costs in this column are cash values. 
3. The whole life cash cost column includes any study costs approved under an 

FCERM7 and the development cost of the OBC.  The Total project cost 
(approval) column does not include study costs as these have already been 
approved under an FCERM7.  It does include the OBC development cost. 

4. The cost of environmental enhancement is contained within the other cost 
elements and not shown separately. 

5. Add further rows as necessary for individual headings.  A cumulative 
miscellaneous cost should not be more than 5% of the total.  

6. Note that the allowance for risk and/or optimism bias is part of the project 
approval but must be claimed separately when needed using the FCERM4 
application.  See supporting information for further explanation. 

7. The allowance for risk and optimism bias applicable to future construction and 
maintenance is shown separately from current risk and optimism bias to account 
for uncertainty. 

8. This is the value of the project that will be approved and appear on the 
FCERM2. 

 

Funding sources 
 
The scheme is requesting Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid 
(FCERM GiA) within the next 6-year area programme.  Table 24 details the results of 
the PF calculator which has been completed for the preferred option of PFR (205 
properties).  This is based on a 25-year duration of benefits and therefore the PV costs 
and benefits used for the partnership funding calculations are different to those 
reported for the economic case above (which is for a 100-year appraisal period).  A 
copy of the PF calculator is provided in Appendix A. 

  

Page 424

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 41 of 56 

Table 24 - Source of funding and Partnership Funding score. 

 % Description Total £k 

Raw Partnership Funding 
score  

71   

Funding:    

Local Levy 
 Local levy has been 

confirmed. 
485 

SCC, TDC, LBC 

 The authorities have 
already contributed 
towards the scheme 
and will contribute 
further if required, 
conditional on funding 
approval. 

158 

Non GiA contributions     

Adjusted Partnership Funding 
score 

104   

Grant in Aid   1,774 

Project total cost (PV) 
(approval) 

  1,9451 

1This is the value of the project that will be approved and appear on the FCERM2 
(see table 2 note 8).  

 
It is acknowledged that the numbers in the Table 24 do not equal the project total cost.  
When the PV future costs are not included in the PF calculator, the maximum eligible 
GiA (£1,774k) and the contributions required (£171k) equal the Project total costs (PV) 
(approval) (£1,945k).  However, inline with the updated PF calculator guidance the PV 
future costs have been included in the PF calculator, these relate to maintenance of 
the existing system.  As a local authority project the maximum eligible GiA is 
unchanged (£1,774k) but the contributions required as identified in the PF calculator 
increase (£571k).  Funding has been secured based on this higher contribution 
requirement. 
 
Discussions with the Environment Agency indicate that Local Levy would be made 
available to meet the shortfall based on current Thames RFCC funding principals up to 
a value of £485k.  
 
If the PF score changes with the uptake of the PFR measures, the authorities will 
contribute further if Local Levy does not fully cover the shortfall.  The additional 
funding contribution would be split by the number of PFR properties by local authority.  
Based on the 205 properties the split is currently 15% for LBC and 85% jointly for 
Tandridge District Council and Surrey County Council.  The LBC funds would be 
available from the local drainage budget.  The TDC funds would come from the 
Community Infrastructure Levy and will require a business case.  Contributions from 
SCC would need to be taken through the internal approvals process. 
 
The £1,945k project total cost for approval matches that in cell E31 on the PF 
calculator.  This includes the sunk costs up to OBC and hence does not match the 
economic appraisal values.  The PV cost for approval excludes the future costs of 

Page 425

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 42 of 56 

maintaining the existing drainage system which are included in cell E32 on the PF 
calculator but are not included in the funding application as the application is being 
made by a Local Authority. 
 
Table 25 provides more detail on the funding sources.  £85k of funding has already 
been received from the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid 
(FCERM GiA) to cover the asset survey, integrated catchment modelling and appraisal 
work.  The PF calculator states that a maximum additional £1,689k could be achieved 
through FCERM GiA.  A further £50k of funding has been agreed by the Regional 
Flood and Coastal Committee (local levy).  The Project Board have been advised by 
the Environment Agency that a further £485k of Local Levy is available for the property 
survey and PFR measure installation.  This leaves no external contributions required 
to take the scheme forward.  This funding requirement assumes full uptake by all 205 
properties. 

 
Funding contributions for the past and the future are shown in Table 25. 

 

Table 25 - Past and future scheme funding (100% uptake). 

Funding source Past (£k) Future(£k) Total(£k) 

FCERM GiA 85 1,689 1,774 

Local Levy  485 485 

SCC 138  138 

TDC 10  10 

LBC  10  10 

Total 243 2,174 2,417 

Total excluding GiA 158 485 643 

 
As described in the Economic Case, residents have been invited to return EoI forms, 
with 83 received to date, equivalent to a 40% uptake.  A second PF calculator has 
been filled out based on inclusion of only those properties which have returned EoI 
forms.  A copy of this is also provided in Appendix A.  This sensitivity test confirms that 
with this uptake, the FCERM GiA eligibility exceeds the £85k already claimed.  
External contributions of approximately £493k would be required to fill the funding gap 
and take the scheme forward with this lower uptake rate. 

 
The funding secured will cover the cost of a basic package of PFR measures, as 
identified as being required by property survey.  Any aesthetic upgrades will require a 
direct contribution from the property owner. 

 
  

Page 426

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 43 of 56 

Management case 
 

Project management and schedule 
 
The property surveys and installation of PFR measures will be project managed by 
SCC working with LBC and the PFR contractor.  Key project dates are summarised in 
Table 26. 

 

Table 26 - Key project dates. 

Activity Indicative date 

Approval of OBC October 2020 

PFR contractor appointment November 2020 

Property surveys 

Assumptions:  

• 0.5 months to arrange surveys. 

• Property surveys usually take 1-2h, assumed 
4 surveys / day, therefore 2.5 months. 

• 1 month for contractor to write up reporting. 

January 2020 to April 2021 

Installation of PFR measures 

Assumptions:  

• 3 months for legal agreement with residents. 

• 1 month to arrange installation. 

• PFR measure installation takes 2/3 days per 
property, assumed 2 properties / week and 2 
installation teams, therefore 12 months.  

• 1-month risk allowance. 

May 2021 to September 2022 

Scheme completed October 2022 

 

Benefits realisation 
 
Scheme benefit values are summarised in Table 27.  These are given for the 25-year 
DofB as used in the PF calculator and so are different from those presented in the 
economic case of this OBC.  Climate change is included in the calculation of both OM1 
and OM2. 
 
Benefits will be realised once the PFR measures have been installed.  Property owners 
will own and be responsible for the PFR measures. 

  

Page 427

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 44 of 56 

Table 27 - Outcome Measures to be delivered by the project (100% uptake) 

Contributions to outcome measures PFR Option 3 

Outcome 1 − Ratio of whole-life benefits to costs over 25-year DofB 

Present value benefits (£k) 11,360 

Present value costs (£k) 2,511 

Benefit: cost ratio 4.5 

Outcome 2 − Households at reduced risk [Values taken from 
the PF calculator]* 

 

2a – Households at risk today which have moved to a lower 
risk category (number – nr) 

169 

2b – Households at risk in 2040 which have moved to a lower 
risk category (nr) 

35 

Proportion of households that are in the 20% most deprived 
areas (nr) 

0 

Outcome 3 – Households with reduced risk of erosion [Values 
taken from the PF calculator] 

 

3a – Households with reduced risk of erosion (nr) 0 

3b – Proportion of those in 3 protected from loss within 20 
years (nr) 

0 

3c – Proportion of households in 3b that are in the 20% most 
deprived areas (nr) 

0 

Outcome 4 – Water framework directive [Values for OM4a to 4c 
taken from the PF calculator] 

 

4a – Hectares of water-dependent habitat created or 
improved (ha) 

0 

4b – Hectares of intertidal habitat created (ha) 0 

4c – Kilometres of river protected (km) 0 

4d – Kilometres of WFD water body enhanced through FCRM 0 

4e – Kilometres of water body opened up to fish and /or eel 
passage through FCRM 

0 

4f – Kilometres of river habitat enhanced (including SSSI) 
through FCRM 

0 

4g – Hectares of habitat (including SSSI) enhanced through 
FCRM  

0 

4h – Hectares of habitat created through FCRM 0 

* The definitions of OM2 have changed with the new 2020 PF calculator. This table 
which is part of the business case template has therefore been amended to reflect the 
new OM2 definitions to ensure consistency and prevent confusion. 

  

Page 428

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 45 of 56 

Risk management 
 
The key risks to delivery of the proposed scheme are summarised in Table 28 and 
provided in more detail in the Appendix E Risk Register. 
 

Table 28 - Key risks. 

 Risk 
Risk 
Owner 

Mitigation 

1 

Property owners do not 
wish to partake in PFR 
scheme.  Reduction in 
scheme BCR because up-
front costs shared between 
fewer properties.  Residual 
flood risk from adjacent 
terraced properties to 
those with PFR measures. 

Project 
Board 

Ongoing engagement with property 
owners to raise awareness of current 
and future flood risk and benefits of 
installation of PFR measures.  PFR 
contractor to attend engagement events 
to showcase products and answer 
residents’ questions. 

2 

Funding gap not filled, 
preventing scheme from 
going ahead especially if 
costs are higher than 
originally anticipated. 

Project 
Board 

Ongoing engagement with funding 
partners.  Property owners could be 
asked to contribute where measures for 
their property cost more money than 
allowed within funding calculations and / 
or if the funding gap cannot be filled by 
other sources. 

3 

Residents change their 
mind about the 
recommended measures 
after having discussions 
with the PFR contractor. 

Project 
Board 

Early and ongoing engagement with 
property owners. 

Signed legal agreements detailing 
specific products to confirm buy-in 
before products are ordered. 

4 
PFR measures not 
implemented correctly / not 
fully effective. 

Project 
Board 

Contractor approved on the 
Environment Agency PFR framework. 

Where possible, contractor to use 
KiteMarked PFR products, achieving or 
exceeding the British standard PAS 
1188:2014. 

Post-installation survey recommended. 

In line with MCM methodology, benefits 
of PFR have assumed 75% 
effectiveness in this appraisal so as not 
to overestimate benefits. 

Permanent / passive measures required 
as flood warning service does not cover 
all sources of flood risk. 

5 

Programme of survey and 
installation work may be 
affected by social 
distancing restrictions as a 
result of COVID-19.  

Project 
Board 

No mitigation possible at this stage as it 
will depend on the nature of restrictions 
and when these occur.  Public 
engagement has been held virtually as 
part of this OBC stage because of 
COVID-19.  

Page 429

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 46 of 56 

6 

There is a risk that 
internally flooded houses 
from 2016 are not included 
in the PFR list because 
their flood history was not 
reported or is not held on 
an RMA record. 

This could lead to 
decrease in community 
confidence and uptake for 
the PFR scheme. 

Project 
Board 

During public engagement, further 
properties were identified, the Project 
Board has reviewed this information to 
determine whether it is suitable to add 
these to the preferred option.  If 
additional properties are identified, the 
same methods will be taken. 

Further community engagement through 
the DEFRA pilot project, facilitated by 
ICARUS, will increase the reach to the 
wider community. 

 

 

Sustainability 
 
The preferred option of PFR is a low carbon-option with no significant environmental 
impacts.  Consideration of sustainability will be made by the PFR contractor in line with 
their Sustainability and Environmental Management plan. 
 
SCC are working with LBC as part of the Project Board to deliver this Caterham-on-the-
Hill PFR scheme together across SCC and LBC.  This is expected to provide 
sustainability and carbon benefits in relation to reduced travel for the PFR contractor 
during both the survey and installation phases. 
 
 

Assurance 
 
Assurance of the preferred option and decision to invest is sought via submission of 
this OBC to the Environment Agency. 
 
In parallel, SCC will be submitting the business case to SCC cabinet for approval.  TDC 
and LBC will not require cabinet approval.  Elected Members were sent a briefing note 
and invited to attend a Members Briefing on 25/06/2020.  Given the current situation 
regarding COVID-19, the Council are operating on emergency measures and the 
amended procedures for project approval have not been confirmed. At this time, TDC 
CIL has not been awarded. However, it is to be included within the CIL forward 
programme. 
 
Planning permission is not required as there are no listed buildings and Caterham-on-
the-Hill is not designated as a Conservation Area.  No licences or consents are 
required. 
 

Engagement with Stakeholders and compliance with the Equality Act 2010 
 
Residents of the 205 properties included in the scheme were sent a letter on 19/06/20 
which explained that their property has been identified as eligible for PFR.  The letter 
invited recipients to complete a no-obligation Expression of Interest (EoI) form.  This 
form was available online as well as in paper format.  A total of 83 EoI forms have been 
returned.  This equates to 40% of those eligible for inclusion in the scheme. 
 

Page 430

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 47 of 56 

The letter also invited residents to an online webinar in place of a community drop in 
session given the current situation with COVID-19.  The webinar was presented by 
representatives from SCC, LBC, Tandridge DC, the Environment Agency and the 
consultant Atkins on 14/07/20.  This enabled the scheme to be presented to the 
residents and for the residents to discuss how the scheme will be carried out and ask 
any questions. 
 
Subject to OBC approval, the 205 property owners will be invited to sign up for a 
survey undertaken by the PFR contractor.  This will identify the measures which are 
appropriate for that property, as well as provide an opportunity for residents to further 
engage and understand the scheme. 
 
During the OBC, SCC have worked closely with the Environment Agency, London 
Borough of Croydon, Tandridge DC and Thames Water, as a Project Board.  All the 
RMAs are supportive of the scheme. 
 
All engagement has met the statutory requirements of the Equality Act 2010 as follows: 

• Both an online and paper version of the EoI form were available for residents to 
use so that people without access to the internet could still respond. 

• The public engagement was undertaken as an online webinar, accessible to 
residents without the need to travel to a venue.  For those unable to join the 
webinar, the letter provided the option for residents to speak to someone on the 
Project Board directly on the phone. 

 

Evaluation  
 
Lessons learnt and project successes will be recorded at suitable stages in the project, 
concluding with a Project Evaluation Review (PER).  The PER will be used to verify 
that all objectives have been met, the intended benefits have been realised and 
lessons learnt and project successes during the project are captured and shared. 
 
It is recommended that ongoing monitoring takes place to verify the effectiveness of the 
scheme.  This could be achieved through ongoing property owner engagement, 
particularly following any flood events in the catchment. 

  

Page 431

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 48 of 56 

References 

AECOM, 2015. Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, s.l.: s.n. 

AECOM, 2016. Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, s.l.: s.n. 

Atkins Limited, 2016. Caterham-on-the-Hill Surface Water Management Plan, s.l.: s.n. 

Atkins Limited, 2018. Caterham-on-the-Hill Flood Alleviation Scheme Strategic Outline 
Case, s.l.: s.n. 

Environment Agency, 2010. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Appraisal 
Guide, s.l.: s.n. 

Environment Agency, 2016. Adapting to climate change: Advice for Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk Management Authorities, s.l.: s.n. 

Environment Agency, 2016. Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances. 
[Online]  
Available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-
allowances 
[Accessed 15 June 2020]. 

Environment Agency, 2020. Advice for flood and coastal erosion risk management. 
Discount rates, price indices and capping , s.l.: s.n. 

Flood Hazard Research Centre, 2013. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management – 
A Manual for Economic Appraisal’, otherwise referred to as ‘The Multi-Coloured 
Manual’, s.l.: s.n. 

Flood Hazard Research Centre, 2020. Flood and Coastal Risk Management: 
Handbook and Data for Economic Appraisal (Multi-Coloured Handbook and Data), s.l.: 
Middlesex University Press. 

JBA, 2017. Reigate & Banstead Borough Council, Mole Valley District Council and 
Tandridge District Council Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. [Online]  
Available at: 
https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Planning%20and%20building/Plann
ing%20strategies%20and%20policies/Local%20plan/Evidence%20base%20and%20te
chnical%20studies/Strategic-Flood-Risk-Assessment-2015.pdf 

JBA, 2018. Tandridge District Council Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment , s.l.: 
s.n. 

London Borough of Croydon, 2016. Croydon Local Plan: Strategic Policies - Partial 
Review, s.l.: s.n. 

London Borough of Croydon, 2017. Caterham Drive flood investigation report, s.l.: s.n. 

Natural England, 2017. [Online]  
Available at: http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/ 

Surrey County Council, 2016. Section 19 Flood Investigation Report Caterham-on-the-
Hill, s.l.: s.n. 

Surrey County Council, 2017. Surrey local flood risk management strategy 2017-2032, 
s.l.: s.n. 

Tandridge District Coucil, 2008. Core Strategy, s.l.: s.n. 

Tandridge District Council, 2014. Tandridge Local Plan Part 2: Detailed policies (2014 - 
2029), s.l.: s.n. 

Tandridge District Council, 2017. Local Plan 2033. [Online]  
Available at: https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Planning-and-building/Planning-strategies-
and-policies/Local-Plan-2033-emerging-planning-policies/Local-Plan-2033 

 

  

Page 432

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 49 of 56 

Appendix A: Partnership funding calculator 
  

Page 433

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 50 of 56 

Appendix B: List of reports produced 
Caterham-on-the-Hill Flood Alleviation Scheme Options report (included as Appendix C 
and includes technical detail on the option identification and appraisal process, cost 
and benefit calculations). 
 
Caterham-on-the-Hill Model Build Report (included as Appendix D and includes 
technical detail on the integrated catchment model baseline and option model runs). 
 
Risk register (included as Appendix E for the preferred option of PFR). 
 

  

Page 434

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 51 of 56 

Appendix C: Options appraisal report 
  

Page 435

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 52 of 56 

Appendix D: Model build report 
  

Page 436

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 53 of 56 

Appendix E: Risk register 
 

  

Page 437

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 1 of 56 

The risk register for the preferred option of PFR is provided below. 

Risk 

ID 

Data 

identified 

and by 

who 

Type 
Category / 

discipline 
Risk description 

In
it

ia
l 

im
p

a
c
t 

In
it

ia
l 

p
ro

b
a
b

il
it

y
 

In
it

ia
l 
ra

ti
n

g
 

Mitigation 
Risk 

owner 
Review date 

R
e
s
id

u
a
l 

im
p

a
c
t 

R
e
s
id

u
a
l 

p
ro

b
a
b

il
it

y
 

R
e
s
id

u
a
l 

ra
ti

n
g

 

Status Review comments 

1 
Mar 2020 

Atkins 
Risk 

Stakeholder 

engagement 

Property owners do not wish to 

partake in PFR scheme. 

Reduction in scheme BCR 

because up-front costs shared 

between fewer properties. 

Residual flood risk from adjacent 

terraced properties to those with 

PFR measures. 

M M M 

Ongoing engagement with property 

owners to raise awareness of 

current and future flood risk and 

benefits of installation of PFR 

measures. PFR contractor to attend 

engagement event in Autumn to 

showcase products and answer 

residents’ questions. 

Project 

Board 

Review 

uptake once 

engagement 

event has 

been held. 

M M M Pending  

2 
Mar 2020 

Atkins 
Risk Funding 

Funding gap not filled, preventing 

scheme from going ahead 

especially if costs are higher than 

originally anticipated.  

VH M H 

Ongoing engagement with funding 

partners.  Property owners could be 

asked to contribute where measures 

for their property cost more money 

than allowed within funding 

calculations and / or if the funding 

gap cannot be filled by other 

sources. 

Project 

Board 

Review 

following 

funding 

discussions 

with potential 

funders. 

H L M Pending  

3 
Mar 2020 

Atkins 
Risk 

Stakeholder 

engagement 

Residents change their mind 

about the recommended 

measures after having 

discussions with the PFR 

contractor. 

L M M 

Early and ongoing engagement with 

property owners. 

Signed legal agreements detailing 

specific products to confirm buy-in 

before products are ordered.  

Project 

Board 

Review once 

list of 

proposed 

measures 

available 

from PFR 

contractor. 

L L L Pending  

4 
Mar 2020 

Atkins 
Risk 

Technical 

performance 

PFR measures not implemented 

correctly / not fully effective. 
H M H 

Contractor approved on the 

Environment Agency PFR 

framework. 

Where possible, contractor to use 

KiteMarked PFR products, achieving 

or exceeding the British standard 

PAS 1188:2014. 

Post-installation survey 

recommended. 

In line with MCM methodology, 

benefits of PFR have assumed 75% 

effectiveness in this appraisal so as 

not to overestimate benefits. 

Permanent / passive measures 

required as flood warning service 

does not cover all sources of flood 

risk. 

Project 

Board 

Review once 

list of 

proposed 

measures 

available 

from PFR 

contractor. 

H VL L Pending  

5 
Jun 2020 

Atkins 
Risk Programme 

Programme of survey and 

installation work may be affected 

by social distancing restrictions 

as a result of COVID-19. 

M M M 

No mitigation possible at this stage 

as it will depend on the nature of 

restrictions and when these occur. 

Public engagement has been held 

virtually as part of this OBC stage 

because of COVID-19. 

Project 

Board 

Review when 

property 

surveys are 

due to 

commence. 

M M M Pending  

P
age 438

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 2 of 56 

6 

Jun 2020 

Project 

Board 

Risk 

Technical, 

Stakeholder 

and Project 

Delivery 

There is a risk that internally 

flooded houses from 2016 are 

not included in the PFR list 

because their flood history was 

not reported or is not held on an 

RMA record.  

This could lead to decrease in 

community confidence and 

uptake for the PFR scheme. 

M M M 

Project Board has assessed the 

economic viability and affordability of 

several different PFR options. The 

preferred option selected includes all 

properties within the study area with 

recorded internal flooding in 2016. If 

during public engagement, further 

properties are identified, the Project 

Board will review this information to 

determine whether it is suitable to 

add these to the preferred option. 

Project 

Board 

Review 

ongoing as 

engagement 

occurs. 

M L L Pending  

 
VH = very high, H = high, M = moderate, L = low, VL = very low. 

P
age 439

13



RMA short form business case template – Feb 2020             Page 1 of 56 

 

Page 440

13



 
 
 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MS DENISE TURNER-STEWART, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
COMMUNITIES 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

KATIE STEWART, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR 
ENVIRONMENT, TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

SUBJECT:            SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL RESILIENCE PLANNING FOR   

WINTER 2020/21 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

This report updates Cabinet on the ongoing work that Surrey County Council (SCC) and its 
services are doing to support the organisation in planning the resilience of its services for 
what is likely to be a challenging period with the resurgence of the threat from the COVID 
pandemic, the imminent end of the EU exit transition period, and the normal seasonal health 
and non-health related pressures.  There is the potential that there may be two or more of 
these risks being realised concurrently, and hence the report provides an insight as to the 
Council’s approach to planning for these risks in an integrated way.   
 
The report provides an overview of the current risks and threats to the Council’s business 
continuity, as well as an overview of the work that is being undertaken to test that business 
continuity and the model that will be used for the Council to respond to incidents arising.   
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Notes the work being undertaken by services across the Council and with partners to 
ensure the business continuity of the services provided to residents and communities 
across the county. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The Council and partners across Surrey face a challenging period over the Autumn and 

Winter period 2020/21, and the risks and threats facing the authority require services to 

ensure that they have planned for potential disruption.  This kind of organisational resilience 

requires a robust understanding of the likely threats and risks, but also effective and tested 

business continuity plans that aim to minimise the negative impacts of such disruption to 

services on residents and customers served.  In addition, it is vital that the Council has 

effective cross-Council arrangements in place to support an effective response when an 

incident arises. 

As a local authority providing critical services to communities, Surrey County Council has a 

responsibility to prepare for such threats to business continuity, as well as in its capacity as a 

Category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to contribute to multi-agency 

planning and response.    

 

Page 441

14

Item 14



 
 

DETAILS: 

 Background 

1. As a Category 1 responder, SCC is responsible for ensuring that it mitigates the 

impact of any such disruption to its services on residents and the communities it 

serves.  Under the Act, the authority is also responsible for working in multi-agency 

partnership with other Category 1 and Category 2 responders to provide a county-

wide response. This multi-agency working is delivered through the Surrey Local 

Resilience Forum (LRF).   

 

2. Over coming months, the country and county face a number of potential risks and 

threats that if realised, could disrupt the provision of services to communities, as well 

as pose risks to the community.   Whilst the Council and partners have tested their 

business continuity in the first phase of the response to the COVID 19 pandemic 

earlier this year, it is important to note that the risks set out below create a more 

complex and potentially more challenging set of conditions – particularly arising from 

the interrelationship between the various risks and the potential for concurrent 

incidents and impacts.  

Current risk picture for Surrey 

3. The current risk picture facing the county is set out below, and aligns to the 

Community Risk Register which is produced by the Surrey LRF. 

Continued COVID 19 pandemic 

4. The Government has shared a reasonable worst-case scenario which sets the 

planning assumptions for preparing to respond to the increase in cases of COVID. 

 

5.  The reasonable worst-case scenario includes:  

 

 an increase in cases in the autumn peaking early in the new year 

 NHS disruption to non Covid patients 

 a backlog of routine care 

 impacts from seasonal flu increased pressure on the health services 

Seasonal winter pressures 

6. In addition to the continued pressures arising from the COVID pandemic, there are 

the normal seasonal winter pressures for which LRF responders normally prepare 

every year.  These pressures see residents’ needs for health and social care support 

peak in the winter. The winter burden on the healthcare system is not only affected 

by increased incidence of infectious diseases, but also non-infectious conditions that 

increase in prevalence or are made worse by the winter weather, such as asthma, 

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), heart disease, myocardial infarction 

and stroke.  

 

7. In addition, across the UK, winter results in increased deaths and burden on NHS 

resources. As recently as in 2017/18, England and Wales experienced approximately 

50,000 excess winter deaths placing increased pressure on the existing services. 

 

8. Along with the above referenced risk of the resurgence of COVID 19 cases, the 

Academy of Medical Sciences has identified three further reasonable worst-case 

Page 442

14

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/71729/Surrey-LRF-Community-Risk-Register-2019.pdf


 
 

scenarios that could exacerbate pressures on the health and social care system in 

winter 2020/21, by increasing demand on usual care as well as limiting surge 

capacity.  Two of these arise as a direct result of the COVID 19 pandemic:  

 

 Disruption of the health and social care system due to reconfigurations to respond 

and reduce transmission of COVID-19. This has had knock-on effects on the ability of 

the NHS to deal with non-COVID-19 work.   

 A backlog of non-COVID-19 care that has accumulated as routine clinical care has 

been suspended during the first outbreak.   

 A possible influenza epidemic that will be additive to the challenges above.  

 

9. As a result of these potential impacts, the mass reorganisation of staff, beds and 

hospital services that took place during the first wave of COVID-19 in spring 2020 is 

unlikely to be possible at the same scale this winter due to other pressures. This will 

be particularly relevant if national priorities shift to focus on the protection of 

businesses and the economy.  

End of the EU Transition Period   

10. The end of the EU transition period presents an array of potential possibilities, 

implications and uncertainties.  

11. Recognising the impact of coronavirus on businesses’ ability to prepare and following 
the announcement in February that the UK would implement full border controls on 
imports coming into GB from the EU, the UK has taken the decision to introduce the 
new border controls in three stages up until 1 July 2021. This is a UK proposal that 
may or may not be supported by the EU.  
 

12. The reasonable worst-case scenario planning assumptions include: 

 delays on EU bound trucks of a maximum of two days that could affect traffic 
in the east of the county 

 impacts on the supply of medicines and medical supplies  

 increases in food and energy prices could affect the financially vulnerable 

 potential Adult Social Care provider failure due to increased costs for small 
providers 

 risk of protest and counter protests draining police resources  
 
Seasonal severe weather    
 

13. Every year the Council Highways service produces a cold weather plan to deal with 
and snow impacts of snow. The Surrey LRF has arrangements in place with 4x4 
groups to assist health and social care staff get around the county in bad weather. 
Surrey LRF partners reviews its adverse weather and vulnerable people plans to 
ensure they are fit for purpose.    

 
Other risks 

 
14. In addition to the above risks, the Council and LRF partners continue to review and 

keep up to date plans to respond to other risks proportionate to their likelihood and 
impact.   

 
Planning for and responding to current threats and risks 

15. The Council is working both across the organisation and with partners through the 

Surrey LRF to prepare to respond to the above risks.   

Page 443

14



 
 

 

16. Within the Council, a Corporate Resilience Group (CRG) provides strategic oversight 

to and planning for the kind of business continuity that is required for services to be 

able to mitigate the negative impact to communities arising from an incident or 

otherwise disruption to these services.  The Group brings together senior 

representatives for all services and has developed and will keep under review an 

assessment of current risks and threats.   

 

17. This Group is in the process of reviewing the business continuity plans of services 

across the Council, identifying where services may need to put in place additional 

contingency measures to ensure that the most critical services can continue to 

deliver in the event of an incident.   

 

18. A sub group of the CRG has been set up to specifically look at the interdependencies 

of services on ICT, property and other core capabilities. As part of this work IT&D are 

reviewing the organisations critical IT requirements to ensure they can continue meet 

the needs of the critical services or where additional contingencies need to be put in 

place. Property are also reviewing the work area requirements of services so that this 

can be provided in the event that one of the key buildings can’t be accessed.   

 

19. In addition, an Operations Group is in place to provide a tactical level response when 

the risks for which the CRG and services have planned actually materialise.  This 

group operated in the first phase of the Council’s response to COVID, and has been 

reviewed, ready to stand up in the event of an incident or otherwise risk to business 

continuity.   

 

20. Having reviewed the current threats and risks, the CRG is preparing services to be 

able to respond in an integrated way to the potential risks outlined in the above 

paras, given the potential for concurrent impacts from more than one risk being 

realised at any one time.   

 

21. The planning undertaken so far has highlighted several areas for further work which 

are being prioritised and already underway, set out in the below sections.  These 

specifically relate to mitigation of the following implications: 

 

- Increased demands on services: Whether a resurgence in COVID, a severe 

weather event or managing the impacts of the potential disruption arising from 

the end of the EU exit transition period, services across the Council are likely to 

experience an increase in demand to support communities impacted by these 

incidents.  This increased demand will be on top of what is a core of statutory 

responsibilities that services are already delivering to communities, and hence a 

balance will have to be struck with business as usual, transformational activity 

and delivering services to support the response with affected communities. 

- Potential shortages of staff: Both in respect of the potential for staff to be 

unavailable to work either from health-related reasons or the impact of the end of 

the EU exit transition period on non-UK EU staff choosing to relocate, it is likely 

that staffing levels in services over coming months will come under pressure.  

Similar pressures will be faced by suppliers, including the many small suppliers 

that SCC relies on to delivery adult social care and other critical services to 

communities.   

- Potential disruptions to supply chains: Along with potential for staffing 

shortages with suppliers, there is the risk both in the increased demand for 

Page 444

14



 
 

certain supply of materials such as PPE, but also risks that some supplies may 

be disrupted at the end of the EU exit transition period – particularly medical 

supplies and medicines. 

- Potential disruption to the ability to travel and for transport: Whether from 

additional Government restrictions from further lockdowns to mitigate the spread 

of COVID, or from congestion arising from the disruption that is likely to follow the 

end of the EU exit transition period, services and communities will need to be 

prepared to cope with less physical mobility.  Services will need to prepare for 

appropriate contingencies where possible, particularly where critical services 

need still be delivered face to face. 

Mitigating the potential impacts   

22. As with the county’s response to the first phase of COVID, it is vital that the Council 

works in partnership with other Category 1 and 2 responders through the LRF.  This 

joint working will ensure that we are able to support the most vulnerable in our 

communities as effectively as possible. The Strategic Coordinating Group (SCG) 

from the first phase of COVID response is still operating, and a review of 

arrangements is taking place within the LRF under the banner of the new plan, 

Operation Tarragon, which provides a framework for partners to respond to the 

above risks and implications.   

Service prioritisation and staffing resilience 

23. In order to prepare for and mitigate the effects of such potential impacts on staff 

levels and resilience, services are reviewing their capability and priorities to ensure 

that there is sufficient capacity within services to manage both business as usual and 

any increase in workload arising from having to respond to new demands arising 

from any given incident. 

 

24. The Council will be putting in place measures that allow for redeployment of staff 

across the council to support critical services as and when pressures arise.  This 

approach worked well in the response to the first phase of COVID, and therefore a 

model is in place on which the Council will build for responding to pressures over the 

short term.   

 

25. Staff are being encouraged to get flu vaccinations if eligible, and the wellbeing of staff 

is being monitored proactively by managers.  Measures such as social distancing 

and ensuring safe practices for all staff that are engaging with face to face contact, 

either with their teams or with customers and clients are being employed to ensure 

that the risk to employees’ health whilst at work is minimised as much as possible.  

New measures across all Council buildings and workspaces are in place to ensure 

that staff are able to socially distance and keep as safe as possible whilst at work.   

 

26. Further, the Council has been working with services and suppliers to ensure that 

there is the right support in place for any staff affected by the EU exit.  Services 

across Adult Social Care (ASC) have worked closely with the Council’s Emergency 

Management and Resilience Team to ensure that all providers have access to the 

information they need to understand the impact of the EU exit on their business 

continuity and also to offer them appropriate support to ensure they have 

arrangements in place so that they can continue to provide services to our vulnerable 

residents.  Previously, the Council has held EU Exit and business continuity 

Page 445

14



 
 

workshops specifically for providers and information is cascaded to them via the 

Surrey Care Association.   

 

27. Finally, it is worth also noting that the EU exit is also likely to create new 

responsibilities for the Council’s Trading Standards team.  Trading Standards is 

delivered for Surrey County Council through a team that is jointly resourced and 

managed with Buckinghamshire County Council.  The joint team is a market 

surveillance body responsible for inspecting goods that cross the national border. In 

both a ‘deal’ and ‘no deal’ scenario the UK will adopt new trading standard 

responsibilities which will have an impact on the service, including a potential 

increase in demand as traders prepare for any changes.   

 

28. In addition, there are likely to be increased demands arising from the risks of an 

increased flow of unsafe, illegal, and illicit products as legislation and regulation 

changes and border controls focus more on speed and avoiding disruption rather 

than checks for safety and compliance. Associated economic pressures also create 

market conditions for rogue traders trading malpractices to grow. Residents will face 

increased risks which will lead to increased need and demand for interventions from 

Trading Standards to protect people from harm.  These pressures are being 

assessed and will be addressed in line with the emerging national picture in respect 

of the Government’s negotiations with the EU, and the implications for what will be 

required of local resources.  

Maintaining supply chain resilience 

29. Services are reviewing their supply chains in line with the risks set out at paragraph 

20 to determine where pressures are most likely and/or will have the greatest impact 

on service delivery in the event of disruption.   

 

30. With regard to the supply of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) for staff delivering 

services to vulnerable residents in care and other customer facing settings, the 

supply of such equipment is being monitored closely through SCC procurement and 

the LRF’s PPE cell.  There is an expectation there will be an extension of the 

Government Clipper line to extend provision to more clinical settings, but there 

remains a need to maintain a local solution to protect the supply to the care 

providers. 

 

31. Critically, the LRF have procured a six-week buffer supply of PPE that will support 

services in the event of a disruption to supply chains.  Further measures will be put in 

place should the need for further such resilience become necessary. 

Traffic management planning 

32. In addition to the above, officers are working closely with national Government leads 

and neighbouring highway authorities and LRFs to ensure that Surrey is engaged in 

the traffic management planning to accommodate any disruption that may occur 

particularly at ports across the Southeast.  Specific engagement is taking place with 

Kent County Council and Essex County Council, in particular, to input to their traffic 

management plans relating to relevant ports, and to reflect those plans in SCC’s own 

contingency planning. 

Supporting our most vulnerable communities and businesses  

33. Surrey LRF partners have been working throughout this year to provide additional 

support to our most vulnerable residents. There are plans in place to increase this 

Page 446

14



 
 

support in the event of an increase in cases of Covid-19 or any local or national 

lockdown. 

 

34. Surrey LRF have several existing plans for identifying and supporting vulnerable 

residents during any severe weather events.  

 

35. In addition, the Council will continue to provide the most up to date information 

available on countywide impacts of the any disruption experienced as a result of any 

of the business continuity events identified in this report.  The Council is supporting 

and will continue to support residents, businesses and its workforce through digital 

platforms, namely a web page on the Surrey County Council website and the 

council’s Jive (intranet) pages.  

 

36. These communications include the critical provision of information relating to Brexit 

and how the county is responding to any potential disruption arising in borders in 

surrounding counties that may have a corresponding impact on both transport 

networks and supply chains into Surrey.  These communications will build on the new 

public information campaign that the Government has launched, 'the UK’s new start: 

let’s get going’.  

 

37. In addition, the Council has continued to engage directly with businesses through 

virtual meetings and working with the Local Enterprise Partnerships and the Surrey 

Chamber of Commerce to both understand the concerns of businesses in Surrey and 

provide advice and support in respect of the end of the EU exit transition period.  

CONSULTATION: 

38. Engagement with stakeholders has continued to be a key part of the Council’s 

planning process for the likely and possible impact during the winter of 2002/21. 

Through the LRF the council have been liaising with a range public bodies such as 

emergency services, health bodies, government agencies and, other local 

authorities.  

 

39. As part of wider planning, the council has been engaging with external stakeholders 

such as boroughs and districts, businesses, local enterprise partnerships, 

organisations from the voluntary, community and faith sector to understand 

implications within the respective sectors and in communities.  

 

40. Internally, the council has been engaging with officers from numerous services and 

the relevant Cabinet Members regarding the SCC organisation Resilience. 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

41. At the moment, no specific financial implications have been identified with the above 

activity.  However, it should be noted that (a) there are ongoing pressures arising 

from the Council’s response to the first phase of COVID, and (b) there may be 

pressures arising from the Council’s response to further business continuity events 

and incidents as set out in this report.  Services will be keeping resources under 

review and will highlight any financial impacts from the Council’s response as and 

when it is deployed.   

 

 

Page 447

14



 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

42. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 

the Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The 

public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 

current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 

extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 

year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term.  

 

43. Cabinet will continue to receive regular reports setting out the financial implications of 

Covid-19 and of other risks and threats, and further action will be considered as 

appropriate. 

 

44. The Council has received £53.4m Covid-19 grant funding from government towards 

the costs resulting from the Covid-19 crisis (£0.9m was used in 19/20), with £1.9m 

available.  Risks identified in this report will be mitigated and any additional costs 

resulting from this will need to be captured and funding sources established.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

45. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (“the Act”) and accompanying Regulations and 

Guidance deliver a framework for civil protection in the UK. 

Part 1 of the Act establishes a set of rules and responsibilities for those involved in 

emergency preparation and response at a local level. 

 

Surrey County Council (“SCC”) as a Category 1 responder is required to; 

I) assess the risk of an emergency occurring and use this to inform contingency 

planning; 

ii) put in place emergency plans; 

iii) put in place business continuity management arrangements; 

iv) put in place arrangements to make information available to the public about civil 

protection matters and maintain arrangements to warn, inform and advise the public 

in the event of an emergency; 

v) share information with other local responders to enhance co-ordination; 

vi) co-operate with other local responders to enhance co-ordination and efficiency 

vii) provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary organisations about 

business continuity management. 

 

Plans should also give due consideration to the welfare of responder personnel. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

46. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not needed for this report as the 

recommendations do not have any direct equality implications. However, when there 

is clarity around the terms of Brexit, any subsequent services changes will be 

accompanied by an EIA. 

 

47. Under the Equality Act 2010, race is considered a protected characteristic – this 

includes nationality. Brexit will have a disproportionate impact on EU nationals. 

Page 448

14



 
 

Therefore, as the terms of Brexit become clearer, the council will need to establish an 

understanding of the implications for affected residents and staff. 

 

48. There are equalities impacts for Covid response as there is evidence that Covid 

disproportionately impacts on BAME and older residents.  All service managers will 

undertake individual risk assessments for our most vulnerable staff including all 

BAME and previously shielding staff. Surrey LRF partners have undertaken a large 

amount of work to identify and help the most vulnerable members of our community. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

49. The CRG will continue to coordinate the Council’s business continuity over the 

coming weeks and months and will be prepared to stand up a tactical response when 

required.    

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact Officer: 

Ian Good, Head of Emergency Management 

Contact: ian.good@surreycc.gov.uk  

 

Consulted: 

SCC Corporate Resilience Group 

Chair of the Surrey Local Resilience Forum 

 

Sources/background papers: 

The Academy of Medical Sciences - Preparing for a challenging winter 2020/21 - 14 July 

2020 

Health and social care 

 Actions for adult social care providers and local authorities to prepare for 1 January 

2021 

 How healthcare providers can prepare for 1 January 2021 

Access to public services 

 Access to social housing and homelessness assistance for EEA and Swiss citizens 

in England 

 Citizens’ rights - EU citizens in the UK and UK nationals in the EU 

The EU Settlement Scheme 

 The Local authority introduction to the EU Settlement Scheme includes a number of 

useful resources for local councils, including:  

 ID document scanner locations 

 Information about the Assisted Digital Service  

 Translations of communications and guidance 

Page 449

14

mailto:ian.good@surreycc.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/actions-for-adult-social-care-providers-to-prepare-for-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/actions-for-adult-social-care-providers-to-prepare-for-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-healthcare-providers-can-prepare-for-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/eea-nationals-in-the-uk-access-to-social-housing-and-homelessness-assistance-in-a-no-deal-scenario
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/eea-nationals-in-the-uk-access-to-social-housing-and-homelessness-assistance-in-a-no-deal-scenario
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/policy-paper-on-citizens-rights-in-the-event-of-a-no-deal-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-community-leaders-toolkit/toolkit-introduction-how-to-use-the-local-authorities-toolkit-in-your-community-or-network
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-id-document-scanner-locations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-assisted-digital-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/eu-settlement-scheme-translated-information-materials


 
 

 A list of organisations funded to provide support to vulnerable and at-risk EU 

citizens applying to the EU Settlement Scheme 

 A postcode checker to help identify support provided by these organisations 

locally 

Community engagement 

 Community engagement: guidance for local authorities 

Regulatory services 

 Import of products, animals, food and feed system (IPAFFS) 

 UK product safety and metrology changes from 1 January 2021 

 UK product safety and metrology from 1 January 2021 

 Food labelling changes from 1 January 2021 

 Health marks on meat, fish and dairy products 

 Changes to health and identification marks from 1 January 2021 

 EU trade mark protection and comparable UK trade marks from 1 January 2021 

 Find a professional to certify export health certificates 

 Training for environmental health staff, port health officers and trading standards 

officers on food sampling 

 Training for environmental health staff, port health officers and trading standards 

officers on imported food controls 

Internal operations 

Council employees 

 Workplace rights from 1 January 2021 

 EU Settlement Scheme: employers toolkit 

 Right to work checks on EU citizens 

Data 

 Using personal data during and after the transition period 

Procurement 

 Public-sector procurement under the EU Withdrawal Agreement 

 Public-sector procurement from 31 January 2020 

Waste 

 Importing and exporting waste from 1 January 2021 

Contingency planning 

 Local resilience forums: contact details 

 Local authorities’ preparedness for civil emergencies 

Page 450

14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-community-support-for-vulnerable-citizens
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-community-support-for-vulnerable-citizens
https://www.gov.uk/help-eu-settlement-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/help-eu-settlement-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-engagement-and-eu-exit-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/import-of-products-animals-food-and-feed-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-product-safety-and-metrology-guidance-in-a-no-deal-scenario
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/uk-product-safety-and-metrology-in-a-no-deal-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/food-labelling-changes-after-brexit
https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/prepare-your-business-for-the-uk-leaving-the-eu
https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/brexit-changes-to-health-and-identification-marks
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-trade-mark-law-if-the-uk-leaves-the-eu-without-a-deal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/find-a-professional-to-certify-export-health-certificates
https://samplingtraining.food.gov.uk/#home
https://samplingtraining.food.gov.uk/#home
https://importedfoodtraining.food.gov.uk/#home
https://importedfoodtraining.food.gov.uk/#home
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/workplace-rights-from-1-january-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-employer-toolkit
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/employing-eu-eea-and-swiss-citizens-and-their-family-members-after-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-eu-exit-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/public-sector-procurement-under-the-eu-withdrawal-agreement
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/public-sector-procurement-after-a-no-deal-brexit
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/importing-and-exporting-waste-if-theres-no-brexit-deal
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-resilience-forums-contact-details
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authorities-preparedness-for-civil-emergencies


 
 

 Guide to local authority mutual aid 

 Central government concept of operations – chapter 5 

 Business continuity advice 

Funding 

 The Stronger Towns Fund 

 EU funding 

Statutory instruments which have been laid and identified as having impacts on local 

authorities are listed on a separate page: EU (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020 secondary 

legislation laid with impacts on local government. A full list of Brexit related secondary 

legislation can be found on the government legislation site. Lawyers in Local Government 

(LLG) have produced guidance for councils on EU exit Secondary Legislation 

 

 

 

 

Page 451

14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-mutual-aid-a-short-guide
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/192425/CONOPs_incl_revised_chapter_24_Apr-13.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/61029/Chapter-6-Business-Continuity-Management_amends_04042012.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/stronger-towns-fund
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-prepare-if-the-uk-leaves-the-eu-with-no-deal#applying-for-eu-funded-programmes
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/eu-exit-secondary-legislation-laid-with-impacts-on-local-government
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/eu-exit-secondary-legislation-laid-with-impacts-on-local-government
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
https://www.lawyersinlocalgovernment.org.uk/news_articles/llg-publishes-guidance-on-eu-exit-statutory-instruments-with-local-government-impact


This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

CABINET 

DATE:  27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MRS SINEAD MOONEY, CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULTS AND 

PUBLIC HEALTH 

LEAD OFFICER:     SIMON WHITE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

SUBJECT:  SURREY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

The Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB) is a statutory multi-agency Board with 
responsibilities set out in the Care Act 2014. 

The Board is chaired by an independent chair, Simon Turpitt. 

There is a statutory duty for all Safeguarding Adult Board’s to publish an annual report. 

To support the transparency of the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board, the Annual 
Report 2019/2020 is presented to Cabinet (Annex 1). 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that: 

1. Cabinet considers and notes the attached Surrey Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 

for 2019/2020. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

This recommendation demonstrates that the Council is fulfilling its statutory requirement 

under the Care Act 2014 in having established a Safeguarding Adults Board in its area. 

It will support the SSAB to be transparent by providing information to the public on the 

performance of the Board and its strategic plan. 

DETAILS: 

1. Surrey has had a Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) in place for over a decade. The 
Board has been statutory since the implementation of the Care Act in April 2015. The 
primary duty of the SAB is to ensure that the main statutory agencies work together to 
improve practice which protects and promotes the safety of adults at risk of abuse and 
neglect in Surrey. 

2. Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board has presented its Annual Report annually to 
Cabinet for the past 10 years.   

3. It is a statutory requirement under the Care Act 2014 for the Annual Report to be sent 
to the Chief Executive and Leader of the local authority, the Police and Crime 

Page 453

15

Item 15



 
 

Commissioner, the Chief Constable, Healthwatch, and the Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

4. The Board would like to support elected Members, as community leaders, to have a 
good understanding of the range of abuse and neglect issues that can affect adults 
and of the importance of balancing safeguarding with empowerment, as required by 
the Care Act (Section 14.193 of the statutory guidance). It is anticipated the Annual 
Report will increase that understanding. 

Care Act 2014 

5. The Care Act states each local authority must establish a Safeguarding Adults Board 
for its area. The objective of a SAB is to help and protect adults with care and 
support needs in its area from abuse and neglect. The way in which a SAB must 
seek to achieve its objective is by co-ordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of 
what each of its members does. A SAB may do anything which appears to it to be 
necessary or desirable for the purpose of achieving its objective. 

6. Section 42(1) of the Care Act describes the adults that must be protected by 
safeguarding as:  

 an adult in the Local Authority area (whether or not ordinarily resident there)  

 who has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting 
any of those needs) and,  

 is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and  

 as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the 
abuse or neglect or the risk of it. 

CONSULTATION: 

7. The Annual Report is a description of the Board’s activities and challenges faced 

during the year. As a multi-agency report all members of the Board were consulted 

on the content and invited to contribute.  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

8. There are no implications within this report.  

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

9. The SAB budget in 2019/20 was £288,500.  The budget has been increased to 
£298,500 in 2020/21 as an additional partner organisation has agreed to make a 
contribution. A pooled budget is managed by Surrey County Council with 
contributions from the County Council, Police, NHS organisations and District & 
Borough Councils. This arrangement ensures partner agencies have greater 
responsibility for the functioning of the Board.  

10. Expenditure of the Board includes costs for the Independent Chair, support staff, 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews (previously called Serious Case Reviews), training, 
conferences, awareness raising, etc. If the Board’s costs exceed the budget in a 
given year, then partners would be asked to make additional contributions in line with 
their funding shares, although this is very unlikely to happen based on past 
experience. If there is an underspend in a given year, the Council would retain the 

Page 454

15



 
 

funding in the pooled budget and carry this forward with partner contributions then 
reduced accordingly in the next financial year. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

11. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 

the Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The 

public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 

current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 

extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 

year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. 

12. There are no significant financial implications arising from this report.  The pooled 

budget arrangement for the operation of the Board is a good example of effective 

joint working across Surrey and given constrained public sector funding it will be 

important that all partners continue to contribute their agreed funding shares.  The 

Section 151 Office can confirm that Surrey County Council’s funding share is planned 

for within the Council’s Adults Social Care budget. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

13. The production and publication of the Annual Report is a statutory duty under the 

Care Act 2014. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

14. The publication of the report will have a positive impact on residents with different 

protected characteristics by making the activities of the Board more transparent. This 

is particularly important as safeguarding affects many people with protected 

characteristics. 

15. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required for this Report. 

SAFEGUARDING RESPONSIBILITIES FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS 
IMPLICATIONS 

16. The Annual Report will support the safeguarding of vulnerable adults as it provides 

information on the performance of this activity in Surrey and the strategic plan. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

17. The Board’s Annual Report will be: 
 

 Published on the Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board website 

 Circulated with the Surrey SAB newsletter 

 Distributed to: 
o Board members for them to cascade within their own agencies 
o The Police and Crime Commissioner 
o The Chief Constable 
o Healthwatch Surrey 

 Presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board by the SAB Independent Chair 
 

Page 455

15



 
 

 

Contact Officer: 

Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board Manager – Sarah McDermott 

Contact: surreysafeguarding.adultsboard@surreycc.gov.uk 

Consulted: 

As a multi-agency report all members of the Board were consulted on the content and invited 

to contribute.  

Annexes: 

Annex 1: Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019/2020 

Sources/background papers: 

 Care Act 2014 

 Care and Support Statutory Guidance Issued under the Care Act 2014 by the Department 
of Health 

 Association of Directors of Social Services: Safeguarding Adults: Advice and Guidance to 
Directors of Adult Social Services, March 2013 

 Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board Strategic and Annual Plan 

 

 

 

Page 456

15



www.surreysab.org.uk

Annual Report 2019-20

Surrey Safeguarding 

Adults Board

Page 457

15



Message from the Chair

This year has been dominated in the final months

by Covid 19 and its impact on all of us. In Surrey

all agencies responded quickly and positively in

very difficult times and helped us keep

Safeguarding Adults at the front of all agendas.

In the year we saw a continual increase in

Safeguarding Enquiries which is positive as it

shows better awareness and stronger reporting

systems and data that can drive effective

initiatives.

The response and quality of enquiries and section 42 reports has

improved however there is still some way to go. The Board is seeing

positive trends in data that gives us assurance that we are measuring

the right things and focusses on getting it right first time but that this

is still a journey of improvement.

Our cooperation with the Children’s Partnership has continued to

develop and our cooperation on areas of joint initiatives should

improve assurance for families and adults with care and support

needs.

We are seeing a continual rise in referrals for Domestic Abuse and are

making sure that those affected receive the right help and support at

the earliest opportunity.

We have continued improving our ways of sharing learning across

Surrey with more effective and regular briefing documents especially

for National Safeguarding Adult Reviews.

The Healthwatch report on user experience of Safeguarding process

has become a learning document and drove new actions to our plans

with initiatives around keeping families better informed.

1
Page 458

15



Message from the Chair

2

There were Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) started in the year, but

they did not reach conclusion by the end of this report.

We reorganised our senior subcommittee of the Board, it is becoming

the Adult Safeguarding Executive with senior leaders from Adult Social

Care, Health, Police, District and Boroughs and the PCC’s office and

reporting directly to the Board. This has proved invaluable in the COVID

times making sure that Safeguarding was kept in strong focus during

challenging times, allowing us to respond to those adults with care and

support needs quickly.

We anticipate as lock down ends, we will see a rise in activity due to

more face to face meetings happening.

It is clear during times of crisis, like the COVID situation, that people with

care and support needs who are in more vulnerable situations, do not

get overlooked and become more vulnerable. As a Board we need to

make sure that adequate resources are focussed on ensuring this does

not happen.

Simon Turpitt

Independent Chair

Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board

Page 459

15



Our Story

Safeguarding Adults Boards (SABs) were established under

The Care Act 2014

The Objective of the SAB is to help and protect adults in its
area by co-ordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of what
each of its members does.

The three core duties on SABs are to:

1. Publish a Strategic Plan

2. Publish an annual report

3. Undertake Safeguarding Adult Reviews

An SAB may do anything which appears to it to be necessary 
or desirable for the purpose of achieving its objective

Work collaboratively with other boards to ensure consistent

messages and practice. This will include working in

partnership to produce policies, campaigns and training

courses that reflect the risks posed to adults with care and

support needs

Broaden engagement with the voluntary sector to help get

the right messages to the right people

Consider new ways of engaging with partners in order to

provide clear expectations in adult safeguarding practice

3
Page 460

15



Our Story
Be transparent – the SAB leads a learning culture where

best practice is identified this will be shared and

recommended, where concerns are identified these will be

communicated appropriately

Help improve the quality of safeguarding concerns by

supporting agencies to consider their referral processes and

by working with the Local Authority to develop a feedback

loop.

Provide greater guidance to adults with care and support

needs, their families and carers, on the safeguarding

process so they know what to expect and how they can be

involved.

Be transparent – the SAB leads a learning culture where best

practice is identified this will be shared and recommended,

where concerns are identified these will be communicated

appropriately

Provide greater clarity to professionals on how to involve

adults with care and support needs in developing and

agreeing their desired outcomes.

4
Page 461

15



Partnership

The Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is

a strategic partnership group made up

of senior staff from each member

agency.

The Board is facilitated by an

Independent Chair and supported by a

small team.

The partnership is made up of:

5
Page 462

15



How the Board works

Full Board

Adult 
Safeguarding 

Executive

Delivery

Health 

Safeguarding 
Adults Review

Scrutiny

Full Board

• The Surrey SAB meet fours time a year, consisting of multi-agency statutory and 

non-statutory partners as well as representatives and voluntary organisations.

• The SAB works in accordance with the Care Act 2014 to agree on strategic 

safeguarding work.

• Provides direction to all subgroups.

Adult Safeguarding Executive 

(previously Business Management 

Group) January 2020

• Meet four times a year, made up of 

key partners 

• Drives the work of the SAB between 

meetings

• Discusses “emerging” issues or “stuck” 

issues

Safeguarding Adults Review Group

• Considers cases for a Safeguarding 

Adults Review

• Manages the reviews once they are 

commissioned

• Leads on sharing the lessons from 

reviews

Health Group

• Defines the strategic direction for 

planning and delivery of health 

services to adults at risk.

• to provide a forum for discussion of 

key issues for Surrey health services

Delivery Group

• Oversees the safeguarding training of 

the Board 

• Requests and receives QA data from 

agencies (sends to Scrutiny group)

• Oversees the multi-agency policy and 

procedures
Scrutiny Group

• Scrutinises the Quality Assurance data from partners Identifies areas of best 

practice and/or concern

• Raises questions on data received before being submitted back to the 

delivery group 6
Page 463

15



Adults in Surrey
This shows the primary 

support need for adults for 

whom the safeguarding 

concern relates to. The 

majority of adults who are 

the subject of a 

safeguarding concern have 

a need for physical 

support.

Physical 
Support

45%

Not Known 

22%

Learning 
Disability 

11%

Mental Health

10%

Memory & 
Cognitive 

8%

Social Support 
3%

Sensory 
Support 1%

Other 20.55%

Social Care 
Staff 

19.63%

Health Care 
Worker 

13.25%

Other Family 
Member 
11.33%

Not Known 
8.45%

Other 
Vulnerable 

Adult 7.10%

Blank

5.63%

Partner 

4.25%

Neighbour/ 
Friend 3.85%

Other 
Professional 

3.21%

Stranger 2.71%

Volunteer/ 
Befriender 

0.04% This shows the analysis 

of where the risk 

originates. 

This data is taken from 

the safeguarding 

concern when it is 

initially reported to the 

MASH. 

36.09% of risk is 

from people in a 

position of trust 

(healthcare workers,

social care staff and 

other professionals). 

19.43% is from a family 

member, partner or 

neighbour a decrease 

from 23.9% last year.      

7
Page 464

15



Safeguarding Training
Since 2018, the Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board has worked with

partners to finalise the Contributing to a S42 enquiry 1-day course,

and also to develop a 2-day train the trainer course.

The first trainer the trainer course took place in January 2020, from

here two multi-agency trainers would facilitate future Contributing

to a s42 Enquiry courses on behalf of the SAB. It was estimated

that the additional commitment from partners would be

approximately once a year. Due to the onset of COVID-19 the first

contributing to a s42 enquiry course (1-day) was cancelled in

March.

In 2019 the SAB implemented the Adult Safeguarding Essentials

across its District and Borough Councils and Action for Carers.

Following successful feedback this was embedded into the SAB

training programme and rolled out across the wider Surrey Adults

audience.

Courses are bookable via the SSAB website. Additional courses will

follow.

13 Adult Safeguarding 

Essential course took 

place 1 Contributing to 

a s42 Train the 

trainer session.

(6 attendees)

271 attendees 

during 

2019/20

National 

Safeguarding 

Week – Hate 

Crime training 

was a huge 

success.

8
Page 465

15



Other work in 2019-20

Priority: Prevent Abuse and Neglect

During 2019 the SAB continued to raise awareness of

by providing multi- agency training including the

Essentials Course

Surrey Skills Academy also offered training accessible to 

care providers and 84 people attended the equivalent of 

the SABs Essentials course.

Training was provided on Hate Crime during

Safeguarding Awareness week and this was well

attended.

During July 2019 a campaign ran on buses in Surrey to

encourage members of the public to visit the Surrey

SAB website.

The SAB promoted all relevant leaflets and guides on

the SAB website and utilised it’s Twitter account to

highlight relevant issues.

For National Safeguarding week 2019 the SAB linked up

with Borough and District council, Community

providers and health colleagues provided printed

versions of the leaflets A&E departments and health

centres.

The quarterly newsletter continued to be the widely

distributed in the county.

9
Page 466

15



Other work in 2019-20

Priority: Improve the management and response to 

safeguarding concerns and enquiries:

The SAB, with the help of partner agencies brought

together train the trainer sessions (2 day course) and

also a one day course: Contributing to a S42 Enquiry.

This will better help those agencies who have been

asked to contribute to the local authorities S42

enquiry report.

There were 6 people across various agencies trained in

the Train the Trainer training. This will provide for

different agencies to train not only train their own staff

but also provide multi-agency training for the Board.

The SAB and CCG presented at a Care Home forum to

discuss the reporting of a Safeguarding Concern

Healthwatch Surrey were commissioned to undertake

a project looking at peoples experience of

Safeguarding Adults in Surrey. Details of the project

can be seen further in this report.

10
Page 467

15



Other work in 2019-20
Priority: Learn lessons and shape future practice

The SAB focus on learning from SARs, both national

SARs and those that occur closer to Surrey, by holding a

workshop at each of the SAB board meetings. The SAB

members consider 5 questions with a 15 minute

feedback session. This provides agencies with an

opportunity to consider what learning can be taken back

to their own agency as well as any actions.

A workshop was established to discuss a SAR with 

relevance to Surrey.  An action plan was developed and 

will be taken forward in 2020/21.

The SAB continued to add relevant documents to the 

Learning Library that is accessible on the SAB website. 

11
Page 468

15



Safeguarding Adults 

Reviews (SARs)

The Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) subgroup received eight

SAR notifications.

Of the eight referrals received:

Three have progressed to a full SAR or a joint DHR/SAR.

Two did not meet the SAR criteria and closed.

Three sent in error to the SAB and should have been sent

as a Safeguarding concern to the LA from care providers.

One submitted before LA quality assurance complete.

The group continues to oversee one Safeguarding Adult Review

and one NHSE review from 2018/19.

The referrals sent in error highlighted the need to strengthen

the SAR referral form and the purpose of the SAR procedure.

A thematic Safeguarding Serious Incident review was

completed and six month review completed.

12
Page 469

15



Healthwatch Surrey Report

13

Healthwatch Surrey was commissioned to undertake a project

looking at peoples experience of Safeguarding in Surrey.

A summary of the findings are below

The SAB will be developing an action plan based on these

finding to be taken forward in 2020/21. The full report is

available on the SAB website. Healthwatch Surrey - Experience

of Safeguarding in Surrey report

Page 470

15

https://www.surreysab.org.uk/about-us/performance-and-quality-monitoring/


What Abuse is happening?
This information comes from safeguarding enquiries and the 

types of abuse, neglect & self-neglect identified by the referrer 

and Surrey county council adult social care

Neglect and 

acts of omission
Physical

Emotional/ 

Psychological

Financial/ 

Material

Organisational

Domestic 

Abuse
Self-neglect

Sexual

Modern 

Slavery

Discriminatory & 

Sexual Exploitation

The numbers will add up to more than 100% as each case can 

have multiple forms of abuse present. 

14

35%

14%

7%

4%

0%

19%

12%

6%

3%

0%

Page 471

15



What the data says about 

our response to abuse 
- Adult Social Care

1,196,236
Estimated population of Surrey *

10,458
The number of safeguarding concerns raised, an increase of 51% on the 

previous year.

72%
The percentage of safeguarding concerns received converted into a 

Safeguarding enquiry as defined in The Care Act 2014

5,490
The number of Safeguarding enquiries completed under S42 Care Act 2014, 

an increase of 3,377.

35%
The percentage of safeguarding concerns received  with the most 

common reason was due to neglect or acts of omission.

4%The percentage where the risk remained after the safeguarding 

enquiry work.

67%
The percentage where the risk to the adult was reduced 

following competition if the safeguarding enquiry work.

19%
The percentage where the risk was removed following 

competition of the safeguarding enquiry work.

86%
The percentage where individuals or their 

representative were asked about their outcomes

96%The percentage where the individual or their 

representative said outcomes were fully or partially met 

15* Office of National Statistics Mid-2019 estimates

Page 472

15



What the data says about 

our response to abuse -
Surrey Police 

1,198
The number of Adult Abuse (AA) incidents recorded. A decrease of 766 

recorded incidents in the previous year.  This is potentially due to the training 

that was provided to Surrey Police to Care Act definition of adult at risk.

0.4%The percentage Adult Abuse equates to, of the total crimes recorded in Surrey

384 The number of Adult Abuse flags for Psychological/ Emotional abuse.

339The number of Adult Abuse flags for Physical abuse (50.8%)

305 The number of Adult Abuse flags for Financial abuse.

116
The number of Adult Abuse flags for Sexual abuse.

151 The number of Adult Abuse flags Neglect.

21The number of Adult Abuse flags Discriminatory abuse.

11 The number of Adult Abuse flags for Institutional abuse.

62.3%Female Victims of reported Adult Abuse.

27.2%

The percentage of cases recorded for those over 

75years of age.  A significant increase from 11% last 

year.

16
Page 473

15



Agency Updates
All agencies on the SAB were asked to input to this report and the 

following were received:

Buckinghamshire and Surrey Trading Standards:

1,568 scam victim interventions

£143,292 estimated future savings from scam interventions

59,889 nuisance calls blocked

11,447 scam calls blocked

11,801 Friends Against Scams trained and registered

94 Scam Champions trained and registered

£143,292 estimated future savings from scam interventions

80 Scam Marshalls Trained

Surrey Fire and Rescue Service have been accredited as a 

Friends Against Scams Organisation 

The Chair of Surrey Local Resilience Forum and Head of 

Surrey Community & Protection Group has become a 

SCAMbassador. 

17
Page 474

15



Agency Updates
South East Coast Ambulance (SECAmb) joint with Adult 

Social Care (ASC)

Since August 2019 Surrey Adult Social Care (ASC)

and South East Coast Ambulance (SECAmb) have

been working together on improving the way

referrals are sent to ASC. This began as Surrey ASC

made a challenge to SECAmb as the numbers of

safeguarding referrals SECAmb were reporting did

not match the number ASC were receiving. It was

agreed that SECAmb would begin to further

investigate why this could be taking place and it

was established this was due to the way that

SECAmb were processing referrals.

Key staff within the agencies met to discuss what

could SECAmb do to support Surrey ASC in their

work. It was agreed that SECAmb work with lots of

local authorities all with their own policies and

procedures and therefore it would need to be a

simple process.

The process started with SECAmb looking at the

Surrey thresholds and deciding on some quick wins.

These quick wins were decided on SECAmb aligning

their drop box options within their referral system

Datix with the Surrey safeguarding thresholds. This

would then enable the SECAmb coordinators to

select a level based on the information listed in the

referral when sending the referral onto the MASH.

18
Page 475

15



Agency Updates

SECAmb began labelling referrals with levels of

need that are matched to the Surrey level of need

document. This ensures when they reach Surrey

ASC they are triaged effectively. Prioritising

patients with true safeguarding needs and ensuring

they are receiving timely support from the Multi

Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) workers with the

aim of improving patient safety by ensuring that

these patients are triaged in accordance with need

not in the order that they arrive into the inbox.

This work has been ongoing since September 2019

and it has positive wins for both teams. The

coordinators within SECAmb have had no issues

with adding levels to referrals, it adds minimal time

to the referral process. ASC have had no issues with

the level SECAmb have put on the referrals.

Since the pilot began in September 2019 SECAmb

have sent in 702 total referrals

The positives for this project are that it is Care Act

compliant which has meant no changes for

SECAmb front line staff on submitting referrals,

but it is ensuring we get this Surrey residents who

have been in contact with the Ambulance Service

are receiving timely care through their journey.

19
Page 476

15



Agency Updates

Surrey Wide Clinical Commissioning Group 

Safeguarding Team - GP training and engagement

The Surrey Wide CCG Safeguarding team have developed 6 

webinars providing the same update content and hours as the

previous full-day events. 

These are supported and funded by the GP tutors. Topics with 

an adult safeguarding focus include DA, Modern day slavery, 

MCA/DoLS, update safeguarding in care homes, general and 

Covid-19 specific “Hot Topics. 

Webinars include Q+A interactive session and are recorded 

for access after the live event.

Care/ Nursing Homes
Have built up good communication via monthly meetings with

safeguarding leads from Surrey County Council, locality teams -

Transition team Central Learning Disability & Autism Team.

Work has been undertaken to map care homes that have not

reported safeguarding concerns in the past in order to provide

targeted support if required.

Are part of the care home forums for Surrey heartlands – East

and Guildford and Waverley also Frimley and North Hants.

Are part of the Joint bi weekly CQC and Local Authority

updates.

Are members of the registered managers meeting chaired by

Skills for care.

Are A member of the Learning Disability Homes Forum – Task

and Finish Group.

Multi-agency working with CQC, Local Authority and Quality

Assurance managers to triangulate information has been

establish. Information is captured and recorded on a data

collection system to identify trends and themes, this is then fed

back into the SSAB Adult Health Sub Group, SSAB delivery

group, The Care Home Forums and Primary Care training.
20

Page 477

15



Agency Updates
Domestic Abuse

Engagement in DA executive and Health Interventions

meeting

IDVA project plan- for an IDVA to be in all acute A&E

settings, starting with ASP and RSHT.

For IRIS to be implemented Surrey wide following

IDVA project.

DA multi agency training- Has been updated and is

now a two day course. Day 2 will be facilitated by

ESDAs and will be specific to DASH and MARAC.

Domestic Abuse workforce policy published on the

Surrey Heartlands CCG website

Royal Surrey County Hospital Foundation Trust (RSFT)

Trust wide launch of new Safeguarding Adults referral forms

and paper free safeguarding processes across the acute and

community

Developed new MCA Assessment of Capacity and Best

Interests Assessment proforma’s.

Facilitated a full day RSFT Safeguarding Conference with

external guests and hosted a full day Mental Health

Conference with partners.

Developed a robust new Safeguarding Adults reporting

mechanism including newer types of abuse to allow the

Trust to accurately identify trends and themes allowing for

early escalation of concerns about specific areas or

providers.

Updated the Trust Safeguarding, Domestic Abuse and

Prevent Policies as well as showcasing the RSFT Dysphagia

Policy as best practice on the SSAB Website

Worked as part of the task and finish group representing the

acute hospitals to develop the Missing from Care

Memorandum of Understanding with Surrey Police and

Surrey and Boarders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. 21
Page 478

15



Agency Updates

Ashford and St Peter’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

An acknowledgement from the SSAB that the high

number of s42 referrals being seen within the Trust,

which could be identified in a negative way, was due to

good awareness of the requirements under the Care Act

and reflected excellent partnership arrangements

between the named nurse for adults and the hospital

based adult social care team.

Multi-agency and multi-disciplinary audits taking place

across both child and adult safeguarding teams adding

value to findings and ensuring that responsibilities for

safeguarding are acknowledged and understood by

departments outside of the team.

Surrey Care Association

The Registered Managers Forum held saw of 30

managers attend. A CQC Inspection manager opened

the session and invited questions from the audience.

The Spring Conference had speakers in relation to

Learning from S42 enquires and Serious Case Reviews

as well as the proposed Liberty of Protection

Safeguards. It was an opportunity for networking and

hearing about new developments.

The Domiciliary Care Sector Business meeting looked

at updates in regards to safeguarding.

22
Page 479

15



Agency Updates
Surrey County Council – Adults Social Care
In 2019/20, Surrey County Council Adult Social Care have

supported the work of the Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board in a

number of areas:

We have worked with our colleagues in Surrey Police and the

South East Coast Ambulance Service so that they are working to

a Levels of Need framework. This helps them to ensure referrals

of adult safeguarding concerns go to our Multi-Agency

Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and other issues go to our Contact

Centre. This has allowed our MASH to improve its work in

responding to adult safeguarding concerns.

We have reviewed our practice to ensure we are making decisions

about when an adult safeguarding concern should lead to an

adult safeguarding enquiry, to make sure it is in line with new

guidance on this from the Local Government Association and the

Association of Directors of Adult Services.

We revised the training for our staff on adult safeguarding and

brought delivery of that training in-house. The new training is

designed to deliver the Surrey Safeguarding Adults Enquiry

Method set out in the Board’s 2018 revision to its policy and

procedures, and to implement the learning from Safeguarding

Adults Reviews in Surrey and elsewhere.

Improved our arrangements for auditing our adult safeguarding

work, so we can make sure it is meeting our quality expectations

and we can spot any gaps and act on them.

We reshaped our services working with people who have care

and support needs because of mental health needs or a learning

disability. One of the aims of this is to improve the adult

safeguarding work we do with those people.

We worked with Healthwatch Surrey and the Safeguarding Adults

Board to support the research into people’s experiences of our

adult safeguarding work
23

Page 480

15



Agency Updates

24

District and Borough Councils

During 2019/20 Districts and Boroughs have continued

to work together to improve knowledge and practice in

relation to Adult Safeguarding. The District and

Boroughs Safeguarding Leads group have engaged

with the Adults Safeguarding Board to improve the

Quality Assurance information provided to the Board

and improve internal processes for recording and

reporting on Safeguarding enquiries and actions.

The Leads meeting has helped to bring synergy to the

work across District and Boroughs in relation to

Children’s and Adult safeguarding practice. All Districts

and Boroughs participated in Adult Safeguarding week

and promoted good practice on their websites and via

social media.

During 2019/20 across Surrey the District and

Boroughs provided Essential Adult Safeguarding

training to key members of staff across departments to

ensure up to date knowledge and learning.

Page 481

15



Pooled Budget

The Surrey SAB was adequately funded by partner agencies

during 2019/2020. Financial contributions totalled £288,555.

Contributions of funds from partners to ensure that the SAB

can continue to operate, shows a significant commitment on

the part of partners to work together and jointly take

responsibility for decision making and running the

Safeguarding Adults Board. In addition to contributing

financially, SAB partners contributed ‘in kind’ providing staff

time, venues and trainers as did other agencies on the SAB.

Partner Agency Amount 19/20 % split

Surrey County Council £117,450.00 40.70%

Clinical Commissioning Groups £117,450.00 40.70%

Surrey Police £29,000.00 10.05%

NHS Trusts £13,050.00 4.52%

District & Borough Councils £11,605.00 4.02%

TOTAL £288,555.00 100%

Breakdown of partners contributions.

The income from training during 2019/20 was £950.

During 2019/20 the Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board

spent £170,012. The majority of costs were spent on

staffing, followed by the costs of conducting

Safeguarding Adults Reviews.

25
Page 482

15



Pooled Budget

The funds in the pooled partnership budget were not spent (£119,493)

have been carried forward to the next year and agencies that contribute

to the budget will therefore be paying a proportionately smaller

amount in 2020/21.

26

INCOME

From Partners £288,555
From training/ events 

£950

TOTAL

£289,505

Training Costs
£5,100

Safeguarding 
Adults 

Reviews
£39,778

Website/ 
Publicity 
Materials 

£7,683

Independent 
Audits

£14,323

Total
Expenditure

£170,012

Independent 
Chair

£18,097

Staffing Costs 
(including 
costs and 

travel)
£89,947

Page 483

15



Journey for 2020-21
The priorities identified in the three-year strategic plan (2019-22) for 

the Surrey SAB are to:

➢ Prevent abuse and neglect,

➢ Improve the management and response to safeguarding concerns 

and enquiries, and

➢ Learn lessons and shape future practice.

As detailed above, over the last year the Surrey SAB has made 

significant progress in establishing a sound platform from which a 

number of programmes of work can now take place to meet the Board’s 

priorities going forward.

To prevent Abuse and Neglect

➢ Work collaboratively with 

other boards to ensure 

consistent messages and 

practice. This will include 

working in partnership to 

produce policies, campaigns 

and training courses that 

reflect the risks posed to 

adults with care and support 

needs

➢ Broaden engagement with 

the voluntary sector to help 

get the right messages to the 

right people 

➢ Consider new ways of 

engaging with partners in 

order to provide clear 

expectations in adult 

safeguarding practice.

➢ Drive a refresher initiative on 

the practical use of Mental 

Capacity Act with a view to 

stronger assurance around 

use of the act.

To improve the management 

and response to safeguarding 

concerns and enquiries

➢ Help improve the quality of 

safeguarding concerns by 

supporting agencies to 

consider their referral 

processes and by working 

with the Local Authority to 

develop a feedback loop.

➢ Provide greater guidance to 

adults with care and support 

needs, their families and 

carers, on the safeguarding 

process so they know what to 

expect and how they can be 

involved.

➢ Provide greater clarity to 

professionals on how to 

involve adults with care and 

support needs in developing 

and agreeing their desired 

outcomes.

27
Page 484

15



Acknowledgements

Surrey Safeguarding Adults Board wish to thank the  
Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board for providing a 

template for the report format.

28
Page 485

15



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

   
 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MRS NATALIE BRAMHALL, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

KATIE STEWART- EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR 
ENVIRONMENT, TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

SUBJECT: SURREY WASTE LOCAL PLAN: ADOPTION  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

The waste planning authority, Surrey County Council is responsible for determining 
waste related planning applications and for maintaining the Waste Local Plan.  All 
planning applications for waste development should be determined in accordance 
with the Waste Local Plan which sets out how and where waste should be managed. 

The current Waste Local Plan, known as the Surrey Waste Plan (SWP), was 
adopted by the County Council in 2008 and is now out of date, with policies that now 
no longer reflect current planning and environmental policy, and is to be replaced by 
a new plan, known as the ‘Surrey Waste Local Plan’ (the Plan). 

The Plan seeks to ensure that enough land is available to accommodate the facilities 
needed to handle the equivalent amount of all waste produced in Surrey. It seeks to 
ensure waste is managed in the most sustainable way in accordance with national 
policy, including the waste hierarchy. The policies in the Plan aim to ensure that new 
facilities are well located and do not result in unacceptable impacts on amenity and 
the environment. 

Similar to the existing SWP, the Plan prioritises development on land outside the 
Green Belt. However, given that around 70% of the County is designated as Green 
Belt, as a ‘safety net’, it also identifies five sites within the Green Belt in case more 
suitable sites cannot be developed. One of these allocated sites at Trumps Farm is 
specifically and solely intended to facilitate the development of a household waste 
Materials Recovery Facility by the Waste Disposal Authority. 

The identification of areas or sites as suitable for waste development does not mean 
development will come forward or be permitted in these locations. This will depend 
on waste developments being promoted by the waste industry or by the County 
Council in its role as the Waste Disposal Authority, and these proposals being 
acceptable for planning permission to be granted. 

During its preparation, the Plan has been subject to several stages of public 
consultation, sustainability appraisal, and assessment and independent examination 
by the Planning Inspectorate on behalf of the Secretary of State. The Plan can only 
be formally adopted by the Council if the examination finds it to be sound and 
prepared in accordance with relevant plan making legislation. 

The Planning Inspectorate have now issued the report of the Inspector who 
examined the Plan and this states that, subject to modifications agreed by Cabinet 
on 17 December 2019, the Plan is sound and legally compliant, so the Council is 
now able to adopt the Plan. 

Page 487

16

Item 16



  
 

   
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Notes the report of the Inspector who examined the Surrey Waste Local Plan 
as set out in Annex 1. 

2. Recommends that Council adopts the Surrey Waste Local Plan, including 
the Policies Map, as set out in Annexes 2 and 3, at its meeting on 8 
December 2020. 

3. Approves for publication alongside the adopted Surrey Waste Local Plan the 
required post-adoption environmental statement, as set out in Annex 4. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The Surrey Waste Local Plan contains updated planning policy affecting the 
management of waste in Surrey and, with modifications, has been found sound and 
legally compliant following examination by an independent Planning Inspector. 
Council’s adoption of the Surrey Waste Local Plan (as modified) will mean that it 
forms part of the formal Development Plan for Surrey and will be used when making 
decisions on planning applications for related development in Surrey. 

 

DETAILS: 

1. The new Surrey Waste Local Plan will be the main waste planning document for 

the county and will guide development associated with the management of 

waste. Once adopted, the Plan will form part of the Development Plan for Surrey 

and will be used in decision making on planning applications for waste 

development.  

2. When work commenced on the Plan, the original intention was that it would 

remain in place until 2033. During the evolution of the Plan, however, the 

approach has changed from one of separate waste and minerals plans to a joint 

approach, reflecting the synergies between the two. The intention now is to move 

swiftly to produce a joint Surrey Minerals and Waste Plan, with an Issues and 

Options consultation in the Summer of 2021, taking account of the Climate 

Change Strategy and any recently adopted Borough and District Local Plans. The 

Plan will therefore be replaced substantially sooner than originally anticipated. 

3. All planning in England is policy-led, and as such, decisions on planning 

applications have to be made in accordance with the development plan. Where 

there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies are out of date, 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) instructs that planning 

permission should be granted except where the NPPF provides a clear reason for 

refusal or the adverse impacts of doing so would ‘significantly and demonstrably’ 

outweigh the benefits. The Plan currently carries some weight in decision making 

as it has been found sound by an independent Inspector and is in the process of 

being adopted. If the Plan is not adopted, the County Council will be in a position 

where speculative waste applications will be difficult to resist and the justification 

for any enforcement action may become compromised by virtue of the age of the 

policies in the SWP. 

Page 488

16



  
 

   
 

4. Cabinet is reminded that the Plan covers the management of all types of waste 
including that generated by households and businesses, by the construction and 
demolition sector, and by the wastewater management sector. Its scope is 
therefore broader than the County Council’s role as Waste Disposal Authority.  

5. The Plan is comprised of two parts:  

 Part 1 Policies which includes a vision and strategic objectives, a 
spatial strategy and 16 policies (See Annex 2). 

 Part 2 Areas of search and allocated sites. Areas of search are 
industrial estates where waste facilities might be acceptable. Allocated 
sites are sites which have been specifically allocated for waste 
management use under Policy 11a or 11b (See Annex 3). 

6. The Council must also maintain an adopted Policies Map which illustrates 
geographically the application of policies in the adopted plan. In this case the 
Policies Map comprises a set of plans within the Plan documents including the 
maps in Section 7 of Part 1 and the maps identifying the Industrial Land Areas of 
Search (industrial estates) and allocated sites in Part 2. 

7. The Plan contains eight strategic objectives:  

Objective 1 To manage the equivalent amount of waste produced in Surrey - 
known as net self –sufficiency. 

Objective 2 To encourage sustainable waste management in line with national 
targets 

Objective 3 To see waste disposal by landfill as a last resort 

Objective 4 To safeguard and make best use of existing facilities  

Objective 5 To direct new facilities to the most suitable locations 

Objective 6 To encourage innovation and best practice in order to protect 
communities and the environment 

Objective 7 To keep road movements to minimum practicable levels and 
support sustainable transport options 

Objective 8 To work closely with our partners  

8. The Plan’s policies implement these strategic objectives, detailing how and where 
different types of waste management could take place and identifying the issues 
that development needs to address. The objectives are consistent with the Waste 
Disposal Authority’s strategy for managing household waste. 

9. The Plan’s spatial strategy is based on these objectives and seeks to safeguard 
existing capacity, encourage appropriate extensions and improvements to 
existing facilities and provide for the development of new facilities in suitable 
locations.  

Industrial Land Areas of Search (ILAS) 

10. The Plan’s spatial strategy seeks to direct additional waste management capacity 
to land that has been previously developed outside the Green Belt and on sites 
that are well connected to producers of waste e.g. homes and businesses. 
However due to the difficulty of finding suitable land, most of the allocated waste 

Page 489

16



  
 

   
 

sites are in the Green Belt (see below). Only one of the allocated sites is located 
outside the Green Belt (at Slyfield industrial estate). 

11. Given that all but one of the allocated sites are in the Green Belt, in order to 
provide certainty that there would be enough land in Surrey for waste related 
uses, it was necessary to identify suitable industrial estates where waste uses 
could be located in principle in the event that the allocated Green belt sites could 
not be delivered. This resulted in the twenty-two industrial estates identified in the 
Plan and referred to as Industrial Land Areas of Search (ILAS). 

12. These estates are already identified, or allocated, in district and borough local 
plans and most are also identified in the current SWP. They are all in excess of 
five hectares in extent and considered by the district and borough planning 
authorities as potentially suitable for a range of storage and industrial uses (B2 
and B8). In many instances waste uses are no different in character to other 
employment uses. Indeed, waste uses already exist side by side with other uses 
within many of these industrial estates. 

13. However, it is important to note that ILAS are ‘areas of search’ and not allocated 
sites. The difference is that only a very small part of the total area will ever be 
needed for waste uses. In total the ILAS comprise some 350 hectares. By way of 
comparison, the Plan identifies a total need for only approximately 6 hectares of 
land for new waste related development on all sites over the lifetime of the new 
Plan. These are very limited land requirements for waste uses when compared to 
the scale of the ILAS. 

14. Industrial estates are largely fully occupied, so waste development could only 
potentially come forward if a particular site or unit was vacated. In addition, the 
plots available in ILAS are likely to be small scale, often with constraints, and are 
unlikely to be able support the extent of new strategic waste infrastructure 
development required to meet the identified need. Nevertheless, the Inspector 
agreed that the ILAS represent an important positive component of the Plan’s 
provision which could accommodate a range of waste uses (for a summary of the 
Inspector’s conclusions see Annex 5). 

15. The Plan states that waste facilities could also potentially be located on any 
suitable land identified for employment uses or industrial and storage purposes 
by borough and district councils. The ILAS identified are larger areas where 
suitable sites are most likely to be found. 

Allocated sites 

16. Since suitable land outside the Green Belt cannot be wholly relied upon to deliver 
the additional waste management capacity required over the Plan period it has 
been necessary to allocate sites within the Green Belt. Five sites have been 
allocated within the Green Belt. These allocated sites ensure that there is 
sufficient land allocated to meet the identified need should otherwise suitable 
land not come forward outside the Green Belt. Any suitable sites outside the 
Green Belt that do come forward during the Plan period would have preference 
over those allocated within the Green Belt. Indeed, as part of any planning 
application for development on a site in the Green Belt, it would be necessary to 
demonstrate that suitable alternative land outside the Green Belt was not 
available. 

Page 490

16



  
 

   
 

17. As shown in Table 1 below, five of the sites identified in the Plan were previously 
identified in the Surrey Waste Plan 2008. It is unlikely that all the allocated sites 
now identified would be developed within the Plan period. 

Table 1 – Sites to be allocated in the Surrey Waste Local Plan 

Site 
Site in 
2008 SWP 

Green 
Belt 

Former Weylands STW, Hersham Yes Yes 

Land NE of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford Yes No 

Randalls Road, Leatherhead Yes Yes 

Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor Yes Yes 

Land at Lambs Business Park, South Godstone No Yes 

Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Longcross Yes Yes 

18. The allocated site at Lambs Business Park near South Godstone is currently 
within the Green Belt. That Green Belt status is under review as part of the 
submitted Tandridge Local Plan. The Tandridge Local Plan is currently 
undergoing examination and the inspector’s report is awaited, although it is 
delayed as a result of uncertainty about necessary improvements to the A22 and 
junction 6 of the M25. Once this report is received by Tandridge District Council, 
the Green Belt status of the allocated Lambs Business Park site will be clarified. 

19. The site adjacent to Trumps Farm near Longcross is allocated specifically for the 
development of a facility to process dry mixed recyclables collected from 
households. The need for such a facility has been identified with reference to the 
Surrey Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. For the other five allocated 
sites, no specific type of waste management facility is referenced in the Plan, and 
therefore these sites could be developed to provide a range of waste 
management recovery, recycling or other treatment facilities, subject to planning 
permission. The Plan does not allocate any sites for additional landfill capacity. 

20. The Inspector recommended that an additional key development issue should be 
included in respect of the former Weylands STW site. Following representations 
from Elmbridge Borough Council and residents, any proposal for waste 
development will now need to include measures to prevent HGVs accessing the 
site via Rydens Road and Walton Park. 

21. For a summary of the Inspector’s conclusions regarding the ILAS and identified 
sites see Annex 5. 

Protecting communities and the environment 

22. Policies in the Plan require that any planning application for waste development 
will be subject to rigorous scrutiny to ensure that a scheme would not have any 
significant adverse impact on communities or the environment. This includes 
impacts on amenity, local air quality, landscape and transport. In many cases 
proposed waste developments will also require formal Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) as required by the EIA regulations.  

Page 491

16



  
 

   
 

23. It follows that the identification of a site as an ILAS and or the allocation of a site 
in the Plan does not mean that any proposal for waste related development in 
that location would automatically be granted planning permission. Part 2 of the 
SWLP provides details of particular matters relating to specific areas and sites 
that would have to be addressed as part of any planning application alongside 
the requirements of other relevant policies in the Plan.  

Types of waste uses 

24. Waste management can take place in a number of ways and at different scales. 
The Plan does not specify what type of facility should be located at which site, 
with the exception of Trumps Farm which is allocated solely for a dry mixed 
recyclable facility. All applicants for planning permission will need to demonstrate 
that their specific proposals are suitable for the site in question. The Planning 
Authority will still be able to refuse applications for planning permission if there is 
clear evidence to suggest that impacts associated with proposals are unlikely to 
be satisfactorily dealt with. As set out in the objectives of the Plan as described in 
Paragraph 7, the Plan seeks to promote forms of treatment that are higher up the 
waste hierarchy. In other words, it seeks to promote recycling over energy 
recovery and to limit disposal to landfill. 

25. Typically thermal treatment attracts the greatest level of concern from local 
communities. Thermal treatment is a form of energy recovery that may or may 
not involve the use of incineration technology; for instance, the Council’s Eco 
Park in Shepperton is being constructed to use gasification rather than 
incineration. The Plan is very clear that energy recovery is only acceptable where 
waste cannot otherwise be recycled. Hence, an up to date assessment of the 
need for energy recovery facilities would always be required at the planning 
application stage. The expectation is that proposals for energy recovery facilities 
will be limited and, where they are proposed, will need to meet the strictest of 
criteria to protect communities and the environment. No sites have been 
allocated or identified in the plan specifically for thermal treatment. 

The Examination process and Plan adoption 

26. During its preparation the Plan has been subject to a comprehensive process of 
technical scrutiny and public consultation and has been amended accordingly. 
Following approval by Cabinet in December 2018, the Plan was submitted to the 
Secretary of State for independent examination in April 2019 and public hearings 
took place from 17 to 26 September 2019 before an independent planning 
inspector.  

27. On 11 May 2020, the Council received the report of the Inspector (See Annex 1) 
and this confirms that, subject to Main Modifications, the submitted Surrey Waste 
Local Plan is ‘sound’ and legally compliant. In accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) a ‘sound’ local plan is one that is: 

a) Positively prepared – provides a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet 
the area’s objectively assessed need for development; 

b) Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence; 

c) Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint 
working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather 
than deferred, as evidenced by a statement of common ground; and, 

Page 492

16



  
 

   
 

d) Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF and NPPW. 

28. Main Modifications to the Plan are a response to the Inspector’s scrutiny of the 
Plan’s policy wording during the examination process. The proposed Main 
Modifications were agreed by Cabinet at its meeting on 17 December 2019 and 
subsequently published for representations between 13 January and 23 February 
2020. 156 representations were received, and these were forwarded to the 
Inspector for her consideration together with a summary. The final Main 
Modifications are detailed in the Inspector’s Report and are incorporated in the 
final version of the Plan to be adopted at Annexes 2 & 3. 

29. Compared to the plan submitted in April 2019, the Main Modifications do not alter 
the objectives or intentions of policy or change the sites proposed for allocation. 
They can be summarised as follows: 

 The provision of improved information about the environmental context, key 
constraints and mitigation required, particularly for allocated sites and ILAS; 

 Improved clarity of policies and supporting text, to support effective delivery 
and address internal inconsistencies and ambiguities; 

 The amendment of policies and supporting text to ensure consistency with 
national policy; 

 The amendment of Policy 10, to ensure that it appropriately reflects the 
spatial strategy of the Plan; 

 Improved reference within the Plan to other mechanisms important to 
securing the effective implementation of its policies and proposals; and 

 The amendment of several identified monitoring triggers, to ensure robust 
and effective monitoring of the implementation of the Plan. 

30. In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012, having received a report confirming the soundness and legality 
of the Plan, the Council may now adopt the Plan subject to it accepting the Main 
Modifications. 

31. Some minor non-material changes to the Plan such as formatting and correction 
of minor grammatical errors (known as ‘Additional Modifications’) were identified 
as necessary and also published for information alongside the Main Modifications 
in January. Further such minor and non-material changes may also be needed 
and would be agreed by the Planning Group Manager under delegated powers. 

Strategic Environmental Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat 
Regulations Assessment 

32. During its preparation, the Plan has been subject to sustainability appraisal (SA) 
and strategic environmental assessment (SEA), the findings of which are 
reported in the published Environmental & Sustainability Report (ESR). The SA 
and SEA provide an assessment of the impacts on the environment and 
communities likely to arise from the implementation of the Plan. The SA and SEA 
processes include a comparative assessment of the proposed Plan and 
reasonable alternatives. The findings and conclusions of the SA and SEA were 
taken into account as the Plan was prepared including at the Main Modifications 
stage. 

Page 493

16



  
 

   
 

33. The full version of the revised ESR report (dated January 2020) for the Plan, 
including assessment of the Main Modifications, is available on the council’s 
website: https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-
and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/swp-consultation-proposed-main-modifications. 
A Non-Technical Summary of the ESR will also be made available. 

34. The final stage in the SEA process is the publication of a post-adoption 
environmental statement alongside the adopted version of the Plan. The post-
adoption environmental statement explains how the outcomes of the SEA (and 
SA) process have been taken into account in the preparation of the Plan. A copy 
of the draft post-adoption environmental statement is provided at Annex 4 for 
Cabinet approval. 

35. During its preparation the Plan was also subject to Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA), which considered the potential effects of waste development 
on sites of European importance for nature conservation located within Surrey 
and within 10 kilometres of the county boundary. The Plan takes account of the 
recommendations of the HRA report and provides specific guidance on the 
issues that will need to be addressed at the planning application stage for 
individual allocated sites and industrial land areas of search (ILAS). 

CONSULTATION: 

36. During its preparation the Plan has been subject to a comprehensive process of 
public consultation. Most recently the Main Modifications, including changes to 
the Policies Map, and the revised Environmental & Sustainability Report were 
published and consulted on from 13 January to 23 February 2020. 

37. The County Council has engaged constructively and on an ongoing basis with a 
wide range of other bodies during the preparation of the Plan. These include the 
district and boroughs in Surrey and other waste planning authorities. A number of 
Statements of Common Ground have been signed with these organisations 
including one with all the eleven Surrey districts and boroughs. The Inspector 
concluded that this engagement clearly helped to shape and influence the Plan. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

38. It is important that Surrey County Council ensures that its waste local plan for 
Surrey remains effective and compliant with national legislation and planning and 
other relevant policy. Failure to do so could lead to successful challenges to 
decisions on relevant planning applications, whereby they are over-turned and 
costs are potentially awarded against the County Council. Furthermore, all 
planning authorities are now statutorily required to review their planning policy 
every five years. 

39. We are managing this risk by replacing the Surrey Waste Plan 2008 with the 
new Surrey Waste Local Plan to ensure that planning policy concerning the 
management of waste in Surrey remains up-to-date and compliant with national 
legislation and policy and takes account of the most recent local context affecting 
the management of waste. 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

40. The cost of reviewing the Plan over the financial years 2016/17 to 2020/21 was 
£0.273m, which has been met from existing council budgets. 

Page 494

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/swp-consultation-proposed-main-modifications
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/swp-consultation-proposed-main-modifications


  
 

   
 

 

SECTION 51 OFFICER COMMENTARY 

41. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to 
improve the Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is 
uncertain. The public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not 
fully funded in the current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this 
and no clarity on the extent to which central and local funding sources might be 
affected from next year onward, our working assumption is that financial 
resources will continue to be constrained, as they have for the majority of the 
past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to consider issues 
of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable provision of 
services in the medium term. The Section 151 Officer supports the adoption of 
the Surrey Waste Local Plan which will contribute to the efficient management of 
waste in Surrey, and the preparation of which has been funded within the 
Council’s existing Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The future development of 
any sites for waste management purposes by the County Council would be 
considered separately, including the associated financial implications. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

42. As the WPA for Surrey SCC is required by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) (PCPA) to prepare development plan 
documents and other documents that provide the framework for delivering waste 
planning policy in Surrey. In accordance with the PCPA a document is a local 
development document (development plan document) only in so far as it or any 
part of it is adopted by resolution of the local planning authority as a local 
development document; 

43. During its preparation, the Plan has been the subject of Strategic Environmental 
Assessment in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programme Regulations 2004, and an Appropriate Assessment in accordance 
with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 

44. The resulting Environmental & Sustainability Report and the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment report were published for consultation alongside the 
Plan and taken into consideration when making decisions with regard to the 
Plan. These reports are available as background papers. 

45. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires the Inspector to consider whether the 
Council has complied with any duty imposed on it in respect of the Plan’s 
preparation. In addition, the Plan must meet the criteria for soundness in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

46. The Inspector concluded at paragraph 260 of her report that with the 
recommended main modifications set out in the Appendix to her report the 
Surrey Waste Local Plan satisfies the requirements of s20(5) of the 2004 Act 
and meets the criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

47. In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 having received a report confirming the soundness and legality 
of the Plan, the Council may now adopt the plan. 

 

Page 495

16



  
 

   
 

 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

48. An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been prepared under the Equalities 
Act 2010. We have reviewed our EqIA at each stage of the plan making process 
to ensure that we capture and address any equalities issues that have arisen. 
The EqIA was revisited to review any implications of the Main Modifications and 
no further issues were found.  

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

49. The potential implications for the following council priorities and policy areas 
have been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of 
the issues is set out in detail below. 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Corporate 
Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

No significant implications arising from this report 

Safeguarding 
responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and 
adults  

No significant implications arising from this report 

Public Health 
 

The Plan has reviewed the potential implications for health 
through a Health Impact Assessment and an Air Quality Impact 
Assessment. As a result there are unlikely to be significant 
impacts to public health as a result of the policies and sites in 
the Plan. In particular the Plan has policies which seek to 
protect human health. 

Climate change 

In accordance with legislation, the Plan includes policies 
intended to ensure that the development of waste management 
capacity in Surrey takes into account the need to reduce 
emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases (such 
as methane), and to mitigate and adapt to the impacts of 
climate change. The potential contribution to climate change of 
carbon emissions arising from the waste related development of 
land allocated or otherwise identified in the Plan was assessed 
as part of the SEA/SA process, as was the need for new 
development to incorporate measures to render those facilities 
resilient to the effects of a changing climate (e.g. increased 
flood risk, etc.)  

Carbon emissions See above 

 
 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT 

50. If Cabinet agrees with the recommendation in this report, the Plan will go forward 
to full Council for adoption on 8 December 2020. 

51. If the Plan is adopted by the Council a notice to this effect will be published and 
all stakeholders on the consultation database will be informed. Following 
adoption there is a six-week period for legal challenges. To be successful any 

Page 496

16



  
 

   
 

such challenge would need to demonstrate that the Plan has not been prepared 
in accordance with the relevant legislation. 

52. On adoption, the policies of the Plan will be applied by the County Council to its 
decisions on planning applications concerning waste management. Some of the 
policies will require implementation by the district and borough councils in 
Surrey. These policies require proposals for any type of development over a 
certain size to incorporate measures for the sustainable management of waste. 
There are also policies which safeguard existing waste management facilities 
from non-waste development that might hinder their operation. District and 
borough councils will be notified of the adoption of the Plan and be advised how 
to implement those policies of the Plan that affect development for which they 
are responsible. 

53. Implementation of the Plan will be monitored to assess whether the Plan’s 
policies are being implemented effectively such that its objectives are being met. 
The results of the monitoring will be published annually in the Surrey Annual 
Monitoring Report.  

54. It is the intention that the Plan will be superseded in short order by the joint 
Surrey Minerals and Waste Plan. Cabinet will see the updated Minerals and 
Waste Development Scheme with the programme for the development of the joint 
plan next month. In the event that progress on this is delayed, the Plan will be 
subject to a statutory formal review in five years’ time and the results of this will 
be reported to Cabinet. 

 

Contact Officer: 
 
Caroline Smith, Planning Group Manager 

Contact: 020 8541 9975 

 
Consulted: 
 
Public Consultation on Issues and Options 2 Sept – 25 Nov 2016 
Public Consultation on Draft Plan 1 Nov 2017 – 7 February 2018 
Public Consultation on Submission Plan 14 January 2019 – 10 March 2019 
Public Consultation on Main Modifications 13 January – 23 February 2020 
 
Annexes: 
 
Annex 1: Report on the Examination of the Surrey Waste Local Plan, 11 May 2020  
Annex 2: Surrey Waste Local Plan – Part 1 Policies 
Annex 3: Surrey Waste Local Plan – Part 2 Sites and Areas of Search 
Annex 4: Surrey Waste Local Plan – Post-Adoption Environmental Statement 
Annex 5: Summary of the Inspector’s conclusions re Sites and Areas of Search 
 
Sources/background papers: 
 
Cabinet Paper 17 December 2019- Item 8 
Cabinet Paper 18 December 2018- Item 10 
Report on the Examination of the Surrey Waste Local Plan, 11 May 2020 Schedule 
of Main Modifications – available here 
Environmental and Sustainability Report, January 2020 – available here  

Page 497

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/226547/Inspectors-Report-Appendix-Schedule-of-Main-Modifications.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/swp-consultation-proposed-main-modifications


  
 

   
 

Environmental and Sustainability Report, Non-Technical Summary. January 2020 – 
available here 
Consultation on Proposed Main Modifications – summary of representations and 
county council responses – available here 
 
In addition to the above:  
 

 All the documents submitted to the Secretary of State in April 2019 as part of 

the independent examination of the Plan can be found on the council’s 

website in the Submission Library. 

 All examination documents can be found on the Examination Library 

webpage. 

 All documents associated with the consultation on the Main Modifications are 

available on the Proposed Main Modifications webpage. 

Page 498

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/215216/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-NTS-Final-09-01-20.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/215216/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-NTS-Final-09-01-20.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/226223/2020-05-11-Rep-Summary-and-CouncilResponse-MMs-Consultation-For-Publishing.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-submission-library
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-examination-library
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/swp-consultation-proposed-main-modifications


 
 Annex 1 

 
 
 
 

Report to Surrey County Council  

by Anne Napier BA(Hons) MRTPI MIEMA CEnv 
 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State   

Date: 11 May 2020 

  

 
 

 

 
 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

(as amended) 

Section 20 

 

 

Report on the Examination of the 

Surrey Waste Local Plan 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Plan was submitted for examination on 12 April 2019 

The examination hearings were held between 17 and 26 September 2019 

 

File Ref: PINS/B3600/429/13 

Page 499

16



 
 

2 
 

Annex 1 
 

Abbreviations used in this report 

 
AA Appropriate Assessment 
AMR Annual Monitoring Report 

AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
AQMA Air Quality Management Area 

ARJDPD Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan Document 2013 
CD&E Construction, Demolition and Excavation 
C&I Commercial and Industrial 

DtC Duty to Co-operate 
DMR Dry Mixed Recycling 

EfW Energy from Waste 
EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 

EqIA Equality Impact Assessment 
ESR Environmental & Sustainability Report 
GB Metropolitan Green Belt 

ha Hectares 
HGV Heavy Goods Vehicle 

HIA Health Impact Assessment 
HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 
ILAS Industrial Land Areas of Search 

LACW Local Authority Collected Waste 
LDS Local Development Scheme 

LP Local Plan 
MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
MM Main Modification 

MRF Materials Recycling Facility 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

NPPW National Planning Policy for Waste 2014 
PPG Planning Practice Guidance 
SA Sustainability Appraisal 

SANG Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
SCI Statement of Community Involvement 

SEWPAG South East Waste Planning Advisory Group 
SIER Site Identification and Evaluation Report 
SJMWMS Surrey Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

SJWP Surrey Joint Waste Partnership 
SMP Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 

SOCG Statement(s) of Common Ground 
SWP Surrey Waste Plan 2008 
tpa Tonnes per annum 

WCA Waste Collection Authority 
WDA Waste Disposal Authority 

WFD Waste Framework Directive 
WNA Waste Needs Assessment 

WPA Waste Planning Authority 
 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 500

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

3 
 

Non-Technical Summary 

 
This report concludes that the Surrey Waste Local Plan provides an appropriate 

basis for the planning of the County, provided that a number of main modifications 
[MMs] are made to it.  Surrey County Council has specifically requested that I 
recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to be adopted. 

 
The MMs all concern matters that were discussed at the examination hearings.  

Following the hearings, the Council prepared schedules of the proposed 
modifications and carried out sustainability appraisal of them.  The MMs were 
subject to public consultation over a six-week period.  In some cases, I have 

amended their detailed wording.  I have recommended their inclusion in the Plan 
after considering all the representations made in response to consultation on them. 

 
The Main Modifications can be summarised as follows: 

 The provision of improved information about the environmental context, 

known key constraints and mitigation required for allocated sites, industrial 
land areas of search and non-allocated development proposals, particularly 

regarding potential impacts on designated European sites and local 
communities; 

 Improved clarity in policies and supporting text, to support the effective 

delivery of development and address internal inconsistencies and 
ambiguities within the Plan; 

 The amendment of policies and supporting text to ensure consistency with 
national policy, including in relation to development within the Metropolitan 
Green Belt, the assessment of highway impacts, flood risk and biodiversity; 

 The amendment of Policy 10, to ensure that it appropriately reflects the 
spatial strategy of the Plan and its approach to the development within the 

Metropolitan Green Belt; 
 Improved reference within the Plan to other mechanisms important to 

securing the effective implementation of its policies and proposals, such as 
the Council’s local list for validation; and 

 The amendment of several identified monitoring triggers, to ensure robust 

and effective monitoring of the implementation of the Plan. 
 

  

Page 501

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

4 
 

Introduction 

1. This report contains my assessment of the Surrey Waste Local Plan (the Plan) 

in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) (the Act).  It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has 
complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then considers whether the Plan is 

sound and whether it is compliant with the legal requirements.  The National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) (paragraph 35) makes it clear that in 

order to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, 
effective and consistent with national policy.  

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 
planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The 
Surrey Waste Local Plan, Submission Plan submitted in April 2019 is the basis 

for my examination.  It is the same document as was published for 
consultation in January 2019.   

Main Modifications 

3. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested that I 
should recommend any main modifications [MMs] necessary to rectify matters 

that make the Plan unsound and/or not legally compliant and thus incapable of 
being adopted.  My report explains why the recommended MMs, all of which 

relate to matters that were discussed at the examination hearings, are 
necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM1, 
MM2 etc, and are set out in full in the Appendix. 

4. Following the examination hearings, the Council prepared a schedule of 
proposed MMs and carried out sustainability appraisal of them.  The 

implications for Habitat Regulation Assessment were also considered.  The MM 
schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks. I have taken 
account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this 

report and, in this light, I have made some amendments to the detailed 
wording of the main modifications where these are necessary for consistency 

or clarity.  None of the amendments significantly alters the content of the 
modifications as published for consultation or undermines the participatory 
processes and sustainability appraisal that has been undertaken.  Where 

necessary I have highlighted these amendments in the report. 

Policies Map    

5. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 
geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan. 
When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to 

provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies 
map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan. In this 

case, the submission policies map comprises the set of plans identified as the 
Policies Map and the Industrial Land Areas of Search (ILAS) and allocated site 
maps as set out in Part 1 and Part 2 of the Plan. 

6. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document 
and so I do not have the power to recommend main modifications to it. 

However, a number of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies require further 
corresponding changes to be made to the policies map. In addition, the 

Page 502

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

5 
 

geographic illustration of facilities on the submission policies map does not 

include existing major disposal and recovery installation and changes to the 
policies map are needed to ensure that the relevant policies are effective.  

7. These further changes to the policies map were published for consultation 

alongside the MMs as Proposed Modifications to the Polices Map.  

8. When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give 

effect to the Plan’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted 
policies map to include all the changes proposed in the Proposed Modifications 
to the Polices Map and the further changes published alongside the MMs, 

incorporating any necessary amendments identified in this report. 

 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  

9. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council 
complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the Plan’s 

preparation. 

10. It is clear from the evidence provided, including the Duty to Cooperate 
Evidence of Engagement (DtC) Statement, that the Council has engaged 

constructively with relevant bodies prescribed in section 110 of the Localism 
Act 2011, together with other organisations.  As part of this engagement 

process, the Council has agreed Statements of Common Ground (SOCG) with 
a range of organisations.  These include the district and borough planning 
authorities within Surrey, the South Downs National Park Authority, the 

borough planning authorities from north London, other minerals and waste 
planning authorities that have strategic waste movements that involve Surrey, 

as well as with Natural England.   

11. The DtC Statement also demonstrates that the Council actively engaged with 
other bodies, such as Historic England, the Greater London Authority, 

Transport for London, Thames Water, Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) Management Board and the Environment Agency, in the 

preparation of the Plan.  The Council is also a member of the Surrey Joint 
Waste Partnership (SJWP), which is made up of the Council and the districts 
and boroughs within the county.  The SJWP produced the Surrey Joint 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy (SJMWMS) in 2015, which has clearly 
informed the preparation of the Plan’s proposals and policies. 

12. In addition, the Council is a member of the South East Waste Planning 
Advisory Group (SEWPAG) and has signed a Memorandum of Understanding 
as part of SEWPAG, which seeks to coordinate the planned provision of waste 

management facilities within the South East of England and ensure that the 
approach to waste planning within the South East is consistent between the 

different authorities involved.  SEWPAG has produced a draft joint position 
statement on inert landfill and a joint position statement on non-hazardous 
landfill, which set out the common data and planning position for these 

matters in the South East of England.  It is clear from the evidence provided 
that these statements and the Council’s membership of SEWPAG have also 

informed the Plan preparation process. 

Page 503

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

6 
 

13. The Plan submissions demonstrate that the Council recognises that the 

management of waste is inherently a strategic issue that has a significant 
impact on all districts and boroughs within the county and other local planning 
authorities across the wider South East of England.  The extensive 

engagement undertaken, including the wide range of SOCG, demonstrate that 
the Council has worked effectively with others on a range of matters, including 

biodiversity, flood risk, waste movements, landfill, safeguarding, waste from 
London and the potential expansion of Heathrow airport.   

14. This engagement has clearly helped to shape and influence the Plan, to 

address issues relating to waste management, such as the overall approach, 
spatial strategy, and the capacity, distribution and location of waste 

management facilities, including in relation to Green Belt.  The SOCG also 
identifies areas where disagreement exists, and the actions being taken to 

resolve these.  For example, the Council’s report on the Management of 
Impacts on Human Communities Arising from Waste Management was 
produced in response to concerns raised by districts and boroughs within the 

county. 

15. I am satisfied that where necessary the Council has engaged constructively, 

actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plan and that the 
duty to co-operate has therefore been met. 

 

Assessment of Soundness 

Background  

16. The current Surrey Waste Plan 2008 (SWP) forms part of the suite of 
development plan documents for the area.  In addition to the documents that 

relate to each of the 11 districts and boroughs within Surrey, the SWP forms 
one of several county-wide documents that also make up the development 
plan.  These include the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 (SMP) and the Aggregates 

Recycling Joint Development Plan Document 2013 (ARJDPD). 

17. Having regard to other policy being developed, including other local plans, 

minerals and waste plans from other authorities, and changes to national 
planning policy, the Council as waste planning authority (WPA) identified a 
need to review and update the SWP.  The Plan would cover the period 2019-

2033 and sets out the policies of the SWP that would be superseded on 
adoption. 

Main Issues 

18. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the 

discussions that took place at the examination hearings, I have identified eight 
main issues upon which the legal compliance and soundness of this plan 
depends.  This report deals with these main issues.  It does not respond to 

every point or issue raised by representors.  Nor does it refer to every policy, 
policy criterion or allocation in the Plan.   

Page 504

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

7 
 

Issue 1 – Whether the Plan would be justified and consistent with national 

planning policy and other elements of the development plan, and would 
meet other legal requirements  

19. The Plan is formed of two parts, with Part 1 including the strategic objectives, 

spatial strategy and policies.  Part 1 also includes a thorough consideration of 
the spatial and policy context for the Plan, which considers the relationship of 

the Plan with, for example, the Waste Framework Directive, the Landfill 
Directive, the EU Circular Economy Action Plan, the NPPF, the National 
Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW), the Waste Management Plan for England, 

and the Resources and Waste Strategy.  The Plan inherently demonstrates, 
therefore, that regard has been had to the national waste policy context and, 

subject to the modifications identified below, I am satisfied that, overall, it is 
consistent with national planning policy in this regard. 

20. Part 2 of the Plan outlines the purpose of identifying sites and areas of search, 
outlines the assessment work undertaken and identifies the issues to be 
addressed at application stage, with details of the proposed site allocations 

and areas of search. This overall structure represents a logical and effective 
approach to addressing the various issues identified regarding the future 

management of waste within the Plan area.  Subject to the modifications 
identified below, it clearly sets out the planning framework for the 
development of waste management facilities within the county and I find this 

approach to be soundly based. 

21. The Regional Spatial Strategy for the South East of England was revoked, with 

the exception of Policy NRM6: Thames Basin Heath SPA, which remains part of 
the development plan.  Having regard to the policies and proposals of the 
Plan, and the evidence base supporting it, such as the Habitats Regulation 

Assessment (HRA), I am satisfied that the Plan would be consistent with this 
element of the development plan. 

22. The evidence provided indicates that the Council actively reviewed existing 
adopted and emerging plans within the county and neighbouring authorities, 
including the new London Plan, to ensure consistency.  Where issues were 

identified, this informed subsequent engagement and details of this were 
provided within the relevant SOCG.  In addition, the Council commented on 

emerging plans during their preparation, including through SEWPAG in the 
case of the London Plan, which resulted in proposed changes to those plans.   

23. Given the varying timescales for preparation, I am mindful that circumstances 

can inevitably alter.  However, I am satisfied that the evidence demonstrates 
that the Plan would be consistent with other elements of the existing 

development plan within the area and is sufficiently flexible to take account of 
changing circumstances.  Furthermore, whilst there may be different views in 
respect of individual proposed site allocations, overall and in strategic terms, 

there is nothing to indicate that the policies and proposals of the Plan would 
materially conflict with the approach being taken by emerging plans within or 

neighbouring the county. 

24. As part of the plan preparation process, the Council consulted with Parish and 
Town Councils.  In addition, the Council has produced a Neighbourhood 

Planning Guide to assist neighbourhood forums with developing 

Page 505

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

8 
 

Neighbourhood Plans, which includes advice that consultation with the Council 

is required in relation to minerals and waste.  The Plan would not be 
inconsistent with any Neighbourhood Plans in the county. Consequently, I am 
also satisfied that the Plan would be consistent with the development plan in 

this regard. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

25. The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is an important part of the evidence base 
that supports and justifies the policies and proposals of the Plan.  At the time 
of submission, a number of concerns were expressed about the Council’s 

Environmental & Sustainability Report (ESR), which combined the SA and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment requirements.  These concerns were 

discussed during the hearing sessions part of the Examination.   

26. As a result, the Council undertook further work in relation to the SA.  More 

details were provided about the reasons for selecting and rejecting 
alternatives, both in terms of proposed site allocations and in relation to 
policies.  These and other revisions to the SA, along with the SA required for 

the proposed MMs, were subject to consultation and I have had regard to the 
comments made.   

27. The evidence base, including the SA, demonstrates that the policies and 
proposals of the Plan have evolved and developed over time.  The current local 
planning policy context for waste and minerals development is materially 

different to that which existed in 2008.  Several of the allocation sites 
identified in the SWP have been developed and changes have also taken place 

to national planning policy and guidance, with the publication of the first NPPF 
in 2012 and the NPPW in 2014, as well as the Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG).   

28. The evidence demonstrates that the evolution of the Plan’s preferred approach 
involved the consideration of several reasonable alternative approaches as 

part of this process.  The reasons for this are clearly set out within the SA.   

29. There is potential for waste related development to interact with other 
development, giving rise to cumulative impacts.  However, the detailed 

assessment of such impacts requires a degree of certainty about the type and 
scale of development proposed.  The approach taken by the Plan does not 

provide that level of site-specific detail.  Therefore, the detailed assessment of 
cumulative and project specific impacts will need to be appropriately 
addressed at the planning application stage of the development process. 

Provision for this is made by Policy 14.  

30. Overall, I am satisfied that the analysis within the SA is sufficiently robust, and 

the reasoned explanations it contains provide clear justification for the 
approach proposed within the Plan. 

Habitats Regulations Assessment 

31. A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Report was produced to assess the 
potential impact of the policy framework and proposed site allocations in the 

Plan on sixteen European sites that are situated either within Surrey or are 
located within 10 kilometres of the county boundary.  The HRA Report 

Page 506

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

9 
 

considers the key pressures and threats to the achievements of the 

conservation objectives for each European site and includes an initial 
screening assessment, which addresses the likelihood of significant effects.  
Where necessary, this is followed by more detailed appropriate assessment 

(AA) for those sites where likely significant effects cannot be ruled out. 

32. At the screening stage of the HRA process, the need for AA was only 

determined as not being necessary where the Council was confident that no 
mechanisms existed by which the Plan could give rise to likely significant 
effects on the ecological integrity of the European site concerned.  Therefore, I 

am satisfied that the HRA screening undertaken in relation to the Plan is 
compliant with the recent Court of Justice of the European Union judgement 

concerning mitigation.1 

33. The HRA Report specifically addresses the potential impact of traffic emissions 

for those European sites for which air quality has been identified as an issue of 
particular concern by Natural England (through the relevant Site Improvement 
Plan).  The Report also includes consideration of the potential for in-

combination impacts as a consequence of the contribution that vehicle 
emissions make to nutrient deposition within sensitive habitats.  As such, I am 

satisfied that the HRA process that was followed took account of the recent 
High Court judgement in this matter.2   

34. Several of the proposed site allocations and areas of search identified within 

the Plan would be located at sufficiently close proximity to have potential 
impacts on a designated European Site.  Initial concerns raised by Natural 

England in respect of potential impacts in these regards were addressed by an 
agreed SOCG between the Council and Natural England, to which I have had 
regard.  

35. Currently, the Plan does not make appropriate reference to the environmental 
context and likely sensitivity of sites, as set out in the ESR, which is an 

unacceptable omission that could impact on the delivery of development.  For 
clarity and effectiveness, therefore, it is necessary to draw specific attention to 
these matters within Part 2 of the Plan and this is addressed by MM29.   

36. The Plan makes specific reference to the need for project level AA for 
development proposals that could give rise to likely significant effects on a 

European designated site.  This requirement is clearly identified within the 
related supporting text to Policy 14, as well as in Part 2 of the Plan. 

37. A number of areas of land that have been identified as potentially suitable for 

waste related development within the Plan were determined through the HRA 
process to have the potential to give rise to significant effects on one or more 

European sites, if the development included thermal treatment facilities.  This 
includes those sites located within 10 kilometres of any European site likely to 
be adversely affected by nutrient nitrogen deposition.   

                                       
 
1 People over Wind, Peter Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (Case C-323/17) 
2 Wealden V SSCLG [2017] EWHC 351Admin 

Page 507

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

10 
 

38. Part 2 of the Plan clearly identifies those site allocations where thermal 

treatment is unlikely to be considered suitable in this respect.  It also provides 
an indication of the likely scale of facility, for those sites where the 
development of a thermal treatment facility is likely to be suitable, subject to 

certain conditions being met.  However, such clarification is not provided 
within the Plan for the identified ILAS and, in this respect, the Plan is unsound.   

39. To be positively prepared, effective and consistent with national policy, it is 
necessary to amend the Plan to include reference to the plan level AA within 
the HRA Report, which refers to the type and scale of thermal treatment 

facility likely to be considered suitable in respect of each site allocation and 
ILAS location.  In addition, for clarity and effectiveness, the individual ILAS 

locations listed within Part 2 of the Plan should include specific reference to 
the potential for thermal treatment facilities and the HRA findings, if 

appropriate, including likely constraints on the scale of development.   

40. In light of responses received to the consultation on the MMs, to reflect the 
SOCG between the Council and Natural England, the findings of the HRA, 

including Appendix B, and to ensure that the Plan will be effective in delivering 
appropriate development in suitable locations, I consider that it is necessary to 

distinguish in Part 2 of the Plan between those ILAS which are considered less 
likely to be suited, unlikely to be suited, or which may be suited to the 
development of thermal treatment facilities.  These matters and those above 

are addressed by MM30 and MM31.  

Climate Change 

41. Policy 1 of the Plan implements the waste hierarchy, which ensures that waste 
is managed in a manner that mitigates climate change, as recognised in the 
Waste Management Plan for England.  The policies of the Plan enable the 

provision of recycling and other recovery facilities, the development of which 
would significantly reduce the amount of biodegradable waste disposed of in 

landfill.  In turn, this would reduce the production of methane, a highly potent 
greenhouse gas, resulting from this type of disposal.   

42. The strategic objectives, spatial strategy and policies of the Plan embed 

mechanisms to address and adapt to climate change, including through 
sustainable design, safeguarding the environment and the management of 

flood risk. Facilities are encouraged to promote energy efficiency and consider 
the use of decentralised low carbon energy sources. In addition, the Plan 
seeks to limit the movement of waste by road and encourages the use of low 

or zero emission vehicles, where practicable.  Taken as a whole, I am satisfied 
that the policies of the Plan would contribute effectively to the mitigation of, 

and adaptation to, climate change. 

Equality and Health Impacts 

43. As part of the plan preparation process, the Council undertook a Health Impact 

Assessment (HIA), which included consideration of the potential impact of the 
policies and proposed site allocations on human health.  The HIA informed the 

wording of the development criteria identified in relation to individual 
allocations in Part 2 of the Plan and the wording of policy and supporting text, 
particularly Policy 14.  I am satisfied that, subject to the modifications 

Page 508

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

11 
 

identified below, the Plan would enable adverse health impacts to be avoided 

or appropriately mitigated. 

44. In addition, in relation to the Equality Act 2010, an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) was produced to assess the potential impacts of the 

policies and proposals of the Plan on residents and service users with 
protected characteristics, as defined by the Equality Act.  The EqIA concludes 

that no significant impacts on those with protected characteristics are 
anticipated that cannot be mitigated to an acceptable level.  I am satisfied 
therefore that the Plan would not have a disproportionate effect on people with 

protected characteristics, including age and disability.   

45. Consequently, subject to the modifications identified, I find the approach 

within the Plan is sound, meets legal requirements, and would be consistent 
with and justified in the context of the existing components of the 

development plan for the area and national planning policy.     

Issue 2 – Whether the identified waste requirements are justified and 
based on a sound assessment of need 

46. Part 1 of the Plan includes a thorough consideration of the waste management 
context for the policies and proposals within the Plan.  It sets out the principal 

types of waste considered by the Plan and outlines the likely waste arisings in 
Surrey to 2035.  Reference is made to the Waste Needs Assessment (WNA) to 
support these findings, which was undertaken by the Council to support the 

preparation of the Plan.  However, the Plan does not include details of existing 
major disposal and recovery installations on the Policies Map.   

47. As a result, the Council have produced an additional map to form part of the 
Policies Map, which was subject to consultation and indicates existing strategic 
waste management facilities (as defined by the Council’s Consultation Protocol 

with borough and district councils) in the county, which meets the aims of the 
PPG in this respect. 

Existing capacity  

48. The WNA contains evidence relating to existing waste management facilities, 
including details of the location and type of facility, the treatment type, 

throughput and capacity and close date, where relevant.  From the details 
provided, I am satisfied that this evidence is sufficiently detailed to provide a 

robust basis for the calculation of future capacity and meets the guidance 
within the PPG. 

49. The capacity of existing waste management facilities has been assessed.  The 

Plan acknowledges that this may change.  Having regard to past trends and 
given the land constraints within Surrey, I concur with the Council’s view that 

it seems likely that existing facilities may be improved, reconfigured or 
expanded, to increase their capacity.  Policy 8 of the Plan supports such an 
approach, subject to certain criteria.   

50. To complement this approach, Policy 7 of the Plan seeks to safeguard existing 
facilities and discourage their use for non-waste purposes.  It is acknowledged 

that the closure of smaller sites may happen in the future, particularly where 
they concern historic uses situated in locations that may well be considered 

Page 509

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

12 
 

inappropriate, were they proposed now.  However, given the demand for 

waste management in Surrey, the evidence supports the view that the 
redevelopment of existing sites with significant waste management capacity 
would be unlikely.   

51. From the evidence provided, I am satisfied that the approach taken within the 
WNA to the consideration of registered sites that are exempt from an 

environmental permit was reasonable and represents a suitably conservative 
estimate of their contribution to overall capacity.   

52. Overall, I am satisfied that the assessment of existing capacity within the WNA 

is thorough and robust and supports the overall assessment of need within the 
Plan.  

Forecast of waste arisings over the plan period 

53. Waste arisings have been forecast at the end of the plan period and at specific 

points within it, which is set out within Table 2 of Part 1 of the Plan.  The WNA 
details the factors that have informed these forecasts and the preparation of 
the growth profile and, from the evidence provided, the assessment has 

followed PPG advice.   

54. In terms of the main types of waste, the assessment of future local authority 

collected waste (LACW) included consideration of household or population 
growth and waste arisings per household or per capita, and modelled three 
different scenarios, including no change in waste arisings, medium growth or 

high growth.  The annual rate of commercial and industrial (C&I) waste and 
construction, demolition and excavation (CD&E) waste arisings were also 

calculated using economic and statistical information and, again, three 
potential growth scenarios were modelled.    

55. The adoption of a high growth profile for LACW and C&I waste represents a 

reasonable approach, which given the overall constraints on growth within the 
county is also suitably precautionary.  It will inherently build in flexibility and 

enable the Plan to respond to changes in circumstances over the plan period, 
including the potential for market conditions to change, in line with NPPF 
requirements and PPG advice.    

56. For CD&E waste, the approach taken is that net arisings of C&D waste will 
remain constant over time.  Whilst this follows PPG advice, concerns were 

expressed that this would not provide for sufficient capacity to accommodate 
the extent of development likely to take place within the plan period, including 
major infrastructure projects, such as the possible expansion of Heathrow 

airport.  However, I understand that the amount of housing construction 
within Surrey has remained stable and, given the constraints that exist, it is 

considered likely to remain so in future, with significant additional growth not 
anticipated.   

57. Furthermore, improved construction techniques and the economic need to re-

use inert material on development sites is likely to reduce CD&E waste 
arisings.  The management of waste for large infrastructure projects forms an 

integral part of the project management, with waste generally managed on 
site, as far as practicable, with specialist or bespoke management approaches 
agreed.  In any event, the proposed monitoring framework and any 

Page 510

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

13 
 

subsequent reviews of the Plan provide a mechanism to consider the need for 

additional future facilities to manage any additional CD&E waste arisings. 

58. As such, I am satisfied that the Plan’s approach in this regard is reasonable 
and not unrealistic.  In addition, should circumstances alter and additional 

capacity be required, there is an undisputed need for inert waste for the 
restoration of mineral workings, which would provide additional flexibility in 

this regard.    

59. The likely future arisings of other types of waste was also assessed, including 
hazardous waste, wastewater, agricultural waste, and nuclear and radioactive 

waste.  Having regard to the evidence provided, the analysis undertaken of 
these other types of waste, including the likely increase in hazardous waste 

arisings, satisfactorily demonstrates that the likely future arisings would be 
insufficient to justify the identification of land for strategic waste management 

facilities dedicated to these particular sectors.  Nonetheless, the policies within 
the Plan would provide flexibility in this regard. 

60. The percentage targets for recycling, food waste reduction and disposal of 

waste to land within the Plan reflect new goals for the management of waste 
within the county over the plan period and encourage the management of 

waste further up the waste hierarchy.  These have been informed by European 
and national targets, such as those in the waste prevention programme for 
England and government strategies.   

61. The targets within the Plan are also informed by those within the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS), which was agreed in 2015 

between the district and boroughs in the county, as Waste Collection 
Authorities (WCAs), and the Council as Waste Disposal Authority (WDA).  The 
JMWMS set targets for the management of LACW.   

62. The targets within the Plan are lower in some respects than those in the 
JMWMS.  However, the extent of difference is relatively limited, and I am 

mindful that the JMWMS figure for recycling also includes an element of 
recovery.  Moreover, the lower disposal targets within the Plan recognise that, 
currently, the recycling of some products, such as mattresses and carpets, is 

very challenging.  As such, I find that the targets within the Plan represent a 
pragmatic and realistic acknowledgement that some disposal to landfill is likely 

to remain in the future. 

63. Overall, I am satisfied that the WNA’s forecasts of waste arisings are 
appropriately thorough and sufficiently robust to provide the evidence required 

to inform the proposals to meet waste needs within the Plan, whilst avoiding 
unnecessary and spurious precision.   

Future capacity and the capacity gap 

64. The Plan seeks to ensure net self-sufficiency.  As such, it aims to provide 
sufficient waste management infrastructure to deal with the equivalent 

amount of waste to that arising in Surrey, taking into account existing 
safeguarded capacity and the identified capacity gap.   

65. The WNA considers future capacity using the methodology recommended 
within the PPG, including existing capacity information and available 

Page 511

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

14 
 

information about the lifetime of facilities.  Whilst a range of planned capacity 

is not identified for each type of waste, for the reasons given above, I consider 
that the adoption of a high growth profile demonstrates a reasonable and 
suitably precautionary approach to the identification of future waste 

requirements.   

66. Tables 4 to 7 of Part 1 of the Plan consider future capacity at the end of the 

plan period and at key points within it. As such, I find that the Plan sufficiently 
identifies when new or replacement facilities are likely to be required.   

67. Assuming the recycling targets for the Plan are met, the tables identify that 

whilst, overall, there will be a surplus of waste management capacity, there 
are key areas of need that should be addressed.  In particular, the analysis 

has identified a need for facilities which fall under the definition of ‘other 
recovery’.  A capacity gap has also been identified for the disposal of waste to 

land (landfill), for CD&E recycling facilities and for the recovery of waste to 
land in the long term, as well as the potential need for additional composting 
facilities.   

68. The Plan promotes recycling over other forms of waste management and, 
whilst the WNA has not identified an overall need for other recycling facilities, 

only a small surplus in capacity is predicted at the end of the Plan period.  
Furthermore, as part of the examination process, additional evidence was 
provided by the Council (Trumps Farm: Supporting Information, June 2019, 

Ref ED-03) and discussed during the Hearing sessions, to demonstrate a need 
for further capacity for bulking and recycling household waste during the plan 

period, in particular for Dry Mixed Recyclables (DMR).   

69. Currently, only one site within the county processes DMR and the evidence 
indicates that this is operating at near capacity.  As a result, a significant 

proportion of this waste is transported to facilities outside the county for 
treatment, including as far afield as Birmingham.  Recent changes made to 

collection contracts have enabled the Council as WDA to review these 
arrangements.   

70. The provision of additional recycling facilities within the county would enable a 

materially greater proportion of household recycling waste to be treated in 
closer proximity to the source of the waste, in accordance with the NPPW and 

the PPG.  This would have significant advantages in reducing distances 
travelled, which would have the real potential to reduce associated emissions.   

71. Closer control of facility management and collection arrangements, as well as 

an increased proximity to waste sources, would also enable the Council as 
WDA to have greater ability to influence positively the recycling habits and 

improve the composition of the waste collected, so resulting in the real 
potential for material benefits in waste management.  As such, I am satisfied 
that a compelling case has been demonstrated to support the identified 

requirement for additional recycling capacity within the Plan. 

72. The Council’s Site Identification and Evaluation Report (SIER) sets out the land 

requirements for each waste management stream at key points during the 
plan period, based on the identified capacity gap.  Appendix 3 of the SIER 
identifies a need for some 6 hectares (ha) of additional land and clearly sets 

out the basis for this calculation and provides a robust justification for the 

Page 512

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

15 
 

need identified.  The land identified through site allocations is some 19ha and, 

as such, the site allocations would enable a significant degree of flexibility in 
provision.  Nonetheless, for reasons discussed further below, I consider that 
the extent of land allocated does not represent an unreasonable or excessive 

overprovision.   

73. As acknowledged within the Plan, the targets set within it are ambitious. 

However, overall, I consider that the policies and proposals of the Plan will 
provide for the development of capacity to manage waste in a manner that 
supports the achievement of these targets.  As such, I am satisfied that they 

are reasonably likely to be achievable.  Furthermore, having regard to the 
policies and proposals of the Plan, and the previous history of provision within 

the county, I am satisfied that the Plan is positively prepared, and the 
additional capacity required has a realistic prospect of being achieved. 

74. Consequently, for these reasons, I find the identified waste requirements to be 
sound and based on a sound assessment of need. 

Issue 3 – Whether the approach to waste management is justified and 

soundly based  

Policy 1 

75. Policy 1 is an over-arching policy that reflects a strategic objective of the Plan, 
to ensure that waste is managed at the highest point on the waste hierarchy 
that is practicable.  The policy generally supports those facilities which provide 

for the recycling of waste over those which provide for other forms of 
recovery.  It also enables strict controls on proposals for ‘other recovery’ 

facilities, requiring an up-to-date assessment of need to support such 
proposals, which will ensure that the development of those facilities further 
down the waste hierarchy would not be encouraged.  As such, I am satisfied 

that the approach identified in Policy 1 is justified and consistent with national 
policy. 

76. The Plan includes clear and specific targets for the management of different 
waste streams, as referred to above, which are drawn from national, 
international and current local targets.  For the reasons given above and 

having regard to the history of positive recycling performance within the 
county and the currently high rates of recycling, I consider these targets to be 

justified and likely to be deliverable.   

77. To support this approach, Policies 2, 3 and 5 specifically allow for additional 
recycling and other recovery proposals to come forward, with Policy 6 only 

allowing for additional landfill capacity in very limited and specific 
circumstances. 

Policy 2 

78. Policy 2 concerns recycling and recovery facilities, other than those which 
manage inert CD&E and soil recycling.  The Plan avoids prescribing a specific 

technology for particular sites or facilities, beyond that set out in Part 2 of the 
Plan, which highlights those sites that are likely to be unsuited, or less suited, 

to thermal treatment.  In so doing, it is consistent with national policy and, in 
particular, the approach advocated in the NPPW in this regard. 

Page 513

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

16 
 

79. The supporting text to the policy clearly identifies the need to consider the 

nature and scale of a proposed scheme in relation to its location, including the 
characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  Furthermore, in identifying the 
approach to the assessment of such proposals, Policy 2 includes a number of 

criteria, one of which explicitly requires consideration of other policies in the 
Plan.  However, the interaction between the various policies within the Plan is 

not sufficiently clear. 

80. In particular, the Plan indicates that proposals for the improvement or 
extension of existing recycling or recovery operations should be dealt with 

under Policy 8.  During discussions in the Hearing sessions, the Council 
clarified that it is intended that the assessment of such proposals would also 

have regard to Policy 2.  There is no conflict between the two policies, with 
Policy 8 providing further specific criteria for the consideration of those 

schemes.  As currently worded, the supporting text to Policy 2 is ambiguous 
and likely to cause confusion in relation to how such proposals should be 
assessed.  Therefore, for clarity and to ensure that Policies 2 and 8 are 

effective, it is necessary to amend the supporting text to Policy 2 and the 
wording of Policy 8, as set out in MM1 and MM10.   

81. Furthermore, whilst Policy 2 refers to the need to assess proposals against 
other policies within the Plan, it does not make a specific reference to      
Policy 10, which sets out the hierarchical preference for the development of 

sites.  The absence of a specific reference to Policy 10 also makes Policy 2 
unacceptably ambiguous. Therefore, to ensure that the Plan is internally 

consistent and explicitly supports the identified spatial strategy, it is necessary 
to amend the wording of Policy 2 to make appropriate cross-reference to 
Policy 10.  To be effective, positively prepared and for clarity, it is also 

necessary to specifically identify Policies 11a (Strategic Waste Site Allocations) 
and 11b (Allocation of a Site for a Household Waste Recycling Facility).  These 

changes are addressed by MM2. 

82. Reference has been made to the potential expansion of Heathrow airport and 
the resulting potential loss of the existing Lakeside Energy from Waste (EfW) 

facility, which currently receives a relatively modest proportion of exported 
waste from Surrey.  It is clear that the Council has taken this into account in 

preparing the Plan and is actively engaging with the infrastructure 
development process, both directly and through SEWPAG.  I understand that 
the parties concerned are seeking to avoid a break in capacity.  However, I am 

satisfied that if this is not possible, Policies 1 and 2 of the Plan would enable 
the potential impact of the loss of the site to be addressed. 

83. The supporting evidence does not demonstrate a specific need to identify sites 
for additional capacity for agricultural waste, composting, anaerobic digestion, 
nuclear waste or radioactive waste.  Nonetheless, I am satisfied that the 

policies of the Plan, including Polices 1 and 2, would provide sufficient 
flexibility to fully assess such proposals should they arise. 

Policy 3 

84. Policy 3 concerns facilities for the recycling of inert CD&E waste. The WNA 
indicates that currently there is insufficient capacity for CD&E recycling in the 

later part of the plan period.  Unlike the existing SWP, no specific allocations 

Page 514

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

17 
 

are proposed within the Plan to address this identified need.  However, the 

SWP was adopted prior to the adoption of the SMP and the ARJDPD.  The 
ARJDPD is a joint minerals and waste document, which allocates sites for 
CD&E recycling.  As such, the policy context for the Plan is materially different 

to that which existed at the time the existing SWP was adopted. 

85. The evidence indicates that there is unlikely to be a shortfall in capacity for 

CD&E recycling in the short to medium term.  The Council has confirmed that 
a review of the SMP and the ARJDPD is due to commence in 2020, which 
would consider the need for the allocation of sites for CD&E recycling.  I am 

satisfied that this approach represents an appropriate and timely way of 
addressing the matter.  Furthermore, having regard to the criteria-based 

approach to provision within Policy 3, I find that the absence of specific 
allocations for CD&E recycling in the Plan before me does not render it 

unsound.   

86. CD&E recycling can operate under temporary planning permissions in relation 
to mineral workings, before or during restoration.  Policy 3 makes continued 

provision for this type of activity, whilst not precluding permanent facilities.  
However, as drafted, there is an unacceptable and confusing lack of clarity on 

the policies of the Plan that would be used to assess such proposals, including 
those for CD&E recycling facilities on restored mineral workings, for the 
permanent retention of existing temporary facilities, and for the improvement 

or extension of existing facilities.   

87. To be effective and positively prepared, it is necessary for the supporting text 

to Policy 3 to be amended, to clearly identify the policies against which such 
proposals would be assessed, and which matters would be taken into account 
in these assessments, including the need to consider potential additional 

benefits that may result in respect of permanent proposals.  MM3 addresses 
these matters.   

88. In addition, as drafted, Policy 3 is unacceptably ambiguous, as it is not clear 
whether a proposal would need to comply with each of the criteria listed, or 
how the nature and duration of a proposal should relate to an existing mineral 

operation or restoration.  Therefore, to be justified and for effectiveness, 
Policy 3 should be amended to clarify that, to be supported, proposals only 

have to meet one of the specified criteria, and the nature and duration of the 
proposal should be limited to that of the consented operation or restoration 
activity, as set out in MM4. 

89. A tension may exist between, on the one hand, supporting the recycling of 
inert CD&E waste and, on the other, encouraging the timely restoration of 

mineral and other sites through the recovery of this type of waste material to 
land.  However, as not all CD&E waste may be suitable for recycling, there is 
the potential to achieve both aims, whilst respecting the waste hierarchy.   

90. This is recognised by Policy 5, which concerns the recovery of inert waste to 
land, and would be appropriately addressed by Policy 3, as modified.  

However, Policy 8, which concerns the extension or improvement of existing 
facilities, does not specifically address this issue, which is a failing that could 
frustrate the implementation of the Plan.   

Page 515

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

18 
 

91. To be effective and justified, it is necessary to ensure that Policy 8 includes 

reference to facilities for the recycling of inert CD&E waste and an explicit 
requirement for proposals to be consistent with Policy 3.  MM10 would 
address this matter. 

Policy 4 

92. Policy 4 promotes and supports the delivery of waste minimisation.  It seeks to 

ensure that waste management is addressed as part of the design process for 
new development, with the aim of ensuring that wastes arising during the 
construction and operational phases can be minimised and managed in a 

sustainable manner.   

93. It is intended that large scale development should be accompanied by a Site 

Waste Management Plan to demonstrate compliance with the policy.  However, 
in the main, the enforcement of this requirement would be a matter for the 

district and borough councils.  Whilst I understand that it is intended to 
include the specified need for a Site Waste Management Plan in the next 
update to the Council’s Consultation Protocol and Standing Advice note on 

Sustainable Construction, given the potential uncertainties of timing and 
implementation, this mechanism is not sufficiently robust.  Therefore, to be 

effective, it is necessary to amend Policy 4 to include a footnote to explain 
how it is expected that the policy can be demonstrated to have been followed. 

94. In addition, Policy 4 makes reference to integrated storage, to ensure storage 

facilities are incorporated in the design of all new development, to facilitate 
the reuse and recycling of waste.  However, as currently written, it could be 

perceived as one of a number of management options, which does not 
appropriately reflect the nature of this important requirement.   

95. Consequently, to be clear and effective, it is necessary for the policy to be 

amended to make separate reference to this specific requirement for new 
development.  In addition, following responses received on the consultation on 

the proposed MMs, it is necessary to include a definition of ‘large scale 
development’ within the footnote to Policy 4, to ensure that it is effective and 
fully justified.  MM5 would address all these matters. 

Policy 5 

96. Inert material derived from CD&E waste can be used in mineral restoration, or 

as a capping material for landfill or landraising activities and, when used in 
this way, can be considered as a recovery operation.  Evidence demonstrates 
that sufficient capacity currently exists to accommodate material that cannot 

be recycled over the plan period, with additional mineral sites coming forward, 
or reasonably likely to come forward.  

97. Policy 5 makes provision for the recovery of inert material as part of mineral 
restoration or landraising activities to take place.  The policy also enables 
other recovery to land of inert waste, subject to criteria.  I am satisfied that 

this approach is sound.  However, currently the supporting text is 
unacceptably inconsistent with the wording of the policy and it does not clearly 

identify a preference for the use of inert material in site restoration, rather 
than other types of recovery operation.   

Page 516

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

19 
 

98. In order to ensure that the policy is internally consistent, justified and 

effective, it is necessary to modify the supporting text to provide such clarity 
and to explain clearly why the disposal of inert waste to land is considered 
unacceptable.  This is addressed by MM6. 

Policy 6 

99. The WNA identifies a capacity gap for the disposal of non-inert waste to land 

towards the end of the plan period, following the scheduled closure of the 
existing landfill site at Patteson Court in 2030.  Notwithstanding this, no sites 
were promoted for the disposal of non-inert waste to land and no clear 

evidence exists that such capacity would be developed within the county 
within the plan period.  Consequently, having regard to the evidence provided, 

I concur with the Council’s view that the allocation of a specific site for this use 
is not justified.   

100. Nonetheless, the Plan does make provision for this type of facility, as Policy 6 
provides for the assessment of any such proposals that come forward to meet 
any on-going need for the disposal of non-inert waste to land, including in 

respect of hazardous waste, if required.  Policy 6 sets out the circumstances in 
which the development of such facilities would be considered acceptable.  

However, in its current form, criteria (ii) of Policy 6 has the potential to be 
unrealistic and impractical, as no geographical distance is specified for the 
search for alternative existing permitted sites.   

101. Given the move away from landfill disposal, it would be difficult to provide a 
precise distance. Nonetheless, to ensure that Policy 6 is positively prepared, 

justified and effective, it is necessary to amend Policy 6 to confirm that it 
would be necessary to demonstrate that the additional disposal land capacity 
could not practicably be met at existing permitted sites, as set out in MM7. 

Policy 7 

102. As referred to above, Policy 7 aims to safeguard existing and planned waste 

management sites.  Given the characteristics of the county, including the 
extent of Metropolitan Green Belt (GB) within it, opportunities for the 
development of waste management capacity are relatively limited.  As such, a 

policy to prevent the loss of sites to other forms of development, or to avoid 
constraints on management activity and capacity, is justified and will directly 

support the achievement of net self-sufficiency.   

103. In addition to identifying the types of waste sites that are safeguarded, the 
policy also makes specific reference to the Council’s Consultation Protocol with 

district and borough councils.  This protocol is an established and effective 
mechanism, which will ensure sites will also be safeguarded from non-waste 

development.  The inclusion of identified requirements within Policy 7 for the 
assessment of non-waste developments in proximity to safeguarded waste 
sites is a positive measure that will support the effective implementation of 

the Plan and its policies.   

104. Within Policy 7, a number of criteria have been identified to justify exceptions 

to safeguarding from non-waste development.  However, currently, it is 
unclear whether proposals would have to meet one or all of the criteria 
specified.  As such, the policy is unacceptably ambiguous.  Therefore, to be 

Page 517

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

20 
 

effective and justified, it is necessary to amend the format and wording of 

Policy 7, as set out in MM9, to make it clear that only one of the criteria would 
need to be met. 

105. Moreover, whilst it is implicit that an assessment of the continued need for 

particular sites would be required, the supporting text to the policy does not 
include a specific reference to this. Without such clarification, there would be a 

potential lack of clarity about how a decision maker should respond to a 
proposal, which could undermine appropriate plan-led delivery of development 
within the area.  Consequently, to ensure that the Plan is positively prepared 

and the approach in Policy 7 is justified and effective, it is necessary to include 
specific reference to a safeguarding assessment within the supporting text to 

the policy, as set out in MM8. 

Policy 8 

106. The improvement or extension of existing waste development, as referred to 
above, may enable more waste to be recycled, recovered or processed for re-
use within an established site and with reduced impacts, due to changes in 

technology or site layout.  As such, in making provision for the support of such 
development within Policy 8, the Plan is positively prepared and consistent 

with national policy. 

107. Reference has previously been made to the need to amend Policy 8 to make 
specific reference to Policies 2 and 3.  In addition, currently, the policy 

wording is relatively brief. Whilst it refers to improvements in the quantity of 
waste managed, no reference is made to the type of waste, or a need for 

consistency with the Plan’s requirements for the management of waste.  
Furthermore, whilst referred to within the supporting text, Policy 8 currently 
does not refer to sites with temporary planning permission and the need to 

consider the original reason for the grant of a time limited permission in 
relation to the proposed development of those sites.   

108. As a result of these omissions, there is the unacceptable potential for waste 
development proposals related to existing facilities to undermine the 
objectives of the Plan, including the need to avoid unacceptably harmful 

impacts on local communities.  Therefore, to ensure that the policy is robust, 
effective and justified, it is necessary to include specific reference to these 

matters, as addressed by MM10. 

109. Consequently, for these reasons and subject to the modifications identified, I 
find that the approach to waste management set out within the Plan is 

justified and soundly based. 

Issue 4 – Whether the spatial strategy and distribution of waste 

management provisions are soundly based 

110. The spatial strategy is set out within section 4 of the Plan.  It identifies a 
number of key matters that are considered likely to influence the future 

location and distribution of additional waste management capacity within the 
county.  These include issues such as net self-sufficiency, cross-boundary 

waste movements, the scale and type of facilities, the approach to 
development within the GB, relationship to settlements, previously developed 
land, and transport and connectivity.  

Page 518

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

21 
 

111. The evidence base to support this approach is comprehensive and robust. It 

includes the Council’s report on Delivering the Spatial Strategy and the 
outcomes are summarised in the revised ESR.  In broad terms, the strategy 
seeks to safeguard existing capacity, enable appropriate extensions and 

improvements to existing facilities, as considered above, and provide for the 
development of new facilities in suitable locations.   

112. In addressing the location of new development, the strategy considers and 
identifies a number of constraints, including an identified requirement to 
minimise adverse impacts on the environment and communities. In this 

respect, the strategy seeks to focus development in towns and in urban areas, 
including sites and areas in existing use for employment, industrial and 

storage, and on previously developed land. As such, it is consistent with 
national policy. 

113. Settlements within the county are relatively dispersed.  As a result, a suitably 
pragmatic approach has been taken to the distribution of waste management 
facilities.  Given the variety of sources of waste arisings, the strategy seeks to 

provide a range of facilities in a mix of locations and through a network of 
sites that are relatively well-connected by appropriate transport links, to 

enable the efficient management of waste.  I am satisfied that this represents 
a sound approach. 

114. The county contains the Surrey Hills and the High Weald Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB).  The landscape and natural beauty of these areas 
have the highest status of protection in national planning policy, with great 

weight required to be given to their conservation and enhancement.  In 
addition, approximately three-quarters of the land within the county is covered 
by GB, including the land within the AONBs. 

115. In considering potential locations for waste management facilities, the SIER 
and the revised ESR clearly set out the approach taken to the identification of 

potential locations for new development.  A large number of potential sites and 
areas were originally identified.  Having identified a number of potential 
constraints, a series of filters were applied to those locations.  From the 

evidence provided, the approach taken was open and transparent and the 
methodology followed was clear and robust.  I am satisfied that it represents a 

reasonable and justified approach.   

116. As an example, sites within an AONB were discounted and, having regard to 
the sensitivity of those areas, I find this approach to be entirely appropriate.  

However, in addressing the need to allocate sufficient land to meet the 
identified requirements for waste development, it is clear that it was necessary 

to balance a number of different potential constraints and considerations. 

117. Whilst industrial land areas of search (ILAS) have been identified, it is clear 
from the evidence provided that these areas are not likely to be of sufficient 

size, or necessarily suitable in other ways, to support the extent of new 
strategic waste infrastructure development likely to be required to meet the 

identified need.  Furthermore, in assessing non-industrial land, the evidence 
also demonstrates that it was not possible to identify sufficient suitable land 
outside the GB to meet the identified need for waste management 

development within the county.   

Page 519

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

22 
 

118. As a result, as part of the site identification process, the council removed the 

GB ‘filter’ from the list of potential sites.  Whilst this enabled sufficient land to 
be identified, the extent of land was far in excess of that required, following a 
revised estimate of the identified capacity gap.  Consequently, a further 

refinement was applied, with sites which were considered to be ‘previously 
developed land’ within the GB prioritised in preference to greenfield sites 

within the GB. 

119. This process resulted in the identification of the five sites allocated in relation 
to Policy 11a.  The SIER demonstrates that the sites allocated under Policy 11a 

would provide approximately 19 ha of land, excluding Site 5.1, against an 
identified requirement of 6 ha for additional capacity for other recovery.  

However, the majority of these sites are within the GB.  Having regard to the 
existing provision of waste management facilities within the GB, I find that 

there is a reasonable prospect that the development of some sites would take 
place.  Nonetheless, taking into account the policy provisions within the Plan, 
the Council considers that it is very unlikely that the development of all the 

allocated sites will take place within the plan period. I concur with this view.   

120. I am also satisfied that the evidence provided demonstrates that the 

identification of sufficient land outside the GB is not possible currently.  Given 
that situation, I consider that the approach taken by the Plan is appropriate 
and pragmatic.  Moreover, whilst the amount of land allocated exceeds that 

required, for the above reasons, I consider that a significant margin in 
provision would be both sensible and necessary to provide a suitably robust 

‘safety net’ and the degree of flexibility required in these circumstances.   

121. In addition, as indicated above, Policy 1 would require a need to be 
demonstrated in respect of proposed recovery facilities.  Furthermore, for 

inappropriate development proposed on those sites located within the GB, the 
existence of very special circumstances would be expected to be demonstrated 

in support of such schemes, as set out below.  As such, I am satisfied that the 
extent of land allocated represents a positive approach that has been 
adequately justified. 

122. The approach to identification of a site for the proposed development of a 
Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) under Policy 11b (Land 

adjacent to Trumps Farm, Longcross) followed a slightly different path.  The 
plan preparation process can be lengthy and it is not unexpected for 
circumstances to change during that time.  Additional evidence provided by 

the Council before and during the Examination Hearing sessions provided clear 
and compelling justification for the need for an additional facility of this type.  

The additional evidence also provided further clarity on the reasons for the 
choice of the site concerned. 

123. Detailed issues raised about the location identified will be considered further in 

relation to Issue 5, below.  Nonetheless, in overall terms, I am satisfied that 
the evidence provided, including that contained within the Trumps Farm: 

Supporting Information, June 2019 and reflected in the revised ESR, 
satisfactorily demonstrates that the process undertaken in identifying and 
assessing the potential locations for the MRF was thorough and robust.   

Page 520

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

23 
 

124. The evidence provided is sufficient to satisfactorily explain the reasons for 

discounting the potential ‘reasonable alternatives’ to the proposed allocation 
site, including the five sites allocated under Policy 11a, together with the three 
other sites originally proposed to be allocated at an earlier stage of the plan.   

Whilst there would be some variation in impact, in overall terms, the potential 
environmental, economic and social impacts of the allocated site would not be 

materially worse than the alternatives and, in some respects, would be notably 
better, including the relative location of the site in relation to the existing MRF 
at Leatherhead.   

125. The evidence demonstrates that a key factor in favour of the allocation of this 
site, in preference to other reasonable alternatives, is its ownership by the 

Council.  Furthermore, it is my understanding that the proposed MRF facility is 
intended to be developed and managed by, or on behalf of, the Council as 

WDA.  Consequently, if considered acceptable at the application stage, the 
provision of the facility on the allocated site as proposed would have 
significant advantages in terms of confidence in securing its delivery, in 

comparison to the identified reasonable alternatives.  Whilst I am satisfied that 
the evidence demonstrates that this was not the overriding factor in its 

selection, to the exclusion of the proper assessment of other matters, it is 
nevertheless an important consideration that further supports the allocation of 
this site.   

126. Furthermore, whilst the need for the facility was identified at a relatively late 
stage of the plan making process, I find that this did not preclude a thorough 

consideration of the options, or unfairly restrict the opportunity for 
representations to be made and considered as part of the examination 
process.  Consequently, I am satisfied that both the approach and 

methodology followed were acceptable and do not render the Plan unsound. 

Policy 9 

127. Policies 9 and 10 of the Plan seek to ensure that the distribution of new 
development within the county would reflect the spatial strategy.  In 
particular, Policy 9 addresses the approach to development within the GB and 

Policy 10 sets out the hierarchical approach to development in different 
locations.  However, neither policy is sound in its current form. 

128. For the reasons indicated above, the Council has proposed the allocation of 
sites within the GB for the development of new waste facilities.  However, the 
decision as to whether or not to remove these sites from within the GB lies 

with the particular district or borough council concerned.  Of the sites 
proposed for allocation by Policies 11a and 11b, one is outside the GB, with 

the remaining five sites within the GB.  

129. As part of the plan preparation process, the Council has been advised that one 
of the sites within the GB (on land at Lambs Business Park) will be proposed to 

be removed by the district council as part of its own emerging local plan.  
However, it is not possible to pre-empt the outcome of that process and, in 

any event, a similar indication has not been made in respect of the remaining 
sites.  Moreover, whilst paragraph 5.3.3.9 of the Plan encourages the relevant 
district and borough planning authorities to consider making alterations to GB 

boundaries as local plans are reviewed, to support the development of the 

Page 521

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

24 
 

allocated sites, it does no more than this.  Whilst it has been suggested that 

this ‘encouragement’ should be more strongly worded, having regard to 
national planning policy, I disagree.   

130. The question of whether or not to alter the boundary of the GB is not an issue 

that falls to be considered as part of the examination of this Plan, but would 
be a matter for the particular local planning authority concerned and, 

potentially, for the examination of any resulting emerging local plan.  As such, 
I consider the wording used within the Plan in this respect to be appropriate 
and that further direction in this regard is unnecessary. 

131. Consequently, it is necessary for Policy 9 to set out clearly the process by 
which proposals for waste development within the GB will be assessed.  The 

policy clearly identifies the need for ‘very special circumstances’ to be 
demonstrated to justify the grant of planning permission for inappropriate 

waste management development in the GB.  However, the precise wording 
used within the policy is not consistent with that used in the NPPF, which 
would result in unacceptable confusion and lack of clarity regarding 

interpretation and application.  

132. Therefore, to be effective and to be consistent with national policy, it is 

necessary to amend Policy 9 to reflect accurately the policy for development 
within GBs, as set out within the NPPF, including in relation to harm being 
clearly outweighed by other considerations.  I have considered whether the 

policy should refer explicitly to the need to consider the extent to which a site 
meets GB purposes.  However, I am not persuaded that the absence of 

reference in this regard within Policy 9 would render it unsound. 

133. For similar reasons to those above, it is necessary to amend Policy 9 to 
remove the criteria within the policy, currently listed as contributing to ‘very 

special circumstances’, and to include those factors within the supporting text 
in a non-exhaustive list of ‘other considerations’, which would need to be 

weighed in determining whether or not very special circumstances exist.  
These alterations are addressed by MM11. 

Policy 10 

134. In relation to the overall assessment of proposals, paragraph 5.3.2.2 of the 
Plan confirms that although the Plan allocates sites within the GB, unless those 

sites have subsequently been removed from the GB, their development is 
contingent on there not being suitable alternative sites available that are not 
within the GB, at the time development is proposed.  As such, allocated sites 

within the GB would not have primacy over other potentially suitable sites 
outside the GB, which may come forward during the plan period. 

135. I am satisfied that, given the need to control development within the GB, such 
an approach is justified and would provide an effective and robust control 
mechanism over new development.  However, this approach is not accurately 

reflected by Policy 10.  This indicates that permission would be granted to 
development proposals on allocated sites, which is not consistent with the 

approach set out in Policy 9.  As such, as currently worded, Policy 10 would 
render the Plan internally inconsistent and would not achieve the effective 
implementation of its spatial strategy.  In its current form, therefore, it is 

unsound. 

Page 522

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

25 
 

136. In order to ensure that development of new waste facilities within the county 

is justified, to ensure the effective delivery of development, and to be 
consistent with national policy, with the spatial strategy and with other policies 
of the Plan, it is necessary to amend Policy 10 to delete the existing reference 

to the site allocated under Policy 11b and, in the list of preferred locations for 
the development of facilities, to amend the reference to sites allocated under 

Policy 11a to those not within the GB.   

137. Furthermore, for similar reasons, it is necessary to include specific additional 
text in relation to the allocation of a site for the proposed development of a 

Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility under Policy 11b and for the sites 
allocated under Policy 11a within the GB, which sets out clearly when planning 

permission would be granted for those allocated sites.   

138. In particular, it is necessary to identify clearly within Policy 10 that permission 

for the development of facilities under Policy 11b, and for sites allocated under 
Policy 11a on land within the GB, would be granted if it is shown that the need 
cannot be met in any of the preferred locations specified in Policy 10 and that 

the proposal is consistent with other policies of the Plan, including Policy 9 
concerning GB.  Such a revision would ensure an appropriate plan-led 

approach to waste development within the county.  All these modifications are 
set out within MM12. 

139. Overall, I find that the spatial strategy for the provision and distribution of 

waste management facilities is justified and consistent with national planning 
policy and guidance.  The spatial hierarchy identified for the location of future 

waste management provision is appropriate, justified and clear, and the 
policies of the plan support this approach.  Accordingly, in these respects, 
subject to the modifications identified, the Plan and its policies are soundly 

based.  

Issue 5 – Whether the Industrial Land Areas of Search (ILAS) and the 

allocations are soundly based and provide sufficient flexibility to meet the 
identified needs of the area for the management of waste 

140. Part 2 of the Plan provides details of the ILAS and site allocations, sets out the 

assessment work undertaken and identifies the key issues that would need to 
be addressed at application stage.   

ILAS 

141. In terms of the ILAS, some 22 different areas have been identified, across the 
11 district and boroughs within the county.  The process by which these areas 

were identified is set out in the ILAS Identification Report.  This clearly 
demonstrates that the approach taken was thorough and robust and I am 

satisfied that it represents a justified mechanism for the identification of these 
areas of search that is both open and transparent. 

142. These areas have already been identified as being suitable in principle for a 

range of industrial or storage uses, through the local plan process of the 
relevant local planning authority.  As such, in comparison with the allocated 

sites, only relatively limited further assessment work was undertaken for the 
ILAS, such as that within the HRA referred to above.   

Page 523

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

26 
 

143. Given the nature of the land potentially available within the ILAS, the Plan 

indicates that suitable waste management facilities are considered more likely 
to be small to medium in scale.  Moreover, although landowner support does 
not currently exist for three areas (ILAS 4.5, 4.6 and 4.8), I am mindful that 

such positions can alter over time and, in any event, support may exist for 
smaller scale, specialist, uses.   

144. As such, I am satisfied that the ILAS have been appropriately assessed as 
available, suitable and achievable.  I also consider the extent of assessment 
undertaken in relation to the ILAS to be proportionate and sufficient, in light of 

their existing land use planning designations and the identified requirement for 
further detailed assessment at the planning application stage.   

145. Part 2 of the Plan considers each area individually and identifies known 
environmental sensitivities including, for example, issues related to heritage, 

nature conservation, flood risk and air quality, as well as highlighting the 
potential need for further HRA at a project level.  Nonetheless, for the reasons 
given above, modifications are required (as set out in MM29, MM30 and 

MM31) to draw specific attention to the environmental context and likely 
sensitivity of the sites, the plan-level AA within the HRA and to include 

reference within each individual ILAS to indicate the likely suitability to 
accommodate thermal treatment, to reflect the results of the HRA.   

146. In addition, the key environmental sensitivities do not currently refer to 

proximity to residential receptors.  Whilst the ILAS are located on existing or 
allocated employment areas, the absence of this information would potentially 

jeopardise or unacceptably delay the effective search for suitable sites within 
these areas.  Consequently, to be positively prepared, justified, to ensure the 
effective delivery of development and for consistency with the approach taken 

with site allocations, it is necessary to include this information in relation to 
each ILAS, as set out in MM31. 

147. Furthermore, following the consultation responses on the proposed MM, I also 
consider that it is necessary, for similar reasons, for ILAS 4.20 to make 
specific reference to the planned new settlement of which it is part.  This 

matter would also be addressed by MM31.  In addition, in order for the Plan 
to be justified and effective, it is necessary to correct an error in the flood 

zone information listed in relation to ILAS 4.15, as set out in MM32. 

148. Overall, I find that the identified ILAS are soundly based, subject to the 
modifications identified above.  Each area is considered to be suitable for a 

range of different waste treatment facilities.  For the above reasons and 
having regard to past development trends, the Council recognises that these 

areas are unlikely to be sufficient to meet all the identified requirement for 
waste management facilities.   

149. Nonetheless, I find that the ILAS represent an important positive component 

of the Plan’s provision.  They will have potential to meet the need for a range 
of uses, including specialist facilities, and will enhance the ability of the Plan to 

respond flexibly to changing demands and circumstances, including market 
forces, over time. 

 

Page 524

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

27 
 

Policy 11a 

150. Detailed assessment work was undertaken for allocated sites, which followed 
the initial assessment against the range of criteria, as referred to above, at the 
site selection stage of the process, to demonstrate that the sites are available, 

suitable and achievable.  This further assessment was undertaken in order to 
better understand specific constraints at each of the allocated sites and their 

suitability for different types of waste related development.   

151. A range of detailed assessments were undertaken, including an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment, a Background Ecological Data Search, a Health Impact 

Assessment, a Landscape and Visual Sensitivity Study, a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment, a plan-level AA under the HRA, and a Transport Study. 

152. In its approach to site allocations under Policy 11a and the ILAS, the Plan is 
consistent with national planning policy, which promotes the identification of 

the broad type or types of waste management facility that would be 
appropriately located on the allocated site or in the identified area.  The 
assessments undertaken support this approach and have considered the 

potential impacts of a range of different types of waste facility.  These types of 
facility are listed within Part 2 and defined in the Glossary to the Plan.   

153. The assessments undertaken have identified specific issues at each site, which 
have informed the key development issues set out for each site within Part 2 
of the Plan, including the type and scale of facility likely to be considered 

suitable.   

154. MM29 and MM30 are required to draw attention to the environmental 

assessment already undertaken and the need for further assessment to 
support development proposals.  In common with proposals within ILAS, this 
further assessment would include matters with potential impacts on the 

environment and communities, as identified by Policy 14 and required by the 
Council’s validation checklist. 

155. The Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) undertaken for the plan considers 
possible impacts on AQMAs and indicates each allocated site is likely to be 
suitable for some form of waste related development in terms of air quality.  

The recent Blackwater Valley Air Quality Direction does not have a material 
impact in this regard, as it relates to the implementation of reduced speed 

limits (from 70mph to 50mph) on a section of the A331 Blackwater Valley 
Relief Road.  Any vehicles transporting waste along that section of the A331 
would be expected to comply with the speed limit. 

156. The potential transport impacts of the development of these allocated sites will 
be considered further below.  However, I find that the Transport Study 

represents a thorough and robust plan-level analysis of the potential capacity 
and highway management issues relating to the proposed allocations.  The 
study supports the allocation of the sites proposed, with specific transport 

issues demonstrated to be reasonably likely to be addressed by identified 
project specific mitigation.  Moreover, in terms of the potential wider impact, I 

am mindful that Highways England did not raise objections to the Plan and I 
am satisfied that the effect of its policies and proposals on the strategic road 
network would be acceptable.   

Page 525

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

28 
 

157. I am mindful that vehicle emissions can make a material contribution to issues 

of air quality and pollution.  However, the allocated sites are situated in 
different locations across the county and, in part, would seek to reduce the 
need for the transportation of waste for treatment outside the county.  Having 

regard to the evidence base and the requirements of the Plan for further 
project level assessment in these regards, I am satisfied that the policies and 

proposals of the Plan will not delay compliance or contribute to any future 
non-compliance with the Ambient Air Quality Directive (Directive 2008/50/EC). 

158. Overall, taking into account the range and extent of detailed assessment 

undertaken, together with the responses received, I am satisfied that the 
proposed allocations are justified and strongly supported by a suitably robust 

and thorough assessment process.  Furthermore, whilst these assessments 
have identified key issues for the development of the allocated sites across a 

range of matters, which are clearly set out within Part 2 of the Plan, I am 
satisfied that none of these issues, either individually or collectively, indicate 
that the sites are unsuitable, in principle, for the development of some form of 

waste management facility.   

159. From the evidence provided, I find that there is a reasonable prospect that the 

identified constraints could be addressed by the use of appropriate mitigation 
through design and operation processes.  Moreover, the identification within 
the Plan of a range of different types of waste management facilities that may 

be suitable for these sites, coupled with the identified ILAS, ensures a 
flexibility of provision that will support the effective delivery of waste 

management facilities during the plan period. 

160. There are some matters, however, that are specific to each site, which merit 
separate consideration below. 

Site 5.1- Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Moorfield Road, 
Guildford 

161. The site is included within the list of allocated sites under Policy 11a.  
However, it is clear from the evidence produced that its development is largely 
proposed to accommodate the relocation of existing waste management 

facilities, including a wastewater treatment works, to facilitate the 
redevelopment of that existing site, as part of a wider regeneration proposal 

for the area. 

162. I am satisfied that the inclusion of this site under Policy 11a would be sound.  
It is clear that the primary intended use of the site has been taken into 

account in the assessment of potential land availability to meet identified 
requirements.  Moreover, I am satisfied that its inclusion in relation to Policy 

11a would not prevent its intended use from occurring.  Indeed, at the time of 
my visit to the area, preparatory works for the development of the site were 
underway.   

163. Furthermore, whilst I understand that the relocated waste management 
facilities are likely to occupy a significant part of the site, they may not require 

the whole site.  As such, there would appear to be some prospect that the site 
may also be able to accommodate some other waste management facilities, 
which lends further support to its allocation under Policy 11a. 

Page 526

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

29 
 

164. However, the current list of key development issues does not identify that the 

site is within reasonably close proximity to two areas of Ancient Woodland.  
These are important designations, which will need to be considered in relation 
to development proposals on the site.  As such, the omission of this 

information could frustrate or delay the site’s development.  Consequently, to 
be effective and positively prepared, it is necessary to include reference to 

these areas within the key development issues for the site, as set out in 
MM33. 

Site 5.2 – Former Weylands Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames 

165. This site is located on land adjacent to an existing industrial estate, which is 
situated in close proximity to residential areas.  Several existing uses operate 

from the site, including a number of different waste management activities.  
Access to the site is constrained and the site and the industrial estate are 

served by busy local roads, some of which pass through residential areas. 

166. I have no doubt that the context of the site and issues such as deliverability, 
traffic impacts, air quality and odour, would present challenges to its suitable 

development.  However, having carefully considered the evidence, I am 
satisfied that some form of development could be achieved, provided 

acceptable design and operation mitigation measures were in place, supported 
by a robust environmental impact assessment process, where required, and 
effective community engagement. 

167. In reaching this view, I have had regard to the planning history of the site. 
Whilst previous development proposals raised a number of concerns, it seems 

to me that none of those represented insurmountable issues that could not be 
overcome, given an appropriate mix, scale and type of development.   

168. Moreover, the site would benefit from being improved and upgraded, which 

would also potentially enable greater control to be exercised over activities on 
the site through the planning system.  In addition, the Environmental 

Permitting regime exists to control the detailed operation of waste 
management activities, to avoid harmful impacts on the environment and 
human health.   

169. I recognise that the deliverability of the site is impacted, in part, by the 
confidence of the landowner in pursuing a proposal in light of its planning 

history.  The site is also located within the GB.  However, for reasons given 
above, I consider that the location of the site within the GB is not an 
overriding reason to find this allocation unsound and the allocation of the site 

should contribute positively towards addressing issues of confidence. 

170. Nevertheless, access is a particularly important issue that will need to be 

addressed in the successful development of the site, both in terms of highway 
safety and capacity, including in relation to residual and cumulative impacts.  
Whilst the allocation would appropriately require a new access to the site from 

Lyon Road, it is also necessary to consider the wider traffic impacts.   

171. This would form part of the assessment of transport issues that would need to 

be undertaken at the planning application stage.  However, heavy goods 
vehicle (HGV) access to the site using local residential roads, including Rydens 
Road and Walton Park, should be avoided.  This is not currently made clear 

Page 527

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

30 
 

within the transport section of the key development issues in Part 2 of the 

Plan, which represents a failing of the Plan in this respect. 

172. Consequently, to assist the effective delivery of the site and ensure that the 
Plan is positively prepared, it is necessary to draw the attention of prospective 

developers to the need for a HGV routing agreement that would avoid the use 
of local residential roads, including those referred to above.  This modification 

is addressed by MM34. 

Site 5.3 – Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls 
Road, Leatherhead 

173. The site is located adjacent to an established materials recycling facility (MRF), 
community recycling centre, waste transfer station and sewage treatment 

works.  A number of issues have been identified in relation to its potential 
development, including in relation to access.  For reasons similar to those 

above, I am satisfied that these issues have the potential to be suitably 
addressed at the application stage of the development process, through the 
use of appropriate design and operational mitigation measures. 

174. The access arrangements would require improvement to support the 
development of the site, and this is identified within the key development 

issues in Part 2 of the Plan.  However, as currently worded, the extent of 
works required, which would include works to the junction of the access road 
with the A245 Randalls Road, is not clear.  As a result, the Plan is 

unacceptably imprecise in this respect.  To be effective and for clarity, it is 
necessary to include specific reference to the need for junction improvement 

works within this identified issue, as set out in MM35.   

Site 5.4 – Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor 

175. The site is an operational waste recovery and recycling operation, which has 

been identified within the Plan as having scope for a significant increase in 
capacity.  The site is located within 150 metres of residential properties and is 

in close proximity to Heathrow Airport.  However, I am satisfied that potential 
impacts on air quality and human health are not matters that would render the 
allocation unacceptable and are capable of being addressed at the application 

stage, subject to suitable design and operational mitigation measures.  

176. The potential expansion of the airport is not explicitly referred to within the 

Plan in relation to this site, which is an omission.  Consequently, for clarity and 
to ensure the effective development of the site, it is necessary for Part 2 of the 
Plan to include reference to the potential for the site to be affected by the 

expansion of Heathrow Airport.   

177. In addition, the indicative boundaries of the site, included within Part 2 of the 

Plan, do not currently identify the existing MRF or the associated bunds within 
the site.  As a result, there is the potential for unacceptable ambiguity about 
the potential extent and siting of development within the site.  Accordingly, for 

clarity, to ensure the effective development of the site and to mitigate impacts 
on local amenity, it is necessary for Part 2 of the Plan to refer to the need to 

retain the existing perimeter bunding on the site and to specify that 
development should take place within the bunded area.  These matters would 
all be addressed by MM37. 

Page 528

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

31 
 

178. Horton Road links the site to Stanwell Moor, providing a potential access route 

in this direction, whilst direct access is also provided to the A3044 Stanwell 
Moor Road, at a restricted movement junction.  However, due to this context, 
the Transport Study recognises that unmitigated further development of the 

site has the potential to result in unacceptable impacts on the local highway 
network and local living conditions. 

179. The Plan currently identifies the site as likely to be able to accommodate 
medium sized facility types.  However, having regard to the Transport Study, 
the Plan also states that a larger facility may be able to be accommodated, if 

suitable mitigation can be implemented, to allow all movements at the Horton 
Road/Stanwell Moor Road junction.  From the evidence provided, I am 

satisfied that this type of junction improvement is likely to be achievable. 

180. The junction improvement is correctly identified as a key development issue 

for the site.  However, the Plan unacceptably fails to identify that an 
intensification of the use of the site is likely to result in a need to improve the 
access to the site, to allow all movements from the junction referred to above.  

Moreover, having regard to the likely impact on local living conditions and the 
highway network, it also fails to explicitly state that all site traffic must be 

prevented from using the route to the site through the nearby village.  

181. As a result, the identification of the transport measures likely to be required 
for the site are insufficiently detailed and potentially ambiguous.  For clarity, 

to be effective and to accurately reflect the findings of the Transport Study, it 
is necessary to makes specific reference to these requirements within the key 

development issues for the site.  This would be addressed by MM36. 

182. Following consultation on the proposed MM, I also consider that it is necessary 
to make a further change to the proposed modified wording, to correctly refer 

to the potential need to improve access to the site to allow all movements 
from the Horton Road/Stanwell Moor Road junction, as set out in MM36. 

Site 5.5 – Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, Tillburstow Hill Road, South 
Godstone 

183. The site comprises former clay pits, which are in the process of being restored.  

The site shares an access with the adjacent business park, which is located on 
the site of former brickwork buildings. An operational railway line and siding 

(not currently in use) exists to the north boundary of the site. 

184. Currently, the key development issues fail to refer to the proximity of the site 
to nearby housing.  This is an important consideration that will need to be 

taken into account in the design and operation of development proposals.  As 
such, its omission has the potential to unacceptably affect the delivery of 

development on the site.  

185. Therefore, to be effective, justified and positively prepared, it is necessary to 
include reference to sensitive receptors in the list of key development issues.  

Moreover, I consider that the wording of the MM should refer to housing 
situated alongside and in the vicinity of the access road to the site.  This is 

addressed by MM39. 

Page 529

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

32 
 

186. The site has been identified as having the potential for a medium to large 

scale development.  However, currently, reference to the indicative scale 
refers to the need to utilise rail sidings to support a large scale facility.  
However, the practical development of a medium to large scale facility is not 

dependent on the utilisation of the rail sidings and, in any event, this matter is 
more appropriately considered in relation to the transport issues.  

187. Consequently, for clarity and to be positively prepared, it is necessary to 
simplify the description of the indicative scale, as set out in MM38.  Such a 
change would not increase the indicative scale from medium to large, but 

would enable the indicative scale of facility to be understood more clearly. 

188. In conjunction with this proposed change, to ensure the Plan is effective, it is 

necessary to include additional text within the transport issues of Part 2 of the 
Plan, to reflect the findings of the Transport Study, which provides a robust 

and suitably proportionate assessment of the issues involved. This amended 
text should clarify that, as transport by road is restricted, with little 
opportunity to increase total HGV movements, any large-scale waste use is 

likely to require the reopening of the rail sidings and use of the rail network.   

189. Existing text, expressing the encouragement for the use of the rail network to 

support sustainable transport patterns repeats similar encouragement within 
Policy 15 and, as such, is not necessary.  However, for effectiveness and to 
emphasise the importance of considering rail access, further clarification is 

necessary regarding the likely improvements that would be required to the 
junction of the A22 Eastbourne Road with Tillburstow Hill Road, depending on 

the scale of the facility and the utilisation of rail.   

190. To avoid any potential ambiguity, I consider that the junction likely to require 
improvement should be correctly identified within the key development issues.  

These changes would all be addressed by MM39.   

191. I am satisfied that there is a reasonable prospect that these issues can be 

overcome and that the allocation, with the modifications identified, is sound.  
However, I also recognise that the landowner of the site has carried out 
further assessment and considers that these matters could be addressed 

without the need to reopen the rail sidings or utilise the adjacent railway line, 
particularly given the transport mitigation works likely to be associated with 

the nearby garden village allocation being proposed within the emerging 
Tandridge local plan for the area.   

192. I am mindful that the allocation within this Plan will identify a use for the site, 

rather than a particular development proposal.  Whilst an assessment of the 
transport impacts of a specific proposal on this site will be necessary, this 

would be undertaken as part of the assessment process for an application for 
planning permission.  Moreover, the garden village allocation is being 
considered as part of a separate local plan examination, which is not before 

me.  Even if it is found sound, I am also mindful that such a development 
would be very likely to have a long lead in time.  As such, even if it does take 

place, it would not be appropriate for an allocation in this Plan to rely on this 
neighbouring development to obviate the need for potential traffic mitigation 
measures to support the development of this site for waste management 

facilities. 

Page 530

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

33 
 

193. As such, I consider the approach taken within the Plan has been robustly 

justified and will positively support the effective delivery of development on 
the site, subject to the modifications indicated.   

Policy 11b  

Site 5.6 – Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Kitsmead Lane, Longcross 

194. The site is within the GB and, as such, having regard to the requirements of 

the Plan’s policies, a case for the need for its development, including the scale 
of facility proposed, will need to be made at the application stage of the 
process.  Notwithstanding this requirement, I am satisfied that sufficient 

justification exists for the allocation of the site as proposed to meet the 
identified needs for a DMR facility in this location. 

195. An initial assessment was undertaken for the potential allocations, against the 
range of criteria at the site selection stage of the process, to demonstrate that 

the sites are available, suitable and deliverable.  In addition, a range of 
detailed assessments were undertaken for the proposed allocations, as 
described above.  The assessment process for a specific allocation for a DMR in 

this location followed the approach taken in respect of the other allocated 
sites.   

196. Reference is made within paragraph 5.3.4.10 of Part 1 of the Plan to the 
potential capacity of the site.  However, currently a footnote indicates the 
capacity figure is subject to adequate mitigation following the outcome of the 

SIER.  This is likely to cause confusion as, in common with other allocated 
sites, the indicative scale of the facility, site characteristics and key 

development issues, including mitigation requirements, are set out within Part 
2 of the Plan.  Consequently, to be effective, it is necessary to amend the 
footnote to refer to the mitigation identified within Part 2 of the Plan, in 

accordance with MM13. 

197. A number of key development issues have been identified in relation to the 

site and several concerns have been expressed regarding these potential 
constraints.  However, whilst these issues will need to be addressed at an 
application stage, I am satisfied that the development of the site for a waste 

management facility of the overall scale proposed would be feasible, subject to 
satisfactory design and operation mitigation measures. 

198. In particular, I am satisfied that the development of the site as proposed 
would not have an unacceptable impact on the highway network, including the 
strategic road network, either individually or cumulatively.  Concerns in this 

respect were not raised by Highways England or the highway authority.  I am 
mindful that the traffic likely to be generated by the development of the site 

will, in part, be displaced from existing traffic movements and, in any event, a 
significant proportion is likely to occur outside peak hours.  Moreover, the 
scale of traffic generated is very likely to be materially less than that typically 

associated with other forms of development. 

199. It has been suggested that Policy 11b should be amended, to prevent 

development from taking place until proposed improvements to the strategic 
highway network have been undertaken, particularly works to the A320, or to 
require the development of this site to contribute financially to those 

Page 531

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

34 
 

improvements.  However, the allocation makes provision for strategic waste 

infrastructure and, for the reasons above, I am not satisfied that the evidence 
before me demonstrates that such a change to Policy 11b would be necessary, 
or that the policy in its current form would be unsound in this regard.   

200. Moreover, I am also mindful that this is a matter that would be considered 
specifically as part of a transport assessment to support the development of a 

particular facility and could be adequately addressed, if necessary, at the 
planning application stage.  Currently, it appears likely that improvements will 
be required to nearby road junctions to support the development of a small to 

medium sized facility, as identified in the Transport Study.  From the evidence 
provided, I consider that there is a reasonable prospect that such 

improvements are likely to be achievable. 

201. In reaching this view, I am mindful of the proposed allocation for the 

development of Longcross Village, as part of the emerging Runnymede local 
plan.  However, in this respect and in relation to other potential impacts, I 
consider that the requirements of Policy 14 and other policies of the Plan, 

together with the relevant policies of other parts of the development plan, 
would provide sufficient safeguards to protect the living and working 

conditions of existing and potential future occupiers in the vicinity of the site. 

202. Concerns were also expressed at the potential impact of the development of 
the site on environmental considerations including, in particular, ancient 

woodland.  The NPPF, in paragraph 175, seeks to avoid the loss or 
deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, such as ancient woodland.  Two areas 

of ancient woodland exist on the allocation site, together with trees and areas 
of priority habitat across other parts of the site.   

203. The potential loss of some trees on the site and some areas of priority habitat 

as a result of the development of a DRM facility on the site would seem likely.  
However, details provided as part of the Examination process, have 

demonstrated that a facility of the scale proposed could potentially be 
accommodated within the site, without the loss of ancient woodland and with 
potential to achieve biodiversity net gain.   

204. As such and having regard to the requirements of Policies 13 and 14, I 
consider that some form of development of the scale proposed is reasonably 

likely to be achievable, subject to the necessary detailed assessment and 
mitigation through the design process, which may include compensatory 
planting and habitat creation. 

205. The existence of the ancient woodland is correctly identified as a development 
issue for the site within Part 2 of the Plan.  However, the site is also located 

some 200 metres from an area of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
(SANG) that forms part of the mitigation package for the Thames Basin Heath 
Special Protection Area for the proposed Longcross Village.  Reference to this 

area of SANG has not been included within the key development issues for the 
site.  As it is a consideration that should be taken into account in relation to 

development proposals, this is an omission.  For effectiveness, it is necessary 
to include reference to this area of SANG within the key development issues, 
as set out in MM40. 

 

Page 532

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

35 
 

Policy 12 

206. The evidence provided, including the WNA, demonstrates that it is not 
considered necessary to make strategic provision for wastewater facilities 
within the Plan.  As referred to above, Site 5.1 allocated under Policy 11a 

includes an area that has been identified for development of a new wastewater 
treatment works, as part of a wider regeneration project.  Should the need for 

the development of further sites be identified in the future, Policy 12 provides 
sufficient flexibility to respond to such needs. 

207. Policy 12 also refers to the potential generation of biogas from wastewater 

facilities.  Controls over such activity exist through other mechanisms, such as 
environmental permits, and potential impacts on the environment and 

communities would be addressed by Policy 14 of the Plan.  Nonetheless, 
currently Policy 12 is unacceptably imprecise and provides a lack of clarity 

about the circumstances in which the potential use of biogas as an energy 
source would be expected.  

208. To ensure the policy and supporting text are clear, justified and effective, it is 

necessary to amend the policy wording and include additional supporting text 
concerning the production and use of biogas, as well as the potential need for 

an environmental permit. This is addressed by MM14.   

209. Overall, therefore, for these reasons and subject to the modifications 
identified, I consider that the ILAS and the allocations are soundly based and 

will provide sufficient flexibility to meet the identified needs of the area for the 
management of waste. 

Issue 6 – Whether sufficient opportunities are provided to protect and 
enhance the natural, built and historic environment and minimise any 
adverse impact of waste development on communities 

Policy 13 

210. Policy 13 concerns the design of new development and seeks to ensure that 

the production of waste is minimised and that consideration is given to the use 
of recycled or reused construction materials.  As such, together with Policy 4, 
it highlights the opportunities for waste prevention through the lifecycle of a 

development and represents a clear approach to the promotion and delivery of 
waste minimisation.   

211. Nonetheless, in relation to the sustainable design of new development,    
Policy 13 does not make sufficient reference to the achievement of net gains in 
biodiversity or the creation of green infrastructure.  However, confusingly, 

reference is made to these issues in relation to Policy 14.  This results in a lack 
of clarity and focus, which risks potentially undermining the Plan’s aims in 

these respects. 

212. Therefore, to ensure the interpretation of Policy 13 is clear and effective, it is 
necessary to delete and redraft supporting text from Policy 14 in relation to 

these issues, relocate this to support Policy 13 and to ensure that specific 
reference is made to the need to prepare a Landscape and Ecology 

Management Plan to support specified significant developments.   

Page 533

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

36 
 

213. I consider that it is also necessary to include reference to the relevant AONB 

Management Plan, to ensure that these are also taken into account, if 
appropriate.  These proposed changes are set out in MM16. 

Policy 14 

214. Policy 14 would require individual proposals to demonstrate that the scheme 
would not have a significant adverse effect on communities and the 

environment, including impacts on noise, transport, habitats, air quality and 
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs).  The Council’s validation checklist 
would ensure that such matters are addressed in application submissions.   

215. This appears to me to be a robust and appropriate way of ensuring that such 
matters are fully assessed, particularly as I understand that the validation 

checklist is reviewed and updated as required every two years.  Whilst the 
need for such assessments is unlikely to change during the plan period, the 

considerations involved and the methodology used may alter.  Consequently, 
this mechanism will ensure that such assessments are undertaken using up-
to-date methodology and in light of current considerations at the time. 

216. Currently, however, insufficient reference is made to the validation checklist 
within the Plan.  Given its importance to ensuring that the necessary 

assessments in relation to Policy 14, and other policies, are undertaken as 
required, this is an omission that could unacceptably delay the consideration 
of development proposals and undermine the Plan’s effectiveness.   

217. Accordingly, to ensure that Policy 14 is clear and effective, and potential 
developers have a positive  indication of how the Council is likely to react to a 

submitted application, it is necessary to introduce further supporting text to 
Policy 14, to refer to the Council’s local list for validation of planning 
applications and the national PPG.  This is addressed by MM17.   

218. Most waste related development will fall within the scope of the Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations.  Whilst the Plan refers to the screening 

process, it does not specifically make reference to the potential for the scope 
of the information to be provided to be agreed with the Council under the 
Regulations.   

219. For similar reasons to those above, it is necessary for additional supporting 
text to be included, as set out in MM17, to make specific reference to the 

scoping process under the EIA Regulations and to the further guidance 
available about that process within the national PPG and the Council’s local list 
for the validation of planning applications. 

220. Policy 14 is currently titled ‘Development Management’.  However, this does 
not fully reflect the scope or purpose of the policy.  Therefore, for clarity, it is 

necessary to amend the title of the policy to ‘Protecting Communities and the 
Environment’.  

221. Currently, the policy wording specifies that significant adverse impacts should 

be avoided on a range of matters, both in relation to the community and the 
environment. However, whilst the intention behind this is clear, the particular 

wording used does not reflect the requirements of national planning policy, as 
set out in the NPPF, and legislation, including in relation to the various 

Page 534

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

37 
 

statutory duties required of a decision maker.  This would result in 

unacceptable tension between the Plan’s policy requirements and those of 
national policy and legislation, which would potentially significantly undermine 
the effective implementation of the Plan. 

222. Accordingly, to address these issues, for effectiveness and consistency with 
national policy, it is necessary to amend the wording within Policy 14, to refer 

to a need for proposals to be consistent with the relevant national policy for 
key environmental assets, such as that for AONBs and European sites.  It is 
also necessary to expand the list of those potentially affected by including 

reference to all the relevant AONBs, and to the potential for impacts to occur 
to important ecological sites and nationally important heritage assets located 

outside the county. 

223. In addition, for similar reasons, it is necessary to amend the wording in the 

second part of the policy, relating to the environment and communities, to 
refer to unacceptable impacts, with an explanation that the term unacceptable 
should be interpreted in accordance with current national and local planning 

policy and guidance. To enable the policy to be clearly understood, it is 
necessary to include additional text in relation to several of the criteria and, 

for accuracy, to refer to the proposed development, rather than the proposed 
application.  All of these matters are addressed by MM23. 

224. As drafted, Policy 14 appropriately includes reference to dust and vibration in 

its consideration of potential impacts.  However, no reference is made to these 
matters in the supporting text, which is an unacceptable omission.  For clarity 

and to ensure the effectiveness of the policy, it is necessary to include 
additional text providing guidance in these respects, as set out in MM18.   

225. Similarly, the reference to open space within the supporting text does not 

include reference to SANGs.  This is an important resource, which should be 
taken into account in assessing the impacts of a proposal and should be 

referred to as a key development issue in respect of the allocated site under 
Policy 11b.  Consequently, for effectiveness, specific reference to SANGs 
should be included within the supporting text to Policy 14, as addressed by 

MM21.  

226. Policy 14 also considers flood risk.  However, as currently worded, the 

explanatory text is not consistent with national policy and is lacking in clarity 
which, for similar reasons to those above, is unacceptable.  Consequently, to 
ensure consistency with national policy, it is necessary to amend the wording 

to refer to proposed development within areas at risk of flooding and to refer 
to the sequential test carried out as part of the Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment.  For clarity, it is also necessary to include an explanation of the 
purpose of holding early discussions with the Lead Local Flood Authority, if 
development is proposed on land at substantial risk of flooding from surface 

water or groundwater.  These matters are addressed in MM19. 

227. As referred to above, for clarity and effectiveness, it is necessary to move and 

cross reference the supporting text to Policy 14 referring to net gains in 
biodiversity, and Landscape and Ecology Management Plans, to supporting 
text in relation to Policy 13, as set out in MM16 and MM20.   

Page 535

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

38 
 

228. In addition, as currently worded, the remaining supporting text relating to 

biodiversity is ambiguous and not consistent with national policy, as it does 
not set out sufficiently clearly the approach to be taken to mitigation and 
compensation.  Consequently, for clarity and consistency, the wording of this 

part of the supporting text should be amended to set out clearly the approach 
required.  This is also included in MM20.   

229. In addressing the need for proposals to demonstrate that they would not have 
an unacceptable impact, Policy 14 also requires the potential effect on 
aerodromes and air traffic to be considered.  However, currently, the wording 

of the supporting text is not consistent with that used within the policy, so 
potentially undermining its effectiveness.  Therefore, to be consistent with the 

requirements of Policy 14 and to be clear and effective with regards to 
aerodrome safeguarding, it is necessary to include additional wording within 

the supporting text, concerning building heights and potential interference to 
radio signals.  This is addressed by MM22. 

230. Accordingly, for the above reasons and subject to the necessary modifications 

identified, I find that the Plan and its policies satisfactorily provide sufficient 
opportunities to protect and enhance the natural, built and historic 

environment and to minimise the adverse impact of waste development on 
communities.   

Issue 7 – Whether the policies and proposals of the Plan demonstrate that 

options for sustainable transport are supported and waste movement by 
road will be minimised as far as practicable 

Policy 15 

231. The Plan identifies that impacts from HGV movements and on congestion are 
key areas of concern for local communities, including in relation to ease of 

transport and air quality.  As such, it indicates that preferable locations for 
waste facilities are those on or close to the strategic road network. 

232. As referred to above, the location and distribution of development was 
considered as part of the spatial strategy for the Plan, as well as in relation to 
the identification and evaluation of the allocated sites.  It is clear that, in 

considering these issues, the Council has sought to minimise waste movement 
by road, where possible, and the options for transport by means other than 

road have been fully explored.  A clear requirement to evaluate the use of rail 
and water for the transportation of materials to and from sites is specifically 
included within Policy 15. 

233. The Transport Study for the Plan assesses the suitability of the allocated sites 
for waste related development in terms of potential traffic impacts, including 

in relation to the suitability of the access to each site and traffic flows in the 
vicinity. I find that the level of assessment undertaken within the Study is 
proportionate and at an appropriate level of detail for the plan making stage of 

the development process.  

234. The Plan has included specific issues identified by the Transport Study within 

the key development issues for allocated sites.  As considered above, I am 
satisfied that there is a reasonable prospect that the necessary improvements 
to the highway will be delivered in support of the allocations. 

Page 536

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

39 
 

235. The Transport Study also indicates where cumulative impacts from proposed 

waste development and other development proposed nearby could arise.  
However, given the relative uncertainty about the type and scale of 
development that could come forward at each site, full assessment of these 

issues at the plan making stage is difficult. 

236. Accordingly, Policies 14 and 15 will ensure that the transport impacts of a 

proposal are fully considered at the project stage, including the potential for 
cumulative impacts on the strategic road network.  As referred to above, the 
implementation of these policies will be supported by the Council’s local list for 

validation, which will ensure that the information required to assess the 
potential impacts of a proposal on transport and the highway network forms 

part of the application submission.  The local list also contains specific detail of 
when a construction traffic management plan, traffic statement or transport 

assessment will be required, and why, and gives details of the required 
content of these documents, as well as associated guidance.   

237. Where the need for road transport has been demonstrated, Policy 15 seeks to 

ensure, amongst other matters, that the distance and number of vehicle 
movements associated with the development are minimised and satisfactory 

provision is made for the parking, manoeuvring and servicing of vehicles on 
site.  Policy 15 also requires the development to ensure that low or zero 
emission vehicles, under the control of the site operator, are used, together 

with fuels from renewable sources, where practicable. 

238. The policy also refers to impacts on the road network and highway safety.  

However, the wording within the policy in these respects does not reflect that 
in paragraph 109 of the NPPF.  This tension could cause confusion and 
unacceptably delay the effective development of waste facilities.  Accordingly, 

to be consistent with national planning policy, it is necessary to amend the 
wording used within clauses (v) and (vi) of Policy 15 to reflect that used in the 

NPPF, as set out in MM25. 

239. Therefore, for these reasons and subject to this modification, I find that 
policies and proposals of the Plan demonstrate that options for sustainable 

transport are supported and waste movement by road will be minimised as far 
as practicable.   

Issue 8 – Whether the provisions for community engagement, delivery and 
monitoring are effective and adequately identify triggers for review 

Policy 16 

240. Policy 16 encourages applicants to undertake suitable proportionate steps to 
engage with local communities and to ensure that their comments are taken 

into account.  The explanatory text provides details of the Council’s Statement 
of Community Involvement (SCI) and of the information required in support of 
an application, to explain how pre-application engagement has been 

addressed.   

241. Reference is also made to the potential establishment of liaison groups for 

larger waste developments and, more generally, to the requirements of the 
Council’s validation checklist.  As such, I consider that this matter is 

Page 537

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

40 
 

adequately addressed within the Plan and these provisions are clearly 

supported by the Council’s SCI and validation checklist.  

Delivery  

242. For the reasons given and subject to the modifications identified, I have found 

above that the policies and proposals of the Plan are effective and will enable 
the delivery of waste management facilities within the county to meet the 

identified requirements.  The Council’s local list for validation will be a key 
element in ensuring the effective delivery of these policies and proposals, 
whilst ensuring that the environment and local communities are protected.   

243. In addition, the SOCG and SEWPAG documents clearly demonstrate the 
Council’s commitment to on-going and collaborative joint-working with other 

organisations.  The Council’s membership of SEWPAG also demonstrates its 
commitment to working with other organisations to co-ordinate strategic 

capacity provision across the South East of England. 

244. The Plan includes an indicative delivery trajectory that clearly indicates when 
increased capacity for different types of waste management is anticipated to 

be required during the plan period.  Policy 1 will prioritise the development of 
facilities towards the top of the waste hierarchy.  However, most of the 

allocated sites are located within the GB and are considered to be a ‘safety 
net’ in terms of capacity provision.  Taking this into account, together with the 
nature of the development proposed, I consider that it is not possible, nor 

would it be appropriate, to include a detailed delivery trajectory within the 
Plan.   

245. The Plan has identified a need for additional capacity over the plan period and 
makes provision for this to be met by safeguarding existing capacity, enabling 
appropriate extensions and improvements to existing facilities, and by the 

development of new facilities in suitable locations.  Moreover, the area of land 
included within the allocated sites amounts to some 19ha against an identified 

need of approximately 6ha.  In addition, further land has been identified within 
the ILAS.   

246. As such, I am satisfied that the policies and proposals of the Plan represent an 

effective mechanism for the delivery of development, which will be sufficiently 
flexible to respond to possible changes in circumstance, including market 

requirements, over the plan period. 

Monitoring 

247. Monitoring of the delivery of waste management provision is proposed to take 

place in line with the requirements identified in the PPG, including through the 
Council’s Annual Monitoring Report (AMR), which will provide data to enable 

any capacity gaps to be identified.  The provision of additional capacity will be 
monitored against the identified requirements in the AMR.  The AMR will also 
take into account any revised predictions of future waste arisings and the level 

of existing capacity.  As such, should requirements or anticipated provision 
change significantly, the monitoring would enable a review of the Plan to be 

triggered. 

Page 538

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

41 
 

248. Each policy within the Plan contains a measure or indicator, identifies a data 

source, key organisations that will be involved in the monitoring, sets targets 
and identifies a trigger for review.  However, as currently worded, some of the 
identified monitoring triggers are unacceptably ambiguous and imprecise, 

which would unacceptably undermine the ability to monitor robustly the 
implementation of the Plan.   

249. Consequently, for clarity and effectiveness, it is necessary to specify the 
number of planning applications that would activate the trigger for Policy 13, 
to refer to urban sources, the strategic road network and rail/water in the 

trigger for Policy 15, to specify the number of applications not submitted with 
a SCI within a specific period for Policy 16 and, in respect of Policy 14, to 

include an Appendix that sets out clearly the relevant indicators and triggers 
for each aspect of the policy.  These necessary modifications would be 

addressed by MM15, MM24, MM26, MM27 and MM28. 

250. Consequently, for these reasons and subject to the modifications identified, I 
find that the provisions for community engagement, delivery and monitoring 

are effective and adequately identify triggers for review. 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

251. My examination of the legal compliance of the Plan is summarised below.  

252. The Surrey Waste Local Plan has been prepared in accordance with the 
Council’s Minerals and Waste Development Scheme, adopted December 2018. 

253. Consultation on the Local Plan and the MMs was carried out in compliance with 

the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2015).  

254. Sustainability Appraisal has been carried out as set out within the 

Environmental and Sustainability Report and is adequate.  

255. The Habitats Regulations Assessment Report (January 2019) sets out that a 
full assessment has been undertaken and that the plan may have some 

negative impacts which require mitigation, particularly in relation to thermal 
treatment facilities.  Mitigation is secured within the Plan, by Policy 14 and 

Part 2 of the Plan. 
 
256. The Plan includes policies designed to secure that waste-related development 

and the use of land in the waste planning authority’s area contribute to the 
mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.  The Plan as a whole 

achieves this requirement, with Policies 13 and 15 of particular relevance in 
this regard, together with Policy 1 and the spatial strategy.   

257. The Surrey Waste Local Plan complies with all other relevant legal 

requirements, including in the 2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 
Regulations.   

258. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 
2010.  This includes my consideration of several matters during the 
examination, including the provision of waste management facilities within 

new development.  Having regard to the evidence base and consultation 
responses, including the EqIA, I consider that the Plan is likely to have 

Page 539

16



Surrey Waste Local Plan, Inspector’s Report May 2020 
 
 

42 
 

generally positive or neutral impacts on persons with a protected 

characteristic.  Given the aims of the Plan and its policies, including the 
provision of adequate capacity to meet identified waste management 
requirements, whilst protecting communities and the environment, I consider 

that the Plan will help to eliminate discrimination and inequality, and foster 
good community relations.   

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

259. The Plan has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness and legal 
compliance for the reasons set out above, which mean that I recommend non-

adoption of it as submitted, in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 
Act.  These deficiencies have been explored in the main issues set out above. 

260. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plan sound and 

legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I conclude that with the 
recommended main modifications set out in the Appendix the Surrey Waste 

Local Plan satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and 
meets the criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

Anne Napier 

Inspector 

 

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main Modifications. 

 

Page 540

16



   
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

For adoption May 2020 

Page 541

16



 

 |  2  
    

 

  

If you have any questions about the consultation or you are having difficulty in accessing the 

documents please contact Surrey County Council: 

   Phone: 03456 009 009 

  Email: wasteplan@surreycc.gov.uk  

  Letter: Planning and Development Service,  

Room 385 County Hall, Penrhyn Road,  

Kingston upon Thames, KT1 2DW 

 

 

Page 542

16

mailto:wasteplan@surreycc.gov.uk


 

 |  3  
    

 
 

Foreword 

A large amount of waste is generated by Surrey's 

homes and businesses and Surrey County 

Council needs to ensure that sufficient land is 

available for the waste facilities needed to 

manage this waste. It is essential that those 

facilities do not result in unacceptable harm to 

the environment and human health. It is 

important that Surrey's waste is managed 

sustainably, and this includes the county working 

towards sending zero waste to landfill. 

An overarching challenge facing Surrey County 

Council and other local planning authorities is 

how to balance development pressures in this 

area of buoyant economic growth close to 

London, Heathrow and Gatwick without 

compromising the quality of life of its residents 

and the high quality natural and built 

environment. The need to balance the 

development of waste management facilities is 

no different, these facilities are also needed to 

support growth and development. 

The Surrey Waste Local Plan will help ensure that 

the future waste needs of Surrey can be 

appropriately met through waste facilities 

situated in the most appropriate locations and 

with minimal impact on communities and the 

environment. I believe the vision, strategy, 

objectives and policies set out in the Plan put us 

in a good position to enable us to manage the 

waste we produce in the most sustainable way 

possible. 

 

Natalie Bramhall 

Cabinet Member for Environment & Climate 

Change 

  

 

Page 543

16



   
 

 |  4  
    

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................5 

1.1 Purpose of the Waste Local Plan ..........................................................................................................5 

1.2 Spatial Context .......................................................................................................................................6 

1.3 Policy Context ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

1.4 Waste Management Context............................................................................................................. 16 

2 Vision for Waste Development in Surrey................................................................................................... 24 

2.1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 24 

2.2 The Vision ............................................................................................................................................ 24 

3 Strategic Objectives..................................................................................................................................... 26 

3.1 Net self-sufficiency ............................................................................................................................. 26 

3.2 Sustainable Waste Management (Waste Hierarchy) ....................................................................... 26 

3.3 Safeguarding existing waste infrastructure ...................................................................................... 27 

3.4 Location of new waste development ................................................................................................ 28 

3.5 Protecting Communities and the Environment ................................................................................ 29 

3.6 Transport and Connectivity ............................................................................................................... 30 

3.7 Engagement ........................................................................................................................................ 30 

3.8 Strategic Matters ................................................................................................................................ 31 

4 Spatial Strategy for Waste Development in Surrey................................................................................... 32 

4.1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 32 

4.2 The Spatial Strategy ............................................................................................................................ 34 

4.3 Identifying Sites and Areas ................................................................................................................. 34 

5 Policies ......................................................................................................................................................... 36 

5.1 Net self-sufficiency ............................................................................................................................. 36 

5.2 Sustainable Waste Management (Waste Hierarchy) ....................................................................... 37 

5.3 Location of new waste infrastructure ............................................................................................... 52 

5.4 Conserving and Enhancing the Environment ................................................................................... 63 

5.5 Transport and Connectivity ............................................................................................................... 74 

5.6 Engagement ........................................................................................................................................ 76 

6 Replacement of Policies in the Development Plan ................................................................................... 79 

7 Policies Map ................................................................................................................................................. 83 

8 Glossary ........................................................................................................................................................ 86 

Appendix 1: Table of Indicators and Triggers Relating to the Monitoring of Policy 14 ................................... 97 

 

Page 544

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  5  
    

1 Introduction  

1.1 Purpose of the Waste Local Plan 

1.1.1.1 As the waste planning authority1 (WPA) Surrey County Council is required to produce a local plan for 

waste development, known as the Surrey Waste Local Plan (“the Plan”), to show how and where 

waste will be managed in Surrey in the future. The Plan sets out the planning framework for the 

development of waste management facilities and is used in determining planning applications for 

waste management facilities.  

1.1.1.2 The Plan is intended to make sure that land is available to be developed so that there are enough 

waste management facilities to handle the equivalent amount of waste arising in Surrey. In doing so 

the Plan provides policies which ensure these facilities are well located and do not result in 

significant adverse impacts on amenity and the environment. 

1.1.1.3 The Plan replaces the Surrey Waste Plan (2008) by providing a robust policy framework to support 

the sustainable management of waste from 2019 to 2033. Section 6 shows how policies of this Plan 

have replaced those in the Surrey Waste Plan (2008).  

1.1.1.4 This Plan forms part of the overall development plan for Surrey. Other waste and minerals related 

policy can be found in the Surrey Minerals Plan (2011), the Aggregates Recycling Joint Development 

Plan Document (2013) and the Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (2011). 

The planning policy for non-waste and minerals related development is found in the Local Plans of 

the district and borough councils in Surrey. 

1.1.1.5 When determining applications all relevant policies of the development plan, as well as national 

policy, will be taken into account. 

1.1.1.6 Planning permission granted for development is subject to a set of conditions. Compliance with the 

conditions is important to ensure that the construction and operation of the facility takes place in 

accordance with relevant planning policy including this Plan. Monitoring of compliance with a 

planning permission and its associated conditions is undertaken by Surrey County Council and if 

breaches of planning conditions are identified those breaches will be addressed in accordance with 

the county council’s Planning Enforcement Protocol2. 

  

 

1 The Town and Country Planning (Prescription of County Matters) (England) Regulations 2003 prescribe classes of waste 
operations and uses of land that should be dealt with as “county matters”. 

2 Surrey County Council’s Planning Enforcement Protocol can be found on the Planning Enforcement of Minerals, Waste and 
County Development webpage 

Page 545

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  6  
    

1.2 Spatial Context 

 Introduction 

1.2.1.1 Surrey's location and unique environment (see Figure 1) influence the structure and composition of 

the economy in terms of the dominant business sectors, the availability of development land and 

the distribution of the resident population. These factors also contribute to the quality of life 

enjoyed by Surrey’s residents. In turn, these factors also present opportunities and challenges for 

future growth and will influence the form and location of new waste development. 

 

Figure 1 Map of Surrey showing urban areas, Green Belt, Surrey Hills and High Weald AONB boundaries and major 

transport networks as well as allocated sites and ILAS (See Policies 10, 11a and 11b) 

 

 Population  

1.2.2.1 The 2011 census found there to be some 1.14 million people living in Surrey. Estimates for 2017 

show an increase in the total population to 1.19 million people. While the majority of the county 

can be classed as rural in nature, there are urban areas located in the north of Surrey, near the 

boundary with London, and also in the form of the large towns of Guildford, Woking, 

Reigate/Redhill, Camberley and Farnham. 

 

Page 546

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  7  
    

1.2.2.2 Projected population growth for Surrey over the next two decades, suggests an increase from 1.18 

million people to 1.37 million by 2037. There are approximately 483,000 dwelling houses distributed 

across Surrey with development of a further 86,000 homes planned between 2015 and 20333. 

Surrey County Council has a duty to plan for the key aspects of the infrastructure that will be 

required to support those new homes, which includes additional waste management capacity. 

 Economy  

1.2.3.1 The South East of England is a significant contributor to the UK economy. Surrey’s economy is the 

largest contributor to the South East economy and in 2014 was worth £37.5 billion. Surrey has a 

higher gross value added (GVA) per person than the rest of the major population centres in England, 

except London. In 2017, Surrey had a total of 64,160 enterprises, over 90% of which were small 

businesses with 0-9 employees4.  

1.2.3.2 Waste management is a key component of a modern economy. All businesses depend on the 

efficient management of their waste and the waste management sector itself will generate 

employment and add value to the local economy. 

 Transport Infrastructure 

1.2.4.1 Surrey is located in close proximity to London and both Gatwick and Heathrow Airports. There are 

plans for the development of a new runway at Heathrow Airport and these are likely to have an 

impact on waste management both in terms of a need to manage waste produced from the 

development and on existing waste management facilities in the vicinity.  

1.2.4.2 The strategic road network, comprising motorways and trunk roads, has evolved principally to serve 

London, with several nationally important routes passing through the county, including the M3, 

M23, M25 and the A3. Surrey roads are known to experience congestion and the county council is 

seeking to promote development which includes options for sustainable transport. However, 

alternative transport options are limited within the county and consequently many business sectors, 

including the waste management sector, are heavily reliant on road transport. 

 Nature Conservation and Biodiversity 

1.2.5.1 The county of Surrey hosts a diverse range of habitats and species, from the chalk grasslands and 

mixed broadleaved woodlands of the North Downs, through scarce flood meadows along the rivers 

Wey and Mole, to the extensive heaths, bogs and acid grasslands of the Thames terrace gravels and 

the Wealden sandstone.  

1.2.5.2 Surrey is home to around 70 species that benefit from specific legal protection and at least 337 

species recognised as being a priority for conservation. Within the county there are sixty-three sites 

that have been designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) on the grounds of their 

nationally important nature conservation and biodiversity interest or geological conservation 

interest. The county is also host to three National Nature Reserves (NNRs). In addition to the sites of 

national importance, there are numerous sites of local importance for nature conservation or 

geological conservation interest. 

 

3 Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Number of Dwellings by Tenure and District 

4 ‘What does Surrey’s business growth look like?’ (2015) available from Surreyi 

Page 547

16

https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/topic/economy


   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  8  
    

1.2.5.3 A total of nine sites designated for their nature conservation interest at an international and/or 

European level are located wholly or partly within Surrey. Those sites include four Special Protection 

Areas (SPAs) designated under the EU Wild Birds Directive, three Special Areas of Conservation 

(SACs) designated under the EU Habitats Directive, and two Ramsar Sites designated under the 

Convention on Wetlands of International Importance.  

1.2.5.4  An area of some 12,000 hectares within Surrey is covered by ancient woodland, that is land known 

to have had continuous tree cover since at least 1600 AD. Ancient woodlands are found throughout 

Surrey, with particular concentrations in the North Downs and the Weald. Ancient woodlands, and 

veteran trees, are of value for their biodiversity interest, as well as cultural and historical 

significance. 

 Landscape 

1.2.6.1 The landscape of Surrey is diverse, reflecting its varied geology, landform and soils. In the north 

west are the flat areas of the Thames Basin, across the heart of the county run the hills of the North 

Downs and the Wealden Greensand, with the low lying areas of the Low Weald to the south. The 

county hosts a range of character types from large expanses of open heathland, through enclosed 

wooded gills, river valleys and water bodies, to intimate small scale farmland, and open meadows.  

1.2.6.2 Woodland covers 22% of the county, but heathland and chalk downland are also particularly 

characteristic of Surrey. Farmland, including that of the Low Weald, is another main component of 

the landscape. The river valleys of the Wey and Mole cut through these landscapes, flowing from 

south to north.  

1.2.6.3 The Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and a small area of the High Weald 

AONB cover approximately 26% of the county. AONBs have a protected status that reflects the 

unique character of their landscapes.  

 Green Belt  

1.2.7.1 Approximately three quarters of the land within Surrey (some 121,941 hectares or 73%), is covered 

by the Metropolitan Green Belt (MGB). The MGB has helped to safeguard the rural character of 

much of the county and the setting and character of its historic towns.  

 Heritage and Archaeology  

1.2.8.1 Surrey is rich in heritage assets from nationally important Palaeolithic sites, Roman remains and 

Medieval villages, through to the remains of Britain’s pioneering industrial heritage and recently 

decommissioned cold-war military installations. Surrey has 197 Scheduled Monuments, 234 

designated County Sites of Archaeological Importance and 810 individual Areas of High 

Archaeological Potential. This equates to approximately 4,159 hectares (2.5% of the county).). 

1.2.8.2 Surrey has 47 registered parks and gardens, in the region of 2,925 hectares (1.8% of the County). 

Surrey’s archaeological and designated historic landscape requires careful management and 

consideration. In addition, Surrey has 6,571 statutory listed buildings, including 104 at Grade I and 

347 at Grade II*. There are 278 conservation areas in Surrey, amounting to approximately 4,600 

hectares or 2.7% of the county. 

  

Page 548

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  9  
    

 Water Environment 

1.2.9.1 For each of the major catchments in the UK a river basin management plan (RBMP) has been 

prepared, which provides information about the current status of the different aspects of the water 

environment and sets targets for their improvement by 2027. The county of Surrey contains 

waterbodies and catchments that lie within the areas covered by the Thames RBMP and the South 

East RBMP. 

1.2.9.2 Of the 95 surface watercourses or lakes (including reservoirs and ponds) with catchments wholly or 

partly located in Surrey, only 4 are currently of ‘good’ overall status. The majority are of either 

‘moderate’ overall status (57) or ‘poor’ overall status (27), with 7 watercourses or lakes currently 

classified as being of ‘bad’ overall status. Classification below ‘good’ status is due to matters 

including point sources (e.g. water industry sewage works, industrial discharges) and diffuse sources 

(e.g. agriculture), abstraction from watercourses and supporting groundwaters, and physical 

alterations. 

1.2.9.3 The majority of the groundwater bodies beneath Surrey have been assessed by the Environment 

Agency as currently being of a ‘poor’ overall status, due to issues with the quantitative status of the 

resource, the chemical status of the resource or a combination of the two. Six groundwater bodies 

underlying Surrey are currently classified as being of ‘good’ overall status. 

 Flood Risk 

1.2.10.1 Flood risk is a combination of two components; the probability of a particular flood incident 

occurring and the impact that the incident may cause. The risk of flooding is made worse by the 

potential impact of climate change. Flooding arises in a variety of forms and is influenced by 

weather (particularly rainfall events), topography and patterns of development. Sources of flooding 

can include reservoirs, rivers, the sea, rainfall and rising groundwater.  

1.2.10.2 In Surrey (especially in the northwest of the county), the combination of a large population, low 

lying land and a significant number of watercourses, increase the probability of people, property 

and the environment being adversely affected by any flood events that do occur. 

  

Page 549

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 0  
    

1.3 Policy Context 

 Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC)  

1.3.1.1 The Waste Framework Directive (WFD), as amended, sets requirements for the collection, 

transport, recovery and disposal of waste. The WFD includes a requirement to apply the ‘waste 

hierarchy’ (see Figure 2) when planning for waste management. The waste hierarchy is a system of 

prioritising the different ways in which waste can be managed with the most sustainable method, 

prevention, at the top of hierarchy, and the least, disposal, at the bottom. The terms used in the 

waste hierarchy are further explained in the glossary.  

 

Figure 2 The Waste Hierarchy 

 

1.3.1.2 The WFD also ensures planning authorities have regard to the principles of ‘self-sufficiency’ and 

‘proximity’. This means that planning authorities should include provision for sufficient capacity and 

enable the delivery of facilities in the right place at the right time. These terms are further explained 

in the glossary.  

1.3.1.3 The proximity principle expects a network of facilities to be developed that enable waste to be 

disposed of, and mixed municipal waste collected from private households to be recovered in, one 

of the nearest appropriate installations, by means of the most appropriate technologies. 

 Hazardous Waste Directive (1991/689/EEC)  

1.3.2.1 Waste is generally considered hazardous if it, or the material or substances it contains, pose a risk to 

human or environmental health. As hazardous waste poses a higher risk to the environment and 

human health strict controls apply.   

1.3.2.2 WPAs are expected to plan for the volume of waste arising in their area, and this may include waste 

management facilities to deal with hazardous waste. However, it is accepted that, often, the 

provision of specialist facilities for wastes that arise in relatively small quantities, or require 

specialist treatment technologies, will require co-ordination at a regional or national level. 

  

Prevention

Preparing for reuse

Recycling

Other recovery

Disposal

Page 550

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 1  
    

 Landfill Directive (1999/31/EC)  

1.3.3.1 The Landfill Directive was introduced in July 1999. The Landfill Directive sets out requirements for 

the location, management, engineering, closure and monitoring of landfills. In the Directive, the 

term “landfill” is taken to mean “a waste disposal site for the deposit of the waste onto or into 

land”. The Landfill Directive includes requirements relating to the characteristics of the waste to be 

landfilled.  

1.3.3.2 Council Decision 03/33/EC supports the Landfill Directive by providing criteria and procedures for 

the acceptance of waste at landfills. Paragraph 15 states “Whereas the recovery, in accordance with 

Directive 75/442/EEC, of inert or non-hazardous waste which is suitable, through their use in 

redevelopment/restoration and filling-in work, or for construction purposes may not constitute a 

landfilling activity”.  

 Waste Incineration Directive (2000/76/EC)  

1.3.4.1 The Waste Incineration Directive (as amended) covers new facilities and existing facilities and 

imposes strict emission standards for incineration technologies addressing air pollution to prevent 

harmful effects on both the environment and human health.  

1.3.4.2 Modern incineration plants must ensure pollution control is a priority; emissions must comply with 

the requirements of the Waste Incineration Directive. The Directive supports the use of cleaner 

technologies that seek to reduce the impacts of incineration facilities on the environment and 

human health.  

 EU Circular Economy Action Plan 

1.3.5.1 In a “circular economy” the value of products and materials is maintained for as long as possible; 

waste and resource use are minimised, and resources are kept within the economy when a product 

has reached the end of its life, to be used again and again to create further value. 

1.3.5.2 In 2018 the European Union (EU) agreed a package of measures which forms part of the 

implementation of its Circular Economy Action Plan. These measures include increasing the existing 

recycling target for municipal waste to 65% by 2035 and a target to reduce landfill to a maximum of 

10% of municipal waste by 2035. This compares to a target of 50% by 2020 that the UK Government 

and local authorities are currently working to. Even though the UK is to leave the EU, the 

Government has signalled the Circular Economy measures will be adopted within UK legislation. 

 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012  

1.3.6.1 The system of development plans, introduced by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

(as amended by the Localism Act 2011), requires local planning authorities (LPAs) to prepare ‘local 

plans’ which are made up of Development Plan Documents (DPDs). 

1.3.6.2 LPAs must set out a programme for the preparation of DPDs in a ‘Local Development Scheme’ and 

explain how communities and stakeholders will be involved in the process in a ‘Statement of 

Community Involvement (SCI)’. The Act also requires LPAs to carry out a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 

during the preparation of the local plan. 

Page 551

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 2  
    

1.3.6.3 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 prescribe the form and content 

of the local plan documents and the policies map. The regulations also defined the process for the 

preparation and adoption of a local plan. 

 The Localism Act 2011  

1.3.7.1 The Localism Act 2011 enabled the abolition of regional spatial strategies. The abolition of most of 

policies in the South East Plan in March 2013 resulted in the removal of regionally-derived targets 

for waste management (e.g. diversion from landfill, recycling and composting, and provision for 

accepting London’s waste), which have not been replaced at the local or national level. 

1.3.7.2 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the Duty to Cooperate (DtC). The DtC places a legal duty on LPAs, 

county councils and other public bodies to engage constructively in the interests of local plan 

preparation. As the WPA, Surrey County Council must demonstrate how it has complied with the 

DtC at the examination of its waste local plan. 

 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011  

1.3.8.1 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 (the Waste Regulations) require waste collection 

authorities (WCAs) to ensure that appropriate recycling standards can be met through commingling, 

or through source segregated collections. The use of such approaches to waste collection can 

impact upon the amount and the quality of waste collected and the overall rate of recycling. 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019  

1.3.9.1 In 2012 the Government replaced many of the former national planning policy guidance notes and 

statements and Government Circulars with a single document, the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF). A revised NPPF was published in July 2018 and updated in February 2019. 

1.3.9.2 The NPPF is supported by the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), originally published in 

March 2014 with updates since. The PPG replaced the explanatory documents that had supported 

the national planning policy guidance notes and statements replaced by the NPPF. 

1.3.9.3 The NPPF provides guidance for the preparation of local plans and encourages LPAs to keep them 

up-to-date. There is an expectation that LPAs ‘positively seek opportunities to meet the 

development needs of their area, and be sufficiently flexible to adapt to rapid change’5. For waste 

planning flexibility is vital, given the need for waste management provision to respond to changes in 

the market (e.g. international markets for recyclate and refuse derived fuels). 

1.3.9.4 Plans should ‘provide for objectively assessed needs …, as well as any needs that cannot be met 

within neighbouring areas’6. In the context of the Plan this could include taking some waste from 

areas outside Surrey, which could include London. 

1.3.9.5 The NPPF indicates the need for waste management facilities to be provided as strategic 

infrastructure. The county council is required to work with district and borough councils to 

contribute to an integrated approach to the provision of essential development such as homes and 

the infrastructure needed to support them. 

 

5 Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

6 Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 552

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 3  
    

 

 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) 2014  

1.3.10.1 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) 2014 replaced Planning Policy Statement 107  and 

sits alongside the NPPF. The NPPW sets out the Government’s ambition to work towards a more 

sustainable approach to waste management and use. 

1.3.10.2 The policy aims to ensure waste management facilities make a positive contribution to communities 

and to balance the need for waste management with the interests of the community. 

1.3.10.3 Specifically the policy advises WPAs to: 

• Identify sufficient opportunities to meet the identified needs of their area for the 

management of waste based on robust analysis of best available data and information. 

• Ensure waste is managed as high up the waste hierarchy as possible recognising the 

need for a mix of types and scale of facilities. 

• Work jointly and collaboratively with other planning authorities including on issues of 

cross-boundary movements and any national need. 

• Take into account the need for a limited number of facilities for disposal of residual 

waste which may arise in more than one waste planning authority area. 

• Undertake early and meaningful engagement with local communities, recognising that 

proposals for waste management facilities such as incinerators can be controversial. 

 Waste Management Plan for England 2013  

1.3.11.1 The Government published a national Waste Management Plan for England in December 2013. The 

plan brought together a number of policies under the umbrella of one national plan. It looks to 

encourage a more sustainable and efficient approach to resource management. It outlines the 

policies that are in place to help move towards the goal of a zero waste economy in the UK. The 

Government has indicated that the Waste Management Plan for England will be updated in 2019 to 

reflect the Waste and Resources Strategy published in December 2018.  

1.3.11.2 The Waste Management Plan for England provides an overview of the management of all waste 

streams in England and evaluates how it will support implementation of the objectives and 

provisions of the revised WFD. 

  

 

7 PPS10: Planning for Sustainable Waste Management July 2005 and March 2011 update 

Page 553

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 4  
    

 Resources and Waste Strategy 

1.3.12.1 In December 2018, the Government published a new waste strategy for England. This strategy is 

particularly concerned with ensuring that society’s approach to waste aligns with circular economy 

principles i.e. keeping resources in use as long as possible in order to extract maximum value from 

them. This is illustrated in Figure 3 below. 

 

Figure 3 Circular Economy8   

1.3.12.2 The strategy has several strategic ambitions including the doubling of resource productivity and 

eliminating avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. The strategy includes other targets as follows: 

• 50% recycling of household waste by 2020 

• 65% recycling of municipal waste by 2035 (in line with EU CE package) 

• 10% (or less) of municipal waste to landfill by 2035 (in line with EU CE package) 

• Eliminate all food waste to landfill by 2030 

• All plastic packaging to be recyclable, reusable or compostable by 2025 

• 75% recycling of packaging by 2030 

1.3.12.3 This Plan will contribute to the achievement of these targets in Surrey. 

 Other National Policy Statements 

1.3.13.1 The Government publishes other national policy which has an impact on the production and 

management of waste. This includes the ‘Industrial Strategy’ (2017), the ‘Clean Growth Strategy’ 

(2017) and the ’25 Year Environment Plan’ (2018). In 2018 the government consulted on a new 

 

8 Source: ‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England’, Defra, December 2018  

Page 554

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 5  
    

‘Clean Air Strategy’. It is important that the Plan is consistent with government policy and changes 

are monitored to see whether they require changes to the Plan.  

 Regional Strategy for the South East of England 

1.3.14.1 The Regional Spatial Strategy for the South East of England, with the exception of Policy NRM6: 

Thames Basin Heath SPA, was revoked on 25 March 2013. Saved Policy NRM6 from the South East 

Plan remains a material consideration as part of the development plan. 

 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 

1.3.15.1 The current Surrey Waste Plan (SWP), adopted in 2008 and altered by Order of the High Court in 

2009, sets out the planning framework for the development of waste management facilities in 

Surrey. The plan is comprised of a suite of policies, including those that allocate specific areas of 

land for waste related development. 

 Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 

1.3.16.1 The Surrey Minerals Plan is composed of the Core Strategy DPD, the Primary Aggregates DPD, the 

Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD, and the Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD). 

 Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan Document 2013 

1.3.17.1 The Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD (ARJDPD) supports both the Surrey Minerals Plan and the Surrey 

Waste Plan. The DPD sets out proposals for the provision of new temporary and permanent 

aggregates recycling facilities across Surrey for the period to 2026. 

 Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document 2011 

1.3.18.1 The Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (2011) sets out in greater detail 

how mineral workings can be restored and in what ways. It is one of the material considerations 

that will be taken into account when determining restoration proposals. 

 Statement of Community Involvement  

1.3.19.1 The county council wants communities to have the opportunity to participate in the planning 

decisions that shape the county’s future. The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) explains 

how the county council will consult with and involve the public in the preparation of planning 

policies and the determination of planning applications. The current SCI can be viewed on the 

county council’s website. 

1.3.19.2 The SCI sets out the stages involved in the development of planning policy documents and explains 

how the community will be involved at each stage. 

 Minerals and Waste Development Scheme  

1.3.20.1 Under the requirements for the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the county council is 

required to have a local development scheme (LDS). This is a public statement identifying which 

local development documents will be produced. The Surrey Minerals and Waste Development 

Scheme includes a programme for any updates to planning policy. The scheme and the 

accompanying SCI are available to view on the county council’s website. 

Page 555

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 6  
    

 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy  

1.3.21.1 The current Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) was adopted in 2015. The 

JMWMS focuses on the management of local authority collected waste (LACW), including; 

household waste from kerbside collections, household waste from community recycling centres 

(CRCs), and other collected waste such as school waste and a small proportion of commercial and 

industrial waste.  

1.3.21.2 Implementation of the JMWMS is the responsibility of the county council in its role as the waste 

disposal authority (WDA) and the district and borough councils in their role as the waste collection 

authorities (WCAs). The new Surrey Waste Local Plan must take account of the needs and targets 

included in the JMWMS.  

1.4 Waste Management Context  

 Main Types of Waste 

1.4.1.1 There are three principal types of waste dealt with by the Plan: 

• Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) refers to all waste collected by the local 

authority (previously the term ‘municipal waste’ was used in waste policies and 

nationally reported data to refer to waste collected by local authorities).  

• Commercial and Industrial (C&I) waste is waste arising from businesses e.g. offices, 

shops, restaurants. 

• Construction, demolition and excavation (C, D & E) waste for the purposes of this Plan is 

defined as “waste materials, which arise from the construction or demolition of 

buildings and/or civil engineering infrastructure, including hard construction and 

demolition waste and excavation waste, whether segregated or mixed"9. 

1.4.1.2 Waste from households and from businesses can often be managed at similar types of facility 

whereas C,D&E waste is usually managed at specialised facilities. 

1.4.1.3 A range of other waste streams including: hazardous waste, agricultural waste, healthcare waste, 

nuclear and low level radioactive waste and mining waste also need to be considered. The amounts 

of those wastes produced in Surrey are not sufficient to warrant specific provision in terms of site 

allocations. The policies in the Plan are sufficiently flexible to guide any decisions that may need to 

be taken in respect of proposals for new management facilities capable of handling any specialised 

waste streams (excepting C,D&E wastes). 

  

 

9 Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG): Survey of Arisings & Use of Construction & Demolition Waste 
as Aggregate in England: 2005 

Page 556

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 7  
    

 Waste Arisings 

1.4.2.1 A waste needs assessment was undertaken to inform the Plan and is published as part of the 

evidence base10. That document sets out the assumptions and calculations on which the estimate of 

waste arisings in Surrey up to 2035 were based. 

1.4.2.2 The PPG for waste explains how WPAs should identify the need for new waste management 

facilities and in particular how waste arisings should be forecast. The PPG states that the 

assessment of waste management needs for local plan making is likely to involve11: 

• Developing an understanding of waste arisings from within the WPA area, including 

imports and exports 

• Identifying waste management capacity gaps in total and by particular waste streams 

• Forecasting waste arisings both at the end of the period that is being planned for and 

interim dates 

• Assessing the waste management capacity required to deal with forecast arisings at the 

interim dates and end of the period that is being planned for. 

1.4.2.3 The forecast of waste arisings typically involves the definition and interpretation of a growth profile. 

The factors used to calculate the potential growth for the key waste streams in Surrey over the Plan 

period are set out in Table 1. 

Table 1 Information used to calculate growth profiles for key waste streams in Surrey 

Waste Stream Factors Data source 

Local Authority 

Collected Waste (LACW) 

- Waste arising per household 

- Number of households 

- Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government (MHCLG) 2014-based household 

projections  

- LACW reported through  WasteDataFlow  

Commercial & Industrial 

(C&I) Waste and 

hazardous waste 

- Total C&I waste arisings 

- Predicted economic growth 

annual % change 

- Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 

- Surrey Local Economic Assessment (LEA) update 

2013 

Construction 

Demolition & 

Excavation (C,D&E) 

Waste 

- Total C,D&E waste arisings 

 

- Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 

- Environment Agency public register of exempt 

sites 

- Local Aggregate Assessment for Surrey 

 

1.4.2.4 Based on the growth profile and following the methodology set out in the PPG the forecast waste 

arisings through the Plan period are set out in Table 2. 

  

 

10 Surrey Waste Local Plan, Waste Needs Assessment May 2019 

11 National Planning Practice Guidance for Waste Paragraph 022 

Page 557

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 8  
    

Table 2 Waste arising in Surrey throughout the plan period (tonnes) 

Waste Stream 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Local Authority Collected Waste 536,000 540,000 549,000 557,000 566,000 

Commercial & Industrial Waste 682,000 744,000 848,000 951,000 1,055,000 

Construction, Demolition & 

Excavation Waste 

2,494,000 2,494,000 2,494,000 2,494,000 2,494,000 

Total 3,712,000 3,778,000 3,890,000 4,003,000 4,115,000 

 

1.4.2.5 The county council recognises the need to establish new goals for the management of waste in 

Surrey over the Plan period. The proposed targets are ambitious and encourage the management of 

waste further up the waste hierarchy, but should be achievable. The Plan includes policies which 

provide for the development of capacity to manage waste in a manner that supports achievement 

of these goals. 

1.4.2.6 At a European level the revised Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) and the Landfill Directive 

(1999/31/EC) set targets for the diversion of waste from landfill and the EU Circular Economy 

Package includes transition targets, all of which have informed the development of the targets for 

the Plan. Government targets such as those in the waste prevention programme for England and 

Government strategies such as the 25 Year Environment Plan and the Industrial Strategy have also 

been taken into account. Further information, such as current waste management profiles, was also 

used to derive some targets. 

1.4.2.7 Overall, the targets for the Plan seek to increase recycling12  of waste and reduce landfill. At the 

same time policy directions such as decreasing food waste arisings are also considered to be targets 

for managing waste generated in Surrey. Waste that is not managed through recycling and is not 

sent to landfill is assumed to be managed through other recovery methods13. The targets for the 

Plan are set out in Table 3. 

 

  

 

12 Including composting 

13 This can include energy recovery or recovery to land 

Page 558

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  1 9  
    

 

Table 3 Targets for the plan period 

Waste Stream Recycled in 2017 (%) 
Recycling Targets (%)14,15,16 

2020 2025 2030 2035 

Local Authority Collected Waste 
50% 60% 65% 70% 75% 

Commercial and Industrial Waste 
62% 65% 70% 70% 75% 

Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 
58% 65% 70% 75% 80% 

Food Waste Reduction Targets (%)17,18,19 

Local Authority Collected Waste n/a -15% -30% -50% -60% 

Commercial and Industrial Waste n/a -15% -30% -50% -60% 

Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Disposal of Waste to Land Targets (%)20 

Local Authority Collected Waste 
5% 2% 1% 1% 1% 

Commercial and Industrial Waste 
30% 20% 10% 5% 2% 

Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 

25% 15% 10% 5% 2% 

 

 

14 Recycling targets for LACW and C&I are based on the adopted Circular Economy package. Targets are binding for UK. 
Targets are for proportion of waste recycled. 

15 Recycling targets for C,D&E waste are based on targets in the Revised Waste Framework Directive. Targets are binding for 
UK. Targets are for proportion of waste recycled. 

16 Recycling targets for C,D&E waste for 2025 and beyond are based on continuous improvement and ongoing commitment 
to reduce C,D&E waste. 

17 Food waste targets are based on the Courtauld 2025 agreement’s targets and the adopted Circular Economy package. 
Targets are non-binding. Targets are net reduction. 

18 Food waste targets for 2020 are based on making progress to meeting the 30% target for 2025. 

19 Food waste targets for 2035 are based on continuous improvement and ongoing commitment to reducing food waste 
from the 2030 target. 

20 Residual waste targets are based on a desire that no waste will be sent for landfill, recognising the fact that some waste 
cannot be practicably treated in any other way and a binding landfill target to reduce landfill to maximum of 10% of 
municipal waste by 2035 in the adopted Circular Economy package. Targets are for proportion of waste. 

Page 559

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  2 0  
    

1.4.2.8 The targets for LACW are ambitious but should be achievable based on historic performance and 

increasing recycling rates of LACW. Rates of recycling (including composting) increased from just 

over 30% to nearly 60% between 2008 and 2017. For C&I waste there is less accurate data available 

but it is likely that recycling rates will broadly match trends in LACW (see Figure 4).  

Figure 4 Change in recycling rate for Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) between 2008 and 2017 

1.4.2.9 For C,D&E waste the revised WFD required a minimum of 70% (by weight) of non-hazardous 

construction and demolition waste be prepared for re-use, recycled or undergo other material 

recovery by 2020.  A target of 80% seeks to build on this high level of recycling and align with other 

policies including the Surrey ARJDPD which encourages the production of recycled aggregates at 

suitable locations. 

 Capacity gap and future need 

1.4.3.1 The need to allocate sites for waste development arises from the gap between existing waste 

management capacity and forecast requirements. The capacity gap is calculated by assessing the 

overall amount of waste arising within the county and how this may be managed in the future 

assuming that the recycling targets for the Plan are met. Once the amount of waste and the 

methods by which it will be managed is known this can be subtracted from current available 

capacity, having taken account of any known new facilities and planned closures. 

1.4.3.2 Overall Surrey remains net self-sufficient with a surplus of waste management capacity over the 

plan period, although within this there are key areas of need that should be addressed by the Plan 

(set out in Table 4). For example, the treatment of waste that is diverted from landfill but cannot 

currently be recycled. 

1.4.3.3 The waste needs assessment has not identified an overall need for recycling facilities. For particular 

types of recycling however there may be a need for further capacity, e.g. more bulking and recycling 

capacity for household waste. There are a limited number of composting facilities in Surrey and the 

WDA export some green waste out of the county for treatment, so additional composting facilities 

may be required. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

R
ec

yc
lin

g 
an

d
 c

o
m

p
so

ti
n

g 
ra

te
 

(%
)

Page 560

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  2 1  
    

1.4.3.4 There is an identified need for facilities which fall under the definition of ‘other recovery’21. The Plan 

will encourage waste management activities which are higher up the waste hierarchy and will 

therefore avoid an over-supply of other recovery capacity.  

Table 4 Waste management capacity in Surrey (tonnes per annum) for recycling and other recovery (excluding aggregate 

recycling and recovery to land) with the negative capacity gap shown in red22 

Treatment Type 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Recycling23  540,000   423,000   281,000   175,000   15,000  

Anaerobic Digestion  45,000   53,000   67,000   87,000   100,000  

Other Recovery -10,000  -39,000  -92,000  -156,000  -148,000  

1.4.3.5 There is a capacity gap for disposal of waste to land24 towards the end of the Plan period (see Table 

5). This is based on the planned closure of Patteson Court Landfill and does not account for any 

early restoration of that site.  

1.4.3.6 Non-inert landfill facilities in the South East of England are becoming increasingly scarce and those 

facilities which continue to operate now accept waste from a wider area. The industry has been 

reluctant to develop new sites and so better use will need to be made of existing sites. Should a 

proposal for additional landfill capacity come forward the scheme would be considered on its merits 

against the policies of this Plan. 

Table 5 Waste management capacity in Surrey (tonnes) for deposit of non-inert waste to land (including landfill) with the 

negative capacity gap shown in red25 

Treatment Type 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Disposal to Land26  6,740,000   4,653,000   927,000  -178,000  -77,000  

Cumulative gap    -178,000  -255,000  

1.4.3.7 The capacity gap for C,D&E waste recycling is shown in Table 6. There is a gap in capacity due to the 

expected closure of temporary facilities and the C,D&E waste arisings forecast. 

1.4.3.8 No allocations are proposed in this Plan for C,D&E recycling facilities, as historically such facilities 

have come forward as temporary land uses at operational mineral workings. A number of sites are 

allocated for C,D&E recycling in the ARJDPD. A full review of the land potentially available for 

recycled aggregate production will take place as part of the review of the Surrey Minerals Plan. 

 

 

21 See glossary 

22 Including Anaerobic Digestion and Other Recovery Facilities due to become operational in 2018/19 

23 For the purposes of the waste needs assessment this includes composting and transfer facilities 

24 Including landfilling and land raising 

25 Based on the arisings figure per year multiplied by the number of years 

26 Based on all major waste streams sent for disposal 

Page 561

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  2 2  
    

Table 6 Waste management capacity in Surrey (tonnes) for C,D&E Recycling (including soil recycling) with the negative 

capacity gap shown in red 

Treatment Type 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

C,D&E Waste Recycling  311,000  -14,000  -389,000  -834,000  -1,159,000  

1.4.3.9 A large proportion of C,D&E waste will be excavation waste. The scale of that waste stream is 

unknown as such material is often unsuitable for recycled aggregate production. Increasingly such 

material is used for permanent deposit e.g. landraising. 

1.4.3.10 A surplus of capacity for recovery of waste to land has been identified in the short to medium term, 

as shown in Table 7. Not shown is a further 6 million tonnes (approximate) of additional inert landfill 

and/or recovery to land capacity which is likely to come forward during the Plan period as a result of 

mineral extraction from the preferred areas identified in the Surrey Minerals Plan. 

 Table 7 Waste management capacity gap in Surrey (tonnes) for recovery of inert waste to land (including landfill)27 

Treatment Type 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Recovery to Land28  12,896,000   8,976,000   1,673,000  -2,494,000  -2,244,000  

    -2,494,000  -4,738,000  

 Delivery of Waste Management Capacity in Surrey 

1.4.4.1 Evidence from monitoring of historic delivery of waste management infrastructure in Surrey 

indicates that 66% of additional capacity was provided by new facilities developed on allocated sites 

(see Table 8). A proportion (15%) of additional capacity was provided by new facilities on 

unallocated sites. The intensification and enhancement of sites in existing waste use also accounted 

for 15% of additional capacity.  

1.4.4.2 Additional capacity on unallocated land already in industrial or employment use accounted for 4% 

of additional capacity. The development of industrial or employment land for waste uses presents 

particular challenges, as preference is often given to high value businesses and the large areas of 

land required by many types of waste facilities, for storage of materials and equipment, are not 

generally available on contemporary industrial estates. 

Table 8 Historical delivery of waste management capacity (tonnes per annum) in Surrey (2008 to 2017) 

Location Additional Operational Capacity Percentage 

Allocated sites 593,100 66% 

Unallocated sites 138,800 15% 

Sites in existing waste use 133,640 15% 

Industrial land 39,440 4% 

Total 903,980 100% 

 

27 Based on the arisings figure per year multiplied by the number of years  

28 Based on C, D & E waste arisings sent for recovery to land 

Page 562

16



   
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  2 3  
    

1.4.4.3 For C,D&E waste recycling capacity, temporary facilities at operational mineral workings (i.e. 

quarries that are actively being worked and/or restored) are important. Approximately 969,000 

tonnes of temporary capacity was delivered between 2008 and 2017. The Plan supports the 

provision of C,D&E recycling in conjunction with operational mineral workings. 

1.4.4.4 This Plan enables the delivery of additional waste management capacity in Surrey by promoting a 

mix of locations similar to those that have been successfully developed as additional waste facilities 

in the past. A number of the sites allocated in the Plan are located within the Green Belt, although 

the Plan’s spatial strategy expresses a preference for new capacity in locations outside the Green 

Belt. 

 

  

Page 563

16



   
 

V i s i o n  f o r  W a s t e  D e v e l o p m e n t  i n  S u r r e y  |  2 4  
    

2 Vision for Waste Development in Surrey 

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1.1 The vision provides an overarching ‘direction of travel’ for the Plan. Together with the strategic 

objectives, the vision sets out the aims to be achieved over the Plan period. The vision and strategic 

objectives for the Plan relate only to issues of waste development and need to be read in the 

context of the whole development plan29  for Surrey. 

2.2 The Vision  

2.2.1.1 The county council’s community vision 2030 highlights Surrey’s status as a uniquely special place. 

The county council’s community vision recognises the important role of the county in the national 

economy and seeks to encourage a strong, vibrant and successful local economy. The vision 

acknowledges the contribution of places and natural assets to the character of the county. A key 

ambition for Surrey set out in the community vision is that “Residents live in clean, safe and green 

communities, where people and organisations embrace their environmental responsibilities”. 

2.2.1.2 The national PPG for waste states that LPAs can ensure that waste is handled in a manner which 

protects human health and the environment by testing the suitability of proposed sites, during local 

plan preparation and when considering planning applications30. The Plan responds to that guidance 

by: 

• Providing a framework for decision making which includes policies for environmental 

and community protection, and for safe and sustainable transport. 

• Identifying sites and areas suitable for the development of new waste management 

facilities.  

2.2.1.3 The Plan promotes the principles of sustainable waste management, which gives preference to 

approaches further up the waste hierarchy and favours the use of facilities close to the places from 

which waste arises (proximity principle).   

2.2.1.4 The vision for the Plan is composed of five key elements that reflect national planning policy: 

• Net self-sufficiency.  

• Sustainable waste management (Waste Hierarchy). 

• Resident wellbeing. 

• Environmental protection. 

• Sustainable development. 

 

29 The development plan is defined by the NPPF as, “Development plan…includes adopted local plans, neighbourhood plans 
that have been made and published spatial development strategies, together with any regional strategy policies that remain 
in force. Neighbourhood plans that have been approved at referendum are also part of the development plan, unless the 
LPA decides that the neighbourhood plan should not be made.” 

30 National Planning Practice Guidance for Waste Paragraph 005 

Page 564

16



   
 

V i s i o n  f o r  W a s t e  D e v e l o p m e n t  i n  S u r r e y  |  2 5  
    

2.2.1.5 The vision sets out a broad picture of how waste will be managed during and by the end of the plan 

period. The Vision for waste development in Surrey is:  

To enable sufficient waste management capacity to support Surrey's nationally important economy.  

To develop the circular economy in Surrey where residents and businesses produce less waste and treat 

more waste as a resource by re-use, recycling and recovery.  

To recognise, protect and enhance Surrey’s environment and maintain the high standards of wellbeing 

enjoyed by our residents when permitting waste facilities. 

 

  

Page 565

16



   
 

S t r a t e g i c  O b j e c t i v e s  |  2 6  
    

3 Strategic Objectives  

3.1 Net self-sufficiency 

 Strategic Objective 1: To make sure enough waste management capacity is provided to 

manage the equivalent amount of waste produced in Surrey. 

3.1.1.1 Under national policy the WPA is required to identify sufficient opportunities to meet the identified 

needs of its area for the delivery of waste management infrastructure31. The principle of net self-

sufficiency means that Surrey should provide enough waste management facilities to manage the 

equivalent amount of waste to that arising within the county. 

3.1.1.2 The policy which implements Strategic Objective 1 is: 

• Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development. 

3.1.1.3 How the policy implements Strategic Objective 1: 

• Policy 1 recognises that there is a need for certain types of waste management facilities 

in Surrey which the Plan should seek to deliver. The policy recognises that this need may 

change and should be reviewed in light of the information obtained through annual 

monitoring and reporting.  

• In considering whether to grant planning permission this policy should be taken into 

account, as relevant, to determine if there is a need for the proposal or not. Those 

proposals which meet the needs of the Plan would be supported where they are 

compliant with other relevant policies in the Plan. 

3.2 Sustainable Waste Management (Waste Hierarchy) 

 Strategic Objective 2: To encourage development which supports sustainable waste 

management at least in line with national targets for recycling, recovery and composting. 

3.2.1.1 National policy32 states that in preparing local plans, WPAs should drive waste management up the 

waste hierarchy. This means encouraging prevention of waste, and preparing for the re-use, 

recycling and recovery of waste (including recovery of inert waste to land). 

3.2.1.2 Targets for recycling, recovery and composting are set out at an EU level in the WFD (2008/98/EC) 

and the EU Circular Economy Package. At the national level targets are referred to in the Waste 

Management Plan for England. Local targets include those in the JMWMS. The need for waste 

infrastructure has been calculated using targets which are the same as, or more ambitious than, 

those set by national or higher level policy or legislation. 

 

 

31 National Planning Policy for Waste, 2014 – Paragraph 3 Identify need for waste management facilities 

32 National Planning Policy for Waste, 2014 – Paragraph 3 Identify need for waste management facilities 

Page 566

16



   
 

S t r a t e g i c  O b j e c t i v e s  |  2 7  
    

3.2.1.3 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 2 are: 

• Policy 2 – Recycling and Recovery (other than inert C,D&E and soil recycling facilities) 

• Policy 3 – Recycling of Inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 

• Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development 

• Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land 

3.2.1.4 How policies implement Strategic Objective 2: 

• The policies will encourage certain types of development in order to provide enough 

waste management facilities to meet relevant targets for sustainable waste 

management as identified in line with Policy 1 (Need for Waste Development). 

 Strategic Objective 3: To manage waste by disposal to land as an option of last resort, but 

recognise that it is important for managing residual waste that cannot be treated in any 

other way.  

3.2.2.1 The waste hierarchy sees disposal as the least preferred approach to waste management and an 

option of last resort. However, it remains a necessary option for certain types of waste that cannot 

be practically managed in any other way. 

3.2.2.2 The policy that implements Strategic Objective 3 is: 

• Policy 6 – Disposal of Non-inert Waste to Land. 

3.2.2.3 How the policy implements Strategic Objective 3: 

• The policy will ensure that only waste which cannot be practicably reused, recycled or 

recovered is sent for disposal. The policy recognises that extensions of time to landfill 

may be needed as inputs of material change, and sets out requirements for site 

restoration and aftercare.  

3.3 Safeguarding Existing Waste Infrastructure 

 Strategic Objective 4: To retain and make best use of existing sites for waste development 

through safeguarding against non-waste development and supporting improvement of 

facilities. 

3.3.1.1 Within Surrey there is strong competition for available land for housing, employment and other 

uses including waste development. To address this challenge the Plan needs to make best use of 

available land and existing facilities in order to meet the need for waste management capacity. 

Safeguarding land for waste management uses and encouraging greater efficiency in the use of 

existing waste facilities will contribute to additional capacity. 

3.3.1.2 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 4 are: 

• Policy 7 – Safeguarding. 

• Policy 8 – Improvement or extension of existing facilities. 

Page 567

16



   
 

S t r a t e g i c  O b j e c t i v e s  |  2 8  
    

3.3.1.3 How policies implement Strategic Objective 4: 

• The policies seek to ensure that land is used in the most efficient and effective way to 

deliver waste management capacity. Policy 7 ensures that land currently in or planned 

for waste use is not lost to alternative forms of development. Policy 8 encourages 

operators to manage sites efficiently and to achieve maximum capacity without 

compromising amenity, community wellbeing or the environment.  

3.4 Location of New Waste Development 

 Strategic Objective 5: To direct new facilities to locations that are most suitable for waste 

development. 

3.4.1.1 By making sure that new waste management facilities are situated in the most suitable locations 

around the county the WPA aims to minimise unacceptable impacts on communities and the 

environment.  

3.4.1.2 In identifying suitable locations and new sites for waste management facilities, the Plan provides 

certainty that the additional capacity needed to manage waste in Surrey can be developed and that 

the national requirement33 to identify sites has been met. 

3.4.1.3 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 5 are: 

• Policy 9 – Green Belt 

• Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities 

• Policy 11a – Strategic Waste Site Allocations 

• Policy 11b – Allocation of a Site for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility 

• Policy 12 – Wastewater Treatment Works 

3.4.1.4 How policies implement Strategic Objective 5:  

• The policies seek to ensure that a sufficient supply of potentially suitable land has been 

identified to enable the development of the waste management infrastructure required 

to support planned future physical and economic growth in Surrey. 

  

 

33 National Planning Policy for Waste, 2014 – Paragraph 4 

Page 568

16



   
 

S t r a t e g i c  O b j e c t i v e s  |  2 9  
    

3.5 Protecting Communities and the Environment  

 Strategic Objective 6: To encourage innovation and best practice which provide 

opportunities to minimise the impact of waste development on communities and the 

environment. 

3.5.1.1 It is essential that the Plan addresses all aspects of sustainable development – including the 

protection, and where feasible enhancement, of communities and the environment. This will be 

achieved through the development of waste management facilities in suitable locations with an 

emphasis on design that protects and where feasible enhances the local community and 

environment (e.g. by providing greenspace that contributes to a net gain in biodiversity). 

Developments which include measures to limit the potential for pollution from waste treatment or 

transportation are encouraged.  

3.5.1.2 The NPPW recognises that the siting of waste management facilities will be influenced by physical 

and environmental factors34. In Surrey, there are valued landscapes and wildlife habitats which 

require particular consideration when waste management development is proposed.  

3.5.1.3 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 6 are: 

• Policy 13 – Sustainable Design.  

• Policy 14 – Protecting Communities and the Environment. 

3.5.1.4 How policies implement Strategic Objective 6: 

• The policies seek to ensure that the development of waste management facilities in 

Surrey does not result in unacceptable impacts on communities and the environment; 

and that sustainable design principles are embedded into developments where 

appropriate and feasible. 

  

 

34 National Planning Policy for Waste, 2014 – Appendix B Locational Criteria 

Page 569

16



   
 

S t r a t e g i c  O b j e c t i v e s  |  3 0  
    

3.6 Transport and Connectivity 

 Strategic Objective 7: To keep waste movement by road to minimum practicable levels and 

support options for sustainable transport. 

3.6.1.1 Strategic Objective 7 seeks to encourage the use of sustainable transport options where feasible but 

recognises that this may not always be practicable. In Surrey there are limited possibilities for 

transport by means other than road. In a local context there is a need for a policy to address 

impacts on the road network. 

3.6.1.2 The policy that implements Strategic Objective 7 is: 

• Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity.  

3.6.1.3 How the policy will implement Strategic Objective 7: 

• The policy encourages the investigation and use of sustainable transport options and 

seeks to minimise the movement of waste materials by road.  

3.7 Engagement 

 Strategic Objective 8: To work closely with our partners such as Surrey Waste Partnership, 

District and Borough councils and other Waste Planning Authorities to deliver the Surrey 

Waste Local Plan. 

3.7.1.1 The vision and strategic objectives of the Plan can only be realised through collaborative working 

between a range of partners including: the county council, the Surrey Waste Partnership, district 

and borough planning teams, the waste industry, elected officials and residents.  

3.7.1.2 To implement the Plan the county council and partners will support initiatives that seek to meet 

local targets for prevention and re-use, recycling and recovery and will prioritise the development of 

facilities of types that sit towards the top of the waste hierarchy.  

3.7.1.3 The county council will work collaboratively with other WPAs, particularly those in in the South East 

of England and adjoining Surrey (i.e. in London), to ensure that provision of strategic capacity is co-

ordinated as far as possible.  

3.7.1.4 The policy that implements Strategic Objective 8 is: 

• Policy 16 – Community Engagement 

3.7.1.5 How the policy implements Strategic Objective 8: 

• Policy 16 requires that a level of community engagement be undertaken by waste 

management developers before an application for planning permission is submitted. 

This will help ensure that communities are engaged in the planning process. 

  

Page 570

16



   
 

S t r a t e g i c  O b j e c t i v e s  |  3 1  
    

3.8 Strategic Matters 

 Strategic Policies 

3.8.1.1 The development plan must include strategic policies to address the LPA’s priorities for the 

development and use of land in its area35. Strategic policies should be “…limited to those necessary 

to address the strategic priorities of the area (and any relevant cross-boundary issues). Strategic 

policies should not extend to detailed matters that are more appropriately dealt with through …  

other non-strategic policies”36. 

3.8.1.2 The strategic matter (and cross-boundary issue) which this Plan seeks to address is the availability of 

land suitable for the delivery of waste management infrastructure in Surrey. The majority of the 

policies in the Plan are strategic in nature, with the exception of policies 13 to 16. 

 Statements of Common Ground 

3.8.2.1 As part of meeting the DtC (see section 1.3.7.2), local authorities are advised to “…prepare and 

maintain one or more statements of common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters 

being addressed and progress in cooperating to address these”37. Surrey has in place the following 

agreements: 

• South East Waste Planning Advisory Group (SEWPAG) Memorandum of 

Understanding. 

• SEWPAG Joint Position Statement on non-hazardous landfill.  

• SEWPAG Joint Position Statement on management of inert waste. 

• Statements of Common Ground with Surrey’s 11 district and borough councils. 

• Statements of Common Ground with relevant WPAs and London Boroughs. 

• Statement of Common Ground with the London Mayor. 

  

 

35 National Planning Policy Framework, 2019 – Paragraph 17 

36 National Planning Policy Framework, 2019 – Paragraph 21 

37 National Planning Policy Framework, 2019 – Paragraph 27 

Page 571

16



   
 

S p a t i a l  S t r a t e g y  f o r  W a s t e  D e v e l o p m e n t  i n  S u r r e y  |  3 2  
    

4 Spatial Strategy for Waste Development in Surrey 

4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1.1 The spatial strategy for the Plan seeks to deliver the strategic objectives by guiding the location of 

waste development. The spatial strategy reflects a number of key building blocks which relate to 

matters likely to influence the future distribution of additional waste management capacity within 

Surrey: 

• The Plan seeks to ensure net self-sufficiency. This means providing sufficient waste 

management infrastructure to deal with the equivalent amount of waste to that arising 

in Surrey, taking account of existing safeguarded capacity. 

• The Plan accepts that it is not practicable to deal only with waste produced in Surrey 

and that cross-boundary waste movements38, including from London, are necessary to 

support the viable and efficient operation of waste management facilities. 

• Scale of facilities; the Plan recognises the need for a mix of facilities of different 

sizes/scales to address the waste management facilities in Surrey. The mix of 

development is expected to include some large facilities, and a range of small or 

medium facilities that address specific needs or may be better suited to certain 

locations. 

• Types of facilities; the Plan supports flexibility, recognising that a range of different 

treatment types could be developed on allocated sites. This recognises that waste 

markets and the need for facilities may change over time. New technologies may come 

forward during the Plan period the use of which would not be prejudged and limited.  

• Green Belt; the Plan allows for ‘inappropriate’ development within the Green Belt 

where very special circumstances (VSC) can be demonstrated for the proposal in 

question. VSC could include a lack of suitable alternative sites outside of the Green Belt.  

• Key centres and areas of growth; the Plan addresses the dispersed nature of Surrey’s 

settlements by including a mix of locations. The nature of these settlements mean that 

there is no one major source of waste arisings. Therefore, it may be more important 

that facilities are well connected by good transport links rather than being located in 

geographic proximity to key centres. This supports the need for a ‘network’ of 

connected sites to enable efficient management of waste.  

• Previously Developed Land (PDL) and greenfield land; the Plan seeks to avoid waste 

development on greenfield land. Development on greenfield land should only be 

considered where sufficient alternative options cannot be found. This is in line with 

national policy which supports the preferential location of development on PDL and the 

re-use of redundant agricultural or forestry buildings and their curtilages.  

 

38 This includes movements both into and out of Surrey 

Page 572

16



   
 

S p a t i a l  S t r a t e g y  f o r  W a s t e  D e v e l o p m e n t  i n  S u r r e y  |  3 3  
    

• Transport and connectivity; in order to minimise impacts on local communities and the 

environment the Plan favours locations that are well connected in terms of the main 

transport network, and supports the use of sustainable transport modes that minimise 

movement of waste by road.  

4.1.1.2 The spatial strategy sets an overall approach to the location of new waste management capacity 

across Surrey. The strategy seeks to ensure that the Plan is able to meet Surrey’s objectively 

assessed needs39  for waste management. 

4.1.1.3 Sites currently in waste management use are safeguarded as they make an important contribution 

to the provision of capacity sufficient to manage the equivalent of the amount of waste arising in 

Surrey.  

4.1.1.4  The spatial strategy articulates broad preferences for development on certain types of land, in 

accordance with the hierarchy illustrated in Figure 5. 

  

 

Figure 5  The broad categories of land and general preference in considering locations which are acceptable for new waste 

management facilities 

  

 

39 Paragraph 23 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Sites and areas outside the Green Belt, including: 
allocated waste sites, existing waste sites, Industrial 
Land Areas of Search (ILAS) and other suitable sites

Sites and areas within the Green Belt, including: 
allocated sites, existing sites within the Green Belt 

and other suitable sites

Sites and areas which are likely to result in significant 
adverse impacts to ’areas or assets of particular 

importance’

Page 573

16



   
 

S p a t i a l  S t r a t e g y  f o r  W a s t e  D e v e l o p m e n t  i n  S u r r e y  |  3 4  
    

4.2 The Spatial Strategy 

4.2.1.1 The Spatial Strategy for waste development in Surrey is:  

Spatial Strategy 

Surrey has a need for additional waste management capacity. This need is provided for by generally 

safeguarding existing capacity, and by appropriate extensions and enhancements to existing facilities 

and by the development of new facilities in suitable locations.  

Redevelopment of suitable sites in existing waste management use is encouraged where improvement 

and diversification would lead to an increase in appropriate management capacity consistent with the 

waste hierarchy. At the same time, waste management development for new or improved facilities 

should be in the best possible locations to minimise impact on the environment and amenity. This 

includes conserving and enhancing the character of the Surrey Hills and High Weald Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

Areas potentially suitable for waste management development include sites and areas identified for 

employment uses, industrial and storage purposes, redundant agricultural and forestry buildings and 

their curtilages. Waste management development is prioritised on previously developed land, sites 

identified for employment uses, and redundant agricultural and forestry buildings and their curtilages 

and/or land not in the Green Belt.  

Sustainable transport options in Surrey are limited, however, through the delivery of new or improved 

waste management facilities a network of sustainable facilities is encouraged. This should include sites 

which are well-connected to sources of waste, such as main centres of population and employment by 

road or rail.  

By encouraging a network of waste management facilities which are well connected to sources of 

waste, the county council is seeking to avoid significant adverse impacts from the movements of 

vehicles, especially heavy good vehicles (HGVs), on residents. 

Areas which are likely to offer opportunities for waste development in accordance with this Spatial 

Strategy include urban areas and towns located close to the boundary with London and large towns, 

including Guildford, Woking, Reigate/Redhill and Farnham. 

4.3 Identifying Sites and Areas 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search  

4.3.1.1 Consistent with the spatial strategy, which prioritises development on PDL and sites and areas 

identified for employment uses, industrial and storage purposes.  

Page 574

16



   
 

S p a t i a l  S t r a t e g y  f o r  W a s t e  D e v e l o p m e n t  i n  S u r r e y  |  3 5  
    

4.3.1.2 Areas of search have been identified, based on those areas specified as suitable for employment, 

industrial and storage purposes in district and borough local plans40, These ‘Industrial Land Areas of 

Search’ (ILAS) are ‘in principle’ areas within which it is more likely that sites considered suitable for 

the development of additional waste management facilities can be identified. Details of these ILAS 

are set out in Part 2 of this Plan. 

 Allocated Sites 

4.3.2.1 In addition to the ILAS, sites considered suitable in principle for the development of additional 

waste management facilities are allocated in the Plan. Details of the allocated sites are set out in 

Part 2 of this Plan. The allocation of sites is intended to provide certainty that there is suitable land 

within Surrey that could be developed to meet future waste management capacity requirements. 

4.3.2.2 The process of identifying the allocated sites involved the following main stages41:  

• Stage 1 – Identification of a ‘long list’ of potential sites, drawing on information 

from a range of sources. 

• Stage 2 – Collection of baseline information about each of the potential sites on 

the ‘long list’. 

• Stage 3 – Elimination of potential sites from further consideration through the 

application of a series of preliminary sieves. 

• Stages 4 & 5 – Assessment of the remaining sites against a further suite of sieves, 

including Green Belt and PDL status, and evaluation of their suitability for waste 

related development. 

4.3.2.3 The above process revealed that unless some Green Belt land is allocated there will be no certainty 

that sufficient land can be developed to meet the identified need for additional waste management 

capacity. For each site particular circumstances were considered to justify the allocation of Green 

Belt land, including, where relevant the status of land as PDL. 

4.3.2.4 In total the allocated sites amount to approximately 19 hectares42. In order to meet the need for 

additional capacity for other recovery it is estimated that the amount of land needed is 

approximately 6 hectares43. The allocated sites ensure the Plan is deliverable, in the event that any 

suitable land outside the Green Belt, that might exist, does not come forward for waste related 

development. 

  

 

40 Either adopted, submission or pre-submission local plans. Further details can be found in the Industrial Land Area of 
Search Report (December 2018) 

41 For a full description of the methodology used to identify potential sites see: Site Identification & Evaluation Report, April 
2019 

42 Excluding land north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate which is largely required to accommodate the relocation of existing 
facilities. 

43 Based on calculations for site area in the Site Identification and Evaluation Report April 2019 

Page 575

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  3 6  
    

5 Policies 

5.1 Net self-sufficiency 

 Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development  

5.1.1.1 The WFD requires WPAs to plan for enough waste management infrastructure to handle waste 

arisings equivalent to those for their plan area. The NPPW requires WPAs, when preparing local 

plans, to identify sufficient opportunities to meet the identified needs of their area for the 

management of a range of different waste streams. 

5.1.1.2 For Surrey it is estimated that by the end of the Plan period there will be shortfall of capacity of 

facilities for other recovery (Table 4). As new waste management capacity is developed the capacity 

gap will change and this will be monitored in the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). The need for 

facilities will be assessed against the results of monitoring in the latest AMR. 

5.1.1.3 The WPAs aim is for Surrey to be net self-sufficient, that is, the county has enough waste 

management capacity to deal with the equivalent amount of waste to that which it generates. This 

means that the WPA should plan to provide sufficient capacity to adequately manage forecast 

waste requirements in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

5.1.1.4 Waste development which supports the sustainable management of waste, including through 

maximising opportunities for preparing for re-use, recycling and recovery, will contribute to 

achieving sustainable development by making best use of natural resources. While the WPA 

acknowledges a specific need for additional other recovery capacity, it seeks to promote recycling 

capacity ahead of other recovery capacity. This means that the development of additional recycling 

capacity which reduces the need for other recovery capacity will be encouraged. This approach is 

consistent with the WFD and the vision for the Plan.  

5.1.1.5 Proposals for the development of waste management facilities must comply with other policies in 

this Plan including those related to location and environmental protection. 

5.1.1.6 A waste incinerator that can generate energy with high efficiency can qualify as a recovery 

operation. This will be assessed on a case by case basis in the event of a planning application being 

received. For plant managing municipal waste or automotive shredder residues, performance is 

measured using the R1 Energy Efficiency formula in Annex II of the WFD. This matter is assessed by 

the Environment Agency as part of the environmental permitting regime. 

5.1.1.7 The potential for a plant to meet the R1 standard will form part of the assessment when 

determining a planning application44. However, the combustion of waste, or fuel produced from 

waste, without efficient energy recovery ranks alongside disposal at the bottom of the waste 

hierarchy.  

 

44 The assessment of the performance of a plant against the R1 formula can only be made once a plant is operational. There 
will be local factors that mean that, although a plant is designed with the potential for R1 standards to be met, in operation 
these are impossible to achieve due to, for example, the lack of opportunity for a local heat network. 

Page 576

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  3 7  
    

Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development  

Planning permission for the development of new waste facilities will be granted where it can be 

demonstrated that: 

i) The proposed development will contribute to achieving targets for recycling, recovery and the 

diversion of the waste away from disposal in a manner that does not prevent management of 

the waste at the highest point practical in the waste hierarchy. 

ii) Proposals for other recovery capacity45 will not result in the requirements for such capacity, as 

specified in the latest Annual Monitoring Report, to be exceeded.  

 

Table 9 Monitoring for Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development  

Measure/Indicator • Additional capacity (tonnes per annum) granted through new waste 

planning permissions.  

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Survey responses from operators. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority.  

• Waste Industry. 

Target(s) • Capacity is at least equal to the waste generated (net self-sufficiency). 

Trigger • Waste capacity is more than 20% below arisings. 

5.2 Sustainable Waste Management (Waste Hierarchy) 

 Waste Prevention 

5.2.1.1 A resource efficient, or ‘circular’, economy is one where fewer resources are used to produce more, 

making the most of those resources by keeping them in use for as long as possible, extracting the 

maximum value from them whilst in use, then recovering and regenerating products and materials 

at the end of each service life. This includes by preventing waste being generated in the first place 

which is at the top of the waste hierarchy.  

5.2.1.2 Opportunities for waste prevention occur throughout a product life-cycle and include actions such 

as: 

• Introducing separate food waste collections – to help residents identify how much food 

they throw away leading to less over-purchasing. 

 

45 As defined in the glossary. This is not including treatment of food waste by anaerobic digestion. 

Page 577

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  3 8  
    

• Work with Government to introduce extended producer responsibility – to encourage 

producers to design out waste and design in recyclability, by requiring them to cover the 

costs of the collection and management of products once they become wastes. 

• Persuading residents to change their buying habits through communications campaigns.  

• Reducing the capacity of residual waste bins – to encourage residents to think about 

how much they consume and throw away. 

5.2.1.3 These actions require the WPA, WDA and WCAs to work together and with other partners to 

promote waste prevention, education and awareness initiatives. 

5.2.1.4 The Waste Management Plan for England46 and the Waste Prevention Programme for England47 

contribute to a circular economy by encouraging people and businesses to use products for longer, 

repair broken items, and enable reuse of items by others. In Surrey this includes promoting the 

reuse of furniture and white goods through the Surrey Reuse Network. 

 Policy 2 – Recycling and Recovery (other than inert C, D & E and soil recycling facilities) 

5.2.2.1 Following the waste hierarchy, waste management capacity which maximises options for recycling, 

and recovery, are, in turn, the next most sustainable. The range of waste management technology 

covered is wide, including materials recovery facilities (MRFs), mechanical biological treatment 

(MBT) plants, autoclave or in-vessel composting (IVC) plants and energy from waste (EfW) 

technologies. This list is not exhaustive and the policy is not technology specific so that the Plan can 

react to new technologies that may be developed in the future. 

5.2.2.2 The county council is supportive of recycling and recovery operations where it can be demonstrated 

that facilities will not have adverse effects on amenity, communities or the environment. The types 

of waste technology suitable to a location will depend on the nature and scale of the proposed 

scheme and the characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  

5.2.2.3 CRCs are sites operated by the WDA for local residents to drop off their household waste, 

recyclables and bulky waste. Surrey has 15 CRC sites which manage approximately 100,000 tonnes 

of material each year. Of this 59% of the materials collected at the CRCs were recycled in 2017. 

When materials sent for energy recovery or other beneficial use are included the total diversion 

rate from landfill is 95%48 for all waste collected at kerbside and at the CRCs. 

5.2.2.4 Policy 2 applies to any development associated with a CRC, including ancillary development (e.g. 

depot, workshop, etc.), that promotes sustainable waste management or improves the 

effectiveness and efficiency with which the site operates (e.g. fewer vehicle movements, better 

access etc.). 

5.2.2.5 Unlike operations involving mixed C&D waste, inert C,D&E waste and soil recycling facilities are 

often located in the open and associated with other activity, such as mineral working, and so 

require a specific (Policy 3).  

 

46 Waste Management Plan for England, December 2013 

47 Prevention is better than cure: the role of waste prevention in moving to a more resource efficient economy, December 
2013 

48 Surrey Planning Service Annual Monitoring Report 2017/18. 

Page 578

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  3 9  
    

5.2.2.6 Proposals for the improvement or extension of existing recycling or recovery operations (other than 

inert C,D&E and soil recycling facilities) should be dealt with under Policy 8. The consideration of 

such proposals will also have regard to Policy 2. 

5.2.2.7 New recovery technologies (e.g. EfW) will particularly suit locations that have access to gas, 

electricity, heat and freight networks. However, small-scale anaerobic digestion (AD), inert C,D&E 

waste recycling facilities and open windrow composting plants may be more suited to rural or semi-

rural settings (e.g. existing farms) and are normally not compatible with high-value office or 

business parks. Application of the policies in Section 5.4 determines the suitability of such 

development in rural locations.  

5.2.2.8 Particular benefits may arise from co-locating a waste management facility either with other waste 

facilities or with other forms of development (e.g. housing and employment). Such benefits include 

synergies and efficiencies in waste management and transport as well as the potential for the local 

use of heat and energy generated by EfW facilities. 

 

Policy 2 – Recycling and Recovery (other than inert C, D & E and soil recycling facilities) 

A. Planning permission for the development of recycling or recovery facilities (other than inert C, D & E 

and soil recycling facilities) and any associated development will be granted where: 

i) The site is allocated in the Surrey Waste Local Plan for waste development (Policy 11a and 

Policy 11b).  

ii) The activity involves the redevelopment of a site, or part of a site, in existing waste 

management use.  

iii) The site is otherwise suitable for waste development when assessed against Policy 10 and other 

policies in the Plan. 

B. Development of waste recycling and recovery activities co-located with other waste and non-waste 

development will be supported where it can be demonstrated that there are benefits from the co-

location which may include: 

i) More efficient production, in terms of quantity or quality, of recyclate and waste derived fuels. 

ii) Fewer lorry movements would be required as a result of co-location.  

iii) An additional beneficial use is associated with waste recycling and recovery operations at the 

site e.g. efficient contribution to an energy network.  

 

Table 10 Monitoring for Policy 2 – Recycling and Recovery  

Measure/Indicator • Waste arisings (tonnes) of waste from households. 

• Waste arisings (tonnes) of C & I waste. 

• Amount/proportion of waste from households and C & I waste recycled, 

recovered or composted (tonnes, %).  

Page 579

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 0  
    

Data Source(s) • Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator.  

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority.  

• Waste Disposal Authority.  

• Environment Agency.  

Target(s) • 70% of waste from households is prepared for re-use or recycled by 

2033. 

• 70% of C&I waste is prepared for re-use or recycled by 2033. 

Trigger • Waste arisings and/or rates for preparing for re-use or recycling exceed 

waste forecasts or other information available suggests that the plan is 

unable to meet the demand for new or enhanced facilities. 

 Policy 3 – Recycling of Inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 

5.2.3.1 For the purpose of Policy 3, inert C,D&E waste is defined as the range of inert materials which arise 

from the construction or demolition of buildings and civil engineering projects and includes soils 

which have been excavated as a result of site preparation activities. Significant quantities of this 

waste arise in the county. The waste makes up over one third of the total controlled waste stream 

produced in Surrey each year. Inert C,D&E waste is also imported into the county, in particular from 

London and elsewhere in the South East.  

5.2.3.2 Inert C,D&E waste recycling encompasses the screening, processing, crushing, washing or other 

similar activities which produce materials such as recycled aggregates and soils that are suitable for 

sale. Such operations typically take place in the open, and are suited to rural locations, although 

some methods of treatment can be enclosed.  

5.2.3.3 In Surrey, the recycled aggregates that are substituted for land won aggregates are primarily 

materials derived from inert C,D&E waste. Recycled aggregates include: 

• Hard construction and demolition waste (segregated or mixed unprocessed / uncrushed 

materials, in particular concrete, masonry, bricks, tiles and ceramics). 

• Excavation waste (naturally occurring stone, rock and similar materials which have been 

excavated as a result of site preparation activities). 

• Bituminous materials (arising from road engineering works). 

5.2.3.4 The Aggregate Recycling Joint Development Plan Document (ARJDPD seeks to increase the use of 

secondary and recycled materials as substitutes for primary aggregate and consequently to reduce 

the amount of construction and demolition waste disposed of to landfill. The ARJDPD identifies the 

types of sites capable of contributing to the future provision of aggregate recycling capacity, 

including: 

• Existing permanent sites. 

• Existing temporary sites. 

• In-situ temporary recycling at excavation and demolition sites. 

• Potential new temporary and permanent sites. 

• Windfall capacity including intensification and / or extensions to existing sites. 

Page 580

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 1  
    

5.2.3.5 In order to support targets for aggregate recycling in the Surrey Minerals Plan and Aggregates 

Recycling Joint DPD, the Plan needs to encourage recycling of inert C,D&E waste. Policy 3 sets out 

the criteria against which proposals for managing inert C,D&E waste (including soil recycling) should 

be considered and complements the policies in the Surrey Minerals Plan and Aggregates Recycling 

Joint DPD. 

5.2.3.6 It is recognised that a significant proportion of existing inert C,D&E waste recycling facilities are 

located on land associated with mineral workings. These facilities benefit from temporary 

permissions which are associated with the timescale for mineral extraction and site restoration. A 

key part of the policy approach is therefore to continue to encourage temporary inert C,D&E 

recycling operations on suitable land associated with operational mineral workings. Temporary 

C,D&E recycling operations may also be associated with the restoration of landfilling and landraising 

sites. Any proposal for a C,D&E recycling facility on land which constitutes a restored former mineral 

working would be considered in accordance with clause A iv) of Policy 3. In the event of a proposal 

for the permanent retention of an existing temporary facility coming forward prior to the 

completion of a mineral operation, including its restoration, then it would be considered in 

accordance with the same clause as if the approved restoration scheme had been fully 

implemented. Any such proposal would need to demonstrate the need for and benefits of a 

permanent facility having regard to the policies of the Plan, as well as providing additional benefits 

and enhancements to the original restoration scheme. 

5.2.3.7 The approach within the Plan is to encourage the sustainable management of waste in line with the 

waste hierarchy. As such, the Plan promotes the recycling of inert material over the recovery of this 

material to land. The county council recognises the tension that may exist between supporting 

recycling of inert C,D&E waste and encouraging timely restoration, as ongoing recycling might slow 

down restoration. 

5.2.3.8 Facilities for inert C,D&E waste recycling should be sited in locations easily accessible from the 

sources of the wastes and may be temporarily linked to a specific development e.g. mineral working 

or large construction project. These types of developments will be supported where it can be 

demonstrated that facilities will not cause unacceptable impacts on amenity, communities or the 

environment. 

5.2.3.9 It is recognised that inert C,D&E waste managed at these facilities may include incidental quantities 

of non-inert materials such as wood and that processing operations will result in their removal as 

part of the production of an inert recycled aggregate or soil. Facilities which manage mixed C,D&E 

waste, that contains greater quantities of non-inert waste (such as that stored and transported in 

skips), should be enclosed and are generally not associated with temporary mineral working and 

landfill restoration. The suitability of proposals for such facilities will therefore be considered against 

Policy 2. 

5.2.3.10 Proposals for the improvement or extension of existing inert construction, demolition and 

excavation waste recycling facilities should be dealt with under Policy 8. The consideration of such 

proposals will also have regard to Policy 2. 

Page 581

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 2  
    

Policy 3 – Recycling of Inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 

A. Planning permission for the development of inert C,D&E waste recycling facilities will be granted 

where, either: 

i) The site is allocated in the Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan Document, or 

ii) the site is a mineral working where the nature and duration of the proposed activity is limited 

to the consented operation and/or restoration of the mineral working, or 

iii) the site is for landraising or landfilling where the nature and duration of the proposed 

operations  is limited to the consented activity, or 

iv) the site is otherwise suitable for inert C, D & E waste recycling operations when assessed 

against policies in the Surrey Waste Local Plan and the Spatial Strategy. 

B. Planning permission for the development of inert C, D & E waste recycling operations located with 

types of development other than those mentioned above will be granted where it can be demonstrated 

that there are benefits from their co-location which may include: 

i) More efficient production, in terms of quantity or quality, of secondary and recycled aggregate. 

ii) Fewer lorry movements would be required as a result of co-location.  

iii) An additional beneficial use is associated with inert C, D & E waste processing at the site e.g. 

use of the recycled inert C, D & E waste materials within the development. 

Table 11 Monitoring for Policy 3 – Recycling of Inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 

Measure/Indicator • Inert C,D&E waste arisings (tonnes).  

• Amount of waste prepared for reuse or recycled (tonnes, %).  

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Survey responses from operators e.g. Recycled Aggregates. 

• Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator.  

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority.  

• Environment Agency (for information). 

• Waste Industry (for information). 

Target(s) • 80% of C, D & E waste is recycled by 2033. 

Trigger • Waste arisings and/or rates for preparing for re-use or recycling exceed 

waste forecasts or other information available suggests that the plan is 

unable to meet the demand for new or enhanced facilities. 

 

  

Page 582

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 3  
    

 Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development  

5.2.4.1 Development often results in the production of a significant quantity of waste; during the 

construction, operation and demolition stages. It is therefore important that consideration is given 

to this in determining planning applications for all forms of development. 

5.2.4.2 Waste management issues should be addressed at the design stage of new developments to ensure 

that wastes arising during the construction (and demolition) phase and the operational phase can 

be managed in a sustainable manner. 

5.2.4.3 New developments will need to incorporate storage facilities designed to ensure waste recycling is 

maximised. There may be opportunities, particularly for larger scale developments, for the 

incorporation of small scale waste processing facilities into the scheme, particularly where there is 

scope for the recovery and use of heat. 

5.2.4.4 While district and borough councils are not responsible for the planning of waste development, in 

terms of the preparation or the determination of planning applications, they must have regard to 

national planning policy concerning waste and the waste hierarchy. Such policy must be considered 

when determining planning applications for non-waste development in a number of ways including:  

• Integrating local waste management opportunities in proposed new development. 

• Promoting good management of waste from any proposed development, such as 

through encouraging on-site management of waste and salvage.   

• Promoting sustainable construction practices through the use of recycled products, 

recovery of on-site material and the provision of facilities for the storage and regular 

collection of waste. 

5.2.4.5 Non-waste development is normally the responsibility of the relevant LPA and some local plans and 

other planning guidance already seek to address in more detail issues of sustainable design and 

construction including waste management. Policy 4 complements any such existing policies in 

adopted or emerging local plans. Implementation of Policy 4 is the responsibility of the relevant LPA 

for any proposals for development of a type not determined by the county council. 

5.2.4.6 The information to accompany planning applications to demonstrate compliance with Policy 4 

should be proportionate to the size of the development and the amounts and types of waste likely 

to be generated. The WPA has produced a Sustainable Construction Standing Advice Note49 that 

provides further information on this matter. 

5.2.4.7 Policies in the Surrey Minerals Plan and Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD that encourage the use of 

recycled and secondary aggregate in development should be considered alongside Policy 4 of this 

Plan. 

 

49 The Surrey County Council Sustainable Construction Standing Advice Note is available on the Minerals and Waste Planning 
Policy webpage 

Page 583

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 4  
    

Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development 

Planning permission for any development will be granted where it has been demonstrated50 that: 

i) The waste generated during the construction, demolition and excavation phase of development 

is limited to the minimum quantity necessary. 

ii) Opportunities for re-use and for the recycling of construction, demolition and excavation 

residues and waste on site are maximised. 

iii) On-site facilities to manage the waste arising during the operation of the development of an 

appropriate type and scale have been considered as part of the development.  

iv) Integrated storage to facilitate reuse and recycling of waste is incorporated in the 

development. 

Table 12 Monitoring for Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development 

Measure/Indicator • Consultation Protocol is kept up to date. 

• Planning applications for all types of development are accompanied by 

information setting out how waste will be managed. 

• Site Waste Management Plans are submitted with planning applications 

for major development. 

Data Source(s) • SCC Consultation Protocol. 

• Development Management Teams. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Local Planning Authority. 

• Development Industry.  

Target(s) • Consultation Protocol has been reviewed in the past 12 months. 

• 100% of planning applications are accompanied by information setting 

out how waste will be managed. 

Trigger • Consultation Protocol has not been reviewed in the past 24 months. 

• Less than 95% of planning applications are accompanied by information 

setting out how waste will be managed. 

 

 

50 To demonstrate consistency with this policy, applications for large scale development should be accompanied by a ‘Site 

Waste Management Plan’ that clearly sets out how waste produced during all stages of a development will be minimised 
and managed in a sustainable manner. The impacts of the processes involved in the recycling or reuse of wastes on site will 
be considered when determining the acceptability of the proposed development. 

Large scale development is defined as sites of 5 hectares or more as these projects would be defined as Schedule 2 
development under paragraphs 10(a) (Industrial development projects) and 10(b) (Urban development projects) of the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 as amended by the Town and Country 
Planning and Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Amendment) Regulations 2018. 

 

Page 584

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 5  
    

 Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land 

5.2.5.1 The beneficial use of C,D&E waste for inert fill, where this is necessary, can be categorised as a 

waste recovery operation. Waste recovery can be defined as any operation the principal result of 

which is waste serving a useful purpose by replacing materials which would have otherwise been 

used to fulfil a particular function, or waste being prepared to fulfil that function, in the plant or 

wider economy. 

5.2.5.2 In Surrey, inert material derived from C,D&E waste is a valuable resource and when used in mineral 

site restoration as inert fill or as capping material for landfilling or landraising activities is considered 

to be a recovery operation. This is explained further in the Minerals Site Restoration SPD. Given the 

need for this type of material in restoration, this activity is the preferred option over any other 

recovery operation.  

5.2.5.3 Other types of recovery operations involving inert waste can include: 

• Constructing haul roads / hardstanding. 

• Agricultural land improvements or other engineering operations. 

• Landscaping and noise attenuation bunds. 

5.2.5.4 In light of the fact that inert waste readily lends itself to being put to a beneficial use, the disposal of 

inert waste to land is considered unacceptable.  

5.2.5.5 The WPA will consider whether proposed development involving the deposit of waste is a genuine 

‘recovery’ activity. Such consideration involves an assessment of whether there is a genuine need 

for the development, or if the activity is in fact being proposed because it provides an outlet for the 

‘disposal’ of waste for its own sake. Such consideration will include whether the activity involves 

restoration of mineral workings with inert material or use as a landfill capping material required by 

planning conditions and/or obligations.  

5.2.5.6 Such activity may require a separate Environmental Permit, for disposal or recovery of waste, from 

the Environment Agency. As different legislation applies, even if the permit is for a ‘disposal’ 

activity, the county council may decide that, for the purpose of this Plan, the activity is considered 

to be recovery. Likewise, the Environment Agency has its own assessment for recovery operations.  

5.2.5.7 The recovery of inert waste to land will only be supported if the development provides a significant 

benefit that would outweigh any significant adverse impacts. In the case of land remediation, the 

development must demonstrate a significant improvement to damaged or degraded land and/or 

provide a greater environmental or agricultural value than the previous land use. 

5.2.5.8 Large scale landraising projects could divert inert waste materials from other sites, such as quarries 

that require such material for restoration, as well as having the potential to cause adverse impacts. 

The amount of material which is proposed to be deposited provides an indication of the scale of the 

development and proposals must demonstrate that the quantity of waste to be used is the 

minimum amount required. This may be done by showing how the development would be 

compromised by the deposit of less waste than proposed e.g. by reducing the quantity by 10%, 

20%, 30% etc.  

5.2.5.9 Any changes to the landform resulting from the proposal would need to be sympathetic to the area. 

The development should respect the landscape character and visual amenity of the site and 

Page 585

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 6  
    

surrounding area, as well as those interests relating to nature conservation and community 

amenity. 

5.2.5.10 If an application, or part of an application, which includes a recovery to land operation is to be 

determined by a district or borough council, then Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land would 

apply as part of the decision making framework. 

5.2.5.11 A formal protocol51  has been established that makes it possible for inert excavation waste to be 

classified as a ‘non waste’ e.g. engineering material, rather than a waste. The use of such material in 

development is not subject to control by the planning and environmental permitting regimes 

concerned with waste management. However such development needs to be carefully scrutinised 

and monitored by the responsible authorities i.e. the Environment Agency and the LPAs to ensure 

that the development does not in fact constitute waste management. 

Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land 

Planning permission for the recovery of inert waste to land will be granted where this is necessary to 

implement mineral restoration and non-inert landfill restoration schemes and for other development 

involving the deposit of inert waste on land that will not prejudice mineral restoration and non-inert 

landfill restoration activity within the county if:  

i) There is a significant benefit or improvement from the development.  

ii) The benefit or improvement cannot practicably and reasonably be met in any other way. 

iii) The waste cannot practicably and reasonably be re-used, recycled or processed in any other 

way. 

iv) The use of the inert waste material replaces the need for non-waste materials. 

v) The development involves the minimum quantity of waste necessary. 

Table 13 Monitoring for Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land 

Measure/Indicator • Amount of inert waste disposed of on land for beneficial purposes 

(tonnes, %). 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions. 

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator. 

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority.  

• Environment Agency (for information). 

Target(s) • 5% of C,D&E waste sent for disposal to landfill by 2025. 

• 0% of C,D&E waste sent for disposal to landfill by 2033. 

Trigger • Evidence of insufficient capacity for inert material.  

 

51 ‘CL:AIRE Protocol’ – Definition of Waste Code of Practice 

Page 586

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 7  
    

 Policy 6 – Disposal of Non-inert Waste to Land 

5.2.6.1 The Plan aims to divert non-inert waste away from landfill by providing other types of facilities for 

the management of waste. As disposal is the least preferred option for waste management in the 

waste hierarchy, the demand for, and availability of, non-inert landfill capacity is reducing across the 

South East of England. However landfill continues to have a role in waste management and is 

therefore an option the county council needs to plan for, an approach that is consistent with 

national policy52. In Surrey one non-inert landfill remains, at Patteson Court the planning permission 

for which requires that restoration be completed by 2030. 

5.2.6.2 As sites providing for the disposal of non-inert waste to land are becoming more specialised, waste 

now travels over administrative boundaries to reach these facilities. This position is recognised by all 

WPAs across the South East of England53. Waste sent to landfill should be the residue remaining 

after other types of treatment such as recycling and recovery, and should be the fraction that 

cannot be dealt with in any other way with a low content of putrescible material and a smaller 

volume than would have been the case in the past.  

5.2.6.3 For some hazardous wastes disposal to landfill offers the only practical waste management solution. 

Such wastes are produced in relatively small quantities and managed at specialist sites or within 

specially engineered cells at sites disposing of other non-inert waste. 

5.2.6.4 In light of the above and the fact that no sites for landfill were promoted by any party during the 

preparation of this Plan, no allocations are made for new landfill facilities. Proposals for landfill 

(including extensions or alterations of existing landfill sites) may, nevertheless, come forward and so 

a policy is required to address such proposals. The policy would also be used to assess proposals to 

extend the end dates for permitted facilities.  

5.2.6.5 The assessment of need for any new non-inert landfill must take account of existing capacity, and 

the extent to which it is sufficient to deal with residual waste. The assessment must plan for the fact 

that waste is transported increasingly long distances and so existing sites some distance away may 

be able to serve requirements in Surrey and neighbouring areas. In some cases existing landfills for 

hazardous waste may serve a national market.  

5.2.6.6 Biodegradable waste disposed of in landfill degrades to produce landfill gas, much of which is the 

combustible compound methane. Any application for landfill development must explain how the 

site would be restored and how landfill gas would be managed during the operational and aftercare 

phases. The use of landfill gas to produce energy provides a potential benefit by off-setting demand 

for fossil fuels, and that benefit should be realised wherever possible. Over the longer term, with 

significant reductions in the amount of biodegradable waste disposed of to landfill, the 

opportunities for gas recovery will diminish. 

5.2.6.7 To ensure that the potential benefits of disposal through non-inert landfill are realised, proposals 

must address the intended final use of the land, and should include proposals for high quality 

restoration and plans for long term management. The restoration of mineral workings is a priority in 

Surrey with which disposal of non-inert waste may assist, in light of this landfilling within mineral 

workings is preferred over landraising. 

 

52 Paragraph 3 of the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014 

53 South East Waste Planning Advisory Group Joint Position Statement on Non-inert Landfill in the South East of England 

Page 587

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 8  
    

Policy 6 - Disposal of Non-inert Waste to Land 

Planning permission for development involving disposal of non-inert waste to land will be granted 

where: 

i) The waste to be disposed of is the residue of a treatment process and cannot practicably and 

reasonably be re-used, recycled or recovered.  

ii) There is a clearly established need for the additional waste disposal to land capacity which 

cannot practicably be met at existing permitted sites.  

iii) Best practice measures are included to ensure maximum practicable recovery of energy from 

landfill gas.   

iv) The resulting final landform, landscaping and after-uses are sympathetically designed and 

enhance the natural environment. 

v) In the case of landraise proposals for non-inert waste, in addition to the requirements (i) to (iv) 

above, permission will only be granted if all existing permitted land disposal and mineral 

working sites have been investigated and eliminated as unsuitable for non-inert waste disposal.  

Table 14 Monitoring of Policy 6 - Disposal of Non-inert Waste to Land 

Measure/Indicator • Amount of non-inert waste by waste stream diverted from Landfill 

(tonnes, %). 

Data Source(s) • Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator.  

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority.  

• Environment Agency. 

Target(s) • <5% of waste from households sent for disposal to landfill by 2025. 

• <1% of waste from households sent for disposal to landfill by 2035. 

• <10% of C&I waste sent for disposal to landfill by 2025. 

• <5% of C&I waste sent for disposal to landfill by 2035. 

Trigger • Evidence of insufficient capacity for non-inert material. 

 Policy 7 – Safeguarding  

5.2.7.1 Opportunities for the development of waste management capacity are limited in Surrey. The loss of 

existing or planned waste management sites to other types of development, or constraints on 

management activity and capacity may make net self-sufficiency harder to achieve. 

5.2.7.2 The safeguarding of sites in existing waste use in addition to those with planning permission and/or 

allocated for waste development, will ensure that the need for existing or planned waste 

management infrastructure is taken into account when decisions are made on new development by 

all planning authorities in Surrey. Considerations of the need for the safeguarding of an existing site 

will take into account how well the management of waste at that site is consistent with the strategic 

objectives, spatial strategy and policies of this Plan. 

Page 588

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  4 9  
    

5.2.7.3 Surrey is a two-tier area in terms of local government structure, with responsibility for determining 

the majority of planning applications for non-waste related development, such as housing, lying 

with the district and borough councils (the LPAs) within the county. It is essential that the WPA and 

the LPAs work together to ensure the provision of suitable and sufficient waste management 

infrastructure.  

5.2.7.4 Safeguarding of waste facilities is a material planning consideration but does not rule out alternative 

development. Whether planning permission should be granted for non-waste development is 

usually a decision for the relevant borough or district council to take, in consultation with the WPA, 

and will depend on the circumstances of each individual case. Nevertheless, the presumption is that 

existing and planned waste development should be safeguarded. This includes from proximate 

development that may adversely affect the operation of the site. Sites with temporary planning 

permission for a waste use are safeguarded for the duration of the permission.  

5.2.7.5 Existing waste operations should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 

new development in proximity that may be sensitive to their operation that could be deemed a 

statutory nuisance (e.g. noise). Applicants seeking permission for new and potentially sensitive non-

waste development (‘agents of change’) in proximity to waste sites will be required to demonstrate 

that their proposed development will not prejudice the waste operation, including through 

incorporating measures into the design and orientation of buildings and other structures, to 

mitigate potential effects and sensitivity. 

5.2.7.6 The Surrey Minerals & Waste Consultation Protocol54  sets out how the WPA and the LPAs work 

together constructively to ensure waste safeguarding issues are taken into account as appropriate 

during the preparation of local plans and in the determination of planning applications. The protocol 

and associated standing advice is kept up to date to provide guidance on safeguarding issues. 

5.2.7.7 While the protocol provides a useful framework it is not a replacement for ongoing communication 

and collaboration between authorities and the process relies on the county council and the district 

and borough councils working together effectively.  

 

54 The Surrey County Council Minerals & Waste Consultation Protocol is available on the Minerals and Waste Planning Policy 
webpage 

Page 589

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 0  
    

Policy 7 - Safeguarding 

A. The following sites, which may be required for waste development will be safeguarded: 

i) Allocated sites for waste development.  

ii) Sites in existing waste use including wastewater and sewage treatment works (including those 

with temporary permission).  

iii) Sites with permission for waste use but which have not been developed. 

In accordance with the Consultation Protocol, local planning authorities must consult the Waste 

Planning Authority on proposals for non-waste development on, or in proximity to, safeguarded waste 

sites. 

B. Proposals for non-waste development in proximity to safeguarded waste sites must demonstrate that 

they would not prejudice the operation of the site, including through incorporation of measures to 

mitigate and reduce their sensitivity to waste operations. Proposals that would lead to loss of waste 

management capacity, prejudice site operation, or restrict future development of safeguarded sites 

should not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant that either: 

i) The waste capacity and/or safeguarded site is not required, or 

ii) the need for the non-waste development overrides the need for safeguarding, or 

iii) equivalent, suitable and appropriate replacement capacity can be provided elsewhere in 

advance of the non-waste development. 

Table 15 Monitoring for Policy 7 – Safeguarding  

Measure/Indicator • Number of safeguarded waste sites redeveloped for other uses contrary 

to advice from Surrey County Council as the WPA. 

• Number of safeguarded waste sites where permission is granted for 

neighbouring development contrary to advice from Surrey County 

Council as the WPA. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Local District and Borough Planning Authority. 

• Development Industry. 

Target(s) • No existing suitable waste sites or planned facilities lost contrary to 

advice from Surrey County Council as the WPA. 

Trigger • Loss or reduction of existing or planned waste management facilities to 

other uses, contrary to Surrey County Council advice, which result in net 

loss of strategic capacity (>20,000 tonnes). 

 

  

Page 590

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 1  
    

 Policy 8 – Improvement or extension of existing facilities 

5.2.8.1 Existing waste development in Surrey is often well-established having been in operation for many 

years. Such development may benefit from permanent planning permission or a Lawful 

Development Certificate.  

5.2.8.2 The improvement or extension of an existing waste development may enable more waste to be 

recycled, recovered or processed for re-use within the established footprint of the site and with 

reduced impacts due to changes in technology or site layout. 

5.2.8.3 Waste development which seeks to improve the capacity and efficiency of existing waste 

developments whilst reducing harmful impacts will be supported. Such proposals are considered 

against all the relevant policies of this Plan and in particular Policies 1 (concerning the need to 

manage waste in accordance with the waste hierarchy) and 14 (concerning impacts on communities 

and the environment).  

5.2.8.4 To ensure no loss in existing capacity, re-development of any existing waste management sites must 

ensure that the quantity of waste to be managed is equal to or greater than the quantity of waste 

for which the site currently has permission. Applications for improvement or extension of facilities 

with temporary planning permission should take account of the original reasons for the permission 

being time limited and not result in development (or extensions to time) which would undermine 

them. 

5.2.8.5 A list of existing waste management facilities in Surrey is included, and updated each year, in the 

AMR. 

 

Policy 8 – Improvement or extension of existing facilities 

Planning permission for the improvement or extension (physical or temporal) of existing waste 

management facilities will be granted where: 

i) Any resulting change to the type and/or quantity of waste managed at the site is consistent 

with this Plan’s requirements for the management of waste and that the quantity of waste to 

be managed is equal to or greater than the quantity of waste currently managed on site.   

ii) Benefits to the environment and local amenity will result. 

iii) The improvement or extension of a recycling and recovery facility (other than inert C,D&E and 

soil recycling facilities) is consistent with Policy 2. 

iv) The improvement or extension of a facility for recycling of inert construction, demolition and 

excavation waste is consistent with Policy 3. 

Proposals for the improvement or extension (physical or temporal) of facilities with temporary planning 

permission should include consideration of the original reason(s) for the permission being time limited 

and not result in development (or extensions to time) that would undermine them. 

 

  

Page 591

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 2  
    

Table 16  Monitoring for Policy 8 – Improvement or extension of existing facilities  

Measure/Indicator • Number of planning permissions granted for redevelopment, extension 

or enhancement of existing sites. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Local District and Borough Planning Authority. 

• Development Industry. 

Target(s) • No net loss of suitable capacity (tonnes). 

Trigger • There is a loss of suitable capacity which suggests that the plan is unable 

to meet the demand for new or enhanced facilities.  

5.3 Location of new waste infrastructure 

 Policy 9 – Green Belt  

5.3.1.1 The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 

open. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be 

approved except in very special circumstances55. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless 

the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting 

from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations56. 

5.3.1.2 LPAs should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions 

to this are57: 

• The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 

disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building. 

• The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 

materially larger than the one it replaces. 

• Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land, 

whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would 

not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 

development. 

5.3.1.3 As a result, there may be instances where the redevelopment or extension of existing facilities may 

be acceptable as they are considered to be an exception to inappropriate development.  

5.3.1.4 Mineral development is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt, provided that it preserves 

the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land in the 

Green Belt. Waste development that may not be considered ‘inappropriate’ includes that which is 

 

55 Paragraph 143 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

56 Paragraph 144 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

57 Paragraph 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 592

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 3  
    

related to the restoration of mineral sites that can play a positive role in meeting the objectives of 

the Green Belt. For example, restoration can result in a suitable after use of a site with 

opportunities for access to restored open countryside. However, it is important to recognise that on 

its own, this development would be inappropriate and therefore it should remain linked to the 

restoration activity. 

5.3.1.5 It is considered unlikely that the anticipated waste management needs of the county will be met 

without developing waste management facilities on Green Belt land58. The overarching need for 

waste management in Surrey combined with a lack of suitable alternative sites outside the Green 

Belt and the need to locate facilities close to sources of waste, such as households and businesses, 

are among the reasons why it is considered that very special circumstances may exist for allowing 

development within the Green Belt. Further reasons are the wider social and environmental 

benefits associated with sustainable waste management, including the need for a range of sites. 

‘Other considerations’ which need to be weighed when determining whether very special 

circumstances exist may include the following: 

i) The lack of suitable non-Green Belt sites; 

ii) The need to find locations well related to the source of waste arisings; 

iii) The characteristics of the waste development including scale and type of facility; 

iv) The wider environmental and economic benefits of sustainable waste management, 

including the need for a range of sites; 

v) The site is allocated in a development plan for waste management use; 

vi) The wider environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy from 

renewable sources. 

Note that this is not an exhaustive list. 

 

Policy 9 – Green Belt   

Planning permission will not be granted for inappropriate waste management development in the 

Green Belt unless it is shown that very special circumstances exist. ’Very special circumstances’ will not 

exist unless the potential harm caused to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other 

harm resulting from the proposal is clearly outweighed by other considerations associated with the 

proposal, either on their own or in combination. 

 

  

 

58 See Site Identification and Evaluation Report April 2019 

Page 593

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 4  
    

Table 17 Monitoring for Policy 9 – Green Belt  

Measure/Indicator • Number of planning permissions granted for new waste management 

facilities in the Green Belt. 

• Reasons for any planning permissions granted for new waste 

management facilities in the Green Belt. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

Target(s) • There are no planning permissions granted for new waste management 

facilities in the Green Belt where these are not justified by VSC. 

Trigger • Successful appeal decision which requires the policy wording to be 

reviewed.  

 Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities 

5.3.2.1 The spatial strategy expresses a preference for land that is likely to be suitable for waste 

development (not involving permanent deposit) which includes PDL, sites and areas identified for 

employment uses, land identified for industrial and storage purposes, and redundant agricultural 

and forestry buildings and their curtilages. This is consistent with the NPPW (2014). 

5.3.2.2 The spatial strategy also seeks to prioritise the development of facilities on land outside of the 

Green Belt. This is consistent with the NPPF (2019). While the Plan allocates sites within the Green 

Belt, development of these sites is contingent on there not being suitable alternative sites at that 

time, unless those sites are removed from the Green Belt by the relevant LPA.  

5.3.2.3 In order to provide additional flexibility, and facilitate development in accordance with the spatial 

strategy, Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities, identifies 

broad areas which could potentially accommodate waste management development. 

5.3.2.4 The policy does not apply to activities involving the permanent deposit of waste (landfilling, land 

raising and recovery to land). However, the recycling and processing of waste can be carried out 

within appropriate, purpose-designed buildings located in urban areas and on industrial estates. 

Such facilities might include smaller specialised operations, such as those engaged in the processing 

of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE). 

5.3.2.5 The Plan prefers the development of additional waste management capacity on suitable sites 

outside the Green Belt. Hence Policy 10 has been included to demonstrate that the need for waste 

management facilities could be met through other mechanisms (e.g. development on land situated 

within the identified Industrial Land Areas of Search (ILAS)).  

Page 594

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 5  
    

Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities 

Planning permission will be granted for the development of facilities (excluding permanent deposit) at 

the following locations: 

i) Sites allocated under Policy 11a – Strategic Waste Site Allocations, not in the Green Belt 

ii) On land identified as an ‘Industrial Land Area of Search’ as shown in the policies maps. 

iii) On any other land identified for employment uses or industrial and storage purposes by district 

and borough councils. 

iv) On land considered to be previously developed59 and/or redundant agricultural and forestry 

buildings and their curtilages. 

v) On land that is otherwise suitable for waste development when assessed against other policies 

in the Plan. 

Planning permission will be granted for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility on land allocated 

under Policy 11b – Allocation of a Site for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility, if it is shown 

that the need cannot be met at any of the locations described in i) to iv) above and the proposal is 

consistent with other policies of the Plan including Policy 9 concerning Green Belt. 

Planning permission will be granted for the development of facilities (excluding permanent deposit) on 

land allocated under Policy 11a that is within the Green Belt, if it is shown that the need cannot be met 

at any of the locations described in i) to iv) above and the proposal is consistent with other policies of 

the Plan including Policy 9 concerning Green Belt. 

 

  

 

59 See glossary for definition of term ‘previously developed land’ but note that this does not include land that has been 
developed for minerals extraction where provision for restoration has been made through development management 
procedures 

Page 595

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 6  
    

 Policy 11a – Strategic Waste Site Allocations  

5.3.3.1 The NPPF (2019) expects that local plans should include strategic policies, including those which 

allocate sufficient land to accommodate the development required to meet objectively assessed 

needs60. The process of identifying sites for allocation within the Plan was undertaken with a view to 

the principles set out in the spatial strategy. The strategy recognises that although such land would 

not be the most preferred, otherwise suitable sites may come forward within the Green Belt. 

5.3.3.2 The site identification process61 found that due to the extent of the Green Belt in Surrey and lack of 

available alternatives, that it would not be possible to avoid the allocation of land within the Green 

Belt. Consequently a number of the allocated sites, which were otherwise assessed as being 

consistent with the spatial strategy, are located within the Green Belt. 

5.3.3.3 While the development of waste uses on land identified for employment and storage purposes by 

LPAs is encouraged under Policy 10, it is recognised that, due to commercial and practical 

considerations and competition from other land uses, such land cannot be wholly relied on to 

deliver the required waste management capacity over the Plan period62. The allocation of sites 

under Policy 11a increases the potential for development to come forward that will contribute to 

the objectively assessed needs for waste management capacity in Surrey.  

5.3.3.4 The sites proposed for allocation on land within the Green Belt are primarily comprised of land that 

has been subject to previous development or use. The land at Lambs Business Park is a former clay 

quarry that is subject to a requirement for restoration in accordance with an approved scheme, but 

is being considered for release from its Green Belt designation by Tandridge District Council through 

their Local Plan review.  

5.3.3.5 The sites allocated under Policy 11a are: 

• Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford 

• Former Weylands sewage treatment works, Walton-on-Thames 

• Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Road, Leatherhead 

• Oakleaf Farm, Horton Lane, Stanwell Moor 

• Land at Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, South Godstone 

  

 

60 Paragraph 23 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

61 See Site Identification and Evaluation Report, April 2019 

62 See background paper Delivering the Spatial Strategy, April 2019 

Page 596

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 7  
    

5.3.3.6 A number of sites, currently allocated under policies in the Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and considered 

for inclusion in the new Plan at the draft stage (Regulation 18), have not been carried forward to the 

submission stage. Those sites (listed below) are all located within the Green Belt and comprise 

undeveloped land, the identified need was not considered to provide sufficient justification for the 

allocation of such land: 

• Land to the west of Earlswood Sewage Treatment Works, Redhill 

• Land adjacent to Lyne Lane Sewage Treatment Works, Chertsey 

• Land at Martyrs Lane, Woking  

5.3.3.7 Planning applications for development at the sites allocated under Policy 11a will be judged on their 

individual merits and the allocation of a site in the Plan does not mean that a proposal for a waste 

use will automatically be granted planning permission. Proposals for development on allocated sites 

will be expected to address the key development issues identified for each allocation in Part 2 of the 

Plan. 

5.3.3.8 Proposals for development on allocated sites located within the Green Belt will, at the time at which 

a planning application is submitted, need to address the requirements of relevant Green Belt policy 

at the national and local levels.  

5.3.3.9 Sites allocated for waste management use in the Green Belt have been through a process of 

alternative site assessment at the plan making stage. Having demonstrated exceptional 

circumstances to justify the allocation of strategic sites in the Green Belt, the county council will 

encourage the LPAs to consider making appropriate alterations to the Green Belt’s boundaries as 

their local plans are reviewed.  

5.3.3.10 In the absence of changes to the boundaries of the Green Belt all planning applications for 

inappropriate waste related development on allocated sites within the Green Belt will need to 

demonstrate very special circumstances. Such very special circumstances would include the fact 

that allocation of the site for waste management purposes was deemed acceptable under the terms 

of the Plan.  

• An up to date assessment of the need for additional waste management capacity of the 

scale and type proposed in accordance with Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development. 

• The availability of other suitable deliverable sites outside the Green Belt63 including 

those identified under Policy 10. 

• Other site specific considerations dealt with under policies including Policy 14 – ) and 

Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity. 

  

 

63 Guidance on alternative sites assessment is available on the Help and guidance notes for making planning applications 
webpage 

Page 597

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 8  
    

Policy 11a – Strategic Waste Site Allocations 

Planning permission will be granted for the development of facilities to meet identified shortfalls in 

waste management capacity in Surrey at the following locations: 

A. On land outside the Green Belt: 

i) Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford 

B. On previously developed land within the Green Belt:  

i) Former Weylands sewage treatment works, Walton-on-Thames 

ii) Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Road, Leatherhead 

iii) Oakleaf Farm, Horton Lane, Stanwell Moor 

C. On land proposed for removal from the Green Belt64: 

i) Land at Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, South Godstone 

Proposals for development will need to demonstrate how the key development issues for each site have 

been addressed. 

Table 18 Monitoring for Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities and Policy 11a – 

Strategic Waste Site Allocations 

Measure/Indicator • Number of new waste facilities delivered on allocated sites. 

• Number of new facilities delivered on unallocated sites in locations 

specified by Policy 10. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Waste Industry. 

• Development Industry. 

Target(s) • 100% of new development is developed in suitable locations. 

Trigger • Insufficient number of new waste management facilities being 

developed which suggests that the plan is unable to meet the demand 

for new or enhanced facilities. 

  

 

64 This site known as ‘Lambs Business Park’ is proposed to be taken out of the Green Belt through the Tandridge Local Plan 

Page 598

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  5 9  
    

 Policy 11b – Allocation of a Site for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility  

5.3.4.1 As explained in section 1, together with the WCAs, the county council, as the WDA is responsible for 

implementing the JMWMS. In particular, the WDA is responsible for ensuring access to the waste 

management capacity needed to ensure recycling and other recovery targets for household waste 

are met. Such capacity includes that provided by CRCs, materials recycling facilities and other 

recovery facilities including the ‘Eco Park’ at Charlton Lane, Shepperton. 

5.3.4.2 Currently residents separate certain types of recyclable waste (e.g. paper, cardboard, glass, metal 

and plastic) from other household waste for separate collection. The recyclable waste, known as Dry 

Mixed Recyclables (DMR), is collected by the WCAs and transported by road to facilities in 

Hampshire, Slough, north London, and Birmingham (Table 19). The only site within Surrey that 

currently recycles DMR is the Grundon Facility at Randalls Road, Leatherhead (Table 19). 

Table 19 Final Destination of Dry Mixed Recycling Collected by Surrey Waste Collection Authorities  

Site Operator Waste sent (tonnes) 

Alton Materials Recovery Facility, Alton, Hampshire Veolia 12,834 

Colnbrook Materials Recovery Facility, Colnbrook, Slough  Grundon 8,922 

Crayford Materials Recycling Facility, Century Wharf, Crayford Creek, 

Dartford  

Viridor 10,011 

Edmonton Materials Recycling Facility, Unit 2 Aztec 406, 12 Ardra Road, 

Edmonton 

Biffa 38,405 

Landor Street Materials Recovery Facility, Landor Street, Birmingham SUEZ 14,532 

Randalls Road Materials Recovery Facility, Randalls Road, Leatherhead Grundon 32,368 

Total  117,072 

 

5.3.4.3 DMR facilities make use of specialist equipment which separates out the waste types which are then 

bulked up and transported to appropriate reprocessing facilities (e.g. paper manufacturers) for 

manufacture into new materials.   

5.3.4.4 The export of DMR for management outside of Surrey is not consistent with the JMWMS65  that 

expects household waste arising in Surrey to be managed within the county. It is also inconsistent 

with the proximity principle as set out in the EU WFD and the NPPF. The WDA therefore has as part 

of its action plan (Appendix 1 of the JMWMS) a commitment to develop infrastructure within Surrey 

for recycling of DMR66 . 

5.3.4.5 A detailed report was presented to the Surrey Waste Board67 regarding the options for developing 

additional infrastructure to deal with DMR. The report considered a number of options:  

 

65 The strategy can be found on the Surrey Waste Partnership website: https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-
strategy  

66 Work area 9, Action 3: Investing in developing waste management infrastructure as appropriate, to give us more control 
over how materials are managed and help us ensure that we are getting the best deal environmentally and financially 

67 Internal management board responsible for overseeing the delivery of the county council’s waste programme. 

Page 599

16

https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-strategy
https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-strategy


   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 0  
    

• Merchant contract outside Surrey 

• Merchant contract with Grundon (Leatherhead MRF) 

• Develop a single MRF 

• Develop two MRFs 

5.3.4.6 The report highlighted the benefits to the county council of delivering new infrastructure for 

recycling of DMR to be:  

• Having control over a facility allows for flexibility in terms of the choice of end 

destination reprocessor; and  

• Having control of policy with respect to the selection of the mix of recyclables for input 

and level of rejects which unlocks the potential for improved efficiency. 

5.3.4.7 The report recommended the development of a single MRF based on cost. However, it is recognised 

that there is a need for additional capacity and that there are potential benefits of having two MRFs 

in terms of operational flexibility (e.g. for plant maintenance).  

5.3.4.8 The existing Leatherhead MRF is well located to serve the WCAs towards the south east of the 

county, and so, in accordance with the proximity principle, the second MRF should be located 

towards the north west of the county. Site identification and evaluation work has revealed that land 

at Trumps Farm, Longcross would be suitable for the development of the second MRF. Trumps Farm 

was allocated in the Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and included in the Draft Plan at the Regulation 18 

consultation stage. 

5.3.4.9 The JMWMS68  (Appendix 1) outlines the need to deliver new infrastructure for DMR produced by 

households. In accordance with the national PPG69 the following site is also allocated, specifically for 

the management of DMR from households: 

• Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Longcross 

5.3.4.10 The Trumps Farm site is located within the Green Belt, but offers a suitable and deliverable location 

for the WDA to develop a MRF to deal with approximately 120,000 tonnes per annum70 of DMR 

from households in the north west of the county. The site has good access to the strategic road 

network and is located in an area near to existing waste management facilities. Allocation of the site 

for this purpose is supported by the WDA.  

5.3.4.11 As with the other allocated sites, any planning application for development on the allocated site 

would be judged on its merits against Policy 11b and all other policies of the Plan. Those 

considerations set out in the supporting text to Policy 11a (Strategic Waste Site Allocations), apply 

equally to development of the site allocated under Policy 11b. 

 

 

68 The strategy can be found on the Surrey Waste Partnership website https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-
strategy 

69 National Planning Practice Guidance on Waste Paragraph 019 (can local plans prescribe specific technologies). 

70 Subject to adequate mitigation being provided, see Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 2, Section 5.6.  

Page 600

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 1  
    

Policy 11b – Allocation of a site for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility 

Planning permission will be granted for the development of a facility to process mixed dry recyclable 

wastes collected from households as set out in the Surrey Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

at Trumps Farm, Longcross. 

Proposals for development in this location will need to demonstrate how the key development issues 

for the site have been addressed. 

 

Table 20 Monitoring for Policy 11b – Allocation of a site for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility 

Measure/Indicator • Development of a facility to process mixed dry recyclable wastes 

collected from households in Surrey at Trumps Farm, Longcross 

• Number of new facilities for processing mixed dry recyclable wastes 

collected from households in Surrey delivered on unallocated sites 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Waste Disposal Authority 

• Waste Industry. 

• Development Industry. 

Target(s) • 100% of new development is developed in suitable locations. 

Trigger • Insufficient number of new waste management facilities being 

developed which suggests that the plan is unable to meet the demand 

for a facility to process mixed dry recyclable wastes collected from 

households in Surrey. 

 

 Policy 12 – Wastewater Treatment Works  

5.3.5.1 There is an established network of sewage treatment facilities across Surrey that is safeguarded by 

Policy 7. The majority of wastewater treatment works (WWTW) have sufficient capacity to accept 

wastewater and treat sewage sludge from the growth anticipated across the county over the Plan 

period without the need for improvements to existing facilities. However, it is recognised that, in 

the interests of efficiency, significant spare capacity is not maintained at WWTWs and upgrades 

may therefore be required to serve growth. 

5.3.5.2 One of the sites allocated under Policy 11a of this Plan (land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial 

Estate, Guildford) includes an area that will be developed as a new WWTW by Thames Water as 

part of the Slyfield Area Regeneration Project (SARP). The implementation of the SARP strategy 

requires the development of a replacement for the current Guildford (Slyfield) WWTW together 

with the necessary supporting local drainage network infrastructure. Guildford Borough Council, 

Thames Water and the county council are working in partnership to deliver the SARP. 

Page 601

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 2  
    

5.3.5.3 Sewerage undertakers review and assess the capacity of existing WWTWs, in relation to proposals 

for new development (including housing and employment allocations). There may be a need, in the 

future, for further sites to be developed as WWTW and the policy allows for flexibility to such 

needs.  

5.3.5.4 If new wastewater development (including sewage sludge treatment) is required, locational criteria 

can guide proposals to the most appropriate locations. Such an approach recognises that the 

location of new or improved facilities depends on the location of new development (e.g. housing) 

and on the investment programmes of the sewerage undertaker. 

5.3.5.5 Efficient energy recovery can occur at WWTWs. When sewage sludge is digested it produces a 

methane rich biogas which can be burnt to recover energy. This biogas can be used to heat the 

sewage sludge digesters, and where possible, generate electricity. Where there is excess energy, 

and the capability to do so, this renewable energy can be exported to the national grid. 

5.3.5.6 Depending on its size, combustion plant at WWTWs burning biogas generated from the anaerobic 

digestion of sewage sludge will require a permit under the Environmental Permitting (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2010 (as amended)71. 

Policy 12 – Wastewater Treatment Works 

Planning permission for the development of new Wastewater and Sewage Treatment Works (including 

sewage sludge management) or for the improvement or extension of existing Wastewater and Sewage 

Treatment Works will be granted where: 

i) In the case of a new site the need cannot be practicably and reasonably met at an existing site.  

ii) Biogas resulting from any anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge, will be recovered effectively 

for use as an energy source using best practice techniques.  

Table 21 Monitoring for Policy 12 – Wastewater Treatment Works 

Measure/Indicator • Number of planning permissions granted for new wastewater treatment 

works. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Appeal Decisions. 

• Other sources of data as indicated in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Sewerage Undertaker. 

Target(s) • Sufficient capacity for wastewater treatment as identified by the 

sewerage undertaker. 

Trigger • The sewerage undertaker identifies a need for greater capacity for 

wastewater treatment. 

 

 

71 Combustion plant: burning biogas derived from sewage sludge, Environment Agency, March 2014 

Page 602

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 3  
    

5.4 Conserving and Enhancing the Environment and Protecting Communities  

 Policy 13 – Sustainable Design  

5.4.1.1 The Plan seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high standard. The design of proposals is 

therefore expected to accord with best practice, as defined by published and emerging standards 

and guidance relevant to the type of facility proposed.  

5.4.1.2 Waste development should seek to contribute to sustainable development by: 

• Minimising the production of waste, the generation of pollution, and the use of water, 

to reduce demand for non-renewable natural resources.   

• Foster a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services that reflect 

current and future needs.  

• Safeguard the health and wellbeing of residents and the environment contributing to 

the protection, and where feasible enhancement, of the wider environment, including 

habitats and species, landscapes, and heritage. 

• Supporting the economy at the local, regional and national levels, by contributing to 

improvements in competitiveness, productivity and innovation 

5.4.1.3 Development should be resilient to the effects of climate change, including the management of 

flood risk.  

5.4.1.4 Facilities should promote energy efficiency and seek to reduce energy consumption, particularly 

that arising from the use of buildings (e.g. maximise use of daylight, heat recovery systems, high 

standards of insulation, etc.). Consideration should be given to the feasibility of renewable energy 

generation72, and to the use of decentralised low carbon energy sources. 

5.4.1.5 The management of waste often involves the use of water, and water supplies in the South East of 

England are under increasing pressure from all development. Proposals should incorporate 

appropriate measures to minimise water consumption (e.g. use of recycled water for waste 

management processes, harvesting of rainwater, etc.). 

5.4.1.6 In line with Policy 4 of this Plan, the production of waste should be minimised during the 

construction and operation of any facility. Consideration should also be given to the use of reused 

or recycled construction materials. 

5.4.1.7 Where feasible, and depending on the size of the site and the extent to which land is available for 

non-waste management uses, the design of facilities should include measures to deliver landscape 

enhancement and biodiversity gain. Such measures should contribute to the wider network of 

green infrastructure across the county. All proposals for waste related development should 

contribute to the creation or maintenance of green infrastructure by including measures to deliver 

landscape enhancement and biodiversity gain. For significant developments (site area of more than 

 

72 Energy from residual waste is only partially renewable due to the presence of fossil based carbon in the waste, and only 
the energy contribution from the biogenic portion is counted towards renewable energy targets (and only this element is 
eligible for renewable financial incentives). If the waste is pre-treated to separate out the biogenic fraction then this can be 
considered wholly renewable e.g. anaerobic digestion of food waste. 

Page 603

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 4  
    

5 hectares and/or throughput of more than 50,000 tonnes per year and/or schemes to restore 

former mineral workings to nature conservation end use) a Landscape & Ecology Management Plan 

(LEMP) should be produced. 

Biodiversity Net Gains 

• Development should provide net gains in biodiversity (e.g. habitat creation, habitat 

enhancement, etc.) unless evidence demonstrates that such provision would not be 

feasible. Where the development can deliver biodiversity net gain, the proposal should 

reflect the objectives of the relevant Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). 

Landscape Enhancements 

• Development should provide landscape (or townscape) enhancement unless evidence 

demonstrates that such provision would not be feasible. Where development can 

deliver landscape (or townscape) enhancement, the proposal should reflect the advice 

and guidelines relevant to the area in question as set out in the latest Landscape 

Character Assessment (LCA) for Surrey including, if appropriate, the relevant AONB 

management plan. 

5.4.1.8 Measures, such as the provision of open spaces within developments and the planting of trees and 

hedges on site boundaries, can contribute to wider ecological networks and support key ecosystem 

services such as pollination. Such measures can also contribute to the management of flood risk, to 

microclimatic control, and to local air quality.  

5.4.1.9 The measures incorporated into the design of any proposal should be appropriate to the scale, 

nature and type of facility that is to be constructed. It is likely therefore that proposals for larger 

scale facilities (i.e. those occupying a site of 5 hectares or greater, or processing more than 50,000 

tonnes of waste per year73) may be expected to include a broader range of measures than smaller 

facilities. 

5.4.1.10 Applicants are encouraged to engage with the WPA at an early stage of the design process. 

 

73 As set out in Part 2 of the Plan 

Page 604

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 5  
    

Policy 13 – Sustainable Design  

Planning permission for waste development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that the 

development follows relevant best practice. All proposals for waste development should demonstrate 

that: 

i) The development is of a scale, form and character appropriate to its location.  

ii) Any associated lower-carbon energy generation such as heat recovery and the recovery of 

energy from gas produced from the waste activity is maximised.  

iii) During its construction and operation measures are included to:  

a. Maximise landscape enhancements and biodiversity gains, and other measures that 

may contribute to green infrastructure provision.  

b. Maximise efficiency of water use.  

c. Minimise greenhouse gas emissions, including through energy efficiency.  

d. Ensure resilience and enable adaptation to a changing climate. 

Table 22 Monitoring for Policy 13 – Sustainable Design  

Measure/Indicator • Number of planning applications which are permitted for new or 

enhanced waste management facilities is contrary to Policy 13. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions. 

• Appeal Decisions. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Waste Industry.  

Target(s) • No planning applications permitted where design of new or enhanced 

waste management facilities is contrary to Policy 13. 

Trigger • More than one planning application is permitted where facilities are 

considered to be poorly designed. 

 

 Policy 14 – Protecting Communities and the Environment 

5.4.2.1 Policy 14 is concerned with addressing impacts that might arise during the construction, operation 

and, where relevant, demolition and restoration of a waste management facility to ensure that 

unacceptable impacts do not occur. Detailed guidance as to the specific types of assessment that 

would need to be provided in support of an application for planning permission, and the 

circumstances in which such assessment would be required, is provided in the WPAs published local 

list for the validation of planning applications and in the national Planning Practice Guidance. 

5.4.2.2 It should be noted that some impacts on the environment and amenity, in particular effects on air, 

land and water, are also subject to control by regulatory regimes other than the planning system 

(e.g. the Environmental Permit regime and local environmental health controls). Such effects can, 

Page 605

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 6  
    

however, remain material planning considerations even if the primary means of control is a 

separate regulatory regime.  

5.4.2.3 Most waste related development falls within the scope of the Environmental Impact Assessment 

(EIA) regime, which, as a minimum, requires that schemes of certain scales or types, or 

development in specific locations, is subject to screening. Where the WPA decides that EIA is 

required, the developer will be required to submit an Environmental Statement (ES) as part of the 

planning application. The ES will identity the likely significant impacts of the development, and the 

mitigation and compensation measures that would be used to address significant adverse effects. 

The scope of the information to be provided within an ES should be agreed with the WPA through 

the scoping process provided for by the EIA regulations. Further information on the EIA regime can 

be found within the national Planning Practice Guidance and within the WPAs published local list for 

the validation of planning applications. 

5.4.2.4 The NPPF encourages pre-application discussions and states that “…early engagement has 

significant potential to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application system 

for all parties”74. The county council as the WPA welcome and encourages pre-application advice 

discussions before a planning application is submitted. More information is available on the pre-

application discussions for planning applications webpages. 

Amenity 

5.4.2.5 Amenity refers to residents’ expectations for enjoyment of their surroundings. Amenity 

considerations can cover a range of issues including noise, dust, odour, and disturbance due to 

illumination and vibration, and can extend to perceptions of the possible effects of development on 

health. 

5.4.2.6 Waste development can result in adverse impacts on amenity by virtue of its scale, appearance, 

type and intensity. Such impacts need to be managed effectively if waste development is to be 

considered acceptable. The potential impacts of noise and vibration should be addressed for the 

construction and operational phases of the proposed development and where relevant for 

demolition and site restoration activities (including the duration of working hours) and in terms of 

the vehicle movements generated by all phases of the development. 

5.4.2.7 The release of fumes and other emissions to air, including bioaerosols, from some types of waste 

development could be, or perceived to be, a source of impact on human health. Odour arising from 

some types of waste management activities can give rise to impacts on the amenity and wellbeing 

of communities. Dust arising from any phase of a waste related development can be a source of 

nuisance for communities. 

5.4.2.8 Developers should give consideration to the potential for the use of artificial lighting to give rise to 

adverse impacts on local amenity and should aim to minimise the incidence of light pollution, glare 

and sky glow. 

  

 

74   Paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 606

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/planning/applications-register/process/new-application/pre-discussion
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/planning/applications-register/process/new-application/pre-discussion


   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 7  
    

Air Quality 

5.4.2.9 For proposals that would be likely to impact on air quality through emissions of pollutants or 

particulate matter, including as a result of traffic generation, the developer should provide an 

assessment of the impact on surrounding sensitive receptors. Assessments should make use of 

appropriate methodologies and definitions of significance. 

5.4.2.10 Issues to be addressed include emissions to air of pollutants (such as oxides of nitrogen or 

particulates) arising from site preparation, operation, and where relevant, decommissioning and 

restoration, and from related traffic. Any assessment should identify the controls and mitigation 

measures that would be applied to avoid adverse impacts. In particular potential for development 

to impact on designations including Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) should be addressed. 

5.4.2.11 Emissions arising as a result of waste management processes may also be subject to control under 

other regulatory regimes, including the Environmental Permit regime administered by the 

Environment Agency. 

Flood Risk 

5.4.2.12 Responsibility for flood risk management is divided between the Environment Agency and the 

county council in its role as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). The Environment Agency is 

responsible for taking a strategic overview of the management of all sources of flooding, and has 

specific responsibility for the management of flood risk from main rivers and from the sea.  

5.4.2.13 The LLFA is responsible for managing the risk of flooding from surface water and groundwater, and 

is responsible for the management of ordinary watercourses (i.e. small, local watercourses that are 

not designated as main rivers). 

5.4.2.14 Development should be directed away from areas at the highest risk of fluvial or surface water 

flooding. Where development on land at risk of flooding is proposed, its acceptability will be 

determined through the application of the sequential test (excepting those sites allocated in the 

Plan, which were subject to the sequential test as part of the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

process) and, if necessary, the exception test75. 

5.4.2.15 Waste treatment (excepting landfill76and hazardous waste facilities) is classified as a ‘less 

vulnerable’ form of development with reference to flood risk, and is generally appropriate in areas 

designated as Zone 1 and Zone 2 for fluvial flood risk. Landfill and hazardous waste facilities are 

classified as ‘highly vulnerable’ forms of development and are generally only appropriate in areas 

designated as Zone 1 for fluvial flood risk. 

5.4.2.16 Development on land identified as being at substantial risk of flooding from surface water or 

groundwater should be discussed with the LLFA at the earliest possible stage of project 

development. The purpose of those discussions would be to identify options for the effective 

management of the likely impact of the proposed development on surface water or groundwater 

flood risk. 

 

75 Paragraph 157 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

76 Landfill is as defined in Schedule 10 of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 

 

Page 607

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 8  
    

Water Resources 

5.4.2.17 Developers should take account of the presence of relevant water quality designations (e.g. 

groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs)), and the condition of surface watercourses and 

waterbodies and of groundwater bodies that could be affected by their proposals. For water quality, 

consideration should be given to the likely effect of the development on the achievement of ‘good’ 

status, or the potential for this, for nearby or underlying waterbodies and watercourses, and on the 

availability of water as a resource. 

5.4.2.18 Proposals should consider the proximity of surface water and groundwater resources and the 

potential risk for contamination. For example non-inert landfill must not be located in areas covered 

by SPZ 1 designations, and should be directed to areas underlain by unproductive strata. For non-

landfill waste development the susceptibility of the surrounding and underlying water environment 

to contamination should be assessed, and appropriate controls incorporated into the design of the 

scheme.  

5.4.2.19 The developer should provide an assessment which explains how the water environment, both 

above and below ground, would be affected by the development and identifies the measures that 

would be used to avoid unacceptable impacts. 

Landscape 

5.4.2.20 Government policy expects the planning system to “…contribute to and enhance the natural and 

local environment”77 and states that “Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing 

landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

[AONB], which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues”78. 

5.4.2.21 Protected landscapes situated within or close to Surrey include the Surrey Hills AONB, the High 

Weald AONB, and the South Downs National Park. Wherever possible, development of new waste 

management facilities should take place outside those protected landscapes. 

5.4.2.22 Proposals for major development, including waste management facilities, within protected 

landscapes must be subject to rigorous examination. They should not be permitted except in 

exceptional circumstances and only where it can be demonstrated that they are in the public 

interest before being allowed to proceed. Therefore, an assessment should be undertaken which 

includes consideration of:  

• The need for the development.  

• The scope for developing outside the area or of meeting the need in some other way.  

• The impact on the environment, landscape, and recreational opportunities. 

5.4.2.23 It is recognised that there may be a requirement for new or extensions to existing development in 

order to meet local needs. Factors which may support a proposal being considered acceptable 

include: 

 

77 NPPF, Paragraph 170 

78 NPPF, Paragraph 172 

Page 608

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  6 9  
    

• The proposal is for a small-scale facility to meet local needs and can be accommodated 

without undermining the objectives of the designation.  

• The need for new facilities which cannot be met in another way or cannot be met from 

outside the designated area.  

• Adverse impacts on the landscape and visual amenity can be adequately mitigated. 

5.4.2.24 The determination of applications within AONBs will be undertaken in accordance with national 

policy together with the relevant policies of this Plan and the appropriate adopted district and 

borough Local Plan. 

5.4.2.25 Proposals involving the permanent deposit of waste, such as the restoration of old mineral workings 

or landfilling or landraising, which contribute to the remediation of degraded or damaged 

landscapes, may be supported provided that the long term benefits of the scheme clearly outweigh 

the short term impacts, (e.g. visual intrusion, reduction in tranquillity, improvements to 

biodiversity).  

5.4.2.26 The Surrey Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) (published in 2015) provides a comprehensive 

review of the landscape character of the county. It takes account of the framework of the most 

recent National Character Areas reviewed in 2014 by Natural England and describes variations in 

landscape character at a county level. The current LCA should be used to inform the preparation of 

planning applications, and their supporting landscape and visual impact assessments (LVIAs). 

5.4.2.27 Where a development is likely to give rise to impacts on the landscape or visual amenity early 

engagement with the WPA is encouraged. The issues to be addressed in applications include the 

potential for adverse impacts on protected landscapes, and for significant changes in landscape 

character, visual amenity, and the features that contribute to distinctiveness. 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

5.4.2.28 Government policy expects the planning system to “…contribute to and enhance the natural and 

local environment”79, and directs planning authorities to principles to be applied when determining 

planning applications80. 

5.4.2.29 Assessment should be undertaken to establish the nature conservation importance of the site 

(including its biodiversity and geodiversity) and proposals should be designed to ensure there are no 

unacceptable impacts on the site and on the surrounding area and maximise opportunities for 

enhancement or gain. Potentially adverse impacts may arise as a result of various effects including 

noise, vibration, emissions and artificial lighting. 

5.4.2.30 Where development would result in the loss of, or adversely affect, an important area, site or 

feature, the harm would need to be addressed by appropriate mitigation or, where mitigation is not 

feasible, by compensation through the provision of suitable equivalent resource. While 

compensation may be appropriate in some cases for local sites it is unlikely to be feasible for 

impacts on European designated sites. For any impacts upon European sites the application of the 

 

79 NPPF, Paragraph 170 

80 NPPF, Paragraph 175 

Page 609

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 0  
    

Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest (IROPI) test would be required before any 

compensatory habitat provision could be considered. 

5.4.2.31 There are numerous sites of international, European, national or local importance for biodiversity 

and/or geodiversity located across Surrey, as well as many areas that support protected habitats 

and species, including European protected species, habitats and species of Principal importance, 

and Ancient Woodland. 

• Special Protection Areas (SPAs) – of which there are four in the county. 

• Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) – of which there are three in the county. 

• Ramsar sites – of which there are two in the county.  

• Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) – of which there are sixty-three in the county, 

of which ten are wholly or partly designated for their geodiversity interest;  

• National Nature Reserves (NNRs) – of which there are three in the county. 

• Local Nature Reserves (LNRs). 

• Sites of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCI). 

• Regionally Important Geological & Geomorphological Sites (RIGS). 

5.4.2.32 Where development could give rise to likely significant effects on a European designated site, the 

application would need to provide the information necessary for an ‘appropriate assessment’ to be 

carried out by the WPA. Applications for waste development that would be subject to control under 

the Industrial Emissions Directive (e.g. EfW, gasification or pyrolysis facilities) will need to consider 

European designated sites situated within a 10km radius. For all other types of waste development 

the potential zone of impact will be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

5.4.2.33 Where development is likely to impact on biodiversity or geodiversity early discussions with the 

WPA are encouraged. Developments should be designed to minimise the risk of unacceptable 

impacts, and to maintain and where possible enhance the natural environment. Paragraph 5.4.1.7 

explains how the development of waste management facilities should result in biodiversity net gains 

and landscape enhancements. 

Historic Environment 

5.4.2.34 Heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to 

their significance. A heritage asset is defined as a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape 

positively identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 

because of its heritage interest and may include a contribution from its setting.  

5.4.2.35 A heritage asset is either a designated heritage asset (Listed buildings, Registered Historic Park or 

Garden, Conservation Area, Scheduled Monument) or a non-designated heritage asset (Locally 

Listed Park, Garden Building or Feature, Areas of High Archaeological Potential, County Sites of 

Archaeological Importance, Known Site on the Historic Environment Record). 

5.4.2.36 The Surrey Historic Environment Record (HER) holds information on known heritage assets; these 

databases may also help in the prediction of the likelihood of encountering currently unknown 

heritage assets of historic and archaeological interest. Developers will be required to record and 

advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets affected during the development 

management process, and make any information gained about the significance of the historic 

Page 610

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 1  
    

environment publicly accessible through submission of reports to the HER, publication and 

archiving.  

5.4.2.37 Development of any schemes affecting heritage assets should be assisted by early discussions with 

heritage officers. Issues to be addressed in applications include the potential for adverse effects on 

known heritage or archaeological assets, and on their contexts and settings, and on as yet 

undiscovered archaeology. 

5.4.2.38 Early engagement can improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application process 

for all parties81. The objective of early discussion is to discuss detailed schemes for preservation, 

enhancement or mitigation. To do this, sufficient information must be presented so that officers are 

in a position to discuss plans and form opinions. 

Public open space and Rights of Way 

5.4.2.39 Developers should provide an assessment of any open space (including any SANG82) and Public 

Rights of Way (PRoW) lost, directly or indirectly affected by a proposed development. Where 

affected, developers will be required to make sure that the PRoW remains accessible. This could be 

through measures to replace or compensate for such impacts and through the identification of 

opportunities to improve facilities for walkers, cyclists, and horse riders, or to provide alternative 

routes which should be in place at the correct time. 

Land and soil resources 

5.4.2.40 Development of land for waste management purposes could have implications for the condition 

and quality of land and soils. The developer should provide information setting out the impacts that 

might arise from the scheme, and how opportunities for improvement would be maximised and 

how risks of adverse impacts would be managed. 

5.4.2.41 Land classed as being of grades 1, 2 and 3a under the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) is a 

national resource. Waste development should seek to use unproductive land in preference to the 

best and most versatile land. Developers should provide information on the quality of existing 

agricultural land, and should outline how that quality would be protected or how the land would be 

returned to a condition equivalent to the original ALC upon completion of the waste operation. 

Where the development would result in the permanent loss of high quality agricultural land the 

application should give a justification for that loss. 

5.4.2.42 Developers should provide information on the measures that would be taken to safeguard soils 

qualities during storage and/or their use in the restoration of sites. Where the importation of soils 

or waste forms part of a scheme, developers should provide information on the quality of the soils 

or waste materials that are to be imported and explain how those materials would improve the land 

for agricultural purposes. 

5.4.2.43 Previous uses of the site or adjacent land could have caused contamination (e.g. industrial 

processes, petrol filling stations, fuel storage, chemical storage, vehicle parking/servicing etc.). Land 

affected by contamination may not be identified as such on any contaminated land register and 

therefore the developer should determine whether the land is suitable for development, or can be 

 

81 NPPF, Paragraph 39 

82 Suitable alternative natural greenspace. 

Page 611

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 2  
    

made so by remediation. The developer should provide an assessment of potential pollutants and 

explain how any contamination would be addressed. That assessment would likely involve a desktop 

and site walkover study in the majority of cases, with more detailed assessment involving trial pits 

and boreholes required where necessary. 

5.4.2.44 The developer will need to satisfy the planning authority that unacceptable risk from contamination 

will be successfully addressed through remediation. A remediation scheme should include future 

monitoring and maintenance schemes. 

Aerodrome Safeguarding 

5.4.2.45 Waste development would need to comply with Aerodrome Safeguarding requirements to ensure 

that the operational integrity and safety of airports is not compromised. Development of any 

schemes affecting any official or non-official aerodrome safeguarding areas should be assisted by 

early discussions with the WPA. 

5.4.2.46 Any applications relating to development situated within the consultation area of civil and military 

aerodromes and airstrips, where the proposal involves one or more of the activities or features 

listed below, would need to demonstrate how any hazards to air traffic would be avoided or 

mitigated.  

• Construction of any building, structure, erection or works of a height that would exceed 

the relevant limit denoted on the safeguarding map for the aerodrome or airstrip in 

question. 

• Construction of any building or structure that could, because of its size, shape, location 

or construction materials, act as a reflector or diffractor of the radio signals on which 

navigational aids, radio aids and telecommunication systems of the aerodrome or 

airstrip in question are based. 

• Features attractive to hazardous birds (e.g. amenity landscaping and water features, this 

includes the enhancement of existing wet areas or watercourses, and buildings with 

ledges, gantries and flat roofs). 

• Lighting which may impact on airport safety (i.e. dazzling). 

• Venting and flaring of gas. 

Cumulative Effects 

5.4.2.47 Where the development of new waste management facilities, or redevelopment of an existing 

facility, is proposed, the planning application should take account of the relationship of that site to 

other new development (including non-waste development) that has been proposed or permitted 

within the local area. Where assessments have been undertaken in respect of those proposals, the 

information submitted in support of the proposed waste development should include consideration 

of the potential for in-combination effects. Where short-term unacceptable impacts are identified 

e.g. during construction of a new facility it is important that any unacceptable impacts in the short-

term, e.g. the impacts of HGVs on residential or visual amenity, are outweighed by the long-term 

benefits. 

 

Page 612

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 3  
    

Policy 14 – Protecting Communities & the Environment 

Planning permission for waste development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that: 

A. It would be consistent with relevant national planning policy with respect to the following key 

environmental assets: 

i) The protected landscapes of the Surrey Hills AONB, the High Weald AONB, the South Downs 

National Park, and the Kent Downs AONB. 

ii) Sites of international or European importance (SPA, SAC, Ramsar) for biodiversity, or of national 

importance (SSSI, NNR) for biodiversity or geodiversity where those are located within the 

county or could be affected by development located within the county. 

iii) Nationally important heritage assets, including Scheduled Monuments, Listed Buildings, and 

Registered Parks & Gardens where those are located within the county or could be affected by 

development located within the county. 

B. It would not result in unacceptable impacts on communities and the environment. The term 

‘unacceptable impact’ should be interpreted in accordance with current national and local planning 

policy and planning guidance relevant to each of the following matters: 

i) Public amenity and safety including: 

a) Impacts caused by noise, dust, fumes, odour, vibration, illumination.  

b) Impacts on public open space, the rights of way network, and outdoor recreation facilities 

(including on the accessibility of such spaces, networks and facilities).  

ii) Aerodrome and airport safeguarding, including  the risk of birds striking aircraft and including 

impacts due to the position or height of buildings and associated structures. 

iii) Air Quality, including impacts on identified Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones.  

iv) The Water Environment including: 

a) Flood risk, (arising from all sources), including impacts on, and opportunities to provide and 

enhance, flood storage and surface water drainage capacity.  

b) Water Resources, including impacts on the quantity and quality of surface water and 

ground water resources, taking account of Source Protection Zones, the status of surface 

watercourses and waterbodies and groundwater bodies.  

v) The landscape including impacts on the appearance, quality and character of the landscape and 

any features that contribute to its distinctiveness, including character areas defined at the 

national and local levels.  

vi) The natural environment, including biodiversity and geological conservation interests, including 

site of local importance (LNR, SNCI, RIGS) for biodiversity or geodiversity, irreplaceable habitats 

(e.g. Ancient Woodland), and protected species). 

Page 613

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 4  
    

vii) The historic landscape, on sites or structures of architectural and historic interest and their 

settings, and on sites of existing or potential archaeological interest or their settings.  

viii) Land and soil resources including impacts on their use, quality and integrity and including 

opportunities for remediation, the need to protect any best and most versatile agricultural 

land, and the need to address existing and potential contamination and land stability issues.  

ix) Cumulative impacts arising from the interactions between waste developments, and between 

waste development and other forms of development. 

x) Any other matters relevant to the proposed development. 

Table 23 Monitoring for Policy 14 –  Communities and the Environment 

Measure/Indicator • See Appendix 1. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions.  

• Planning Appeals. 

Key Organisation(s) • Surrey County Council. 

• Waste Industry. 

Target(s) • No planning applications permitted where there would be a significant 

adverse impact on community or environment. 

Trigger • See Appendix 1 

 

5.5 Transport and Connectivity 

 Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity  

5.5.1.1 Impacts on ease of transport and air quality caused by congestion and HGV movements are key 

areas of concern for local communities. This is evidenced by the Surrey Transport Plan and 

supporting Transport Plan Strategies. Preferable locations for waste facilities, are those on, or close 

to, Surrey’s strategic road network (comprising motorways and trunk and principal roads), 

minimising the residential frontages and sensitive areas passed. 

5.5.1.2 In order to mitigate adverse impacts related to transport, Traffic Management Plans will usually be 

required at the planning application stage. Applications for waste development will often require a 

Transport Assessment to support them. Traffic Management Plans and Transport Assessments will 

be considered by the Highway Authority, who will make recommendations as appropriate. Such 

plans may set out a routing strategy where the use of certain roads is prohibited.  

5.5.1.3 Waste development which provides opportunities for the movement of waste via alternative 

methods of transport e.g. rail will be supported. Applications which demonstrate a reduction in 

vehicle movements e.g. through co-location of facilities within the same site or other benefits with 

respect to transport will also be supported. 

Page 614

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 5  
    

Table 24 Monitoring for Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity  

  

 

83 See Surrey County Council Controlling lorry movements in Surrey on the Road and Transport webpage 

Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity  

A. Planning permission for waste development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that: 

i) Where practicable and economically viable, the development makes use of rail or water for 

the transportation of materials to and from the site.  

ii) Transport links are adequate to serve the development or can be improved to an 

appropriate standard. 

B. Where the need for road transport has been demonstrated, the development will ensure that: 

i) Waste is able to be transported using the best roads available83, which will usually be main 

roads and motorways, with minimal use of local roads, unless special circumstances apply.  

ii) The distance and number of vehicle movements associated with the development are 

minimised.  

iii) The residual cumulative impact on the road network of vehicle movements associated with 

the development will not be severe. 

iv) There is safe and adequate means of access to the highway network and the vehicle 

movements associated with the development will not have an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety when compared against current national and local guidance. 

v) Satisfactory provision is made to allow for safe vehicle turning and parking, manoeuvring, 

loading, electric charging and, where appropriate, wheel cleaning facilities.  

vi) Low or zero emission vehicles, under the control of the site operator, are used which, 

where practicable, use fuels from renewable sources.  

Measure/Indicator • New or existing waste sites in relation to waste sources. 

• Average waste miles. 

Data Source(s) • Surrey County Council Development Management. 

• Surrey County Council Transport Development Planning. 

Key Organisation(s) • Surrey County Council. 

Target(s) • 100% of proposals include assessment of ability to transport waste via 

sustainable modes. 

• Main waste sources well connected to facilities. 

Trigger • Urban centre(s) or other significant source(s) of waste is/are not well 

connected to waste development via the SRN or rail/water. 

Page 615

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 6  
    

5.6 Engagement 

 Duty to Cooperate 

5.6.1.1 Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places a duty on 

LPAs, in preparing local plans, to “engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis” with 

other relevant organisations84 to maximise the effectiveness with which plan preparation is 

undertaken. 

5.6.1.2 Effective cooperation requires ongoing, sustained joint working with concrete actions and 

outcomes. It is unlikely to be met by an exchange of correspondence, conversations or 

consultations between authorities alone85. 

5.6.1.3 As such, while it is important for preparing the Plan, the DtC will remain a core part of the work for 

planning policy for the WPA. Activity associated with the DtC (see below) will be reported in the 

AMR. 

• Formal consultation processes. 

• Meetings, including for joint-working between different authorities. 

• Memoranda of Understanding. 

• Joint Position Statements. 

• Statements of Common Ground. 

• Monitoring. 

5.6.1.4 The WPA recognises that there are bodies not covered by the DtC. Engagement with organisations 

including Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), infrastructure providers, environmental bodies, 

developers and existing waste operators is essential to the delivery of the Plan. 

Table 25 Monitoring for Duty to Cooperate  

Measure/Indicator • Number of Duty to Cooperate consultations received. 

• Projects delivered through joint-working. 

• Attendance of joint working groups. 

• Memoranda / Statements are kept up to date. 

Data Source(s) • Consultations Log. 

• Final project reports. 

• Meeting minutes from joint working groups. 

Key Organisation(s) • Surrey County Council Development Management. 

• Other Waste Planning Authorities. 

• Surrey Districts and Boroughs. 

Target(s) • 100% attendance at joint working groups. 

 

84 Regulation 4 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

85 Planning Practice Guidance for Duty to Cooperate. Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 9-010-20140306 

Page 616

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 7  
    

Trigger • Poor attendance at joint working groups. 

• Joint working groups are no longer running. 

 

 Policy 16 – Community Engagement 

Surrey County Council Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 

5.6.2.1 The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how the county council involves local 

residents, local businesses and other key organisations and stakeholders in the plan-making process 

and in the determination of planning applications. 

Developer Statement of Community Involvement 

5.6.2.2 The county council encourages developers to engage with the local community at the earliest 

feasible stage of the development process, and ideally before a planning application is submitted. 

The county council’s revised Validation Checklist requires that any proposal with substantial 

community interest be supported by a statement that explains how the pre-application engagement 

recommendation made in the county council’s SCI has been addressed. 

5.6.2.3 The concerns of host communities, including any perceived risks, should be investigated in a 

manner proportionate to their potential impact. Planning applications should include information 

that demonstrates how communities have been involved in the development of the proposal, taking 

into account best practice, and shows how their concerns have been addressed. For communities 

hosting strategic waste developments which serve a wider area, the proposal should set out the 

tangible benefits to those most directly affected. 

5.6.2.4 Issues arising from the operation of larger waste developments are often addressed through liaison 

groups that involve local communities and site operators. The establishment of liaison groups will 

be sought for major development where there could be a need for a regular forum for discussions 

between local residents, the WPA, the operator, and the other relevant agencies. 

Policy 16 – Community Engagement  

Applicants are encouraged to undertake suitable proportionate steps to engage with the local 

community before submitting their application and ensure that comments from the community have 

been taken into account.  

Table 26 Monitoring for Policy 16 – Community Engagement 

Measure/Indicator • Number of relevant applications which are supported by a Statement of 

Community Involvement produced by the applicant. 

Data Source(s) • Planning Applications and Decisions. 

• Appeal Decisions. 

Key Organisation(s) • Waste Planning Authority. 

• Waste Industry. 

Page 617

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  |  7 8  
    

Target(s) • 100% of relevant applications are supported by a Statement of 

Community Involvement produced by the applicant. 

Trigger •  Statements of Community Involvement are not submitted with two or 

more relevant applications produced by the applicant in any monitoring 

period. 

 

  

Page 618

16



   
 

R e p l a c e m e n t  o f  P o l i c i e s  i n  t h e  D e v e l o p m e n t  P l a n  |  7 9  
    

6 Replacement of Policies in the Development Plan  

6.1.1.1 The following tables show how the policies of the Surrey Waste Local Plan supersede previously 

adopted, and saved, policies of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008.  

Surrey Waste Plan 2008 – saved polices Surrey Waste Local Plan 

Policy 

No. 

Title Policy No. Title 

Core Strategy 

CW1 Waste Minimisation Policy 1 Need for Waste Development  

Policy 4 Sustainable Construction and Waste 

Management in New Development 

CW386 Developing Waste Markets Policy 4 Sustainable Construction and Waste 

Management in New Development 

CW4  Waste Management Capacity Policy 1 Need for Waste Development  

CW5 Location of Waste Facilities Policy 10 Areas suitable for development of waste 

management facilities  

Policy 15 Transport and Connectivity 

CW6  Development in the Green Belt Policy 9 Green Belt 

Waste Development  

WD1 Civic Amenity Sites Policy 2  Recycling and Recovery Facilities (other 

than inert C,D&E and soil recycling 

facilities) 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

Policy 10 Areas suitable for development of waste 

management facilities  

 

86 Please note that policy numbers do not always continue consecutively because Policy CW2 was deleted 
as result of the recommendations made in the Inspectors' Report 

Page 619

16



   
 

R e p l a c e m e n t  o f  P o l i c i e s  i n  t h e  D e v e l o p m e n t  P l a n  |  8 0  
    

Surrey Waste Plan 2008 – saved polices Surrey Waste Local Plan 

Policy 

No. 

Title Policy No. Title 

WD2 Recycling, Storage, Transfer, 

Materials Recovery and 

Processing Facilities (Excluding 

Thermal Treatment) 

Policy 2  Recycling and Recovery Facilities (other 

than inert C,D&E and soil recycling 

facilities) 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

Policy 11a Strategic Waste Site Allocations 

Policy 11b Allocation of a Site for a Household Waste 

Materials Recycling Facility 

Policy 10 Areas suitable for development of waste 

management facilities 

WD3 Recycling, Storage, Transfer of 

Construction and Demolition 

Waste at Mineral Sites 

Policy 3 Recycling of Inert Construction, 

Demolition and Excavation Waste 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

  

Page 620

16



   
 

R e p l a c e m e n t  o f  P o l i c i e s  i n  t h e  D e v e l o p m e n t  P l a n  |  8 1  
    

Surrey Waste Plan 2008 – saved polices Surrey Waste Local Plan 

Policy 

No. 

Title Policy No. Title 

Waste Development  

WD4 Open Windrow Composting Policy 2  Recycling and Recovery Facilities (other 

than inert C,D&E and soil recycling 

facilities) 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

Policy 11a Strategic Waste Site Allocations 

Policy 10 Areas suitable for development of waste 

management facilities 

WD5  Thermal Treatment Facilities Policy 1 Need for Waste Development  

Policy 2  Recycling and Recovery Facilities (other 

than inert C,D&E and soil recycling 

facilities) 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

Policy 11a Strategic Waste Site Allocations 

Policy 10 Areas suitable for development of waste 

management facilities 

WD6 Waste Water and Sewage 

Treatment Plants 

Policy 12 Wastewater Treatment Works 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

Policy 13 Sustainable Design 

WD7  Disposal by Landfilling, 

Landraising, Engineering or 

Other Operations 

Policy 5 Recovery of Inert Waste to Land 

Policy 6 Disposal of Non-Inert Waste to Land 

Policy 8 Improvement or extension of existing 

facilities 

Page 621

16



   
 

R e p l a c e m e n t  o f  P o l i c i e s  i n  t h e  D e v e l o p m e n t  P l a n  |  8 2  
    

Surrey Waste Plan 2008 – saved polices Surrey Waste Local Plan 

Policy 

No. 

Title Policy No. Title 

WD8 Landfilling, Landraising and 

Engineering or Other Operations 

Policy 5 Recovery of Inert Waste to Land 

Policy 6 Disposal of Non-Inert Waste to Land 

Policy 13 Sustainable Design 

Waste Development Control Policies  

DC1 Safeguarding Sites Policy 7 Safeguarding 

DC2 Planning Designations Policy 14 Protecting Communities & the 

Environment 

DC3 General Considerations Policy 13 Sustainable Design 

Policy 14 Protecting Communities & the 

Environment 

Policy 15 Transport and Connectivity 

 

  

Page 622

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  M a p  |  8 3  
    

7 Policies Map 

7.1.1.1 The Policies Map for the Plan comprises the following: 

• A map showing the location of allocated sites and areas (ILAS) identified for waste management 

facilities in Surrey (see below) 

• A map showing the location of existing waste management facilities in Surrey (see below) 

• More detailed maps showing the location of ILAS and allocated sites in Part 2 of the Plan. 

Page 623

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  M a p  |  8 4  
    

Figure 6: Policies Map of Surrey showing allocated sites and ILAS (See Policies 10, 11a and 11b) 

P
age 624

16



   
 

P o l i c i e s  M a p  |  8 5  
    

Figure 7: Policies Map of Surrey showing existing waste sites (For full details see Annual Montoring Report)

P
age 625

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  8 6  
    

8 Glossary 

 

Term Definition 

Advanced Thermal 

Treatment (ATT)  

Technologies that employ pyrolysis or gasification to process residual wastes. ATT facilities 

produce a gas (usually for energy recovery) and a solid residue which can often be recycled for 

secondary use. 

Aggregates   A basic material used in construction and principally consisting of primary aggregates – sand, 

gravel and crushed rock. In addition, some recycled and secondary materials are used for 

construction purposes. These include construction, demolition and excavation (C,D&E) waste, 

bituminous materials such as road planings, mineral wastes such as colliery spoil and slate 

waste, other industrial wastes including pulverised fuel ash and blast furnace slag.  

Agricultural Waste   This mostly covers animal slurry / by products and organic waste, but also scrap metals, 

plastics, batteries, oils, tyres, etc. The regulations for this waste stream have been altered 

meaning farmers can no longer manage all of their own waste within the farm. The agricultural 

waste regulations affect whether or not waste can be burnt, buried, stored, used on the farm 

or sent elsewhere. 

Air Quality Management 

Areas (AQMAs) 

An area designated by a local authority for action, based upon a prediction that national Air 

Quality Objectives are not likely to be achieved in that area. 

Anaerobic digestion (AD) A biological process where microorganisms break down biodegradable waste into a ‘digestate’ 

and biogas in the absence of oxygen. AD facilities are usually fully enclosed in an industrial type 

building, with some infrastructure required such as storage tanks. AD of waste generally falls 

within the ‘other recovery’ category in the waste hierarchy but for the purposes of this plan AD 

of food waste is classed as ‘recycling’. 

Ancient woodland An area of woodland that has had a continuous tree cover since at least 1600 AD. The resurvey 

of Surrey’s Ancient Woodland was published in 2011. 

Annual Monitoring Report 

(AMR) 

The county council is required to prepare an AMR under the Planning & Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) and the Town & Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The AMR reviews the effectiveness of policy 

implementation and service delivery with a focus on the past year. 

Area of High Archaeological 

Potential (AHAP) 

An AHAP is a defined area where it is strongly suspected that there is an increased likelihood of 

archaeological remains (finds or features) being revealed should ground disturbance take place. 

An AHAP is a local designation described by the county council and adopted by the County, 

District and Borough planning authorities for use within their Local Plans. 

Areas of Great Landscape 

Value (AGLV) 

An area designated at the local level as being of high quality in landscape and visual terms and 

worthy of conservation. 

Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB) 

An area designated under the National Parks & Access to the Countryside Act 1949 as being of 

national importance for its natural beauty, which should be conserved and enhanced. In Surrey 

there are two designated areas, the Surrey Hills and part of the High Weald.  

Aggregates Recycling Joint 

DPD 2013 

Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD (2013) forms part of the Surrey Minerals & Waste Development 

Framework. It sets out proposals with regard to the provision of aggregates recycling facilities 

across the county for the period to 2026.  

Best and most versatile 

agricultural land 

Land categorised as being of grades 1, 2 or 3a under the Agricultural Land Classification system. 

Page 626

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  8 7  
    

Term Definition 

Bioaerosols Airborne material containing biological material from animals, plants, insects or micro-

organisms. They are produced wherever biological material is being processed, milled, or 

chopped and are commonly associated with organic waste composting facilities. 

Biodegradable Waste Waste that is able to decompose through the action of bacteria or other microbes, including 

materials such as paper, food waste and garden waste. 

Biodiversity The variety of life on earth, from the smallest microbe to the largest tree, and how all these 

species interact with each other. 

Biodiversity Opportunity 

Areas (BOAs) 

Areas where conservation action, such as habitat creation, restoration or expansion, is likely to 

have the greatest benefit for biodiversity. Further information can be found on the Surrey 

Nature Partnership website (https://surreynaturepartnership.org.uk/).  

Biogas Biogas is a mixture of gases comprising mainly methane and carbon dioxide. It is produced 

when organic matter decomposes in the absence of oxygen. This can take place in a landfill site 

to give landfill gas or in an anaerobic digester to give biogas. 

Catchment The geographical area served by a particular waste management activity. This will vary 

according to the adequacy of transport links and the economics of transporting different types 

of waste. 

Circular Economy A circular economy is an alternative to a traditional linear economy (make, use, dispose) in 

which we keep resources in use for as long as possible, extract the maximum value from them 

whilst in use, then recover and regenerate products and materials at the end of each service 

life. 

Climate change adaptation Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic factors or 

their effects, including from changes in rainfall and rising temperatures, which moderate harm 

or exploit beneficial opportunities. 

Combined heat and power 

facilities (CHP) 

CHP plants provide local heat, electricity and sometimes even cooling to various types of users.  

Commercial and Industrial 

(C&I) Waste 

Waste generated by business and industry, for example: wholesalers; catering establishments; 

shops and offices; factories and industrial plants. Generally, businesses are expected to make 

their own arrangements for the collection, treatment and disposal of waste generated by their 

actions. Waste from smaller businesses where local authority collection arrangements have 

been set up is considered as LACW. 

Community Recycling 

Centres (CRCs) 

CRCs are sites that are operated by the WDA (Surrey County Council) for local residents to drop 

off their household waste, recyclables and bulky waste. 

Composting The breaking down of organic matter aerobically into a stable material that can be used as a 

fertiliser or soil conditioner.  

Composting: In-Vessel Composting within a sealed chamber where environmental parameters are optimised 

(temperature, moisture, mixing and air flow), resulting in the production of higher quality 

finished compost within a shorter period of time than open windrow composting. Within the 

waste hierarchy composting is at the same level as recycling.  

Composting: Open 

Windrow 

Open windrow composting involves the raw material (usually green and/or garden waste and 

cardboard) being arranged outdoors in long narrow piles on a hard and preferably 

impermeable surface. The windrows are mixed and turned regularly for aeration, either by 

hand or mechanically.  

Conservation Area  An area designated by the LPA because of its special architectural or historic interest, the 

character and appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.   

Page 627

16

https://surreynaturepartnership.org.uk/). 


   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  8 8  
    

Term Definition 

Contaminated Land  Contaminated land is land that has been polluted or harmed in some way making it unfit for 

safe development and usage unless cleaned.   

Construction, Demolition 

and Excavation (CD&E) 

Waste   

The combined waste produced from earth moving activities, demolition of existing 

buildings/structures and construction of new buildings/structures. It mostly comprises brick, 

concrete, hardcore, subsoil and topsoil, but can also include timber, metals and plastics.   

County Site of 

Archaeological Importance 

(CSAIs)  

A CSAI is a known archaeological heritage asset within Surrey that is important in either a 

National or Regional context and should be preserved. Sites worthy of consideration as CSAIs 

can be identified through a combination of documentary assessment and/or archaeological 

fieldwork by qualified and informed persons or organisations.  

Decentralised energy  Local renewable energy and local low-carbon energy usually but not always on a relatively small 

scale encompassing a diverse range of technologies.   

Department for 

Environment, Farming & 

Rural Affairs (Defra)  

The Government department responsible for policy and legislation in respect of environmental 

(including waste management), food and rural issues. 

Development Plan  The development plan has statutory status as the starting point for decision making. Section 

38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the TCPA 1990 

require that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the development 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For waste proposals within Surrey the 

development plan comprises waste DPDs prepared by the county council and local plan DPDs 

as prepared by the LPAs as well as neighbourhood plans. 

Development Plan 

Documents (DPDs)  

These are planning policy documents which make up the Local Plan. DPDs include the core 

strategy, site-specific allocations of land and, where needed, area action plans. There will also 

be an adopted policies map which illustrates the spatial extent of policies that must be 

prepared and maintained to accompany all DPDs. 

Disposal  Disposal means any waste management operation which is not ‘recovery’ even where the 

operation has a secondary consequence, the reclamation of substances or energy.  

Downland Downland or lowland calcareous grassland as it is listed is a priority habitat, formed by grazing 

from both livestock and wild animals on nutrient-poor, shallow soils and slopes.  

Dry Mixed Recyclates 

(DMR) 

Typically composed of:  

• Paper - e.g. dry paper waste, newspapers, office paper and magazines 

• Cardboard – e.g. corrugated cardboard, cereal boxes and card 

• Metal cans – e.g. clean, empty drinks cans and food tins 

• Plastic – e.g. packaging films, rinsed out milk bottles, empty drinks bottles & clean 

salad trays, rinsed out margarine tubs & microwaveable meal trays 

Duty to Cooperate (DtC)  A legal duty on LPAs, county councils in England and public bodies to engage constructively, 

actively and on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of Local and Marine Plan 

preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary matters. Waste management is 

considered to be a strategic cross boundary matter.  

Ecosystem services  The benefits people obtain from ecosystems such as, food, water, flood and disease control 

and recreation. 

End of life vehicles (ELVs)  Under the ELV Regulations 2003 and 2005, the environmental impacts associated with the 

disposal of vehicles are limited, by reducing the amount of waste generated. 

Energy from Waste (EfW)  The process of managing waste to create energy - usually in the form of electricity or heat but 

also potentially biofuels – by means of thermal treatment. Many wastes are combustible, with 

Page 628

16

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Livestock


   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  8 9  
    

Term Definition 

relatively high calorific values – this energy can be recovered through processes such as 

incineration with electricity generation, gasification or pyrolysis. EfW generally falls within the 

‘other recovery’ category in the waste hierarchy.  

Energy Recovery  Covers a number of established and emerging technologies, though most energy recovery is 

through incineration technologies. Many wastes are combustible, with relatively high calorific 

values – this energy can be recovered through processes such as incineration with electricity 

generation, gasification or pyrolysis.  

Environmental Impact 

Assessment (EIA)   

The process of identifying and assessing the likely significant environmental impacts of a 

development proposal. EIA is a statutory requirement where the proposed development is of a 

type listed in Schedule 1 to the Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 2017 (as amended), or is of a type listed in Schedule 2 of those Regulations and is 

likely to have significant effects on the environment. The EIA process requires that certain 

information be provided, and that the public be consulted as part of the development consent 

process. The timescales for the determination of EIA planning applications, and for consultation 

on those applications, are longer than those for non-EIA development.  

European site  These are areas that form part of the Natura 2000 network defined under Article 3 of EU 

Directive 92/43/EEC (the Habitats Directive). They include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) 

and Special Protection Areas (SPAs), and are defined in regulation 8 of the Conservation of 

Habitats & Species Regulations 2017. 

Gasification  A technology that converts carbon containing material (including waste) into gas (mostly 

methane) at high temperature. The gas can either be used as a substitute for natural gas or 

used to power electricity generation.  

Green Belt   A national designation, which aims to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land around certain 

cities and large built-up areas permanently open or largely undeveloped, defined more fully in 

the NPPF.  

Greenfield land  Land previously in agriculture or non-urban/industrial use or which has not been damaged by a 

previous use. Not to be confused with Green Belt.  

Greenhouse gas (GHG) A GHG allows sunlight to enter the atmosphere freely. When sunlight strikes the Earth’s 

surface, some of it is reflected back towards space as infrared radiation (heat). GHGs absorb 

this infrared radiation and trap the heat in the atmosphere. Many gases exhibit greenhouse 

properties, including water vapour, carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. 

Green infrastructure  A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a 

wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities. 

Groundwater Source 

Protection Zone (SPZ) 

The Environment Agency identifies SPZs to protect drinking water sources such as wells, 

boreholes and springs used for public drinking water supply from developments that may 

damage its quality.  

Gross Value added (GVA) The measure of the value of goods and services produced in an area, industry or sector of an 

economy.  

Hazardous waste  Controlled waste that is dangerous or difficult to treat, keep, store or dispose of, so that special 

provision is required for dealing with it. Hazardous wastes are the more dangerous wastes and 

include toxic wastes, acids, alkaline solutions, asbestos, fluorescent tubes, batteries, oil, fly ash 

(flue ash), industrial solvents, oily sludges, pesticides, pharmaceutical compounds, 

photographic chemicals, waste oils, wood preservatives. If improperly handled, treated or 

disposed of, a waste that, by virtue of its composition, carries the risk of death, injury or 

impairment of health, to humans or animals, the pollution of waters, or could have an 

unacceptable environmental impact. It should be used only to describe wastes that contain 

sufficient of these materials to render the waste as a whole hazardous within the definition 

Page 629

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 0  
    

Term Definition 

given above. Defined in the Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005 (as 

amended).  

Heathland Lowland heathland is a habitat found mainly on free-draining infertile, acidic soils and is 

characterised by open, low-growing woody vegetation. Heathland is a UK priority habitat and 

Surrey has 13% of the UK total.  

Heavy Goods Vehicle 

(HGVs) 

Any vehicle carry goods with a weight over 3.5 tonnes.  

Heritage asset  A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 

significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. 

Heritage asset includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning 

authority (including local listing).  

Historic environment All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people and places 

through time, including all surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether visible, 

buried or submerged, and landscaped and planted or managed flora.  

Historic Park and Garden A site listed on the 'Register of Parks and Gardens of special historic interest in England'. These 

range from town gardens and public parks to the great country estates. They are heritage 

assets.  

Household waste  This is waste from a domestic property, caravan, and residential home or from premises 

forming part of a university or school or other educational establishment and premises forming 

part of a hospital or nursing home.   

Incineration  This is the controlled burning of waste usually in purpose built plant and is subject to stringent 

standards for emissions. Ash residues are often landfilled but may also be used in building 

materials. Incineration that involves the capture of energy falls within the category ‘Energy 

from Waste’.  

Inert waste  Inert waste means waste that does not undergo any significant physical, chemical or biological 

transformations. Inert waste will not dissolve, burn or otherwise physically or chemically react, 

biodegrade or adversely affect other matter with which it comes into contact in a way likely to 

give rise to environmental pollution or harm human health. The total leachability and pollutant 

content of the waste and the ecotoxicity of the leachate must be insignificant, and in particular 

not endanger the quality of surface water and/or groundwater. Non-inert (including non-

hazardous) waste is all other waste other than as identified above.  

Joint Municipal Waste 

Management Strategy 

(JMWMS) 

A strategy for the management of waste arising from households across a county or other 

relevant administrative area. Produced in partnership by the WDA and the WCAs. It sets targets 

for recycling, reducing and managing waste in the most sustainable and cost-effective way.  

Landfill and Landraise  The term landfill relates to waste disposal mainly below ground level (by filling a void) whereas 

landraise refers to waste disposal mainly above pre-existing ground levels. They are generally 

the least preferred method of waste management.  

Landscape Character 

Assessment (LCA)  

A comprehensive assessment of the landscape character of the county. It takes account of the 

framework of the National Character Areas recently reviewed by Natural England and describes 

variations in the landscape character at a county level.  

Landscape & Visual Impact 

Assessment (LVIA)  

LVIA is a tool used to identify and assess the significance and effects of change resulting from 

development, on both the landscape as an environmental resource in its own right and on 

people’s views and visual amenity.  

Large scale development  For the purposes of this plan is generally considered to be sites greater than 5 hectares or for 

waste development those sites handling greater than 50,000 tonnes per annum (tpa).  

Page 630

16

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Habitat_(ecology)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Acid


   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 1  
    

Term Definition 

Listed Buildings  A building of special architectural or historic interest in a list compiled by the Secretary of State 

under the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990, thereby having statutory 

protection. Listing of buildings includes the interior as well as the exterior of the building, and 

any nearby buildings or permanent structures within the curtilage (e.g. wells, outbuildings). 

Historic England is responsible for designating buildings for listing in England.   

Local Authority Collected 

Waste (LACW)  

All waste collected by a local authority. It includes household waste and business waste and 

construction and demolition waste where collected by the local authority.  LACW is the 

definition that is used in statistical publications produced by Defra, which previously referred to 

‘municipal’ waste.  

Local Development 

Scheme  

The timetable for the preparation of Local Plans.   

Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP)  

A body, designated by the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government, established for the purpose of creating or improving the conditions for 

economic growth in an area.   

Local Nature Reserves 

(LNRs)  

An area designated by local authorities, in consultation with Natural England (formerly English 

Nature), under the National Parks & Access to the Countryside Act 1949, to provide 

opportunities for educational use and public enjoyment, in addition to protecting wildlife or 

geological and physiographical features of special interest.  

Local Planning Authorities 

(LPAs)  

The public authority whose duty it is to carry out specific planning functions for a particular 

area.  

Local Plan  A plan for the future development of a local area, drawn up by the LPA in consultation with the 

community. In law this is described as the development plan documents adopted under the 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Current core strategies or other planning policies, 

which under law would be considered to be DPDs, form part of the Local Plan. The term 

includes old policies which have been saved under the 2004 Act.  

Local roads  These are taken to include:  

A roads (not including trunk roads and primary routes).  

B roads – which are roads intended to connect different areas, and to feed traffic between A 

roads and smaller roads on the network.  

Classified unnumbered roads which are smaller roads intended to connect together 

unclassified roads with A and B roads, and often linking a housing estate or a village to the rest 

of the network. Similar to ‘minor roads’ on an Ordnance Survey map and sometimes known 

unofficially as C roads.  

Unclassified roads which are local roads intended for local traffic. The vast majority (60%) of 

roads in the UK fall within this category.   

Mass burn incinerator  Large, complex facilities which are used to burn waste at very high temperatures.  

Materials Recovery Facility 

(MRF)  

A facility where waste can be taken in bulk for separation, recycling or recovery of waste 

materials. This may also involve the crushing and screening of construction, demolition and 

excavation waste. MRFs fall within the ‘recycling’ category in the waste hierarchy.  

Ministry of Housing 

Communities & Local 

Government (MHCLG)  

The Government department responsible for the planning system and creating national 

planning policy and guidance.   

Mixed Waste Processing  Operations primarily of a mechanical and/or biological nature, which are designed to process 

household waste.  

Page 631

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 2  
    

Term Definition 

National Nature Reserves 

(NNRs)  

NNRs were established to protect some of our most important habitats, species and geology, 

and to provide ‘outdoor laboratories’ for research.  

National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF)  

The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected 

to be applied. Amongst other things it sets out the Government's policy on preparing Local 

Plans.  

National Planning Policy for 

Waste (NPPW) 

Adopted in October 2014, this document sets out the Government's detailed waste planning 

policies.  

Natural England The Government’s adviser on the natural environment in England, providing practical scientific 

advice on how to look after England’s landscapes and wildlife.  

Neighbourhood plans  A plan for development prepared by a Parish Council or Neighbourhood Forum for a particular 

neighbourhood area.  

Net self-sufficiency  To provide enough waste management facilities to manage the equivalent amount of waste 

arising within the Plan area.  

Non-inert waste  A waste that will biodegrade or decompose, releasing environmental pollutants. Examples 

include: wood and wood products, paper and cardboard, vegetation and vegetable matter, 

leather, rubber and food processing wastes.   

Open space  All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water (such as rivers, 

canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and 

can act as a visual amenity.  

Other Recovery  Other recovery is not specifically defined in the revised Waste Framework Directive, although 

‘energy recovery’ is referenced as an example. It can be assumed by their exclusion in the 

definition of recycling, that processing of wastes into materials to be used as fuels or for 

backfilling can be considered ‘other recovery’.   

Pollution  Anything that affects the quality of land, air, water or soils, which might lead to an adverse 

impact on human health, the natural environment or general amenity. Pollution can arise from 

a range of emissions, including smoke, fumes, gases, dust, steam, odour, noise and light.  

Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) 

Government guidance intended to assist practitioners in interpreting the NPPF.   

PM10 PM10 are very small particles of solid and /or liquid in the air with a diameter of 10 micrometres 

or smaller. They are formed from combustion or burning processes. 

Previously developed land 

(PDL)  

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 

developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be 

developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or has 

been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals 

extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where provision for restoration has been made 

through development control procedures; land in built-up areas such as private residential 

gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; land that was previously-developed but 

where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the 

landscape.  

Public Right of Ways 

(PRoW) 

PRoW are paths that all members of the public can legally use: footpaths – for walking, running, 

in mobility scooters or powered wheelchairs; bridleways – for walking, horse riding, bicycles, 

mobility scooters or powered wheelchairs; restricted byways – for any transport without a 

motor and mobility scooters or powered wheelchairs; byways open to all traffic – for any kind 

of transport, including cars (but mainly used by walkers, cyclists and horse riders). 

Page 632

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 3  
    

Term Definition 

Priority habitats and 

species  

Species and Habitats of Principal Importance included in the England Biodiversity List published 

by the Secretary of State under section 41 of the Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 

2006.  

Pyrolysis  The combustion of waste in the absence of oxygen, resulting in the production of liquid, gas, 

char, whose after-use depends on the type of waste incinerated.   

Ramsar sites  Ramsar sites are designated under the Convention on Wetlands of International Importance, 

agreed in Ramsar, Iran, in 1971. Originally intended to protect sites of importance especially as 

waterfowl habitat, the Convention has broadened its scope over the years to cover all aspects 

of wetland conservation and wise use, recognising wetlands as ecosystems that are extremely 

important for biodiversity conservation in general and for the well-being of human 

communities.  

Receptor  Existing land uses that could be affected by the proposed development at the site allocations. 

Some examples of receptors include: residential dwellings, hospitals, commercial premises and 

footpaths.  

Recovery  Recovery means any waste management operation the principal result of which is waste 

serving a useful purpose by replacing other materials which would otherwise have been used to 

fulfil a particular function, or waste being prepared to fulfil that function, in the plant or in the 

wider economy.   

Recovery facilities  A facility that recovers value, such as resources and energy, from waste prior to disposal, 

includes energy from waste, biological treatment and physical treatment facilities.  

Recovery to Land  This is considered to be the use of inert material for a genuine beneficial use such as landscape 

and/or amenity improvements.  

Recycling  Recycling means any recovery operation by which waste materials are reprocessed into 

products, materials or substances whether for the original or other purposes. Includes the 

reprocessing of organic material but not energy recovery or the reprocessing into materials 

that are to be used as fuels or for backfilling operations.  

Regional Spatial Strategies 

(RSSs)   

Regional Spatial Strategies were introduced in place of county-level structure plans under the 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The RSS for Surrey was the South East Plan but this 

was revoked in 2013 except for policy (NRM6) relating to the Thames Basin Heaths Special 

Protection Area.  

Regionally Important 

Geological & 

Geomorphological Sites 

(RIGS) 

RIGS, also known as Local Geological Sites, are areas for geological or geomorphological 

importance that are not subject to statutory protection as geological Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI). RIGS are selected under locally-developed criteria, according to their value for 

education, scientific study, historical significance or aesthetic qualities. Whilst not benefiting 

from statutory protection, RIGS are equivalent to Local Wildlife Sites, and consideration of their 

importance should be an integral part of the planning process. 

Renewable and low carbon 

energy  

Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as generating electricity. Renewable energy 

covers those energy flows that occur naturally and repeatedly in the environment – from the 

wind, the fall of water, the movement of the oceans, from the sun and also from biomass and 

deep geothermal heat. Low carbon technologies are those that can help reduce emissions 

(compared to conventional use of fossil fuels).  

Residual waste  The elements of the waste streams that remain following recovery operations. Residual waste 

usually needs to be managed by disposal e.g. landfill.  

Restoration  Process of returning a site or area to a condition equivalent to its former use or suitable for its 

anticipated future use following mineral extraction. It includes processes that take place before 

Page 633

16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/427/pdfs/uksi_20130427_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/427/pdfs/uksi_20130427_en.pdf


   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 4  
    

Term Definition 

and during mineral extraction (stripping and protection of soils) and operations after extraction 

up until the after-use is established on the site.  

Reuse  The commercial sector can reuse products designed to be used a number of times, such as 

reusable packaging. Householders can buy refillable containers or reuse plastic bags. Reuse 

contributes to sustainable development and can save raw materials, energy and transport 

costs.  

Reuse Derived Fuel (RDF)  A fuel produced from various types of wastes such as municipal solid wastes (MSW), industrial 

wastes or commercial wastes.  

Safeguarding  The process of protecting sites and areas that have potential for relevant development 

(minerals and waste) from other forms of development.  

Scheduled Monuments   Nationally important monuments usually archaeological remains, which are protected against 

inappropriate development through the Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act 1979.  

Sites of Nature 

Conservation Importance 

(SNCI)  

An area (non-statutory) designated by the Surrey Local Sites Partnership as being of county or 

regional wildlife value. Sites are selected under locally developed criteria. Also known as Local 

Wildlife Sties.  

Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI)  

A site which is of special interest by reason of any of its flora, fauna, or geological or 

physiographical features and has been designated by Natural England under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981.  

Site Waste Management 

Plan 

A plan which sets out how resources will be managed and waste controlled at all stages of a 

construction project, including: 

What types of waste will be generated. 

How the waste will be managed. 

Which contractors will be used to ensure the waste is correctly recycled or disposed of 

responsibly and legally. 

Special Areas of 

Conservation (SAC)  

SACs are habitats designated under the EU Habitats Directive. SACs are areas which have been 

identified as best representing the range and variety within the European Union of habitats and 

(non-bird) species listed on Annexes I and II to the Directive.   

Special Protection Areas 

(SPA)  

A site designated under the EU Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds (2009/147/EC) to 

protect wild birds, their eggs, nests and habitats.  

Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI)  

A document which sets out how authorities will involve local communities in the preparation of 

local development documents and development management decisions.   

Strategic Environment 

Assessment (SEA)  

A procedure which requires public authorities to undertake a systematic assessment and 

evaluation of the impacts that certain plans and programmes may have on the environment, as 

part of the plan preparation and decision making process.  

Suitable alternative natural 

greenspace (SANG) 

Green space that is of a quality and type suitable to be used as mitigation for new residential 

development in the context of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA). Its role 

is to provide alternative open space which will divert local residents away from visiting the SPA. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA)  

A process of analysing and evaluating the environmental, social and economic impacts of the 

plan or programme, often in conjunction with an SEA.  

Supplementary planning 

documents  

Planning documents which expand upon policy or provide further detail to policies in 

development plan documents, but do not have development plan status.  

Page 634

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 5  
    

Term Definition 

Surrey Minerals Plan 2011  The Surrey Minerals Plan was adopted in 2011 and provides strategic policies and site-specific 

proposals for the extraction of primary aggregate, silica sand and brick clay for the period to 

2026.  

Surrey Waste Local Plan 

(SWLP)  

The development plan document that sets out the planning framework for the development of 

waste management facilities in Surrey. With an expectation they will last ten years from 

adoption. This Plan is to replace the current 2008 SWP and is to be adopted in 2020.  

Surrey Waste Plan (SWP)  A series of waste development plan documents which set out the planning framework for the 

development of waste management facilities in Surrey. This Plan was adopted in 2008  

Thermal Treatment  A waste management operation that involves the use of heat to process waste and generally 

involves the production of energy. Incineration is a thermal treatment but ‘Energy from waste’ 

is the term more generally used to describe waste management involving incineration.   

Tonne  Metric Ton. 1000 kilos, equal to 2004 lbs.  

tpa  Tonnes per annum. 

mtpa  Million tonnes per annum. 

Topography  A description or visual representation of the shape of the land, for example, contours or 

changes in the height of land above sea level.  

Transport assessment or 

Transport Statement  

A comprehensive and systematic process that sets out transport issues relating to a proposed 

development. It identifies what measures will be required to improve accessibility and safety 

for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car such as walking, cycling and public 

transport and what measures will need to be taken to deal with the anticipated transport 

impacts of the development. Transport assessments are used for larger scale development 

proposals, or where there are complicated transport matters to consider. Transport Statements 

are used for smaller scale development proposals than Transport assessments, where the 

transport issues to be reviewed are straight forward. The coverage of Transport assessments 

and statements is decided on a case by case basis, depending on the nature of the 

development proposals and the transport network it is served by.  

Travel plan or Traffic 

Management Plan  

A long-term management strategy for an organisation or site that seeks to deliver sustainable 

transport objectives through action and is articulated in a document that is regularly reviewed.  

Waste  Any substance or object that the holder or the possessor either discards or intends or is 

required to discard.  

Waste arisings  This is the amount of waste produced in a given area during a given period of time, usually 

reported as tpa. 

Waste Collection Authority 

(WCA)  

A local authority with a statutory responsibility to provide a waste collection service to each 

household in its area, and on request, to local businesses.   

Waste Disposal Authority 

(WDA)  

A local authority responsible for managing the waste collected by the collection authorities and 

the provision of household waste recovery centres.  

Waste Electrical & 

Electronic Equipment 

(WEEE)  

WEEE includes a broad range of consumer and commercial equipment (i.e. large household 

appliance, small household appliances, IT and telecoms equipment, consumer equipment, 

lighting equipment, electric tools, toys, medical equipment, monitoring and control equipment, 

and automatic dispensers).  

Waste Framework Directive 

(WFD)  

An EU Directive (2008/98/EC) which provides the overarching legislative framework for the 

collection, transport, recovery and disposal of waste. It defines certain terms, such as 'waste', 

'recovery' and 'disposal' to ensure that a uniform approach is taken across the EU.  

Page 635

16



   
 

G l o s s a r y  |  9 6  
    

Term Definition 

Waste hierarchy  A concept devised by the WFD conveying waste management options in order of preference; 

waste prevention (most preferred) followed by reduction, recycling, recovery and disposal 

(least preferred).   

Waste Management 

Industry  

This comprises businesses and not-for-profit organisations carrying out the collection, 

treatment and disposal of waste.  

Waste Planning Authority 

(WPA)  

The local authority responsible for waste development planning and control. These are unitary 

authorities, including National Park Authorities, and county councils in non-unitary areas.  

Waste streams  Waste produced by different sectors and with different composition such as ‘commercial and 

industrial’ or ‘hazardous’.  

Waste Transfer  Process where waste is taken from waste producers, and taken for treatment, recycling and/or 

disposal.  

Waste Transfer Station 

(WTS)  

Part of waste transfer network which enables materials to be sorted and organised before 

being sent on for final processing.  

Wastewater  Water discharged to sewers and includes waste in liquid form as well as surface water runoff. 

This raw wastewater is collected in sewers and transferred to wastewater treatment works 

where it is treated in such a way that produces largely reusable sewage sludge and effluent that 

is discharged to watercourses.  

Page 636

16



   
 

A p p e n d i x  1 :  T a b l e  o f  I n d i c a t o r s ,  T r i g g e r s  a n d  T a r g e t s  R e l a t i n g  t o  t h e  M o n i t o r i n g  o f  P o l i c y  1 4  |  
9 7  

    

Appendix 1: Table of Indicators, Triggers and Targets Relating to the Monitoring of Policy 14 

Indicator Target/Trigger Actions 
Relevant P14 

Clauses 

Policy 14 Part A: Key Environmental Assets (e.g. AONB, , Ramsar Site, SPA, SAC, SSSI, NNR, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Registered Park & Garden) 

14A.1 

All applications for waste related 
development determined during the 
monitoring year where the proposal has the 
potential to affect one or more of the 
categories of sensitive environmental assets 
referred to in Part A of Policy 14  

Trigger: Any applications refused during the monitoring year, 
where the reasons for refusal include unacceptable impacts on one 
or more of the categories of sensitive environmental assets 
referred to in Part A of Policy 14 

Review reasons for refusal to establish what measures 
could be taken to reduce the incidence of refusals on 
grounds of unacceptable impacts. Establish what corrective 
action needs to be taken (e.g. does the Council need to 
provide further guidance to applicants). 

Part A (i) National 
Landscapes; Part A (ii) 
Supranational / 
National Natural 
Assets; Part A (iii) 
National Heritage 
Assets 14A.2 

Trigger: Any applications granted permission during the 
monitoring year, with conditions attached in respect of the 
protection of the categories of sensitive environmental assets 
referred to in Part A of Policy 14 

Target: 100% applications granted permission include conditions 
to manage identified impacts  

If target not met, review permissions granted to establish 
why relevant conditions were not attached at the point of 
determination, and whether the Councils approach needs 
to be amended. 

Policy 14 Part B: Impacts on the Wider Environment  

14B.1 
All applications for waste related 
development determined during the 
monitoring year where the proposal would 
give rise to impacts on one or more of the 
environmental receptors referred to in Part 
B of Policy 14 

Trigger: Any applications refused during the monitoring year, for 
which the reasons for refusal make reference to unacceptable 
impacts on one or more of the categories of environmental 
receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 14 

Review reasons for refusal to establish what measures 
could be taken to reduce the incidence of refusals on 
grounds of impacts. Establish what corrective action needs 
to be taken (e.g. does the Council need to provide further 
guidance to applicants). 

Part B (iii) Air Quality; 
(iv) Water 
Environment; (v) 
Landscape; (vi) Natural 
Environment; (vii) 
Historic Environment; 
(viii) Land & Soil 
Resources 

14B.2 Trigger: Any application granted permission during the monitoring 
year. 

Target: 100% applications granted permission include conditions 
to manage the identified impacts on one or more of the categories 
of environmental receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 14  

If target not met, review permissions granted to establish 
why relevant conditions were not attached at the point of 
determination, and whether the Councils approach needs 
to be amended.  

 

  

P
age 637

16



   
 

A p p e n d i x  1 :  T a b l e  o f  I n d i c a t o r s ,  T r i g g e r s  a n d  T a r g e t s  R e l a t i n g  t o  t h e  M o n i t o r i n g  o f  P o l i c y  1 4  |  
9 8  

    

Indicator Target/Trigger Actions 
Relevant P14 

Clauses 

Policy 14 Part B: Impacts on Local Communities 

14B.3 
All applications for waste related 
development determined during the 
monitoring year where the proposal would 
give rise to impacts on one or more of the 
community receptors referred to in Part B of 
Policy 14 

Trigger: Any applications refused for which the reasons for refusal 
make reference to unacceptable impacts on one or more of the 
categories of community receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 
14 

Review reasons for refusal to establish what measures 
could be taken to reduce the incidence of refusals on 
grounds of impacts on one or more of the categories of 
community receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 14. 
Establish what corrective action needs to be taken (e.g. 
does the Council need to provide further guidance to 
applicants). 

Part B (i) Public 
Amenity & Safety; (ii) 
Aerodrome & Airport 
Safeguarding 

14B.4 

Trigger: Any application granted permission during the monitoring 
year. 

Target: 100% applications granted permission include conditions 

to manage the identified impacts on one or more of the categories 
of community receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 14 

If target not met, review permissions granted to establish 
why relevant conditions were not attached at the point of 
determination, and whether the Councils approach needs 
to be amended.  

 

P
age 638

16



   
 

   
 

  

  

For adoption May 2020 

Page 639

16



 

   
 

  

If you have any questions about the consultation or you are having difficulty 

in accessing the documents please contact Surrey County Council: 

   Phone: 03456 009 009 

  Email: wasteplan@surreycc.gov.uk  

  Letter: Planning and Development Service,  

Room 385 County Hall, Penrhyn Road,  

Kingston upon Thames, KT1 2DW 

 

Due to the large size of this document 

and website file size restrictions you 

may find the document quality is low. 

A higher quality document can be 

provided on request if required, please 

email wasteplan@surreycc.gov.uk 

Page 640

16

mailto:wasteplan@surreycc.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

 

Table of Contents  

1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................5 

 Purpose of Identifying Areas of Search and Sites ................................................................................5 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search ............................................................................................................5 

 Allocated Sites .......................................................................................................................................7 

2 Site Assessment work ....................................................................................................................................9 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search ............................................................................................................9 

 Allocated Sites .......................................................................................................................................9 

3 Issues to be addressed at application stage .............................................................................................. 11 

 Issues to be addressed ....................................................................................................................... 11 

 Need for project level Appropriate Assessment .............................................................................. 11 

 Other regulatory regimes................................................................................................................... 12 

4 Industrial Land Areas of Search .................................................................................................................. 13 

 Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road Industrial Park and Byfleet Industrial Estate ......... 13 

 Molesey Industrial Estate, West Molesey ......................................................................................... 15 

 Hersham Road North and Lyon Road / North Weylands, Walton-on-Thames............................... 17 

 Longmead Industrial Estate, Epsom .................................................................................................. 19 

 Slyfield Industrial Estate ..................................................................................................................... 21 

 Woodbridge Meadows Industrial Estate .......................................................................................... 23 

 Land at Burnt Common warehouse, London Road, Send ................................................................ 25 

 Land North and South of Lysons Avenue, Ash Vale ......................................................................... 27 

 Riverway Industrial Estate, Astolat Business Park & Weyvern Park, Peasmarsh ........................... 29 

 Land near Dorking West Station – Curtis Road, Station Road ......................................................... 31 

 Holmethorpe Industrial Estate, Redhill ............................................................................................. 33 

 Perrywood Business Park ................................................................................................................... 35 

 Salfords Industrial Estate ................................................................................................................... 37 

 Thorpe Industrial Estate ..................................................................................................................... 39 

 Byfleet Road Employment Allocation................................................................................................ 41 

 York Town Industrial Estate, Doman Road and Stanhope Road...................................................... 43 

 Windmill Road Industrial Area, Sunbury ........................................................................................... 45 

 Hobbs Industrial Estate, Felbridge .................................................................................................... 47 

Page 641

16



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Farnham Trading Estate including land north of Water lane, Farnham ......................................... 49 

 Land at Dunsfold Park (As part of new settlement) ......................................................................... 51 

 Coxbridge Business Park, Farnham ................................................................................................... 53 

 Monument Way East Industrial Estate (includes Woking Business Park) ...................................... 55 

5 Allocated sites.............................................................................................................................................. 57 

 Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Moorfield Road, Guildford ............................ 57 

 Former Weylands Sewage Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames ................................................ 59 

 Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Road, Leatherhead ................. 61 

 Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor ............................................................................................................ 63 

 Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, Tillburstow Hill Road, South Godstone .......................... 65 

 Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Kitsmead Lane, Longcross ............................................................ 67 

 

Page 642

16



 
 
 
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  5  
 

1 Introduction  

 Purpose of Identifying Areas of Search and Sites 

 As the waste planning authority1 (WPA) Surrey County Council is required to produce 

a local plan for waste development, known as the Surrey Waste Local Plan (the Plan), 

to show how and where waste will be managed in Surrey in the future. The Plan sets 

out the planning framework for the development of waste management facilities and 

is used in determining planning applications for waste management facilities.  

 The Plan is intended to make sure that land is available to be developed so that there 

are enough waste management facilities to handle the equivalent amount of waste 

arising in Surrey. In doing so the SWLP provides policies which ensure these facilities 

are well located and do not result in unacceptable impacts on communities and the 

environment. 

 Part 1 of the Plan sets out the context of the Plan, the vision, objectives and policies 

that are applied when determining planning applications. This Part 2 of the Plan gives 

more specific information around the areas and sites identified as being suitable for 

waste management in accordance with Policies 10, 11(a) and 11(b). 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search are broad areas, not allocated as sites for waste 

development, but identified as areas of search within which there may be potential 

for waste development. The areas are those already identified or allocated in district 

or borough Local Plans (adopted and emerging) as suitable for employment use, 

industrial and storage use or appropriate mixed use, which are compatible with 

waste management uses. 

 Existing employment land areas that are predominantly used for, and considered 

suitable for, general industry (B2) and storage and distribution (B8) have been 

included, as these areas are compatible with waste management uses. Land 

allocated, but not yet developed, for employment use and considered suitable for B2 

or B8 uses is also included. 

 

1 The Town and Country Planning (Prescription of County Matters) (England) Regulations 2003 prescribe classes of waste 
operations and uses of land that should be dealt with as “county matters”. 

Page 643

16



 
 
 
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  6  
 

 The process by which the areas were identified is recorded in the Industrial Land 

Areas of Search Site Identification Report (December 2018). The final list of ILAS is 

shown in Table 1.  

Table 1 Industrial Land Areas of Search 

 Area of Search Name District/Borough 

1 Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road Industrial Park and Byfleet Industrial Estate Elmbridge and Woking 

2 Molesey Industrial Estate, West Molesey Elmbridge 

3 Hersham Road North and Lyon Road / North Weylands, Walton-on-Thames Elmbridge 

4 Longmead Industrial Estate, Epsom Epsom and Ewell 

5 Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford Guildford 

6 Woodbridge Meadows Industrial Estate, Guildford Guildford 

7 Land around Burnt Common Warehouse, London Road, Send Guildford 

8 North and south of Lysons Avenue, Ash Vale Guildford 

9 Riverway Industrial Estate, Astolat Business Park and Weyvern Park, Peasmarsh Guildford 

10 Land near Dorking West Station, Curtis Road/Station Road, Dorking Mole Valley 

11 Holmethorpe Industrial Estate, Redhill Reigate and Banstead 

12 Perrywood Business Park, Salfords Reigate and Banstead 

13 Salfords Industrial Estate, Salfords Reigate and Banstead 

14 Thorpe Industrial Estate, Thorpe Runnymede 

15 Byfleet Road Employment Allocation, Addlestone Runnymede 

16 York Town Industrial Estate, Doman Road and Stanhope Road, Camberley Surrey Heath 

17 Windmill Road, Sunbury-on -Thames Spelthorne 

18 Hobbs Industrial Estate, Felbridge Tandridge 

19 Farnham Trading Estate (including Land off Water Lane), Farnham Waverley 

20 Land at Dunsfold Aerodrome (as part of new settlement), Dunsfold Waverley 

21 Coxbridge Business Park, Farnham Waverley 

22 Monument Way East Industrial Estate (including Woking Business Park), Woking Woking 

 These locations are not specifically safeguarded for waste management 

development, however any existing waste management facilities within these 

locations are safeguarded by Policy 7. 

  

Page 644

16



 
 
 
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  7  
 

 Allocated Sites 

 Certain sites have been allocated to ensure that sufficient land is available to manage 

the county’s existing and future waste arisings during the plan period. These sites 

listed in section 5 of Part 2, have been tested through the county council’s site 

identification and selection methodology and were assessed as appropriate for 

development in terms of their location, suitability and deliverability during the plan 

period. 

 Sites have been allocated to provide the land necessary to meet the need for new 

waste management facilities in Surrey up to 2035. For each site a number of key 

development issues have been identified. The process by which the site allocations 

were identified is recorded in the Site Identification & Evaluation Report (January 

2019). 

Table 2 Sites allocated on land not within the Green Belt 

Site Name District/Borough Area (Ha) 

Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Moorfield Road, Guildford Guildford 12.7 

Table 3 Sites allocated on previously developed land within the Green Belt 

Site Name District/Borough Area (Ha) 

Former Weylands Sewage Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames Elmbridge 5.6 

Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Rd, Leatherhead Mole Valley 3.4 

Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor Spelthorne 6.8 

Table 4 Site allocated on land within the Green Belt earmarked for removal from Green Belt by the district/borough 

Site Name District/Borough Area (Ha) 

Land at Lambs Business Park, South Godstone  Tandridge 3.0 

  

Page 645

16



 
 
 
 

I n t r o d u c t i o n  |  8  
 

 The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy2 (Appendix 1) outlines the need to 

deliver new infrastructure for Dry Mixed Recyclables (DMR) produced by households. 

In accordance with the nPPG3 the following site is also allocated, specifically for the 

management of DMR from households: 

Table 5 Site allocated on land within the Green Belt for a specific purpose 

Site Name District/Borough Area (Ha) 

Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Longcross  Runnymede 6.2 

 

  

 

2 The strategy can be found on the Surrey Waste Partnership website https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-

strategy 

3 National Planning Practice Guidance on Waste Paragraph 019 

Page 646

16

https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-strategy
https://www.surreywastepartnership.org.uk/our-strategy


 
 
 
 

S i t e  A s s e s s m e n t  w o r k  |  9  
 

 

2 Site Assessment work 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search 

 Assessment of Suitability 

2.1.1.1 The areas of search have already been identified as being suitable in principle for a range 

of industrial and/or storage uses through the relevant district or borough local plan. As a 

result no new site assessment work was undertaken. However, given the nature of any 

potentially available land within established industrial estates, it is more likely that 

suitable waste management facilities will be small to medium in scale (see Table 6). 

2.1.1.2 There are material considerations associated with these sites which will need to be 

appraised at the planning application stage. Such considerations include the ability of 

development to mitigate potential adverse impacts taking account of the particular 

characteristics of the location. 

2.1.1.3 Relevant policies in the borough or district local plan should always be referred to in 

addition to policies in Part 1 of the Surrey Waste Local Plan. Potentially relevant 

environmental information is also provided in Section 4 of this part of the Plan for each of 

the identified ILAS. 

 Allocated Sites 

 Initial Assessment Work 

2.2.1.1 As set out in the Site Identification and Evaluation Report a process of site 

characterisation was carried out for all sites that were identified. Each site 

characterisation was used to inform the evaluation of the site’s suitability as a location for 

future waste related development.  

2.2.1.2 The long list of sites was evaluated against a range of criteria informed by Appendix B of 

the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) and included: natural environment and 

biodiversity, landscape and visual amenity, the historic environment and archaeology, the 

water environment and flood risk, underlying geology and soils, air quality, and access to 

the surrounding transport network. This resulted in a recommended shortlist of sites that 

could be proposed for allocation following detailed assessment. 

 Detailed Site Assessment Work 

Page 647

16



 
 
 
 

S i t e  A s s e s s m e n t  w o r k  |  1 0  
 

2.2.2.1 Site assessment work was undertaken for each of the allocated sites in order to better 

understand specific constraints at each of the sites and their suitability for different types 

of waste related development. The assessments undertaken were as follows: 

• Air Quality Impact Assessment (AECOM, 2018). 

• Background Ecological Data Search (Surrey Wildlife Trust, 2018). 

• Health Impact Assessment (Surrey County Council, 2018). 

• Landscape and Visual Sensitivity Study (Land Use Consultants, 2018). 

• Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Peter Brett Associates, 2018). 

• Transport Study (Surrey County Council, 2018). 

2.2.2.2 The types of waste facility considered by each of the assessments include: energy from 

waste, composting (in vessel and open windrow), pyrolysis, gasification, anaerobic 

digestion, and processing of recyclables (Material Recovery Facilities). These facility types 

are defined in the Glossary at the end of the Plan (Part 1).  

2.2.2.3 These assessments identify specific issues at each allocated site and have informed the 

key development issues identified in Section 5 of this part of the Plan. It is recommended 

that the full assessment reports are referred to in order to fully understand the key 

development requirements. In addition, the assessment work carried out represents a 

snapshot in time and additional issues may need to be addressed depending on changes 

in circumstances.  

2.2.2.4 For each allocated site an indication of the type of waste use and the scale of facility that 

may be suitable in that location is provided. This is indicative only based on the site 

assessments. It is not intended to be definitive, but clearly any proposal that is of greater 

scale than indicated runs a greater risk of being unacceptable due to it giving rise to 

potentially unacceptable impacts that cannot be adequately mitigated. 

2.2.2.5 In terms of scale of potential facilities the following broad definitions are used based on 

either hectares or tonnes per annum:  

Table 6 Indicative scale of facilities used in the key development issues 

Indicative Scale Size of facility 

Hectares (ha) Throughput in tonnes per annum 

Small Up to 5 up to 50,000 

Medium 5 to 10 50,000 to 120,000 

Large 10 or more 120,000 or more 

 

  

Page 648

16



 
 
 
 

I s s u e s  t o  b e  a d d r e s s e d  a t  a p p l i c a t i o n  s t a g e  |  1 1  
 

 

3 Issues to be addressed at application stage 

 Issues to be addressed 

 Important site specific matters that will need to be addressed to support a planning 

application have been identified for each allocated site. For ILAS only key 

environmental sensitivities have been identified. 

 A range of issues will also likely need to be addressed as part of any planning 

application for waste development either within an ILAS or on an allocated site. For 

further guidance see Policy 14 of the Plan and the county council’s ‘Local List for the 

Validation of County Development & County Matters Planning Applications: Annexe 2 

– Waste Related Development4’. 

 Information relating to the environmental context and likely sensitivity of the sites 

and areas can be found in Appendix C (Allocated Sites) and Appendix D (ILAS) to the 

Surrey Waste Local Plan Environmental and Sustainability Report. Applicants should 

review and update that information as part of any planning application. 

 Need for project level Appropriate Assessment 

 The plan level Appropriate Assessment (as recorded in the Habitat Regulations 

Assessment report that accompanies the SWLP) made recommendations in respect 

of the suitability of the allocated sites and ILAS as locations for thermal treatment 

facilities (e.g. those disposing of waste by some form of combustion resulting in the 

generation of energy in the form of heat or power). For the ILAS the plan level 

assessment only examined the potential impacts of a small scale (i.e. less than 

50,000 tonnes per annum (tpa)) facility being located on land within the ILAS, on the 

basis that it would be unusual for sufficient land to become available within an 

established industrial estate to host a large scale thermal treatment facility. The 

recommendations of the plan level assessment are carried forward into the detailed 

guidance set out for each allocated site and ILAS covered in this part of the Plan. 

 

 

4 The ‘Local List for the validation of county planning applications’ identifies the information that the County Planning 

Authority will normally require to be able to register, assess and determine a planning application. It is available on the 
county council’s website. 

Page 649

16



 
 
 
 

I s s u e s  t o  b e  a d d r e s s e d  a t  a p p l i c a t i o n  s t a g e  |  1 2  
 

 A project level Appropriate Assessment will be required for proposals made in 

respect of any scale of thermal treatment facilities on those sites and ILAS situated 

within 10km of any Special Protected Area (SPA) or Special Area of Conservation 

(SAC) that may be sensitive to change due to nutrient nitrogen deposition. 

 The Appropriate Assessment will need to demonstrate that emissions of nutrient 

nitrogen from the proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site 

relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the relevant SPA or SAC. 

Where the 1% site relevant Critical Load threshold would be exceeded, the 

Appropriate Assessment would need to demonstrate that there would be no 

significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the relevant SPA or SAC. 

 For waste related development of allocated site or ILAS that does not involve thermal 

treatment, the need for Appropriate Assessment will be determined on a case-by-

case basis. Account will be taken of the proximity of the application site to nearby 

SPAs or SACs, of the features for which any nearby SPA or SAC is designated and their 

sensitivity to change, and of the nature and scale of the activity proposed at the 

prospective waste facility. 

 Other regulatory regimes 

 It should be noted that some impacts on the environment and amenity, in particular 

effects on air, land and water, are subject to control by regulatory regimes other 

than the planning system (e.g. the Environmental Permit regime and local 

environmental health controls). 

 Before waste management development can take place authorisation may also be 

required from the Environment Agency in the form of an Environmental Permit 

which will control emissions to air, land and water. 

Page 650

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 3  
 

4 Industrial Land Areas of Search 

 Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road Industrial Park and Byfleet 

Industrial Estate 

  

Page 651

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 4  
 

 

ILAS 4.1: Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road Industrial Park & Byfleet Industrial Estate, Byfleet 

This area comprises three distinct but adjoining industrial estates: Area A – Brooklands Industrial Estate, Elmbridge 
Borough 31.0 ha; Area B - Wintersells Road Industrial Park, Elmbridge Borough 5.0ha; Area C - Byfleet Industrial Estate, 
Woking Borough 13.3ha 

Description The area comprises three established industrial estates located to the north of Byfleet. The 

northern boundary is formed by the London Waterloo to Woking and the southwest rail line, 

the western boundary is formed by the M25 motorway and to the south is a retail superstore 

and primary school and a residential area. To the east is the former Brooklands Airfield. 

Current Uses Currently the estates comprise B2/B8 uses with a waste use in Unit 10 of Area B. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities5 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (Brooklands racing circuit & aerodrome; St George’s Hill 

multivallate hillfort) within 2.5 km, of which the Brooklands SM adjoins Area A and Area B. 

There is 1 Grade II* Listed Building within 1.0 km, and 3 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Parks & Gardens are the Grade II ‘Woburn Farm’ (2.4 km north) and the 

Grade II* ‘Royal Horticultural Society’s Gardens, Wisley’ (2.5 km south). 

The ‘Brooklands’ Conservation Area covers the whole of Area A. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 2.3 km south east, the South West London Waterbodies SPA 

and Ramsar Site is 5.8 km north west, and the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 6.1 km 

north west. 

The Basingstoke Canal SSSI is 1.1 km west, and the Ockham & Wisley Commons SSSI is 2.3 km 

south east. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 6.1 km north west, and the Ockham & Wisley LNR is 2.3 km 

south east. 

There are 13 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 4 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk Area A is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), and Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) fluvial 

flood risk.  

Air Quality The Runnymede M25 AQMA is 0.02 km north west, and the Weybridge AQMA is 2.3 km north 

east. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

5 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed facility 
would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA or of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the 
ecological integrity of the SPA or the SAC. 

Page 652

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 5  
 

 

 Molesey Industrial Estate, West Molesey 

 

  

Page 653

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 6  
 

 

ILAS 4.2: Molesey Industrial Estate, West Molesey 

Area 15.0 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial estate located in West Molesey. The area accessed is via 

Walton Road (B369) which connects to Hurst Road (A3050). The area can also be accessed via 

Central Avenue and Molesey Avenue. To the west of the area is the Queen Elizabeth II 

Reservoir. The surrounding area contains mainly residential uses. 

Current Uses Currently the site has B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities6. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (Hampton Court Palace) within 2.5 km. 

There are 2 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Gardens are the Grade I ‘Bushy Park’ (2.3 km north east), the 

Grade I ‘Hampton Court’ (2.4 km north east), and the Grade II* ‘Hampton Court House’ (2.4 km 

north east). 

The East Molesey Old Village Conservation Area is 1.3 km east. 

Nature Conservation The South West London SPA and Ramsar Site is 0.03 km west, the Richmond Park SAC is 6.7 km 

north east, and the Wimbledon Common SAC is 8.9 km north east, and the Thames Basin 

Heaths SPA is 9.6 km south west. 

The Knight & Bessborough Reservoirs SSSI is 0.03 km west, and the Bushy Park & Home Park 

SSSI is 2.25 km north east. 

The Ashtead Common NNR is 8.4 km south east and the Molesey Heath LNR is 0.2 km south. 

There are 10 SNCIs located within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodlands within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP), and 

Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The Walton Road, Molesey AQMA is 0.07 km north. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties.  

 

 

6 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed facility 
would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA or of the Wimbledon Common SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological 
integrity of the SPA or the SAC. The Site Improvement Plans for the South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site, 
and for the Richmond Park SAC did not identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for either of those 
designated sites. 

Page 654

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 7  
 

 Hersham Road North and Lyon Road / North Weylands, Walton-on-Thames 

 

  

Page 655

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 8  
 

 

ILAS 4.3: Hersham Road North & Lyon Road / North Weylands, Walton-on-Thames 

Area 7.2 ha 

Description The area is located on the eastern edge of Walton-on-Thames and the northern edge of 

Hersham. The area is bordered to the north by the open land of Field Common Farm, a restored 

former mineral working, and to the south by a rail line with Hersham Golf Club beyond. To the 

west is residential development, and to the east the area of the former Weylands Treatment 

Works and the River Mole. The area is an established industrial and trading estate. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities7.  

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (White Lady Milestone; The Belvedere, Claremont) within 

2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade I Listed Building within 1.0 km, and no Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade I ‘Claremont’ (2.0 km south). 

The ‘Esher’ Conservation Area is 1.4 km to the south east. 

Nature Conservation The South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site is 1.9 km north, the Thames Basin 

Heaths SPA is 6.9 km south, and the Richmond Park SAC is 8.2 km north east. 

The Esher Commons SSSI is 1.71 km south, and the Knight & Bessborough Reservoirs SSSI is 1.9 

km north. 

Ashtead Common NNR is 7.1 km south east, and the Molesey Heath LNR is 1.2 km north east. 

There are 5 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) for fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The Esher High Street AQMA is 1.49 km south east. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

7 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed facility 
would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPA. The Site 
Improvement Plans for the South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site, and for the Richmond Park SAC did not 
identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for either of those designated sites. 

Page 656

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  1 9  
 

 Longmead Industrial Estate, Epsom 

 

  

Page 657

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 0  
 

 

ILAS 4.4: Longmead Industrial Estate, Epsom 

Area 14.0 ha 

Description The area is located off Blenheim Road, to the south west of Ewell town centre and the north 

east of Epsom town centre. The area is bounded to the north, south and west by industrial units 

and to the east by a rail line, and further industrial units. Commercial waste vehicles access the 

area via Roy Richmond Way from Longmead Road (D2266), and domestic customers access the 

area via Blenheim Road from Longmead Road, which links to the A24 to the south and north. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS may be suited to the development 

of a small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facility8. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 3 Scheduled Monuments (Ewell Old Church Tower; Site of Nonsuch Palace & 

Cuddington Medieval Settlement; Castle Hill Earthwork, Chessington) within 2.5 km. 

There are 4 Grade II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and 10 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 

km.  

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Nonsuch’ (1.3 km north east). 

The ‘Ewell Village’ Conservation Area is 0.1 km north, and the ‘Linton Lane’ Conservation Area is 

0.2 km south east. 

Nature Conservation The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is 7.25 km south, the Richmond Park SAC is 8.5 km 

north west, and the Wimbledon Common SAC is 8.6 km north. 

The Stones Road Pond SSSI is 0.08 km south, and the Epsom & Ashtead Commons SSSI is 1.5 km 

south west.  

The Ashtead Common NNR is 2.7 km south west, the Hogsmill LNR is 1.1 km north, and the 

Epsom Common LNR is 1.2 km south west.  

There are 8 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP), and 

Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Water Quality The southern part of the area is underlain by a SPZ1 (Inner Protection Zone) designation. 

Air Quality The Ewell High Street AQMA is 0.9 km north east. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

8 Subject to it being demonstrated by a project level Appropriate Assessment that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the 
proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the 
Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC or of the Wimbledon Common SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse 
impact on the ecological integrity of the SACs. The Site Improvement Plan for the Richmond Park SAC did not identify 
nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for that designated site. 

Page 658

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 1  
 

 Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford 

 

  

Page 659

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 2  
 

 

ILAS 4.5: Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford 

Area 39.0 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial and trading estate located to the north east of Guildford. To 

the north and east the area is bounded by undeveloped land including the floodplain of the 

River Wey, with residential development situated to the north west beyond an area of open 

land, and further residential development immediately to the south. To the north east the area 

adjoins a site allocated for waste related development under Policy WD2 of the adopted Surrey 

Waste Plan, and proposed for continued allocation under Policy 11a of the Surrey Waste Local 

Plan (2019-2033). The area is accessed from the west, from the A320 (Woking Road). 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan land within the ILAS is considered unlikely to be suited to 

the development of any scale of thermal treatment facility.  

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 3 Scheduled Monuments (Linear boundary on Whitmoor Common; Disc barrow on 

Whitmoor Common; Site of Old Manor House, Sutton Park) within 2.5 km.  

There are 4 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km.  

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Sutton Place’ (0.8 km north). 

The ‘Wey & Godalming Navigations’ Conservation Area is 0.2 km east. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 0.8 km north west, and the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham 

SAC is 4.2 km north west. 

The Whitmoor Common SSSI is 0.8 km north west. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 10.4 km north west, the Riverside Park LNR is 0.14 km east, and 

the Whitmoor & Rickford Commons LNR is 0.9 km north west. 

There are 13 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 1 area of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 2.5 km south. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) for fluvial flood risk. 

Water Quality The area is underlain by SPZ2 (Outer Protection Zone) and SPZ3 (Total Catchment) designations. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

Page 660

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 3  
 

 Woodbridge Meadows Industrial Estate, Guildford 

 

  

Page 661

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 4  
 

 

ILAS 4.6: Woodbridge Meadows Industrial Estate, Guildford 

Area 8.7 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial estate and trading estate located to the north of Guildford 

town centre. To the west of the area, beyond a rail line, is the Midleton Industrial Estate, and to 

the east, beyond the River Wey, are the industrial and trading estates on Woodbridge Road. To 

the south the area is bounded by a rail line, and to the north by the A25, with the University of 

Surrey campus located to the south west. The area is accessed from Woodbridge Meadow 

(D4003), which links to the A25 (Midleton Road/Woodbridge Road/Ladymead) to the north. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities. 9 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 6 Scheduled Monuments (Treadwheel Crane; Medieval undercroft 50-52 High Street; 

Medieval undercroft 72-74 High Street; Guildford Castle; Henley Fort; Guildford Park Manor 

Medieval moated site) within 2.5 km. 

There are 4 Grade II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and 5 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 

km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘The Jellicoe Roof Garden, Guildford’, 1.0 

km south east. 

The ‘Wey & Godalming Navigations’ Conservation Area lies immediately to the east. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 2.2 km north, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 5.0 

km north west, and the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA 

is 9.7 km south west. 

The Whitmoor Common SSSI is 2.2 km north, and the Wey Valley Meadows SSSI is 2.25 km 

south. 

The Thursley NNR is 10.9 km south west, and the Riverside Park LNR is 0.8 km north.  

There are 9 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 1.3 km south west, and the Surrey AGLV is 1.1 km south west. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 

1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Water Quality The area is underlain by SPZ1 (Inner Protection Zone) and SPZ2 (Outer Protection Zone) 

designations. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within between 20 and 250 metres of a number of sensitive 

receptors, including residential properties.  

 

  

 

9 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed facility 
would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA, of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, or of the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden 
Heaths Phase 1) SPA, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPAs or the SAC. 

Page 662

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 5  
 

 Land at Burnt Common Warehouse, London Road, Send 

 

  

Page 663

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 6  
 

 

ILAS 4.7: Land around Burnt Common Warehouse, London Road, Send 

Area 9.3 ha 

Description This area is located between the A3 dual carriageway and London Road (old A3 slip road) at 

Burnt Common, Send in Surrey. There is a currently an existing industrial building located in the 

centre of the land. There are residential properties to the north east of the area. Guildford 

Borough Council proposes that once developed, the new employment land at Burnt Common 

would be treated as an Industrial Strategic Employment Site. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities10 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (Medieval moated site & earlier earthwork, Boughton Hall) 

within 2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade II Listed Building within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Sutton Place’ (1.7 km south west). 

The ‘Wey & Godalming Navigations’ Conservation Area is 1.4 km south west, and the ‘Sutton 

Place’ Conservation Area is 1.4 km south west. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 3.6 km west, and the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 

7.5 km west. 

The Papercourt SSSI is 1.2 km north. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 9.6 km north west, and the Riverside Park LNR is 2.9 km south 

west. 

There are 15 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 6 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km including 1 

that adjoins the area (for which a minimum buffer of 15m would be required). 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity 
The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

10 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames 
Basin Heath SPA or of the Thursley, Ash, Pribright & Chobham SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on 
the ecological integrity of the SPA or the SAC. 

Page 664

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 7  
 

 Land North and South of Lysons Avenue, Ash Vale 

 

  

Page 665

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 8  
 

 

ILAS 4.8: Land North & South of Lysons Avenue, Ash Vale 

Area 7.0 ha approx. 

Description The area is comprised of land in existing industrial use situated on the northern and southern 

sides of Lysons Avenue in Ash Vale. An established waste transfer station is situated in the north 

western part of the area. To the north is an area of open land in recreational use, with a school 

beyond, whilst to the east and south are areas of residential development. To the west the area 

is bounded by open land, and the floodplain of the Blackwater river. The area is accessed from 

Lysons Avenue (B3166), which links to the A331 to the west. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2 uses, including an existing waste use. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan land within the ILAS is considered unlikely to be suited to 

development of any scale of thermal treatment facility. 

 

Key environmental considerations: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (Bowl barrow on the Cockadobby Hill roundabout; Bowl 

barrow in Albert Road) within 2.5 km. 

There are no Grade I or II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and no Grade II Listed Buildings within 

0.5km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Military Cemetery, Aldershot’ (2.1 km 

south west). 

The ‘Basingstoke Canal’ Conservation Area is 0.2 km east. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 0.4 km east, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 0.4 

km east, and the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA is 9.7 

km south. 

The Basingstoke Canal SSSI is 0.2 km east, and the Ash to Brookwood Heaths SSSI is 0.4 km east. 

The Thursley NNR is 11.95 km south, and the Snaky Lane LNR is 0.4 km north. 

There are 7 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) 

fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

  

Page 666

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  2 9  
 

 Riverway Industrial Estate, Astolat Business Park & Weyvern Park, Peasmarsh 

 

  

Page 667

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 0  
 

 

ILAS 4.9: Riverway Industrial Estate, Astolat Business Park & Weyvern Park, Peasmarsh 

Area 7.0 ha approx. 

Description The area is comprised of three industrial and trading estates, located to the south of Guildford 

and the north of Godalming on the eastern side of the Old Portsmouth Road (A3100). 

Residential development is located immediately to the north of the area, with open land to the 

west, south and east. The River Wey Navigation forms the eastern boundary of the area, with 

the River Wey beyond. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities11 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (St Catherine’s Chapel) within 2.5 km. 

There are 2 Grade II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and 7 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 

km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Orchards’ (2.5 km south). 

The ‘Wey & Godalming Navigations’ Conservation Area lies immediately to the east. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 6.8 km north, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 6.6 

km south west, the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA is 

6.6 km south west, and the Thursley & Ockley Bogs Ramsar Site is 8.2 km south west. 

The Wey Valley Meadows SSSI is 0.01 km east. 

The Thursley NNR is 7.6 km south west, and the Chinthurst Hill LNR is 1.8 km east. 

There are 16 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 0.2 km west, and the area lies within the Surrey AGLV. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 

1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties.  

 

  

 

11 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden 
Heaths Phase 1) SPA or of the Thursley & Ockley Bogs Ramsar Site, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on 
the ecological integrity of the SPAs, the SAC or the Ramsar Site. 

Page 668

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 1  
 

 Land near Dorking West Station – Curtis Road, Station Road, Dorking 

 

  

Page 669

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 2  
 

 

ILAS 4.10: Land near Dorking West Station – Curtis Road, Station Road, Dorking 

Area 8.6 ha 

Description The area is comprised of a number of industrial estates and business parks located in the west 

of Dorking, off Curtis Road, Station Road and Ranmore Road. To the north is a rail line, beyond 

which are a mix of land uses including industrial units, allotments, an equestrian centre and a 

primary school, to the west and south west is open land in agricultural use, and to the east and 

south east are areas of predominantly residential development. The area is accessed from the 

A2003 (Station Road), which links to the A25 (Westcott Road) to the south and to the A24 to the 

east. 

Current Uses The site is occupied by B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities12. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 5 Scheduled Monuments (Bowl barrow on Milton Heath; Bowl barrow in the Glory 

Wood; West Humble Chapel; Box Hill Fort; Bowl barrow on Box Hill) within 2.5 km. 

There are 4 Grade II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and 86 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 

km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘The Deepdene (including Chart Park)’ (0.9 

km south east). 

The ‘Dorking’ Conservation Area is 0.03 km south. 

Nature Conservation The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is 1.7 km north east. 

The Hackhurst & White Downs SSSI is 0.4 km north west, the Ranmore Common SSSI is 1.0 km 

north east, and the Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is 1.7 km north east. 

The Ashtead Common NNR is 9.1 km north, and the Inholm’s Claypit LNR is 2.6 km south east. 

There are 6 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 0.03 km north, and the Surrey AGLV is 0.03 km north. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 

1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Water Quality  The area is underlain by SPZ1 (Inner Protection Zone) and SPZ2 (Outer Protection Zone) 

designations. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties.  

  

 

12 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Mole Gap to 
Reigate Escarpment SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC.  

Page 670

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 3  
 

 Holmethorpe Industrial Estate, Redhill 

 

  

Page 671

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 4  
 

 

ILAS 4.11: Holmethorpe Industrial Estate, Redhill 

Area 18.0 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial and trading estate located in the north east of Redhill. The 

area is bounded to the north, south, west and north east by areas of residential development, 

and to the south east by an area of open land that has been restored for nature conservation 

following mineral working. The area is accessed from the west off Frenches Road, which links to 

the A23 to the south west and north west. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities13 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 3 Scheduled Monuments (Medieval moated site, Albury Farm; Earthworks of Surrey 

Iron Railway; Alderstead Fort) within 2.5 km. 

There are 4 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Lower Gatton Park’ (0.4 km north west). 

The ‘Redstone Hill, Redhill’ Conservation Area is 0.9 km south. 

Nature Conservation The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is 2.5 km west. 

The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SSSI is 1.6 km west. 

The Ashtead Common NNR is 12.2 km north west, and the Earlswood Common LNR is 2.3 km 

south west. 

There are 5 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 1 area of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 0.4 km north west, and the Surrey AGLV is 0.4 km north west. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 

1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The ‘Redhill’ AQMA is 0.7 km south west. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties 

  

 

13 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Mole Gap to 
Reigate Escarpment SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC. 

Page 672

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 5  
 

 Perrywood Business Park, Salfords 

 

  

Page 673

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 6  
 

 

ILAS 4.12: Perrywood Business Park, Salfords 

Area 6.9 ha 

Description The area is an established business and industrial park located to the east of Salfords, in a rural 

setting. The area is bounded to the south, east and south west by agricultural land, and to the 

west by land used for recreational purposes, with residential properties located to the north. 

The area is accessed from the north, off Honeycrock Lane, which links to the A23 (Bonehurst 

Road) to the west. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities14 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (Medieval / post-Medieval tannery, Scotchman’s Copse) within 

2.5 km. 

There are 7 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Reigate Priory’ (4.3 km north west). 

The ‘Cross Oak Lane, Salfords’ Conservation Area is 1.1 km south east. 

Nature Conservation The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is 5.9 km north west. 

The Reigate Heath SSSI at 5.6 km north west, is the closest such designation. 

The Ashtead Common NNR is 16.2 km north west, and the Earlswood Common LNR is 2.1 km 

north west. 

There are 12 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 1 area of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

14 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Mole Gap to 
Reigate Escarpment SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC. 

Page 674

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 7  
 

 Salfords Industrial Estate 

 

  

Page 675

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 8  
 

 

ILAS 4.13: Salfords Industrial Estate, Brighton Road / Bonehurst Road, Salfords 

Area 22 ha 

Description Salfords Industrial Estate is the combination of several distinct estates and business centres 

along the A23. The area has a range of unit types and sizes which attracts a variety of different 

uses and occupiers. The area is located to the east of the A23 main road and the west of the 

Horley to Redhill main rail line in the settlement of Salfords. To the north, south and west the 

area is bounded by residential development, and to the east by open land and woodland, 

beyond the rail line. The area is accessed from the west, off the A23 (Brighton Road / Bonehurst 

Road). 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities15. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (Medieval / post-Medieval tannery, Scotchman’s Copse) within 

2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade II Listed Building within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Reigate Priory’ (4.2 km north west). 

The ‘Cross Oak Lane, Salfords’ Conservation Area is 1.0 km east. 

Nature Conservation The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is 6.1 km north west. 

The Reigate Heath SSSI at 5.4 km north west, is the closest such designation. 

The Ashtead Common NNR is 16.2 km north west, and the Earlswood Common LNR is 2.2 km 

north west. 

There are 12 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 2 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

15 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Mole Gap to 
Reigate Escarpment SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC 

Page 676

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  3 9  
 

 Thorpe Industrial Estate 

 

  

Page 677

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 0  
 

 

ILAS 4.14: Thorpe Industrial Estate, Ten Acre Lane, Egham 

Area 18.0 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial and trading estate located in a largely undeveloped area to 

the north of Thorpe, the south of Thorpe Lea and Egham Hythe, and the west of Staines-upon-

Thames. The area is bounded to the north by open land with residential development beyond, 

to the west by a combination of fishing lakes and agricultural land, and to the east by open land 

with the Thorpe Hay Meadow SSSI beyond. To the south of the area are the closed former 

landfill sites of Coldharbour Lane and Norlands Lane, and a number of residential properties. 

The area is accessed from the west, off Thorpe Lea Road (B388), which links to the A308 and the 

A320 to the north east, and to the A320 to the south east. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities16. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 3 Scheduled Monuments (Univallate hillfort & 14th century chapel, St Ann’s Hill; 

Bronze Age settlement, Runnymede Bridge; Earthworks on Laleham Burway) within 2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade I Listed Building and 4 Grade II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and 3 Grade II 

Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Great Fosters’ (0.4 km west). 

The ‘Thorpe’ Conservation Area is 0.1 km south. 

Nature Conservation The South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site is 0.65 km south, the Windsor Forest 

& Great Park SAC is 4.8 km west, the Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 5.5 km south west, and the 

Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 5.5 km south west. 

The Thorpe Hay Meadow SSSI is 0.4 km north east, the Thorpe Park No.1 Gravel Pit SSSI is 0.7 

km south, and the Langham Pond SSSI is 2.4 km north west. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 5.5 km south west, and the Riverside Walk, Virginia Water LNR is 

2.5 km south west. 

There are 14 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 1 area of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial 

flood risk. 

Water Quality The area is underlain by a SPZ3 (Total Catchment) designation. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

  

 

16 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC or of the Windsor Forest & Great Park SAC, or that there 
would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPA or the SACs. The Site Improvement Plan for the 
South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site did not identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern 
for that designated site. 

Page 678

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 1  
 

 Byfleet Road Employment Allocation, Addlestone 

 

  

Page 679

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 2  
 

 

ILAS 4.15: Byfleet Road Employment Allocation, New Haw, Addlestone 

Area 7.9 ha 

Description The area has been proposed by Runnymede Borough Council in their 2030 Submission Local 

Plan as potentially suitable for industrial use. The area is comprised of undeveloped land 

situated to the north of the settlements of Byfleet and West Byfleet, to the east of New Haw 

and west of Addlestone Quarry. The area is bounded to the west by the route of the River Wey 

Navigation, and to the east and north by residential development, with the Rive Ditch and a rail 

line forming the southern perimeter. The area is accessed from the east off Byfleet Road (A318). 

Current Uses The area is currently undeveloped. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities17. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (Brooklands racing circuit & former aerodrome) within 2.5 km. 

There are no Grade I or II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and no Grade II Listed Buildings within 

0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Royal Horticultural Society Gardens, 

Wisley’ (2.9 km south). 

The ‘Wey Navigation’ Conservation Area adjoins the area to the west. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 2.9 km south east, the South West London Waterbodies SPA 

and Ramsar Site is 5.5 km north west, and the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 6.0 km 

north west. 

The Basingstoke Canal is 1.1 km south west. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 6.0 km north west, and the Ockham & Wisley LNR is 2.8 km 

south east. 

There are 13 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 1 area of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Flood Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Flood Zone 3 

(<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The Runnymede M25 AQMA is immediately west. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

17 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, or of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on 
the ecological integrity of the SPA or the SAC. The Site Improvement Plan for the South West London Waterbodies SPA and 
Ramsar Site did not identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for that designated site. 

Page 680

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 3  
 

 York Town Industrial Estate, Doman Road and Stanhope Road, Camberley 

 

  

Page 681

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 4  
 

 

ILAS 4.16: York Town Industrial Estate, Doman Road and Stanhope Road, Camberley 

Area 30.0 ha approx. 

Description The area is an established industrial and trading estate located in the north west of Camberley, 

close to the border with Hampshire. To the north of the area is the A30 (London Road), and to 

the immediate west is the A331 (Blackwater Valley Road) with the Blackwater River beyond. To 

the south are the Camberley sewage treatment works, further business and commercial 

development, and a rail line. To the east is residential development. 

Current Uses The site is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered unlikely to be suited 

to the development of any scale of thermal treatment facility.  

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage The closest Scheduled Monument (‘Bowl barrow on Hornley Common’) is 2.9 km west.  

There is 1 Grade II* Listed Building within 1.0 km, and 20 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Minley Manor’ is 0.6 km south west. 

The ‘Royal Military Academy/Staff College/A30 London Road Frontage’ Conservation Area is 

0.05 km north. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 0.6 km west and the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 

4.4 km east. 

The Blackwater Valley SSSI is 0.1 km north west, the Castle Bottom to Yateley & Hawley 

Commons SSSI is 0.6 km west, and the Broadmoor to Bagshot Woods & Heaths SSSI is 1.35 km 

north east. 

The Castle Bottom NNR is 5.4 km west, and the Edgebarrow Woods LNR is 3.2 km north west. 

There are 6 SNCIs in Surrey within 2.5 km, and 2 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 

1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The Camberley M3 AQMA is 1.1 km south. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

  

Page 682

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 5  
 

 Windmill Road Industrial Area, Sunbury-on - Thames 

 

  

Page 683

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 6  
 

 

ILAS 4.17: Windmill Road Industrial Area, Sunbury on Thames 

Area 12.2 ha 

Description The area comprises of industrial and commercial development located to the west of Windmill 

Road (A244), to the south of its junction with the A308 (Staines Road West), and to the north of 

the M3 motorway. The area is located to the north west of Sunbury on Thames, and to the 

north east of Charlton. 

Current Uses The site is occupied by B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities18 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (Cloven Barrow, Sunbury; Kempton Park Pumping Station) 

within 2.5 km. 

There are no Grade I or II* Listed Buildings within 1.0 km, and no Grade II Listed Buildings within 

0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Oatlands’ (3.7 km south). 

The ‘Upper Halliford’ Conservation Area is 1.25 km south. 

Nature Conservation The South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site is 2.2 km north east, the Richmond 

Park SAC is 9.7 km east, and the Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 9.8 km south. 

The Kempton Park Reservoirs SSSI is 2.2 km north east, and the Dumsey Meadows SSSI is 4.35 

km south west. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 11.2 km south west and the Chertsey Meads LNR is 4.2 km south 

west. 

There are 13 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The area is within the Spelthorne AQMA. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

18 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPA. The Site 
Improvement Plans for the South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site, and for the Richmond Park SAC did not 
identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for either of those designated sites. 

Page 684

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 7  
 

 Hobbs Industrial Estate, Felbridge 

 

  

Page 685

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 8  
 

 

ILAS 4.18: Hobbs Industrial Estate, Eastbourne Road, Felbridge 

Area 18.2 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial estate located to the south of Newchapel and the north of 

Felbridge, close to the boundary with West Sussex. The area is surrounded by agricultural land, 

horticultural development, woodlands, open waterbodies and a sewage treatment works which 

is located immediately to the south. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS may be suited to the development 

of a small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facility19 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (Moated site, Felbridge; Warren Furnace) within 2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade II* Listed Building within 1.0 km, but no Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Greathed Manor’ 4.5 km east. 

The ‘Lingfield (High Street / Gun Pond / Church Town)’ Conservation Area is 2.9 km north east. 

Nature Conservation The Ashdown Forest SPA and the Ashdown Forest are 8.6 km south. 

The Hedgecourt SSSI is 0.30 km south.  

The Ashtead Common NNR is 24.9 km north west, and the Blindley Heath LNR is 2.9 km north. 

There are 2 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 3 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km including 1 

that lies within the perimeter of the area (for which a minimum buffer of 15m would be 

required). 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties.  

 

  

 

19 Provided a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the Ashdown 
Forest SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC. The Site 
Improvement Plan for the Ashdown Forest SPA did not identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for that 
designated site. 

Page 686

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  4 9  
 

 Farnham Trading Estate (including land north of Water lane), Farnham 

 

  

Page 687

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 0  
 

 

ILAS 4.19: Farnham Trading Estate (including land north of Water Lane), Water Lane, Farnham 

Area 16.2 ha 

Description This area is made up of an established trading estate and land which has been proposed by 

Waverley Borough Council as a suitable Strategic Employment Site in the Adopted Local Plan 

Part 1 (2018). The area is located to the north east of Farnham, immediately south of the 

Farnham sewage treatment works, and the north of the junction of the A31 and the A325. To 

the immediate east is an area of residential development. 

Current Uses B2/B8 uses are present in the established trading estate, and the undeveloped land to the north 

of Water Lane is currently retained operational land for sewage treatment works. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities20. 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 5 Scheduled Monuments (Roman Site, Roman Way Estate; Farnham Castle; Botany 

Hill Earthwork; Waverley Abbey; Soldiers Ring Hillfort) within 2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade II* Listed Building within 1.0 km, and 7 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Farnham Park’ (0.63 km west). 

The ‘Farnham’ Conservation Area is 1.5 km south west. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 2.1 km north west, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC 

is 4.8 km south, the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase I) SPA is 

4.8 km south, the Thursley & Ockley Bogs Ramsar Site is 6.9 km south east, the East Hampshire 

Hangers SAC is 9.5 km south west, and the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA is 9.7 km south east. 

The Moor Park SSSI is 1.8 km south east, and the Bourley & Long Valley SSSI is 2.1 km north 

west. 

The Thursley NNR is 7.3 km south east, and the Weybourne LNR is 0.35 km north. 

There are 7 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 2 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 0.9 km south east, and the Surrey AGLV is 0.1 km south. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Water Quality The northern part of the area is underlain by a SPZ3 (Total Catchment) designation. 

Air Quality The Farnham AQMA is 0.8 km south west. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties. 

 

  

 

20 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, of the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden 
Heaths Phase 1) SPA, or of the East Hampshire Hangers SACs. The Site Improvement Plan for the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 
SPA did not identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an issue of concern for that designated site. 

Page 688

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 1  
 

 Land at Dunsfold Park (as part of new settlement), Dunsfold 

 

  

Page 689

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 2  
 

 

ILAS 4.20: Land at Dunsfold Aerodrome (as part of new settlement), Dunsfold 

Area 28 ha 

Description The area is situated within the northern part of a former airfield, now used for a range of 

industrial and commercial purposes, and located in a rural setting to the east of Dunsfold and 

the north west of Alfold Crossways. The area is bounded to the north by agricultural land, land 

in equestrian use, and woodland, and to the south by the open grassland, runways and taxiways 

of the former airfield. To the north west is an established solar farm, and to the east is further 

agricultural land. The area is accessed from the north from Stovolds Hill, which links to the A281 

(Horsham Road) to the east. 

Current Uses The majority of the area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses, and also includes an anaerobic digestion 

(AD) facility. 

Type  The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities21 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There is 1 Scheduled Monument (Medieval moated site & pillow mound, Wildwood Copse) 

within 2.5 km. 

There are 9 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km, including 2 within the area. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II* ‘Vann’ (3.6 km north west). 

The ‘Dunsfold’ Conservation Area is 1.2 km west. 

Nature Conservation The Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA is 8.7 km north 

west, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 8.7 km north west, and the Ebernoe 

Common SAC is 8.8 km south west. 

The Chiddingfold Forest SSSI is 1.1 km south west. 

The Ebernoe Common NNR is 9.8 km south west, and the Sayers Croft LNR is 5.8 km north east. 

There are 18 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and 10 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km including 2 

that adjoin the area (for which a minimum buffer of 15m would be required). 

Landscape The Surrey Hills AONB is 1.3 km north, and the Surrey AGLV adjoins the area to the north. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within between 20 metres and 250 metres of a number of 

sensitive receptors, including residential properties. The ILAS is part of a new settlement 

allocated in the Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1. 

  

 

21 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thursley,  
Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, of the Thursley, Hankley, Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA, or of the 
Ebernoe Common SAC, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPA or SACs.  

Page 690

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 3  
 

 Coxbridge Business Park, Farnham 

 

  

Page 691

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 4  
 

 

ILAS 4.21: Coxbridge Business Park, Farnham 

Area 7.7 ha 

Description The area is currently occupied by an established business and industrial park. The area is located 

in a rural setting to the west of Farnham and north of Wrecclesham, and is surrounded by 

agricultural land. The area is accessed from the south, direct from the A31 (Alton Road). 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered less likely to be suited 

to the development of small scale (<50,000 tpa) thermal treatment facilities22 

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (Powderham Castle; Farnham Castle) within 2.5 km. 

There are 5 Grade II Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Farnham Park’ (1.6 km north east). 

The ‘Wrecclesham, Farnham’ Conservation Area is 0.55 km south. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 3.2 km north, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 4.8 

km south east, the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA is 

4.8 km south east, the East Hampshire Hangers SAC is 6.0 km south west, the Thursley & Ockley 

Bogs Ramsar Site is 8.6 km south east, and the Shortheath Common SAC is 9.4 km south west.  

The Bourley & Long Valley SSSI is 3.2 km north.  

The Thursley NNR is 8.5 km south east, and the Farnham Park LNR is 1.8 km north east 

There are 4 SNCIs in Surrey within 2.5 km, and 3 areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is subject to a combination of Zone 3 (>1.0% AEP), Zone 2 (0.1% to 1.0% AEP) and Zone 

1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The Farnham AQMA is 1.3 km north east. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within between 20 metres and 250 metres of a number of 

sensitive receptors, including residential properties. 

  

 

22 Unless a project level Appropriate Assessment demonstrates that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed 
facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitats of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright, Chobham SAC, of the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden 
Heaths Phase 1) SPA, of the East Hampshire Hangers SAC, of the Shortheath Common SAC or of the Thursley & Ockley Bogs 
Ramsar Site, or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPAs, SACs or Ramsar 
Site. 

Page 692

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 5  
 

 Monument Way East Industrial Estate (incl. Woking Business Park), Woking 

 

  

Page 693

16



  
 

I n d u s t r i a l  L a n d  A r e a s  o f  S e a r c h  |  5 6  
 

 

ILAS 4.22: Monument Way East Industrial Estate (including Woking Business Park), Woking 

Area 8.0 ha 

Description The area is an established industrial estate located in central Woking, to the east of Monument 

Road (C144), the south of the Basingstoke Canal, and to the north of the main rail lines that pass 

through the town. The area is surrounded by a mixture of residential properties, open land, 

woodland, scrub and heath. 

Current Uses The area is occupied by B1/B2/B8 uses. 

Type The ILAS has been identified as a suitable location for a range of waste management uses. Based 

on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, land within the ILAS is considered unlikely to be suited 

to the developments of any scale of thermal treatment facility.  

 

Key environmental sensitivities: 

Heritage There are 2 Scheduled Monuments (Bell barrow on Horsell Common; Bell barrow & disc barrow 

on Horsell Common) within 2.5 km. 

There is 1 Grade I Listed Building and 1 Grade II* Listed Building within 1.0 km, and 2 Grade II 

Listed Buildings within 0.5 km. 

The closest Registered Park & Garden is the Grade II ‘Pyrford Court’ (1.1 km south east).  

The ‘Basingstoke Canal (East & West)’ Conservation Area adjoins the area to the north. 

Nature Conservation The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 0.7 km north, the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC is 4.1 

km north west, the South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site is 8.3 km north, and 

the Windsor Forest & Great Park SAC is 9.3 km north west. 

The Basingstoke Canal SSSI adjoins the area to the north, and the Horsell Common SSSI is 0.7 km 

north. 

The Chobham Common NNR is 4.1 km north west, and the White Rose Lane LNR is 1.85 km 

south. 

There are 12 SNCIs within 2.5 km, and no areas of Ancient Woodland within 0.5 km. 

Flood Risk The area is classed as Zone 1 (<0.1% AEP) fluvial flood risk. 

Air Quality The Guildford Road, Woking AQMA is 1.9 km south west. 

Amenity The perimeter of the ILAS is located within 20 metres of a number of sensitive receptors, 

including residential properties.  

Page 694

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  5 7  
 

5 Allocated sites 

 Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Moorfield Road, Guildford 

 

  

Page 695

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  5 8  
 

 

Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Moorfield Road, Guildford 

Area 12.7 ha  

Site Description The site is an area of predominantly undeveloped land located to the north east of the Slyfield 

Industrial Estate. 

Two areas have been previously used for the landfilling of a range of waste materials. Part of the 

western area is also used for open storage purposes. 

The south west and west of the site is bounded by industrial development, and to the south, 

east and north is undeveloped land. 

Indicative scale Medium – large scale 

Type of facility Suitable for a range of potential waste management facilities. 

Based on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, the site is considered unlikely to be suited to the 

development of any scale of thermal treatment facility.  

The allocated site forms part of the wider area covered by the Slyfield Area Regeneration 

Project (SARP) being led by Guildford Borough Council. To enable the proposed mixed use re-

development of the SARP area, the allocated site would facilitate replacements for the existing 

community recycling centre, waste transfer station and sewage treatment works.  

 

Key development issues: 

Green Belt The majority of the site is within the urban area of Guildford. A small area of land at the 

northern end of the site is within the Green Belt. 

Transport The site is accessed from the A320 (Woking Road) to the west. The junction of Moorfield Road 

and the A320 may require improvements.  

Biodiversity The Thames Basin Heaths SPA, and the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC both lie within 

10km of the site.  

Whitmoor Common SSSI is 1.2 km north west, Riverside Park LNR and the Slyfield Meadow & 

Riverside Park (Slyfield Meadow) SNCI adjoin the site to the east.  

The site may host reptiles, including protected and priority species. 

The site is within 0.5km of two areas of Ancient Woodland. 

Heritage The Wey & Godalming Navigation Conservation Area is 0.1km east.  

The Sutton Place Grade II* Registered Park & Garden is 0.75km north. 

Water Resources The southern part of the site is underlain by groundwater SPZ3 designation. 

The site is 160m west of the River Wey. 

General Amenity The site is situated within 250m of sensitive receptors (residential and a community centre). 

Flood Risk The site is classified as Flood Zone 1 and Flood Zone 2/3 for fluvial flood risk. 

Land and soil Part of the site is identified as a historic landfill (Slyfield Emergency Landfill) used for the 

disposal of a range of wastes. 

 

  

Page 696

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  5 9  
 

 Former Weylands Sewage Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames 

  

Page 697

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 0  
 

Former Weylands Sewage Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames 

Available Area 5.6 ha 

Site Description The site is located to the east of Lyon Road and the Hersham Industrial Estate on the eastern 

edge of Walton-on-Thames.  

The site currently hosts a range of activities, including construction and demolition waste 

processing, skip and scaffolding hire, open and closed storage, metal recycling and industrial 

units. 

Indicative scale Medium – large scale. 

Type of facility Suitable for a range of potential waste management facilities.   

Based on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, the site may be suited to the development of a 

small scale thermal treatment facility23.  

 

Key development issues: 

Green Belt The site is within the Green Belt.  

Transport The site is accessed from Molesey Road. This existing site access is unsuitable. Any new 

development should include a new access via Lyon Road. 

The routing of HGVs to access the SRN will need to be controlled to avoid unsuitable local 

roads including Rydens Road and Walton Park. 

Air Quality The site is linked via the highways network to a number of AQMAs (designated for nitrogen 

dioxide), including those at Walton on Thames and Molesey. 

Biodiversity The Richmond Park SAC, the South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site, the 

Thames Basin Heaths SPA, and the Wimbledon Common SAC all lie within 10km of the site.  

Esher Commons SSSI is 1.7 km south, Molesey Heath LNR is 1.2 km north, and the Field 

Common/Hersham Pits SNCI is <0.1km north.  

Potential for ecological enhancement of land to the east of the site – the River Mole BOA is 

relevant.  

Flood Risk The site is classified as Flood Zone 1 for fluvial flood risk. 

Water resources The site is 260m west of the River Mole. 

General Amenity The site is situated within 250 metres of sensitive receptors (residential properties). 

Land and soil The site has a history of waste use including the treatment of sewage. 

Rights of Way Bridleway 10 runs along the northern boundary of the site and is joined by Footpath 9 which 

runs alongside the River Mole. 

 

 

23 Subject to it being demonstrated by a project level Appropriate Assessment that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the 
proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA or the most sensitive habitat of the Wimbledon Common SAC, or that there would be no 
significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SPA or the SAC. The Site Improvement Plans for the South West 
London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site, and for the Richmond Park SAC did not identify nutrient nitrogen deposition as an 
issue of concern for either of those designated sites. 

Page 698

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 1  
 

 Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Road, 

Leatherhead 

  

Page 699

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 2  
 

 

Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Road, Leatherhead 

Available Area 3.4 ha  

Site Description The site is comprised of a former landfill site and adjoining land. 

It is located adjacent to an established materials recovery facility, community recycling centre, 

waste transfer station and sewage treatment works. 

The site is located in a rural setting to the north west of Leatherhead, and the north of Great 

Bookham, with the M25 motorway to the north. 

Indicative scale Medium – large scale 

Type of facility Suitable for a range of potential waste management facilities  

Based on the findings of the HRA for the Plan, the site may be suited to the development of a 

small scale thermal treatment facility 24. 

 

Key development issues: 

Green Belt The site is within the Green Belt. 

Transport The site is accessed from the east, off the A245 (Randalls Road/Woodlands Road) along with 

adjoining waste facilities.  

The site is likely to be able to accommodate all facility types, including those of a larger scale, 

subject to appropriate improvements to the site access road (including its junction with the 

A245 Randalls Road) and improvements at the junction of the A245 Randalls Road and Oaklawn 

Road. 

Biodiversity The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC and the Thames Basin Heaths SPA both lie within 

10km of the site.  

Bookham Common SSSI is 1.1km south west, and the Epsom & Ashtead Commons SSSI is 2.2km 

to the north east of the site. 

The River Lane Fields SNCI and the River Mole LNR adjoin the site, and the Ashtead Common 

NNR is located 2.2km to the north east. 

Heritage A Scheduled Monument (Medieval moated site, The Mounts, Pachesham Farm) is 0.6km east. 

Four Grade II Listed Buildings are within 0.5km of the site. 

Water Resources Water Resources: Southern part of site underlain by groundwater SPZ3.  

River Mole lies within 100m of the site 

General Amenity There are sensitive receptors (residential properties) alongside the site access road and also 

within 250m of the site. 

To mitigate impacts on local amenity, the existing perimeter bunding should be retained and 

development should take place within the bunded area. 

Flood Risk The site is classified as Flood Zone 1 and Flood Zone 2 for fluvial flood risk and a combination of 

mainly ‘very low’ and ‘low’ risks of surface water flooding. 

Land and soil The site includes an historic landfill site (Leatherhead Landfill) 

  

 

24 Subject to it being demonstrated by a project level Appropriate Assessment that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the 
proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the 
Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC or the most sensitive habitat within the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, or that there would 
be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC or the SPA. 

Page 700

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 3  
 

 Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor  

Page 701

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 4  
 

 

  

 

25 Subject to it being demonstrated by a project level Appropriate Assessment that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the 
proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the 
Windsor Forest & Great Park SAC or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the SAC. 
The Site Improvement Plan for the South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar Site did not identify nutrient nitrogen 
deposition as an issue of concern for the designated site. 

 

Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor 

Available Area 6.8 ha 

Site Description and 

context 

The site is an operational waste recovery and recycling operation with scope for a significant 

increase in capacity. The site is located to the south east of the settlement of Stanwell Moor and 

the west of the settlement of Stanwell, with the King George VI Reservoir to the immediate south. 

The site has potential to be affected by the expansion of Heathrow Airport. 

Indicative scale Medium – large size. 

Type  Suitable for a full range of potential waste management facilities  

Based on the findings of the HRA for the Plan the site may be suitable for a small, medium, or 

large scale thermal treatment facility25. 

 

Key development issues: 

Green Belt The site is within the Green Belt. 

Transport The site is accessed via Horton Road (C237), which provides access to the A3044 (Stanwell Moor 

Road). 

The site is likely to be able to accommodate medium sized facility types. If suitable mitigation can 

be implemented, by allowing all movements at the Horton Road/Stanwell Moor Road junction, a 

larger facility may be accommodated.  

Site traffic must be prevented from using the route through Stanwell Moor Village. 

Intensification of use of the site would likely mean that there is a need to improve the access to 

the site from Horton Road. 

Biodiversity The South West London Waterbodies SPA & Ramsar Site and the Windsor Forest Great Park SAC 

both lie within 10 km of the site. 

The Staines Moor SSSI is some 0.1km to the south, and the Wraysbury Reservoir SSSI is some 

1.2km west. The Stanwell II SNCI lies 0.1km to the east and the River Colne SNCI is 0.4m west. 

Heritage Hithermoor Farmhouse Grade II Listed Building is located 0.4km south west of the site. 

Air Quality The site is located within the borough of Spelthorne, which is covered by a borough-wide AQMA 

for nitrogen dioxide concentrations. 

Flood Risk The site is classified as Flood Zone 1 for fluvial flood risk.  

General Amenity There are sensitive receptors (housing) within 150 metres to the west of the site. 

To mitigate impacts on local amenity, the existing perimeter bunding should be retained and 

development should take place within the bunded area. 

Public Rights of Way A public right of way, Bridleway 3 and Footpath 3 run along the southern boundary of the site. 

Aerodrome 

Safeguarding 

This site falls within the airport safeguarding zone of Heathrow Airport.  

There may be height restrictions for development. In addition, if any tall flues or chimneys are 

proposed an Instrument Flight Procedure (IFP) Assessment may also need to be carried out.  

Page 702

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 5  
 

 Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, Tillburstow Hill Road, South Godstone 

  

Page 703

16



  
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 6  
 

 

Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, Tillburstow Hill Road, South Godstone 

Available Area Approximately 3.0 ha (this is a minimum and could be extended). 

Site Description and 

context 

The site comprises former clay pits to the west of South Godstone. The clay pits are in the process 

of being restored in accordance with an approved restoration scheme. The site shares an access 

with the adjacent business park located on the site of the former brickwork buildings. The site is 

bounded to the north by the Redhill to Tonbridge railway and includes a disused rail siding. 

Through the emerging Local Plan the site (along with the land to the south and the adjoining 

business park) is being proposed for release from the Green Belt as suitable for employment 

development. 

Indicative scale Medium - large.  

Type Suitable for a full range of potential waste management facilities.  

Based on the findings of the HRA for the plan the site may be suited for a small, medium or large 

scale thermal treatment facility26.  

 

Key development issues: 

Green Belt The site is within the Green Belt but proposed to be removed through the emerging Tandridge 

Local Plan. 

Transport The site is accessed from Tilburstow Hill Road (D395), which links to the A22 (Eastbourne Road) to 

the south, east and north. Appropriate improvements to the junction of the A22 and Tilburstow 

Hill Road (D395) at Anglefield Corner will be required depending on the scale of the facility and 

utilisation of rail. 

Transport by road is restricted with little opportunity to increase total HGV movements using the 

business park. Any large-scale waste use is therefore likely to require the reopening of the existing 

rail sidings in order to utilise the rail network. 

Biodiversity The Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC is located within 10km of the site.  

The Godstone Ponds SSSI is located 2.5km from the site, and the Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment 

SSSI is located 8.4km from the site. 

Maple Wood SNCI (an Ancient Woodland) adjoins the site and Furze Wood SNCI is 0.2 km north of 

the site. 

Great crested newts are recorded nearby and likely to be present on the site. 

General Amenity There are sensitive receptors (housing) situated along the access road to the site (Terracotta 

Road). 

Landscape The Surrey AGLV designation commences immediately to the north of the site, and the site is 

sensitive in terms of landscape character and visual amenity. 

Heritage The South Park Conservation Area is 0.4km north east, and a Scheduled Monument (Medieval 

moated site, Lagham Manor, South Godstone) is 0.75km east. 

Aerodrome 

Safeguarding 

This site falls within the airport safeguarding zone of Gatwick Airport. 

 

26 Subject to it being demonstrated by a project level Appropriate Assessment that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the 
proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the 
Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC or that there would be no significant adverse impact on the ecological integrity of the 
SAC. 

Page 704

16



 
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 7  
 

 Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Kitsmead Lane, Longcross 

 

Page 705

16



 
 

A l l o c a t e d  s i t e s  |  6 8  
 

 

Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Kitsmead Lane, Longcross 

Available Area 6.2 ha 

Site Description and 

context 

The site is an area of rough grass and scrub with some woodland bounded to the north by the M3 

motorway, to the south and east by a former landfill site. On the opposite side of Kitsmead Lane 

there is the former DERA tank testing track. To the south, beyond the former landfill are existing 

green waste recycling and food waste anaerobic digestion (AD) facilities. 

The former tank testing track is being promoted as a Garden Village by Runnymede Borough 

Council through its emerging Local Plan. 

Type Suitable only as a recycling facility for dry mixed recyclables (DMR) from households. 

Indicative scale Small size (up to 50,000 tpa) but potentially medium size (up to 120,000 tpa) with improvements 

to the highway network. 

 

Key development issues: 

Green Belt The site is within the Green Belt. 

Transport Access to the site is gained from the west, off Kitsmead Lane, which links to the A320 to the south 

east, via the B386. 

The site is likely to be able to accommodate small scale facility types (with capacities of up to 

50,000 tpa) without wider improvements to the highway network. 

Air Quality The closest AQMA to the site is the ‘M25’ AQMA, 2.5 km east designated for nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations and particulate matter (PM10) concentrations. 

Flood Risk The site is classified as Flood Zone 1 for fluvial flood risk. 

Biodiversity Thames Basin Heaths SPA, Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, South West London 

Waterbodies SPA & Ramsar site and Windsor Forest & Great Park SAC all lie within 10 km of the 

site. 

The Chobham Common SSSI, which is also designated a NNR, is 1.4 km to the south west of the 

site, and the Riverside Walk, Virginia Water LNR is 0.9 km north. 

The site contains two small areas of Ancient Woodland. 

The proposed Suitable Alternative Greenspace (SANG) at Chertsey Common is located some 200 

metres to the south east of the site. This is part of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA mitigation 

package for the proposed Longcross Garden Village development. 

General Amenity There are houses within 150 metres of the site on the opposite side of the M3 and also on 

Kitsmead Lane. 

Land and Soil The site adjoins an historic landfill and potentially could have issues with contaminated land. 

Aerodrome 

Safeguarding 

This site falls within the airport safeguarding zone of Heathrow Airport. 

 

Page 706

16



 

Surrey Waste Local Plan 
 
 
 

Post-Adoption 
Environmental 
Statement 

 
 
Prepared under Regulation 16 of the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans & Programmes Regulations 2004 
(Statutory Instrument 2004 No.1633) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

July 2020 [Draft for Cabinet Approval – June 2020] 
 

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 707

16



 

 

 

Page 708

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 

i 

Contents  
 
 

  Page 

   

Section 1 Introduction & Legal Context 1 

Section 2 
How environmental considerations have been 

integrated into the plan 
2 

Section 3 
How the environmental report has been taken into 

account 
5 

Section 4 

How consultation responses on the Plan & 

accompanying environmental report have been 

taken into account 

6 

Section 5 

How consultations with other EU Member States 

on trans-boundary impacts have been taken into 

account 

7 

Section 6 
Reasons for choosing the Plan as adopted, in light 

of other reasonable alternatives 
7 

Section 7 
Measures to monitor the significant 

environmental effects of the plan 
11 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 709

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 

ii 

Schedule of Key Abbreviations 

 
 

AMR Annual Monitoring Report 

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 

EiP Examination in Public 

ESR Environmental & Sustainability Report 

EU European Union 

HRA Habitat Regulations Assessment 

SA Sustainability Appraisal 

SCI Statement of Community Involvement 

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SEWPAG South East Waste Planning Advisory Group 

SoCG Statement of Common Ground 

WDA Waste Disposal Authority 

WLP Waste Local Plan 

WPA  Waste Planning Authority 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 710

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 1 

 

Surrey Waste Local Plan 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement 

 
 
 

1. Introduction & Legal Context 
 

1.1 Regulation 16 (Information as to adoption of plan or programme) of the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans & Programmes Regulations 2004 (Statutory Instrument 2004 No.1633) 

(the strategic environmental assessment (SEA) Regulations) obliges responsible authorities 

(including local planning authorities) to prepare and publish a statement providing 

information about the way in which environmental considerations were taken into account 

in the decision making process ‘…as soon as reasonably practicable after the adoption of a 

plan or programme for which an environmental assessment has been carried out...’. 

 

1.2 Paragraph 4 of Regulation 16 specifies six categories of information, that should be supplied 

(where relevant) in the post-adoption environmental statement for a plan or programme. 

 An explanation of how environmental considerations have been integrated into the plan 

or programme (as required by Regulation 16, paragraph 4(a)). 

 An explanation of how the environmental report has been taken into account (as required 

by Regulation 16, paragraph 4(b)). 

 An explanation of how any opinions expressed in response to consultation on the plan 

documents and the accompanying environmental report (carried out under Regulation 

13(2)(d) and Regulation 13(4) of the SEA Regulations) have been taken into account (as 

required by Regulation 16, paragraph 4(c)). 

 An explanation of how the results of any consultations with other EU Member States on 

trans-boundary impacts (entered into under Regulation 14(4) of the SEA Regulations) have 

been taken into account (as required by Regulation 16, paragraph 4(d)). 

 An account of the reasons for choosing the plan or programme as adopted, in light of the 

other reasonable alternatives dealt with (as required by Regulation 16, paragraph 4(e)). 

 An explanation of the measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant 

environmental effects of the implementation of the plan or programme (as required by 

Regulation 16, paragraph 4(f)). 

 

1.3 The post-adoption environmental statement for the adopted Surrey Waste Local Plan (the 

Surrey WLP or the Plan) is set out in this report. 

Page 711

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 2 

2. How environmental considerations have been integrated into the Plan  
 

2.1 The requirement set out in paragraph 4(a) of Regulation 16 of the SEA Regulations can be 

interpreted in two ways. 

 As seeking information about the provisions made within the plan to protect the 

environment and communities from the risks of harmful effects arising from the 

implementation of the proposals set out in the plan; and/or 

 As requiring that information is provided about the process by which environmental 

considerations were taken into account during the preparation of the plan. 

 

2.A Provisions within the Plan for environmental & community protection 

 

2.2 The Surrey WLP is fundamentally concerned with providing a policy framework that supports 

and enables the sustainable management of waste materials, in the interests of reducing 

demand for non-renewable natural resources and protecting the environment and 

communities from the adverse impacts of waste management and disposal. In addition to 

those policies primarily concerned with the use of land for waste management purposes, the 

strategic policy framework set out in the Surrey WLP includes a number of policies that take 

specific account of the need to safeguard the environment and protect communities from 

the potentially harmful effects of waste related development. 

 Policy 13 – Sustainable Design: The policy makes provision for the incorporation of 

sustainable principles and practices into the design of new waste related development, 

covering energy supply and carbon emissions, biodiversity net gain, landscape and 

townscape enhancement, and the efficient management of water resources. 

 Policy 14 – Protecting Communities & the Environment: The policy makes provision for 

the permitting of waste related development only where it can be demonstrated that 

there would be no unacceptable impacts on the environment and nearby communities. 

 Policy 15 – Transport & Connectivity: The policy requires that the implications of 

transporting waste by road (where alternative modes are not feasible) be fully assessed 

before waste related development is permitted. 

 Policy 16 – Community Engagement: The policy requires that developers take appropriate 

and proportionate steps to engage constructively with local communities at an early stage 

of the development process. 

 

2.3 The policy framework set out in the Surrey WLP in combination with the arrangements made 

for the monitoring of the effects of implementation of the proposals set out in the Plan (see 

section 7 of this report for further information), provides for the protection of the environment 

and local communities from unacceptable impacts that may arise as a consequence of waste 

related development. 
  

Page 712

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 3 

 

2.B Environmental & other evidence used to inform the preparation of the Plan 

 

2.4 The development of the Surrey WLP has been informed by an extensive body of evidence 

and assessment, the former mainly focussing on the need for waste related development, 

and the latter on the likely implications of such development for a range of environmental 

and community receptors. The development of the Plan was a long-running and iterative 

process, with much of the supporting evidence gathering and assessment work being 

reviewed and updated as preparation of the Plan progressed. 

 

2.5 The evolution of the policies in the Surrey WLP was informed by the information and 

evidence contained in a number of background reports. Those reports listed below (with the 

exception of the report on Trumps Farm copies can be accessed here) document the 

evidence that was compiled on the likely future need for waste related development and the 

options for siting that development on land within the county. 

 Waste Needs Assessment, dated April 2019 and prepared by the County Council’s 

Minerals & Waste Policy Team – the report provides a baseline estimate for waste 

arisings from a range of sources and forecasts future waste arisings in Surrey over the 

new Plan period. An earlier version of the report, dated October 2017, was published 

alongside the draft version of the Plan. 

 Site Identification & Evaluation Report, dated April 2019 and prepared by the County 

Council’s Minerals & Waste Policy Team – the report provides an account of the site 

identification and evaluation process that informed the selection of the sites allocated 

under Policy 11a and assisted in the identification of the site allocated under Policy 11b 

of the Submission version of the Plan. An earlier version of the report, dated November 

2017, was published alongside the draft version of the Plan. 

 Industrial Land Areas of Search Identification Report, dated December 2018 and 

prepared by the County Council’s Minerals & Waste Policy Team – the report provides 

an account of the process by which the Industrial Land Areas of Search (ILAS) were 

chosen that are identified with reference to Policy 10 of the Submission version of the 

Plan. 

 Delivery of Waste Management Capacity in Surrey 2008 to 2017 Report, dated October 

2017 and prepared by the County Council’s Minerals & Waste Policy Team – the report 

provided a review of the extent to which the policies and spatial strategy of the adopted 

Surrey Waste Plan (2008/09) had been effective in delivering new waste management 

capacity. 

 Report on Delivering the Spatial Strategy, dated April 2019 and prepared by the County 

Council’s Minerals & Waste Policy Team – the report provides an account of the 

approach that has been adopted in the new Surrey WLP to ensure that sufficient land 

will come forward over the Plan period to meet projected future need for waste 

management capacity. 

  

Page 713

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-submission-library


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 4 

 Trumps Farm – Waste Local Plan WDA Supporting Information, dated June 2019 and 

prepared by RPS Group Ltd for the County Council in its capacity as the Waste Disposal 

Authority (WDA) – the report (a copy can be accessed here) provides evidence of the 

need for a dry mixed recycling facility to manage household waste, and evidence in 

support of the allocation of land at Trumps Farm near Longcross as the most appropriate 

site for such a facility. 

 

2.6 The development of the strategy and policies set out in the Surrey WLP, and the process of 

identifying sites and other areas of land potentially suitable for waste related development 

was informed by a range of assessment work, which was documented in the reports listed 

below (with the exception of the January 2020 version of the HRA Report copies can be 

accessed here). The SEA/SA process drew on much of the work set out in the topic or issue 

specific assessments, where the information provided in those reports was relevant to the 

SEA/SA (see Appendix E to the revised Environmental & Sustainability Report dated January 

2020). 

 Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Report, prepared by the County Council’s 

Natural Environment & Assessment Team, the original version dated January 2019 

accompanied the Submission version of the Plan. An updated version dated January 

2020 (a copy can be accessed here) which incorporated the Statement of Common 

Ground agreed between Natural England and the County Council in August 2019 was 

published when consultation commenced on the proposed Main Modifications. 

 Air Quality Impact Assessment, dated April 2018 and prepared by AECOM 

Infrastructure & Environment UK Ltd – the reports covered the nine sites proposed for 

allocation under Policy 10 of the draft Surrey WLP. 

 Landscape & Visual Sensitivity Study of Potential Waste Sites, dated May 2018 and 

prepared by Land Use Consultants – the reports covered the nine sites proposed for 

allocation under Policy 10 of the draft Surrey WLP. 

 Landscape & Visual Options Study: Lambs Business Park, dated October 2018 and 

prepared by Land Use Consultants – the reports covered the nine sites proposed for 

allocation under Policy 10 of the draft Surrey WLP. 

 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 2), dated May 2018 and prepared by Peter Brett 

Associates – the reports covered the nine sites proposed for allocation under Policy 10 

of the draft Surrey WLP. 

 Transport Study – Sites Assessments, dated July 2018 and compiled by the County 

Council’s Transport Studies Team – the reports covered the nine sites proposed for 

allocation under Policy 10 of the draft Surrey WLP. 

 Background Ecological Data Searches, dated July 2018 and compiled by the Surrey 

Biodiversity Information Centre – the reports covered the nine sites proposed for 

allocation under Policy 10 of the draft Surrey WLP. 

 

  

Page 714

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-examination-library
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-submission-library
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/215251/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Appx-E-Allocated-Sites-and-Alts-Final-09-01-20_compressed.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-examination-library


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 5 

3. How the environmental report has been taken into account 
 

3.1 The requirement as set out in paragraph 4(b) of Regulation 16 can be interpreted as being 

concerned with documenting any changes that have been made to the plan as a consequence 

of the findings of, and any recommendations made within, the environmental report.  

 

3.2 The way in which the SEA/SA process, as documented in the environmental and sustainability 

reports (ESR) prepared over the course of the development of the Surrey WLP, has fed into 

the preparation of the Plan is briefly reviewed below. It should be noted that the purpose of 

the SEA/SA process is to inform the plan making process, not to determine which policies and 

proposals are ultimately included in the plan. However, the SEA/SA process does have a role 

in documenting the decision making process that led to the final version of the plan. 

 

3.3 The draft version of the Plan which was subject to consultation between November 2017 and 

February 2018 had been subject to SEA/SA during its preparation. The outcomes of the 

assessment of the draft Plan were reported in the Environmental & Sustainability Report 

(Preliminary Draft) (dated December 2017) and it’s supporting appendices (available here). 

The recommendations made in respect of the proposed policies, set out in Appendix B to the 

preliminary draft ESR, were taken into account in the redrafting work that lead to the 

production of the Submission version of the Plan, helping to improve the clarity and precision 

of the proposed policies and to address weaknesses that could have restricted the Plan’s 

ability to address the potentially harmful effects of waste related development.  

 

3.4 The Submission version of the Plan was subject to further assessment as part of the SEA/SA 

process, as were the proposed Main Modifications that are required to render the Plan 

sufficiently sound in planning terms for it to proceed to adoption. At the Submission stage 

no major changes to the proposed policies were recommended through the SEA/SA process, 

and the alterations to policy made by the Main Modifications also do not alter the intent of 

the policies to an extent that would change the conclusions of the earlier assessment with 

reference to the likely effects of their implementation on the environment.  

 

3.5 In summary the SEA/SA process has contributed to the evolution of the approach set out by 

the policies in the new Surrey WLP by providing a structured critique that has enabled the 

identification of potential inconsistencies within and between the different aspects of the 

policy framework. By highlighting those issues the SEA/SA process has enabled those 

responsible for the preparation of the Plan to make appropriate changes to policy wording 

and the supporting text to address potential weaknesses and conflicts within the Plan.  

 

  

Page 715

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/draft-plan-consultation-regulation-19


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 6 

4. How consultation responses on the Plan & accompanying 

environmental report have been taken into account 
 

4.1 The requirement set out in paragraph 4(c) of Regulation 16 is concerned with demonstrating 

how the decision making process has taken account of consultees opinions on the plan 

documents and the accompanying environmental report.  

 

4.2 An extensive programme of consultation supported the preparation of the new Surrey WLP, 

commencing at the initial issues and options stage in 2016 and culminating in the 

Examination in Public (EiP) in 2019. Throughout the preparation of the Plan the county 

council has sought to address issues raised through the consultation exercises, and to reflect 

those concerns in the wording of policies and, so far as is practicable, in the identification of 

sites and areas of land for future development. Changes to the Plan and the supporting 

evidence base to take account of issues and concerns raised by consultees have been made 

up to, during and following the Examination in Public. The Main Modifications to the policies 

and supporting text of the submission version of the Plan proposed by the Council to address 

issues and concerns raised through the consultation process have been endorsed, and where 

appropriate amended, by the Inspector following further consultation. The adoption version 

of the Plan will incorporate all of the Main Modifications listed in the Annex to the Inspectors 

Report (dated 11 May 2020). The Inspector concluded in their formal report that subject to 

implementation of the recommended Main Modifications the Plan met the criteria for 

soundness.  

 

4.3 A full account of the consultation that has informed the preparation of the Plan can be found 

in the documents listed below. 

 Consultation on a series of Issues & Options stage reports was undertaken between 

September 2016 and November 2016. The accompanying SEA/SA Scoping Report was 

published for consultation in October 2016. The outcomes of the Issues & Options 

consultation and the actions that the County Council proposed to take in response to 

the issues raised are recorded in the Issues & Options Summary of Responses Report, 

dated December 2016. 

 Consultation on a draft version of the Surrey WLP and its accompanying Environmental 

& Sustainability Report (Preliminary Draft) (dated December 2017) was undertaken 

between 1 November 2017 and 7 February 2018. The outcomes of that consultation and 

the actions that the County Council proposed to take in response to the issues raised 

are recorded in the Draft Plan Consultation Summary Report, dated November 2018. 

 Consultation on the Submission version of the Surrey WLP and its accompanying 

Environmental & Sustainability Report (dated December 2018) was undertaken 

between 14 January 2019 and 10 March 2019. The outcomes of that consultation were 

passed on to the appointed Inspector for consideration alongside the submitted Plan. A 

summary of the consultation responses is recorded in the Summary of Public 

Representations on the Submission Surrey Waste Local Plan, 14 January 2019 to 10 

March 2019, dated April 2019. 

Page 716

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/226546/Surrey-Waste-Local-Plan-Inspectors-Report.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/226547/Inspectors-Report-Appendix-Schedule-of-Main-Modifications.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/126267/I-and-O-Summary-of-Responses-Report.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/186298/Draft-Plan-Consultation-Summary-Report,-November-2018-ilovepdf-compressed.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/189215/SWLP-4-Period-for-Representations-Reg-19-Summary-Report.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/189215/SWLP-4-Period-for-Representations-Reg-19-Summary-Report.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/189215/SWLP-4-Period-for-Representations-Reg-19-Summary-Report.pdf


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 7 

 The public hearing phase of the Examination in Public of the Submission version of the 

Surrey WLP was undertaken between 17 September 2019 and 26 September 2019. The 

hearings were directed by the appointed Inspector and details of the matters addressed 

over the course of the hearings, including the statements submitted by the main 

participants on each matter can be found here. 

 Consultation on the Main Modifications proposed to the Submission version of the 

Surrey WLP and the accompanying revised Environmental & Sustainability Report (dated 

January 2020) were undertaken between 13 January 2020 and 23 February 2020. A 

summary of the representations received to that consultation and the County Council’s 

responses can be found here. Those representations were passed on to the appointed 

Inspector, who took the views submitted and the Council’s responses into account in 

the preparation of their formal report on the soundness of the Plan. 

 

 

5. How consultations with other EU Member States on trans-boundary 

impacts have been taken into account 
 

5.1 The requirement set out in paragraph 4(d) of Regulation 16, to provide an explanation of how 

the results of any consultations entered into with other EU Member States on trans-

boundary impacts have been taken into account in the Plan is not relevant to the post-

adoption environmental statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan. 

 

5.2 The geography of Surrey, which is a land-locked county in the south east of England, 

combined with the nature of the activities proposed in the Surrey WLP (the impacts of which 

would be local in nature and would not extend beyond the borders of England), meant that 

consultation with other EU Member States was not necessary during the preparation of the 

Plan. 

 

 

6. Reasons for choosing the Plan as adopted, in light of other reasonable 

alternatives 
 

6.1 The requirement set out in paragraph 4(e) in Regulation 16, is concerned with providing a 

summary of the reasons why the adopted Plan was chosen, when compared with the other 

reasonable alternatives considered during its development. A detailed account of the 

different alternatives considered for each component of the Plan, and the reasons for 

selecting the options and approaches progressed in the submitted version of the Plan is 

provided in Chapter 2 of the revised Environmental & Sustainability Report (ESR) (dated 

January 2020).  

 

  

Page 717

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan/2019-2033/surrey-waste-local-plan-examination-library
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/226223/2020-05-11-Rep-Summary-and-CouncilResponse-MMs-Consultation-For-Publishing.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/215235/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Final-09-01-20-compressed.pdf


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 8 

6.2 Strategy – The overarching strategy for the Plan is to make provision for net self-sufficiency 

in the county with reference to waste management capacity. The SEA/SA (Appendix A to the 

ESR dated January 2020) considered two alternatives to the preferred option of net self-

sufficiency (see section 2.B.1 of Chapter 2 of the ESR for further details and discussion). The 

preferred approach was chosen on the basis of it being the option likely to give rise to the 

least significant impacts on the environment and communities, and on grounds of 

consistency with Article 16 of the Waste Framework Directive (self-sufficiency), paragraph 3 

of the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW), and the approach agreed by Waste 

Planning Authorities across the south east of England in the South East Waste Planning 

Advisory Group (SEWPAG) Memorandum of Understanding. 

 

6.3 Vision – The overarching direction for the Plan, in terms of the preferred strategy option of 

net-self-sufficiency, is articulated in the vision statement. The vision for the Surrey WLP was 

defined and refined during the earliest stages of Plan development. The vision statement was 

not subject to assessment, as it is too broad to enable meaningful assessment. No 

alternatives were considered as the direction of travel was defined by the agreed strategy. 

 

6.4 Strategic Objectives – The vision for the Plan is expanded on and given further definition 

through a suite of strategic objectives. The SEA/SA (see section 2.B.2 of Chapter 2 of the ESR 

dated January 2020 for further details and discussion and Appendix A to the ESR dated 

January 2020 for a full account) considered the two different versions of the strategic 

objectives proposed at the Draft and Submission stages of Plan development. The later 

version of the objectives, which were incorporated into the submission version of the Plan, 

was favoured over the earlier version on grounds of greater clarity and precision. 

 

6.5 Spatial Strategy – The spatial strategy for the Plan provides guidance as to the locations in 

which waste related development could be appropriately located. The SEA/SA (see section 

2.B.3 of Chapter 2 of the ESR for further details and discussion Appendix A to the ESR for a 

full account) considered the proposed spatial strategy, an earlier version and three 

alternative approaches to the distribution of waste related development across the county. 

The submission version of the spatial strategy was preferred over the earlier version on 

grounds of its better clarity and precision. The three alternatives were rejected on grounds 

of the lack of available suitable land outside the Green Belt, on grounds of a lack of suitable 

land and limited need for waste facilities to be distributed across all parts of the county, and 

on grounds of the areas in which existing facilities are located not necessarily being the most 

suitable locations for future waste related development. 

 

6.6 Policies – The submission version of the Plan includes 17 separate policies (Policy 11 is split 

into part (a) and part (b)) that provide a framework within which decisions can be made in 

respect of specific proposals for waste related development. The SEA/SA (see section 2.B.4 

of Chapter 2 of the ESR for further details and discussion, and Appendix B to the ESR for a full 

account) considered the proposed policies, earlier versions of those policies, and the 

equivalent or relevant extant policies of the adopted Surrey Waste Plan (2008/09), the latter 

two categories constituting the ‘reasonable alternatives’ to the proposed policies. 

Page 718

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/215237/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Appx-A-Strategy-Final-09-01-20.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/215237/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Appx-A-Strategy-Final-09-01-20.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/215237/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Appx-A-Strategy-Final-09-01-20.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/215239/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Appx-B-Policies-Final-09-01-20_compressed.pdf


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 9 

Amendments to 11 of the policies were identified in the Main Modifications to the Plan and 

were reviewed to ascertain the need for further assessment (see Appendix F to the ESR).  

 

6.7 The majority of the policies proposed in the new Surrey WLP do not represent a major change 

in approach from the equivalent policies of the adopted Surrey Waste Plan (2008/09). For 

those policies the main reasons for selecting the versions of the policies found in the 

adoption version of the new Surrey WLP were concerned with consistency with national and 

higher level policy and current understanding of likely future demand for waste relate 

development. For those few policies in the new Surrey WLP where the approach has been 

changed from that of the previous plan the main reasons for those changes were concerned 

with improving flexibility (i.e. new Policy 2, new Policy 10, and new Policy 11a), reducing 

uncertainty (i.e. new Policy 3, new Policy 10, new Policy 11b) and ensuring that appropriate 

weight is given to matters of concern for local communities (i.e. new Policy 15 and new Policy 

16). 

 

6.8 Sites for Allocation – Six sites are allocated for future waste related development under 

Policy 11a (five sites) and Policy 11b (one site) of the Plan. Those allocated under Policy 11a 

would accommodate large scale waste facilities, with the capacity to handle more than a 

single waste stream. The single site allocated under Policy 11b (land at Trumps Farm near 

Longcross) would host a household waste dry recycling facility with a capacity of up to 

120,000 tonnes per year.  

 

6.9 The allocated sites were identified through the site selection process, which started with a 

long list of some 200 sites (see the Site Identification & Evaluation Report, November 2017 

and April 2019 for details). The long list of potential candidate sites was reduced through a 

structured sieving exercise, which systematically applied six separate sieves (covering scale, 

established industrial land use, established sewage treatment works use, established 

community recycling centre use, established or proposed minerals use, and established or 

proposed commercial or residential use) to the identified sites. The results of the preliminary 

site sieving exercise are recorded in Appendix 1 to the Site Identification & Evaluation Report 

(November 2017 and April 2019). Some 54 candidate sites remained at the end of the sieving 

process and were subject to further detailed assessment through the site selection process 

and through the complementary SEA/SA process. 

 
6.10 The main reasons given by the Plan making team for the rejection of 45 of the 54 candidate 

sites that had been identified through the preliminary site identification sieving process from 

inclusion in the Surrey WLP are recorded in the Site Identification & Evaluation Report (April 

2019, and earlier version dated 2017), and summarised in Table 2-5 in Chapter 2 of the 

revised ESR (January 2020). The rejected sites were discounted for a variety of reasons, 

including poor accessibility, proximity to sensitive community or environmental receptors, 

lack of landowner interest in waste development, and sterilisation (i.e. land already occupied 

by other forms of development). 

 

6.11 Nines sites were identified for allocation under Policy 10 (subsequently renumbered as Policy 

11a) as strategic waste sites in the draft version of the Plan (see Table 2-6 in the Chapter 2 of 

Page 719

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/215253/SWLP-E-and-SR-2020-Appx-F-Proposed-Mods-Final-09-01-2020.pdf


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 10 

the revised ESR, January 2020), of which four were subsequently removed from that list, 

principally on the grounds of their being greenfield or undeveloped sites situated within the 

Metropolitan Green Belt (see Table 2-7 in Chapter 2 of the revised ESR, January 2020). The 

five sites ultimately allocated under Policy 11a of the new Plan were selected for a variety of 

reasons, including their proximity to sources of waste arisings and their accessibility (see 

Table 2-8 in Chapter 2 of the revised ESR, January 2020).  

 

6.12 The need for a dedicated dry mixed recycling facility for household waste to be located in an 

area that would service the north west of the county was identified relatively late in the Plan 

preparation process. The 45 sites rejected prior to the publication of the draft version of the 

Surrey WLP were not revisited as part of the site identification process for Policy 11(b), as 

the reasons that rendered them unsuitable for allocation as strategic sites would also 

preclude their development as household waste materials recycling facilities. Consideration 

was given to the five sites allocated under Policy 11a, all of which were rejected on grounds 

of location (i.e. being outside the catchment area specified by the Waste Disposal Authority), 

suitability or cost (see paragraph 2.43, pp.66-67 in Chapter 2 of the revised ESR, January 

2020). Consideration was also given to the four sites previously rejected for allocation under 

Policy 11a on greenfield and Green Belt grounds. Of those four sites only the land at Trumps 

Farm near Longcross was considered to be a viable option for the development of the 

required dry mixed recycling facility for household waste. The reasons for selecting that site 

were its location within the county, its access to the strategic road network, its proximity to 

other waste related development, and the fact that the land is owned by the County Council 

which provides certainty in terms of availability and deliverability (see paragraph 2.44, pp.67-

68 in Chapter 2 of the revised ESR, January 2020). 

 

6.13 Areas of Search – The new Plan identifies 22 areas of search situated within existing or 

proposed industrial land that are classed as suitable locations for some form of waste related 

development. Those areas of land were identified through discussion with the district and 

borough councils, and were drawn from a long list of 110 sites identified as existing and 

future employment sites (B2 and B8 use classes) by the local planning authorities as part of 

their Local Plan processes (see the Industrial Land Areas of Search Identification Report, 

December 2018). The process of shortlisting the ILAS for inclusion in the Plan involved the 

exclusion of all industrial sites of less than 5 hectares in size, of land occupied by high value 

uses (typically B1 class uses), of land subject to a single established long-term use, and land 

with dwellings in very close proximity. An exception to those decision making rules was made 

for those industrial areas already known to host waste uses. 

 

6.14 Paragraphs 27 and 28, and paragraph 30 (p.8) of the Inspectors Report on the Examination 

of the Surrey WLP considered the extent to which alternatives had been considered and 

assessed over the course of the development of the Plan. The Inspector concluded that the 

preparation of the Plan had included the consideration of reasonable alternatives, that the 

reasons for the selection of alternatives were set out clearly in the ESR, and that the approach 

proposed by the Plan was justified. 

  

Page 720

16

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/226546/Surrey-Waste-Local-Plan-Inspectors-Report.pdf


 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 11 

7. Measures to monitor the significant environmental effects of the Plan 
 

7.1 The requirement set out in paragraph 4(f) in Regulation 16, is concerned with the provision 

of a description and explanation of the measures by which the significant environmental 

effects of the plan would be monitored. 

 

7.2 The Surrey WLP includes a monitoring framework, which identifies the indicators that will be 

used to track and report on the performance of the Plan in terms of the delivery of waste 

management capacity and the avoidance or mitigation of unacceptable effects of on the 

environment and communities. 

 

7.3 The implications for the environment and communities of the development of the sites 

allocated or land otherwise identified in the Surrey WLP, as well as of any other sites brought 

forward for waste related development under the other policies of the Plan, will be subject 

to further detailed investigation and assessment at the planning application stage. For each 

allocated site and identified ILAS key information about the environmental and community 

sensitivity of the land in question is set out in Part 2 of the Plan, and prospective applicants 

are also directed to refer to the background information for each site contained in the revised 

ESR (January 2020), the HRA Report and other supporting technical assessments. 

 

7.4 The environmental impact assessment (EIA) regime and the requirements of the 

Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) with respect to the 

safeguarding of sites of European or international nature conservation importance provide 

for detailed scrutiny of the likely significant environmental effects of waste related 

development prior to the determination of applications for planning permission. Additional 

guidance on the information that would need to be provided in support of applications for 

waste related development with reference to impacts on the environment and communities 

is set out in the County Council’s local validation checklist for waste development. That 

guidance is reviewed and updated every 2 years and all applicants are expected to take 

account of the contents of that guidance when submitting applications. 

 

7.5 Progress with the implementation of the Plan will be reported on an annual basis in the 

County Council’s Annual Monitoring Report. That monitoring will report on the extent to 

which the policies set out in the Plan are being successfully implemented or otherwise 

applied, including those policies (see section 2.A of this report) that are concerned with the 

addressing the likely effects of waste related development on communities and the 

environment. A summary of the monitoring framework for Policies 13, 15 and 16 of the new 

Surrey WLP can be found in Table 7-A of this statement. A summary of the monitoring 

framework for Policy 14 of the new Surrey WLP can be found in Table 7-B of this statement. 

  

Page 721

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 12 

Table 7-A: Monitoring Framework for Policies 13, 15 and 16 of the Surrey WLP 

Measure/Indicator Data Source(s) Key 
Organisation(s) 

Target(s) Trigger(s) 

Policy 13: Sustainable Design 

Number of planning 
applications which are 
permitted for new or 

enhanced waste 
management facilities is 

contrary to Policy 13 

Planning Applications & 
Decisions. 

Appeal Decisions. 

Waste Planning 
Authority. 

Waste Industry. 

No planning 
applications 

permitted where 
design of new or 
enhanced waste 

management 
facilities is contrary 

to Policy 13. 

Significant number of 
planning applications 

permitted where 
facilities are 

considered to be 
poorly designed. 

Policy 15: Transport & Connectivity 

New or existing waste sites 
in relation to waste sources. 

Average waste miles. 

Surrey County Council 
Development 
Management. 

Surrey County Council 
Transport Development 

Planning. 

Surrey County 
Council. 

100% of proposals 
include assessment 

of ability to transport 
waste via sustainable 

modes. 

Main waste sources 
well connected to 

facilities. 

Significant source(s) 
of waste is/are not 
well connected to 

waste development. 

Policy 16: Community Engagement 

Number of relevant 
applications which are 

supported by a Statement of 
Community Involvement 

produced by the applicant. 

Planning Applications and 
Decisions. 

Appeal Decisions. 

Waste Planning 
Authority. 

Waste Industry. 

100% of relevant 
applications which 
are supported by a 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement 

produced by the 
applicant. 

Low numbers of 
relevant applications 
are supported by a 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement 

produced by the 
applicant. 

 

Table 7-B: Monitoring Framework for Policy 14 of the Surrey WLP 

Indicator Target/Trigger Actions 
Relevant 

P14 Clauses 

Policy 14 Part A: Key Environmental Assets (e.g. AONB, , Ramsar Site, SPA, SAC, SSSI, NNR, Scheduled Monument, Listed 
Building, Registered Park & Garden) 

14A.1 All applications for 
waste related 
development 

determined during the 
monitoring year where 

the proposal has the 
potential to affect one 

or more of the 
categories of sensitive 
environmental assets 

referred to in Part A of 
Policy 14 

Trigger: Any applications refused during 
the monitoring year, where the reasons 

for refusal include unacceptable 
impacts on one or more of the 

categories of sensitive environmental 
assets referred to in Part A of Policy 14 

Review reasons for refusal to 
establish what measures could be 
taken to reduce the incidence of 

refusals on grounds of unacceptable 
impacts. Establish what corrective 
action needs to be taken (e.g. does 
the Council need to provide further 

guidance to applicants). 

Part A (i) 
National 

Landscapes; 
Part A (ii) 

Supranational 
/ National 

Natural 
Assets; Part A 
(iii) National 

Heritage 
Assets 

14A.2 

Trigger: Any applications granted 
permission during the monitoring year, 
with conditions attached in respect of 

the protection of the categories of 
sensitive environmental assets referred 

to in Part A of Policy 14 

Target: 100% applications granted 
permission include conditions to 

manage identified impacts 

If target not met, review permissions 
granted to establish why relevant 

conditions were not attached at the 
point of determination, and whether 

the Councils approach needs to be 
amended. 

 

Page 722

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 13 

  

Page 723

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 14 

 

Indicator Target/Trigger Actions 
Relevant 

P14 Clauses 

Policy 14 Part B: Impacts on the Wider Environment 

14B.1 All applications for 
waste related 
development 

determined during the 
monitoring year where 
the proposal would give 
rise to impacts on one or 

more of the 
environmental receptors 
referred to in Part B of 

Policy 14 

Trigger: Any applications refused during 
the monitoring year, for which the 

reasons for refusal make reference to 
unacceptable impacts on one or more 

of the categories of environmental 
receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 

14 

Review reasons for refusal to 
establish what measures could be 
taken to reduce the incidence of 
refusals on grounds of impacts. 
Establish what corrective action 
needs to be taken (e.g. does the 
Council need to provide further 

guidance to applicants). 

Part B (iii) Air 
Quality; (iv) 

Water 
Environment; 

(v) 
Landscape; 
(vi) Natural 

Environment; 
(vii) Historic 

Environment; 
(viii) Land & 

Soil 
Resources 

14B.2 

Trigger: Any application granted 
permission during the monitoring year. 

Target: 100% applications granted 
permission include conditions to 

manage the identified impacts on one 
or more of the categories of 

environmental receptors referred to in 
Part B of Policy 14 

If target not met, review permissions 
granted to establish why relevant 

conditions were not attached at the 
point of determination, and whether 

the Councils approach needs to be 
amended. 

Policy 14 Part B: Impacts on Local Communities 

14B.3 All applications for 
waste related 
development 

determined during the 
monitoring year where 
the proposal would give 
rise to impacts on one or 
more of the community 
receptors referred to in 

Part B of Policy 14 

Trigger: Any applications refused for 
which the reasons for refusal make 

reference to unacceptable impacts on 
one or more of the categories of 

community receptors referred to in Part 
B of Policy 14 

Review reasons for refusal to 
establish what measures could be 
taken to reduce the incidence of 

refusals on grounds of impacts on 
one or more of the categories of 

community receptors referred to in 
Part B of Policy 14. Establish what 

corrective action needs to be taken 
(e.g. does the Council need to provide 

further guidance to applicants). 

Part B (i) 
Public 

Amenity & 
Safety; (ii) 

Aerodrome & 
Airport 

Safeguarding 

14B.4 

Trigger: Any application granted 
permission during the monitoring year. 

Target: 100% applications granted 
permission include conditions to 

manage the identified impacts on one 
or more of the categories of community 
receptors referred to in Part B of Policy 

14 

If target not met, review permissions 
granted to establish why relevant 

conditions were not attached at the 
point of determination, and whether 

the Councils approach needs to be 
amended. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 724

16



 

Post-Adoption Environmental Statement for the Surrey Waste Local Plan – July 2020 15 

 

 

 

 

Page 725

16



 

 

 
 
 

Page 726

16



 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 727

16



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5; Summary of Inspector’s conclusions re ILAS and Sites 

 

Issue/site Summary of Inspector’s conclusions1 

Industrial Land Areas 
of Search (ILAS) 

The ILAS Identification Report clearly demonstrates that the approach 
taken was thorough and robust. It represents a justified mechanism for 
the identification of these areas of search that is both open and 
transparent. 

The ILAS have been appropriately assessed as available, suitable and 
achievable. The extent of assessment undertaken in relation to the ILAS 
is proportionate and sufficient, in light of their existing land use planning 
designations and the identified requirement for further detailed 
assessment at the planning application stage. 

Whilst industrial land areas of search (ILAS) have been identified, it is 
clear from the evidence provided that these areas are not likely to be of 
sufficient size, or necessarily suitable in other ways, to support the 
extent of new strategic waste infrastructure development likely to be 
required to meet the identified need.  

Nevertheless, the ILAS represent an important positive component of 
the Plan’s provision. They will have potential to meet the need for a 
range of uses, including specialist facilities, and will enhance the ability 
of the Plan to respond flexibly to changing demands and circumstances, 
including market forces, over time. 

Allocated sites - 
general 

From the evidence provided, the approach taken to the identification of 
the locations for new development was open and transparent and the 
methodology followed was clear and robust.  It represents a reasonable 
and justified approach. 

The extent of land allocated represents a positive approach that has 
been adequately justified. 

The Transport Study represents a thorough and robust plan-level 
analysis of the potential capacity and highway management issues 
relating to the proposed allocations.  The study supports the allocation 
of the sites proposed, with specific transport issues demonstrated to be 
reasonably likely to be addressed by identified project specific mitigation  

Overall, taking into account the range and extent of detailed assessment 
undertaken, together with the responses received, the proposed 
allocations are justified and strongly supported by a suitably robust and 
thorough assessment process. Furthermore, whilst these assessments 
have identified key issues for the development of the allocated sites 
across a range of matters none of these issues, either individually or 
collectively, indicate that the sites are unsuitable, in principle, for the 
development of some form of waste management facility. 

Site 5.1- Land to the 
north east of Slyfield 
Industrial Estate 

It is clear from the evidence produced that its development is largely 
proposed to accommodate the relocation of existing waste management 
facilities, including a wastewater treatment works, to facilitate the 

                                                           
1 This is a selective summary. For the full context and other conclusions see the Inspector’s report at Annex 1. 

Page 729

16



Annex 5; Summary of Inspector’s conclusions re ILAS and Sites 

 

Issue/site Summary of Inspector’s conclusions1 

redevelopment of that existing site, as part of a wider regeneration 
proposal for the area 

The inclusion of this site under Policy 11a would be sound. There would 
appear to be some prospect that the site may also be able to accommodate 
some other waste management facilities 

Site 5.2 – Former 
Weylands Treatment 
Works 

The context of the site and issues such as deliverability, traffic impacts, 
air quality and odour, would present challenges to its suitable 
development. However, some form of development could be achieved, 
provided acceptable design and operation mitigation measures were in 
place, supported by a robust environmental impact assessment process, 
where required, and effective community engagement. 

The site would benefit from being improved and upgraded, which would 
also potentially enable greater control to be exercised over activities on 
the site through the planning system 

Site 5.3 – Land 
adjoining Leatherhead 
Sewage Treatment 
Works 

A number of issues have been identified in relation to its potential 
development, including in relation to access.  These issues have the 
potential to be suitably addressed at the application stage of the 
development process, through the use of appropriate design and 
operational mitigation measures. 

Site 5.4 – Oakleaf 
Farm, Stanwell Moor 

Potential impacts on air quality and human health are not matters that 
would render the allocation unacceptable and are capable of being 
addressed at the application stage, subject to suitable design and 
operational mitigation measures. 

Having regard to the Transport Study, the Plan also states that a larger 
facility may be able to be accommodated, if suitable mitigation can be 
implemented, to allow all movements at the Horton Road/Stanwell 
Moor Road junction.  From the evidence provided, this type of junction 
improvement is likely to be achievable. It is important to explicitly state 
that all site traffic must be prevented from using the route to the site 
through the nearby Stanwell Moor village. 

Site 5.5 – Lambs 
Business Park, South 
Godstone 

There is a reasonable prospect that transport issues can be overcome 
and that the allocation, with the modifications identified, is sound. 

As such, the approach taken within the Plan has been robustly justified 
and will positively support the effective delivery of development on the 
site. 

Site 5.6 – Land 
adjacent to Trumps 
Farm, Kitsmead Lane, 
Longcross 

Sufficient justification exists for the allocation of the site to meet the 
identified needs for a DMR facility in this location. 

The development of the site for a waste management facility of the 
overall scale proposed would be feasible, subject to satisfactory design 
and operation mitigation measures. 

The potential loss of some trees on the site and some areas of priority 
habitat would seem likely. However, details provided as part of the 

Page 730

16



Annex 5; Summary of Inspector’s conclusions re ILAS and Sites 

 

Issue/site Summary of Inspector’s conclusions1 

Examination process, have demonstrated that a facility of the scale 
proposed could potentially be accommodated within the site, without 
the loss of ancient woodland and with potential to achieve biodiversity 
net gain 

 

Page 731

16



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MR MATT FURNISS, CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

KATIE STEWART, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ENVIRONMENT, 
TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

SUBJECT: STREET LIGHTING PFI CONTRACT - REFINANCING  

  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

Surrey County Council entered into a private finance initiative (PFI) contract in March 2010 

for Street Lighting maintenance for 25 years with Surrey Lighting Services (the Service 

Provider).  The scope of the services included the operation and maintenance of the 

streetlights for the 25-year period and during the first 5 years delivers a “Core Investment 

Programme” to replace most lighting columns and all the lanterns. 

A feature of the PFI contract required the Service Provider to obtain finance to cover the cost 

of the initial investment phase to be repaid over the life of the contract period.  The monthly 

payment made by the Council to the Service Provider (known as the Annual Unitary Charge) 

is a fixed sum indexed annually to cover the cost of the operation and maintenance of the 

assets plus the cost repayment of that finance less any deductions relating to performance 

standards not being met if applicable.   

The contract includes a mechanism to carry out a refinancing exercise at any point (i.e. 

review and renew the existing loans in place for the contract to take advantage of improved 

market terms and reduce payments) if there could be a financial gain either in the form of a 

one off payment to the Council, a reduction on the annual cost of services or a combination 

of the two. 

A review of the finance market has shown that proceeding with refinancing the remaining 

debt held by the Service Provider will generate a one-off payment to the Council plus a 

reduction in the annual costs of the contract.  Full details of these savings are included in 

Part 2 of the Cabinet report. 

The Council has an obligation to ensure ongoing best value in its contracts.  The proposed 

estimated savings need to be considered against any changes to or additional risks for the 

Council created as a result of carrying out the proposed refinancing. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves, in principle, the application of the contract mechanism to refinance the 

Street Lighting contract which will result in a saving to the Council in the amount it 

pays for these services either as an annual cost reduction, a one-off saving or a 

combination of both. 

Page 733

17

Item 17



 
 

2. Delegate the final decision to the Executive Director for Environment, Transport and 

Infrastructure (ETI) and the Executive Director for Resources, in consultation with 

Cabinet Member for Transport and Cabinet Member for Resources 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The principal of refinancing the street lighting PFI contract has been explored a few times 

over the past 10 years and until now any financial benefit from doing so has been 

outweighed by the costs associated with the refinancing itself.  Despite the latest review 

having been conducted in the months since Covid-19 has impacted the Country, the 

refinancing gain available has improved significantly. 

The balance of the financial return from refinancing is assessed to outweigh any 

amended/increased risk to the Council. 

If the Council were not to proceed with the refinancing exercise, it would be paying more for 

the service than it needed to and so would not be securing Best Value. 

DETAILS: 

Background 

1. In March 2010, the Council commenced a PFI contract with Surrey Lighting Services 

(the Service Provider) to deliver street lighting services.  The scope of the contract 

included: 

a. Operation and maintenance of the street lighting equipment for the 25-year 

period of the contract 

b. Delivery of a Core Investment Programme covering: 

i. The replacement of approximately 70,000 street lighting columns 

ii. The replacement of approximately 89,000 lanterns 

iii. Installation of a Central management System (CMS) to control the 

street lights including self-reporting of faults 

 

2. The essence of the PFI contract is that Surrey County Council, as the client, sets a 

series of required outcomes (known as Performance Standards), and the Service 

Provider develops a solution to achieve and exceed those Performance Standards 

for the duration of the contract.  Failure to achieve any of the Performance Standards 

in any period results in a financial deduction which reduces the value of the Annual 

Unitary Charge for that period. 

 

3. In most PFI contracts, the Service Provider’s solution to the required outcomes will 

often require a significant investment in the asset to be delivered (which across the 

UK has included building of schools, hospitals and roads).  Many Local Highway 

Authorities like SCC have entered into PFI contracts to deliver street lighting 

maintenance, with the majority resulting in street lighting columns and lanterns being 

replaced during the contract term and often during the early years to maximise 

performance from an early point in the contract period. 

 

4. To facilitate that investment, the Service Provider is required to obtain the necessary 

financing from appropriate sources, such as banks, pension funds and the like. 

 

5. An Annual Unitary Charge is paid by the Council to cover the operation and 

maintenance of the street lights for the 25-year term of the contract as well as the 

Page 734

17



 
 

repayments of the Service Provider debt.  Part of this charge is funded by HM 

Treasury in the form of PFI credits paid each year of the contract term. 

 

6. In February 2020, a variation to the scope of services was agreed and the Service 

Provider commenced a 3-year programme of LED conversions for all street lights in 

the county to reduce energy consumption, costs and carbon emissions.  This has 

been financed directly by the Council with borrowing from Salix Energy Efficiency 

Loans and Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise Partnership at 0% interest with the 

remainder provided through Public Works Loan Board borrowing.  As this project has 

been managed as a separate project to the PFI contract, neither this project nor its 

funding has affected the Annual Unitary Charge and will similarly not be affected by 

the planned refinancing. 

Refinancing  

7. As described, the Service Provider is required to obtain sufficient finance to cover the 

cost of the initial core investment, which was secured following a competitive 

process, to ensure the best overall outcome.  It should also be noted that the PFI 

contract was awarded following a substantial competitive procurement where price 

(in the form of the Annual Unitary Charge cost) was evaluated alongside quality of 

the solution being submitted by each bidder. 
 

8. The terms of the financing are set at the outset of the agreement for the entire 

contract period of 25 years.  Those terms are set in the context of the economic 

environment and market conditions at the time of its completion (in this case 

November 2009. 

 

9. Similar to other types of long-term debt, the costs of borrowing vary as a result of the 

general underlying costs of borrowing in the UK, the risk appetite of funders in the 

market and the perceived riskiness of the project. The latter is important because on 

PFI projects, the funder does not get security of the underlying assets and is reliant 

on the contract performing well.  

 

10. Where any or all of these factors improve from the position prevailing at the date the 

original financing was put in place, there is an opportunity to refinance on better 

terms. This can result in lower monthly costs, reducing the debt term or providing an 

upfront lump sum benefit.  
 

11. Recognising that it is the Service Provider who borrowed the funds, it is responsible 

for instigating the exploration of the refinancing of that debt to determine what new 

funding options might be available that would maximise the financial benefit of the 

refinancing whilst minimising the exposure that the new debt obligations would create 

to its business. This is a complex process to ensure that the existing financing 

arrangements are ended at least cost and the new financing package delivers the 

best value going forward.  

 

12. Although the Service Provider is responsible for the debt, the Council ultimately pays 

for it through the Annual Unitary Charge and so has a strong interest in the 

refinancing exercise and its outcome. How the refinancing is structured will determine 

both the overall quantum of benefit the Council receives from it, but also whether that 

benefit comes in the form of an immediate lump sum, an ongoing reduction in the 

service payment, or a combination of both.  The Council has engaged a team from 

Page 735

17



 
 

within Local Partnerships, an organisation with experience in supporting other public 

sector organisations in carrying out refinancing projects, to help ensure that the 

Council’s interests in the process are protected. 
 

13. A PFI contract generally includes a mechanism which facilitates a refinancing 

exercise.  The mechanism provides for the process, how the various costs of carrying 

out the process will be covered and a sharing mechanism for any gains that arise 

from the refinancing. 
 

14. The sharing mechanism explains in detail how any net gains (i.e. gains after taking 

out the costs associated with carrying out the exercise) are shared between the 

Council and the Service Provider. Table 1 shows how any gain is shared between 

the Council and Service Provider with the Council receiving a greater share as the 

value of the gain increases: 

 

Table 1. Gainshare split 

Value of Total Net 
Saving 

Local Authority Share Service Provider 
Share 

£0-£1 million 50% 50% 
> £1 Million to £3 million 60% 40% 

Over £3 million 70% 30% 

 

15. In general terms, as the value of the gain increases, the Council’s share also 

increases in percentage terms so that at each threshold, the Council’s proportion 

increases.  The Council’s share is based on a cumulative share of each banding 

where applicable (i.e. 50% of any saving up to £1 million + 60% of any saving above 

that up to £3 million + 70% of any saving over £3 million). 

 

16. Every two to three years since the contract started, the Council has requested the 

Service Provider to carry out an initial analysis to determine the state of the market 

and the likely value of any gain (if any) that might be generated from refinancing the 

project debt.  Previous assessments have resulted in a position that either did not 

generate a gain, or the value of the gain did not significantly exceed the costs of 

carrying out the refinancing exercise.   

 

17. The contract is, however, now at a state of maturity with the initial replacement work 

successfully delivered and day to day operations being delivered satisfactorily that 

project risks are low. This has coincided with interest rates being historically low and 

there being funders in the market who have an appetite to refinance this type of 

project on good terms. Therefore, this is probably an optimal time to progress a 

refinancing. 

Current Position 

18. In 2019, at the outset of this latest exercise to explore the potential for refinancing, 

the Service Provider was asked to carry out an initial market assessment.  The 

outcome of that “desktop” assessment indicated there would be a significant net gain 

from a refinancing exercise, and that the Council would receive a substantial return 

through its share. 

 

Page 736

17



 
 

19. This exercise was taken a step further by the Service Provider to engage informally 

with potential lenders to understand their appetite for providing finance to the project 

if it were refinanced. This reinforced the initial findings, and following consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Transportation and the Service Provider’s Board 

Members, it was agreed to formally commence a refinancing. 

 

20. However, as the Council and Service Provider were in the process of negotiating and 

agreeing a contract variation to facilitate the conversion of street lights to LED at that 

time, it was agreed to delay formal commencement of refinancing until all parties 

including the existing lenders had agreed to the details of the contract change.  This 

process has taken some time to complete, and hence a delay in further progressing 

the refinancing initiative until now. 

 

21. In June 2020, following informal engagement with several potential lenders, a funding 

competition was launched to understand the terms on which each entity would be 

willing to enter into a new set of financing arrangements.  It was anticipated that 

carrying out this competition during a time when Covid-19 has affected the Country 

might have resulted in less favourable terms than the assessment carried out “pre-

Covid”.  In actual fact, the results received were more positive than those indicated in 

the earlier assessment and so work has progressed to develop the terms including 

preparing the necessary changes to the contract documents to enable the parties to 

seek the necessary approvals ahead of completing the agreement in the coming 

weeks. 

 

22. The exact value of the gain will be determined by the various rates applicable on the 

day of financial close and we anticipate a “window of movement” of no more than 

10% in the value of the Council’s share of the refinancing gain due to these factors.  

If the expected gain fell below this threshold it would result in the refinancing not 

proceeding without further review by Cabinet. 

CONSULTATION: 

23. The Council has worked closely with the Service Provider and its advisors to develop 

the refinancing package.  It is in the joint interest of both parties (whose benefits are 

directly linked) to maximise the value of the gain through a combination of getting the 

best available finance package, whilst at the same time minimising any changes to or 

increases to risk alongside keeping a tight control on the costs of developing and 

completing the refinancing. 

 

24. Whilst part of the Annual Unitary Charge is paid for by HM Treasury through PFI 

credits each year and is sponsored by the Department for Transport (DfT), all 

savings due to the authority under the refinancing exercise will be retained by the 

Council with nothing payable to either DfT or HM Treasury. 

 

25. The Council has engaged with the DfT’s team from an early point to ensure support 

for carrying out the refinancing, and any terms agreed are acceptable to them as 

sponsoring Department. 

 

26. The DfT’s Local and Regional Transport Investment committee require a business 

case to be submitted, which it will consider for approval in parallel with (and be 

contingent on) Cabinet’s approval.   

Page 737

17



 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

27. Refinancing the contract is a non-operational activity, and there will be no changes to 

terms relating to the delivery of the service is being made. 

 

28. It is intended to capture the required changes to contractual documents by way of an 

“amend and restate” approach rather than create a new set of documents.  In doing 

so, proposed amendments are made to existing documents, making it simple to 

identify the changes.  It will also ensure any costs associated with the required 

changes are minimised. 

 

29. There is a provision in the contract where the Service Provider is liable for any costs 

(up to a threshold) resulting from a qualifying change in law which would affect the 

services delivered.  The current financial model provides for this to be covered with a 

sum of money reserved for this explicit purpose and is essentially a cash sum held by 

the Service Provider which they will receive in full as a dividend once their change in 

law liability expires at the end of the contract term.  Under the refinancing exercise, it 

is proposed to restructure this to a debt facility – this will provide the Service Provider 

with the same level of access to the required funds to service its obligations in the 

event of a change in law event arising.  However, in moving to a debt facility from 

holding the funds, those monies can be released as part of the refinancing to 

increase the overall value of the gain. The Service Provider incurs a one-off 

arrangement fee to set the debt facility up under the refinancing and ongoing annual 

commitment fees to maintain access to those funds for change in law should they 

arise.  This is substantially cheaper than paying interest on a loan which is not being 

used.   

 

30. An alternative consideration was for the Council to take the full cost risk of any future 

change in law liability to further increase the value of the gain (by the amounts 

payable to set up and maintain the described loan facility); however, the additional 

refinancing gain available that would result from this are not significant in the context 

of the wider refinancing gain and do not outweigh the future risk of a change in law 

obligation should the situation arise so this will not be pursued. 

 

31. To facilitate the refinancing costs (which include termination fees for existing loans 

and arrangement fees for new loans), the Service Provider will be borrowing a 

greater value than is currently owed but at a cheaper overall cost which leads to the 

reduction in the Annual Unitary Charge and the potential for an up-front gain.  

  

32. Immediately following the refinancing and for a period of approximately five years 

afterwards, the Council will be subject to increased financial liabilities should it wish 

to terminate the contract for any reason.  These increased liabilities will initially be 

greater than the saving the Council will receive from refinancing; however, after this 

five-year period, the position will reverse, and the Council’s additional termination 

liabilities resulting from the refinancing will fall to a level below the value of the 

upfront gain the Council will receive through the refinancing.    

 

33. In practical terms, the Council are unlikely to enter into a voluntary termination during 

the remaining 14 years of the contract, and in the short term over that initial five year 

period, this is even more unlikely as a result of the fact that the contract is performing 

well with few performance deductions being applied.  In addition, as set out earlier in 

this report, the Council has also recently commenced a 3-year conversion 

Page 738

17



 
 

programme to install LEDs on all streetlights to reduce energy consumption, costs 

and CO2 impact.  Finally, the Council would incur significant additional costs to 

procure an alternative contract to operate and maintain the streetlights following 

termination, further minimising the risk of the Council terminating the contract early. 

 

34. If for any reason the refinancing were to not go ahead (including the Cabinet not 

approving the refinancing), the Council would be liable for “abortive” costs of legal 

and financial advisors incurred to date, which are estimated to be £60,000.  On the 

other hand, should the refinancing proceed, the Council’s costs will be reimbursed as 

part of a successful refinancing and accounted for alongside other costs before the 

gainsharing calculations are made. 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

35. Full details of the estimated refinancing gain and the Council’s projected share based 

on the mechanism described in paragraph 12 is included in the Part 2 paper.  Final 

amounts will be subject to various factors up to the day of Financial Close and will be 

agreed under the Delegated Authority requested. 

 

36. The Council will be receiving its share of the refinancing gain in the form of a 

combined one-off payment and a reduction in the Annual Unitary Charge for the 

remaining years of the contract (to February 2035). 

 

37. The refinancing restructures the debt to reduce the overall cost of repayments and in 

turn what the Council pays for the services.  There are no changes to the services 

element of the contract with performance expectations and financial deductions for 

failing to achieve these remaining in place.   

 

38. Acknowledging the risks described in paragraphs 29 to 34, the Council will receive 

the same services and level of performance but for a lower annual cost and a 

substantial one-off payment. 

 

39. As described, the Council has engaged Local Partnerships to provide Financial 

Advice and assurance of the Refinancing.  The Council has also engaged Pinsent 

Masons to provide Legal Advice – Pinsent Masons acted for the Council in both the 

original procurement of the contract and more recently in developing and agreeing 

the Deed of Variation for LED Conversion.  The costs for these advisors along with 

those of the other parties including the outgoing and incoming lenders will be met 

from the Refinancing Gain before the shared calculation is applied. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

40. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 

the Council’s financial position, the medium term financial outlook is uncertain. The 

public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 

current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 

extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 

year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. 

 

Page 739

17



 
 

41. The Section 151 Officer considers that the process followed to refinance the street 

lighting PFI contract is robust, and the council has been supported by appropriately 

qualified and experienced specialist advisors, including legal and financial advisors, 

as well as by the Department for Transport.   

 

42. The refinancing follows a competitive process, and the expected outcome is 

considered by the council’s advisors to be positive.  The refinancing gain will be 

shared between parties in accordance with the mechanism set out in the 

contract.  There remains a risk that the position could change, including the council’s 

share of the refinancing gain.  This could occur for example through adverse 

movement in SWAP rates. These risks will be monitored and the refinancing will only 

proceed if the terms of the delegated decision are met.  

 

43. As set out in the body of the report, increasing debt would potentially result in higher 

contract termination liabilities.  This particularly applies to authority default or 

voluntary termination, where the increased liability would initially exceed the 

refinancing gain for a period of 5 years.  However, this is considered an unlikely 

scenario given the performance of the contract to date and the council’s ongoing 

investment in LED lighting which is being delivered through the contract.  As such, 

the Section 151 Officer supports the proposed refinancing, which is expected to 

provide increased value to the council both through an upfront gain, and an ongoing 

reduction to the amount it pays though the contract. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

44. Within the PFI contract, Schedule 12 - Refinancing sets out the terms and conditions 

for refinancing. It is clear from reading the draft Cabinet Report that Schedule 12 is 

being complied with by the Council and the Service Provider. This looks like a win-

win for the Council and the Service Provider. As such there are no concerns about 

refinancing not being able to go ahead. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

45. This is a financial transaction undertaken by a 3rd party in the joint interests of their 

shareholders and the Council to generate a payment/reduced annual cost to the 

Council.  As a result, there are no equalities and diversity implications. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

46. Following approval by Cabinet the Department for Transport’s Local and Regional 

Transport Investment Committee and the Service Provider’s board, steps will be 

taken by the joint project team to complete the required steps in the refinancing to 

allow final terms to be agreed based on financial close on a specific date. 

 

47. Final approval will be sought in line with the delegated authority to complete the 

transaction 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

 

Page 740

17



 
 

 

Contact Officer: 

Paul Wheadon, Business Improvement and Consultancy Manager 

Contact: 020 8541 4396 

 

Consulted: 

Cabinet Member for Transport 

Cabinet Member for Resources 

Shareholders of Surrey Lighting Services (the Service Provider) 

Department for Transport 

 

Annexes: 

Part 2 Report 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Page 741

17



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MR TIM OLIVER, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

MICHAEL COUGHLIN, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

SUBJECT: SURREY ECONOMIC STRATEGY  2030 UPDATE  

  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

At the end of 2019, Surrey County Council and key stakeholders came together through the 

Surrey Economic Commission to consider evidence related to the Surrey economy with the 

intention to refocus attention on the Surrey geography and to understand what story the 

economic data told about the economic position of Surrey. The Commission was Chaired by 

Lord Philip Hammond of Runnymede and, in the first instance, received evidence in the form 

of a comprehensive data analysis from ARUP.  

The intention was for the Commission to present its findings and recommendations to support 

the production of a Surrey Economic Strategy early in 2020, however the impact of the COVID-

19 Pandemic on the economy required that the original strategy was paused whilst a revised 

consideration of the economic position of Surrey relative to the UK economy was undertaken.  

The COVID-19 Pandemic remains a live issue for the economy creating an unprecedented 

set of circumstances and an unknown future environment. There remain a number of ongoing 

macro issues which are impacting on the Surrey economy, including the imminent EU exit, the 

impact of digitisation and automation on the world of work and the climate change agenda. 

Whilst understanding and responding to the economic situation in this context is complex and 

challenging, it is also vital that we do.  

The development of a new Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy has therefore started, and this 

report provides an update on progress of that work, the wider strategic context and alignment 

with other related activity with a view to bringing a final strategy for approval in December 

2020.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Note the progress taken on the development of the Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy 

to date and the proposed process of engagement and approval; 

  

2. Note that the final strategy will be presented at Cabinet in December 2020.  

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Cabinet is receiving this update to ensure that the process of engaging and consulting on the 

2030 Economic Strategy is inclusive and that Members are aware of the wider context and 

emerging themes; this will give all stakeholders the opportunity to contribute to the Strategy in 

advance of it being presented for approval in December 2020.   

Page 743

18

Item 18



 
 

DETAILS: Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy  

Strategic Context  

1. The wider UK and Surrey economic context in October 2020 is incredibly unpredictable. 

The COVID-19 Pandemic remains a live issue for the economy creating an 

unprecedented set of circumstances and an unknown future environment. Various other 

macro issues remain and these also have an impact on the Surrey economy. They 

include (but are not exclusively): the imminent EU exit, the impact of digitisation and 

automation on the world of work and the climate change agenda. Whilst understanding 

and responding to the economic situation in this context is complex and challenging, it is 

also vitally important. In order to present an effective strategy in this context, it will need 

to be flexible and agile and able to adapt to changing external circumstances, policy, 

governance structures and resource availability.  

 

2. The Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy will provide a Surrey-wide economic perspective, 

adding value to the work undertaken locally through Districts and Boroughs, LEPs and 

direct government interventions, providing a Surrey specific vision for change 

underpinned by clear objectives and a strong strategic intent. Economic impacts are 

cross-cutting and diverse and therefore the emerging Strategy needs to reference many 

competing interests, harmonising and prioritising a number of different objectives. In 

order to do this, the Strategy is underpinned by a robust analysis and interpretation of 

Surrey specific data and evidence and will refer directly to other relevant strategies, for 

example the Infrastructure Strategy, Surrey Future Ambition, Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy and Surrey’s Greener Future; it is also likely that additional, more focused 

strategies emerge, for example a Surrey Skills Strategy.   

 

3. The Strategy is also being developed in the context of the Surrey Economic Commission 

findings and the new One Surrey Growth Board. The diagram below sets out how these 

various strands of work will come together.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Evidence Base  

4. The emerging strategy will draw on various strands of evidence including:  

- Surrey Place Ambition (July 2019)  

- ARUP Baseline Research (March 2020)  

- ARUP COVID-19 Economic Impact Assessment (June 2020)  

- ARUP Infrastructure Plan (June 2020)  

- University of Surrey Cluster Research (November 2020)  

- Surrey Economic Commission Findings (September 2020)  

Page 744

18



 
 

- Socio-economic research on ‘Surrey in a COVID context’ (due October 2020)  

However, it is apparent that further research will be essential to refresh and update the 

strategy at regular intervals in order to ensure that it remains current and deliverable in the 

changeable environment.  

5. The following summarised SWOT analysis of Surrey data, undertaken by the University of 

Surrey in September 2020, is a helpful interpretation of the available evidence. The full 

research report is being launched on 12th November and this evidence will continue to be 

enhanced as the strategy develops. In addition to the University of Surrey Research and 

evidence base, we will also include ARUP’s evidence base, the Social Progress Index and 

underpinning Health and Wellbeing data also utilising our internal capability in our Insight 

and Intelligence Team. 

Emerging Framework 

6. The strength of the Surrey 2030 Economic strategy lies in the county’s existing 

competitive advantage, its robust performance across a range of areas and its relative 

resilience. The strategy must build from these strengths and assets and position Surrey 

as the primary driver of economic recovery and renewal, recognising the need to position 

ourselves strongly against a strong northern focus. 

 

7. The Strategy objectives have evolved in direct alignment with the findings of the Surrey 

Economic Commission which Lord Hammond, as Chair, presented to the Growth Board 

on 1 October 2020. The Commission proposed that a four-fold action plan in the form of 

a ‘growth first’ strategy needs to be put in place to address: 

 

i. Intra-County disparities:  Addressing the deepening economic disparity between 

East and West Surrey’s economies and sectoral performance to avoid widening 

inequalities and to increase the County’s overall GVA per capita growth rates. 

ii. Governance: Local Authorities at both levels need to work more effectively with 

LEPs, and a host of key stakeholders to design “local-growth, local-jobs” 

Page 745

18



 
 

programmes, tailored to the different local economic realities, but promoting the 

same key message that  “Surrey’s in Business”. 

iii. Surrey Specialisms: For example, building the County’s claim to be England’s 

Silicon Valley by consolidating existing high-tech hubs, connected by ‘business 

corridors’, while kick-starting rescue packages for those aviation-related industries 

whose current woes will negatively affect Surrey’s overall GVA. 

iv. Healthy Surrey: Launching packages to promote an uplift in Surrey’s demography; 

retaining high-skilled students, attracting highly-qualified younger workers and their 

families by providing enhanced and sustainable infrastructure, accessible housing 

and an attractive lifestyle. 

 

8. Recognising and building further from these themes, the emerging 10-year ambitions of 

the strategy are: 

 

• Our reputation as an economic leader and primary location to do business is 

retained and strengthened;  

• Digital infrastructure for ‘whole-place’ is directly linked to our residents’ lived 

experiences and targeted business innovation / growth; 

• Surrey as a place that nurtures innovation to retain and grow our dynamic 

business base;  

• Our resilience builds from our sectoral opportunities including the green 

economy, sustainable construction, health, life sciences and social care; 

• Surrey as a network of future-proofed, hyper-local, interconnected places that 

complement each other through sustainable transport networks; 

• We have a refreshed mutually beneficial, symbiotic relationship with the wider 

sub-region, including London; 

• A place where we have rural economic resilience linked to our urban strengths;  

• Surrey is known as a place for equity of opportunity, identifying inequality within 

places (including socio-economic determinants of health) and intervening to re-

balance our economy;   

• We grow the economy with an acute awareness of climate impacts. 

 

9. The above objectives can be delivered under the following three ways of working:  

 

i. Strategic Economic Leadership  
- The need to co-ordinate and agree joint strategic priorities in the interest of Surrey 

to ensure a clarity of purpose for all partners.  

- Working to maximise investment and external funding into Surrey through targeted 

service delivery, aligning resources, initiating and support funding bids and providing 

project management resources. 

- Through a new digital infrastructure strategy, secure successful delivery of 

improvements such as Full Fibre networks and 5g. 

- Release full business capability and support equity of opportunity through a strategic 

approach to the skills system in Surrey. 

 

ii. Whole Place-making 
- Reimagine our places in the context of the ‘hyper-local’ economy. 

- Enable the digital and sustainable transport connectivity needed in a COVID-19 

economic environment. 

 

iii. Strategic Relationship Management  
- Develop an influential strategic relationship across primary stakeholders e.g. Surrey 

Future Board, key businesses and government. 

Page 746

18



 
 

- Communicate as a coherent voice for Surrey to enable positive and constructive 

dialogue with key players such as Central Government and LEPs. 

- Use all available public sector economic levers and networks (e.g. focusing on 

retaining the Surrey pound). 

 

10. Recognising and building further from these themes, the emerging 10-year ambitions of 

the strategy are: 

  

- Undertake research to guide and direct our programmes of work and 
influence others. 

- Resolutely focus on opportunities for growth, for example through our 
emerging priority sectors:  

o   Green, Sustainable Construction, Energy 
o   Scientific (Health, Care, Pharma, Animal Disease) 
o   Technology, Digitally driven clusters 
o Establish infrastructure to support county-wide, interconnected 

(digital and sustainable transport) hyper-local economic centres with 
social, learning and environmental vibrancy. 

- We will lead innovation through interventions across Surrey, intervening to 
increase connection between innovators and institutions 

 
- Lead the strategic coordination of skills provision to improve resident skills 

and employability at all levels 
 
- We will retain our international business base and secure greater 

investment and international trading opportunities as part of our unique 
Surrey offer 

 
- Support rural economic resilience developing a symbiotic relationship with 

urban strengths 
 

Measuring Success  

11. Whilst it will not be possible to define all our success measures in advance of the detail 

of the strategy being known, it is anticipated that high level economic indicators will be 

enhanced by a broader set of more holistic indicators, such as the Social Progress Index 

and those detailed in the Grant Thornton Sustainable Growth Index which looks at 

progress across related economic themes such as ‘Inclusion and Equality’, ‘Resilience 

and Sustainability’ and ‘Health, Wellbeing and Happiness’. 

Next Steps 

12. This update is intended to give Cabinet early sight of the emerging strategy to facilitate 

full engagement and consultation. At the time of writing, internal SCC engagement has 

started and will be followed by targeted external engagement with key stakeholders. A 

proposed strategy will be brought to Cabinet for approval at the December meeting.  

CONSULTATION: 

13. This framework has been discussed with Cabinet Members at SCC and it is now intended 

to take consultation more widely externally.  

 

14. A meeting of Select Committee Chairs is planned to ensure that they are able to give their 

feedback and an all-Member briefing is planned to follow on from that discussion as 

Page 747

18

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/documents/sustainable-growth-index-2019.pdf


 
 

appropriate. This will all take place to ensure full engagement in advance of the Strategy 

approval in December.  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

15. There is an ongoing risk related to the unprecedented changing economic context and the 

related challenges in setting a strategy when it is not possible to be certain of future 

economic trends and circumstances. Nonetheless, it is also of equal importance to focus 

efforts to ensure that the economy is able to recover, not only to support our Surrey 

residents and businesses but also as part of our role in leading the UK economy. 

  

16.  There is a risk that, on producing the strategy, the resources are not made available to 

deliver on it. Implications of costs will be considered throughout the engagement process 

and will be included within the December report.  

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

17. Costs of delivering this strategy within 2020/21 will be met from existing Economic 

Development budgets. 

 

18. However, budget growth for 2021/22 will undoubtedly be needed to deliver against the 

ambitions of the Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy. This will be incorporated into the Medium 

Term Financial Strategy budget setting process.  

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

19. Although significant progress has been made over the last 12 months to improve the 

Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The Public 

Health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the current year. 

With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the extent to which both 

central and local funding sources might be affected from next year onwards, our working 

assumption is that financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been 

for the majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to 

consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable provision 

of services in the medium term. The Section 151 Officer supports the development of a 

Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy.  Any budget growth required to enable this, alongside 

any budget efficiencies identified, will be considered as part of the Medium-Term Financial 

Strategy process  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

20. On the basis that the Cabinet is only being asked to note the progress of the development 

of the Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy there are no legal implications at this point.  

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

21. It is fully expected that the Strategy will have a direct, positive impact on priority groups 

and it is an intention to focus on this element as the Strategy evolves. A full EIA has not 

been completed for this report as it is an update report. A full EIA will be undertaken when 

the proposed Strategy is submitted to December Cabinet.  

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

22. Cabinet Members are invited to continue to engage with the development of the Strategy 

through direct discussions with the Director for Economic Development and Prosperity. 

Page 748

18



 
 

Wider consultation with key stakeholders will continue throughout October and early 

November. 

  

23. The Director for Economic Development and Prosperity is fully engaged with parallel 

pieces of work, such as the One Surrey Plan for Growth and the Infrastructure Plan and 

will ensure alignment.  

 

24. The proposed Surrey 2030 Economic Strategy will be brough back to Cabinet in December 

2020 for approval.  

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact Officer: 

Dawn Redpath: Director for Economic Development and Prosperity 

Contact: 0781248816; Dawn.redpath@surreycc.gov.uk  

 

Consulted: 

SCC Economic Development Team  

SCC Leader 

SCC Corporate Leadership Team  

SCC Cabinet Members 

 

Sources/background papers: 

- Surrey Place Ambition (July 2019)  

- ARUP Baseline Research (March 2020)  

- ARUP COVID-19 Economic Impact Assessment (June 2020)  

- ARUP Infrastructure Plan (June 2020)  

- University of Surrey Cluster Research (September 2020) 

 

 

 

Page 749

18



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MRS JULIE ILES, CABINET MEMBER FOR ALL-AGE LEARNING 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

PATRICIA BARRY, DIRECTOR OF LAND AND PROPERTY 

SUBJECT: BROADWATER SECONDARY SCHOOL, GODALMING, SURREY  

  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

To approve the business case for the expansion of Broadwater School.  The school will 

expand from 4 forms of entry and 120 Published Admission Number per year (600 places 

overall) to 5 forms of entry and 150 Published Admission Number per year (750 places 

overall) to help meet the demand for 150 additional secondary places in Waverley from 

September 2021. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that, subject to the approval of the detailed financial information as set 

out in the Part 2 report, Cabinet approves the business case for the expansion of 

Broadwater School, creating an additional 150 school places. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The proposal supports the Authority’s statutory obligation to provide sufficient school places 

relative to demand. 

DETAILS: 

Background 

1. There is significant demand for new school places within Surrey resulting from 
increases in the birth rate and inward migration into the County.  Demand for 
secondary places has increased in Godalming, with additional school places required 
from 2021. Plans need to be put in place to ensure secondary places are provided for 
the increased pupil cohorts transitioning into the secondary phase. 

2. Waverley is experiencing a significant increase in the demand for school places, 
reflecting both a rise in birth rate, and increased house building and migration within 
the area. Demand for secondary school places in Godalming is projected to rise over 
the coming years in line with cohorts currently in the primary sector. This proposed 
expansion will provide additional school places needed in the planning area and 
wider borough. There is a sustained need for additional school places in the area, 
with an underlying deficit of 1FE, peaking in some years to 2 or 3 FE. A core 
component of the strategy devised to meet this need is the proposed expansion of 
Broadwater School by 1FE, which will reduce the projected deficits by 30 places. 

3. Broadwater School is a co-educational, fully comprehensive school for students aged 
11 to 16 years old in Godalming, Surrey. The school currently provides 120 places 

Page 751

19

Item 19



 
 

per year from year 7, through to year 11. The school became part of the Greenshaw 
Learning Trust on 1st September 2020. 

4. The Local Authority has a duty to respond to parental preferences and where 
possible, the County Council seeks to expand popular and successful schools to 
meet additional demand. Broadwater School has consistently over offered school 
places to accommodate local children. Broadwater School has offered above their 
PAN to 140 places for September 2020 and the two years previous.  

5. At the school’s last Ofsted inspection in 2019, Broadwater School received a “Good” 
judgement.  Officers are confident in the school’s ability to manage the increase in 
pupil numbers.  

6. This proposal would provide an additional 30 secondary places per year, a total of 
150 additional places within Godalming that will help to meet the increasing need for 
school places.   

7. The project will comprise the design, procurement and delivery of the following 
accommodation, to closer align the school with the DfE’s Building Bulletin 103: Area 
Guidelines for Mainstream Schools (BB103) through a combination of standalone, 
new build, extension, repurposing, internal alterations and refurbishment. 

 
a) Provision of a new Dining facility with integral Kitchen and Servery. 
 
b) Conversion and extension of an existing General Classroom back to a Science 

Laboratory 
 
c) Reallocation of an existing Drama Studio to a General Classroom 
 
d) Conversion of an existing Dining Area to reprovide a larger Drama Studio and 

Control Room (lighting and audio). 
 
e) Conversion of an existing Kitchen to 2 no. General Classrooms, 1 no. SEN 

(Special Educational Needs) classroom and 2 no. SEN Therapy Rooms 
 
f) Creation of corridor/ circulation space through repurposing part of the Main Hall, 

part of the old Dining space and surplus space to serve the above areas. 
 
g) Conversion of existing toilets to unisex format and provision of 4 no. further toilets, 

to satisfy minimum recommendations in BB103. 
 
h) Re-provision of car parking bays displaced by the new Dining facility. 

 
The above components constitute the minimum recommended accommodation 
required to enable the school to operate effectively and to meet curriculum need at 
5FE.  

 
8. A Planning Application has been submitted in September 2020 and a planning 

decision is expected by December 2020 that will enable commencement of building 
works on site early in 2021. 

CONSULTATION: 

9. The Headteacher of the school has worked closely with officers to undertake 
consultation on the expansion proposals. 

Page 752

19



 
 

10. A Planning public consultation was run over a two-week period from 22 July to 5 
August 2020.  The consultation document was circulated to local residents and 
businesses and borough councillors, who were invited to respond, either by 
completing a bespoke online survey or by email to SCC’s Planning Consultants. 

11. There were 44 responses to the consultation.  32 (73%) agreed with the proposal to 
expand the school, 5 disagreed and 7 neither agreed nor disagreed. 

12. Of the 5 negative responses, comments given included the school being significantly 
undersubscribed and therefore seeking evidence that families would choose 
Broadwater School over others, whereas records show that the school has admitted 
numbers above the PAN for the last 3 years; and people liking the small size and 
family feel of the School, which they consider may be lost with an expansion.  Neither 
of these concerns are planning related. 

13. Having reviewed the responses to the consultation, the Governing Body of 

Broadwater School voted on 26th August 2020 to proceed with the proposal.     

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

14. There are risks associated with the project and a project risk register has been 
compiled and is regularly updated.  A contingency allowance appropriate to the 
scheme has been included within the project budget to mitigate for potential identified 
risks. 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

15. The project will be funded from SCC’s School Basic Need (SBN) Programme and is 

contained within the currently agreed revenue budget/ capital programme. 

 

16. The project will be subject to robust cost challenge and scrutiny to drive optimum 

value as it progresses. Further financial details are set out in the report circulated in 

Part 2 of the agenda. These details have been circulated separately to ensure 

commercial sensitivity, in the interest of securing best value. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

17. Although significant progress has been made over the last 12 months to improve the 

Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The 

Public Health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the 

current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the 

extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next 

year onwards, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. As such, 

the Section 151 Officer supports the proposal to create an additional 150 places 

within the County. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

18. Section 13 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on a Local Authority (with 

responsibility for education) to ensure sufficient primary and secondary education 

provision is available to meet the needs of the population in its area. 

 

Page 753

19



 
 

19. There is a clear expectation in public law that the Council should consider the 

statutory consultation process whenever it is considering making significant changes 

to service provision. Such consultation will need to involve those directly affected by 

such changes together with relevant representative groups. It will be important that 

the material presented to consultees provides sufficient information to allow for 

intelligent consideration and response in relation to the proposals. This information 

will need to be presented in a way that consultees will understand. The responses to 

the consultation will need to be conscientiously taken into account when the Cabinet 

Member makes any future decision. 

 

20. In coming to a decision on this issue, the Cabinet Member needs to take account of 

all relevant matters. The weight to be given to each of the relevant matters is for the 

Cabinet Member to decide. Relevant matters in this context will include the statutory 

requirements, the policy considerations, the impacts of the options on service 

provision, the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), the Council’s fiduciary duty, any 

relevant risks, the results of the consultation and the public sector equality duty. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

21. The expansion of the school will not create any issues that would require the 

production of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA), as no group with protected 

characteristics will be adversely affected as a consequence of its approval, or 

otherwise.   

 

22. The new school building will comply with Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) 

regulations. 

 

23. There is no proposal to amend the admissions criteria, which are fully compliant with 

the School Admissions Code. 

CORPORATE PARENTING/LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN IMPLICATIONS 

24. This proposal would provide increased provision for secondary places in the area, 

which would be of benefit to the community served by the school. This means it 

would therefore also be of benefit to any Looked After Children who have the 

opportunity of attending the school. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

25. The design philosophy is to create buildings that will support low energy 

consumption, reduce solar gain and promote natural ventilation. The school will be 

refurbished in line with this policy and any new building will be to the standards in the 

local planning authority’s adopted core planning strategy. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

26. If approved, to proceed to complete tenders and subsequent contract award through 

delegated decision. 

 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

Page 754

19



 
 

Contact Officers: 

Euan Leslie, Senior Contracts Manager, 07929 824864 

 

Katie Weller, School Commissioning Officer, 07966 236650 

 

Consulted: 

 

Members: Julie Iles, Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning 

Mel Few, Cabinet Member for Finance 

Mrs Penny Rivers, Local Member: Godalming North 

Officers: Patricia Barry, Director of Land & Property 

  Liz Mills, Director Education, Lifelong Learning and Culture  

  Louise Lawson, Deputy Strategic Business Finance Partner, Business  

Stakeholders: Head Teacher and Chair of Governors 

 
Annexes: 
 
Part 2 report 
 
Sources/background papers: 
 
The Education Act 1996 
The School Standards Framework Act 1998 
The Education Act 2002 
The Education Act 2005 
The Education and Inspections Act 2006.      
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Page 755

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MS DENISE TURNER-STEWART, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
COMMUNITIES 

LEAD OFFICER: KATIE STEWART, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR 
ENVIRONMENT, TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

SUBJECT: PRUDENTIAL RIDE LONDON-SURREY 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

The Prudential Ride London Surrey (PRLS) cycling events were conceived as an Olympic 

Legacy and have taken place in Surrey annually since August 2013. The main 100-mile event 

route is based upon the route for the 2012 Olympic cycling road race events. It has been a 

prestigious occasion in the national cycling calendar and helps to inspire more people in 

Surrey to cycle as a healthy leisure activity and sustainable means of transport.  

The event requires one-day road closures to support a traffic free event through Elmbridge, 

Woking, Guildford and Mole Valley which can impact on businesses and the provision of 

services to local people. In May 2018, Cabinet approved continuation of the 100-mile closed 

road event up until 2020.  

For next year (2021), the organisers have proposed a shorter sportive/inspiration ride which 

would go through Surrey for only around four miles. Along with the “Freecycle” and the 

women’s race (“Classique”) events in central London, the new shorter event is focused on 

inspiring more women and families in to cycling and highlighting accessibility for all on two 

wheels. The Council Leader has agreed to support this smaller event in 2021. 

Cabinet now needs to decide whether Surrey should continue to host the main 100-mile 

closed road event within Surrey beyond 2021. This decision has been informed by a public 

consultation undertaken by the Council ending in February 2020. The results of this survey 

showed that while there was a small majority of respondents who supported the large 100-mile 

event, a significant proportion of respondents were strongly opposed to the event. This report 

sets out an overview of the impacts of the event, the results of the consultation as well as a 

proposed way forward. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that Cabinet:  

1. Agree that Surrey County Council will continue to work with the event organiser to 

maximise the benefits to Surrey and mitigate any potential negative impacts of the 

shorter sportive/inspiration ride event scheduled for May 2021 (subject to the 

implications of the COVID pandemic and any associated restrictions); 

2. Agree that Surrey County Council will not continue to host the original 100 mile-event 

closed road event in Surrey after 2021; and  

3. Agree the council will remain open-minded to and explore opportunities for smaller, less 

disruptive events (subject to the COVID pandemic and any associated restrictions) that 

might inspire cycling for everyday journeys, rather than events focussed primarily on 

sports cycling. 

Page 757

20

Item 20



REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

There are reasonable arguments in favour of continuing to support the 100-mile closed road 

event such as inspiring more cycling, generating grants for sporting and recreation 

organisations in Surrey and raising money for national charities. However, these benefits are 

set against the strong concerns from many Surrey residents over the disruption and negative 

impact on local businesses and services from the event, and concerns over anti-social 

behaviour of a small minority of sports cyclists.  

With these finely balanced arguments in mind, a better deal for Surrey residents was sought 

from the event organisers to ensure that the negative impacts of the event on local 

communities was sufficiently outweighed by the benefits to the wider community.  These 

efforts were led by the Leader, Cabinet Member and relevant senior officers, and specifically 

sought a financial contribution to provide thousands more children with cycle training across 

Surrey’s schools, but regrettably this commitment was not forthcoming from London Marathon 

Events.        

However, there are smaller events that could be hosted in the county that are less disruptive 

events and would build on the County Council’s existing services to inspire and enable more 

people to cycle for everyday journeys. This approach would more closely align with the 

Council’s corporate objectives, compared with longer events focused primarily on sports 

cycling.  

DETAILS: 

Introduction and Background 

1. The PRLS events that have taken place in Surrey every August since 2013, are part of a 

wider annual festival of cycling taking place in London and Surrey. Originally, prior to the 

cancellation of the 2020 events due to COVID-19, the following events were scheduled 

to take place in Surrey on 16 August of this year:  

 

 “Classic” (elite professional men’s cycle race in Surrey and London); 

 “100” (a mass participation event for amateur cyclists on a 100-mile route on closed 

roads through London and Surrey); 

 “46” (a mass participation event for newer or younger amateur cyclists on a 46-mile 

route through London and Surrey); and 

 “19” (a mass participation event for newer or younger cyclists and families on a 19-

mile route starting at Sandown Park in Surrey and finishing in London).  

 

2. Other events scheduled to take place in London as part of the same festival include: 

 

 “Classique” (professional women's race in central London); 

 “Freecycle” (a ride for families on traffic free roads in central London); and 

 “Brompton World Championship” (taking place in St James Park) 

 

3. Within Surrey, the usual main event route (upon which the “Classic” and “100” take 

place) includes roads within the Boroughs and Districts of Elmbridge, Woking, Guildford 

and Mole Valley. The “46” and “19” events take place on a smaller portion of the main 

event route within the Borough of Elmbridge (and on into London). Consequently, the 

event requires extensive one day road closures from 05:30 to 19:00 across these areas.  

 

Page 758

20



4. In future years, if the event proceeds, it will be delivered wholly on a not-for-profit basis 

by London Marathon Events Limited. All financial surplus from the event would go 

towards allocation of grants to sporting and recreational charities in Surrey and London 

via the London Charitable Marathon Trust.  

 

5. However due to the impact of COVID-19 and the cancellation of the London Marathon 

and PRLS in 2020, the Trust is not currently accepting any grant applications. All costs 

from the event are borne by the organiser. Surrey County Council and other partners do 

not provide any financial support, although officer time is required to review the event 

arrangements and to ensure regulatory and safety standards are met.  

 

6. Next year in 2021, due to the current uncertainty regarding COVID-19, London Marathon 

Events have decided to focus on inspiring cycling in their priority target areas: women, 

families and ensuring accessibility for all on two wheels. Therefore, there will be no 

men’s race, or 100-mile sportive, and instead a 50km sportive/inspiration ride is 

proposed which would go through Surrey for only around four miles. The “Freecycle” 

(focussed on families) and the women’s race (the “Classique”) will also take place in 

central London.  

 

7. The Leader of the Council has indicated to London Marathon Events that the Council will 

support their plan for a smaller event due to the reduced disruption to Surrey, and due to 

the focus on cycling for women, families and accessibility for all which aligns more 

closely with Surrey’s corporate objectives.  

 

8. The County Council will continue to work with the event organisers to try to mitigate any 

negative impacts of the 2021 event. This would include continuing to ensure that 

residents, businesses, service providers, community organisations and places of worship 

are informed of the one-day road closures and alternative arrangements well in advance. 

The county council would also continue to highlight to the event organiser the need for 

polite and professional customer service by the event marshals.  

 

Main Benefits of the Event 

Inspiring More Cycling 

9. As a prestigious national cycle event with tens of thousands of participants and 

spectators, national and international TV coverage, the PRLS has helped to inspire more 

people in Surrey to cycle as a healthy leisure activity and sustainable means of transport. 

This supports Surrey County Council’s Community Vision for Surrey 2030 for “everyone 

to live healthy, active and fulfilling lives, to make good choices about their wellbeing, and 

for journeys across the county to be easier, more predictable and safer”. More cycling as 

an alternative to motorised transport also contributes to the delivery of Surrey’s carbon 

emissions reductions as set out in the Climate Change Strategy.  

Financial Support to Sporting and Recreational Organisations in Surrey 

10. In the past, most of the financial surplus from previous events has been used to provide 

grants to sporting and recreational organisations across London and Surrey via the 

London Marathon Charitable Trust. Historically, there have been community projects that 

have received funding in Surrey each year. The total (since 2013) equates to £4.68 

million to date over a period of seven years (about £650,000 per year on average). 

Projects that have benefitted from funding is available from the London Marathon 

Charitable Trust website: https://www.lmct.org.uk/about/lmct-grants/surrey/index.html 

Page 759

20

https://www.lmct.org.uk/about/lmct-grants/surrey/index.html


 

11. However, it should be noted that the London Marathon Charitable Trust is not currently 

accepting grant applications due to the cancellation of the 2020 London Marathon and 

PRLS. The level of grant funding for community projects in Surrey in future years will 

depend upon the financial stability of the event organiser following the impact of COVID, 

and the level of surplus generated from future events. It will also depend upon the 

number of Surrey organisations submitting bids, and the quality of their bids. Therefore, it 

cannot be assumed that similar amounts of grant funding would be available to 

organisations in Surrey in future years should the event continue in Surrey.   

Other Benefits 

12. As a result of rider sponsorship and charitable bonds, the PRLS has generated a total of 

£77 million for national charities such as The Alzheimer’s Society and Diabetes UK, 

whose work across the country will include support for well-being objectives for Surrey 

residents. Participants in the 2019 Prudential RideLondon events raised £11.5 million for 

these charities.  

 

13. The national and international coverage of the event on television and other media helps 

to promote Surrey as a tourist and leisure destination at no cost to Surrey County 

Council. In addition, part of the annual budget for organising the event is spent on goods 

and services from companies who are based in Surrey for their assistance with the 

event. This supports Surrey County Council’s Community Vision for Surrey 2030 for 

“businesses to thrive”.  

 

Negative Impacts of the Event  

14. Balanced against these positive impacts are some significant negative local impacts.  

The extensive one-day road closures (from 05:30 to 19:00) can result in significant 

temporary inconvenience to businesses, services, community facilities, places of worship 

and residents located near, or within the boundary of, the loop of closed roads. Although 

event planning seeks to mitigate the impact of these road closures by providing 

alternative routes, there remains an impact for affected communities, essential care 

providers and emergency services.  

 

15. In addition, residents in affected areas have highlighted that despite the provision of 

crossing points and marshals to try to mitigate this disruption for residents, there often 

are not enough cross points for pedestrians and some of the on-street marshals who are 

responsible for supervising the pedestrian crossing points and closing and opening the 

roads have historically been unsympathetic to residents.  

 

16. Further, there are reports from residents of anti-social behaviour from some cyclists on 

the event and in the run up to the event, with an increased volume of sports cyclists on 

the road throughout Surrey, particularly those that are training on the route prior to the 

event.   Whilst this behaviour is absolutely not true of all taking part in the event, it can be 

disruptive to affected communities.  For example, there are reports of litter being left in 

and around the route with food and nutrition packaging and participating cyclists 

displaying antisocial behaviour in public.  

 

17. Finally, although the event may help to inspire people to cycle more, the nature of the 

event tends to attract sports cycling enthusiasts, rather than inspiring people who do not 

yet cycle, or cycle only occasionally, to cycle more frequently for everyday journeys.  

Page 760

20



 

Improving the deal for Surrey 

18. Responding to views expressed by residents about the need to review the event in 

Surrey, the Council undertook a consultation to gather views and feedback on whether 

the county should continue to be included in the event.  The full details of the results are 

set out in the Consultation section below and in Annex 1 to this report. The consultation 

highlighted that although there was a small majority of residents that supported 

continuing the event, a significant minority were in favour of discontinuing the event.  It 

was clear from the results that there needed to be more work done to try to improve the 

outcomes from the event for Surrey residents to address the concerns that were raised 

by affected residents in the consultation. 

 

19. With the consultation closing in February, a decision on the future of the event was 

therefore delayed by the Leader and the Cabinet Member for Community Safety, Fire 

and Resilience who sought to negotiate with London Marathon Events to explore ways to 

improve the outcomes for Surrey’s residents as part of any agreement for the larger, 

100-mile event to proceed in Surrey in future years beyond 2021. As part of these 

discussions London Marathon Events indicated that they were working on a strategic 

plan for “every primary school leaver in Surrey to have been taught to ride a bike”, 

though no detailed plans were explained or tabled. Surrey County Council already 

provides cycle training to about 5,000 to 6,000 primary school children in three year-

groups (Pedals, “Bikeability” Level 1 and Level 2), a total of about 16,000 primary school 

children each year. This is about half of the total population of each of these year groups 

in Surrey’s schools.  

 

20. Therefore, London Marathon Events were asked if they could make a financial 

contribution to allow the County Council to expand its existing school cycle training 

programme, as this would be a great way for them to directly support safer cycling for 

thousands of families across Surrey every year and meet their own aspirations. 

Unfortunately, London Marathon Events were not able make a commitment to support 

this aim and advised that this would not be compatible with their criteria and rules for 

grants awarded by the London Marathon Charitable Trust.  

Summary 

21. Without a better deal from the event for Surrey residents, the negative impacts and the 

strong views of a significant number of affected residents has led to a conclusion that the 

100-mile event should no longer be continued, but that the County should focus on 

attracting smaller such events that more effectively align with the Community Vision and 

the Council’s objectives for cycling.    This includes events such as the smaller event 

which London Marathon Events are preparing for 2021. 

 

22. Such events would see more limited disruption to the areas affected and would be 

focused more on family and young people, as well as encouraging amateur and beginner 

cyclists to cycle more.  Obviously, at the current time in view of the COVID pandemic 

and the restrictions on mass participation events, it is understood that such events are 

not possible in the immediate future, but it is recommended that the Council pursue such 

event opportunities from next year and beyond.   

 

 

Page 761

20



CONSULTATION: 

23. A survey was disseminated to Surrey residents on 31 December 2019 to obtain their 

views on the Prudential Ride London Surrey event. The survey was hosted online on 

“Surrey Says” for six weeks, closing on 16 February 2020. It was advertised on various 

social media channels and resulted in a total of 9,064 responses, which is a very high 

response rate compared to other county council consultations. An important caveat is 

that the survey respondents were self-selecting rather than a representative sample of 

Surrey residents. A summary of the results is provided at Annex 1, and the key findings 

are summarised below.  

 

24. The impact of PRLS evoked polarised responses. 53% of respondents who were Surrey 

residents strongly agree or tend to agree that they would support the continuation of the 

event for the next five years. When non-Surrey residents are included the level of 

support rises to 58%. 

 

25. Of those who were Surrey residents, 58% strongly agreed that they have been impacted 

by the road closures created by PRLS. Despite this, 54% of residents (and 59% of all 

respondents) still strongly agreed or tended to agree that the benefits of PRLS 

outweighed the disruption caused.  

 

26. However, there was strong opposition to continuing the event: 41% of respondents who 

were Surrey residents strongly disagreed that the council should continue to host PRLS 

events with a similar route over the next five years and 35% of respondents who were 

Surrey residents strongly disagreeing that the benefits of PRLS events outweigh the 

impact and disruption.  

 

27. Some of the key arguments that were cited in favour of the event were the increase in 

tourism, the promotion of exercise, and the increase in business as a result of PRLS, all 

having a positive indirect impact on Surrey’s economy and wellbeing. Respondents also 

noted the positive benefits of the additional funding raised for Surrey-based charities.  

 

28. However, concerns were expressed over the safety and restrictions of roads, the impact 

this has on emergency services, and the antisocial behaviour of both spectators and 

cyclists, including increased littering. Many respondents also noted the long-term 

impacts of an increased number of cyclists using the route for practice or leisure all year 

round. 

 

29. The improvements mentioned most frequently were: 

 

 Altering/updating the route and introduce new safety procedures (26%) 

 Stopping the event for good due to inconveniences for locals (13%) 

 Considering specific charities/charity pathways for funding (9%) 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

30. Should the event continue in Surrey, the event organiser will oversee the operational and 

strategic risks relating to the event.  

 

 

Page 762

20



FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

31. The Prudential RideLondon-Surrey has been established as Surrey’s Olympic legacy 

event. The County Council and partners will support event planning with officer time to 

review plans and arrangements put in place by the event organiser. All costs except for 

officer time are borne by the event organiser. 

 

32. The event is designed as a “not for profit” enterprise with the aim of offering the 

opportunity to generate income for charities. Since the start of the event £4.68 million 

has been given to Surrey sporting and recreational organisations by the London 

Marathon Trust. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

33. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve the 

Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The public 

health crisis has resulted in increased costs which are not fully funded in the current 

year. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on the extent to 

which both central and local funding sources might be affected from next year onward, 

our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be constrained, as 

they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council 

to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure 

stable provision of services in the medium term. Should this event continue in Surrey the 

event organisers will pay for all costs in relation to the event, for example road closures 

and traffic diversions. The only exception is the need for county council officer time to 

review plans and arrangements put in place by the event organiser, which will be 

managed within existing budget envelopes. As such, the Section 151 Officer supports 

the proposal approach. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

34. The general power of competence contained in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 
enables the Council to do anything which an individual may do. Such power includes the 
ability to promote and support sporting events in the county and across its borders and to 
allocate officer time to this. 
 

35. The Council has the power to make “Special Events Orders” under sections 16A and 
16B of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and in past years Prudential Ride London 
Surrey in Surrey has been authorised under this legislation. Such orders can only be 
made if it is not reasonably practicable for a relevant road other than on a road. 

 

36. Any decision made by Cabinet must be made subject to the County’s public sector 
equality duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. There is a requirement 
when deciding upon the recommendations to have due regard to the need to advance 
equality of opportunity for people with protected characteristics, foster good relations 
between such groups and eliminate any unlawful discrimination. These matters are 
addressed in the following Equalities and Diversity paragraphs of this report. 

 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

37. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out as part of the development of the 

Surrey Cycling Strategy. The Assessment included consideration of the impact of major 

events on equalities groups. Should the event continue in Surrey, the Event organiser 

Page 763

20



will undertake an Equalities Impact Assessment of the event as part of their commitment 

to the event delivery. 

 

SAFEGUARDING RESPONSIBILITIES FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS 

IMPLICATIONS 

38. If the event continues in Surrey, road closures could have access implications for 

vulnerable groups and their carers. Should the event continue in Surrey, the event 

organisers will continue to review any reported access issues and will put in place 

emergency and critical service access arrangements. As in previous years, there will 

also be extensive engagement and communication with local residents about the road 

closures and access arrangements. 

 

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

39. The Surrey Health and Wellbeing Strategy highlights physical activity as an important 

factor in tackling ill health. Therefore, if cycling event inspires more cycling by more 

people this will contribute to better health and well-being. More cycling as an alternative 

to using petrol and diesel vehicles will reduce local air pollution.  

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

40. Officers will begin work with London Marathon Events on preparing for the shorter 

sportive/inspiration ride event scheduled for May 2021 (which will include around 4 miles 

of Surrey’s roads), with the aim of maximising the benefits to Surrey and mitigating any 

potential negative impacts.  

 

41. If Members agree to the recommendations in the report, officers will also start to explore 

the opportunity for smaller cycling events focused on the Community Vision 2030 

objectives. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact Officer:  

 

Duncan Knox, Road Safety and Active Travel Team Manager 

 

Contact Number: 020 8541 7443 

 

Consulted:  

 

The decision to continue hosting the event was subject to public consultation as described 

within the report.  

 

Annex: 

 

Annex 1: Public Consultation Results 

 

Sources/background papers: 

 

Minutes of Surrey County Council Cabinet Meeting 29 May 2018 

 

Page 764

20



ANNEX 1: Responses from Public Consultation 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 9 

2. Context and Considerations ........................................................................................................... 9 

3. Demographics of Respondents .................................................................................................... 10 

4. Key Findings .................................................................................................................................. 12 

5. Key Arguments .............................................................................................................................. 13 

6. Suggestions for Improvements .................................................................................................... 14 

7.  Conclusions and Next Steps ........................................................................................................ 15 

 

1. Introduction 

 
On 31/12/19 a survey was sent out to Surrey Residents to obtain their views on the Prudential 

RideLondon Surrey, a legacy event of the 2012 Olympic Games.  Prudential RideLondon Surrey (PRLS) 

attracts thousands of participants and is held on closed roads in and around Surrey for one day of the 

year. The aim of the survey was threefold: 

1. To calculate overall support for PRLS 

2. To understand the impact of the event on residents and local businesses 

3. To quantify support and opposition for the event.   

These findings, and other influencing factors will be used by Cabinet to review the positive and 

negative impacts of such an event and determine if this commitment should continue beyond 2021.  

 

2. Context and Considerations 

 
The survey was in field for six weeks and closed on 16/2/20. It was hosted on Surrey County Council’s 

survey platform Surrey Says and was pushed out and promoted on various social media channels. To 

mitigate against digital exclusion, paper copies were also made available in Libraries. In total, we 

received 9064 responses - an extremely high response rate.   

Although the response rate was strong, the aim of the survey was to gauge opinions (as discussed in 

para 1) and support this with qualitative and quantitative data, which we recognised would be difficult 

to achieve. As a result, we conducted a post survey review about the ways in which we conducted the 

survey and what lessons we could learn should we need to design a survey like this in the future. The 

output of the review has highlighted some important considerations to bear in mind: 

o While the demographics of respondents were generally reflective of Surrey as a county, the 

survey was self-selecting, and the data was not weighted. Therefore, it is not guaranteed to be 

a full representation of Surrey residents views. Despite this part 3 (below) shows that the results 

appear to be from an engaged sample of people with a vested interest in Surrey.  

o Some respondents may construe the survey questions as leading. For example, all questions 

predated by a statement to which the respondent had to agree or disagree were positively 

phrased.  

o Some respondents may have felt forced into answering questions because some questions did 

not include the option of N/A or ‘prefer not to answer’. 

Page 765

20

file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833538
file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833539
file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833540
file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833541
file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833542
file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833543
file:///S:/CORE/Road%20Safety%20Team/Cycling%20Strategy/PRLS%202020/Ride%20London%20-%20Topline%20Survey%20Analysis%20(Final)%20(002).docx%23_Toc48833544


o The three open ended questions in the survey were not distinctly phrased enough to provide 

drastically different answers.  

o Only 1.46% of respondents were aged 18-24. More research into this demographic may need to 

be conducted to understand if responses drastically differ for this age group.    

As such, the results should be treated as indicative rather than full fact. Notwithstanding, what appears 

clear is there were strong views both to support or oppose the PRLS events.  

The following summary report outlines the findings of the survey. A full breakdown of the raw data is 

available upon request, but on its own can be misconstrued.  

3. Demographics of Respondents  

 
Respondents were spread relatively evenly with 42% being women and 54% being men (4% preferred 

not to say). Nearly half of respondents were aged 45-64 which is reflective of the known Surrey age 

demographics. This is reflected in the employment status of respondents with around 80% of 

respondents being in employment and 20.8% being retired. 

As previously mentioned, additional research would need to be conducted into respondents aged 

between 18-24 (1.46% of total respondents), a known low response age group. 

 

 

 

0.22% 1.46%

25.18%

48.16%

15.06%

4.15% 5.77%

0%

50%

100%

Under 18 18-24 25-44 45-64 65-75 Over 75 Prefer not to
say

Age of Respondents

49.21%

20.78%

11.71%

9.82%

3.07%

2.24%

1.45%

1.08%

0.61%

0.04%

0% 50% 100%

Full-time employment

Self-employed (full-time or part-time)

Retired

Part-time employment

Homemaker

Voluntary employment

Not employed

In full/part -time education (school, college or…

Not required to work due to a disability or illness

Not Answered

Employment Status

Page 766

20



 

The vast majority (86.23%) of responses were received from Surrey residents and roughly half (49.55%) 

of responses were from those who work in Surrey. This could suggest an engaged sample with a vested 

interest in Surrey.  

           

Only around a quarter of respondents had participated in previous PRLS events, however, roughly two 

thirds had either watched on TV or gone to watch events in person. This suggests respondents have 

high levels of engagement with the event.  

  

             

  

50.40%49.55%

0.04%

Place of work

Does not work in Surrey Works in Surrey

Not Answered

13.73%

86.23%

0.04%

Resident Status

Not Surrey Resident Surrey Resident

Not Answered

73.74%

26.24%

0.02%

Participation Status

I have not participated

I have participated

Not Answered

21.23%

78.74%

0.03%

Spectator Engagement

I have not watched

I have watched on t.v. or in person

Not answered

Page 767

20



4. Key Findings 

Support  

58.38% of all respondents strongly agree or tend to agree that Surrey should continue to host PRLS. 

Respondents who were Surrey residents offered slightly less support with 53.47% (-4.91% compared 

to the full sample) agreeing that they would support the continuation of the event for the next five 

years. 

 

 

Impact 

Just over half of all respondents and 58.25% of Surrey residents strongly agree that they have been 

impacted by the road closures created by PRLS.  Despite this, 59.33% of all respondents and 54.35% of 

residents (-4.98% compared to the total sample) still strongly agreed or tended to agree that the 

benefits of PRLS outweighed the disruption caused, a small but significant majority.  

  

 

54.20%

4.18% 1.32% 3.86%

36.21%

0.24%

48.98%

4.49% 1.54% 4.25%

40.74%

0.0%
0%

50%

100%

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree or
disagree

Tend to disagree Strongly disagree Not Answered

'I would support the decision of Surrey County Council continuing to host Prudential 
RideLondon-Surrey events over a similar route for the next five years'.

All Respondents Surrey Residents

53.48%

16.41%
8.45% 6.45%

15.00%

0.21%

58.25%

16.38%

7.27% 5.95%
12.16%

0.00%
0%

50%

100%

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree or
disagree

Tend to disagree Strongly disagree Not Answered

I have been directly impacted by the road closures for Prudential RideLondon-Surrey 
cycling.

All Respondents Surrey Residents

Page 768

20



  

5. Key Arguments  

 
Key Arguments Against PRLS  
 
A range of polarised views have been expressed by residents and business owners in Surrey. Major 
concerns are the safety and restrictions of roads, the impact this has on emergency services, and the 
antisocial behaviour of both spectators and cyclists, which results in increased littering. Many 
respondents also noted the long-term impacts of PRLS due to several cyclists using the route for 
practice or leisure all year round. 
 
A) Safety concerns 
 

       
 
B) Antisocial behaviour and littering  
 

       
 
Key Arguments in Favour of PRLS  

53.99%

5.34% 2.64%
6.70%

31.21%

0.12%

48.77%

5.58% 3.05%
7.54%

35.07%

0%
0%

50%

100%

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree or
disagree

Tend to disagree Strongly disagree Not Answered

'I think the benefits of Prudential RideLondon-Surrey events outweigh the impact and 
disruption'

All Respondents Surrey Residents

“I witnessed six accidents and 

a tree falling on someone! I 

would only support future 

events if numbers of 

participants reduced”  

““Elderly people feel 

insecure as their carers’ are 

unable to come when 

needed” 

 

“Surrey's priority is to deliver 

a SAFE public transport 

service, closing roads and 

creating diversions is not safe 

and limits emergency 

services” 

A number of cyclists behave 

offensively and have been 

observed displaying anti-

social behaviour in people’s 

gardens. 

“I have witnessed litter of 

food wrappers thrown away 

along with squeezy high 

protein food supplements 

containers etc.” 

“There are groups shouting 

abuse at anyone in their way 

who might slow them down. 

This now happens all year round 

as the route is used to practice” 

Page 769

20



The benefits of PRLS for both Surrey and its residents were also emphasised. Respondents highlighted 

the increase in tourism, the promotion of exercise, and the increase in business as a result of PRLS, all 

having a knock-on positive impact on Surrey’s economy and wellbeing.  Respondents also noted the 

positive benefits of the additional funding raised for Surrey based Charities through PRLS.  

 
A) Increase in tourism and business 

           

B) Promotion of health and wellbeing   

 

          
 

6. Suggestions for Improvements  

 
Respondents were then asked about how they felt PRLS could be improved in the future. The most 

commonly mentioned improvements suggested for PRLS were: 

A. Altering and/or updating the route and introduce new safety procedures (25.89%) 

           

B. Stopping or moving the event for good due to inconveniences for locals (12.58%) 

   

 
C. Considering local charities/charity pathways for funding (9.14%) 

“It's a great event to 

showcase Surrey as a 

fabulous cycling destination, 

and it must pull in a surge in 

tourism-related business” 

“It brings in tourism, 

prestige and above all 

funding to Surrey. I've seen 

first-hand how funding has 

benefitted Surrey charities” 

“The event is a good way to 

promote Surrey not just in 

the cycling community but 

for interest and tourism with 

the associated benefits to 

the local economy” 

“As an NHS consultant it’s 

clear the event has a long-

term effect on the fitness, 

general health and 

psychological wellbeing of all 

that take part” 

Cycle owners benefit the 

whole population by keeping 

healthy and not causing 

noise, pollution or serious 

traffic jams when they 

travel” 

“It allows cyclists just once a 

year to cycle in an 

environment that is free 

from traffic, safe to ride and 

free from pollution” 

“To make sure riders of 

similar ability ride together. 

This will make it safer and 

less likely there will be 

crashes” 

“Make the maps of the route 

online work better with 

phones rather than laptop, 

so it's easier to plan driving 

routes to avoid the closed 

roads more easily” 

“It might be worth deviating 

the route as there are many 

super cycling roads 

throughout the county.” 

“Stop the event, costs a huge 

amount to businesses.  

Residents can't get out, 

poorly organised.  No longer 

brings community spirit just 

complaints” 

“Please stop coming to 

Surrey. Contestants flock to 

Surrey for months before 

and after the event to 

practice for the event and 

cause chaos on our roads” 

“Move the event annually to 

the other counties around 

London”  

Page 770

20



           

   

 

 

7.  Conclusions and Next Steps 

 
Overall, the findings lean towards supporting the continuation of PRLS for the next 5 years, with 
58.38% of all respondents and 53.47% of Surrey Residents agreeing that Surrey should continue to 
host PRLS.  
 
However, this margin is relatively small and there have been many lessons identified for Surveys like 
these in the future. If the decision is taken to continue PRLS, it is recommended that further 
consideration of the following recommendations takes place:  Key areas of focus for this should be; 
 

o Addressing widespread safety concerns  
o Assessing the route and considering widespread requests for the route to be altered year on 

year 
o Addressing health and social care concerns  
o Analysing the current funding structure and understanding if there is more appropriate 

distribution required.  
 

6.77% 8.86% 9.14% 12.58%

25.89%

0%

50%

100%

Greater promotion
of the event and
who is benifitting

locally

No changes, it is
loved as it is.

Considering local
charities/charity

pathways for
funding

Stopping or moving
the event for good

due to
inconveniences for

locals

Altering/updating
the route and
introduce new

safety procedures

Top 5 Areas for improvement

“There could be more 

publicity for the local 

charities in Surrey in the 

promotional material so that 

cyclists are encouraged to 

raise funds for them.” 

“I think it would be helpful to 

have a choice or charity 

suggestion on the entry 

forms as this would make 

participants more aware that 

they can propose one.” 

 

“Have charitable funds 

located for the areas most 

affected by the event”  

 

Page 771

20



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

   
 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 27 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF: MR MEL FEW, CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES  

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

LEIGH WHITEHOUSE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR RESOURCES (S151 
OFFICER) 

SUBJECT: 2020/21 MONTH 5 (AUGUST) FINANCIAL REPORT 

  

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

This report provides details of the County Council’s 2020/21 financial position as at 31st August 2020 

(M5) for revenue and capital budgets and the projected outlook for the financial year.   

Key Messages – Revenue 

 As at August 2020 (M5) the Council is forecasting a deficit of £9.0m, against a budget of 

£1,019.7m; an improvement of £0.1m from M4. The details are shown in Annex 1 and 

summarised in Table 1. 

 There remains significant uncertainty in the forecast particularly due to the impact of COVID-19 

in Children, Families and Lifelong Learning. This element will be kept under close review going 

forward.  

 Further Government funding is expected to compensate local authorities for lost income in other 
revenue, fees and charges incurred due to COVID-19. On 30th September Surrey County 
Council submitted a claim for £4.6m which, subject to audit, will represent the first tranche of this 
funding. This is not reflected in the year-to-date forecast.  
 

 Work continues to identify further efficiencies to close the deficit against the budget. The current 
year budget will be reset at the end of September (M6) to reflect the latest assessment of the 
impact of COVID-19 on the County’s finances. 

 

Key Messages - Capital 

o The Council approved a capital budget for 2020/21 of £175.7m in February 2020 restated to 

£230.1m, as reported previously, to reflect the acquisition and associated costs of the Woodhatch 

site in Reigate.   

o The M5 capital update reflects a reduction in the forecast of £0.9m from M4. The updated 

forecast for the year projects total spend of £221.4m, details of which are set out in Table 4. 

o Along with revenue, the budget will be reset to provide a revised baseline for M6 against which to 

forecast for the remaining months of the current financial year. 

Page 773

21

Item 21



   
 

   
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The Cabinet is asked to: 

1. note the Council’s forecast revenue and capital budget positions for the year;  

2. approve the establishment of an Early Years recovery fund to support providers’ financial 

sustainability, included within the current forecast (para 5-8); 

3. approve the reset to the 2020/21 capital budget including accelerated delivery of £6m of 

Highways Maintenance  (para 11). 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

This report is to comply with the agreed policy of providing a monthly budget monitoring 

report to Cabinet for approval of any necessary actions. 

Revenue Budget 

 

1. As stated, the current forecast for the year is a deficit of £9.0m against the budget of £1,019.7m. 

Table 1 below shows the forecast revenue position by Directorate. 

Table 1 - Summary revenue budget forecast variances as at 31 August 2020 

 

 
Note: Numbers have been rounded which might cause a difference. The table reflects the interim 

organisational structure 

Directorate

20/21 

outturn 

forecast at 

M5

Annual 

Budget

Forecast 

Variance

Change in 

forecast 

since M4

£m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care 385.1 385.2 (0.1) 0.0

Public Health 31.1 31.1 0.0 (0.3)

Children, Families & Lifelong Learning 206.7 194.5 12.1 4.8

Environment, Transport & Infrastructure 135.1 131.9 3.1 0.0

Community Protection 37.5 36.6 0.9 0.0

Community & Transformation 14.9 15.5 (0.5) (0.0)

Strategy & Commissioning 54.6 55.6 (1.0) 0.0

HR & Communications 8.5 8.4 0.0 0.1

Deputy CEX 2.3 2.3 0.0 0.0

Resources 76.0 75.5 0.6 (0.0)

Central Income & Expenditure 81.5 83.5 (2.0) 0.0

Directorate Budget Envelopes 1,033.2 1,020.1 13.2 4.6

Efficiencies unachievable due to CV-19 1.7 (0.4) 2.0 (1.9)

Amount already assumed in Directorate figures above (1.4) 0.0 (1.4) 2.1

Overall before central funding 1,033.4 1,019.7 13.7 4.9

Central Funding (1,024.4) (1,019.7) (4.7) (4.7)

Overall after central funding 9.0 0.0 9.0 0.1

Page 774

21



   
 

   
 

2. The main drivers of the deficit of £9.0m are £17.3m in additional costs offset by underspends 

and other efficiencies of £8.3m as set out below: 

Additional costs of £17.3m: 

 £12.1m - Children, Families and Lifelong Learning (CFL) - £12.9m increased 

corporate parenting and SEND caseload; increasing placement costs and £1.5m for 

staffing in Corporate Parenting and Family Resilience due to agency staff covering 

permanent roles.  

The overspend is partly offset by £1.9m additional asylum seeker grant income.  

Included in the CFL position is a £6.7m variance in the contribution to the reserve to 

offset the overspend on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs Block (HNB), 

which is projected to be £30.7m against a budget of £24m. The variance is due to 

increased placement costs and support packages which had previously been 

highlighted as a risk.  The start of the new school year has clarified the current position 

in terms of transfers and work is ongoing to mitigate and reduce this overspend.   

 £3.1m  - Environment, Transport and Infrastructure – mainly due to higher waste 

disposal and recycling costs; and increased waste volumes. 

 £0.9m - Community Protection Group -  Coroner’s service of £0.7m including the 

cost of managing a backlog of cases; and increased COVID-19 costs of £0.2m.  

 £0.6m - Resources, increased loss of income of £0.4m relating to COVID-19; and an 

increase in the Orbis Joint Operating Budget of £0.1m. 

  £0.6m net forecast for the non-delivery of the efficiencies as a result of COVID-

19  

Offset by £8.3m of underspends and efficiencies 

 £0.1m Adult Social Care - £5.7m underspend on current commitments across the 

whole service budget mainly as a result of the reduction in care package volumes as a 

result of COVID-19. This is offset by an expected £5.6m increase in Older People care 

package expenditure for the remainder of the year due to the estimated cost of care 

packages following hospital discharge transferring back to ASC from temporary 

COVID-19 funding  

 £0.5m Community & Transformation (C&T) consists of £0.1m underspend on the 

Customer Relation team and Web Ops team staffing; and £0.4m reduced library 

expenditure due to temporary closures  

 £1.0m Strategy & Commissioning (S&C) – £2.0m non achievement of the joint 

placement reviews with health efficiency offset by Home to School Transport savings 

 £2.0m Central Income & Expenditure – a recent actuarial review and changing the 

payment profile has reduced secondary employer’s pension contributions. 

 £4.7m Central Funding - latest estimates of grant funding exceed budget  

Page 775

21



   
 

   
 

COVID-19 Update 

 

3. At M5, the net COVID-19 forecast deficit is £5.7m against the 2020/21 budget baseline of 

£50.6m.  The COVID-19 deficit is included in the Directorate positions shown in Table 1 and 

paragraph 2.  The net deficit of £5.7m consists of: 

 Total costs, lost income and unachievable efficiency savings of £81.9m 

 Funded through: 

 £53.4m of general Government COVID-19 funding (of which £0.9m used in 

2019/20 and £1.9m held in reserve) leaving £50.6m in the 2020/21 budget 

 £25.5m of specific Government COVID-19 relating to Infection Control, Test 

and Trace funding and grants for active travel and bus services. 

4. COVID-19 costs, income loss and unachievable efficiencies will continue to be monitored and 

budgets reset based on the position at M6. 

 

Financial Support for Early Years providers 

5. As part of the Council’s response to COVID-19 a fund of £1.8m was established from the COVID-

19 funding allocation to support Early Years providers whose financial sustainability is at risk as a 

result of the current situation. 

6. The initial hardship support response identified that a high number of Early Years providers were 

concerned around their longer-term financial sustainability due to the summer term income loss. 

This fund will be allocated through a targeted approach based on data such as areas of 

deprivation, access to other community provision and support of critical services. 

7. The indicative amount of £1.8m is based on an assumption that c25% of SCC providers would 

require some level of support of between £5,000 and £15,000. 

8. Whilst Early Years funding is received from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), this fund is to be 
paid for through the COVID-19 grant as it is a direct response to the COVID-19 crisis.   

 

Capital Budget 

9. In February 2020, Council approved a capital budget of £175.7m. This was restated to £230.1m 

at M4 to reflect the purchase of and other costs relating to the Woodhatch site in Reigate.  

Table 4, below, provides a summary of the forecast full-year outturn at M5; Against the revised 

budget, forecast capital spend is £221.4m. Net slippage of £8.8m represents increased 

slippage of £0.9m from £7.9m at M4. 

 

 

Page 776

21



   
 

   
 

Table 4 - Capital Programme Forecast at M5 

   

10. The increased slippage primarily relates to a rephasing of planned spend on Local Enterprise 

Partnerships (LEPS) schemes (£0.7m).  The Property forecast has reduced by £0.2m due to 

offsetting changes on a number of schemes including rephasing of schools maintenance (£1.6m 

slippage) and corporate maintenance (£1.6m acceleration). 

 
11. Capital Programme estimates have been refined over recent months as our understanding of the 

impact of COVID-19 evolves. It is proposed that the M5 forecast is used as a baseline to reset 

the capital programme for 2020/21 to provide a stable and deliverable budget for the remainder of 

the year.  The Infrastructure Strategic Capital Group have identified an opportunity to accelerate 

£6m of highways maintenance work to mitigate the slippage identified at M5 which will be 

incorporated into the budget for M6.  The budget for M6 would stand at £227.4m (comprising the 

£221.4m forecast in table 4 and £6m of accelerated maintenance work in highways).  

 

CONSULTATION: 

12. Executive Directors and Cabinet Members have confirmed the forecast outturns for their 
revenue and capital budgets. 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

13. Risk implications are stated throughout the report and each relevant director or head of service 

has updated their strategic and or service risk registers accordingly. In addition, the Leadership 

Risk Register continues to reflect the increasing uncertainty of future funding likely to be allocated 

to the Council and the sustainability of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. In the light of the 

Page 777

21



   
 

   
 

financial risks faced by the Council, the Leadership Risk Register will be reviewed to increase 

confidence in Directorate plans to mitigate the risks and issues. 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS: 

14. The report considers financial and value for money implications throughout and future budget 

monitoring reports will continue this focus.  

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY: 

15. The Council has a duty to ensure its expenditure does not exceed resources available. Although 

significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve the Council’s financial 

position, the medium-term financial outlook is uncertain. The public health crisis has resulted in 

increased costs which are not fully funded in the current year. With uncertainty about the ongoing 

impact of this and no clarity on the extent to which both central and local funding sources might 

be affected from next year onward, our working assumption is that financial resources will 

continue to be constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order 

to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term. Within this context the Council will 

continue to develop and implement plans to ensure the delivery of services are contained within 

resources. 

16. The Section 151 Officer confirms the financial information presented in this report is consistent 

with the Council’s general accounting ledger and that forecasts have been based on reasonable 

assumptions, taking into account all material, financial and business issues and risks. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER: 

17. The Council is under a duty to set a balanced and sustainable budget. The Local Government 

Finance Act requires the Council to take steps to ensure that the Council’s expenditure (that is 

expenditure incurred already in year and anticipated to be incurred) does not exceed the 

resources available whilst continuing to meet its statutory duties.  

18. Cabinet should be aware that if the Section 151 Officer, at any time, is not satisfied that 

appropriate strategies and controls are in place to manage expenditure within the in-year budget 

they must formally draw this to the attention of the Cabinet and Council and they must take 

immediate steps to ensure a balanced in-year budget, whilst complying with its statutory and 

common law duties. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY: 

19. Any impacts of the budget monitoring actions will be evaluated by the individual services as they 

implement the management actions necessary In implementing individual management actions, 

the Council must comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty in section 149 of the Equality Act 

2010 which requires it to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, 

victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; advance equality of 

opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 

not share it; and foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Page 778

21



   
 

   
 

20. Services will continue to monitor the impact of these actions and will take appropriate action to 

mitigate additional negative impacts that may emerge as part of this ongoing analysis. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

21. The relevant adjustments from the recommendations will be made to the Council’s accounts. 

 

 
Contact Officer: 
Leigh Whitehouse, Executive Director of Resources 
020 8541 7246  
 
Consulted: 
Cabinet 
Executive Directors 
Heads of Service 
 
Annex: 
Annex 1 – Forecast revenue budget as at 31 August 2020.  
  

Page 779

21



   
 

   
 

Annex 1 

Detailed Revenue Budget by Service – 31 August 2020 

 

Service Cabinet Member

Prior year to 

date actual 

£m

Year to 

date 

Budget 

£m 

Year to 

date 

Actual 

£m 

Year to 

date 

variance

£m

Full Year 

Gross 

budget

£m

Full year 

net  budget

 £m

Full Year net 

forecast 

£m

Full year 

net 

forecast 

variance 

£m

Delegated Schools J Iles 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 294.7 0.0 0.0 (0.0)

Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture J Iles 20.3 34.4 32.2 (2.2) 214.3 50.2 56.4 6.3

Family Resilience M Lewis 36.9 38.2 36.4 (1.8) 103.5 89.7 92.3 2.6

Corporate Parenting M Lewis 20.0 18.7 16.4 (2.3) 44.8 40.5 41.7 1.2

Quality & Performance M Lewis / J Iles 3.3 3.5 3.4 (0.2) 10.5 8.5 8.4 (0.2)

Directorate wide savings M Lewis / J Iles 0.1 0.2 2.3 2.1 4.9 5.7 8.0 2.2

Children, Families, Learning 80.6 95.1 90.7 (4.3) 672.6 194.5 206.6 12.1

Public Health S Mooney 12.4 11.9 8.3 (3.6) 31.1 31.1 31.1 0.0

Adult Social Care S Mooney 150.7 165.6 164.4 (1.2) 533.3 385.2 385.1 (0.1)

Highways & Transport M Furniss 22.2 21.6 20.6 (1.0) 69.2 58.5 58.5 0.0

Environment N Bramhall 22.8 29.5 31.0 1.4 75.2 71.3 74.2 2.8

Leadership Team (ETI) M Furniss /N Bramhall 0.4 (0.0) 0.2 0.2 (0.1) (0.1) (1.1) (1.0)

ETI CV-19 M Furniss /N Bramhall 0.0 1.8 0.9 (0.9) 4.2 2.2 3.5 1.3

Environment, Transport & Infrastructure 45.4 52.8 52.6 (0.2) 148.6 131.9 135.1 3.1

Fire and Rescue D Turner-Stewart 13.4 13.2 13.5 0.3 36.4 31.7 31.7 (0.0)

Trading Standards D Turner-Stewart 0.7 0.8 0.7 (0.1) 4.0 1.9 1.9 (0.0)

Chief of Staff D Turner-Stewart 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Emergency Management D Turner-Stewart 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.0

Coroner D Turner-Stewart 1.0 0.6 1.1 0.5 2.5 2.1 2.8 0.7

Health & Safety D Turner-Stewart 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 (0.0)

CP CV-19 D Turner-Stewart 0.0 0.1 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.2

Armed Forces and Resilience D Turner-Stewart 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0

Community Protection 15.2 15.0 16.0 1.0 43.8 36.6 37.5 0.9

Human Resources & Organisational 

Development

Z Grant-Duff

1.2 2.7 2.2 (0.5) 6.6 6.6 6.6 0.0

Communications Z Grant-Duff 0.5 0.6 0.6 (0.0) 1.4 1.4 1.5 0.0

HR & Comm CV-19 Z Grant-Duff 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0

HR & Communications 1.8 3.3 2.9 (0.4) 8.4 8.4 8.5 0.0

Transformation Support Unit T Oliver 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.8 0.8 0.8 (0.0)

Customer Services Z Grant-Duff 1.2 1.2 1.1 (0.1) 3.1 2.9 2.8 (0.1)

Community Partnerships Z Grant-Duff 0.5 0.4 0.4 (0.1) 1.3 1.3 1.3 0.0

Libraries, Registrars & Culture J Iles 1.7 5.7 5.0 (0.7) 16.5 10.2 9.8 (0.4)

C&T CV-19 T Oliver / J Iles 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0

Community & Transformation 3.4 7.6 7.1 (0.5) 21.9 15.5 14.9 (0.5)

Strategic Commissioning M Lewis / J Iles 3.6 21.3 15.4 (5.9) 130.5 52.0 51.1 (1.0)

Insight, Analytics & Intelligence Z Grant-Duff 1.0 1.3 1.1 (0.2) 2.8 2.0 1.9 (0.1)

S&C CV-19 J Iles / Z Grant-Duff 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.2 0.6 1.5 1.6 0.1

Strategy & Commissioning 4.6 22.6 17.7 (5.0) 133.9 55.6 54.6 (1.0)

Strategic Leadership T Oliver 0.7 1.6 0.6 (1.1) 2.8 1.5 1.5 0.0

Economic Growth C Kemp 0.2 0.3 0.2 (0.1) 0.8 0.8 0.8 (0.0)

DCEX CV-19 C Kemp 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Deputy CEX 0.9 2.0 0.8 (1.1) 3.6 2.3 2.3 0.0

Joint Operating Budget ORBIS M Few 13.7 7.2 8.4 1.3 17.2 17.6 17.7 0.1

Land & Property M Few 7.2 10.1 11.3 1.2 36.3 27.2 27.2 (0.0)

Information Technology & Digital M Few 3.8 4.5 4.3 (0.2) 11.4 10.7 10.7 (0.0)

Finance M Few 1.1 2.3 2.3 0.0 7.6 5.5 5.6 0.0

Legal Services M Few 1.7 1.7 2.0 0.2 4.6 4.1 4.4 0.3

Democratic Services M Few 1.4 1.3 1.3 0.0 3.5 3.2 3.3 0.0

Business Operations M Few (0.0) (0.1) (0.1) 0.0 (0.3) (0.3) (0.2) 0.1

Resources Leadership M Few 0.0 1.2 0.5 (0.7) 1.3 0.8 0.8 (0.0)

Twelve15 M Few 0.0 4.0 3.8 (0.2) 18.2 3.6 3.4 (0.2)

Resources CV-19 M Few / Z Grant-Duff 0.0 0.7 0.5 (0.3) 7.3 3.0 3.3 0.3

Resources 28.9 32.9 34.3 1.4 106.9 75.5 76.0 0.6

Corporate Expenditure M Few 17.2 31.4 26.2 (5.3) 94.4 83.5 81.5 (2.0)

Business as Usual 361.0 440.3 421.1 (19.2) 1,798.6 1,020.1 1,033.2 13.2

Efficiencies unachievable due to CV-19 (0.4) 1.7 2.0

Amount already assumed in Directorate figures above 0.0 (1.4) (1.4)

Total services' revenue expenditure 361.0 440.3 421.1 (19.2) 1,798.6 1,019.7 1,033.4 13.7

Central funding (353.0) (442.5) (442.5) (0.0) 0.0 (1,019.7) (1,024.4) (4.7)

Total Net revenue expenditure 8.0 (2.2) (21.4) (19.2) 1,798.6 (0.0) 9.0 9.0

Page 780

21



Document is Restricted

Page 781

23

Item 23
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 787

23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 791

23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 795

24

Item 24
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 803

25

Item 25
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 807

25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting: 29 September 2020
	5 Reports from Select Committees , Task Groups, Local Committees and other Committees of the Council
	2. Annex 1 to the Cabinet Report - Report of the NWD Task Group
	Appendix - Survey responses
	Annex 1 – Terms of Reference
	Annex 2 – Public Survey
	Annex 3 – NWD model proposed for Surrey
	Annex 4 - Director - Corporate Parenting combined pdf
	Annex 5 – Supplementary written submission from Dire
	Annex 6 – Written submission from Director – Corpora
	Annex 7 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with D
	Annex 8 – Written submission from Detective Chief Su
	Annex 9 – Written submission from Lou Williams, Serv
	Annex 10 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with
	Annex 11 – Written submission from Mary Lewis, Cabin
	Annex 12 – Written submission from Andrea Brazier
	Annex 13 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with
	Annex 14 – Written submission from Jamie-Leigh Clark
	Annex 15 – Draft Big Survey 2020
	Annex 16 – Minutes of an oral evidence session with
	Annex 17 – Mean and modal Surrey County Council chil
	Annex 18 - out of area county placements
	Annex 19 – Written submission from Lindsey Ellis, Ma
	MHTG Cabinet Report
	Mental Health Task Group report
	Annex 1 - Task Group Scoping Document
	Annex 2 - List of witness sessions conducted by the Mental Health Task Group
	Annex 3 - Mental Health Task Group key lines of enquiry
	Annex 4 - Questionnaire

	6 Leader / Deputy Leader / Cabinet Member/ Strategic Investment Board Decisions Taken Since the Last Cabinet Meeting
	Annex 1- Decisions taken since the last Cabinet

	7 Cabinet Member Update
	8 Covid- 19 Delegated and Urgent Decisions Taken
	9 Organisation Strategy Refresh
	Annex A- Refreshed Organisation Strategy- FINAL
	Annex B- Organisation Strategy - one page summary - FINAL

	10 Delivery of Care Leavers Accommodation, A Library and Family Centre in Caterham Hill
	Annex 1 - ESA

	11 Adult Social Care Home Based Care Recommissioning October 2021
	Annex 1- HBC Options Appraisal May2020

	12 Decision on the Route to Market for Two Extra Care Housing Schemes
	Part 1 Annex 1 - The key principles of Extra Care Housing
	Part 1 Annex 2 - Extra Care Housing Strategy EIA

	13 Caterham on the Hill And Old Coulsdon Flood Alleviation Scheme
	ANNEX 1- Caterham-on-the-Hill OBC

	14 Surrey County Council Resilience Planning for Winter 2020/21
	15 Surrey Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2019-2020
	Annex 1- SAB Annual Report 2019-20

	16 Surrey Waste Local Plan: Adoption
	Annex 1 Report on the Examination of the Surrey Waste Local Plan (with label)
	Annex 2 SWLP - Part 1 for Adoption
	Foreword
	Table of Contents
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Purpose of the Waste Local Plan
	1.1.1.1 As the waste planning authority  (WPA) Surrey County Council is required to produce a local plan for waste development, known as the Surrey Waste Local Plan (“the Plan”), to show how and where waste will be managed in Surrey in the future. The...
	1.1.1.2 The Plan is intended to make sure that land is available to be developed so that there are enough waste management facilities to handle the equivalent amount of waste arising in Surrey. In doing so the Plan provides policies which ensure these...
	1.1.1.3 The Plan replaces the Surrey Waste Plan (2008) by providing a robust policy framework to support the sustainable management of waste from 2019 to 2033. Section 6 shows how policies of this Plan have replaced those in the Surrey Waste Plan (200...
	1.1.1.4 This Plan forms part of the overall development plan for Surrey. Other waste and minerals related policy can be found in the Surrey Minerals Plan (2011), the Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan Document (2013) and the Minerals Site Res...
	1.1.1.5 When determining applications all relevant policies of the development plan, as well as national policy, will be taken into account.
	1.1.1.6 Planning permission granted for development is subject to a set of conditions. Compliance with the conditions is important to ensure that the construction and operation of the facility takes place in accordance with relevant planning policy in...

	1.2 Spatial Context
	1.2.1 Introduction
	1.2.1.1 Surrey's location and unique environment (see Figure 1) influence the structure and composition of the economy in terms of the dominant business sectors, the availability of development land and the distribution of the resident population. The...

	1.2.2 Population
	1.2.2.1 The 2011 census found there to be some 1.14 million people living in Surrey. Estimates for 2017 show an increase in the total population to 1.19 million people. While the majority of the county can be classed as rural in nature, there are urba...
	1.2.2.2 Projected population growth for Surrey over the next two decades, suggests an increase from 1.18 million people to 1.37 million by 2037. There are approximately 483,000 dwelling houses distributed across Surrey with development of a further 86...

	1.2.3 Economy
	1.2.3.1 The South East of England is a significant contributor to the UK economy. Surrey’s economy is the largest contributor to the South East economy and in 2014 was worth £37.5 billion. Surrey has a higher gross value added (GVA) per person than th...
	1.2.3.2 Waste management is a key component of a modern economy. All businesses depend on the efficient management of their waste and the waste management sector itself will generate employment and add value to the local economy.

	1.2.4 Transport Infrastructure
	1.2.4.1 Surrey is located in close proximity to London and both Gatwick and Heathrow Airports. There are plans for the development of a new runway at Heathrow Airport and these are likely to have an impact on waste management both in terms of a need t...
	1.2.4.2 The strategic road network, comprising motorways and trunk roads, has evolved principally to serve London, with several nationally important routes passing through the county, including the M3, M23, M25 and the A3. Surrey roads are known to ex...

	1.2.5 Nature Conservation and Biodiversity
	1.2.5.1 The county of Surrey hosts a diverse range of habitats and species, from the chalk grasslands and mixed broadleaved woodlands of the North Downs, through scarce flood meadows along the rivers Wey and Mole, to the extensive heaths, bogs and aci...
	1.2.5.2 Surrey is home to around 70 species that benefit from specific legal protection and at least 337 species recognised as being a priority for conservation. Within the county there are sixty-three sites that have been designated as Sites of Speci...
	1.2.5.3 A total of nine sites designated for their nature conservation interest at an international and/or European level are located wholly or partly within Surrey. Those sites include four Special Protection Areas (SPAs) designated under the EU Wild...
	1.2.5.4  An area of some 12,000 hectares within Surrey is covered by ancient woodland, that is land known to have had continuous tree cover since at least 1600 AD. Ancient woodlands are found throughout Surrey, with particular concentrations in the No...

	1.2.6 Landscape
	1.2.6.1 The landscape of Surrey is diverse, reflecting its varied geology, landform and soils. In the north west are the flat areas of the Thames Basin, across the heart of the county run the hills of the North Downs and the Wealden Greensand, with th...
	1.2.6.2 Woodland covers 22% of the county, but heathland and chalk downland are also particularly characteristic of Surrey. Farmland, including that of the Low Weald, is another main component of the landscape. The river valleys of the Wey and Mole cu...
	1.2.6.3 The Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and a small area of the High Weald AONB cover approximately 26% of the county. AONBs have a protected status that reflects the unique character of their landscapes.

	1.2.7 Green Belt
	1.2.7.1 Approximately three quarters of the land within Surrey (some 121,941 hectares or 73%), is covered by the Metropolitan Green Belt (MGB). The MGB has helped to safeguard the rural character of much of the county and the setting and character of ...

	1.2.8 Heritage and Archaeology
	1.2.8.1 Surrey is rich in heritage assets from nationally important Palaeolithic sites, Roman remains and Medieval villages, through to the remains of Britain’s pioneering industrial heritage and recently decommissioned cold-war military installations...
	1.2.8.2 Surrey has 47 registered parks and gardens, in the region of 2,925 hectares (1.8% of the County). Surrey’s archaeological and designated historic landscape requires careful management and consideration. In addition, Surrey has 6,571 statutory ...

	1.2.9 Water Environment
	1.2.9.1 For each of the major catchments in the UK a river basin management plan (RBMP) has been prepared, which provides information about the current status of the different aspects of the water environment and sets targets for their improvement by ...
	1.2.9.2 Of the 95 surface watercourses or lakes (including reservoirs and ponds) with catchments wholly or partly located in Surrey, only 4 are currently of ‘good’ overall status. The majority are of either ‘moderate’ overall status (57) or ‘poor’ ove...
	1.2.9.3 The majority of the groundwater bodies beneath Surrey have been assessed by the Environment Agency as currently being of a ‘poor’ overall status, due to issues with the quantitative status of the resource, the chemical status of the resource o...

	1.2.10 Flood Risk
	1.2.10.1 Flood risk is a combination of two components; the probability of a particular flood incident occurring and the impact that the incident may cause. The risk of flooding is made worse by the potential impact of climate change. Flooding arises ...
	1.2.10.2 In Surrey (especially in the northwest of the county), the combination of a large population, low lying land and a significant number of watercourses, increase the probability of people, property and the environment being adversely affected b...


	1.3 Policy Context
	1.3.1 Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC)
	1.3.1.1 The Waste Framework Directive (WFD), as amended, sets requirements for the collection, transport, recovery and disposal of waste. The WFD includes a requirement to apply the ‘waste hierarchy’ (see Figure 2) when planning for waste management. ...
	1.3.1.2 The WFD also ensures planning authorities have regard to the principles of ‘self-sufficiency’ and ‘proximity’. This means that planning authorities should include provision for sufficient capacity and enable the delivery of facilities in the r...
	1.3.1.3 The proximity principle expects a network of facilities to be developed that enable waste to be disposed of, and mixed municipal waste collected from private households to be recovered in, one of the nearest appropriate installations, by means...

	1.3.2 Hazardous Waste Directive (1991/689/EEC)
	1.3.2.1 Waste is generally considered hazardous if it, or the material or substances it contains, pose a risk to human or environmental health. As hazardous waste poses a higher risk to the environment and human health strict controls apply.
	1.3.2.2 WPAs are expected to plan for the volume of waste arising in their area, and this may include waste management facilities to deal with hazardous waste. However, it is accepted that, often, the provision of specialist facilities for wastes that...

	1.3.3 Landfill Directive (1999/31/EC)
	1.3.3.1 The Landfill Directive was introduced in July 1999. The Landfill Directive sets out requirements for the location, management, engineering, closure and monitoring of landfills. In the Directive, the term “landfill” is taken to mean “a waste di...
	1.3.3.2 Council Decision 03/33/EC supports the Landfill Directive by providing criteria and procedures for the acceptance of waste at landfills. Paragraph 15 states “Whereas the recovery, in accordance with Directive 75/442/EEC, of inert or non-hazard...

	1.3.4 Waste Incineration Directive (2000/76/EC)
	1.3.4.1 The Waste Incineration Directive (as amended) covers new facilities and existing facilities and imposes strict emission standards for incineration technologies addressing air pollution to prevent harmful effects on both the environment and hum...
	1.3.4.2 Modern incineration plants must ensure pollution control is a priority; emissions must comply with the requirements of the Waste Incineration Directive. The Directive supports the use of cleaner technologies that seek to reduce the impacts of ...

	1.3.5 EU Circular Economy Action Plan
	1.3.5.1 In a “circular economy” the value of products and materials is maintained for as long as possible; waste and resource use are minimised, and resources are kept within the economy when a product has reached the end of its life, to be used again...
	1.3.5.2 In 2018 the European Union (EU) agreed a package of measures which forms part of the implementation of its Circular Economy Action Plan. These measures include increasing the existing recycling target for municipal waste to 65% by 2035 and a t...

	1.3.6 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
	1.3.6.1 The system of development plans, introduced by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011), requires local planning authorities (LPAs) to prepare ‘local plans’ which are made up of Development Plan Docum...
	1.3.6.2 LPAs must set out a programme for the preparation of DPDs in a ‘Local Development Scheme’ and explain how communities and stakeholders will be involved in the process in a ‘Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)’. The Act also requires LPAs ...
	1.3.6.3 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 prescribe the form and content of the local plan documents and the policies map. The regulations also defined the process for the preparation and adoption of a local plan.

	1.3.7 The Localism Act 2011
	1.3.7.1 The Localism Act 2011 enabled the abolition of regional spatial strategies. The abolition of most of policies in the South East Plan in March 2013 resulted in the removal of regionally-derived targets for waste management (e.g. diversion from ...
	1.3.7.2 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the Duty to Cooperate (DtC). The DtC places a legal duty on LPAs, county councils and other public bodies to engage constructively in the interests of local plan preparation. As the WPA, Surrey County Council m...

	1.3.8 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011
	1.3.8.1 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 (the Waste Regulations) require waste collection authorities (WCAs) to ensure that appropriate recycling standards can be met through commingling, or through source segregated collections. The use...

	1.3.9 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019
	1.3.9.1 In 2012 the Government replaced many of the former national planning policy guidance notes and statements and Government Circulars with a single document, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). A revised NPPF was published in July 2018...
	1.3.9.2 The NPPF is supported by the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), originally published in March 2014 with updates since. The PPG replaced the explanatory documents that had supported the national planning policy guidance notes and statem...
	1.3.9.3 The NPPF provides guidance for the preparation of local plans and encourages LPAs to keep them up-to-date. There is an expectation that LPAs ‘positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of their area, and be sufficiently flexib...
	1.3.9.4 Plans should ‘provide for objectively assessed needs …, as well as any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas’ . In the context of the Plan this could include taking some waste from areas outside Surrey, which could include London.
	1.3.9.5 The NPPF indicates the need for waste management facilities to be provided as strategic infrastructure. The county council is required to work with district and borough councils to contribute to an integrated approach to the provision of essen...

	1.3.10 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) 2014
	1.3.10.1 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) 2014 replaced Planning Policy Statement 10   and sits alongside the NPPF. The NPPW sets out the Government’s ambition to work towards a more sustainable approach to waste management and use.
	1.3.10.2 The policy aims to ensure waste management facilities make a positive contribution to communities and to balance the need for waste management with the interests of the community.
	1.3.10.3 Specifically the policy advises WPAs to:

	1.3.11 Waste Management Plan for England 2013
	1.3.11.1 The Government published a national Waste Management Plan for England in December 2013. The plan brought together a number of policies under the umbrella of one national plan. It looks to encourage a more sustainable and efficient approach to...
	1.3.11.2 The Waste Management Plan for England provides an overview of the management of all waste streams in England and evaluates how it will support implementation of the objectives and provisions of the revised WFD.

	1.3.12 Resources and Waste Strategy
	1.3.12.1 In December 2018, the Government published a new waste strategy for England. This strategy is particularly concerned with ensuring that society’s approach to waste aligns with circular economy principles i.e. keeping resources in use as long ...
	1.3.12.2 The strategy has several strategic ambitions including the doubling of resource productivity and eliminating avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. The strategy includes other targets as follows:
	1.3.12.3 This Plan will contribute to the achievement of these targets in Surrey.

	1.3.13 Other National Policy Statements
	1.3.13.1 The Government publishes other national policy which has an impact on the production and management of waste. This includes the ‘Industrial Strategy’ (2017), the ‘Clean Growth Strategy’ (2017) and the ’25 Year Environment Plan’ (2018). In 201...

	1.3.14 Regional Strategy for the South East of England
	1.3.14.1 The Regional Spatial Strategy for the South East of England, with the exception of Policy NRM6: Thames Basin Heath SPA, was revoked on 25 March 2013. Saved Policy NRM6 from the South East Plan remains a material consideration as part of the d...

	1.3.15 Surrey Waste Plan 2008
	1.3.15.1 The current Surrey Waste Plan (SWP), adopted in 2008 and altered by Order of the High Court in 2009, sets out the planning framework for the development of waste management facilities in Surrey. The plan is comprised of a suite of policies, i...

	1.3.16 Surrey Minerals Plan 2011
	1.3.16.1 The Surrey Minerals Plan is composed of the Core Strategy DPD, the Primary Aggregates DPD, the Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD, and the Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).

	1.3.17 Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan Document 2013
	1.3.17.1 The Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD (ARJDPD) supports both the Surrey Minerals Plan and the Surrey Waste Plan. The DPD sets out proposals for the provision of new temporary and permanent aggregates recycling facilities across Surrey for the pe...

	1.3.18 Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document 2011
	1.3.18.1 The Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (2011) sets out in greater detail how mineral workings can be restored and in what ways. It is one of the material considerations that will be taken into account when determining r...

	1.3.19 Statement of Community Involvement
	1.3.19.1 The county council wants communities to have the opportunity to participate in the planning decisions that shape the county’s future. The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) explains how the county council will consult with and involve t...
	1.3.19.2 The SCI sets out the stages involved in the development of planning policy documents and explains how the community will be involved at each stage.

	1.3.20 Minerals and Waste Development Scheme
	1.3.20.1 Under the requirements for the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the county council is required to have a local development scheme (LDS). This is a public statement identifying which local development documents will be produced. The ...

	1.3.21 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy
	1.3.21.1 The current Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) was adopted in 2015. The JMWMS focuses on the management of local authority collected waste (LACW), including; household waste from kerbside collections, household waste from commu...
	1.3.21.2 Implementation of the JMWMS is the responsibility of the county council in its role as the waste disposal authority (WDA) and the district and borough councils in their role as the waste collection authorities (WCAs). The new Surrey Waste Loc...


	1.4 Waste Management Context
	1.4.1 Main Types of Waste
	1.4.1.1 There are three principal types of waste dealt with by the Plan:
	1.4.1.2 Waste from households and from businesses can often be managed at similar types of facility whereas C,D&E waste is usually managed at specialised facilities.
	1.4.1.3 A range of other waste streams including: hazardous waste, agricultural waste, healthcare waste, nuclear and low level radioactive waste and mining waste also need to be considered. The amounts of those wastes produced in Surrey are not suffic...

	1.4.2 Waste Arisings
	1.4.2.1 A waste needs assessment was undertaken to inform the Plan and is published as part of the evidence base . That document sets out the assumptions and calculations on which the estimate of waste arisings in Surrey up to 2035 were based.
	1.4.2.2 The PPG for waste explains how WPAs should identify the need for new waste management facilities and in particular how waste arisings should be forecast. The PPG states that the assessment of waste management needs for local plan making is lik...
	1.4.2.3 The forecast of waste arisings typically involves the definition and interpretation of a growth profile. The factors used to calculate the potential growth for the key waste streams in Surrey over the Plan period are set out in Table 1.
	1.4.2.4 Based on the growth profile and following the methodology set out in the PPG the forecast waste arisings through the Plan period are set out in Table 2.
	1.4.2.5 The county council recognises the need to establish new goals for the management of waste in Surrey over the Plan period. The proposed targets are ambitious and encourage the management of waste further up the waste hierarchy, but should be ac...
	1.4.2.6 At a European level the revised Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) and the Landfill Directive (1999/31/EC) set targets for the diversion of waste from landfill and the EU Circular Economy Package includes transition targets, all of which h...
	1.4.2.7 Overall, the targets for the Plan seek to increase recycling   of waste and reduce landfill. At the same time policy directions such as decreasing food waste arisings are also considered to be targets for managing waste generated in Surrey. Wa...
	1.4.2.8 The targets for LACW are ambitious but should be achievable based on historic performance and increasing recycling rates of LACW. Rates of recycling (including composting) increased from just over 30% to nearly 60% between 2008 and 2017. For C...
	1.4.2.9 For C,D&E waste the revised WFD required a minimum of 70% (by weight) of non-hazardous construction and demolition waste be prepared for re-use, recycled or undergo other material recovery by 2020.  A target of 80% seeks to build on this high ...

	1.4.3 Capacity gap and future need
	1.4.3.1 The need to allocate sites for waste development arises from the gap between existing waste management capacity and forecast requirements. The capacity gap is calculated by assessing the overall amount of waste arising within the county and ho...
	1.4.3.2 Overall Surrey remains net self-sufficient with a surplus of waste management capacity over the plan period, although within this there are key areas of need that should be addressed by the Plan (set out in Table 4). For example, the treatment...
	1.4.3.3 The waste needs assessment has not identified an overall need for recycling facilities. For particular types of recycling however there may be a need for further capacity, e.g. more bulking and recycling capacity for household waste. There are...
	1.4.3.4 There is an identified need for facilities which fall under the definition of ‘other recovery’ . The Plan will encourage waste management activities which are higher up the waste hierarchy and will therefore avoid an over-supply of other recov...
	1.4.3.5 There is a capacity gap for disposal of waste to land  towards the end of the Plan period (see Table 5). This is based on the planned closure of Patteson Court Landfill and does not account for any early restoration of that site.
	1.4.3.6 Non-inert landfill facilities in the South East of England are becoming increasingly scarce and those facilities which continue to operate now accept waste from a wider area. The industry has been reluctant to develop new sites and so better u...
	1.4.3.7 The capacity gap for C,D&E waste recycling is shown in Table 6. There is a gap in capacity due to the expected closure of temporary facilities and the C,D&E waste arisings forecast.
	1.4.3.8 No allocations are proposed in this Plan for C,D&E recycling facilities, as historically such facilities have come forward as temporary land uses at operational mineral workings. A number of sites are allocated for C,D&E recycling in the ARJDP...
	1.4.3.9 A large proportion of C,D&E waste will be excavation waste. The scale of that waste stream is unknown as such material is often unsuitable for recycled aggregate production. Increasingly such material is used for permanent deposit e.g. landrai...
	1.4.3.10 A surplus of capacity for recovery of waste to land has been identified in the short to medium term, as shown in Table 7. Not shown is a further 6 million tonnes (approximate) of additional inert landfill and/or recovery to land capacity whic...

	1.4.4 Delivery of Waste Management Capacity in Surrey
	1.4.4.1 Evidence from monitoring of historic delivery of waste management infrastructure in Surrey indicates that 66% of additional capacity was provided by new facilities developed on allocated sites (see Table 8). A proportion (15%) of additional ca...
	1.4.4.2 Additional capacity on unallocated land already in industrial or employment use accounted for 4% of additional capacity. The development of industrial or employment land for waste uses presents particular challenges, as preference is often giv...
	1.4.4.3 For C,D&E waste recycling capacity, temporary facilities at operational mineral workings (i.e. quarries that are actively being worked and/or restored) are important. Approximately 969,000 tonnes of temporary capacity was delivered between 200...
	1.4.4.4 This Plan enables the delivery of additional waste management capacity in Surrey by promoting a mix of locations similar to those that have been successfully developed as additional waste facilities in the past. A number of the sites allocated...



	2 Vision for Waste Development in Surrey
	2.1 Introduction
	2.1.1.1 The vision provides an overarching ‘direction of travel’ for the Plan. Together with the strategic objectives, the vision sets out the aims to be achieved over the Plan period. The vision and strategic objectives for the Plan relate only to is...

	2.2 The Vision
	2.2.1.1 The county council’s community vision 2030 highlights Surrey’s status as a uniquely special place. The county council’s community vision recognises the important role of the county in the national economy and seeks to encourage a strong, vibra...
	2.2.1.2 The national PPG for waste states that LPAs can ensure that waste is handled in a manner which protects human health and the environment by testing the suitability of proposed sites, during local plan preparation and when considering planning ...
	2.2.1.3 The Plan promotes the principles of sustainable waste management, which gives preference to approaches further up the waste hierarchy and favours the use of facilities close to the places from which waste arises (proximity principle).
	2.2.1.4 The vision for the Plan is composed of five key elements that reflect national planning policy:
	2.2.1.5 The vision sets out a broad picture of how waste will be managed during and by the end of the plan period. The Vision for waste development in Surrey is:


	3 Strategic Objectives
	3.1 Net self-sufficiency
	3.1.1 Strategic Objective 1: To make sure enough waste management capacity is provided to manage the equivalent amount of waste produced in Surrey.
	3.1.1.1 Under national policy the WPA is required to identify sufficient opportunities to meet the identified needs of its area for the delivery of waste management infrastructure . The principle of net self-sufficiency means that Surrey should provid...
	3.1.1.2 The policy which implements Strategic Objective 1 is:
	3.1.1.3 How the policy implements Strategic Objective 1:


	3.2 Sustainable Waste Management (Waste Hierarchy)
	3.2.1 Strategic Objective 2: To encourage development which supports sustainable waste management at least in line with national targets for recycling, recovery and composting.
	3.2.1.1 National policy  states that in preparing local plans, WPAs should drive waste management up the waste hierarchy. This means encouraging prevention of waste, and preparing for the re-use, recycling and recovery of waste (including recovery of ...
	3.2.1.2 Targets for recycling, recovery and composting are set out at an EU level in the WFD (2008/98/EC) and the EU Circular Economy Package. At the national level targets are referred to in the Waste Management Plan for England. Local targets includ...
	3.2.1.3 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 2 are:
	3.2.1.4 How policies implement Strategic Objective 2:

	3.2.2 Strategic Objective 3: To manage waste by disposal to land as an option of last resort, but recognise that it is important for managing residual waste that cannot be treated in any other way.
	3.2.2.1 The waste hierarchy sees disposal as the least preferred approach to waste management and an option of last resort. However, it remains a necessary option for certain types of waste that cannot be practically managed in any other way.
	3.2.2.2 The policy that implements Strategic Objective 3 is:
	3.2.2.3 How the policy implements Strategic Objective 3:


	3.3 Safeguarding Existing Waste Infrastructure
	3.3.1 Strategic Objective 4: To retain and make best use of existing sites for waste development through safeguarding against non-waste development and supporting improvement of facilities.
	3.3.1.1 Within Surrey there is strong competition for available land for housing, employment and other uses including waste development. To address this challenge the Plan needs to make best use of available land and existing facilities in order to me...
	3.3.1.2 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 4 are:
	3.3.1.3 How policies implement Strategic Objective 4:


	3.4 Location of New Waste Development
	3.4.1 Strategic Objective 5: To direct new facilities to locations that are most suitable for waste development.
	3.4.1.1 By making sure that new waste management facilities are situated in the most suitable locations around the county the WPA aims to minimise unacceptable impacts on communities and the environment.
	3.4.1.2 In identifying suitable locations and new sites for waste management facilities, the Plan provides certainty that the additional capacity needed to manage waste in Surrey can be developed and that the national requirement  to identify sites ha...
	3.4.1.3 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 5 are:
	3.4.1.4 How policies implement Strategic Objective 5:


	3.5 Protecting Communities and the Environment
	3.5.1 Strategic Objective 6: To encourage innovation and best practice which provide opportunities to minimise the impact of waste development on communities and the environment.
	3.5.1.1 It is essential that the Plan addresses all aspects of sustainable development – including the protection, and where feasible enhancement, of communities and the environment. This will be achieved through the development of waste management fa...
	3.5.1.2 The NPPW recognises that the siting of waste management facilities will be influenced by physical and environmental factors . In Surrey, there are valued landscapes and wildlife habitats which require particular consideration when waste manage...
	3.5.1.3 The policies which implement Strategic Objective 6 are:
	3.5.1.4 How policies implement Strategic Objective 6:


	3.6 Transport and Connectivity
	3.6.1 Strategic Objective 7: To keep waste movement by road to minimum practicable levels and support options for sustainable transport.
	3.6.1.1 Strategic Objective 7 seeks to encourage the use of sustainable transport options where feasible but recognises that this may not always be practicable. In Surrey there are limited possibilities for transport by means other than road. In a loc...
	3.6.1.2 The policy that implements Strategic Objective 7 is:
	3.6.1.3 How the policy will implement Strategic Objective 7:


	3.7 Engagement
	3.7.1 Strategic Objective 8: To work closely with our partners such as Surrey Waste Partnership, District and Borough councils and other Waste Planning Authorities to deliver the Surrey Waste Local Plan.
	3.7.1.1 The vision and strategic objectives of the Plan can only be realised through collaborative working between a range of partners including: the county council, the Surrey Waste Partnership, district and borough planning teams, the waste industry...
	3.7.1.2 To implement the Plan the county council and partners will support initiatives that seek to meet local targets for prevention and re-use, recycling and recovery and will prioritise the development of facilities of types that sit towards the to...
	3.7.1.3 The county council will work collaboratively with other WPAs, particularly those in in the South East of England and adjoining Surrey (i.e. in London), to ensure that provision of strategic capacity is co-ordinated as far as possible.
	3.7.1.4 The policy that implements Strategic Objective 8 is:
	3.7.1.5 How the policy implements Strategic Objective 8:


	3.8 Strategic Matters
	3.8.1 Strategic Policies
	3.8.1.1 The development plan must include strategic policies to address the LPA’s priorities for the development and use of land in its area . Strategic policies should be “…limited to those necessary to address the strategic priorities of the area (a...
	3.8.1.2 The strategic matter (and cross-boundary issue) which this Plan seeks to address is the availability of land suitable for the delivery of waste management infrastructure in Surrey. The majority of the policies in the Plan are strategic in natu...

	3.8.2 Statements of Common Ground
	3.8.2.1 As part of meeting the DtC (see section 1.3.7.2), local authorities are advised to “…prepare and maintain one or more statements of common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being addressed and progress in cooperating to address th...



	4 Spatial Strategy for Waste Development in Surrey
	4.1 Introduction
	4.1.1.1 The spatial strategy for the Plan seeks to deliver the strategic objectives by guiding the location of waste development. The spatial strategy reflects a number of key building blocks which relate to matters likely to influence the future dist...
	4.1.1.2 The spatial strategy sets an overall approach to the location of new waste management capacity across Surrey. The strategy seeks to ensure that the Plan is able to meet Surrey’s objectively assessed needs   for waste management.
	4.1.1.3 Sites currently in waste management use are safeguarded as they make an important contribution to the provision of capacity sufficient to manage the equivalent of the amount of waste arising in Surrey.
	4.1.1.4  The spatial strategy articulates broad preferences for development on certain types of land, in accordance with the hierarchy illustrated in Figure 5.

	4.2 The Spatial Strategy
	4.2.1.1 The Spatial Strategy for waste development in Surrey is:

	4.3 Identifying Sites and Areas
	4.3.1 Industrial Land Areas of Search
	4.3.1.1 Consistent with the spatial strategy, which prioritises development on PDL and sites and areas identified for employment uses, industrial and storage purposes.
	4.3.1.2 Areas of search have been identified, based on those areas specified as suitable for employment, industrial and storage purposes in district and borough local plans , These ‘Industrial Land Areas of Search’ (ILAS) are ‘in principle’ areas with...

	4.3.2 Allocated Sites
	4.3.2.1 In addition to the ILAS, sites considered suitable in principle for the development of additional waste management facilities are allocated in the Plan. Details of the allocated sites are set out in Part 2 of this Plan. The allocation of sites...
	4.3.2.2 The process of identifying the allocated sites involved the following main stages :
	4.3.2.3 The above process revealed that unless some Green Belt land is allocated there will be no certainty that sufficient land can be developed to meet the identified need for additional waste management capacity. For each site particular circumstan...
	4.3.2.4 In total the allocated sites amount to approximately 19 hectares . In order to meet the need for additional capacity for other recovery it is estimated that the amount of land needed is approximately 6 hectares . The allocated sites ensure the...



	5 Policies
	5.1 Net self-sufficiency
	5.1.1 Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development
	5.1.1.1 The WFD requires WPAs to plan for enough waste management infrastructure to handle waste arisings equivalent to those for their plan area. The NPPW requires WPAs, when preparing local plans, to identify sufficient opportunities to meet the ide...
	5.1.1.2 For Surrey it is estimated that by the end of the Plan period there will be shortfall of capacity of facilities for other recovery (Table 4). As new waste management capacity is developed the capacity gap will change and this will be monitored...
	5.1.1.3 The WPAs aim is for Surrey to be net self-sufficient, that is, the county has enough waste management capacity to deal with the equivalent amount of waste to that which it generates. This means that the WPA should plan to provide sufficient ca...
	5.1.1.4 Waste development which supports the sustainable management of waste, including through maximising opportunities for preparing for re-use, recycling and recovery, will contribute to achieving sustainable development by making best use of natur...
	5.1.1.5 Proposals for the development of waste management facilities must comply with other policies in this Plan including those related to location and environmental protection.
	5.1.1.6 A waste incinerator that can generate energy with high efficiency can qualify as a recovery operation. This will be assessed on a case by case basis in the event of a planning application being received. For plant managing municipal waste or a...
	5.1.1.7 The potential for a plant to meet the R1 standard will form part of the assessment when determining a planning application . However, the combustion of waste, or fuel produced from waste, without efficient energy recovery ranks alongside dispo...


	5.2 Sustainable Waste Management (Waste Hierarchy)
	5.2.1 Waste Prevention
	5.2.1.1 A resource efficient, or ‘circular’, economy is one where fewer resources are used to produce more, making the most of those resources by keeping them in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from them whilst in use, then r...
	5.2.1.2 Opportunities for waste prevention occur throughout a product life-cycle and include actions such as:
	5.2.1.3 These actions require the WPA, WDA and WCAs to work together and with other partners to promote waste prevention, education and awareness initiatives.
	5.2.1.4 The Waste Management Plan for England  and the Waste Prevention Programme for England  contribute to a circular economy by encouraging people and businesses to use products for longer, repair broken items, and enable reuse of items by others. ...

	5.2.2 Policy 2 – Recycling and Recovery (other than inert C, D & E and soil recycling facilities)
	5.2.2.1 Following the waste hierarchy, waste management capacity which maximises options for recycling, and recovery, are, in turn, the next most sustainable. The range of waste management technology covered is wide, including materials recovery facil...
	5.2.2.2 The county council is supportive of recycling and recovery operations where it can be demonstrated that facilities will not have adverse effects on amenity, communities or the environment. The types of waste technology suitable to a location w...
	5.2.2.3 CRCs are sites operated by the WDA for local residents to drop off their household waste, recyclables and bulky waste. Surrey has 15 CRC sites which manage approximately 100,000 tonnes of material each year. Of this 59% of the materials collec...
	5.2.2.4 Policy 2 applies to any development associated with a CRC, including ancillary development (e.g. depot, workshop, etc.), that promotes sustainable waste management or improves the effectiveness and efficiency with which the site operates (e.g....
	5.2.2.5 Unlike operations involving mixed C&D waste, inert C,D&E waste and soil recycling facilities are often located in the open and associated with other activity, such as mineral working, and so require a specific (Policy 3).
	5.2.2.6 Proposals for the improvement or extension of existing recycling or recovery operations (other than inert C,D&E and soil recycling facilities) should be dealt with under Policy 8. The consideration of such proposals will also have regard to Po...
	5.2.2.7 New recovery technologies (e.g. EfW) will particularly suit locations that have access to gas, electricity, heat and freight networks. However, small-scale anaerobic digestion (AD), inert C,D&E waste recycling facilities and open windrow compo...
	5.2.2.8 Particular benefits may arise from co-locating a waste management facility either with other waste facilities or with other forms of development (e.g. housing and employment). Such benefits include synergies and efficiencies in waste managemen...

	5.2.3 Policy 3 – Recycling of Inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste
	5.2.3.1 For the purpose of Policy 3, inert C,D&E waste is defined as the range of inert materials which arise from the construction or demolition of buildings and civil engineering projects and includes soils which have been excavated as a result of s...
	5.2.3.2 Inert C,D&E waste recycling encompasses the screening, processing, crushing, washing or other similar activities which produce materials such as recycled aggregates and soils that are suitable for sale. Such operations typically take place in ...
	5.2.3.3 In Surrey, the recycled aggregates that are substituted for land won aggregates are primarily materials derived from inert C,D&E waste. Recycled aggregates include:
	5.2.3.4 The Aggregate Recycling Joint Development Plan Document (ARJDPD seeks to increase the use of secondary and recycled materials as substitutes for primary aggregate and consequently to reduce the amount of construction and demolition waste dispo...
	5.2.3.5 In order to support targets for aggregate recycling in the Surrey Minerals Plan and Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD, the Plan needs to encourage recycling of inert C,D&E waste. Policy 3 sets out the criteria against which proposals for managing...
	5.2.3.6 It is recognised that a significant proportion of existing inert C,D&E waste recycling facilities are located on land associated with mineral workings. These facilities benefit from temporary permissions which are associated with the timescale...
	5.2.3.7 The approach within the Plan is to encourage the sustainable management of waste in line with the waste hierarchy. As such, the Plan promotes the recycling of inert material over the recovery of this material to land. The county council recogn...
	5.2.3.8 Facilities for inert C,D&E waste recycling should be sited in locations easily accessible from the sources of the wastes and may be temporarily linked to a specific development e.g. mineral working or large construction project. These types of...
	5.2.3.9 It is recognised that inert C,D&E waste managed at these facilities may include incidental quantities of non-inert materials such as wood and that processing operations will result in their removal as part of the production of an inert recycle...
	5.2.3.10 Proposals for the improvement or extension of existing inert construction, demolition and excavation waste recycling facilities should be dealt with under Policy 8. The consideration of such proposals will also have regard to Policy 2.

	5.2.4 Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development
	5.2.4.1 Development often results in the production of a significant quantity of waste; during the construction, operation and demolition stages. It is therefore important that consideration is given to this in determining planning applications for al...
	5.2.4.2 Waste management issues should be addressed at the design stage of new developments to ensure that wastes arising during the construction (and demolition) phase and the operational phase can be managed in a sustainable manner.
	5.2.4.3 New developments will need to incorporate storage facilities designed to ensure waste recycling is maximised. There may be opportunities, particularly for larger scale developments, for the incorporation of small scale waste processing facilit...
	5.2.4.4 While district and borough councils are not responsible for the planning of waste development, in terms of the preparation or the determination of planning applications, they must have regard to national planning policy concerning waste and th...
	5.2.4.5 Non-waste development is normally the responsibility of the relevant LPA and some local plans and other planning guidance already seek to address in more detail issues of sustainable design and construction including waste management. Policy 4...
	5.2.4.6 The information to accompany planning applications to demonstrate compliance with Policy 4 should be proportionate to the size of the development and the amounts and types of waste likely to be generated. The WPA has produced a Sustainable Con...
	5.2.4.7 Policies in the Surrey Minerals Plan and Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD that encourage the use of recycled and secondary aggregate in development should be considered alongside Policy 4 of this Plan.

	5.2.5 Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land
	5.2.5.1 The beneficial use of C,D&E waste for inert fill, where this is necessary, can be categorised as a waste recovery operation. Waste recovery can be defined as any operation the principal result of which is waste serving a useful purpose by repl...
	5.2.5.2 In Surrey, inert material derived from C,D&E waste is a valuable resource and when used in mineral site restoration as inert fill or as capping material for landfilling or landraising activities is considered to be a recovery operation. This i...
	5.2.5.3 Other types of recovery operations involving inert waste can include:
	5.2.5.4 In light of the fact that inert waste readily lends itself to being put to a beneficial use, the disposal of inert waste to land is considered unacceptable.
	5.2.5.5 The WPA will consider whether proposed development involving the deposit of waste is a genuine ‘recovery’ activity. Such consideration involves an assessment of whether there is a genuine need for the development, or if the activity is in fact...
	5.2.5.6 Such activity may require a separate Environmental Permit, for disposal or recovery of waste, from the Environment Agency. As different legislation applies, even if the permit is for a ‘disposal’ activity, the county council may decide that, f...
	5.2.5.7 The recovery of inert waste to land will only be supported if the development provides a significant benefit that would outweigh any significant adverse impacts. In the case of land remediation, the development must demonstrate a significant i...
	5.2.5.8 Large scale landraising projects could divert inert waste materials from other sites, such as quarries that require such material for restoration, as well as having the potential to cause adverse impacts. The amount of material which is propos...
	5.2.5.9 Any changes to the landform resulting from the proposal would need to be sympathetic to the area. The development should respect the landscape character and visual amenity of the site and surrounding area, as well as those interests relating t...
	5.2.5.10 If an application, or part of an application, which includes a recovery to land operation is to be determined by a district or borough council, then Policy 5 – Recovery of Inert Waste to Land would apply as part of the decision making framework.
	5.2.5.11 A formal protocol   has been established that makes it possible for inert excavation waste to be classified as a ‘non waste’ e.g. engineering material, rather than a waste. The use of such material in development is not subject to control by ...

	5.2.6 Policy 6 – Disposal of Non-inert Waste to Land
	5.2.6.1 The Plan aims to divert non-inert waste away from landfill by providing other types of facilities for the management of waste. As disposal is the least preferred option for waste management in the waste hierarchy, the demand for, and availabil...
	5.2.6.2 As sites providing for the disposal of non-inert waste to land are becoming more specialised, waste now travels over administrative boundaries to reach these facilities. This position is recognised by all WPAs across the South East of England ...
	5.2.6.3 For some hazardous wastes disposal to landfill offers the only practical waste management solution. Such wastes are produced in relatively small quantities and managed at specialist sites or within specially engineered cells at sites disposing...
	5.2.6.4 In light of the above and the fact that no sites for landfill were promoted by any party during the preparation of this Plan, no allocations are made for new landfill facilities. Proposals for landfill (including extensions or alterations of e...
	5.2.6.5 The assessment of need for any new non-inert landfill must take account of existing capacity, and the extent to which it is sufficient to deal with residual waste. The assessment must plan for the fact that waste is transported increasingly lo...
	5.2.6.6 Biodegradable waste disposed of in landfill degrades to produce landfill gas, much of which is the combustible compound methane. Any application for landfill development must explain how the site would be restored and how landfill gas would be...
	5.2.6.7 To ensure that the potential benefits of disposal through non-inert landfill are realised, proposals must address the intended final use of the land, and should include proposals for high quality restoration and plans for long term management....

	5.2.7 Policy 7 – Safeguarding
	5.2.7.1 Opportunities for the development of waste management capacity are limited in Surrey. The loss of existing or planned waste management sites to other types of development, or constraints on management activity and capacity may make net self-su...
	5.2.7.2 The safeguarding of sites in existing waste use in addition to those with planning permission and/or allocated for waste development, will ensure that the need for existing or planned waste management infrastructure is taken into account when ...
	5.2.7.3 Surrey is a two-tier area in terms of local government structure, with responsibility for determining the majority of planning applications for non-waste related development, such as housing, lying with the district and borough councils (the L...
	5.2.7.4 Safeguarding of waste facilities is a material planning consideration but does not rule out alternative development. Whether planning permission should be granted for non-waste development is usually a decision for the relevant borough or dist...
	5.2.7.5 Existing waste operations should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of new development in proximity that may be sensitive to their operation that could be deemed a statutory nuisance (e.g. noise). Applicants seeking ...
	5.2.7.6 The Surrey Minerals & Waste Consultation Protocol   sets out how the WPA and the LPAs work together constructively to ensure waste safeguarding issues are taken into account as appropriate during the preparation of local plans and in the deter...
	5.2.7.7 While the protocol provides a useful framework it is not a replacement for ongoing communication and collaboration between authorities and the process relies on the county council and the district and borough councils working together effectiv...

	5.2.8 Policy 8 – Improvement or extension of existing facilities
	5.2.8.1 Existing waste development in Surrey is often well-established having been in operation for many years. Such development may benefit from permanent planning permission or a Lawful Development Certificate.
	5.2.8.2 The improvement or extension of an existing waste development may enable more waste to be recycled, recovered or processed for re-use within the established footprint of the site and with reduced impacts due to changes in technology or site la...
	5.2.8.3 Waste development which seeks to improve the capacity and efficiency of existing waste developments whilst reducing harmful impacts will be supported. Such proposals are considered against all the relevant policies of this Plan and in particul...
	5.2.8.4 To ensure no loss in existing capacity, re-development of any existing waste management sites must ensure that the quantity of waste to be managed is equal to or greater than the quantity of waste for which the site currently has permission. A...
	5.2.8.5 A list of existing waste management facilities in Surrey is included, and updated each year, in the AMR.


	5.3 Location of new waste infrastructure
	5.3.1 Policy 9 – Green Belt
	5.3.1.1 The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances . ‘Ver...
	5.3.1.2 LPAs should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to this are :
	5.3.1.3 As a result, there may be instances where the redevelopment or extension of existing facilities may be acceptable as they are considered to be an exception to inappropriate development.
	5.3.1.4 Mineral development is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt, provided that it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green Belt. Waste development that may not be co...
	5.3.1.5 It is considered unlikely that the anticipated waste management needs of the county will be met without developing waste management facilities on Green Belt land . The overarching need for waste management in Surrey combined with a lack of sui...

	5.3.2 Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities
	5.3.2.1 The spatial strategy expresses a preference for land that is likely to be suitable for waste development (not involving permanent deposit) which includes PDL, sites and areas identified for employment uses, land identified for industrial and s...
	5.3.2.2 The spatial strategy also seeks to prioritise the development of facilities on land outside of the Green Belt. This is consistent with the NPPF (2019). While the Plan allocates sites within the Green Belt, development of these sites is conting...
	5.3.2.3 In order to provide additional flexibility, and facilitate development in accordance with the spatial strategy, Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities, identifies broad areas which could potentially accommoda...
	5.3.2.4 The policy does not apply to activities involving the permanent deposit of waste (landfilling, land raising and recovery to land). However, the recycling and processing of waste can be carried out within appropriate, purpose-designed buildings...
	5.3.2.5 The Plan prefers the development of additional waste management capacity on suitable sites outside the Green Belt. Hence Policy 10 has been included to demonstrate that the need for waste management facilities could be met through other mechan...

	5.3.3 Policy 11a – Strategic Waste Site Allocations
	5.3.3.1 The NPPF (2019) expects that local plans should include strategic policies, including those which allocate sufficient land to accommodate the development required to meet objectively assessed needs . The process of identifying sites for alloca...
	5.3.3.2 The site identification process  found that due to the extent of the Green Belt in Surrey and lack of available alternatives, that it would not be possible to avoid the allocation of land within the Green Belt. Consequently a number of the all...
	5.3.3.3 While the development of waste uses on land identified for employment and storage purposes by LPAs is encouraged under Policy 10, it is recognised that, due to commercial and practical considerations and competition from other land uses, such ...
	5.3.3.4 The sites proposed for allocation on land within the Green Belt are primarily comprised of land that has been subject to previous development or use. The land at Lambs Business Park is a former clay quarry that is subject to a requirement for ...
	5.3.3.5 The sites allocated under Policy 11a are:
	5.3.3.6 A number of sites, currently allocated under policies in the Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and considered for inclusion in the new Plan at the draft stage (Regulation 18), have not been carried forward to the submission stage. Those sites (listed bel...
	5.3.3.7 Planning applications for development at the sites allocated under Policy 11a will be judged on their individual merits and the allocation of a site in the Plan does not mean that a proposal for a waste use will automatically be granted planni...
	5.3.3.8 Proposals for development on allocated sites located within the Green Belt will, at the time at which a planning application is submitted, need to address the requirements of relevant Green Belt policy at the national and local levels.
	5.3.3.9 Sites allocated for waste management use in the Green Belt have been through a process of alternative site assessment at the plan making stage. Having demonstrated exceptional circumstances to justify the allocation of strategic sites in the G...
	5.3.3.10 In the absence of changes to the boundaries of the Green Belt all planning applications for inappropriate waste related development on allocated sites within the Green Belt will need to demonstrate very special circumstances. Such very specia...

	5.3.4 Policy 11b – Allocation of a Site for a Household Waste Materials Recycling Facility
	5.3.4.1 As explained in section 1, together with the WCAs, the county council, as the WDA is responsible for implementing the JMWMS. In particular, the WDA is responsible for ensuring access to the waste management capacity needed to ensure recycling ...
	5.3.4.2 Currently residents separate certain types of recyclable waste (e.g. paper, cardboard, glass, metal and plastic) from other household waste for separate collection. The recyclable waste, known as Dry Mixed Recyclables (DMR), is collected by th...
	5.3.4.3 DMR facilities make use of specialist equipment which separates out the waste types which are then bulked up and transported to appropriate reprocessing facilities (e.g. paper manufacturers) for manufacture into new materials.
	5.3.4.4 The export of DMR for management outside of Surrey is not consistent with the JMWMS   that expects household waste arising in Surrey to be managed within the county. It is also inconsistent with the proximity principle as set out in the EU WFD...
	5.3.4.5 A detailed report was presented to the Surrey Waste Board  regarding the options for developing additional infrastructure to deal with DMR. The report considered a number of options:
	5.3.4.6 The report highlighted the benefits to the county council of delivering new infrastructure for recycling of DMR to be:
	5.3.4.7 The report recommended the development of a single MRF based on cost. However, it is recognised that there is a need for additional capacity and that there are potential benefits of having two MRFs in terms of operational flexibility (e.g. for...
	5.3.4.8 The existing Leatherhead MRF is well located to serve the WCAs towards the south east of the county, and so, in accordance with the proximity principle, the second MRF should be located towards the north west of the county. Site identification...
	5.3.4.9 The JMWMS   (Appendix 1) outlines the need to deliver new infrastructure for DMR produced by households. In accordance with the national PPG  the following site is also allocated, specifically for the management of DMR from households:
	5.3.4.10 The Trumps Farm site is located within the Green Belt, but offers a suitable and deliverable location for the WDA to develop a MRF to deal with approximately 120,000 tonnes per annum  of DMR from households in the north west of the county. Th...
	5.3.4.11 As with the other allocated sites, any planning application for development on the allocated site would be judged on its merits against Policy 11b and all other policies of the Plan. Those considerations set out in the supporting text to Poli...

	5.3.5 Policy 12 – Wastewater Treatment Works
	5.3.5.1 There is an established network of sewage treatment facilities across Surrey that is safeguarded by Policy 7. The majority of wastewater treatment works (WWTW) have sufficient capacity to accept wastewater and treat sewage sludge from the grow...
	5.3.5.2 One of the sites allocated under Policy 11a of this Plan (land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford) includes an area that will be developed as a new WWTW by Thames Water as part of the Slyfield Area Regeneration Project ...
	5.3.5.3 Sewerage undertakers review and assess the capacity of existing WWTWs, in relation to proposals for new development (including housing and employment allocations). There may be a need, in the future, for further sites to be developed as WWTW a...
	5.3.5.4 If new wastewater development (including sewage sludge treatment) is required, locational criteria can guide proposals to the most appropriate locations. Such an approach recognises that the location of new or improved facilities depends on th...
	5.3.5.5 Efficient energy recovery can occur at WWTWs. When sewage sludge is digested it produces a methane rich biogas which can be burnt to recover energy. This biogas can be used to heat the sewage sludge digesters, and where possible, generate elec...
	5.3.5.6 Depending on its size, combustion plant at WWTWs burning biogas generated from the anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge will require a permit under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 (as amended) .


	5.4 Conserving and Enhancing the Environment and Protecting Communities
	5.4.1 Policy 13 – Sustainable Design
	5.4.1.1 The Plan seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high standard. The design of proposals is therefore expected to accord with best practice, as defined by published and emerging standards and guidance relevant to the type of facility p...
	5.4.1.2 Waste development should seek to contribute to sustainable development by:
	5.4.1.3 Development should be resilient to the effects of climate change, including the management of flood risk.
	5.4.1.4 Facilities should promote energy efficiency and seek to reduce energy consumption, particularly that arising from the use of buildings (e.g. maximise use of daylight, heat recovery systems, high standards of insulation, etc.). Consideration sh...
	5.4.1.5 The management of waste often involves the use of water, and water supplies in the South East of England are under increasing pressure from all development. Proposals should incorporate appropriate measures to minimise water consumption (e.g. ...
	5.4.1.6 In line with Policy 4 of this Plan, the production of waste should be minimised during the construction and operation of any facility. Consideration should also be given to the use of reused or recycled construction materials.
	5.4.1.7 Where feasible, and depending on the size of the site and the extent to which land is available for non-waste management uses, the design of facilities should include measures to deliver landscape enhancement and biodiversity gain. Such measur...
	5.4.1.8 Measures, such as the provision of open spaces within developments and the planting of trees and hedges on site boundaries, can contribute to wider ecological networks and support key ecosystem services such as pollination. Such measures can a...
	5.4.1.9 The measures incorporated into the design of any proposal should be appropriate to the scale, nature and type of facility that is to be constructed. It is likely therefore that proposals for larger scale facilities (i.e. those occupying a site...
	5.4.1.10 Applicants are encouraged to engage with the WPA at an early stage of the design process.

	5.4.2 Policy 14 – Protecting Communities and the Environment
	5.4.2.1 Policy 14 is concerned with addressing impacts that might arise during the construction, operation and, where relevant, demolition and restoration of a waste management facility to ensure that unacceptable impacts do not occur. Detailed guidan...
	5.4.2.2 It should be noted that some impacts on the environment and amenity, in particular effects on air, land and water, are also subject to control by regulatory regimes other than the planning system (e.g. the Environmental Permit regime and local...
	5.4.2.3 Most waste related development falls within the scope of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) regime, which, as a minimum, requires that schemes of certain scales or types, or development in specific locations, is subject to screening. Wh...
	5.4.2.4 The NPPF encourages pre-application discussions and states that “…early engagement has significant potential to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application system for all parties” . The county council as the WPA welcom...
	Amenity

	5.4.2.5 Amenity refers to residents’ expectations for enjoyment of their surroundings. Amenity considerations can cover a range of issues including noise, dust, odour, and disturbance due to illumination and vibration, and can extend to perceptions of...
	5.4.2.6 Waste development can result in adverse impacts on amenity by virtue of its scale, appearance, type and intensity. Such impacts need to be managed effectively if waste development is to be considered acceptable. The potential impacts of noise ...
	5.4.2.7 The release of fumes and other emissions to air, including bioaerosols, from some types of waste development could be, or perceived to be, a source of impact on human health. Odour arising from some types of waste management activities can giv...
	5.4.2.8 Developers should give consideration to the potential for the use of artificial lighting to give rise to adverse impacts on local amenity and should aim to minimise the incidence of light pollution, glare and sky glow.
	Air Quality

	5.4.2.9 For proposals that would be likely to impact on air quality through emissions of pollutants or particulate matter, including as a result of traffic generation, the developer should provide an assessment of the impact on surrounding sensitive r...
	5.4.2.10 Issues to be addressed include emissions to air of pollutants (such as oxides of nitrogen or particulates) arising from site preparation, operation, and where relevant, decommissioning and restoration, and from related traffic. Any assessment...
	5.4.2.11 Emissions arising as a result of waste management processes may also be subject to control under other regulatory regimes, including the Environmental Permit regime administered by the Environment Agency.
	Flood Risk

	5.4.2.12 Responsibility for flood risk management is divided between the Environment Agency and the county council in its role as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). The Environment Agency is responsible for taking a strategic overview of the manag...
	5.4.2.13 The LLFA is responsible for managing the risk of flooding from surface water and groundwater, and is responsible for the management of ordinary watercourses (i.e. small, local watercourses that are not designated as main rivers).
	5.4.2.14 Development should be directed away from areas at the highest risk of fluvial or surface water flooding. Where development on land at risk of flooding is proposed, its acceptability will be determined through the application of the sequential...
	5.4.2.15 Waste treatment (excepting landfill and hazardous waste facilities) is classified as a ‘less vulnerable’ form of development with reference to flood risk, and is generally appropriate in areas designated as Zone 1 and Zone 2 for fluvial flood...
	5.4.2.16 Development on land identified as being at substantial risk of flooding from surface water or groundwater should be discussed with the LLFA at the earliest possible stage of project development. The purpose of those discussions would be to id...
	5.4.2.17 Developers should take account of the presence of relevant water quality designations (e.g. groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs)), and the condition of surface watercourses and waterbodies and of groundwater bodies that could be affecte...
	5.4.2.18 Proposals should consider the proximity of surface water and groundwater resources and the potential risk for contamination. For example non-inert landfill must not be located in areas covered by SPZ 1 designations, and should be directed to ...
	5.4.2.19 The developer should provide an assessment which explains how the water environment, both above and below ground, would be affected by the development and identifies the measures that would be used to avoid unacceptable impacts.
	Landscape

	5.4.2.20 Government policy expects the planning system to “…contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment”  and states that “Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broa...
	5.4.2.21 Protected landscapes situated within or close to Surrey include the Surrey Hills AONB, the High Weald AONB, and the South Downs National Park. Wherever possible, development of new waste management facilities should take place outside those p...
	5.4.2.22 Proposals for major development, including waste management facilities, within protected landscapes must be subject to rigorous examination. They should not be permitted except in exceptional circumstances and only where it can be demonstrate...
	5.4.2.23 It is recognised that there may be a requirement for new or extensions to existing development in order to meet local needs. Factors which may support a proposal being considered acceptable include:
	5.4.2.24 The determination of applications within AONBs will be undertaken in accordance with national policy together with the relevant policies of this Plan and the appropriate adopted district and borough Local Plan.
	5.4.2.25 Proposals involving the permanent deposit of waste, such as the restoration of old mineral workings or landfilling or landraising, which contribute to the remediation of degraded or damaged landscapes, may be supported provided that the long ...
	5.4.2.26 The Surrey Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) (published in 2015) provides a comprehensive review of the landscape character of the county. It takes account of the framework of the most recent National Character Areas reviewed in 2014 by Na...
	5.4.2.27 Where a development is likely to give rise to impacts on the landscape or visual amenity early engagement with the WPA is encouraged. The issues to be addressed in applications include the potential for adverse impacts on protected landscapes...
	Biodiversity and Geodiversity

	5.4.2.28 Government policy expects the planning system to “…contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment” , and directs planning authorities to principles to be applied when determining planning applications .
	5.4.2.29 Assessment should be undertaken to establish the nature conservation importance of the site (including its biodiversity and geodiversity) and proposals should be designed to ensure there are no unacceptable impacts on the site and on the surr...
	5.4.2.30 Where development would result in the loss of, or adversely affect, an important area, site or feature, the harm would need to be addressed by appropriate mitigation or, where mitigation is not feasible, by compensation through the provision ...
	5.4.2.31 There are numerous sites of international, European, national or local importance for biodiversity and/or geodiversity located across Surrey, as well as many areas that support protected habitats and species, including European protected spec...
	5.4.2.32 Where development could give rise to likely significant effects on a European designated site, the application would need to provide the information necessary for an ‘appropriate assessment’ to be carried out by the WPA. Applications for wast...
	5.4.2.33 Where development is likely to impact on biodiversity or geodiversity early discussions with the WPA are encouraged. Developments should be designed to minimise the risk of unacceptable impacts, and to maintain and where possible enhance the ...
	Historic Environment

	5.4.2.34 Heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. A heritage asset is defined as a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape positively identified as having a degree ...
	5.4.2.35 A heritage asset is either a designated heritage asset (Listed buildings, Registered Historic Park or Garden, Conservation Area, Scheduled Monument) or a non-designated heritage asset (Locally Listed Park, Garden Building or Feature, Areas of...
	5.4.2.36 The Surrey Historic Environment Record (HER) holds information on known heritage assets; these databases may also help in the prediction of the likelihood of encountering currently unknown heritage assets of historic and archaeological intere...
	5.4.2.37 Development of any schemes affecting heritage assets should be assisted by early discussions with heritage officers. Issues to be addressed in applications include the potential for adverse effects on known heritage or archaeological assets, ...
	5.4.2.38 Early engagement can improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application process for all parties . The objective of early discussion is to discuss detailed schemes for preservation, enhancement or mitigation. To do this, suff...
	Public open space and Rights of Way

	5.4.2.39 Developers should provide an assessment of any open space (including any SANG ) and Public Rights of Way (PRoW) lost, directly or indirectly affected by a proposed development. Where affected, developers will be required to make sure that the...
	Land and soil resources

	5.4.2.40 Development of land for waste management purposes could have implications for the condition and quality of land and soils. The developer should provide information setting out the impacts that might arise from the scheme, and how opportunitie...
	5.4.2.41 Land classed as being of grades 1, 2 and 3a under the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) is a national resource. Waste development should seek to use unproductive land in preference to the best and most versatile land. Developers should p...
	5.4.2.42 Developers should provide information on the measures that would be taken to safeguard soils qualities during storage and/or their use in the restoration of sites. Where the importation of soils or waste forms part of a scheme, developers sho...
	5.4.2.43 Previous uses of the site or adjacent land could have caused contamination (e.g. industrial processes, petrol filling stations, fuel storage, chemical storage, vehicle parking/servicing etc.). Land affected by contamination may not be identif...
	5.4.2.44 The developer will need to satisfy the planning authority that unacceptable risk from contamination will be successfully addressed through remediation. A remediation scheme should include future monitoring and maintenance schemes.
	Aerodrome Safeguarding

	5.4.2.45 Waste development would need to comply with Aerodrome Safeguarding requirements to ensure that the operational integrity and safety of airports is not compromised. Development of any schemes affecting any official or non-official aerodrome sa...
	5.4.2.46 Any applications relating to development situated within the consultation area of civil and military aerodromes and airstrips, where the proposal involves one or more of the activities or features listed below, would need to demonstrate how a...
	Cumulative Effects

	5.4.2.47 Where the development of new waste management facilities, or redevelopment of an existing facility, is proposed, the planning application should take account of the relationship of that site to other new development (including non-waste devel...


	5.5 Transport and Connectivity
	5.5.1 Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity
	5.5.1.1 Impacts on ease of transport and air quality caused by congestion and HGV movements are key areas of concern for local communities. This is evidenced by the Surrey Transport Plan and supporting Transport Plan Strategies. Preferable locations f...
	5.5.1.2 In order to mitigate adverse impacts related to transport, Traffic Management Plans will usually be required at the planning application stage. Applications for waste development will often require a Transport Assessment to support them. Traff...
	5.5.1.3 Waste development which provides opportunities for the movement of waste via alternative methods of transport e.g. rail will be supported. Applications which demonstrate a reduction in vehicle movements e.g. through co-location of facilities w...


	5.6 Engagement
	5.6.1 Duty to Cooperate
	5.6.1.1 Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places a duty on LPAs, in preparing local plans, to “engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis” with other relevant organisations  to maximise the effectiv...
	5.6.1.2 Effective cooperation requires ongoing, sustained joint working with concrete actions and outcomes. It is unlikely to be met by an exchange of correspondence, conversations or consultations between authorities alone .
	5.6.1.3 As such, while it is important for preparing the Plan, the DtC will remain a core part of the work for planning policy for the WPA. Activity associated with the DtC (see below) will be reported in the AMR.
	5.6.1.4 The WPA recognises that there are bodies not covered by the DtC. Engagement with organisations including Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), infrastructure providers, environmental bodies, developers and existing waste operators is essential...

	5.6.2 Policy 16 – Community Engagement
	Surrey County Council Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
	5.6.2.1 The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how the county council involves local residents, local businesses and other key organisations and stakeholders in the plan-making process and in the determination of planning applications.
	Developer Statement of Community Involvement

	5.6.2.2 The county council encourages developers to engage with the local community at the earliest feasible stage of the development process, and ideally before a planning application is submitted. The county council’s revised Validation Checklist re...
	5.6.2.3 The concerns of host communities, including any perceived risks, should be investigated in a manner proportionate to their potential impact. Planning applications should include information that demonstrates how communities have been involved ...
	5.6.2.4 Issues arising from the operation of larger waste developments are often addressed through liaison groups that involve local communities and site operators. The establishment of liaison groups will be sought for major development where there c...



	6 Replacement of Policies in the Development Plan
	6.1.1.1 The following tables show how the policies of the Surrey Waste Local Plan supersede previously adopted, and saved, policies of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008.

	7 Policies Map
	7.1.1.1 The Policies Map for the Plan comprises the following:

	8 Glossary
	Appendix 1: Table of Indicators, Triggers and Targets Relating to the Monitoring of Policy 14

	Annex 3 SWLP - Part 2 for Adoption
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Purpose of Identifying Areas of Search and Sites
	1.1.1 As the waste planning authority  (WPA) Surrey County Council is required to produce a local plan for waste development, known as the Surrey Waste Local Plan (the Plan), to show how and where waste will be managed in Surrey in the future. The Pla...
	1.1.2 The Plan is intended to make sure that land is available to be developed so that there are enough waste management facilities to handle the equivalent amount of waste arising in Surrey. In doing so the SWLP provides policies which ensure these f...
	1.1.3 Part 1 of the Plan sets out the context of the Plan, the vision, objectives and policies that are applied when determining planning applications. This Part 2 of the Plan gives more specific information around the areas and sites identified as be...

	1.2 Industrial Land Areas of Search
	1.2.1 Industrial Land Areas of Search are broad areas, not allocated as sites for waste development, but identified as areas of search within which there may be potential for waste development. The areas are those already identified or allocated in di...
	1.2.2 Existing employment land areas that are predominantly used for, and considered suitable for, general industry (B2) and storage and distribution (B8) have been included, as these areas are compatible with waste management uses. Land allocated, bu...
	1.2.3 The process by which the areas were identified is recorded in the Industrial Land Areas of Search Site Identification Report (December 2018). The final list of ILAS is shown in Table 1.
	1.2.4 These locations are not specifically safeguarded for waste management development, however any existing waste management facilities within these locations are safeguarded by Policy 7.

	1.3 Allocated Sites
	1.3.1 Certain sites have been allocated to ensure that sufficient land is available to manage the county’s existing and future waste arisings during the plan period. These sites listed in section 5 of Part 2, have been tested through the county counci...
	1.3.2 Sites have been allocated to provide the land necessary to meet the need for new waste management facilities in Surrey up to 2035. For each site a number of key development issues have been identified. The process by which the site allocations w...
	1.3.3 The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy  (Appendix 1) outlines the need to deliver new infrastructure for Dry Mixed Recyclables (DMR) produced by households. In accordance with the nPPG  the following site is also allocated, specifically f...


	2 Site Assessment work
	2.1 Industrial Land Areas of Search
	2.1.1 Assessment of Suitability
	2.1.1.1 The areas of search have already been identified as being suitable in principle for a range of industrial and/or storage uses through the relevant district or borough local plan. As a result no new site assessment work was undertaken. However,...
	2.1.1.2 There are material considerations associated with these sites which will need to be appraised at the planning application stage. Such considerations include the ability of development to mitigate potential adverse impacts taking account of the...
	2.1.1.3 Relevant policies in the borough or district local plan should always be referred to in addition to policies in Part 1 of the Surrey Waste Local Plan. Potentially relevant environmental information is also provided in Section 4 of this part of...


	2.2 Allocated Sites
	2.2.1 Initial Assessment Work
	2.2.1.1 As set out in the Site Identification and Evaluation Report a process of site characterisation was carried out for all sites that were identified. Each site characterisation was used to inform the evaluation of the site’s suitability as a loca...
	2.2.1.2 The long list of sites was evaluated against a range of criteria informed by Appendix B of the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) and included: natural environment and biodiversity, landscape and visual amenity, the historic environment...

	2.2.2 Detailed Site Assessment Work
	2.2.2.1 Site assessment work was undertaken for each of the allocated sites in order to better understand specific constraints at each of the sites and their suitability for different types of waste related development. The assessments undertaken were...
	2.2.2.2 The types of waste facility considered by each of the assessments include: energy from waste, composting (in vessel and open windrow), pyrolysis, gasification, anaerobic digestion, and processing of recyclables (Material Recovery Facilities). ...
	2.2.2.3 These assessments identify specific issues at each allocated site and have informed the key development issues identified in Section 5 of this part of the Plan. It is recommended that the full assessment reports are referred to in order to ful...
	2.2.2.4 For each allocated site an indication of the type of waste use and the scale of facility that may be suitable in that location is provided. This is indicative only based on the site assessments. It is not intended to be definitive, but clearly...
	2.2.2.5 In terms of scale of potential facilities the following broad definitions are used based on either hectares or tonnes per annum:



	3 Issues to be addressed at application stage
	3.1 Issues to be addressed
	3.1.1 Important site specific matters that will need to be addressed to support a planning application have been identified for each allocated site. For ILAS only key environmental sensitivities have been identified.
	3.1.2 A range of issues will also likely need to be addressed as part of any planning application for waste development either within an ILAS or on an allocated site. For further guidance see Policy 14 of the Plan and the county council’s ‘Local List ...
	3.1.3 Information relating to the environmental context and likely sensitivity of the sites and areas can be found in Appendix C (Allocated Sites) and Appendix D (ILAS) to the Surrey Waste Local Plan Environmental and Sustainability Report. Applicants...

	3.2 Need for project level Appropriate Assessment
	3.2.1 The plan level Appropriate Assessment (as recorded in the Habitat Regulations Assessment report that accompanies the SWLP) made recommendations in respect of the suitability of the allocated sites and ILAS as locations for thermal treatment faci...
	3.2.2 A project level Appropriate Assessment will be required for proposals made in respect of any scale of thermal treatment facilities on those sites and ILAS situated within 10km of any Special Protected Area (SPA) or Special Area of Conservation (...
	3.2.3 The Appropriate Assessment will need to demonstrate that emissions of nutrient nitrogen from the proposed facility would contribute no more than 1% of the site relevant Critical Load for the most sensitive habitat of the relevant SPA or SAC. Whe...
	3.2.4 For waste related development of allocated site or ILAS that does not involve thermal treatment, the need for Appropriate Assessment will be determined on a case-by-case basis. Account will be taken of the proximity of the application site to ne...

	3.3 Other regulatory regimes
	3.3.1 It should be noted that some impacts on the environment and amenity, in particular effects on air, land and water, are subject to control by regulatory regimes other than the planning system (e.g. the Environmental Permit regime and local enviro...
	3.3.2 Before waste management development can take place authorisation may also be required from the Environment Agency in the form of an Environmental Permit which will control emissions to air, land and water.


	4 Industrial Land Areas of Search
	4.1 Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road Industrial Park and Byfleet Industrial Estate
	4.2 Molesey Industrial Estate, West Molesey
	4.3  Hersham Road North and Lyon Road / North Weylands, Walton-on-Thames
	4.4 Longmead Industrial Estate, Epsom
	4.5 Slyfield Industrial Estate, Guildford
	4.6 Woodbridge Meadows Industrial Estate, Guildford
	4.7 Land at Burnt Common Warehouse, London Road, Send
	4.8 Land North and South of Lysons Avenue, Ash Vale
	4.9 Riverway Industrial Estate, Astolat Business Park & Weyvern Park, Peasmarsh
	4.10 Land near Dorking West Station – Curtis Road, Station Road, Dorking
	4.11 Holmethorpe Industrial Estate, Redhill
	4.12 Perrywood Business Park, Salfords
	4.13 Salfords Industrial Estate
	4.14 Thorpe Industrial Estate
	4.15 Byfleet Road Employment Allocation, Addlestone
	4.16 York Town Industrial Estate, Doman Road and Stanhope Road, Camberley
	4.17 Windmill Road Industrial Area, Sunbury-on - Thames
	4.18  Hobbs Industrial Estate, Felbridge
	4.19 Farnham Trading Estate (including land north of Water lane), Farnham
	4.20 Land at Dunsfold Park (as part of new settlement), Dunsfold
	4.21 Coxbridge Business Park, Farnham
	4.22 Monument Way East Industrial Estate (incl. Woking Business Park), Woking

	5 Allocated sites
	5.1 Land to the north east of Slyfield Industrial Estate, Moorfield Road, Guildford
	5.2 Former Weylands Sewage Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames
	5.3  Land adjoining Leatherhead Sewage Treatment Works, Randalls Road, Leatherhead
	5.4 Oakleaf Farm, Stanwell Moor
	5.5 Lambs Business Park, Terra Cotta Road, Tillburstow Hill Road, South Godstone
	5.6 Land adjacent to Trumps Farm, Kitsmead Lane, Longcross


	Annex 4 Post-Adoption ES - Draft (15-05-2020)
	Annex 5 Summary of Inspector's recommendations re ILAS & sites

	17 Street Lighting PFI Contract - Refinancing
	18 Surrey Economic Strategy 2030 Update
	19 Broadwater Secondary School, Godalming, Surrey
	20 Prudential Ride London-Surrey
	21 2020/21 Month 5 (August) Financial Report
	23 Decision on the Route to Market for Two Extra Care Housing Schemes
	Part 2 Annex 1
	Part 2 Annex 2

	24 Street Lighting PFI Contract - Refinancing
	25 Broadwater Secondary School, Godalming, Surrey
	Cabinet Paper - Part 2 - ANNEX 1


